
By receiving this Agenda Pack electronically you will save the Authority approx. £9.40 in 
printing costs

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. 
Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich 

dewis iaith.
We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please 
let us know if your language choice is Welsh.

Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief 
Executive’s Directorate
Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 
643147 / 643694
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:  Democratic Services

Ein cyf / Our ref:      
Eich cyf / Your ref:      

Dyddiad/Date: Wednesday, 13 January 2021

Dear Councillor, 

CABINET

A  meeting of the Cabinet will be held remotely via Microsoft Teams on Tuesday, 19 January 2021 
at 14:30.

AGENDA

1. Apologies for Absence  
To receive apologies for absence from Members. 

2. Declarations of Interest  
To receive declarations of personal and prejudicial interest (if any) from Members/Officers in 
accordance with the provisions of the Members’ Code of Conduct adopted by Council from 
1 September 2008. 

3. Approval of Minutes  3 - 16
To receive for approval the Minutes of 15/12/20

4. Corporate Joint Committees 17 - 20

5. Budget Monitoring 2020-21 - Quarter 3 Revenue Forecast 21 - 58

6. Capital Programme Update - Quarter 3 2020-21 59 - 80

7. Outcome of the Consultation 'Fit for the Future' 81 - 146

8. Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-25 147 - 194

9. Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG's) 195 - 204

10. Pest Control Contract 205 - 212

11. Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Scheme: Sale of the Food Store Site 213 - 220

12. Valleys Regional Park, Bryngarw Country Park Discovery Gateway 221 - 226

Public Document Pack



13. Bridgend 2030 Decarbonisation Strategy, Pathway to a Carbon Neutral (Net-
Zero) Council 

227 - 236

14. Bridgend Town Heat Network Project 237 - 246

15. Caerau Heat Scheme 247 - 254

16. Smart Energy Plan - Domestic Energy Efficiency Project 255 - 260

17. Cae Gof Playing Fields 261 - 364

18. Bus Emergency Scheme Phase 2 Arrangements 365 - 440

19. School Modernisation Programme - Bridgend West - Permission to consult on 
Statutory Proposal 

441 - 450

20. Information Report for Noting 451 - 466

21. Urgent Items  
To consider any items of business that by reason of special circumstances the chairperson 
is of the opinion should be considered at the meeting as a matter of urgency in accordance 
with paragraph 2.4 (e) of the Cabinet Procedure Rules within the Constitution.

22. Exclusion of the Public  
The following item is not for publication as it contains exempt information as defined in 
Paragraph 14 of Part 4 and Paragraph 21 of Part 5, Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) (Wales) 
Order 2007.

If following the application of the public interest test Cabinet resolves pursuant to the Act to 
consider this item in private, the public will be excluded from the meeting during such 
consideration.

23. Approval of Exempt Minutes  467 - 470
To receive for approval the exempt minutes of 15/12/20

Note: Please note: Due to the current requirement for social distancing this meeting will not be held 
at its usual location. This will be a virtual meeting and Members and Officers will be attending 
remotely. The meeting will be recorded for subsequent transmission via the Council’s internet site 
which will be available as soon as practicable after the meeting. If you have any queries regarding 
this, please contact cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk or tel. 01656 643147 / 643148.

Yours faithfully
K Watson
Chief Officer, Legal, HR & Regulatory Services 

Councillors: Councillors Councillors
HJ David
CE Smith

HM Williams
D Patel

RE Young
NA Burnett



CABINET - TUESDAY, 15 DECEMBER 2020

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE CABINET HELD IN REMOTELY VIA SKYPE FOR 
BUSINESS ON TUESDAY, 15 DECEMBER 2020 AT 14:30

Present

Councillor HJ David – Chairperson 

CE Smith HM Williams D Patel RE Young
NA Burnett

Officers:

Claire Marchant Corporate Director Social Services and Wellbeing
Janine Nightingale Corporate Director - Communities
Gill Lewis Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change
Kelly Watson Chief Officer Legal, HR and Regulatory Services
Julie Ellams Democratic Services Officer - Committees
Mark Shephard Chief Executive
Mark Galvin Senior Democratic Services Officer - Committees
Lindsay Harvey Corporate Director Education and Family Support
Martin Morgans Head of Performance and Partnership Services
Jonathan Parsons Group Manager Development
Joanne Ginn Housing Solutions Team Leader
Adam Provoost Senior Development Planning Officer
Ieuan Sherwood Economy and Natural Resources Manager
Justin Kingdon Strategic Asset Management and Investment Manager

575. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

None.

576. APPROVAL OF MINUTES

RESOLVED:                            That the minutes of a meeting of Cabinet dated 17 
November 2020, be approved as a true and accurate 
record.

577. SOCIAL SERVICES REPRESENTATIONS AND COMPLAINTS ANNUAL REPORT 
2019/20

The Corporate Director – Social Services and Wellbeing presented a report, the purpose 
of which, was to present to Cabinet the 2019/20 Annual Report on social services 
representations and complaints procedures as required by Welsh Government 
guidance. The Annual Report was attached at Appendix 1 to the main report.

She advised that Members will be aware, that there is a requirement for local authorities 
to have in place procedures for considering any representations or complaints made in 
relation to the discharge of their Social Services functions.  This was the sixth Annual 
Report relating to social services representations and complaints received that have 
been handled in accordance with the revised Welsh Government Complaint Guidelines 
“A Guide to Handling Complaints and Representations by Local Authority Social 
Services” which came into effect on 1st August 2014.

The key elements of the Social Services Representations and Complaints Procedure, 
were shown in paragraph 3.2 of the report.

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



CABINET - TUESDAY, 15 DECEMBER 2020

Cabinet would also note from the Annual Report, that strong emphasis is placed not just 
upon complaints, but also on the comments and compliments received from service 
users which gives an overall balanced view.  The services were keen to learn from the 
information gathered and to use this to inform future service developments/service 
improvements.

The number of representations (complaints, comments and compliments) received 
during the reporting period, was  broken down as follows:
  
32 statutory complaints
35 corporate complaints
201 concerns resolved pre-complaints procedure
96 compliments/comments

This was a reduction in the overall number of complaints received in the stated period, 
but also a reduction in the number of compliments when compared to the previous 
reporting period.

The Corporate Director – Social Services and Wellbeing continued, by advising that 
statistics reflected that the Directorate had continued to achieve an early resolution for 
complainants. The number of complaints resolved by this approach in 2019/20 was 201 
compared to previous years, 234 in 2018/19, 198 in 2017/18 and 187 in 2016/17. 
Therefore, although there had been a reduction in the number of complaints with early 
resolution by 33 this year, the total overall number of complaints received in the year by 
the Directorate had also reduced by 44.

Further information in the report, highlighted that during 2019/20, 9 complaints were 
received by the Public Service Ombudsman Office (PSO), which were subsequently 
dealt with by recommendations from the PSO to the local authority, rather than the PSO 
formally investigating these complaints.

During the above period, the Corporate Director – Social Services and Wellbeing 
confirmed that 6 rota visits by Members took place in adult social care settings, 12, in 
the independent sector, and 5, in children’s social care settings.

She concluded her submission, by picking out some other key information from the 
report’s Appendix to share with Members.

The Cabinet Member – Social Services and Early Help thanked the Corporate Director – 
Social Services and Wellbeing for the report. She confirmed that whilst no one wished to 
receive complaints and representations, she was pleased that these were being dealt 
with by early resolution, particularly in this area of work which could be volatile and 
where there had been some sustained further pressures due to the Covid-19 situation. 
She thanked staff for being reactive and dealing with such complaints and 
representations swiftly in terms of responding to these. She also thanked Members for 
dealing with these, through engaging with their constituents and making the appropriate 
Member Referrals as and when required. Finally, she further thanked Members for their 
efforts in being involved in rota visits and hoped with the easing of the pandemic, social 
services care homes etc, could once more be visited by them in the not too distant 
future. 

The Leader asked if the Objectives for 2020/21 in the Annual Report, including use of 
WCCIS to record complaints and increasing the take-up of the complaints awareness 
e:learning module, had been met.

Page 4



CABINET - TUESDAY, 15 DECEMBER 2020

The Corporate Director – Social Services and Wellbeing confirmed that these objectives 
were being met.   

RESOLVED:                          That Cabinet approved the Annual Report on social 
services representations and complaints procedures for 
2019/20.

578. GYPSY AND TRAVELLER ACCOMMODATION ASSESSMENT 2020

The Corporate Director – Communities presented a report, the purpose of which, was to 
outline the findings of the Gypsy and Traveller Accommodation Assessment (GTAA) and 
seek authorisation to submit the Assessment to Welsh Ministers for approval. This would 
allow the Local Housing Authority to fulfil its statutory duty and enable the statutory 
deposit Local Development Plan (LDP) consultation to proceed as per the Delivery 
Agreement.

She advised that the Local Housing Authority had a statutory duty to carry out an 
assessment of the accommodation needs of Gypsies and Travellers residing in or 
resorting to its area under Part 3 of the Housing (Wales) Act 2014. The Act requires 
Local Housing Authorities to undertake a GTAA at least every 5 years, although there is 
flexibility to undertake GTAAs more frequently if a material change in the level of need in 
the area has been identified. The GTAA must be subject to consultation and submitted 
to Welsh Ministers for approval. If an approved assessment identifies need for additional 
pitches within an Authority’s area, the Local Housing Authority has a legal duty to ensure 
that need is met by exercising its powers under section 56 of the Mobile Homes (Wales) 
Act 2013.

The Council last published a GTAA in 2016 (covering the period up to 2031) and the 
Local Housing Authority would have therefore been required to review this Assessment 
in 2021. However, as the Replacement LDP covers the period 2018-2033 and 
consultation on the deposit LDP is scheduled for early 2021, a slightly early review of the 
GTAA is necessary to comply with the LDP Delivery Agreement.

The Corporate Director – Communities proceeded further, by informing Cabinet, that a 
revised GTAA estimated a County Borough need of 5 pitches for the first 5 years of the 
GTAA period and a further 2 pitches for the remainder of the LDP period. The total 
estimated pitch provision needed for Gypsies and Travellers in Bridgend County 
Borough was identified as being 7 pitches up until 2033. This total was the projected 
amount of provision necessary for the Local Housing Authority to meet its statutory 
obligations towards identifiable needs of the population arising in the area. The need 
comprised of combination of doubled-up households, movement from bricks and mortar 
homes and new household formation. This need could be accommodated across two 
new sites and through intensification of existing sites, as explained in paragraph 4.2 of 
the Officer’s report.

The Cabinet Member – Wellbeing and Future Generations welcomed the report and 
thanked Officers for engaging with the Gypsy and Traveller community which was not 
always an easy task, both on their current needs and any long term visions they may 
have. She noted that the identified need was now for 6 sites to be provided, even though 
provision was being made for 7 (sites). The Cabinet Member – Wellbeing and Future 
Generations confirmed that she supported this increase, due to the demographics and 
population of the County Borough of Bridgend, which was growing in size.  

The Leader concurred with this and looked forward to receiving an update report to 
Cabinet on any further engagement longer term as the needs of Gypsies and Travellers 
may change over time.

Page 5



CABINET - TUESDAY, 15 DECEMBER 2020

The Cabinet Member – Communities also welcomed the report and the review outlined 
therein, which had been brought forward in conjunction with the review of the Council’s 
LDP.

RESOLVED:                                 That Cabinet:
 
(a) Approved the Gypsy Traveller and Accommodation Assessment findings and Final 

Report (Appendix 1 to the report), and; 
(b) Approved the Gypsy Traveller and Accommodation Assessment for submission to 

Welsh Ministers to enable the Council to fulfil its duty to meet assessed needs.

579. PORTHCAWL HARBOUR BYELAWS

The Corporate Director – Communities submitted a report, the purpose of which, was to 
seek Cabinet approval to undertake a process to revise the byelaws that are currently 
effective at Porthcawl Harbour, to reflect the current operations and activities that take 
place within this particular location and to consult on and advertise any proposed new 
byelaws, under the provisions of the Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012. 

She was supported in the presentation of the report, by the Group Manager – Economy, 
Natural Resources and Sustainability. 

The report outlined certain background information, following which it advised that 
specific areas within the footprint of Porthcawl Harbour (as defined by the 1987 Act) are 
currently subject to local byelaws that identify Public Bathing Places across Porthcawl. 
These byelaws were established in 1953 by the Urban District Council of Porthcawl. 

Based on a recent review of Health and Safety and recent incidents reported in the area, 
it was considered that revisions are required to the current byelaws.  In undertaking a 
process to revise the byelaws the intention is not to prohibit any particular activity, but 
more put in place a clear set of rules that are aligned to other coastal and quayside 
environments that has user’s safety as a priority.

The intention is that the byelaws that are currently in place will therefore be revoked, 
insofar as those byelaws are relevant to Porthcawl Harbour and replaced by more up to 
date byelaws.

The next sections of the report, outlined the process that takes place when byelaws are 
put in place, including the legislative requirements that have to be met to this end.

A copy of the proposed draft byelaws intended for consultation, was attached at 
Appendix A to the report.

The Cabinet Member – Education and Regeneration welcomed the report. He felt that 
some clarification in terms of what the byelaws would actually cover and making the 
public aware of this, would assist in them knowing what activities could and could not 
take place in and around the areas of the Porthcawl Marina and Harbour. He was aware 
for example, that there had been reported previously an issue with jet skiing in the 
waterways at Porthcawl coastal area. It was important he felt for certain activities of a 
dangerous nature, to hopefully cease in the future, or be regulated (by for example 
byelaws being in place).

The Leader advised that it was important to note that at this stage, the Council were only 
looking to consult on the making of revised byelaws, as opposed to putting them in 
place. He hoped that the consultation would include key partners such as the RNLI, as 

Page 6



CABINET - TUESDAY, 15 DECEMBER 2020

the byelaws if adopted, would help to ensure that the public are kept safe in what is a 
potentially dangerous coastline area. He also hoped that the consultation would be 
extended to both Porthcawl Town Council and the Porthcawl local members, to ensure 
that if the byelaws were pursued, they would be fit for purpose for the area.

The Cabinet Member – Communities advised that the Bristol channel waters were some 
of the most dangerous in the whole of the UK and that it should be noted that byelaws 
currently existed in the area of Porthcawl. What was being proposed was merely a 
revision of these, to possibly make them more fit for purpose, given the development of 
Porthcawl both in terms of certain areas of land there and within the coastal area.

RESOLVED:                              That Cabinet:

   Authorised the Corporate Director, Communities, to undertake a consultation 
process, under the provisions of the Local Government Byelaws (Wales) Act 2012, 
and to take all necessary steps described in Paragraph 4 of the report to make new 
byelaws under the Mid Glamorgan Act 1987 in relation to Porthcawl Harbour to reflect 
the current operations and activities that took place.

   Noted that a further report would be submitted to Cabinet once the process described 
in paragraph 4.7 of the report had been completed.  

580. INTRODUCTION OF A DEVELOPMENT VIABILITY MODEL

The Corporate Director – Communities presented a report, which sought  authorisation 
to implement a new schedule of charges for issuing a Development Viability Model 
(DVM) to developers and/or site promoters. The charges will cover the Council’s 
administrative costs and will enable the submission of viability evidence in support of 
Candidate Sites and/or Planning Applications.

Following her introduction of the report, she introduced the Group Manager – Planning 
and Development Services, who took Cabinet through the report

Legislation required the Council to publish its deposit Local Development Plan (LDP) for 
public inspection and consultation before submitting the LDP to Welsh Government. 
Sites prioritised and proposed for allocation in the plan would need to be evidenced as 
deliverable, particularly in relation to financial viability. Planning Policy Wales (Edition 
10) and the Development Plans Manual (Edition 3) require site-specific viability 
appraisals to be undertaken as early as possible during LDP preparation, although no 
later than deposit (LDPR 17) stage. Proposed site allocations will need to be supported 
with robust evidence proportionate to their scale and significance in delivering the plan. 
Further viability testing at the planning application stage should then only be required on 
an exceptional basis.

He confirmed that, the Council had worked in partnership with other Councils across the 
South East Region to develop the Development Viability Model (DVM) assessment tool. 
The DVM has been created by Burrows-Hutchinson Ltd as a comprehensive, user-
friendly model that can be used to assess the financial viability of development 
proposals. It was based on the same, well-received approach used by the Mid and 
South West Wales Strategic Planning Group. The model would eventually be adopted 
by all authorities in the Cardiff Capital Region.

The Group Manager – Planning and Development Services explained that the Council 
could make the DVM available to developers, site promoters, or any other 
individual/organisation to undertake a financial viability appraisal of a proposed 
development.

Page 7



CABINET - TUESDAY, 15 DECEMBER 2020

The Council proposed to release the DVM to developers and site promoters in a site-
specific locked format with an accompanying user-guide, subject to receipt of a standard 
fee. This mirrored the approach employed in the Mid and South West Region for 
consistency. The proposed fee schedule for this service was detailed in paragraph 4.1 of 
the report (with all charges shown being subject to VAT).

The Group Manager – Planning and Development Services advised, that the fees were 
intended to cover the Council’s administrative costs of locking and distributing the 
model, verifying the completed appraisal and providing a high-level review to the 
developer/site promoter. Therefore, payment of a fee would not serve to guarantee site 
allocation within the Replacement LDP, or directly result in the granting of planning 
permission. The fee will enable the Council to consider certain criteria, as illustrated in 
paragraph 4.2 of the report.

The Cabinet Member – Communities supported the directives contained in the report 
and the fee charges which were modest and set at a ‘sliding scale’, dependent on the 
size of the development.

The Cabinet Member – Wellbeing and Future Generations asked whether the fee 
charges may possibly put of smaller developers who were maybe looking to construct 
smaller size developments in less viable areas such as BCB valley locations.

The Group Manager – Planning and Development Services whilst acknowledging this 
point, considered the fees to be modest and less than both a planning application and 
building regulation fee. He did not think that the fee would therefore discourage smaller 
developers.

He added that if site developers did not use this model, they would have to use a 
commercial model instead, which would be more expensive.

The Leader advised that following the fees being introduced, these could be reviewed if 
it was ascertained they were discouraging developers from constructing new smaller 
developments, particularly in our valley communities.

RESOLVED:                             That Cabinet:

 Agreed the proposed approach and fee charging schedule; and
 Authorised the Group Manager Planning and Development Services to 

implement the Development Viability Model and fee charging schedule.  
   

581. COSY CORNER

The Corporate Director – Communities (supported by the Group Manager – Economy, 
Natural Resources and Sustainability) presented a report, the purpose of which, was to 
update Cabinet on recent developments in relation to the proposed development of a 
Maritime Centre on Cosy Corner, Porthcawl; to outline a series of recommendations in 
relation to taking forward a preferred option for the site and to seek authority for BCBC 
to submit a funding proposal to Visit Wales.

The Maritime Centre project was developed and was being taken forward by Porthcawl 
Harbourside Community Interest Company (CIC), which later became Credu Charity Ltd.  

It was explained, that BCBC has worked closely with Credu Charity Ltd for many years, 
to support them to further develop and implement their project. This was a substantial 
property development proposal by Credu Charity Ltd on Council owned land and officers 
undertook significant due diligence to ensure lease arrangements were in place to 

Page 8



CABINET - TUESDAY, 15 DECEMBER 2020

control delivery and ownership of the site. Prior to the agreement for lease being entered 
into a full risk assessment was undertaken and reported to Cabinet, which included an 
assessment of the business case and the funding requirements.

Credu Charity Ltd were granted a 3 year lease on part of the site on 16th November 
2017 to enable them to set up portacabin showers and toilets, as well as storage 
shipping containers for displaced groups. On 14th November 2019 Credu Charity Ltd 
were granted a license to install hoardings and set up a temporary compound. The 
Council entered into an agreement for lease on 7th November 2019 to provide Credu 
Charity Ltd with certainty that they could take entry onto the site to carry out the full 
construction works but only once a number of conditions had been met, including 
funding and planning. These conditions were never met and the agreement was 
subsequently terminated and the Council took possession of the site on 9th November 
2020. 

Officers continued, by advising that on 2nd October 2020 BCBC received formal 
notification from Welsh Government that the Welsh Ministers gave Credu Charity Ltd 
notice on the 18th August 2020 of their intention to withdraw further ERDF funding 
towards the Maritime Centre and to recover the ERDF funding they had already paid to 
Credu.

As a result of this, BCBC terminated the agreement for lease relating to the Maritime 
Centre at the Cosy Corner site, as Credu Charity Ltd were unable to satisfy conditions 
relating to that agreement for lease within an agreed timeframe.

Since this time no work has taken place on Cosy Corner and today it stands as a part 
completed development site surrounding by hoarding. The site has partially laid 
foundations and a range of materials left on it.  Their removal is being considered at this 
time and potential implications are being reviewed. 

Since serving notice to terminate the agreement for lease and resuming control of the 
site it has become clear that the site cannot remain in its current condition for any length 
of time and that significant resources and timely action is required.  However, as the 
proposed Maritime Centre was being taken forward by Credu Charity Ltd, BCBC does 
not have funding set aside for the remediation of the site and its return to a safe and 
useable condition.  

Visit Wales have since confirmed that as BCBC is already a partner in the TAD 
programme an opportunity exists to put forward a proposal to potentially access TAD 
funding.  Any funding within the TAD programme must be secured, spent and claimed 
within a timeframe far shorter than that needed to deliver a project the size of the 
Maritime Centre. Therefore, officers have started the process of considering options for 
the future of Cosy Corner with a focus on what may realistically be achieved with 
possible funding and the time available.  

The preferred approach at this time, based on information available, is a two stage 
process.  Stage 1 will take place in the short to medium term and will involve officers 
submitting proposals to Visit Wales in an effort to secure funding to undertake 
improvements to part of Cosy Corner.  Stage 2 will take place in the medium to longer 
term and will relate to the part of Cosy Corner not impacted by such proposed 
improvements.  Stage 2 will involve securing a development partner and working with 
that partner to implement further improvements to Cosy Corner. The land there would 
remain primarily public realm with substantial community use as well as commercial 
opportunities.  This public realm would provide a mainly open space break between 
nearby developed zones

Page 9



CABINET - TUESDAY, 15 DECEMBER 2020

In reviewing options for both Stage 1 and Stage 2, the following principles are proposed 
to be used as a set of guiding principles for the way forward:-
 

 Desire to ensure funding allocated for Cosy Corner is retained for Cosy Corner. 
There is potentially funding still available through the TAD programme for Cosy 
Corner

 Adopting a partnership approach with key stakeholders 
 Taking action in a suitable timeframe 
 Minimising the period of time that Cosy Corner remains in its current condition
 Minimising the on-going maintenance requirements and costs for BCBC
 Enhancing the tourism offer of Porthcawl

The current possibilities for Stage 1 were as was outlined in paragraph 4.7 of the report.
 

These options were based on information known at this time, so therefore subject to 
change and by no means definitive, the Officers added.  

The Corporate Director – Communities then gave details of the funding available for the 
project (which included match funding) and when this funding had to be committed in 
order to carry out the necessary works at the site.

The Cabinet Member – Education and Regeneration, thanked Officers for the work they 
had committed to this particular site which was undoubtedly an iconic part of Porthcawl 
and the South Wales coast and very much part of the wider regeneration proposals that 
were planned for the town.

He felt that it was unfortunate that Credu Charity Ltd had not delivered in terms of the 
former Agreement, as they had been supported by the Council with regards to 
development proposals for the site, from the outset. The site as reflected in the report, 
would now primarily be used as a public realm area, the Cabinet Member – Education 
and Regeneration concluded.

The Deputy Leader concurred with the views expressed immediately above. He was 
disappointed by the fact that the Community Interest Group had not been able to assist 
in the development of the site thereby facilitating the project. He thanked Officers 
however, for the time and commitment they had given to this ongoing issue.    

Leader concluded debate on the item, by stating that he was pleased to see that as part 
of the planning proposals for Stage 1, the aspiration was for a changing places facility 
provided for the public/visitors to the area and the provision of a free public children’s 
play area within this location, if sufficient funding was available.

RESOLVED:                             That Cabinet:-

   Noted the recent action by officers in relation to Cosy Corner;
   Approved the principles for considering future action on   Cosy Corner as set out in 

section 4.6 of the report;
   Authorised the Corporate Director - Communities, to develop and submit a proposal 

to Visit Wales, in agreement with the Section 151 Officer and the Chief Officer, 
Legal, HR and Regulatory Services, to access possible resources for improvements 
to Cosy Corner in line with the financial information in section 8.2 of the report;

   Agreed to receive a further report relating to the detail of any funding offer from Visit 
Wales if successful and, should it be required, recommend to Council an update to 
the Capital programme.  

Page 10



CABINET - TUESDAY, 15 DECEMBER 2020

582. WELSH GOVERNMENT HOMELESSNESS PHASE 2 CAPITAL BIDS

The Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change presented a reort, in 
order to provide Cabinet with an update regarding Bridgend County Borough Council’s 
(BCBC) response to the Welsh Government Homelessness Phase 2 Guidance.

As part of the Covid 19 response, all local authorities were expected to ensure that no 
individual was street homeless and was provided with suitable temporary 
accommodation. Suitable temporary accommodation was defined as having en-suite 
facilities and where possible access to own kitchen. For BCBC this entailed re-purposing 
its current temporary accommodation and under-occupying premises to ensure it met 
those requirements as far as possible; reducing the numbers in floor space; securing 
bedrooms within the local hotels that had remained open; the use of Air BNB; 
purchasing four homeless pods; providing flat pack furniture, microwaves, and small 
fridges where needed; and providing take-away meals for those without access to a 
kitchen. 24 hour security has also been provided for hotels.

In accordance with Welsh Government (WG) Guidance, BCBC has accommodated 
significantly increased numbers in temporary accommodation. Between March to 
November 2020, 587 households have been provided with temporary accommodation. 

The Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change, stated that on 3rd June 
2020, WG issued Phase 2 Guidance, which made it clear that those individuals being 
temporarily accommodated are to be provided with permanent accommodation, with no 
one returning to homelessness. A Rapid Rehousing approach was to be taken to help 
achieve this. Funding was then made available for this through Welsh Government, but 
to date such funding was only available up to the end of March 2021.

Currently Bridgend Council had around 125 households being supported in temporary 
accommodation.

The Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change, continued by informing 
Members, that on 30th June 2020, BCBC submitted a funding application and Phase 2 
Plan to WG. The application included funding bids for 7 capital projects and 8 revenue 
projects. Liaison with providers and partner Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) took 
place and bids focused on the key areas, as were detailed in paragraph 4.2 of the 
report.

Three of the capital projects require planning permission and as such were going 
through the application process. Once delivered the capital projects would provide up to 
34 units of accommodation. These will increase BCBC’s social housing stock and also 
allow for increased temporary accommodation units. The revenue projects will enable 
increased support packages to those who are homeless.

Following an agreement between BCBC and RSL partners, a RRP has been agreed and 
has been operational since June 2020.  The Protocol explains the context within which 
BCBC is now working and outlines a new operational process that is being followed, to 
meet the pent up demand currently housed in temporary accommodation, such as hotels 
and Bed and Breakfast accommodation.

The Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change explained further, that to 
date 70 households have been rehoused via the RRP, with a further 21 pending a move 
in date. Without this process it is likely that the numbers in temporary accommodation 
would be higher than the current 125 households at present.   

Page 11



CABINET - TUESDAY, 15 DECEMBER 2020

The Cabinet Member – Wellbeing and Future Generations, advised that she was 
pleased to see the support proposed for the homeless in our society from Welsh 
Government, particularly since and in light of the pandemic. She also thanked BCBC 
staff and the RSL’s for taking into account the needs of people who were homeless in 
Bridgend and providing support in the form of the projects proposed as detailed in the 
report.

The Cabinet Member – Social Services and Early Help being also the Ward Member for 
the Morfa ward which covered most of Bridgend town, knew first-hand the extent of the 
homeless and rough sleepers there were in this location. She too welcomed the different 
levels of support aside of just providing people on the streets with accommodation, for 
example, support for substance abuse, etc. She asked how BCBC had compared with 
other welsh local authorities in terms of the level of funding it had received, as a result of 
submitting a bid for some of the funding that Welsh Government had made available.

The Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change, advised that BCBC had 
been successful here when compared to other neighbouring authorities.

The Head of Partnership Services expanded upon this, by confirming that Bridgend had 
received £2.2m worth of funding from Welsh Government and that a Multi-Disciplinary 
Team had been established including BCBC partners, in order to deliver the projects 
proposed in the report.

In response to a further question from the Leader, he added that this Team would 
provide floating on-hand support to former homeless individuals, once they had secured 
accommodation, in order to provide them with ongoing assistance in order for them to 
overcome living on the streets and other ongoing problems they may have as part of 
their live, such as substance misuse, mental health issues, alcohol dependence and 
financial problems. 

The Leader was also assured by the Officer that local members will be notified at the 
relevant stage.

RESOLVED:                                 That Cabinet noted the report and   supported: 

 The collaborative working arrangement with Welsh Government (WG) and the 
Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) to increase the temporary accommodation 
units across the Borough;

 The partnership working with Registered Social Landlords (RSLs) through the 
Rapid Rehousing Protocol (RRP) to reduce the numbers in temporary 
accommodation. 

583. REDUCED TIMETABLE POLICY

The Corporate Director – Education and Family Support submitted a report in order to 
seek off Cabinet, formal approval and adoption of Bridgend County Borough Council’s 
Reduced Timetable Policy (attached at Appendix A to the report).

He confirmed that there was no statutory basis upon which to establish a reduced 
timetable, however, in exceptional circumstances, schools may need to implement a 
reduced timetable in order to support a pupil who cannot attend school for a full day for a 
variety of reasons.

Schools, pupil referral units (PRUs) and educational settings have a statutory duty to 
ensure all pupils on their roll receive a full time educational entitlement and achieve 
good outcomes, the Corporate Director – Education and Family Support added.

Page 12



CABINET - TUESDAY, 15 DECEMBER 2020

The Pastoral Support Plan (PSP) is a school-based intervention to help individual pupils 
to better manage their behaviour and to identify any support mechanisms which need to 
be put in place. The PSP should identify precise and realistic behavioural outcomes for 
the pupil to work towards. PSPs could also be used in other circumstances, such as a 
managed move or returning to school from a long health related absence.

The Corporate Director – Education and Family Support advised, that as there was no 
statutory basis to establish a reduced timetable, it was important that there is an 
element of consistency and equity for all pupils in schools, PRU and educational 
settings, who, for one reason or another may require a phased reintegration back into 
full time education for a limited amount of time.

A database was being developed in order to capture accurate data on the number of 
pupils who are on a reduced timetable in schools, PRU and educational settings in 
Bridgend County Borough.
    
 He concluded his report, by confirming that reduced timetables will be monitored by the 
Access to Education Panel, which meets on a monthly basis. This approach would 
ensure that there is consistent, regular oversight of any pupil that is not accessing full-
time education.

The Cabinet Member – Education and Regeneration supported the proposals of the 
report.

The Leader asked how the impact of the Policy would be monitored, with regards to 
individuals with protected characteristics.

The Corporate Director – Education and Family Support confirmed that the Policy could 
affect and support any learner at any time and that those that were particular recipients 
of the Policy provisions were, pupils regarded as anxious non-attendees at school, 
pupils with mental health issues, pupils affected by a managed move and pupils with 
physical issues, amongst certain other characteristic groups. In terms of the detail of 
such monitoring arrangements, he added that he would be happy to provide this to any 
Member who wished to receive it including the Leader, outside of the meeting.

The Cabinet Member – Wellbeing and Future Generations asked how many pupils were 
on a Reduced Timetable throughout the County Borough and when on this Timetable, 
how long was it before they returned to back to an integrated school based setting.

The Corporate Director – Education and Family Support in response to the first point, 
advised that these figures fluctuate and vary almost on a daily basis though once the 
Policy was in place, this would allow for further data such as this to be qualified, 
quantified and in turn collated. Each pupil would be re-integrated back into their school 
environment at their own speed, on their own individual merits and through analysing for 
example, outcomes in their Personal Support Plan’s (PSP’s).   

RESOLVED:                       That Cabinet formally adopted and approved  the 
Reduced Timetable Policy. 

584. CONTRACT FOR THE SUPPLY OF HOME-TO-COLLEGE TRANSPORT - 
SUSPENSION OF THE CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES

The Corporate Director – Education and Family Support presented a report in relation to 
the above matter.

Page 13



CABINET - TUESDAY, 15 DECEMBER 2020

He explained by way of introduction, that following a procurement process in 2018, the 
Council awarded a contract for the supply of home-to-college transport to First Cymru 
Buses Ltd.  That contract was now due to expire on 7 January 2021.  

Following the report to Cabinet in September 2020, on the outcome of the public 
consultation on the proposed changes to the Council’s Home-to-School/College 
Transport Policy, he reminded Members, that Cabinet determined that Education and 
Family Support Directorate officers, together with transportation officers, continue 
dialogue with private sector transport providers, Bridgend College and other post-16 
providers, in order to make a saving. This also more significantly assisted creating a 
budget which will provide students with a ‘travel pass’. This would be more flexible than 
traditional home-to-college transport and would be a more ‘adult’ solution for young 
people.

In order for the identified engagement to progress with all prospective suppliers and 
stakeholders and for a range of options to be proposed for consideration by Cabinet on 
the future arrangements for a post-16 travel pass, it was proposed that the Council 
should suspend the contract procedure rules and enter into a contract with First Cymru 
Buses Ltd on the same terms as the current contract from 8 January 2021 until 25 June 
2021 (ie the end of the current academic year). This is necessary as work to progress 
the development of a travel pass and an assessment of the development required by the 
Council to bring this forward to fruition, will likely not be completed until the end of April 
2021, at the earliest.  There is also a review ongoing by Welsh Government into Learner 
Travel, the main focus of which was in respect of post-16 learners, added the Corporate 
Director – Education and Family Support. This was due to be concluded in March 2021.

Under the Council’s contract procedure rules, the Council is required to tender and 
advertise contracts such as this one on ‘Sell2Wales’ as a minimum.  The Council, in 
entering into a contract in this manner, will be unable to comply with those requirements.  

The Corporate Director – Education and Family Support concluded his submission, by 
advising that Cabinet should be aware, that by not complying with its contract procedure 
rules the Council is exposed to the risk of potential challenge from other suppliers of 
such products, as we are entering into a contract without any competition which 
breaches the requirements of procurement legislation. 

The Cabinet Member – Education and Regeneration advised, that interesting dialogue 
was ongoing with First Cymru and other third parties with regard to seeking a more 
innovative and adult method of transport provision for young adults and the proposals in 
the report, gave the education authority an opportunity to further progress those 
negotiations, with a view to putting in place a new form of transport arrangements for 16 
plus and Home-to-College students.

RESOLVED:                           That Cabinet:

 • Suspended the relevant parts of the Council’s contract procedure rules in respect of 
the requirements relating to the procurement of the contract for the supply of home-to-
college transport; and

 • Delegated authority to the Corporate Director Education and Family Support in 
consultation with the Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change and 
Section 151 Officer and Chief Officer - Legal, HR and Regulatory Services, to enter 
into a contract for the supply of home-to-college transport with First Cymru Buses Ltd 
from 8 January 2021 until 25 June 2021. 

585. URGENT ITEMS

Page 14



CABINET - TUESDAY, 15 DECEMBER 2020

None.

586. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC

 RESOLVED:                       That under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 
1972 as amended by the Local Government (Access to 
Information) (Variation) (Wales) Order 2007, the public be 
excluded from the meeting during consideration of the 
following item of business as it contained exempt 
information as defined in Paragraph 14 of Part 4 and/or 
Paragraph 21 of Part 5 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Following the application of the public interest test it was 
resolved that pursuant to the Act referred to above, to 
consider the following item in private, with the public 
excluded from the meeting, as it was considered that in all 
circumstances relating to the item, the public interest in 
maintaining the exemption outweighed the public interest 
in disclosing the information, because the information is 
commercially sensitive and it relates to the business and 
financial affairs of the Council and the proposed vendors.

587. SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME - BAND B CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 
LAND COSTS

The meeting closed at 17:00

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET   

19 JANUARY 2021

REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE

CORPORATE JOINT COMMITTEES 

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To provide Cabinet with an update regarding Corporate Joint Committees which are 
an integral feature of the Local Government and Election (Wales) Bill.   

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 The Local Government and Elections (Wales) Bill was passed by the Senedd on 
18th November 2020 and will receive Royal Assent in January 2021.  It is a 
substantial piece of legislation covering electoral reform, public participation, 
governance and performance and regional working. 

3.2 The new approach as set out in the Bill is designed to be a more streamlined, 
flexible, sector-led approach to performance, good governance and improvement.  
The intention is for councils to be proactive in considering how internal processes 
and procedures should change to enable more effective planning, delivery and 
decision making to drive better outcomes.  

3.3 A report will be presented to Council on 20th January 2021 providing an update on 
the Bill and an Action Plan to ensure that the Council is prepared for when the Bill 
comes into force.   

4. Current situation / proposal

4.1 The establishment of Corporate Joint Committees (CJCs) is an integral feature of 
the Bill, currently going through the Senedd Committee process.  The Bill 

Page 17

Agenda Item 4



introduces: 

 Powers for councils to initiate the establishment of CJCs covering any functions;
 Powers for Welsh Ministers to establish CJCs covering the four functions of 

economic wellbeing, transport, strategic planning and school improvement. 

4.2 CJCs have a role to play in bringing coherence to regional governance, 
strengthening local democracy and accountability by integrating decision making. 
There are proposed to be four regional CJCs across Wales covering South East 
Wales, South West Wales, Mid Wales, and North Wales with the goal to build 
wherever possible on existing regional arrangements.  The wider purpose is to 
share resources and ensure all local priorities and requirements can be 
complemented by regional action, ensuring a sense of consistency, harmony and 
resilience permeates regional public investment, planning and accountability.  The 
four CJCs will be established to exercise three related functions that are: 

 Strategic Development Plan; 
 Regional Transport Planning and creation of a Regional Transport Plan; 
 Economic Development and Wellbeing. 

Welsh Government consider that these are areas where there is consensus that 
working at this scale makes sense – aligning economic development, transport and 
land use planning approaches to develop successful regional economies and 
encourage local growth.  

4.3 The specific functions of a CJCs and how it will be governed are set out in draft 
Corporate Joint Committee Regulations which have recently been consulted on by 
Welsh Government with the consultation closing 4th January 2021.  The final 
regulations are expected by April 2021. This includes regulations for each of the 
four proposed CJCs: North Wales; Mid Wales; South East Wales and South West 
Wales. 

4.5 Under the draft regulations, the new CJCs will exercise the functions of preparing, 
monitoring, reviewing and revising of a Strategic Development Plan and 
development of a Regional Transport Plan.   The regulations further provide that 
CJCs: 

 operation in practice should be left to the members of the CJC; 
 CJCs will be subject to the same powers and duties as principal councils;
 will be made up of Leaders, though they can co-opt other members; 
 will be established on a ‘one member one vote’ basis, however, once established, a 

CJC could adopt alternative voting procedures; 
 will have powers delegated to it and will make timely decisions without the need for 

ratification by its constituent principal councils; 
 will be accountable to its constituent principal councils and members will report 

back to those principal councils and must respond to questions and scrutiny;
 can set up sub-committees to lead on specific functions and can agree other 

members (such as cabinet members or co-optees); 
 must appoint a Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer, Monitoring Officer and Chief 

Governance Officer (this could be provided by a constituent authority, or via 
secondment); 

Page 18



 shall set up an Overview and Scrutiny Committee; 
 CJCs will likely be bound by legislation such as the Equality Act 2010, Welsh 

Language and Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act;
 CJCs to decide whether sub-committees are required, and who sits on them.  

4.6 It is expected that the Cardiff Capital Region Cabinet (CCRC) and staffing structure 
will transform into the South East Wales CJC. The CCRC is an existing and 
experienced Joint Cabinet Committee and this is the fundamental starting point for 
a strategy. The key feature of the CCRC approach is the strength of a Regional 
Cabinet model which has Leaders (comprising the ten Leaders of Blaenau Gwent; 
Bridgend; Caerphilly; Cardiff, Merthyr Tydfil, Monmouthshire, Newport, Rhondda 
Cynon Taff; Torfaen; and Vale of Glamorgan) recurrently coming together to make 
decisions in the best interests of the region. It is believed that the potential benefits 
are strong with the maturity of what has already been built, continually developing 
confidence, trust and consensus.  It is therefore an adjustment to existing provisions 
and the opportunity for greater powers and levers at regional level.  

4.7 A report was presented to the CCRC on 7th December 2020 setting out proposed 
principles of the approach of CCRC in respect of the CJCs agenda and providing: 

 A framework for building a City Region and good governance, partnerships, 
accountability and proposals for new regional institutional capacity;

 The roadmap for transition and sequencing of inter-related elements;
 Interaction and engagement across the UK, Welsh Government, regional and local 

government;
 The key ingredients of a positive sum game – local, regional and national;
 Illustrations of a functional model of regionalism in CCR whilst maintaining and 

building upon the integrity of the current set-up and the benefits of CJCs without 
additional layers of bureaucracy and complexity;

 A focus on evolution and enhancement through the ability to more closely link 
national, regional and local; ensuring Wales can better compete on a national stage 
and in international markets; and,

 A focus in more resources and ‘bigger bets’ to lever real economic impact.

4.8 The proposed appropriate next steps at this time, subject to further discussion with 
Welsh Government and necessary CCRC approval are:

 Focussed regional discussions pertaining to existing context, maturity levels and 
ease of concurrence; 

 To establish a resource package for the initial transition;
 Creating a legal framework for transition; 
 Establishing a Transition Advisory Plan and structures to develop and 

operationalise the Transition Plan; 
 Development of a Stakeholder Engagement Plan;
 Joint Working Agreement to be reviewed and revalidated and the new frameworks 

to be operational.  

5. Effect upon Policy Framework & Procedure Rules

5.1 None directly applicable to this report.  

Page 19



6. Equality Impact Assessment 

6.1 An EIA has not been undertaken at this stage.  Welsh Government have produced 
an integrated assessment.    

7.  Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 
report. As the report is for information only it is considered that there will be no 
significant or unacceptable impacts upon the achievement of well-being 
goals/objectives as a result of this report.  Elements of the Bill will however have a 
positive impact on the five ways of working under the Act.  

8. Financial Implications

8.1 There are no financial implications at this time but further work will however be 
required to understand the resourcing of CJCs.  

8.2 Welsh Government has committed to providing support and funding for some 
aspects of the Bill’s implementation, including £500,000 to support digital 
democracy and potential set-up costs to support CJCs.   

9. Recommendations

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet note and endorse the report.  

Mark Shephard
Chief Executive 
January 2021

Contact Officer: Mark Shephard, Chief Executive. 

Telephone: 01656 643106

E-mail: mark.shephard@bridgend.gov.uk     

Postal Address      Civic Centre Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents: None.  

Page 20

mailto:mark.shephard@bridgend.gov.uk


 
BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
REPORT TO CABINET 

 
19 JANUARY 2021 

 
REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND 

CHANGE 
 

BUDGET MONITORING 2020-21 – QUARTER 3 REVENUE FORECAST 
 

1.0 Purpose of report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Cabinet with an update on the Council’s 

revenue financial position as at 31st December 2020, and to seek approval for 
budget virements between £100,000 and £500,000 as required by the Council’s 
Financial Procedure Rules.  

 
2.0 Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 
 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-   
 

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions of all people in the county borough.  

 
2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient – 

taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 
 

3. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.  

 
2.2 The allocation of budget determines the extent to which the Council’s well-being 

objectives can be delivered.  
 
3.0 Background 
 
3.1 On 26th February 2020, Council approved a net revenue budget of £286.885 million 

for 2020-21.  As part of the Performance Management Framework, budget 
projections are reviewed regularly and reported to Cabinet on a quarterly basis.  
The delivery of agreed budget reductions is also kept under review and reported to 
Cabinet as part of this process.  

 
 
 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5



 
4.0  Current situation / proposal 

 
4.1 Summary financial position at 31st December 2020 
 
4.1.1 The Council’s net revenue budget and projected outturn for 2020-21 is shown in 

Table 1 below. 
 
Table 1- Comparison of budget against projected outturn at 31st December 2020 
 

Directorate/Budget Area 
Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn Q3 

Projected 
Over / (Under) 

Spend  

Projected 
Over / (Under) 

Spend 
  2020-21 2020-21 2020-21 2020-21 Qtr 2 2020-21 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Directorate           
            
Education and Family Support 120,931 123,512 124,839 1,327 1,494 
Social Services and Wellbeing 70,894 73,240 74,052 812 420 
Communities  27,790 28,379 27,627 (752) 456 

Chief Executive's 18,228 18,773 18,573 (200) 1,118 

Total Directorate Budgets 237,843 243,904 245,091 1,187 3,488 

Council Wide Budgets           

            

Capital Financing  7,329 7,329 7,129 (200) (200) 

Levies 7,459 7,460 7,472 12 11 

Apprenticeship Levy 650 650 655 5 (14) 

Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme 

 
15,254 

 
15,254 

 
15,254 0 

 
1 

Insurance Premiums 1,438 1,438 1,376 (62) (51) 

Repairs & Maintenance 870 753 753 0 0 

Pension Related Costs 430 430 435 5 0 

Other Council Wide Budgets 15,612 9,167 2,230 (6,937) (3,266) 

Total Council Wide Budgets 49,042 42,481 35,304 (7,177) (3,519) 

            
Appropriation to Earmarked 
Reserves 0 500 5,799 5,299 0 

            

Total 286,885 286,885 286,194 (691) (31) 

 
 
4.1.2 The overall projected position at 31st December 2020 is a net under spend of 

£691,000, comprising £1.187 million net over spend on directorates and a 
£7.177 million net under spend on corporate budgets, offset by net appropriation 
to earmarked reserves of £5.299 million. The projected position is based on:- 

 

 Inclusion of reimbursed expenditure/loss of income to date on areas impacted by 
COVID-19 received from Welsh Government (WG). 

 Exclusion of COVID-19 expenditure/loss of income claims that are currently 
being reviewed by WG at the time of writing this report. 

 Exclusion of COVID-19 expenditure/loss of income claims that have not yet been 
submitted as they relate to quarter 4 of 2020-21. 

 
  

Page 22



4.1.3 The projected under spend on ‘other council wide’ budgets of £6.937 million is 
primarily a result of the unprecedented year that the Council has faced during 
2020-21, and its attempts to address the financial impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic.  A combination of the uncertainty over the available funding along 
with the length of time and coverage of the support that has been made available 
by Welsh Government has meant that other council wide budgets have 
supported potential shortfalls.  Successful claims to the WG COVID-19 fund 
since quarter 2, that otherwise would have to have been met from other council 
wide budgets, amounted to £3.430 million.  Other reasons for the projected 
under spend include the movement on inflation rates since budget setting (CPI 
was 1.7% in February 2020 and had reduced to 0.3% by November 2020) and 
therefore the reduced requirement to allocate budget to service areas in-year 
(£1.5 million), and additional grant funding being made available from WG to 
contribute to the increased costs of teachers’ pay (£291,980).   

 
4.1.4 As a consequence of the projected one off underspends we have been able to 

create in-year earmarked reserves to support economic stimulus and investment 
in our communities at this unprecedented time.  Detailed movements in 
earmarked reserves can be found in section 4.4, however new additions in 
quarter 3 include a £2.5 million addition to the unallocated capital reserve to be 
utilised against projected capital pressures, and a £500,000 increase to the 
revenue maintenance reserve to be utilised against projected maintenance 
pressures.   

 
4.1.5 In addition, given the significant funding required to meet pay and price costs in 

2021-22, and potential pressures on Council Tax collection (see 4.1.17) and 
increase in eligibility for council tax support through the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme (see 4.1.18), any uncommitted funding from other council wide budgets 
in 2020-21 will be carried forward to meet those pressures in the new financial 
year. 

 
4.1.6 The Council received its provisional local government settlement for 2021-22 

from Welsh Government on 22nd December 2020.  A report is being presented 
to Cabinet on 19th January 2021 on the draft Medium Term Financial Strategy 
2021-22 to 2024-25 which sets out the spending priorities of the Council, key 
investment objectives and budget areas targeted for necessary savings.  The 
strategy includes a financial forecast for 2021-25 and a detailed draft revenue 
budget for 2021-22.  It is clear from the report that there will be difficult choices 
to make and pressures to meet going forward.  In addition, there is still one 
quarter of the financial year remaining and there are a number of volatile 
budgets which could impact upon this position as well as the ongoing COVID-19 
pandemic, particularly during the winter months. 

 
4.1.7 A detailed analysis of the more significant projected under and over spends is 

set out in section 4.3.  The position on directorate budgets has improved since 
quarter 2, with the projected over spend reducing by £2.3 million.  This is 
primarily due to successful claims to WG for COVID-19 related additional 
expenditure and loss of income since quarter 2 that have been built into the 
quarter 3 projections.  The position has not improved by the full movement in 
WG claims of £3.430 million since quarter 2 as referenced in 4.1.3 as some 
budgets are seeing continuing pressure as lockdown continues, for example 
Catering services, due to provision of Free School Meals during school holidays 
and periods where pupils are in self-isolation.  Claims will continue to be made to 

Page 23



WG for the remainder of the 2020-21 financial year and if successful, will further 
improve the financial position by the year end.   

 
 COVID-19 
 
4.1.8 The UK was put into lockdown on 23rd March 2020 in an unprecedented step to 

attempt to limit the spread of coronavirus.  The impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic has had an inevitable impact on the Council’s financial position in a 
number of ways: 

 

Additional cost 
pressures  

Some have been one-off and some recurrent. The 
majority of one-off cost pressures have been 
submitted for funding to the WG Hardship Fund, e.g. 
PPE, ICT, voids etc.  It is unlikely that recurrent 
pressures will be met in the medium term. 

Lost income Again, some have been one-off losses, others will be 
deferred losses (e.g. potentially planning income), 
and others could be permanent recurrent losses. 
Claims have been submitted to WG covering loss of 
income for quarter 1 and 2. Main areas claimed were 
car parking, school meals and a contribution to the 
Council’s leisure service provider. 

2020-21 MTFS 
savings not met 

Total MTFS savings for the year of £2.413m which 
may not be achieved (e.g. staffing restructures, 
remodelling of services, income generation) or which 
may be achieved fortuitously due to circumstances, 
but will require decisions going forward on whether or 
not to proceed or revisit. 

Unanticipated 
savings 

For areas where service provision has reduced or 
stopped and subsequent savings have been made 
e.g. home to school transport, premises and fuel.  

Council Tax There is likely to be a shortfall in council tax 
collection, especially given the delay in starting 
recovery, and an increase in council tax benefits.  

 
  4.1.9 As reported to Cabinet on 30th June 2020, a COVID Earmarked Reserve of £3 

million was created at the end of 2019-20.  Also on 30th June Cabinet agreed a 
proposed approach to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic to allow the Council 
to re-start, recover and renew its service provision.  A Recovery Panel to help 
shape, inform and advise Cabinet on the Council’s recovery planning has been 
established.  Phase 1 findings were reported to Cabinet on 15th September 
2020.   

 
4.1.10 Cabinet and Corporate Management Board (CCMB) agreed to establish a 

COVID-19 Recovery Fund for 2020-21 on a ‘one off’ basis to provide funding for 
conscious and proactive decisions aimed at boosting recovery that were unlikely 
to be paid for by WG, with £500,000 being utilised from the 2020-21 Public 
Realm fund (see section 4.3.3) and a further £500,000 being ring-fenced from 
the COVID-19 Earmarked Reserve to create a fund of £1 million. 

 
 
 
 

Page 24



Estimated costs of the Council’s response to the COVID-19 pandemic 
 
4.1.11 In response to the pandemic, the Council, alongside other organisations, has 

provided direct support to its community / residents in a number of ways.  Welsh 
Government has provided specific eligibility criteria for each of its funding streams, 
and all directorates have been made aware of them, and are capturing costs 
accordingly.  Any COVID-19 costs which are not identified and claimed will need to 
be funded from the normal service budgets.  Claims submitted to WG covering 
expenditure to November 2020, and the outcome of these claims are shown in 
Table 2. 
 
Table 2 – COVID-19 expenditure claims up to November 2020 
 

Specific Hardship Fund Claimed Paid On hold Disallowed 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

General 1,793 1,040 207 546 

Homelessness 1,629 1,565 64 0 

Free School Meals 1,642 1,044 492 106 

Schools (including HUB costs) 1,233 945 257 30 

Adult Social Services 3,348 2,947 382 18 

Total 9,644 7,541 1,403 700 

 
4.1.12 The majority of the disallowed expenditure (£476,000) relates to ICT costs incurred 

by the Council primarily to establish home working arrangements.  The WG 
hardship panel agreed that these costs may be additional and not within the 
Council’s financial plans, however they also felt that having such assets in place 
provides longer term benefits to local authorities.  A contribution of 50% was 
therefore agreed with the majority of the balance being funded from the annual 
corporate capital budget along with a one-off contribution of £114,180 from 
corporate contingency (see 4.1.19).  The majority of the £106,000 disallowed 
expenditure under the Free School Meals category relates to the delivery costs of 
the food parcels which took the cost of the provision over the funding threshold set 
by Welsh Government.  

 
4.1.13 The majority of the £1.403 million claims that have been placed on hold relates to 

the claim of £1.018 million for additional expenditure incurred in November.  The 
outcome of this claim is not known at the time of writing this report, therefore the 
reimbursement of these costs has not been assumed in the quarter 3 projections.   
 

4.1.14 The Council has also submitted claims for loss of income to the Welsh Government 
for quarter 1 and quarter 2 of 2020-21 totalling £4.155 million as shown in Table 3.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 25



Table 3 – COVID-19 loss of income to Quarter 2 2020-21 
 

Directorate 

Claimed 
(covers 

to end of 
Qtr 2) 

Paid 
On 

hold 
Disallowed Main areas funded 

  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000   

Education and 
Family 
Support 
Directorate 

1,704 1,544 160 0 

£1.496m - School meal 
income, £45K – Child and 
Adolescent Mental Health 
Services (CAMHS) 

Schools  297 297 0 0 

£107K  - school meal 
income, £190K - loss of 
income from hire of school 
premises 

Social 
Services & 
Wellbeing 
Directorate 

695 695 0 0 

£501K – contribution to 
Council’s leisure service 
provider, £130K - Residential 
and non-residential client 
contribution income, £64K – 
dual use sites where 
facilities are managed for 
community use outside of 
school hours 

Communities 
Directorate 

1,064 959 1 104 

£393K - Car Park Income, 
£160K - rental income from 
properties due to 3 month 
rent holiday, £52K – reduced 
occupancy of properties, 
£103K – civil enforcement 
income, £116K 
Green/Bulky/Trade waste 
income, Pitch and Pavilion 
hire - £45K, Fleet Services - 
£46K, Bus station - £20K 

Chief 
Executive's 
Directorate 

395 64 258 74 

£34K – legal, democratic and 
regulatory services, £15K - 
registration fees, £9K 
housing, £6K finance 

Total 4,155 3,558 418 178   

 
 4.1.15 £3.558 million has been approved and paid to date.  £418,000 is currently on hold 

whilst we provide further evidence to WG (mostly £160,000 special school 
recoupment income and £258,000 for income streams within the Chief Executive’s 
directorate where the WG panel will seek updates at quarter 4 to see if the overall 
position has improved).  The quarter 3 projections have excluded the ‘on hold’ loss 
of income categories as there is no certainty at this time in relation to the outcome 
of these claims. £178,000 has been disallowed – this mainly relates to loss of rental 
income from properties in quarter 2 due to the continuing rental holiday agreed in 
quarter 1 (£104,000).  WG has disallowed this claim on the basis that this was a 
local authority decision.  This has subsequently been agreed by Cabinet to be 
funded from the COVID-19 Recovery Fund. (See 4.1.16). 

 
4.1.16 Cabinet has also committed £629,000 from the COVID Recovery Fund to support 

the free car parking offer for Town Centres, a phased rental income increase for its 
own premises, waived sports fees, wider economic resilience schemes and COVID-
19 awareness training for Town Centre businesses.  These have been built into the 
quarter 3 projections. 

Page 26



  
4.1.17 In addition to lost income from service provision, the Council is also likely to see 

a reduction in council tax income collection over the 2020-21 financial year as 
more people have suffered financial hardship through the pandemic.  A number 
of measures were put in place to support those facing difficulty in paying their 
council tax, but it is estimated that there is still likely to be a lower collection rate 
than normal.  A 1% reduction in the council tax income collection rate could 
result in an additional pressure to the Council of around £1 million.  Given the 
range of measures put in place to support council tax payers, it is too early to 
provide a realistic indication of projected council tax for this financial year.  Whilst 
no funding has been identified by WG for reduced council tax income, WG are 
monitoring this across all Welsh Local Authorities. 

 
4.1.18 Alongside this, the impact of a significant increase in claims for universal credit is 

manifesting itself in an increase in eligibility for council tax reduction support, and 
the additional cost of this compared with 2019-20 could be between £500,000 to 
£1 million over the 2020-21 financial year.  Funding has been received from WG 
for the first quarter of 2020-21 (£133,000) and a commitment has also been 
given from WG to provide funding for quarter 2.  However, it is difficult to predict 
the full year impact as we continue to see the impact of the ongoing furlough 
scheme/newly unemployed and a likely increase in the number of benefits 
claimants, but the cost will at least be partly mitigated. 

 
 Budget virements/technical adjustments 
 
4.1.19 There have been a number of budget virements and technical adjustments 

between budgets since the MTFS was approved by Council in February 2020. 
The budget position is reported on the assumption that these virements will be 
approved. The main virements and technical adjustments are outlined below: 

 
 Budget Virements 
 

 Service vired from / to Amount 

One-off contribution from Corporate Contingency to fund part 
of the shortfall on the COVID-19 ICT costs that were only 
funded 50% by WG from the Hardship Fund (see paragraph 
4.1.12) 

£114,180 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 27



 
 Technical Adjustments 
 

 Service vired from / to Amount 

Transfer of inflationary uplifts to Directorate budgets not confirmed 
when the MTFS is agreed that are held centrally until evidence of 
the uplift is provided by the service areas 

£354,454 

Transfer of inflationary uplifts to the Schools Delegated Budget 
not confirmed when the MTFS is agreed that are held centrally 
until evidence of the uplift is provided by the service areas 

£18,148 

Allocation of funding retained centrally in respect of teachers’ pay 
award 2020-21, net of grant received 

£998,200 

Allocation of funding retained centrally in respect of the 2.75% pay 
award for National Joint Council (NJC) workers – school based 
staff 

£711,720 

Allocation of funding retained centrally in respect of the 2.75% pay 
award for National Joint Council (NJC) workers – directorate staff 

£2,171,309 

Transfer of Real Living Wage uplifts to Directorate Budgets 
that were held centrally until evidence of the uplift was 
provided. 

£75,360 

 
4.1.20 Welsh Government made additional grant funding available in quarter 3 to 

contribute towards the additional cost of teachers’ pay increases which were 
originally funded in full through the MTFS.  The release of the funding through 
the MTFS is shown in the technical adjustments table above.  

 
4.1.21 Inflation rates have fluctuated since the budget for 2020-21 was set (CPI was 

1.7% in February 2020 and had reduced to 0.3% by November 2020).  This has 
resulted in a reduction to transfers of inflationary uplifts to Directorate budgets 
compared with original estimates which has contributed to the projected under 
spend on corporate budgets (see 4.3.5).  However, with the uncertainty around 
Brexit and COVID-19, and the possible economic fallout arising from these, it is 
likely that the provision set aside in the MTFS for 2021-22 will need to be 
supplemented by any funding not committed from the Council wide budgets this 
financial year. 

 
 Budget Reduction Proposals 
 
4.1.22 The net budget for the financial year has been set assuming full implementation 

of the current year budget reduction requirements across the Council’s budget, 
which amount to £2.413 million.  Where proposals to meet this requirement have 
been delayed or are not achievable directorates have been tasked with 
identifying alternative proposals to meet their requirements such as vacancy 
management, or bringing forward alternative budget reduction proposals. 

 
4.1.23 The draft Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2021-22 to 2024-25 which is being 

presented to Cabinet on 19th January 2021 includes a number of pressures facing 
Bridgend County Borough Council over the life of the MTFS.  The report reiterates 
the need to develop recurrent budget reduction proposals, based on the most likely 
scenario, amounting to £22.095 million over the next four years.  Against that 
background it is essential that expenditure is kept within the overall approved 
budget and that longer term proposals continue to be developed so that the Council 
has as much flexibility as possible to meet the challenges which lie ahead. 

Page 28



 
4.1.24 At year end consideration will be given to requests from directors to carry forward 

any planned directorate under spends for specific purposes, as earmarked 
reserves, into the following year, in line with the Council’s Reserves and Balances 
Protocol, as long as these can be met from within the Council’s cash limited budget 
for 2020-21. This is in line with the reports to Cabinet and Council on the MTFS, 
and the Council’s Financial Procedure Rules. Similarly, consideration will be given 
to any budget over spends to determine whether these should be carried forward as 
a first call on the directorate budget for the following year. If over spends are due to 
budget reduction proposals not being achieved, Directors will be asked to identify if 
any of these proposals are still not likely to be achieved in full during the 2021-22 
financial year, and to identify mitigating actions that will be undertaken to achieve 
them.  Finally, outstanding prudential borrowing will be repaid, where possible, to 
reduce future capital financing charges. However, a decision will not be made until 
towards the end of the financial year when the overall outturn position is more 
definite.   

 
4.2 Monitoring of Budget Reduction Proposals  
 
 Prior Year Budget Reductions 
 
4.2.1 A report was presented to Cabinet on 30th June 2020 on Revenue Budget Outturn 

2019-20. In the report it was highlighted that, for 2017-18 to 2018-19, there were 
£2.342 million of budget reduction proposals that were not met in full, with a total 
outstanding balance to be met of £459,000. In addition, of the 2019-20 budget 
reduction proposals of £7.621 million, it was reported that there was a total 
outstanding balance to be met of £806,000.  Directors have been asked to identify if 
any of these proposals are still not likely to be achieved in full during the 2020-21 
financial year, and to identify mitigating actions that will be undertaken to achieve 
them.  A summary of the latest position is attached as Appendix 1 with a summary 
per directorate provided in Table 4.  

 
 Table 4 – Outstanding Prior Year Budget Reductions  
 
 

 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Required 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Likely to 

be 
Achieved 

Shortfall 

DIRECTORATE /BUDGET 
REDUCTION AREA 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

Education and Family Support 269 0 269 

Social Services and Wellbeing 452 452 0 

Communities 1,750 1,310 440 

Chief Executive’s 30 30 0 

TOTAL 2,501 1,792 709 

 
 
 

Page 29



4.2.2 Table 4 shows that of the £2.501 million outstanding prior year reductions, £1.792 
million is likely to be achieved in 2020-21 leaving a shortfall of £709,000. Proposals 
still not likely to be achieved include: 

o Learner Transport Policy and Transport Route efficiencies (£194,000) and 
Review of Special Schools Home to School Transport (£75,000).  As 
reported to Cabinet on 21st July 2020 the shortfall has been funded from the 
Council’s contingency budget in 2020-21 and for future years the Education 
and Family Support Directorate have submitted a budget pressure request 
as part of the 2021-22 MTFS process. 

o Permitting Scheme for Road Works (£100,000).  The Streetworks review is 
reaching completion and will then be submitted to Welsh Government for 
consideration. 

o Reductions to the budget for the MREC (£1.3 million).  As reported to 
Cabinet on 21st July 2020 the shortfall will be funded from the Council’s 
contingency budget in 2020-21, and for future years the Communities 
Directorate has submitted a budget pressure request as part of the 2021-22 
MTFS process. 

   
4.2.3 As outlined in the MTFS reports to Cabinet and Council, MTFS Principle 7 states 

that “Savings proposals are fully developed and include realistic delivery timescales 
prior to inclusion in the annual budget.  An MTFS Budget Reduction Contingency 
Reserve will be maintained to mitigate against unforeseen delays”. An MTFS 
Budget Reduction Contingency reserve was established in 2016-17. This reserve 
has been used to meet specific budget reduction proposals in previous years on a 
one-off basis pending alternative measures. During the remainder of the financial 
year, the Section 151 Officer will consider applications from Directorates to the 
MTFS Budget Reduction Contingency reserve to mitigate some of the shortfalls. 

 
 Budget Reductions 2020-21 
 
4.2.4 The budget approved for 2020-21 included budget reduction proposals totalling 

£2.413 million, which is broken down in Appendix 2 and summarised in Table 5 
below.  The current position is a projected shortfall on the savings target of 
£490,000, or 20.3% of the overall reduction target.  

 
 Table 5 – Monitoring of Budget Reductions 2020-21 

 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Required 

Total 
Budget 

Reductions 
Likely to 

be 
Achieved 

Shortfall 

DIRECTORATE /BUDGET REDUCTION 
AREA 

£'000 £'000 £'000 

Education and Family Support 239 114 125 

Schools 0 0 0 

Social Services and Wellbeing 820 537 283 

Communities 646 564 82 

Chief Executive's 508 508 0 

Council Wide Budgets 200 200 0 

TOTAL 2,413 1,923 490 

Page 30



 
4.2.5 The most significant budget reduction proposals unlikely to be achieved in full 

include: 
o EFS1 - Phased Implementation of Learner Transport Policy (£75,000).  As 

reported to Cabinet on 21st July 2020 the shortfall is being funded from the 
Council’s contingency budget in 2020-21. 

o SSW20 – Further savings from leisure centres and swimming pools 
(£70,000) 

o SSW27 – Increase income generation from mobile response and telecare 
charging (£75,000) 

o SSW29 – Further review of staffing structures across Adults’ and Children’s 
Services (£175,000) 

   
4.2.6 Appendix 2 identifies the projected amount of saving against these proposals in 

detail and action to be taken by the directorate to mitigate the shortfall. Directors 
continue to work with their staff to deliver their proposals or identify alternatives and 
this is reflected in the forecast outturn for the year. In the longer term, these 
proposals must be realised or met through alternative budget reduction proposals in 
order to deliver a balanced budget position.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 31



4.3 Commentary on the Financial Position at 31st December 2020 
 

Financial Position at 31st December 2020 
 
A summary of the financial position for each main service area is attached as 
Appendix 3 to this report and comments on the most significant variances are 
provided below. The main impact of COVID-19 on the budget, if we assumed that 
no further funding was forthcoming from WG, is summarised in Table 6 below. This 
outlines the areas where there would be over spends as a result of the pandemic, 
alongside areas where we would make savings from reduced provision of services. 
If funding was received for all our additional cost pressures and loss of income, the 
net position could improve by £2.269 million:- 

 
Table 6 – Net impact of COVID-19 on the financial position at 31st December 
2020 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Directorate 
COVID 
Related 

COVID 
Related 

Net   

  
Over 

spends 
Under 

spends 

Over/ 
(under) 
spend 

Comments 

  £'000 £'000 £'000   

Education and 
Family Support 

937 -437 500 

Net loss on the provision of school meals 
and shortfall in special school recoupment 
income, offset by reduced payments to bus 
contractors and early years provision. 

Social Services and 
Wellbeing 

373 0 373 
Mainly relates to level of voids in Local 
Authority Residential Care Settings. 

Communities  104 -378 (274) 

Loss of income claim for loss of rental of 
potential occupants (vacant stalls/buildings) 
and delays in signing leases, offset by net 
reduction in seasonal staff costs for parks 
and playing fields and one-off grant income. 

Chief Executive's 855 0 855 
Additional costs of facilities for homeless 
plus lower income from registrars, licensing 
and public health. 

Total  2,269 -815 1,454   

Page 32



 
4.3.1 Education and Family Support Directorate 
 

The net budget for the Directorate for 2020-21 is £123.512 million.  Current 
projections indicate an over spend of £1.327 million at year end. COVID-19 
expenditure and loss of income included in this projection amount to £937,000 - if 
these were to be successfully claimed from WG, the projection would improve to an 
over spend of £390,000. The main variances are: 

 

EDUCATION & FAMILY 
SUPPORT DIRECTORATE 

Net  
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

Over/ (under) 
specifically  COVID-

19 related 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 

Inclusion 1,983 2,576 593 29.9% 160 

Home to School Transport 5,856 6,404 548 9.4% (337) 

Catering Services 1,033 1,810 777 75.2% 777 

Integrated Working and Family 
Support 

1,528 1,371 (157) -10.3% - 

Adult Education 136 58 (78) -57.4%  

Early Years 539 439 (100) -18.6% (100) 

Pupil Support/Education Welfare 492 418 (74) -15.0%  

Health & Safety 388 306 (82) -21.1% - 

Youth Justice Service 369 334 (35) -9.5% - 

 
Schools’ Delegated Budgets 
Total funding delegated to schools in 2020-21 is £101.414 million. 
 
The schools’ delegated budget is reported as balanced as any under or over spend 
is automatically carried forward into the new financial year before being considered 
by the Corporate Director - Education and Family Support in line with the ‘Guidance 
and Procedures on Managing Surplus School Balances’.  

 
At the start of 2020-21, projections indicated an overall deficit balance for school 
delegated budgets of £1.146 million at year end.  At quarter 3 this has improved to 
a projected deficit of £82,945.  There has been a slight reduction in spending across 
schools since the original projections, e.g. energy savings during original lockdown, 
however this will require close monitoring for the remaining quarter of 2020-21 as 
the schools may experience an increase in costs in certain areas that would 
mitigate these one-off savings.  There are currently 22 primary schools, 3 
secondary schools and no special schools (42% of all schools) projecting a deficit 
balance at year end. 

 
 Central Education and Family Support Budgets 

 
Inclusion 

 There is a projected over spend of £593,000 for Inclusion which primarily 
relates to the shortfall in recoupment income for other Local Authority (LA) 
placements at Heronsbridge School and Ysgol Bryn Castell.  £160,000 has 
been included in our claim to WG for ‘loss of income’ for the first quarter of 
2020-21 which is currently on hold, hence the income has not been included in 
the above projection.  If the claim is successful the projected over spend will 
reduce accordingly.  The balance of the projected over spend is due to a 

Page 33



reduction in the number of other LA pupils in Bridgend schools from 20 in the 
summer term 2020 compared with 14 for the autumn term 2020.  It should be 
noted that some places can result in income in excess of £100,000. 
 

Home to School Transport (HTST) 

 There is a projected over spend on Home to School Transport of £548,000 in 
2020-21. 

 The projected over spend takes into account the estimated savings of £337,000 
that were made during the first quarter due to local authorities being 
recommended to pay a minimum of 75% of the contract value for school and 
other contracted local passenger services in order for them to remain viable.  

 In September 2015, Cabinet agreed changes to the local authority’s Home to 
School/College Transport Policy in order to meet MTFS savings identified from 
2016-17 to 2019-20.  The policy change was implemented in September 2016 
and Cabinet resolved to protect the entitlement of all pupils currently benefitting 
from home to school transport at the former distances until they moved schools 
or moved from one phase of education to another.  Furthermore protection was 
provided for siblings of children already in receipt at the former distances, where 
they too would benefit from free transport at the same distance.  Parents who 
were aggrieved that their child was at detriment in comparison with their peers 
challenged the safety of walked routes to schools.  Therefore, the local authority 
agreed in August 2017 to progress the formal assessments of walking routes to 
schools. It was then proposed to seek the views of the public on a number of 
policy proposals, not least the implementation of available walked route 
assessments.  In July 2019, Cabinet agreed to undertake a full 12-week public 
consultation on a new set of proposals that would provide sufficient savings to 
support the MTFS. 

 On 15 September 2020 Cabinet were updated on the outcomes of the 
consultation exercise and resolved to defer the decision to amend the Local 
Authority’s Learner Travel Policy until after the review of the current statutory 
distances by Welsh Government in March 2021.  It is unlikely that any change 
to the statutory distances by Welsh Government will follow until 2022 at the 
earliest and therefore even if the statutory distances reduce as a result of this 
review, the RSG would unlikely reflect this until 2022-23 at the earliest.  In the 
meantime there are ongoing historic pressures associated with budget 
reductions that have not been supported by a policy change of £269,000 and an 
in year MTFS savings target of £75,000 which remains undeliverable.  For 
2020-21 the overall shortfall of £344,000 on the HTST savings has been funded 
from the Council’s contingency budget. 

 Significant additional spend is associated with the delivery of packed lunches at 
the outset of the pandemic and the delivery of food parcels utilising school 
transport providers.  As noted in 4.1.12, these costs have been disallowed in 
our claims to the Hardship Fund. There is also ongoing additional daily spend 
for the delivery of food parcels for pupils self-isolating and for those parcels that 
are undelivered by the local authority’s approved provider for eligible pupils over 
the school holiday periods e.g. October half-term.   

 Some additional transport has also been required to maintain social distancing 
in contact groups. These additional costs have been submitted to WG for 
funding but are currently on hold as noted in 4.1.13.   

 There is significant additional cost associated with the provision of some 
specialist transport, for example, for looked-after children.  The individual needs 
of these children, particularly those who are placed out-of-county, means that 

Page 34



dedicated school transport is increasingly costly as options for their transport 
are limited. 

 By combining the £337,000 in-year saving, the £344,000 funding from the 
Council’s contingency budget and the projected over spend of £548,000, the 
underlying budget pressure on the HTST budget amounts to £1.229 million. 

 A decision by Cabinet was made in October 2020 to authorise the tendering of 
272 home-to-school transport contract of all types with an annual value of 
£4.9m. It is hoped this will result in future savings year-on-year.  The outcome 
of this procurement exercise will be known during quarter 4 of 2020-2021. 

 
Catering Services 

 The projected over spend of £777,000 has primarily arisen as a result of the 
COVID-19 pandemic.  The projection includes the claim for provision of free 
school meals (FSM) food parcels of £492,000 that is currently on-hold by WG 
until further supporting evidence is received and therefore not included in our 
projections (see Table 2), and also reflects anticipated additional costs to March 
2021.  The remaining over spend relates to a projected reduction in forecast 
levels of school meal income due to reduced take up of schools meals since the 
return to school in September.  It is anticipated that claims for shortfalls in 
school meal income will be included in our future claims to WG, however the 
income is not assumed in our current projections.  

 
Integrated Working and Family Support 

 The projected under spend of £157,000 relates primarily to staff vacancies 
within the service and maximisation of grant income.  The vacant posts are 
expected to be filled and this is built into the current projection. 

 
Adult Education 

 The projected under spend of £78,000 relates to staff vacancies within the 
service.  The vacant posts are expected to be filled and this is built into the 
current projection. 

 
Early Years 

 The projected under spend of £100,000 relates primarily to reduced costs 
during the period where non-LA nurseries were closed during the first COVID-
19 lockdown period. 

 
Pupil Support/Education Welfare Service 

 The projected under spend of £74,000 relates to staff vacancies across these 
services.  The vacant posts are expected to be filled and this is built into the 
current projection. 

 
Health & Safety 

 The projected under spend of £82,000 relates to staff vacancies within the 
service.  The vacant posts are expected to be filled and this is built into the 
current projection. 

 
Youth Justice Service 

 There is a projected under spend of £35,000 within the Youth Offending 
Service.  This is primarily due to current staff vacancies within the service.  A 
planned re-structure this calendar year will result in the full budget being 
committed moving forward. 

Page 35



4.3.2 Social Services and Wellbeing Directorate  
 

The Directorate’s net budget for 2020-21 is £73.240 million.  Current projections 
indicate an over spend of £812,000 at year end. Loss of income included in this 
projection amounts to £373,000 – if these were successfully claimed from WG, the 
projection would improve to an over spend of £439,000.  The main variances are: 
 

SOCIAL SERVICES AND 
WELLBEING DIRECTORATE 

Net  
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

Over/ (under) 
specifically  

COVID-19 
related 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 

Adult Social Care 48,815 49,521 706 1.4% 373 

Prevention and Wellbeing 5,200 5,139 (61) -1.2% - 

Childrens Social Care 19,225 19,392 167 0.9% - 

 
Adult Social Care 

 There is a projected net over spend of £706,000 on the Adult Social Care budget. 
The main areas contributing to this over spend are:- 

 

 Older People Residential Care – there is projected over spend of £870,000 due 
to increased placement costs and reduction in personal contributions.  
Anticipated future loss of income claims to WG of £248,000, if agreed, would 
improve the position to an over spend of £622,000.  

 

 Care at Home for Older People – this includes domiciliary care services, local 
authority homecare services and the provision of direct payments.  The 
projected under spend of £562,000 is a combination of an over spend on the 
Direct Payments budget (£196,000) due to an increase in the number of cases, 
offset by an under spend on the homecare budget primarily due to staffing 
vacancies and delays implementing a restructure due to COVID-19.  Anticipated 
future claims to the WG Hardship fund of £63,000, if agreed, would improve the 
position to an under spend of £625,000. 

 

 Assessment and Care Management – there is a projected under spend of 
£132,000 due to a challenging recruitment environment and maximisation of 
grant income to offset staffing costs. 

 

 Additional staffing costs – there is a projected over spend of £30,000 in relation 
to anticipated extra staffing resources required in quarter 4 due to numbers of 
staff self-isolating.  It is anticipated that this will be included in the future claims 
to the WG Hardship fund and, if agreed, would improve the position by £30,000.   

 

 Physical Disability/Sensory Impairment - there is a projected over spend of 
£21,000.  This is due primarily to a combination of an under spend on the 
Residential Care budget due to increases in client contributions (£121,000), an 
under spend on Assessment & Care Management due to staff vacancy 
management (£51,000), offsetting an over spend on Care at Home mainly due 
to an increase in Direct Payment costs (£83,000) and an over spend on 
equipment and adaptations based on forecasted level of usage (£120,000).  

 

Page 36



 Adult Learning Disabilities – there is a projected over spend of £253,000.  This 
is mainly due to increased external homecare costs and set up costs for a new 
supported living scheme that commenced in October 2020.  Anticipated future 
claims to the WG Hardship fund of £24,000, if agreed, would reduce the over 
spend to £229,000. 

 

 Mental Health – there is a projected over spend of £327,000. This is mainly due 
to increased homecare costs due to additional placements relating to 
independent domiciliary care and high cost supported living placements.  
Anticipated future claims to the WG Hardship fund of £8,000, if agreed, would 
reduce the over spend to £319,000. 

 

 Management and Central Services – there is a projected under spend of 
£81,000 primarily due to staff vacancy management and under spends on 
training costs.  However, at the time of writing the report, there are issues as a 
result of COVID-19 throughout the directorate in terms of staffing levels.  This 
under spend may be needed to fund agency staff cover, direct payments or 
innovative recruitment to enable the directorate to provide sufficient levels of 
care.  The cost implication is currently difficult to estimate, therefore this 
projection might worsen in the final quarter of 2020-21.  Wherever possible, any 
additional costs due to COVID-19 will be reclaimed via the WG Hardship fund. 

 
Prevention and Wellbeing 

 The Council has received WG funding to compensate for the quarter 1 and 2 
loss of income (£501,000) to contribute to the net loss of running the leisure 
services due to COVID-19. If no further funding is received from WG for the 
remainder of 2020-21, a contribution will be made from the Public Realm budget 
within the Communities Directorate towards this (see section 4.3.3).  The impact 
of the latest lockdown restrictions on the leisure services will have to be closely 
monitored in the final quarter of 2020-21 and into 2021-22. 

 
Childrens Social Care 

There is a projected net over spend of £167,000 on Children’s Social Care.  The 
main areas contributing to this over spend are:- 

 

 The Looked After Children (LAC) budget is projected to over spend by 
£385,000.  Average LAC numbers were 376 in 2018-19, 384 in 2019-20 and are 
currently 394.  Numbers can fluctuate month to month and three additional Out 
of County placements initiated since quarter 2 have contributed to the increase 
in over spend on this budget. 

 

 Family Support Services is projected to over spend by £91,000 primarily due 
the increased demand for Direct Payments.  There are currently 110 Direct 
Payment clients compared with 114 at the end of 2019-20 however the 
projected over spend is primarily because of increased costs due to complexity 
of cases. 

 

 The above over spends have been offset by a projected under spend of 
£308,000 on staffing vacancies within Commissioning and Social work due to a 
challenging recruitment environment and maximisation of grant income to offset 
staffing costs. 

 

Page 37



4.3.3 Communities Directorate 
 
The net budget for the Directorate for 2020-21 is £28.379 million.  The current 
projection is an anticipated under spend of £752,000. This is an improvement on 
the projected over spend of £456,000 reported at quarter 2, which is due to a 
combination of loss of income claims to WG being approved since the quarter 2 
projection (£360,000), an upturn in planning application income (£113,000), one-off 
grant funding from WG (£86,000), an increase in income in Bereavement Services 
(£95,000), and improved projections within Corporate Landlord (£228,000).  Loss of 
income included in this projection amounts to £104,000 - if this were successfully 
claimed from WG, the projection would improve to an under spend of £856,000.  
The main variances are: 
 

COMMUNITIES 
DIRECTORATE 

Net  
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

Over/ (under) 
specifically  COVID-

19 related 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 

Grounds Maintenance 1,683 1,390 (293) -17.4% (293) 

Planning and Development 552 459 (93) -16.8% - 

Economic Resilience & Growth 562 444 (118) -21.0% (85) 

Highways Services (DSO) 2,786 2,675 (111) -4.0% - 

Engineering Services 85 (19) (104) -122.4% - 

Street Lighting 1,691 1,519 (172) -10.2% - 

Bereavement Services 83 (37) (120) -144.6% - 

Corporate Landlord 2,962 3,179 217 7.3% 104 

 
Grounds Maintenance 

 There is a projected under spend of £293,000 on the grounds maintenance 
budget.  This is primarily due to a reduction in the use of seasonal staff due 
directly to COVID-19. 

 
Planning and Development 

 There is a projected under spend in planning and development of £93,000 
which has improved since the quarter 2 projections.  This is primarily due to an 
upturn in planning application income.  Fee income is subject to considerable 
fluctuations between years, depending on the number and type of applications. 

 
Economic Resilience & Growth 

 The projected under spend of £118,000 is primarily due to maximisation of one-
off grant funding of £83,000 received from WG in quarter 3. 

 
Highways Services (DSO) 

 The projected under spend of £111,000 within the Highways Services (DSO) is 
primarily due to members of staff working on, and hence charging their time to, 
the ongoing SALIX capital scheme to enable the replacement of street lighting 
with new energy efficient LED units.  This is not a recurring saving as it is 
limited to the timeframe of the capital programme. 

 
 
 
 

Page 38



Engineering Services 

 The projected under spend of £104,000 within Engineering Services is primarily 
due to an increase in the level of fee earning jobs (balance of EU/non EU 
funded projects) and the differing chargeable rates allowed. 

 
Street Lighting 

 The LED replacement programme has generated a projected under spend on 
energy consumption of £172,000 in 2020-21.  £48,000 of this is a one-off 
projected under spend due to the financial profiling of the annual loan 
repayments.  The remaining projected under spend is being considered as part 
of future MTFS savings for the Communities Directorate. 

 
Bereavement Services 

 The projected under spend of £120,000 within Bereavement Services is based 
on a comparison of income levels at quarter 3 in 2020-21 compared with 
quarter 3 in 2019-20. 

 
Corporate Landlord 

 The projected over spend on the corporate landlord budget has reduced from 
£489,000 at quarter 2 to £217,000 at quarter 3.  This is as a result of a 
combination of £52,000 being successfully claimed from the WG COVID loss of 
income fund for loss of rental of potential occupants (vacant stalls/buildings) 
and delays in signing leases due to COVID-19, £128,000 on staff vacancy 
management due to a challenging recruitment environment, and £100,000 
reduction in energy cost projections for the Council’s core buildings. 

 It is anticipated that a further £104,000 will be claimed from WG as part of the 
quarter 3 and 4 loss of income claim, but this has not been built into the 
projections.  

 The balance of the shortfall in Corporate Landlord is primarily due to a reduction 
in productivity levels in the Facilities Management team in the first quarter of 
2020-21, due to social distancing requirements in the workplace, and staff being 
re-deployed to support COVID-19 related activities – e.g. supporting FSM 
deliveries. 

 
 Public Realm Infrastructure 

 Council approved a £2 million public realm budget as part of the MTFS in 
February 2020.  At quarter 1 there was a projected under spend of £1.716 
million against this budget heading.  As reported in para 4.1.10 CCMB agreed 
to establish a COVID-19 Recovery Panel with £500,000 being utilised as a one-
off from the Public Realm fund.  In addition, unless further funding is received 
from WG towards the net loss of running the leisure services due to COVID-19, 
the Public Realm budget will be used to contribute towards this.  CCMB have 
also approved a list of schemes to be funded from this budget in 2020-21, 
hence a break even position is projected at quarter 3. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



4.3.4 Chief Executive’s  
  

The net budget for the Directorate for 2020-21 is £18.773 million.  Current 
projections anticipate an under spend against this budget of £200,000.  This is a 
significant improvement on the position reported at quarter 2 of a projected over 
spend of £1.118 million, and is mainly due to successful claims to WG since quarter 
2 of £822,000 for the provision of facilities to support homeless individuals.  Further 
COVID-19 expenditure and loss of income included in this projection amount to 
£855,000 - if these were to be successfully claimed from WG then the projection 
would improve to an under spend of £1.055 million.  The main variances are: 
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S  
Net  

Budget 
Projected 
Outturn 

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget 

% 
Variance 

Over/ (under) 
specifically  COVID-

19 related 

  £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 

Housing & 
Homelessness 

1,162 1,398 236 20.3% 409 

Finance 3,700 3,611 (89) -2.4% 290 

HR and Organisational 
Development 

1,836 1,667 (169) -9.2% - 

ICT 3,472 3,611 139 4.0% - 

Legal, Democratic & 
Regulatory 

4,929 4,836 (93) -1.9% 156 

Customer Services & 
Engagement 

1,625 1,467 (158) -9.7% - 

 
Housing & Homelessness 

 The projected over spend of £236,000 on Housing & Homelessness is primarily 
due to the additional costs due to COVID-19 – e.g. provision of facilities to 
isolate homeless individuals (B&B, hotels etc) and provision of essential 
supplies.  As shown in Table 2, £1.565 million has been successfully claimed 
for COVID-19 homelessness costs incurred to November 2020.  The current 
projection does not include the value of future claims to WG to cover COVID-19 
costs for the remainder of 2020-21.  The final claim is estimated to be £375,000.  
There is also a loss of income claim of £32,000 for quarter2 currently on hold.  If 
both these claims are successful, the projection would improve to an under 
spend of £171,000.  

 
Finance 

 Whilst there is a projected under spend of £89,000 on Finance, included in this 
projection is a shortfall of £290,000 relating to court cost income.  WG has 
indicated they will consider loss of income from court cost income at the year 
end.  The shortfall in income has been offset by staffing vacancies across 
Finance and Housing Benefits. 

 
HR and Organisational Development 

 There is a projected under spend across HR and Organisational Development 
of £169,000.  This primarily relates to staffing vacancies (£120,000) which HR 
are actively recruiting to fill, or have already filled.  In particular, whilst Council 
approved a £200,000 Council Wide Apprenticeship Programme budget 
pressure for 2020-21 as part of the MTFS in February 2020, the pandemic 
delayed the recruitment to the apprenticeship posts resulting in a projected 

Page 40



£88,000 under spend in this area. All apprenticeship posts are anticipated to be 
filled shortly. 

 
ICT 

 There is a projected over spend of £139,000 in ICT.  Due to reduced printing 
activity ICT have been unable to cover the fixed costs of printers and 
photocopiers through the recharge to service departments, resulting in an over 
spend against the ICT print budget.  Consequently, reduced spend will have 
been incurred on printing budgets across the service departments and included 
in individual service area projections.   

 
Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 

 There is a projected under spend of £93,000.  This is primarily due to staff 
vacancy management across legal, member services and procurement, offset 
by lower than forecast levels of income received for registrars, land charges, 
licencing fees.  £148,000 has been included in the claim to WG for ‘loss of 
income’ for the first and second quarter of 2020-21 and is currently on hold so 
has not been included in the quarter 3 projections. It is anticipated that the loss 
of income for the remaining quarters of 2020-21 will be £7,500. If both these 
claims are successful, the projection would improve to an under spend of 
£248,500.  

 
Customer Services & Engagement 

 The projected under spend of £158,000 is predominantly in customer services 
and is due to staff vacancies, changes in staffing hours, staff opting out of 
pension and annual leave purchases.  Various recruitment activities have been 
actioned in order to fill vacant posts but appointments have been affected by 
COVID-19.  

 
4.3.5 Council Wide budgets 
  
 This section includes budgets, provisions and services which are council wide, and 

not managed by an individual directorate. The budget for 2020-21 is £42.481 
million.  The projected outturn is £35.304 million, resulting in a projected under 
spend of £7.177 million. The main variances are detailed below: 

 

COUNCIL WIDE BUDGETS 
Net  

Budget  
Projected 
Outturn  

Projected 
Variance 

Over/(under) 
budget  

% 
Variance 

Over/ (under) 
specifically COVID 

-19 related 

  £'000 £'000 £'000   £'000 

Capital Financing 7,329 7,129 (200) -2.7% - 

Other Council Wide Budgets 9,167 2,230 (6,937) -75.7% - 

 
 Capital Financing 

 There is a projected under spend of £200,000 on interest paid/received due to a 
combination of lower borrowing than anticipated as the Council uses its own 
internal resources to finance schemes, and additional interest from current 
investments.  

 
 
 
 

Page 41



Other Council Wide Budgets 

 Other Council Wide budgets includes funding for pay, price and pension 
increases along with funding to deal with unexpected costs unforeseen when 
the budget was set.  There is a projected net under spend of £6.937 million on 
other corporate budgets.  The main areas contributing to this under spend are:- 

 

 When the MTFS was approved in February 2020, the pay increases for NJC 
employees and teachers had not been finalised, but a claim for NJC staff had 
been submitted for an increase of 10% and whilst provision was made in the 
budget based on previous years’ increases, an element of contingency was built 
in given that.  Even a variance of 1% on the pay settlement for NJC staff alone 
can result in a swing of required funding of over £1 million per annum. 

 

 Inflation rates have fluctuated since the budget was set (CPI was 1.7% in 
February 2020 and had reduced to 0.3% by November 2020).  The majority of 
the budget estimated for price inflation is retained centrally within Council wide 
budgets and allocated to directorates/schools as further information is known 
about specific contractual price increases e.g. for energy.  Therefore, a 
significant part of the projected under spend (£1.5 million) relates to the 
movement on inflation rates since budget setting, and the reduced requirement 
to allocate budget to service areas in-year. 

 

 Welsh Government advised local authorities during quarter 3 of additional grant 
funding being made available during 2020-21 to contribute towards the 
increased cost of teachers’ pay increases which were originally funded in full 
through the MTFS (£291,980). 

 

 As reported in Table 2, Bridgend has to date successfully claimed £7.541 
million from the WG Hardship fund to contribute towards additional expenditure 
incurred directly due to the COVID-19 pandemic.  The difference in value 
claimed between quarter 2 and quarter 3 that otherwise would have had to have 
been met from other corporate budgets is £1.877 million. 

 

 As reported in Table 3, Bridgend has to date successfully claimed £3.558 
million from WG due to loss of income directly as a result of the COVID-19 
pandemic.  The difference in value claimed between quarter 2 and quarter 3 
that otherwise would have had to have been met from other corporate budgets 
is £1.553 million.  

 

 The COVID-19 pandemic has also impacted on projected spend on other 
Council wide budgets, for example, there has been reduced spend on feasibility 
as projects have been delayed and reduced corporate support required to 
enable restructures to be undertaken as these have also been delayed by the 
pandemic.   

 

 As noted in the quarter 2 revenue report to Cabinet on 20th October 2020 a 
detailed review of earmarked reserves was undertaken during quarter 3. 
Subsequently £665,000 of this under spend has been utilised to establish an 
earmarked reserve to meet the one-off pressures that have been identified for 
the 2021-22 financial year.  In addition, based on the latest information available 
and the level of increase in recently agreed pay awards and the national living 
wage, it is likely that the provision currently set aside in the MTFS for 2021-22 

Page 42



will need to be supplemented by any funding not committed from the Council 
wide budgets this financial year.  

 

 Given the uncertainty of Brexit and COVID-19 at this point in the financial 
year, it is prudent to assume that all other Council wide budgets will be fully 
spent by the year end. 

 
 Council Tax Reduction Scheme 

 There is currently a projected break even position on the Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme based on spend to date, funding from WG for quarter 1 of £133,000 
and comparison against 2019-20 outturn. This is a demand led budget and 
take-up is difficult to predict. As noted in paragraph 4.1.18, the COVID 
pandemic has resulted in a significant increase in claims for universal credit, 
with a subsequent increase in eligibility for the council tax reduction scheme.  
The final additional cost of this is difficult to predict as we continue to see the full 
impact of the ongoing furlough scheme/newly unemployed and a likely increase 
in the benefits claimants.  

 
4.4 Review of Earmarked Reserves 
 
4.4.1 The Council is required to maintain adequate financial reserves to meet the needs 

of the organisation. The MTFS includes the Council’s Reserves and Balances 
Protocol which sets out how the Council will determine and review the level of its 
Council Fund balance and earmarked reserves. At quarter 3 a review of the 
particular pressures that were to be covered by earmarked reserves was 
undertaken and Directorates have drawn down funding.  The review also 
examined:- 

 

 Commitments against existing reserves and whether these were still valid; 

 Earmarked reserve requests from directorates as a result of emerging 
issues, and; 

 Emerging risks for the Council as a whole. 
 
4.4.2 Table 7 below details the creation of new earmarked reserves, increases to existing 

earmarked reserves and amounts that have been unwound from reserves since the 
beginning of the financial year.  There have been net additions of £6.315 million, the 
cumulative draw down by directorates is £973,000 and £516,000 has been 
unwound. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 43



Table 7 – Earmarked Reserves (Excluding Council Fund) – Quarter 3 
 
 

Opening 
Balance  

01-Apr-20 Reserve 

Net 
Additions/Re 
classification 

Draw-
down Unwound 

Closing 
Balance 

31-Dec-20 

£'000   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

 Corporate Reserves:     
(9,555) Education & Family Support (661) 50 - (10,166) 

(410) Social Services & Wellbeing (42) 54 - (398) 

(11,289) Communities (689) 55 40 (11,883) 

(8,031) Chief Executives (2,200) 350 - (9,881) 

(14,004) Non-Directorate (258) - - (14,262) 

(43,289) Total Corporate Reserves (3,850) 509 40 (46,590) 

 Directorate Earmarked Reserves:     
(289) Education & Family Support - - 50 (239) 

(2,027) Social Services & Wellbeing (291) 122 350 (1,846) 

(4,991) Communities (1,291) - 62 (6,220) 

(824) Chief Executives (883) 167 - (1,540) 

(8,131) Total Directorate Reserves (2,465) 289 462 (9,845) 

 Equalisation & Grant Earmarked Reserves:     
(961) Education & Family Support - 143 - (818) 

(65) Social Services & Wellbeing - 5 - (60) 

(1,902) Communities - - 14 (1,888) 

(767) Chief Executives - 27 - (740) 

(3,695) Total Equalisation Reserves - 175 14 (3,506) 

      
(108) School Balances - - - (108) 

       
(55,223) Total Reserves (6,315) 973 516 (60,049) 

 
 
4.4.3 The net appropriation to earmarked reserves as at quarter 3 is £5.799 million (£6.315 

million additions offset by £516,000 that have been unwound). This net addition has 
been funded from the projected under spend on non-Directorate budgets at the end 
of quarter 3 as shown in Table 1. 

 
4.4.4 The main additions in quarter 3 are a £2.5 million addition to the unallocated capital 

reserve to be utilised against projected capital pressures, a £1 million addition to the 
City Deal reserve which, whilst not resulting in an increase to the overall contribution 
the Council will make to the programme, will reduce the likelihood of the need to 
borrow to meet Bridgend’s share of the scheme and therefore enable longer term 
revenue savings to be achieved much earlier than anticipated, a £800,000 increase 
to the Brexit reserve given the uncertainty of the financial impact at this point in time, 
and a £500,000 increase to the revenue maintenance reserve to be utilised against 
projected maintenance pressures. 

 
 
 
 

Page 44



5.0 Effect upon policy framework & procedure rules 
 
5.1 As required by section 3 (budgetary control) of the Financial Procedure Rules; Chief 

Officers in consultation with the appropriate Cabinet Member are expected to 
manage their services within the approved cash limited budget and to provide the 
Chief Finance Officer with such information as is required to facilitate and monitor 
budgetary control. 

 
6.0 Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
6.1 There are no equality implications arising from this report. 
 
7.0 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report. As the report is for information it is considered that there will be no significant 
or unacceptable impacts upon the achievement of wellbeing goals/objectives as a 
result of this report. 

 
8.0 Financial implications 
 
8.1 These are reflected in the body of the report. 
 
9.0 Recommendation 

 
9.1 Cabinet is requested to: 
 

 note the projected revenue position for 2020-21 

 recommend that Council approve the virements between £100,000 and 
£500,000 as outlined in paragraph 4.1.19.  

 
 

 
Gill Lewis 
Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change 
January 2021 
  
Contact Officer: Joanne Norman 
   Interim Group Manager – Financial Planning and Budget Management 
 
Telephone:  01656 643645 
 
Email:  joanne.norman@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal Address : Raven’s Court 
   Brewery Lane 
   Bridgend 
   CF31 4AP 

 
 
Background documents:  Individual Directorate Monitoring Reports 

      

Page 45

mailto:joanne.norman@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX 1

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal

Original 

Reduction 

and RAG     

£000

Revised 

RAG     

£000

Total 

amount of 

saving likely 

to be 

achieved by 

20-21      

£000

Reason why not achievable
Proposed Action in 2020-21 to 

achieve

RAG STATUS KEY

RED Not likely to be achieved at all in this financial year or less than 25%.

AMBER Reduction not likely to be achieved in full in financial year but greater than 25%

GREEN Reduction likely to be achieved in full

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

EFS1      

(2017-18)

Phased implementation of Learner Transport Policy 

regarding statutory distances for free travel.
20 0

Shortfall in savings identified to be funded 

from corporate contingency in 2020-21 with a 

Budget Pressure submitted as part of the 

2021-22 MTFS process.

Budget Pressure submitted as part of 

the 2021-22 MTFS process

EFS2     

(2017-18)
School transport route efficiencies. 40 0

Shortfall in savings identified to be funded 

from corporate contingency in 2020-21 with a 

Budget Pressure submitted as part of the 

2021-22 MTFS process.

Budget Pressure submitted as part of 

the 2021-22 MTFS process

EFS1      

(2018-19)

Phased implementation of Learner Transport Policy 

regarding statutory distances for free travel.
67 0

Shortfall in savings identified to be funded 

from corporate contingency in 2020-21 with a 

Budget Pressure submitted as part of the 

2021-22 MTFS process.

Budget Pressure submitted as part of 

the 2021-22 MTFS process

EFS27      

(2018-19)

Review arrangements for Special Schools Home to School 

Transport with a view to achieving efficiency savings
75 0

Shortfall in savings identified to be funded 

from corporate contingency in 2020-21 with a 

Budget Pressure submitted as part of the 

2021-22 MTFS process.

Budget Pressure submitted as part of 

the 2021-22 MTFS process

EFS 1      

(2019-20)

Phased implementation of Learner Transport Policy 

regarding statutory distances for free travel.
67 0

Shortfall in savings identified to be funded 

from corporate contingency in 2020-21 with a 

Budget Pressure to be submitted as part of 

the 2021-22 MTFS process.

Budget Pressure to be submitted as part 

of the 2021-22 MTFS process

Total Education & Family Support Directorate 269 0

SOCIAL SERVICES & WELLBEING

SSW010     

(2018-19)
Increase in-house fostering provision 392 392

Savings were staggered over 3 year period. No 

reason why this saving should not be achieved in 

full in 2020-21.

No action required. Full saving should be 

achieved in 2020-21.

SSW22 

(2019-20)

Identify further savings from library and cultural facilities and  

related services including reviewing  the numbers of facilities 

(libraries, community centres) and also reductions in services 

or opening hours.

60 60
No reason why this saving should not be achieved 

in full in 2020-21.

No action required. Full saving should be 

achieved in 2020-21.

Total Social Services & Wellbeing Directorate 452 452

PRIOR YEAR BUDGET REDUCTIONS CARRIED FORWARD INTO 2020-21

Page 47



APPENDIX 1

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal

Original 

Reduction 

and RAG     

£000

Revised 

RAG     

£000

Total 

amount of 

saving likely 

to be 

achieved by 

20-21      

£000

Reason why not achievable
Proposed Action in 2020-21 to 

achieve

COMMUNITIES

COM19     

(2017-18)

Permitting Scheme road works net of existing income of 

£95,000
100 0

Timeline not in the direct control of BCBC officers 

as the business case is going through multiple 

steps in an approval process with WG. However 

ultimately a positive response is expected, and 

this is being lead by the group manager to ensure 

it is followed through. 

The Streetworks review is reaching 

completion and will be submitted to WG for 

consideration.  The responsible highways 

network budget area is committed to stay 

within budget irrespective of the delivery of 

the scheme. 

COM 4    

(2019-20)

Review of School Crossing Patrol service in line with GB 

standards
10 0

The level of service need is currently in excess of 

the available budget, hence saving is not likely to 

be fully achieved in 2020-21.

The provision of the service and the MTFS is 

predicated on sites meeting certain 

guidance.  Assessment of sites continue to 

be reviewed in line with the Council protocol 

and if sites do not meet the criteria they 

could be considered for dis-establishment.  

COM 20 

(2019-20)
Highways Dept Management Structural Savings Target 100 100

No reason why this saving should not be achieved 

in full in 2020-21.

No action required. Full saving should be 

achieved in 2020-21.

COM 26 

(2019-20)

Investigate the introduction of charging to users of the 

Shopmobility facility in Bridgend Town Centre to 

reduce/remove the current level of subsidy

5 0

Cabinet considered a report in January 2020 and 

approved the introduction of new hire fees and 

alteration to opening times to enable this saving to 

be achieved.  However, whilst the new charges 

have been implemented in 2020-21,  COVID-19 

has impacted on the ability to fully achieve the 

savings proposal.  

No further action required as shortfall is 

COVID-19 related.  

COM 44 

(2019-20)

Bridgend Bus Station - alternative measures to explore full 

cost recovery and external support will be pursued but, failing 

this, the likely required step to deliver this saving is closure.

45 45
Budget re-alignment from Public Realm budget 

actioned in 2020-21.

No action required.  Budget re-alignment 

actioned in 2020-21.

COM 46 

(2019-20)
Removal of budget for Subsidised Bus Routes 148 148

No reason why this saving should not be achieved 

in full in 2020-21.

No action required. Full saving should be 

achieved in 2020-21.

COM 52 

(2019-20)

Reductions to the budget for the Materials Recovery and 

Energy Centre (MREC) to be achieved through the current 

procurement being undertaken with Neath Port Talbot CBC 

for the provision of new operator arrangements for the MREC 

facility at Crumlyn Burrows

1,300 1,000

Shortfall in savings identified of £300,000 -  

funded from corporate contingency in 2020-

21 with a Budget Pressure submitted as part 

of the 2021-22 MTFS process.

Budget Pressure submitted as part of 

the 2021-22 MTFS process

COM 55 

(2019-20)

Increase charge for Green Waste Service from £28.30 per 

household to £38.30
25 0

Whilst the new charges have been implemented, 

closure of the green waste processing facility and 

hence cessation of the green waste service for the 

first part of 2020-21 due to COVID-19 has 

impacted on the ability to fully achieve the savings 

proposal

No further action required as shortfall is 

COVID-19 related.  

COM 59 

(2019-20)

 Reduction to the opening hours of the Community Recycling 

Centres by 1 hour, per day. 
17 17

No reason why this saving should not be achieved 

in full in 2020-21.

No action required. Full saving should be 

achieved in 2020-21.

Total Communities Directorate 1,750 1,310

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

CEX10     

(2019-20)
Review CCTV function with aim to create efficiencies 30 30

No reason why this saving should not be achieved 

in full in 2020-21.

No action required. Full saving should be 

achieved in 2020-21.

Total Chief Executive's Directorate 30 30

GRAND TOTAL OUTSTANDING REDUCTIONS 2,501 1,792

REDUCTIONS SHORTFALL 709

Page 48



MONITORING OF 2020-21 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2020-21 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2020-21    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

CENTRAL EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

EFS1

Phased implementation of Learner Transport 

Policy regarding statutory distances for free 

travel

• Savings should occur naturally as a result of the policy application 

year on year, however dispersed learners and contractual pressure 

from operators as routes become more untenable may mean it 

becomes increasingly difficult to find the identified savings.

• Risk of price increases from Contractors.

75 0

On 15 September 2020 Cabinet resolved to defer the 

decision to amend the Local Authority's Learner 

Travel Policy until after the review of the current 

statutory distances by Welsh Government in March 

2021.  It is unlikely that any change to the statutory 

distances by Welsh Government will follow until 2022 

at the earliest and therefore even if the statutory 

distances reduce as a result of this review, the RSG 

would unlikely reflect this until 2022/23 at the earliest.  

The shortfall in savings identified to be funded from 

corporate contingency in 2020-21 with a Budget 

Pressures submitted as part of the 2021-22 MTFS 

process.

EFS44 Review of Childcare Team

Review existing staffing structure within the Childcare Team with a 

view to moving core funded staff to grant, where this option is eligible 

under grant conditions. In addition a review of the service demand 

placed on the Development Officers in supporting the private nursery 

settings throughout the county borough, ensuring a streamlined 

service that meets minimum statutory requirements. There are 

however, significant risks in making further reductions in this budget 

line (RSG) given Welsh Government's policy linked with both the 

national statutory Childcare Offer and Child Sufficiency requirements. 

In addition, this budget line has been reduced in previous years and 

existing demand (to fund placements) is exceeding budget.

10 10 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

EFS48

Efficiency saving targeting supplies and 

services budgets across the Education and 

Family Support Directorate

Limited impact as review has identified small historic underspends 

against this budget category.
87 87 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

EFS54
Further reduction to contribution to the Central 

South Consortium (CSC)

This would need to be agreed with other partners within the 

Consortium.
17 17 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

EFS57
Further review of staffing structures across the 

Education and Family Support Directorate 
Potential delays in service delivery. 50 0

Savings target is currently under review.  No 

savings anticipated in 2020-21.

Total Education and Family Support 239 114

P
age 49



MONITORING OF 2020-21 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2020-21 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2020-21    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

SSW19

Further review of HALO partnership contract, 

including the Council taking over the 

management and payment of utility bills 

currently incurred by HALO.  This will result in 

VAT efficiencies for HALO and contribute 

towards the reduction in the management fee

Previous negotiations have proved successful.  No adverse impact 

identified.
40 0

Ongoing detailed discussions and seeking 

advice from VAT consultants.  Underspends 

held across the service area to mitigate the 

shortfall in the short term.

SSW20

Identify further savings from leisure centres and 

swimming pools including reviewing the number 

of facilities and also reductions in services or 

opening hours. 

Reduced availability of services and accessibility to the public.  

Negative impact on healthier wales wellbeing goals.
70 0

COVID-19 has impacted on the delivery of this 

saving in 2020-21.  Underspends being held 

across the service area to mitigate the shortfall 

in the short term.

SSW22

Identify further savings from library and cultural 

facilities and related services including 

reviewing  the numbers of facilities (libraries, 

community centres) and also reductions in 

services or opening hours.

Reduced availability of services and accessibility to the public.  

Negative impact on healthier wales wellbeing goals.
20 20 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

SSW26
Remodelling day service provision for older 

people and learning disability services

Full review of services which could mean alternative methods of 

service delivery
90 90 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

SSW27
Increase income generation from mobile 

response and telecare charging

Limited impact on current services but would require commercial 

expertise to assist with the proposal
75 0

Commercial expertise involvement required to 

progress this proposal.  Savings likely to be 

achieved will not be known until review has been 

completed.

SSW28

Increase non-residential charging limits from 

£90 to £100 per week.  This is totally reliant on 

Welsh Government changing the limits within 

their non-residential charging policy in 2020/21

Limited impact on services 200 200

Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21 as 

charging policy has been amended by Welsh 

Government.

SOCIAL SERVICES & WELLBEING

P
age 50



MONITORING OF 2020-21 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2020-21 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2020-21    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

SSW29

Further review of staffing structures across 

Adults and Children Services including:-

• The management structures in the direct 

provider services as well as reviewing the 

demands on the service and the direct care 

hours needed to meet those demands. 

• The overall management structure across 

Adults, Children and Wellbeing services

• The service will be reviewing its overall 

professional staff to ensure the levels of the 

staff meet current demands whilst being aware 

that the service need to ensure that the 

caseloads of qualified staff are in line with 

acceptable standard because if they are not it 

would impact on practice and performance and 

increase risk in the service as well as impacting 

on recruitment and retention and the Authority's 

ability to attractive suitably experienced and 

qualified staff . 

This will mean reducing staff numbers, which will incur redundancy 

costs.  There will also be reduced capacity within teams across the 

directorate

175 77

Shortfall due to timing of implementation of 

restructures.  Close scrutiny of staff vacancy 

management will support the current shortfall. 

SSW30

Further review of care packages linked to the 

assessment framework to include consideration 

of transport

It is envisaged that the number of care hours will reduce for service 

users across the directorate
150 150 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

820 537

COMMUNITIES

COM26

Investigate the introduction of charging to users 

of the Shopmobility facility in Bridgend Town 

Centre to reduce/remove the current level of 

subsidy otherwise closure of the facility will be 

necessary 

The popularity of the service is generally declining with a significantly 

reduced number of users. Changes in technology have meant that 

lightweight, affordable scooters have now greatly increased in private 

ownership, compared to when the facility was introduced. The 

provision is non statutory and not one provided in other town centres 

in the County Borough or in many town centres of neighbouring 

authorities. On this basis in order to make the service viable it is 

proposed to introduce charging but if this does not present a realistic 

option to make the full required saving closure of the facility would be 

necessary. There is a risk that some members of the community 

 with mobility issues may struggle to pay the necessary charges and 

therefore maybe unable to gain access to the town centre. It is 

proposed to engage with users of the facility to inform the way 

forward. 

18 0

Cabinet considered a report in January 2020 

and approved the introduction of new hire fees 

and alteration to opening times to enable this 

saving to be achieved.  However, whilst the new 

charges have been implemented in 2020-21, the 

lockdown of the town centre early in 2020-21 

due to COVID-19 has impacted on the ability to 

fully achieve the savings proposal.  

Total Social Services & Wellbeing Directorate

P
age 51



MONITORING OF 2020-21 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2020-21 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2020-21    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

COM42

Review of parks and playing fields service split 

over two financial years - 19/20 and 20/21:-  

15% reduction to seasonal operatives budget 

(£75K).  Corresponding reduction to large and 

small plant (£29k).  Removal of bowls club grant 

(£34K). 

The cut identified for both 2019-20  and 2020-21 will mean that there 

are reduced levels of maintenance and slower reaction times which 

will mean a degradation over time which will result in higher future 

capital costs i.e. maintenance of remaining pavilions.    

69 69 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

COM43

End of management of Kenfig National Nature 

Reserve

The agreement between BCBC and Kenfig Corporation Trust (KCT) 

ends in December 2019.  It is currently proposed that BCBC does 

not enter into any new agreement.  KCT are underway with a 

process, supported by their agent HRT, to identify a new tenant.  

This process is being conducted in partnership with NRW.  There is 

a risk that the level of management may be affected, however there 

is also the opportunity that the new tenant may be able to draw on 

resources that BCBC cannot. 

35 35 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

COM51
Ongoing implementation of Corporate Landlord 

model

The savings will be delivered in a number of ways including 

operational efficiencies, streamlined business processes, IT 

investment, improved procurement and contract management, and 

some deletions of vacant posts.

350 325

Level of savings identified as at Quarter 3 2020-

21.  Service area will continue to identify 

efficiencies to meet shortfall

COM55
Increase charge for Green Waste Service from 

£28.30 per household to £38.30

The new waste contract related items would require both Contract 

Variation negotiations with Kier to confirm the saving levels proposed 

and public consultation regarding the charge changes and reduced 

levels of service.

25 0

Whilst the new charges have been 

implemented, closure of the green waste 

processing facility and hence cessation of the 

green waste service for the first part of 2020-21 

due to COVID-19 has impacted on the ability to 

fully achieve the savings proposal

COM56
Increase charge for collection of 3 bulky waste 

items from £15.50 to £20.
10 10 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

COM59

 Reduction to the opening hours of the 

Community Recycling Centres by 1 hour, per 

day. 

17 17 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

COM73
BCBC to save the annual BID funding now BID 

no longer functions

No impact that is within the control of BCBC following a unsuccessful 

BID ballot.
15 15 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

COM76

Review of Porthcawl Marina with a view to it 

running on a full cost recovery basis. This will 

involve a review of the berth fees.

This would involve a review of the berth fees and other operational 

costs.  Any approach to outsourcing management would likely 

require financial support and therefore negate any savings.

25 25 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

The waste contract items would require both Contract Variation 

negotiations with Kier to confirm the saving levels proposed and 

public consultation regarding the charge changes and reduced levels 

of service. 

P
age 52



MONITORING OF 2020-21 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2020-21 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2020-21    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

COM77

Direct Services Organisation (DSO) staffing 

restructure - the front line staffing for highways 

which deal with a range of highway issues such 

as Winter gritting, Traffic collisions clear up, 

Flooding, Gully maintenance, Maintenance of 

Traffic signs, streetlights and traffic signals.  

The team have a major role within the Borough 

in the maintenance and repair of the highway.  

Since the loss of work the team undertook on 

behalf of the South Wales Trunk Road Agency 

(SWTRA) there is the potential to make a 

saving in the DSO staffing structure.

This would be potentially focused at a managerial level with the 

implication on the ability to deal with service requests in regard of 

local construction projects. It would also increase the single point 

failure in regard of sickness absence for remaining members of 

team. 

50 50 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

COM79

Investigate reducing costs and increasing 

charging for running the Bridgend Business 

Forum for specific events to reduce/remove the 

current level of subsidy otherwise reduction in 

the service level will be necessary.

If reduced costs and increased charges are accepted impact should 

be minimal, there is a risk that the level of support / number of events  

may need to be reduced to support the saving.

18 18 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

COM96

WG National AHP Waste Programme - capital 

contribution from WG towards 7.5 tonne vehicle 

to collect AHP recycling

This would require Contract Variation negotiations with Kier to 

confirm the saving levels proposed based on a reduction in costs in 

relation to the current AHP vehicle that is leased 

14 0

It has taken significantly longer than expected to 

work through the detail of the variation order 

required to action this saving, due to other 

pressing time demands, including dealing with 

the pandemic response.  It is expected that this 

saving will now be delivered in full in 2021-22.

Total Communities Directorate 646 564

CHIEF EXECUTIVES

CEX1 Efficiencies from Shared Regulatory Service

May require restructuring within service and impact on response 

times, but will be managed across the 3 participating Councils and 

will aim to minimise impact.

37 37 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

CEX11

The expansion of the shared internal audit 

service has created efficiencies resulting in 

reduced contribution for BCBC

No impact on service provision 40 40 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

CEX12 Reduction of HR staffing budgets Potential reduction of posts and redundancy costs 44 44 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

CEX13

Reduction of Partnerships Services budgets - 

savings achieved through software 

rationalisation and removal of vacancies within 

the ICT service unit

Minimal service impact as savings a result of vacancies and 

efficiencies
200 200 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

P
age 53



MONITORING OF 2020-21 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2020-21 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2020-21    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

CEX15 Reduction of Legal fees budgets Minimal impact 80 80 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

CEX16 Reduce Members' training budget Less training opportunities for elected members.  7 7 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

CEX17 Reduction of Business Support staffing budgets Potential reduction of posts and redundancy costs 100 100 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

Total Chief Executive's Directorate 508 508

P
age 54



MONITORING OF 2020-21 BUDGET REDUCTIONS
APPENDIX 2

Ref. Budget Reduction Proposal
Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Proposed  

2020-21 

£'000

Value Likely 

to be 

Achieved 

2020-21    

£'000

Reason why not likely to be achievable

CORPORATE / COUNCIL WIDE

CWD6
Reduction in funding required for 

Apprenticeship Levy
No impact as budget historically been higher than required. 50 50 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

CWD11

Reduction in the budget to cover the cost to the 

Council of the outstanding liability for Employers 

Liability, Public Liability and Property following 

favourable insurance contract renewals in 

previous years.  

No impact as favourable insurance contract renewals have been 

achieved, however no mitigation available for potential increases to 

premiums in future years.

150 150 Full saving should be achieved in 2020-21.

Total Corporate / Council Wide 200 200

GRAND TOTAL REDUCTIONS 2,413 1,923

2,413 2,413

REDUCTION SHORTFALL 0 490

1,023 1,521

996 525

394 367

2,413 2,413

TOTAL BUDGET REDUCTION REQUIREMENT (MOST LIKELY)

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING TO 31ST DECEMBER 2020

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

Expenditure 

Budget
Income 

Budget 

Net 

Budget 

Projected 

Outturn 

Projected 

Variance

Over/(under)

budget 

% 

Variance

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT

School Delegated Budgets 122,716         (21,302)     101,414   101,414        -                  0.0%

Learning 9,938            (3,060)       6,878       7,243           365                  5.3%

Strategic Partnerships & Comm 25,294           (10,462)     14,832     15,876         1,044               7.0%

Health and Safety 390               (2)              388          306             (82)                   -21.0%

TOTAL EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT 158,338         (34,826)     123,512   124,839       1,327               1.1%

SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING

Adult Social Care 66,932           (18,117)     48,815     49,521         706                  1.4%

Prevention and Wellbeing 5,993            (793)          5,200       5,139           (61)                   -1.2%

Safeguarding & Family Support 20,111           (886)          19,225     19,392         167                  0.9%

TOTAL SOCIAL SERVICES AND WELLBEING 93,036           (19,796)     73,240     74,052         812                  1.1%

COMMUNITIES DIRECTORATE

Planning & Development Services 1,809            (1,257)       552          459             (93)                   -16.8%

Strategic Regeneration 2,110            (420)          1,690       1,690            -                  0.0%

Economy, Natural Resources and Sustainability 2,742            (1,672)       1,070       731             (339)                 -31.7%

Cleaner Streets and Waste Management 12,502           (1,865)       10,637     10,740         103                  1.0%

Highways and Green Spaces 22,146           (10,956)     11,190     10,548         (642)                 -5.7%

Director and Head of Operations - Communities 278                -           278          280             2                      0.7%

Corporate Landlord 13,552           (10,590)     2,962       3,179           217                  7.3%

TOTAL COMMUNITIES 55,139           (26,760)     28,379     27,627         (752)                 -2.6%

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

Chief Executive  514                -           514          520             6                      1.2%

Finance 46,527           (42,828)     3,699       3,610           (89)                   -2.4%

HR/OD 2,199            (363)          1,836       1,667           (169)                 -9.2%

Partnerships 3,089            (1,037)       2,052       1,822           (230)                 -11.2%

Legal, Democratic & Regulatory 5,917            (988)          4,929       4,836           (93)                   -1.9%

Elections 164               (60)            104          104              -                  0.0%

ICT 4,802            (1,330)       3,472       3,611           139                  4.0%

Housing & Homelessness 8,651            (7,489)       1,162       1,398           236                  20.3%

Business Support 1,116            (111)          1,005       1,005            -                  0.0%

 TOTAL CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 72,979           (54,206)     18,773     18,573         (200)                 -1.1%

 TOTAL DIRECTORATE BUDGETS 379,492         (135,588)   243,904   245,091       1,187               0.5%

Council Wide Budgets 43,451           (970)          42,481     35,304         (7,177)              -16.9%

Appropriation to Earmarked Reserves 500                -           500          5,799           5,299               0.0%

 NET BRIDGEND CBC          423,443    (136,558)    286,885        286,194                  (691) -0.2%

NB: Differences due to rounding of £000's

APPENDIX 3

Budget 2020-21

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank



 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
    

REPORT TO CABINET 
 

19 JANUARY 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND 
CHANGE 

 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME UPDATE - QUARTER 3 2020-21 
 
1. Purpose of report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 
 

 comply with the requirement of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) ‘The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in 
Local Authorities’ (2017 edition). 
 

 provide an update of the Capital Programme for the period 1 April to 31 
December 2020 (Appendix A) 

 
 seek agreement from Cabinet to present a report to Council for approval 

for a revised capital programme for 2020-21 to 2029-30 (Appendix B) 
 

 note the projected Prudential and Other Indicators for 2020-21 
(Appendix C) 

 
 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate 
priorities 

 
2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 

objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-   
 

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make 
the county a good place to do business, for people to live, work, study and 
visit, and to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions of all people in the county.  

 
2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient – 

taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services. Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 

 
3. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all its resources (financial, 

physical, ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and 

Page 59

Agenda Item 6



efficiently as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the 
community that can help deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.  

 
2.2 Capital investment in the Council’s assets is a key factor in meeting the 

Council’s Priorities as set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan. 

 
3. Background  
 
3.1 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Wales) Regulations 

2003 as amended, contain detailed provisions for the capital finance and 
accounting controls, including the rules on the use of capital receipts and what 
is to be treated as capital expenditure. They modify accounting practice in 
various ways to prevent adverse impacts on authorities’ revenue resources. 

 
3.2      As well as the legislation, the Council manages its Treasury Management and 

Capital activities in accordance with the following associated guidance:- 
 

 CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice  
 CIPFA’s The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities  
 Welsh Government (WG) revised Guidance on Local Authority Investments 

 
3.3 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities requires Local 

Authorities to have in place a Capital Strategy which demonstrates that the 
Authority takes capital expenditure and investment decisions in line with service 
objectives and properly takes account of stewardship, value for money, 
prudence, sustainability and affordability. To demonstrate that the Council has 
fulfilled these objectives, the Prudential Code sets out a number of Indicators 
that must be set and monitored each year. 

3.4 On 26 February 2020, Council approved a capital programme covering the 
period 2020-21 to 2029-30 as part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy 
(MTFS). The capital programme was last updated and approved by Council on 
21 October 2020. This report provides an update on the following areas: 

 Capital Programme 2020-21 Quarter 3 update 
 Capital Programme 2020-21 onwards 
 Prudential and Other Indicators  
 Capital Strategy monitoring 

 
4. Current Situation / Proposal 

Capital Programme 2020-21 Quarter 3 update 
 

4.1 This section of the report provides Members with an update on the Council’s 
capital programme for 2020-21 since the budget was last approved by Council 
and incorporates any new schemes and grant approvals. The revised 
programme for 2020-21 currently totals £33.888 million, of which £17.960 
million is met from Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) resources, 
including capital receipts and revenue contributions from earmarked reserves, 
with the remaining £15.928 million coming from external resources, including 

Page 60



General Capital Grant. Table 1 below shows the capital programme for each 
Directorate from the October 2020 (Quarter 2) approved Council position to 
quarter 3: 
 
Table 1 – Capital Programme per Directorate 2020-21 

 

Directorate 
Approved 
Council  

New 
Approvals & 
Adjustments 

Virements 
Slippage to 
future years 

Revised 
Budget 2020-

21 

21-Oct-20 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Education & 
Family 
Support 

7,249 25 150 (1,865) 5,559 

Social 
Services and 
Well-being 

2,291 471 150 (1,674) 1,238 

Communities 39,846 (5,618) (300) (10,737) 23,191 

Chief 
Executive’s  

4,155 5 0 (260) 3,900 

Total 53,541 (5,117) 0 (14,536) 33,888 

 
 
4.2 Table 2 below summarises the current funding assumptions for the capital 

programme for 2020-21. The capital resources are managed to ensure that 
maximum financial benefit for the Council is achieved. This may include the 
realignment of funding to maximise government grants.  
 
Table 2 – Capital Programme 2020-21 Resources 

CAPITAL RESOURCES £’000 
 

BCBC Resources:  
Capital Receipts 5,030 

Earmarked Reserves 5,387 
Unsupported Borrowing 2,184 

Supported Borrowing 3,986 
Other Loans 1,305 

Revenue Contribution 68 

Total BCBC Resources 17,960 
External Resources:  

Grants 15,928 
Total External Resources 15,928 
TOTAL RESOURCES 33,888 

 

Page 61



 
4.3 Appendix A provides details of the individual schemes within the capital 

programme,  showing the budget available in 2020-21 compared to the 
projected spend.  

 
4.4 As is usual at this point in the financial year, a number of schemes have been 

identified that require slippage into future years. Slippage is usually not 
undertaken until quarter 3 to ensure we have as much information as possible 
on likely timescales and costs. However, this year is showing unprecedented 
levels of slippage as a result of the additional impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, 
resulting in lockdowns, additional social distancing measures required and 
delays in sourcing materials. These are all reflected below. The total requested 
slippage is £14.536 million, which includes the following schemes: 

  
 Children’s Residential Accommodation Hub (£1.564 million) 

The COVID-19 pandemic has hindered the construction timescales 
considerably due to a lack of supplies and staff shortages mainly as a result of 
furlough. Internal Council departments, such as planning and procurement, 
have also had resource issues which have contributed to the delays.  
 
The original scheduled start date for the tender process was May 2020, 
however this is now scheduled for January 2021, the delay of 7 months being 
as a result of the delays mentioned above. The current schedule for the 
completion of the tender exercise is likely to be March 2021 with construction 
starting in April 2021. As a result £1.564 million of the funding will be slipped 
into 2021-22. 
 
The original profile of the Integrated Care Fund (ICF) grant funding approved 
for the scheme was £0.300 million in 2020-21 and £0.600 million in 2021-22.  
Due to the delays with the scheme there is a risk that there will be a shortfall in 
draw down of ICF grant funding in 2020-21 and as slippage cannot currently be 
guaranteed there is a risk an element of the grant funding will be lost.  There is 
a potential that earmarked reserves will have to be used to mitigate any loss of 
grant, and if this is required it will be reported back at a later date. 

 
 Road Safety Improvements Heol Mostyn Junction (£0.540 million) 

Following delays to the tender process as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
tenders are only now being assessed and the contractor is due to be appointed 
during January 2021. To allow for preparation and mobilisation, construction is 
now expected to commence in March/April 2021, with an anticipated completion 
of summer 2021. Therefore £0.54 million funding is being slipped into 2021-22.  

 
 Economic Stimulus Grant (£0.887 million) 
          This funding is now part of a wider fund called the Economic Futures Fund (EFF) 

and as such will be reported against the overall delivery of that fund. It was set 
up to support Local Economic Recovery as the economy moved out of 
lockdown restrictions in 2020.  The economy however has moved in and out of 
restrictions over the last 9 months, and continues to do so, and therefore the 
focus has been on the deployment of direct grant funding to businesses 
impacted by the varying restrictions rather than on longer term deployment of 

Page 62



the EFF and as such the £0.887million as part of the EFF will be slipped for use 
in 2021-22.  

 
 Coastal Risk Management Program – Porthcawl (£0.750 million) 
The tender process is nearly complete however the contract will not be awarded 
until the final funding approval is received from Welsh Government. It is 
anticipated that this will be received by the end of January 2021.  As a result it 
is anticipated that works will now commence in February 2021, therefore £0.750 
million funding is being slipped for use in 2021-22 to reflect the revised schedule 
of works. 
 
 Maesteg Town Hall Cultural Hub (£3.050 million) 
The project has been delayed by around 34 weeks due to COVID-19 and also 
additional unforeseen works required to the clock tower, which will be met from 
within the scheme budget. Therefore £3.050 million is being slipped for use in 
2021-22.   
 

 Caerau Heat Network (£1.939 million) 

A review of the scheme has identified that the use of mine-water as a heat 
source is not a viable option under the scheme.  However, alternative 
technologies may provide a renewable heat scheme in Caerau.  Approval to 
undertake an options appraisal is being sought from Cabinet to consider and 
identify alternative delivery models that are deliverable within the financial 
envelope of the scheme, can be delivered within the timescales and meet the 
requirements of the European grant funding.        

 The balance of slippage (£5.806 million) is across a number of schemes and 
are minor amendments to the financial profiles of the schemes. 

 
Capital Programme 2020-21 Onwards 
 

4.5 Since the last capital report in October 2020, there have been a number of new 
externally funded schemes approved and internally funded schemes, which 
have been incorporated into the capital programme, including:    

 
 Trem y Mor (£0.435 million) 

The Council has been awarded £0.400 million as part of the Cwm Taf 
Morgannwg University Health Board Integrated Care Fund (ICF) Capital grant. 
The funding will be used to construct an office space on top of the existing flat 
roof at Trem Y Mor, providing more space to allow Health and Social Services 
staff to deliver an integrated service. 
 
The total cost of the scheme is anticipated to be £0.435 million with an 
additional £0.035m being funded from an existing directorate earmarked 
reserve. Due to delays with the scheme there is a risk that, if there is any 
slippage, there will be a shortfall in draw down of ICF grant funding in 2020-21 
and as slippage cannot currently be guaranteed there is a risk that an element 
of the grant funding will be lost.  There is a potential that earmarked reserves 

Page 63



will have to be used to mitigate any loss of grant, and if this is required it will be 
reported back at a later date. 

 
 Berwyn Centre and Ogmore Vale Washeries (£0.186 million) 

In December 2020 WG awarded the Council £0.186 million in relation to Berwyn 
Centre and Ogmore Vale Washeries - Covid recovery funding for town centres. 
The funding will be used to provide a suitable outdoor seating and meeting 
place with ample space for social distancing in the small town of Nantymoel.  At 
the Ogmore Vale Washery site it is to be used to provide an area that can 
improve the quality of life, health and wellbeing of the local community by 
providing a safe and accessible environment in which to walk, relax, learn and 
play. This will include improved infrastructure for walking, cycling, running and 
other forms of physical activity ensuring access issues and health and safety 
are given full consideration. 

 
 Covid recovery for town centres (£0.360 million) 
       

In December 2020 WG awarded the Council £0.360 million funding to enable 
the Council to extend its current ‘Transforming Towns Covid-19 Recovery’ 
programme to its Valley Task Force areas. 
  
This funding will be focused on offering support to commercial businesses 
within the Northern Valleys in order to encourage people to return to their local 
commercial areas and to ensure there is a common sense of wellbeing, safety 
and confidence in these areas. 
  
The funding is to be used primarily for external interventions, in order to facilitate 
social distancing in external areas and to enable citizens to participate in 
commercial activity in a new, yet innovative manner.        
 

 Three other minor additions to the programme are: 
 

 Porthcawl Resort Investment Focus - £0.074 million ERDF grant 
 ICF capital funding - £0.035 million for the purchase of 2 vehicles for 

Social Services 
 Complex and Medical Needs Work in Schools - £0.025 million revenue 

contribution for provision of ALN at Cefn Cribwr Primary School 
 

4.6 Other schemes which have material changes since the October report are as 
follows: 

 
 Active Travel Pencoed Technology Park 

The scheme has been truncated due to Covid-19 and the expected spend this 
year is projected at £1.716 million. £0.050 million has been vired to the 
Penprysg Road Bridge scheme to cover an expected overspend. As a result of 
the reduced scheme there will be an under spend of £0.678 million. WG cannot 
give assurance that this funding can be carried forward or that further grant 
funding will be made available in 2021-22 therefore the capital grant allocation 
has been reduced.  

 

Page 64



 Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 
 The contributions to the scheme by the 10 partner local authorities has been 

reviewed and a revised profile of contributions has been proposed.  The 
Council’s contribution for 2020-21 has been reduced from £1.575 million to 
£0.396 million though contributions in future years has been brought forward 
and this is reflected in the revised Capital Programme.  In addition, £3.977 
million of Treasury funding of the City Deal scheme has been shown as a 
negative approval in 2020-21 as the funding from Treasury will flow directly to 
the City Deal Joint Committee.  The total contribution by the Council to the City 
Deal has not changed.  

  
 Sustainable Transport Covid  

In June 2020 WG awarded the Council with funding in relation to Local 
Sustainable Transport Covid Response of £0.619 million. The fund is to be used 
for ‘pop up’ measures which will include temporary low cost solutions to 
reallocate road space in favour of sustainable forms of transport. The funding 
has to be used by 31 March 2021 and the projected spend for this year is only 
£0.350 million and the balance of the grant of £0.269 million cannot be utilised. 
Therefore the capital grant allocation has been reduced to reflect this. 

           
4.7 There are a number of other schemes within the Capital Programme that are 

awaiting confirmation of external funding over the winter period. Once approval 
is known, it may also result in some schemes needing to be re-profiled. The 
Capital Programme has not been updated at this time for these schemes and 
further reports will be brought to Cabinet and Council in due course for approval.  

 
A revised Capital Programme is included as Appendix B. 

 
Prudential and Other Indicators 2020-21  

 
4.8 In February 2020, Council approved the Capital Strategy for 2020-21, which 

included the Prudential Indicators 2020-21 to 2022-23 together with some local 
indicators.  

 
4.9 The Capital Strategy is intended to give an overview of how capital expenditure, 

capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision 
of services along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and the 
implications for future sustainability. To this end, a number of prudential 
indicators were included, and approved by Council. In line with the requirements 
of the Prudential Code, the Chief Finance Officer is required to establish 
procedures to monitor both performance against all forward-looking prudential 
indicators and the requirement specified. 
 

4.10 Appendix C details the actual indicators for 2019-20, the estimated indicators 
for 2020-21 set out in the Council’s Capital Strategy and the projected indicators 
for 2020-21 based on the revised Capital Programme. These show that the 
Council is operating in line with the approved limits. 

 
 
 

Page 65



 Capital Strategy Monitoring 
 
4.11 The Capital Strategy also requires the monitoring of non-treasury management 

investments and other long term liabilities. The Council does have an existing 
investment portfolio which is 100% based within the County Borough and 
primarily the office and industrial sectors. The income streams are generally 
spread between the single and multi-let office investments on Bridgend Science 
Park, the multi-let industrial estates and the freehold ground rent investments. 
The total value of Investment Properties was £4.635 million at 31 March 2020. 

 
4.12 The Council has a number of Other Long Term Liabilities which are included 

within the Capital Strategy. No new loans have been taken out in quarter 3. 
 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 As required by Financial Procedure Rule 3.5.3 within the Council’s Constitution, 

“The Chief Finance Officer shall report quarterly to Cabinet an update on the 
Capital Strategy and the Prudential Indicators.” 

6. Equality Impact Assessment 
 
6.1 Projects within the capital programme will be subject to the preparation of 

Equality Impact Assessments before proceeding.  There are no equality 
implications arising from this report. 

 
7.  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1       The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of 

this report.  It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable 
impacts upon the achievement of wellbeing goals/objectives as a result of this 
report. Specifically the development of a 10 year capital programme, which 
reflects the Council’s affordability in terms of capital receipts and borrowing, 
supports the principle of sustainability over the long term. 

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1 The financial implications are outlined in the body of the report. 
 
9. Recommendation 
 
9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet: 
 

 note the Council’s capital programme for 2020-21 for the period to 31 
December 2020 (Appendix A); 

 agrees that the revised Capital Programme (Appendix B) be submitted 
to Council for approval; 

 note the projected Prudential and Other Indicators for 2020-21 
(Appendix C). 

 
 

Page 66



 
Gill Lewis 
Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change  
January 2021 
 
Contact Officer: Nigel Smith 
   Interim Group Manager – Chief Accountant  
Telephone:  01656 643359 
E-mail:  Nigel.Smith@bridgend.gov.uk 
Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council 
   Chief Executive’s - Finance 
   Raven’s Court 

Brewery Lane 
   Bridgend 
   CF31 4AP 
 
Background documents:  
Capital Strategy 2020-21– Report to Council 26 February 2020 
Capital Programme Q2 Update 2020-21 – Report to Council 21 October 20 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 2020 onwards – Report to Council 26 February 2020 

Page 67



This page is intentionally left blank



Bridgend County Borough Council APPENDIX A

CAPITAL MONITORING REPORT QUARTER 3 TO 31 December 2020

Budget 20-21 
(Council 

October 20)

New 
Approvals/(Reductions)

Virement Slippage Revised Budget 
2020-21

Total Exp to 
date

Projected Spend Over / (Under) 
spend

Impact on 
BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education & Family Support
YSGOL BRYN CASTELL SPECIAL SCHOOL  -                  150                   (150)                  -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
BRYNMENYN PRIMARY             44                     (44)                    -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
GATEWAY TO THE VALLEYS SEC SCH 97                     (96)                   1                                1                       1                            -                   -                  
GARW VALLEY SOUTH PRIMARY PROVISION 160                   (160)                  -                            (4)                      -                        -                   -                  
PENCOED PRIMARY               62                     (55)                   7                                7                       7                            -                   -                  
GARW VALLEY PRIMARY HIGHWAYS  30                     (30)                    -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
PENCOED PRIMARY SCHOOL HIGHWAYS WORKS 56                     (56)                    -                            0                        -                        -                   -                  
BRYNMENYN SCHOOL HIGHWAYS WORK 15                     (12)                   3                                3                       3                            -                   -                  
ALN PROVISION 7                       (7)                      -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
REDUCTION OF INFANT CLASS SIZES 70                     70                              26                     70                          -                   -                  
CROESTY PRIMARY SCHOOL        149                   149                            20                     149                        -                   -                  
SCHOOLS CAPITAL MINOR WORKS 397                   397                            115                   397                        -                   -                  
SCHOOLS TRAFFIC SAFETY        252                   (252)                  -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
SCHOOL MODERNISATION RETENTION 591                   7                       (598)                  -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
CEFN CRIBWR PRIMARY ALN 438                   438                            432                   438                        -                   -                  
EDUCATION S106 SCHEMES        202                   (202)                  -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
COMPLEX & MEDICAL NEEDS PROVISION 49                     25                                       74                              74                     74                          -                   -                  
MYNYDD CYNFFIG PRIMARY SCHOOL MOBILES 1,200                1,200                         1,073                1,200                     -                   -                  
SCHOOLS' CAPITAL MAINTENANCE GRANT 1,462                1,462                         931                   1,462                     -                   -                  
WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - BETTWS 578                   578                            25                     578                        -                   -                  
WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - BRIDGEND 55                     (55)                    -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - OGMORE 128                   128                            34                     128                        -                   -                  
WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - PORTHCAWL 55                     (55)                    -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
WELSH MEDIUM CHILDCARE PROVISION - HIGHWAYS 100                   (100)                  -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
WLGA - ADDITIONAL FUNDING FOR ICT -SCHOOLS 81                     81                               -                  81                          -                   -                  
EAST HUB- BRYNTEG COMPREHENSIVE 971                   971                            934                   971                        -                   -                  

TOTAL Education & Family Support 7,249                25                                       150                   (1,865)              5,559                         3,672                5,559                     -                   -                  

Social Services and Wellbeing
BRIDGEND RECREATION  -                  150                   (70)                   80                               -                  80                          -                  
BRYNGARW PARK - ACCESS IMPROVEMENTS 35                     35                               -                  35                          -                   -                  
BRYN Y CAE - HFE'S 40                     (40)                    -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
WELLBEING MINOR WORKS 121                   121                            5                       121                        -                   -                  
TREM Y MOR - ACCOMODATION      -                  435                                     435                            19                     435                        -                   -                  
TY PENYBONT  -                  1                                         1                                1                       1                            -                   -                  
BAKERS WAY MINOR WORKS        10                     10                               -                  10                          -                   -                  
GLAN YR AFON CARE HOME        51                     51                               -                  51                          -                   -                  
CHILDRENS RESIDENTIAL HUB     1,864                (1,564)              300                            156                   300                        -                   -                  
HARTSHORN HOUSE 50                     50                               -                  50                          -                   -                  
ICF CAPITAL FUNDING  -                  35                                       35                              5                       35                          -                   -                  
EXTRA CARE FACILITIES         120                   120                             -                  120                        -                   -                  

TOTAL Social Services & Wellbeing 2,291                471                                     150                   (1,674)              1,238                         186                   1,238                     -                   -                  

P
age 69



Budget 20-21 
(Council 

October 20)

New 
Approvals/(Reductions)

Virement Slippage Revised Budget 
2020-21

Total Exp to 
date

Projected Spend Over / (Under) 
spend

Impact on 
BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Communities
Street Scene

COMMUNITY PLAY AREAS  -                  336                   (336)                  -                             -                   -                        -                  
PARKS/PAVILIONS/COMMUNITY CENTRES CAT 748                   748                            42                     748                        -                   -                  
ABERFIELDS PLAYFIELDS 11                     11                               -                  11                          -                   -                  
CARDIFF CAPITAL REGION CITY DEAL 5,552                (5,156)                                 396                             -                  396                        -                   -                  
PORTHCAWL TOWN SEA DEFENCE    52                     52                               -                  52                          -                   -                  
COYCHURCH CREMATORIUM 20                     20                              21                     20                          -                   -                  
REMEDIAL MEASURES - CAR PARKS 105                   30                     (105)                 30                               -                  30                          -                   -                  
CIVIL PARKING ENFORCEMENT 38                     (38)                    -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
ROAD SAFETY SCHEMES           84                     300                   (320)                 64                              32                     64                          -                   -                  
ACTIVE TRAVEL- PENCOED TECHNOLOGY PARK 2,444                (678)                                    (50)                   1,716                         33                     1,716                     -                   -                  
HIGHWAYS STRUCTURAL WORKS     200                   200                            6                       200                        -                   -                  
CARRIAGEWAY CAPITAL WORKS     250                   250                            169                   250                        -                   -                  
ACTIVE TRAVEL - BRIDGEND TO BRACKLA  -                   -                            (18)                    -                        -                   -                  
ROAD SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS - HEOL MOSTYN 600                   (600)                  -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
PROW CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT STRUCTURES 50                     203                   253                            3                       253                        -                   -                  
HIGHWAYS REFURBISHMENT GRANT 957                   957                            681                   957                        -                   -                  
CARRIAGEWAY & FOOTWAYS RENEWAL 1,700                1,700                         1,375                1,700                     -                   -                  
NATIONAL CYCLE NETWORK PHASE 2  -                   -                            (17)                    -                        -                   -                  
REPLACEMENT OF STREET LIGHTING 280                   280                            22                     280                        -                   -                  
BRIDGE STRENGTHENING A4061    1,285                1,285                         944                   1,285                     -                   -                  
COMMUNITIES MINOR WORKS       468                   468                            (14)                   468                        -                   -                  
RIVER PROTECTION MEASURES     178                   (40)                   138                            126                   138                        -                   -                  
RETAINING WALL REPLACEMENT BETTWS 51                     51                               -                  51                          -                   -                  
PYLE PARK AND RIDE METRO 120                   120                            56                     120                        -                   -                  
LOCAL TRANSPORT FUND - PENPRYSG ROAD BRIDGE 80                     50                     130                            82                     130                        -                   -                  
LOCAL TRANSPORT FUND - BRIDGEND TO COYCHURCH  -                   -                            (32)                    -                        -                   -                  
SAFE ROUTES - COITY HIGHER 222                   222                            9                       222                        -                   -                  
SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT COVID RESPONSE 619                   (269)                                    350                            89                     350                        -                   -                  
RESIDENTS PARKING BRIDGEND TC 128                   (128)                  -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
FLEET VEHICLES                2,085                (224)                 1,861                         192                   1,861                     -                   -                  
RELOCATE RECYCLING CENTRE     1,594                (100)                 1,494                         508                   1,494                     -                   -                  
AHP WASTE 238                   238                            30                     238                        -                   -                  
HEOL MOSTYN JUNCTION           -                  (23)                                      600                   (540)                 37                              37                     37                          -                  
EXTENSION TO CORNELLY CEMETERY 13 13                               -                  13                          -                   -                  
EXTENSION TO PORTHCAWL CEMETERY 17 17                               -                  17                          -                   -                  
STREET LIGHTING ENERGY SALIX  1417 (112)                                    1,305                         462                   1,305                     -                   -                  
HIGHWAYS S106 MINOR SCHEMES 63                     63                               -                  63                          -                   -                  

TOTAL Streetscene 21,669              (6,238)                                 829                   (1,791)              14,469                       4,839                14,469                   -                   -                  

Regeneration & Development
BRIDGEND BUS SUP NETWORK        128                   128                            76                     128                        -                   -                  
PORTHCAWL RESORT INVESTMENT FOCUS (PRIF) 99                     74                                       (15)                   158                            59                     158                        -                   -                  
EU CONVERGANCE SRF BUDGET     990                   990                             -                  990                        -                   -                  
VRP - BRYNGARW PARK 239                   239                            5                       239                        -                   -                  
VRP - PARC SLIP 163                   (29)                   134                            20                     134                        -                   -                  
TRI THEMATIC PROJECTS (UCPE AND UCLG) 820                   820                            127                   820                        -                   -                  
TRI STANDALONE PROJECTS 299                   299                            298                   299                        -                   -                  
PORTHCAWL REGENERATION PROJECT 50                     16                     66                              66                     66                          -                   -                  
BERWYN CENTRE AND OGMORE VALE WASHERIES 186                                     186                             -                  186                       
COVID RECOVERY FOR TOWN CENTRES 360                                     360                            360                       
ECONOMIC STIMULUS PROJECT 887                   (887)                  -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
COASTAL RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRAM 1,500                (750)                 750                            10                     750                        -                   -                  

P
age 70



Budget 20-21 
(Council 

October 20)

New 
Approvals/(Reductions)

Virement Slippage Revised Budget 
2020-21

Total Exp to 
date

Projected Spend Over / (Under) 
spend

Impact on 
BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
BRIDGEND HEAT SCHEME          450                   (450)                  -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
MAESTEG TOWN HALL CULTURAL HUB 5,098                (3,050)              2,048                         987                   2,048                     -                   -                  
TOWN & COMMUNITY COUNCIL FUND 249                   249                            36                     249                        -                   -                  
CAERAU HEAT NETWORK 1,939                (1,939)               -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
PORTHCAWL THI                 134                   (119)                 15                               -                  15                          -                   -                  

TOTAL Regeneration & Development 13,045              620                                      -                  (7,223)              6,442                         1,684                6,442                     -                   -                  

Corporate Landlord
CAPITAL ASSET MANAGEMENT FUND 820                   820                             -                  820                        -                   -                  
CORPORATE  LANDLORD ENERGY EFFICIENCY SAVINGS 12                     12                              2                       12                          -                   -                  
ENTERPRISE HUB 603                   (450)                 153                            79                     153                        -                   -                  
RAVEN'S COURT MINOR WORKS 454                   (442)                 12                              7                       12                          -                   -                  
ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING POINTS RAVENS COURT 25                     25                              13                     25                          -                   -                  
RELOCATION OF REGISTRARS      9                       50                     59                              58                     59                          -                   -                  
BRIDGEND/MAESTEG MARKET MINOR WORKS 25                     25                               -                  25                          -                   -                  
DDA WORKS                     286                   286                            23                     286                        -                   -                  
MINOR WORKS 258                   258                             -                  258                        -                   -                  
FIRE PRECAUTIONS MINOR WORKS  191                   (91)                   100                            13                     100                        -                   -                  
BRYNCETHIN DEPOT FACILITIES   151                   151                            18                     151                        -                   -                  
NON OPERATIONAL ASSETS        480                   (480)                  -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
EVERGREEN HALL - LEASE ACQUISITION 40                     40                              39                     40                          -                   -                  
INVESTING IN COMMUNITIES 1,728                (1,539)              189                            4                       189                        -                   -                  
BRYNGARW HOUSE 30                     30                               -                  30                          -                   -                  
COMMUNITY CENTRES  -                  360                   (260)                 100                             -                  100                        -                  
PENCOED LIBRARY 20                     20                               -                  20                          -                   -                  

Total Corporate Landlord 5,132                 -                                     (1,129)              (1,723)              2,280                         256                   2,280                     -                   -                  

TOTAL Communities 39,846              (5,618)                                 (300)                 (10,737)            23,191                       6,779                23,191                   -                   -                  

Chief Executive
CORPORATE CAPITAL FUND 124                   124                            69                     124                        -                   -                  

TOTAL Corporate Capital Fund 124                    -                                      -                   -                  124                            69                     124                        -                   -                  

 -                  
DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS (DFG) 1,926                (106)                 1,820                         922                   1,820                     -                   -                  
HOUSING RENEWAL AREA          100                   100                            1                       100                        -                   -                  
VALLEYS TASK FORCE EMPTY PROPERTIES GRANT 300                   300                            82                     300                        -                   -                  
COMFORT SAFE & SECURITY GRANTS 8                       8                                8                       8                            -                   -                  
WESTERN VALLEY EMPTY HOMES PILOT 260                   (260)                  -                             -                   -                        -                   -                  
EMERGENCY REPAIR LIFETIME GRANT 24                     98                     122                            122                   122                        -                   -                  
ENABLE SUPPORT GRANT 180                   180                            179                   180                        -                   -                  

TOTAL Housing/Homelessness 2,790                 -                                      -                  (260)                 2,530                         1,315                2,530                     -                   -                  

DIGITAL MEETING SPACES        26                     26                              24                     26                          -                   -                  
ICT INFRA SUPPORT             527                   527                            527                   527                        -                   -                  
DATA CENTRE  -                  5                                         5                                5                       5                            -                   -                  
TOTAL ICT 553                   5                                          -                   -                  558                            556                   558                        -                   -                  

UNALLOCATED 688                    -                                      -                   -                  688                             -                  688                        -                   -                  

TOTAL Chief Executive 4,155                5                                          -                  (260)                 3,900                         1,939                3,900                     -                   -                  

GRAND TOTAL 53,541           (5,117)                             -               (14,536)          33,888                   12,575           33,888                -                -               

P
age 71



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2020-2030 APPENDIX B

CUMULATIVE

Total Cost
BCBC 

Funding
External 
Funding Total Costs to 31-3-20

Council 
October 2020

New 
Approvals/(Reductions) Vire Slippage Revised 2020-21 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 Total 2020 - 2030

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education & Family Support
Highways Schemes Band B Schools 3,400        3,400         -                          -                        3,400 3,400                          
21st Century Schools Band B 49,505      15,654      33,851                     -                        625           1,798        6,531        25,087      14,932      532 49,505                        
Ysgol Bryn Castell Special School 150           150           150         (150)        -                        150           150                             
Brynmenyn Primary School 44             44             8,115                             44                 (44)          -                        44             44                               
Land Purchase Band B 4,910        4,910         -                        4,910        4,910                          
Gateway to the Valleys C C Y D Comprehensive School 97             97              -        15                                  97                                                        (96)         1                             96                                                                                                        97                               

Garw Valley South Primary Provision 160           160           10,433                           160               (160)        -                        160           160                             

Pencoed Primary School 62             62             10,933                           62                 (55)         7                             55             62                               

Garw Valley Primary Highways Works 30             30              -        265                                30                 (30)          -                        30             30                               

Pencoed School Highways Works 56             56              -        355                                56                 (56)          -                        56             56                               

Brymenyn Primary Highways Works 15             15              -        737                                15                 (12)         3                             12             15                               

Additional Learning Needs  -            -            -        4,082                             7                                                          (7)             -                                                                                                                                 -                             

Reduction of Infant Class Sizes - Bro Ogwr 70              -           70          10                                  70                 70                           70                               

Reduction of Infant Class Sizes - Croesty 149            -           149        17                                  149               149                         149                             

Schools Minor Works 397           397            -        136                                397               397                         397                             

Schools Traffic Safety 252           252            -        323                                252               (252)        -                        252           252                             

School Modernisation 598           598            -        591               7             (598)        -                        598           598                             

Cefn Cribwr Primary School ALN 438           438            -        438               438                         438                             

Education S106 Schemes 202            -           202        146                                202               (202)        -                        202           202                             

Complex and Medical Needs Works in Schools 74             74              -        313                                49                 25                                       74                           74                               

Mynydd Cynffig Primary School Mobiles 1,200        1,200         -        1,200            1,200                      1,200                          

School's Capital Maintenance Grant 1,462        1,462         -        1,462            1,462                      1,462                          

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Bettws 595            -           595        578               578                         17             595                             

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Bridgend 650            -           650        55                 (55)          -                        153           497           650                             

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Ogmore 625            -           625        128               128                         497                        625                             

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Porthcawl 650            -           650        55                 (55)          -                        153           497           650                             

Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Highways Schemes 100           100        100               (100)        -                        100           100                             

WLGA - Additional funding for ICT in Schools 81              -           81          81                 81                           81                               
Brynteg Comp - East Hub 1,010         -           1,010     971               971                         39             1,010                          
Total Education and Family Support 66,982      28,999      37,983   35,880                           7,249            25                                       150         (1,865)    5,559                      11,549      2,792        6,531        25,087      14,932      532            -           -           -          66,982                        

Social Services and Well-being

Adult Social Care
Bridgend Recreation 150           150           150 (70)         80                           70 150                             

Bryngarw Park- Access 35             35             35                                                                   35                           35                               

Bryn Y Cae 40             40             40                                                        (40)          -                        40             40                               

Trem Y Mor 435           35             400        435                                     435                         435                             

Wellbeing Minor Works 121           121           121                                                                 121                         121                             

Ty Penybont 1               1                -                         1                                         1                                                                                                                                     1                                 

Bakers Way 10             10              -        10                                                        10                           10                               

Glan Yr Afon Care Home 51             51              -        71                                  51                 51                           51                               

Children's Residential Accommodation Hub 2,214        1,314        900        367                                1,864            (1,564)    300                         1,914        2,214                          

Hartshorn House 50             50             50                 50                           50                               

ICF Capital Funding 35             35          35                                       35                           35                               
Extra Care Facilities 120           120            -        1,717                             120                                                                            120                                                                                                                                 120                             
Total Social Services and Well-being 3,262        1,927        1,335     2,155                             2,291            471                                     150         (1,674)    1,238                      2,024         -           -           -           -           -           -           -           -          3,262                          

Communities

Street Scene
Community Play Areas 336           336            -        336 (336)        -                        336 336                             

Parks/Pavilions/Community Centres CAT 748           748            -        3                                    748               748                         748                             

Aber Playing Fields 11             11                                               11                 11                           11                               

Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 7,951        7,951         -        3,447                             5,552            (5,156)                                 396                         2,495        4,989        71                                                                              7,951                          

Town Beach Revetment Sea Defence, Porthcawl 52             28             24          3,151                             52                 52                                                                                                                                   52                               

Coychurch Crem Works 835            -           835        20                 20                           815           835                             

Remedial Measures - Car Parks 135           135            -        64                                  105               30           (105)       30                           105           135                             

Civil Parking Enforcement 38             38              -        38                                  38                 (38)          -                        38             38                               

Road Safety 384           384            -        26                                  84                 300         (320)       64                           320           384                             

Active travel Pencoed Technology Park 1,716         -           1,716     2,444            (678)                                    (50)          1,716                      1,716                          

Highways Structural Works 2,000        2,000         -        213                                200               200                         200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           2,000                          

Carriageway Capital Works 2,500        2,500         -        311                                250               250                         250           250           250           250           250           250           250           250           250           2,500                          

Road Safety Improvements - Heol Mostyn 577           577            -        265                                600               (23)                                      (540)       37                           540           577                             

Prow Capital Improvement Programme 253           203           50          50                 203         253                         253                             

Highways Refurbishment Grant 957            -           957        957               957                                      957                             

Carriageway Resurfacing & Renewal of Footways 3,003        3,003         -        1,568                             1,700            1,700                      1,303        3,003                          

Replacement of Street Lighting Columns 3,880        3,880         -        1,093                             280               280                         400           400           400           400           400           400           400           400           400           3,880                          

Bridge Strengthening - A4061 Ogmore Valley 1,285        1,285         -        381                                1,285            1,285                      1,285                          

Communities Minor Works 468           468            -        50                                  468               468                         468                             

River Bridge Protection Measures 138           138            -        178               (40)          138                         138                             

Retaining Wall Replacement, Bettws 51             11             40          164                                51                 51                           51                               

Pyle Park and Ride Metro 120           120        120               120                         120                             

Local Transport Fund - Penprysg Road Bridge 130            -           130        80                 50           130                         130                             

FUTURE YEARS2020-2021
Total 2020-2030

P
age 73



CUMULATIVE

Total Cost
BCBC 

Funding
External 
Funding Total Costs to 31-3-20

Council 
October 2020

New 
Approvals/(Reductions) Vire Slippage Revised 2020-21 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 Total 2020 - 2030

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FUTURE YEARS2020-2021
Total 2020-2030

Safe Routes - Coity Higher 222            -           222        222               222                         222                             

SustainableTransport Covid Response 350           350        619               (269)                                    350                         350                             

Residents Parking Bridgend Town Centre 128           128            -        128                                                                 (128)        -                        128                                                                                                      128                             

Fleet Vehicles 2,585        2,585         -        236                                2,085            (224)       1,861                      724                                                                                                      2,585                          

Re-locate Household Waste Recycling Centre - West 1,594        1,594         -        6                                    1,594            (100)       1,494                      100                                                                                                      1,594                          

AHP Waste 238           238            -        238               238                         238                             

Extension to Cornelly Cemetery 314           314            -        13                 13                           301                                                                                                      314                             

Extension to Porthcawl Cemetery 216           216            -        17                 17                           199           216                             

Street Lighting Energy Efficiency 1,305        1,305         -        483                                1,417            (112)                                    1,305                      1,305                          

S106 Highways Small Schemes 63              -           63          63                 63                                                                                                                                   63                               

Regeneration & Development                                   

Business Support Framework 128           128            -        27                                  128               128                         128                             

Porthcawl Resort Investment Focus 173           50             123        1,038                             99                 74                                       (15)         158                         15                                                                                                        173                             

Special Regeneration Funding 990           990            -        990               990                         990                             

VRP- Bryngarw Country Park 239            -           239        239               239                         239                             

VRP - Parc Slip 163            -           163        163               (29)         134                         29             163                             

Tri Thematic Projects (UCPE and UCLG ) 820            -           820        820               820                         820                             

TRI Standalone projects 299            -           299        299               299                         299                             

Porthcawl Regeneration 2,607        2,607         -        36                                  50                 16           66                           2,541        2,607                          

Berwyn Centre and Ogmore Vale Washeries 186           186        186                                     186                         186                             

Covid recovery for town centres 360           360        360                                     360                         360                             

Economic Stimulus Grant 887           887            -        887               (887)        -                        887           887                             

Coastal Risk Management Program - Porthcawl 6,032        1,509        4,523     1,500            (750)       750                         5,132        150           6,032                          

Llynfi Valley Development Programme 2,260        2,260         -                          -                        2,260        2,260                          

Bridgend Heat Scheme 500           500            -        450               (450)        -                        500                                                                                                      500                             

Maesteg Town Hall Cultural Hub 7,183        2,604        4,579     417                                5,098            (3,050)    2,048                      5,135        7,183                          

Town & Community Council Fund 699           699            -        249               249                         50             50             50             50             50             50             50             50             50             699                             

Caerau Heat Network 6,293        1,168        5,125     1,939            (1,939)     -                        4,373        1,531        389           6,293                          

Porthcawl Townscape Heritage Initiative 134           134            -        489                                134               (119)       15                           119                                                                                                      134                             

Corporate Landlord                                    

Capital Asset Management Fund 820           820            -        820               820                         820                             

Corporate Landlord - Energy Savings Strategy 1,299        1,299         -        12                 12                           1,287                                                                                                   1,299                          

Enterprise Hub - Innovation Centre 2,060        589           1,471     97                                  603               (450)       153                         1,872        35             2,060                          

Raven's Court 454           454           454               (442)       12                           442           454                             

Electrical vehicle charging points Ravens Court 25             25              -        25                 25                           25                               

Relocation of Registrars 59             59              -        4                                    9                   50           59                           59                               

Bridgend Market 25             25              -        25                 25                           25                               

DDA Works 286           286            -        286               286                         286                             

Minor Works 10,428      10,428       -        206                                258               258                         1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        1,130        10,428                        

Fire Precautions 191           191            -        191               (91)         100                         91             191                             

Bryncethin Depot Facilities 151           151            -        984                                151               151                         151                             

Non-Operational Assets 480           480            -        480               (480)        -                        480           480                             

Waterton Upgrade 8,144        8,144         -                          -                        8,144        8,144                          

Evergreen Hall 40             40              -        40                 40                           40                               
Investing in Communities 189           189            -        1,728            (1,539)     189                         189                             
Culture
Bryngarw House 30             30             30                 30                           30                               

Community Centres 360           360           360         (260)       100                         260           360                             

Pencoed Library 20             20             20                 20                           20                               

Total Communities 89,597      67,202      22,395   14,833                           39,846          (5,618)                                 (300)        (10,737)  23,191                    43,001      8,735        2,490        2,030        2,030        2,030        2,030        2,030        2,030        89,597                        

Chief Executive's
Corporate Capital Fund 1,924        1,924        124               124                         200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           200           1,924                          

Housing / Homelessness
Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) 19,370      19,370       -        1,623                             1,926            (106)        1,820                      1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        1,950        19,370                        

Housing Renewal / Empty Properties 1,000        1,000         -        99                                  100               100                         100           100           100           100           100           100           100           100           100           1,000                          

Valleys Taskforce Empty Properties Grant 300           105           195        300               300                         300                             

Comfort Safe & Security Grants 8               8               8             8                             8                                 

Western Valley Empty Homes Pilot 260           91             169        260               (260)        -                        260           260                             

Emergency Repair Lifetime Grant 122           122            -        24                 98           122                                                                                                                                 122                             

Enable Grant 180            -           180        180               180                                                                                                                                 180                             

ICT
Digital Meeting Spaces 26             26              -        51                                  26                 26                           26                               

Investment in ICT 527           287           240                                          527               527                                                                                                                                 527                             

Digital Transformation 520           520            -                          -                        520                                                                                                      520                             
Data Centre 5               5               5                                         5                             5                                 
Total Chief Executive's 24,242      23,458      784        1,773                             3,467            5                                          -         (260)       3,212                      3,030        2,250        2,250        2,250        2,250        2,250        2,250        2,250        2,250        24,242                        
Unallocated 10,964      10,964       -                                          688                                                                            688                         1,581        707                                                  1,823        2,055        2,055        2,055        10,964                        
Total  Expenditure 195,047    132,550    62,497   54,641                           53,541          (5,117)                                  -         (14,536)  33,888                    61,185 14,484 11,271 29,367 19,212 6,635 6,335 6,335 6,335 195,047                      

Expected Capital Resources

General Capital Funding
General Capital Funding - General Capital Grant 27,136      27,136       -        3,997            3,997                      3,963        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        2,397        27,136                        

General Capital Funding - Supported Borrowing 39,443      39,443       -        3,986            3,986                      3,953        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        3,938        39,443                        

P
age 74



CUMULATIVE

Total Cost
BCBC 

Funding
External 
Funding Total Costs to 31-3-20

Council 
October 2020

New 
Approvals/(Reductions) Vire Slippage Revised 2020-21 2021-2022 2022-2023 2023-2024 2024-2025 2025-2026 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 Total 2020 - 2030

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

FUTURE YEARS2020-2021
Total 2020-2030

Capital Receipts - Schools 1,215        1,215         -        1,215            (674)       541                         674                                                                                                      1,215                          

Capital Receipts - General 18,781      18,781       -        7,830            74           (3,415)    4,489                      13,771                                             521                                                  18,781                        

Earmarked Reserves 33,937      33,937       -        10,754          (1,054)                                 (88)          (4,225)    5,387                      16,505      5,062        1,347        4,932        704                                                  33,937                        

Revenue Contribution 106           106            -        75                 31                                       (38)         68                           38                                                                                                        106                             

Prudential Borrowing (Directorate Funded) 4,298        4,298         -        2,107            (236)       1,871                      2,427                                                                                                   4,298                          

Prudential Borrowing (Corporately Funded) 4,069        4,069         -        466               (153)       313                         3,756                                                                                                   4,069                          

SALIX Interest Free Loan - WG 1,305        1,305         -        1,417            (112)                                    1,305                                                                                                                              1,305                          
Llynfi Development Site Loan - WG 2,260        2,260         -                          -                        2,260        2,260                          
Sub-Total General Capital Funding 132,550    132,550     -         -                                31,847          (1,135)                                 (14)          (8,741)    21,957                    47,347 11,397 7,682 11,267 7,560 6,335 6,335 6,335 6,335 132,550                      

External Funding Approvals
WG - Highways Grant 957            -           957        957               957                                                                                                       957                             

WG - Other 1,344        1,344     1,224            (49)         1,175                      169                                                                                         1,344                          

WG - 21st Century Schools 34,812       -           34,812   971               971                         139           450           3,200        18,100      11,652      300                                     34,812                        

WG - Enable Grant 180            -           180        180               180                                                                                                                                 180                             

WG - Safe Routes in Communities 222            -           222        222               222                                                                                                                                 222                             

WG - Porthcawl Revetment 24              -           24          24                 24                                                                                                                                   24                               

WG - Coastal Risk Mangement Program - Porthcawl 4,523         -           4,523     1,500            (750)       750                         3,661        112           4,523                          

WG - Integrated Care Fund (ICF) 1,335         -           1,335     650               435                                     (350)       735                         600                                                                                                      1,335                          

WG - Welsh Medium Capital Grant 2,701         -           2,701     997               (210)       787                         920           994                                                                                         2,701                          

WG - Infant Class Size Grant 219            -           219        219               219                                                                                                                                 219                             

WG- VRP 948            -           948        402               546                                     (29)         919                         29             948                             

WG - TRI 1,119         -           1,119     1,119            1,119                      1,119                          

Westminster  -            -            -        3,977            (3,977)                                  -                                                                                                                                 -                             

CSC Foundry  -            -            -        113               (113)                                     -                                                                                                                                              -                             

S106 314            -           314        265               (202)       63                           251                                                                                                      314                             

Transport Grant 2,316         -           2,316     3,263            (947)                                    2,316                                                                                                                              2,316                          

Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) 682            -           682        632               (616)       16                           666                                                                                                      682                             

EU  9,349         -           9,349     4,592            74                                       14           (3,522)    1,158                      6,271        1,531        389                                                                            9,349                          
Other 1,452         -           1,452     387               (67)         320                         1,132                                                                                                   1,452                          
Sub-Total External Funding Approvals 62,497       -           62,497   21,694          (3,982)                                 14           (5,795)    11,931                    13,838      3,087        3,589        18,100      11,652      300            -           -           -          62,497                        
Total Funding Available 195,047    132,550    62,497   53,541          (5,117)                                  -         (14,536)  33,888                    61,185      14,484      11,271      29,367      19,212      6,635        6,335        6,335        6,335        195,047                      
Funding Shortfall/(Surplus)  -            -            -         -                -                                      -          -         -                         -           -           -           -           -           -           -           -           -           -                             

P
age 75



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C 
 

PRUDENTIAL AND OTHER INDICATORS 2020-21  
 
The Prudential Indicators are required to be set and approved by Council in accordance with 
CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities. Table 1 shows the 2019-20 
actual capital expenditure, the capital programme approved by Council on 26 February 2020 
and the latest projection for the current financial year which has incorporated slippage of 
schemes from 2019-20 together with any new grants and contributions or changes in the profile 
of funding.  

 
Table 1: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Expenditure  

 2019-20 
Actual 

£m 

2020-21 

Estimate 

(Council  

 February 2020) 

£m 

2020-21 

Projection 

£m 

Council Fund services 22.822 55.954 33.888 

Investment Properties - 0.480 0 

TOTAL 22.822 56.434 33.888 

 
All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government grants and 
other contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves and capital receipts) or 
net financing requirement (borrowing, leasing and Private Finance Initiative). The planned 
financing of the expenditure has been projected as follows: 
 
Table 2: Capital financing 
 

 2019-20 
Actual 

£m 

2020-21 

Estimate 

(Council  

February 2020) 

£m 

2020-21 

Projection 

£m 

External sources 16.199 21.551 15.928 

Own resources 1.408 23.664 10.485 

 

Net Financing 
Requirement  

5.215 11.219 7.475 

TOTAL 22.822 56.434 33.888 

 

The net financing requirement has fallen compared to the estimate in the Capital Strategy as 
a result of the reduction in forecast spend, reduction in anticipated external funding sources, 
and associated reduction in the anticipated level of Prudential Borrowing in the year.  The net 
financing requirement or ‘debt’ is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and leases 
must be repaid, and this is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually from 
revenue which is known as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). As well as MRP, the 

Page 77



Council makes additional voluntary revenue contributions to pay off Prudential or Unsupported 
Borrowing. The total of these are shown in Table 3 below. 
 
Table 3: Replacement of debt finance  
 

 2019-20 
Actual 

£m 

2020-21 

Estimate 

(Council  

February 2020) 

£m 

2020-21 

Projection 

£m 

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 2.858 2.925 2.925 

Additional Voluntary Revenue Provision 1.948 1.505 1.489 

Total MRP & VRP 4.833 4.430 4.414 

Other MRP on Long term Liabilities 0.690 0.743 0.743 

Total Own Resources 5.523 5.173 5.157 

 
The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed capital expenditure and 
reduces by the MRP amount within the year. Based on the above figures for expenditure and 
financing, the Council’s estimated CFR is as follows based on the movement on capital 
expenditure at quarter 3: 

Table 4: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement 
 

 2019-20 
Actual 

£m 

2020-21 
Estimate 

£m 

2020-21 
Projection 

£m 
Capital Financing Requirement    
Opening CFR excluding PFI & other 
liabilities 

 
155.084 

 
155.893 

 
155.466 

Opening PFI CFR 17.000 16.309 16.310 
Total opening CFR 172.084 172.203 171.776 
Movement in CFR excluding PFI & 
other liabilities 

 
0.382 

 
6.789 

 
3.061 

Movement in PFI CFR (0.690) (0.743) (0.743) 
Total movement in CFR (0.308) 6.046 2.318 
Closing CFR 171.776 178.249 174.094 
Movement in CFR represented by:    
Net financing need for year (Table 2 
above) 

5.215 11.219 7.475 

Minimum and voluntary revenue 
provisions 

 
(4.833) 

 
(4.430) 

 
(4.414) 

MRP on PFI and other long term 
leases (Table 3) 

 
(0.690) 

 
(0.743) 

 
(0.743) 

Total movement (0.308) 6.046 2.318  
 
 

The capital borrowing need (Capital Financing Requirement) has not been fully funded with 
loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow has been used 

Page 78



as a temporary measure. This is known as Internal Borrowing. Projected levels of the Council’s 
total outstanding debt, which comprises of borrowing, PFI and Other Long Term Liabilities, are 
shown below compared with the Capital Financing Requirement:-   
 
Table 5: Prudential Indicator: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement 
 

 2019-20 
Actual 

£m 

2020-21 

Estimate 

(Council 
Feb 20) 

£m 

2020-21 

Projection 

£m 

Debt (incl. PFI & leases) 116.867 117.867 113.367 

Capital Financing 
Requirement 

171.776 178.249 174.094 

 
Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing requirement, except 
in the short-term. As can be seen, the Council expects to comply with this in the medium term. 
 
The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed the authorised 
limit for external debt) each year. In line with statutory guidance, a lower “operational 
boundary” is also set as a warning level should debt approach the limit.  Table 6 below shows 
these two limits and as the current projection for debt is £113.367 million, it is within the 
Operational Boundary. 

Table 6: Prudential Indicators: Authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt in £m 
 

 2019-20 
Actual 

£m 

2020-21 

Estimate 

(Council  

February 2020) 

£m 

2020-21 

Projection 

£m 

Authorised limit – 
borrowing 

Authorised limit – other 
long term liabilities 

145.000 

30.000 

170.000 

30.000 

170.000 

30.000 

Authorised Limit Total 175.000 200.000 200.000 

Operational boundary – 
borrowing 

Operational boundary – 
other long term liabilities 

105.000 

 

20.000 

140.000 

 

20.000 

140.000 

 

20.000 

Operational Boundary 
Limit Total 

130.000 165.000 165.000 

    

Total Borrowing and 
Long Term Liabilities 

116.867 117.867 113.367 

 
 

Page 79



Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest payable 
on loans and MRP are charged to revenue, offset by any investment income receivable. The 
net annual charge is known as financing costs; this is compared to the net revenue stream i.e. 
the amount funded from Council Tax, business rates and general government grants. 

Table 7: Prudential Indicator: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream 

 2019-20 
Actual 

£m 

2020-21 

Estimate 

(Council  

February 2020) 

£m 

2020-21 

Projection 

£m 

Capital Financing Central 
 

6.728 6.995 6.975 

Other Financing costs  3.893 3.451 3.451 

TOTAL FINANCING COSTS 
 

10.821 10.446 10.426 

Proportion of net revenue stream 3.92% 3.85% 3.84% 

 

This shows that in 2019-20, 3.92% of our net revenue income was spent paying back the costs 
of capital expenditure.  The estimate for 2020-21 is 3.84% which is in-line with the approved 
Capital Strategy. 

Page 80



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

19 JANUARY 2021

REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER - FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND 
CHANGE

OUTCOME OF THE CONSULTATION ‘FIT FOR THE FUTURE’

1 Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet of the outcome of the ‘Fit for the 
Future’ 2020 consultation which asked citizens to share their views on how they 
think the council should shape its services going forward, as part of its ‘Restart, 
Recover and Renew’ strategy, in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. The intention 
was to understand how the public felt that the council could look like and how it 
could deliver sustainable and effective services for the next 5 to 10 years. 

2 Connections to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives.

3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

2.2 The ‘Fit for the Future’ 2020 consultation sought to obtain views on the future 
direction of the council following the Covid-19 pandemic. The allocation of financial 
resources determines the council’s ability to meet its well-being objectives. As such 
the report links to all the well-being objectives.

3 Background

3.1 Following a number of years of reductions in funding from central government, and 
continued financial pressures, along with addressing post-Covid-19 recovery, all 
councils across the country are continuing to change the way they work and the 

Page 81

Agenda Item 7



services they provide so that they can manage with less. Bridgend County Borough 
Council (BCBC) has made reductions from its budget of £22 million over the last 
four years (2017-18 to 2020-21), with an expectation of significant further reductions 
required over the next four years.

 
3.2 A public consultation exercise was undertaken over an eight week period from 19 

October 2020 to 13 December 2020. Respondents were asked to share their views 
on a range of areas including:

 Responding to the COVID-19 pandemic;
 Business and the economy;
 Health and wellbeing; 
 Customer access to Civic offices;
 Digitalisation;
 Council Tax levels;
 The future.

3.3 Budget consultation exercises have been undertaken annually since 2013-14. This 
‘Fit for the Future’ 2020 consultation exercise has built on the knowledge gained 
from the previous consultations and further developed the consultation to include 
new ways for people to participate and engage with the council, as well as adapting 
to the challenges around social distancing that the pandemic has created. A wide 
variety of methods of communication were used including surveys, social media, a 
number of online engagement sessions, online FAQ sessions as well as videos, 
radio adverts and media releases. Due to the impact of Covid-19 and the inability to 
engage with residents face to face in the community, the council wanted to make 
sure that as many people as possible could get involved in the consultation and 
ensured that accessible versions of the survey were available – large print, easy-
read and youth, as well as standard. An advert was also placed in the Glamorgan 
Gazette notifying non-domestic rates payers of the consultation, and inviting them 
to participate, as required by Section 65 of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992.

3.4 In order to gather views of young people, the consultation team attended the 
Bridgend Youth Council meeting on 24 November 2020. The Youth Council took 
part in discussions around some of the key questions within the consultation and 
were encouraged to complete the full consultation online. 11 young people engaged 
in the session. In addition, in order to encourage participation of young people in 
secondary schools and Bridgend College, the consultation team wrote to all 
Governing Bodies and headteachers as well as the Principal of Bridgend College to 
promote the consultation amongst their learners as well as school staff and 
parents/carers.   

3.5 The budget consultation was live between 19 October 2020 and 13 December 
2020. The surveys were available on the council’s website and paper copies were 
sent directly to residents upon request.

3.6 The consultation aimed to reach the following key stakeholders: general 
public/residents, Citizens’ Panel members, elected members, BCBC employees, 
Bridgend businesses, town and community councils, school governors, Bridgend 
Community Cohesion and Equality Forum (BCCEF) members, local 
interest/community groups, Bridgend Association of Voluntary Organsiations 

Page 82



(BAVO), Bridgend College, partners, secondary schools (including head teachers) 
and media outlets.

3.7 The consultation was supported by a full communications and promotional plan. 
The main activities included three media releases, a BCBC budget explainer video, 
various press release/editorials in the media, a social media/web campaign, radio 
campaign, direct marketing to key target audiences e.g. businesses, schools, youth 
council and internal communications for staff and elected members. 

3.8 As well as the explainer video, four additional videos were created to promote the 
consultation on social media due to the impact of the pandemic. These videos 
featured the Chief Executive, Leader, Deputy Leader and Youth Mayor. 

3.9 In addition to general social media content, four polls were created on Twitter which 
generated 122 votes to key questions within the budget consultation survey.

3.10 The Fit for the Future consultation was included in eight weekly govDelivery 
bulletins and one stand-alone bulletin during the live period. govDelivery is a new 
communications tool that has been implemented by the authority in 2020 to send 
messages directly to residents’ email inboxes in the language of their choice. There 
are currently 37,360 English language subscribers and 220 Welsh language 
subscribers from Bridgend County Borough to the weekly Covid-19 update emails. 
Overall, the govDelivery emails generated 1,839 link clicks through to the budget 
consultation webpage. 

4 Current situation / proposal

4.1 The attached consultation report (Appendix A) sets out in detail the views 
expressed by those who participated.

4.2 Overall, the council has received 1,831 interactions from a combination of survey 
completions, engagement at various meetings, social media engagement and via the 
authority’s Citizens’ Panel. Due to the impact of Covid-19 this is a decrease of 5,606 
(75%) on the 7,437 interactions from last year. A total of 1,421 survey responses 
were received, which is a decrease of 58% on last year’s survey completions. 

4.3 The response rate, by method of interaction is set out below:

Interactions Number
Survey completions 1,421
Events/meetings/workshops 203
Emails 3
Letters 1
Telephone calls 2
Social media comments 79
Social media polls 122
Total interactions 1,831

 1,421 responses to the surveys were received in total. 
 Overall 203 people attended the various online events and meetings.
 A total of 201 interactions were received via social media. This includes 79 

social media comments and 121 social media poll votes. 

Page 83



 6 comments were received by email, telephone and webpage feedback.

4.4 Headline figures and themes include:

4.4.1 Responding to the pandemic

 45% of respondents stated that customer services had performed well or very well 
during the pandemic;

 64% of respondents stated that communications had been performed well or very 
well during the pandemic; 

 47% of respondents stated that the support for vulnerable residents had been 
performed well or very well during the pandemic; 

 39% of respondents stated that the support for businesses had been performed well 
or very well during the pandemic;

 50% of respondents stated that support for town centres had been performed well or 
very well during the pandemic;

 70% of respondents stated that the support for communities had been performed well 
or very well during the pandemic;

 When asked what services they had missed during lockdown, respondents stated 
that the services that they had missed the most were community recycling centres, 
followed by gyms and/or swimming pools and then parks and playing fields;

 When asked which maintained services should be a priority for the future, 
respondents stated general waste and recycling collection services followed by street 
lighting including responding to street lighting faults and then domestic abuse 
support;

 58% of respondents stated that council staff working from home should be adopted 
as an approach for the future.

4.4.2  Business and the economy
 

 87% of respondents stated that support for local businesses was important or very 
important;

 73% of respondents stated that promotion of town centres as places to visit was 
important or very important;

 73% of respondents stated that supporting the visitor economy activities and services 
in our tourist attraction areas was important or very important;

 69% of respondents stated that sustainability of culture and leisure venues was 
important or very important;

Page 84



 79% of respondents stated that labour market opportunities were important or very 
important;

 71% of respondents stated that business start-up was important or very important;  

 When asked if respondents had any other ideas about how the council should support 
local businesses, respondents stated to reduce business rates and rents followed by 
the need to invest/regenerate the town centres and empty properties, encourage 
more shops, ensure cleanliness and reduce anti-social behaviour followed by better 
and free car parking.

4.4.3 Health and wellbeing  

 When asked about which support services the council should focus on to help its 
most vulnerable residents as it recovers from the pandemic, 92% of respondents 
stated that support for older people was important or very important; 

 81% stated that ensuring those who are homeless are kept safe as lockdown 
restrictions ease was important or very important;

 78% of respondents stated that food poverty – (for example should BCBC support 
and promote food banks and provide children eligible for free school meals with food 
parcels during school holidays) was important or very important;

 77% of respondents stated that council tax support for residents who had difficulty 
paying their council tax as a direct result of the pandemic was important or very 
important;

 86% of respondents stated that during the pandemic support from community 
organisations was either important or very important ; 

 68% of respondents stated that the council should protect funding for the third sector.

4.4.4 Customer access to Civic Offices 

 81% of respondents stated that they had not missed coming into Civic Offices while 
it has been closed; 

 When asked how they have accessed services while Civic Offices has been closed 
respondents stated the website, followed by telephone and then email;

 37% of respondents stated that they had accessed customer services while the 
council has been closed.  Respondents stated that they had most commonly done 
this by telephone followed by email and then social media;

 The reasons most commonly stated for contacting customer services were recycling 
and waste, followed by council tax and then Covid-19 related advice;

 41% of respondents did not think it should be a priority to reopen Civic Offices;

Page 85



 60% of respondents stated that when Civic Offices does reopen, the council should 
move to an appointment based system. 

4.4.5 Digitalisation

 59% of respondents stated that they had accessed services online.  Of these 55% 
accessed services themselves whereas 4% had someone else to do this on their 
behalf;

 59% of respondents stated that when Civic Offices does reopen, they will continue to 
access services online.  A further 20% of respondents stated that they always 
preferred to access services online;

 When asked what would help you or someone you know access services online, 44% 
stated that they did not need any help accessing services online. This was followed 
by 15% who stated that they would find printable ‘how to’ guides useful and 14% who 
stated that they would like to have videos on the Bridgend council website. 12% of 
respondents stated that they would like access to community learning sessions and 
11% stated that they would like appointments with a member of the customer services 
team to show them how to access services online;

 76% of respondents stated that they had not signed up to govDelivery.  When asked 
why not, the most common responses were that they were not aware of this service, 
followed by not needed/required/interested and then that they can find information 
independently through the internet, newspapers, social media, contacting the council 
etc.

  
4.4.6 Council tax levels 

 When asked to select which statement best represents their views on setting the 
council tax for 2021-22 37% of respondents were prepared to increase council tax 
slightly to help protect the most important services where possible (4.5% increase), 
followed by 36% of respondents who stated that they would want to keep council tax 
levels the same, resulting in a reduction in the level of services provided, followed by 
19% of respondents who were prepared to increase council tax more significantly to 
protect more services (6% increase) and then 8% of respondents who were prepared 
to pay as much as is needed to maintain all council services at existing levels (16% 
increase).

4.4.7 The future   

 When asked what the council’s long term priorities for the future should be 
respondents selected to make in-house efficiencies, followed by focussing on 
services that benefit everyone in the borough and then encouraging citizens to take 
more responsibility;

 When asked which three services the council should prioritise when recovering from 
the pandemic respondents most commonly chose care for older people, followed by 
schools and then recycling and waste; 

 When asked what lessons from the Covid-19 pandemic should be considered when 
setting medium and long term funding priorities respondents most commonly stated 

Page 86



that the council should have an emergency fund, not waste money and make internal 
savings i.e. streamline services, staff and councillors pay/expenses and review 
external contracts.  This was followed by the need to have a caring society, support 
social services and vulnerable people including children, older people, disabled 
people, care homes, carers and homelessness and then for the council to plan and 
prepare for the future and be adaptable;

 When asked if respondents had any further comments to make Bridgend County 
Borough fit for the future respondents most commonly stated that the council should 
make internal savings i.e. review number of staff and councillors, pay, expenses and 
review funded external partners followed by evaluating spending, providing value for 
money and provide more clarity on where money is spent, and then the council should 
be more prepared, improve transparency and make bold plans and decisions for the 
future.

5 Effect upon policy framework & procedure rules

5.1 There is no impact on the policy framework and procedure rules. 

6 Equality Impact Assessment.

6.1 There are no equality implications arising from this report.

7 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of the 
Budget Consultation. Officers have considered the importance of balancing short-
term needs in terms of meeting savings targets, while safeguarding the ability to 
meet longer-term objectives and maintain sustainable services, when proposals 
were devised. A full Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
assessment will be completed for the final Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 
presented to Council in February 2021.

8 Financial implications

8.1 The consultation report seeks to inform and aid Cabinet Members’ decisions on the 
future direction of the council and how to meet the challenging budget constraints in 
the years ahead.

9 Recommendation

9.1 Cabinet is recommended to note the outcome of the consultation with interested 
parties as detailed in the consultation report attached as Appendix A.

Gill Lewis
Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change
January 2021

Contact Officer: Deborah Exton
Deputy Head of Finance

Page 87



Telephone: (01656) 643604

E-mail: deborah.exton@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council
Raven’s Court
Brewery Field
Bridgend 
CF31 4AP

Contact Officer: Nicola Bunston 
Consultation Engagement and Equalities Manager 

Telephone: (01656) 643664

E-mail: nicola.bunston@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council
Civic Offices
Angel Street
Bridgend 
CF31 4WB

Background Documents: None

Page 88

mailto:deborah.exton@bridgend.gov.uk
mailto:nicola.bunston@bridgend.gov.uk


www.bridgend.gov.uk

Date of issue: 6 January 2021 

Fit for the Future 2020 

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Bridgend County Borough Council

Consultation report

Page 89

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


2

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Contents

Contents.............................................................................................................................2
1. Overview ........................................................................................................................3
2. Introduction ....................................................................................................................3
3. Promotional tools and engagement methods.................................................................3
4. Response rate................................................................................................................9
5. How effective was the consultation? ............................................................................10
6. Headline figures ...........................................................................................................10
7. Question and analysis - consultation survey................................................................13
7.1 About you ...................................................................................................................13
7.2 Survey questions........................................................................................................15
7.2.1 Responding to the Covid-19 pandemic ...................................................................15
7.2.2 Business and the economy .....................................................................................25
7.2.3 Health and wellbeing...............................................................................................29
7.2.4 Civic Offices ............................................................................................................35
7.2.5 Digitalisation............................................................................................................41
7.2.6 Council tax levels ....................................................................................................46
7.2.7 The future................................................................................................................47
7.2.8 Any other comments ...............................................................................................51
8. Social media, email letter and telephone responses....................................................52
9. Town and Community Council meetings and Elected Member’s online workshops ....53
10. Youth Council meeting ...............................................................................................54
11. Conclusion .................................................................................................................54

Page 90

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


3

www.bridgend.gov.uk

1. Overview

A public consultation, Fit for the Future, was undertaken over an eight-week period from 19 
September to 13 December 2020.  Previous budget consultations have focused on specific 
service provisions, but this year, with the aim of becoming ‘Fit for the Future’ following the 
impact of Covid-19, the council wanted to engage residents on a longer-term vision for 
Bridgend County Borough.  

The consultation received 1,831 interactions from a combination of survey completions, 
engagement at various meetings, social media and digital communication engagement and 
via the local authority’s Citizens’ Panel. This paper details the analysis associated with the 
consultation.

2. Introduction

The public survey was available to complete online through a link on the consultation page 
of the council’s website or by visiting www.bridgend.gov.uk/future. Paper copies of the 
consultation were also made available which could be sent directly to residents upon 
request.  Surveys were available in several formats, including easy-read, large print, 
standard and a youth version. All were available in English and Welsh. The content of the 
page remains available online.

In total, there were 35 questions (within all survey formats) that required a reply from 
respondents. Respondents could choose to answer all or some of the questions. All survey 
responses offered the option of anonymity. The council’s standard set of equalities 
monitoring questions were also included with the survey in line with recommended good 
practice for all public-facing surveys carried out by the council.  

Comments regarding the consultation were also invited via social media, letter, email and 
phone call. 

Due to the impact of Covid-19 this year, the council were unable to carry out face-to-face 
engagement within the community. The council therefore relied more heavily on social 
media, digital communications, the website and online meetings in order to engage with 
residents throughout the budget consultation. This does appear to have impacted on the 
levels of engagement with the consultation. Details of which can be seen in section four. 

3. Promotional tools and engagement methods

Details of the consultation were shared with the following stakeholders: general 
public/residents, Citizens’ Panel members, elected members, Bridgend County Borough 
Council (BCBC) employees, Bridgend businesses, town and community councils, school 
governors, Bridgend Community Cohesion and Equality Forum (BCCEF) members, local 
interest/community groups, Bridgend Association of Voluntary Organisations (BAVO), 
Bridgend College, partners, secondary schools (including headteachers) and media outlets. 

3.1 Promotional tools

This section details the methods used to raise the profile of the consultation and encourage 
participation.

Page 91

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


4

www.bridgend.gov.uk

3.1.1 Social media

In December 2017 the council committed to managing its social media accounts bilingually. 
In addition to introducing Welsh language corporate Twitter and Facebook accounts at that 
time, it started posting bilingually across the remainder of its social media channels.

Budget consultation information was posted bilingually to the council’s corporate Facebook, 
Twitter, Instagram and LinkedIn channels throughout the consultation period to raise 
awareness of the consultation and to encourage citizens to share their views on the 
proposals.

The council currently has 13,486 followers on its corporate Twitter accounts, 16,138 
followers on Facebook pages, 2,713 followers on Instagram and 4,491 followers on 
LinkedIn. While content is most likely to be seen by these users, it is also displayed to users 
who are not connected to the accounts.

In addition to general social media content, four polls were created on Twitter which 
generated 122 votes to key questions within the budget consultation survey:

 Supporting local businesses and the economy will be a priority for making 
Bridgend County Borough Fit for the Future. What do you think are the most 
important factors the council should focus on?

37 votes resulted in the following responses:

Financial support 45.9%
Promoting town centres 32.4%
Business start-up support 8.1%
Additional apprentices 13.5%

 During the Covid-19 pandemic some of our services have been delivered 
remotely or online. Do you think this is an approach we should develop and 
adopt for the future?

32 votes resulted in the following responses:

Yes 78.1%
No 15.6%
Not sure 6.3%

 Since closing our face to face channel for customers in Civic Offices, we have 
continued to provide the same service over the telephone, email and online. 
Have you been happy with the level of services provided? 

22 votes resulted in the following responses:

Yes 36.4%
No 40.9%
Unsure 22.7%

Page 92

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


5

www.bridgend.gov.uk

 More people are now accessing services online as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic. Are you happy to continue accessing services online?

31 votes resulted in the following responses:

Yes 32.3%
No 35.5%
Always online services 16.1%
Unsure 16.1%

Paid Facebook and Instagram advertising was used to reach and target a wider audience 
within the county borough between 18 and 29 November. 

The English language adverts reached 27,760 people living in Bridgend County Borough 
and generated 56 comments, 41 shares, 88 reactions and 1,208 clicks through to the 
English budget consultation webpage. 

The Welsh language adverts reached 822 Welsh-speaking people living in Bridgend 
County Borough and generated 3 reactions and 37 clicks through to the Welsh language 
budget consultation webpage.

In addition to the explainer video, four additional videos were created to promote the 
consultation on social media due to the impact of the pandemic. These videos featured the 
Chief Executive, Leader, Deputy Leader and Youth Mayor. Overall video views were 5257. 

During the consultation period, the local authority posted 70 times across social media 
channels. This organic and paid for content reached 512,768 people generating 79 
comments, 141 shares, 165 reactions, 122 poll votes, 5,257 video views and 2,248 link 
clicks through to the budget consultation page on the local authority website. 

3.1.2 govDelivery

govDelivery is a new digital communications tool that has been implemented by the local 
authority in 2020 to send messages directly to residents’ email inboxes in the language of 
their choice. 

There are currently 37,360 English language subscribers and 220 Welsh language 
subscribers from Bridgend County Borough to the weekly Covid-19 update emails. Fit for 
the Future budget consultation was included in the following bulletins:

English
Date Total email opens Unique link clicks Total link clicks
15/10/2020 30,056 opens 23 29
22/10/2020 36,967 opens 233 268
29/10/2020 41,237 opens 84 99
05/11/2020 38,011 opens 51 59
12/11/2020 32,108 opens 61 68
19/11/2020 34,530 opens 37 45
25/11/2020 
(Standalone bulletin)

26,492 opens 984 1,136

03/12/2020 32,900 opens 14 17

Page 93

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


6

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Date Total email opens Unique link clicks Total link clicks
10/12/2020 33,534 opens 98 106

The Fit for the Future consultations were included in 8 weekly English language bulletins 
and one standalone bulletin. This generated 1,827 link clicks through to the English 
budget consultation webpage.

Welsh
Date Total email opens Unique link clicks Total link clicks
15/10/2020 177 opens 0 0
22/10/2020 154 opens 0 0
29/10/2020 134 opens 0 0
05/11/2020 139 opens 0 0
12/11/2020 95 opens 0 0
19/11/2020 147 opens 0 0
25/11/2020 
(Standalone bulletin)

172 opens 10 12

03/12/2020 93 opens 0 0
10/12/2020 134 opens 0 0

The Fit for the Future consultations were included in 8 weekly Welsh language bulletins 
and one standalone bulletin. This generated 12 link clicks through to the Welsh budget 
consultation webpage.

Overall, govDelivery generated 1,839 link clicks through to the budget consultation 
webpage. 

3.1.3 Media and publicity

Page 94

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


7

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Three main media releases were issued to coincide with the start, middle and end of the 
consultation in order to raise awareness and encourage participation. These were issued 
on 19 October, 10 November and 4 December.

Between 21 October and 11 December, the budget consultation was also incorporated into 
16 news round-up media releases. These were issued at a rate of two a week.
 
Prior media work was carried out to encourage participation and involvement, including an 
interview between the Local Democracy Reporter for the area and the Leader, Cabinet, 
Chief Executive and senior finance officers.

The media releases were featured at the media centre of the council’s website where they 
were hyperlinked with associated social media publicity, including the videos for the Leader 
and Youth Mayor.

3.1.4 Internal communications

The consultation was promoted internally with a feature at the staff intranet homepage.

It was also promoted via five Bridgenders all-staff emails. These were issued on 29 October, 
5 and 26 November, and 3 and 10 December.

3.1.5 Promotional materials

An explainer video was designed to help people understand what was being asked of them, 
with examples of questions that were included in the consultation. The video was featured on 
the webpage for the consultation and also posted on the council’s social media channels, 
including Facebook, Twitter and Instagram.

The explainer video was also separated into smaller bite sized videos for further promotion 
on Twitter.

The explainer video received 871 views on social media and 264 views on YouTube. 

An awareness campaign was run on Bridge FM for the first two weeks of the consultation to 
launch the campaign and in weeks five and six of the consultation as a reminder/final push 
for the consultation. 

Posters promoting the consultation with a QR code to take people to the landing page of 
the website were circulated to comprehensive schools, Town and Community Councils and 
Bridgend Bus Station. Posters were also displayed on local buses (by First Cymru and 
Easyway).  The QR code generated 26 hits to the budget consultation page. 

The headers for the council’s social media accounts were changed to promote the Fit for 
the Future consultation, along with a graphic on the front page of the BCBC website linking 
through to the consultation landing page and a banner on the front page of the Bridgenders 
intranet home page also linking to the consultation landing page.

Page 95

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


8

www.bridgend.gov.uk

The standard email footer from the main council’s email accounts Talktous was updated to 
include a link to promote the Fit for the Future survey.  This was sent to all recipients who 
had contacted the council via the Talktous email address.

A standalone e-shot promoting the Fit for the Future survey was issued to 2855 businesses 
listed on the Bridgend business directory. 

3.1.6 Other promotional activities

Targeted letters and emails were sent to school governing bodies, town and community 
councils, equality groups, BCBC members and Bridgend Community Cohesion and Equality 
Forum members.

Details of the consultation were sent to Awen and Halo and BAVO who were asked to help 
raise the profile through their own organisations and social media channels. 

3.2 Engagement methods

This section details the mechanisms available for stakeholders to engage with the council 
and share their views.

3.2.1 The budget survey

The survey was made available in a variety of formats to ensure inclusion across community 
groups. A standard survey, easy-read, large print and youth version of the survey were all 
made available in Welsh and English. All were available in paper format and online. The 
same survey was replicated for Citizens’ Panel members and sent to them in the format of 
their choice. 

3.2.2 Youth Council 

In order to gather views of young people the consultation team attended the Bridgend 
Youth Council meeting on 24 November 2020. The Youth Council took part in discussions 
around some of the key questions within the consultation and were encouraged to complete 
the full consultation online. 11 young people engaged in the session. Comments from 
attendees were noted and are themed in section 10.  

3.2.3 Secondary School and Bridgend College engagement 

In order to encourage participation of young people within Bridgend secondary schools and 
Bridgend College the consultation team wrote to all governing bodies and headteachers as 
well as the Principal of Bridgend College to promote the consultation amongst their learners 
as well as school staff and parents/carers.  

3.2.4 Elected Members’ online workshop

Two online workshops took place for elected members on 18 November 2020. A total of 39 
members attended across the two sessions. Members were given the opportunity to 
engage in and give responses to some of the questions within the consultation and were 
encouraged to complete the full consultation online. Comments from attendees were noted 
and are themed in section 9.  

Page 96

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


9

www.bridgend.gov.uk

3.2.5 Town and Community Council meetings

All Town and Community Councils were asked if the Consultation and Engagement Team 
could attend their regular meeting during the live period. The purpose was to inform each 
TCC of the consultation and encourage their local residents to take part. The Consultation 
and Engagement team attended the Town and Community Council Forum and nine Town 
and Community Council online meetings. A total of 136 community councillors attended 
the meetings. Comments from attendees were noted and are themed in section 9.  

3.2.6 Bridgend Community Cohesion and Equality Forum (BCCEF) 
 
The quarterly meeting of BCCEF took place during the live period of the budget 
consultation on 10 December 2020.  Members of the meeting (12 attendees) were given 
an overview of the consultation and were encouraged to complete the full consultation 
online. The meeting consisted of members representing community based organisations 
including South Wales Police, People First Bridgend, faith organisations, Victim Support 
Cymru and Mental Health Matters Wales. All organisations had been provided with 
promotional materials to promote the consultation within their individual community groups.  

4. Response rate 

In total, there were 1,831 interactions during the consultation. The response rate has been 
segregated into several areas: consultation survey responses, engagement event/meeting 
attendees and social media interactions. 

Interactions Number
Survey completions 1,421
Events/meetings/workshops 203
Emails 3
Letters 1
Telephone calls 2
Social media comments 79
Social media polls 122
Total interactions 1,831

1,421 survey responses were received in total (1,285 online submissions and 136 paper 
versions). 

Survey type Online 
English

Online 
Welsh

Paper 
English

Paper 
Welsh

Total

Standard 857 5 1 0 863
Easy read 17 0 2 0 19
Large print 3 0 0 0 3
Citizens’ Panel 257 1 129 4 391
Youth 64 81 0 0 145
Total 1,198 87 132 4 1,421

There were 203 attendees at the various events and meetings. 

Page 97

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


10

www.bridgend.gov.uk

During the consultation period, there were 201 interactions on our social media channels.  
This includes Twitter polls where 122 votes were received. 

Comments from social media have been themed and are detailed in section 8. 

Comments that were received by letter, email or telephone call have been themed and are 
included in section 8.

5. How effective was the consultation?

The budget consultation was conducted over an eight week period in which a range of 
marketing methods were used to create awareness of the consultation as well as reach and 
encourage stakeholders to engage with the council. 

The data collection methods, which include the online survey, a paper survey, the Citizens’ 
Panel and a youth survey (aimed at 11-24 year olds) were all developed using plain English 
to maximise understanding. 

The four versions of the survey: standard; large print; easy read and youth were developed 
to maximise accessibility and to encourage participation with all members of the community. 

6. Headline figures

 Responding to the Covid-19 pandemic

6.1 45% of respondents stated that customer services had performed well or very well 
during the pandemic;

6.2 64% of respondents stated that communications had been performed well or very 
well during the pandemic; 

6.3 47% of respondents stated that the support for vulnerable residents had been 
performed well or very well during the pandemic; 

6.4 39% of respondents stated that the support for businesses had been performed 
well or very well during the pandemic;

6.5 50% of respondents stated that support for town centres had been performed well 
or very well during the pandemic;

6.6 70% of respondents stated that the support for communities had been performed 
well or very well during the pandemic;

6.7 When asked what services they had missed during lockdown respondents stated 
that the services that they had missed the most were community recycling centres, 
followed by gyms and/or swimming pools and then parks and playing fields;

6.8 When asked which maintained services should be a priority for the future 
respondents stated general waste and recycling collection services followed by 
street lighting including responding to street lighting faults and then domestic abuse 
support;

Page 98

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


11

www.bridgend.gov.uk

6.9 58% of respondents stated that council staff working from home should be adopted 
as an approach for the future.

 Business and the economy

6.10 87% of respondents stated that support for local businesses was important or very 
important;

6.11 73% of respondents stated that promotion of town centres as places to visit was 
important or very important;

6.12 73% of respondents stated that supporting the visitor economy activities and 
services in our tourist attraction areas was important or very important;

6.13 69% of respondents stated that sustainability of culture and leisure venues was 
important or very important;

6.14 79% of respondents stated that labour market opportunities were important or very 
important;

6.15 71% of respondents stated that business start-up was important or very important;  

6.16 When asked if respondents had any other ideas about how the council should 
support local businesses, respondents stated to reduce business rates and rents 
followed by the need to invest/regenerate the town centres and empty properties, 
encourage more shops, ensure cleanliness and reduce anti-social behaviour 
followed by better and free car parking.

 Health and wellbeing

6.17 When asked about which support services the council should focus on to help our 
most vulnerable residents as we recover from the pandemic, 92% of respondents 
stated that support for older people was important or very important; 

6.18 81% stated that ensuring those who are homeless are kept safe as lockdown 
restrictions ease was important or very important;

6.19 78% of respondents stated that food poverty – (for example should BCBC support 
and promote food banks and provide children eligible for free school meals with 
food parcels during school holidays) was important or very important;

6.20 77% of respondents stated that council tax support for residents who had difficulty 
paying their council tax as a direct result of the pandemic was important or very 
important;

6.21 86% of respondents stated that during the pandemic support from community 
organisations was either important or very important; 

6.22 68% of respondents stated that the council should protect funding for the third 
sector.

Page 99

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


12

www.bridgend.gov.uk

 Customer access to Civic offices

6.23 81% of respondents stated that they had not missed coming into Civic Offices while 
it has been closed; 

6.24 When asked how they have accessed services while Civic Offices has been closed 
respondents stated the website, followed by telephone and then email;

6.25 37% of respondents stated that they had accessed customer services while the 
council has been closed.  Respondents stated that they had most commonly done 
this by telephone followed by email and then social media;

6.26 The reasons most commonly stated for contacting customer services were 
recycling and waste, followed by council tax and then Covid-19 related advice;

6.27 41% of respondents did not think it should be a priority to reopen Civic Offices;

6.28 60% of respondents stated that when Civic Offices does reopen, the council should 
move to an appointment based system. 

 Digitalisation

6.29 59% of respondents stated that they had accessed services online.  Of these 55% 
accessed services themselves whereas 4% had someone to do this on their behalf;

6.30 59% of respondents stated that when Civic Offices does reopen, they will continue 
to access services online.  A further 20% of respondents stated that they always 
preferred to access services online;

6.31 When asked what would help you or someone you know access services online, 
44% stated that they did not need any help accessing services online. This was 
followed by 15% who stated that they would find printable ‘how to’ guides useful 
and 14% who would like to have videos on the Bridgend council website. 12% of 
respondents stated that they would like access to community learning sessions 
and 11% stated that they would like appointments with a member of the customer 
services team to show them how to access services online;

6.32 76% of respondents stated that they had not signed up to govDelivery. When asked 
why not, the most common responses were that they were not aware of this 
service, followed by not needed/required/interested and then that they can find 
information independently through the internet, newspapers, social media, 
contacting the council etc.

 Council Tax levels

6.33 When asked to select which statement best represents their views on setting the 
council tax for 2021-22, 37% of respondents were prepared to increase council tax 
slightly to help protect the most important services where possible (4.5% increase), 
followed by 36% of respondents who stated that they would want to keep council 
tax levels the same, resulting in a reduction in the level of services provided, 

Page 100

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


13

www.bridgend.gov.uk

followed by 19% of respondents who were prepared to increase council tax more 
significantly to protect more services (6% increase) and then 8% of respondents 
who were prepared to pay as much as is needed to maintain all council services at 
existing levels (16% increase).

 The future

6.34 When asked what the council’s long term priorities for the future should be 
respondents selected to make in-house efficiencies, followed by focussing on 
services that benefit everyone in the borough and then encouraging citizens to take 
more responsibility;

6.35 When asked which three services the council should prioritise when recovering 
from the pandemic, respondents most commonly chose care for older people, 
followed by schools and then recycling and waste; 

6.36 When asked what lessons from the Covid-19 pandemic should be considered 
when setting medium and long term funding priorities, respondents most commonly 
stated that the council should have an emergency fund, not waste money and 
make internal savings i.e. streamline services, staff and councillors pay/expenses 
and review external contracts.  This was followed by the need to have a caring 
society, support social services and vulnerable people including children, older 
people, disabled people, care homes, carers and homelessness and then for the 
council to plan and prepare for the future and be adaptable;

6.37 When asked if respondents had any further comments to make Bridgend County 
Borough fit for the future, respondents most commonly stated that the council 
should make internal saving i.e. review number of staff and councillors, pay, 
expenses and review funded external partners followed by evaluating spending, 
providing value for money and providing more clarity on where money is spent and 
then the council should be more prepared, improve transparency and make bold 
plans and decisions for the future. 

7. Question and analysis - consultation survey

The consultation contained 35 questions covering the following areas:

 Responding to the Covid-19 pandemic;
 Business and the economy;
 Health and wellbeing; 
 Customer access to Civic offices;
 Digitalisation;
 Council Tax levels;
 The future.

7.1 About you

Respondents were asked how they heard about the consultation. 

Page 101

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


14

www.bridgend.gov.uk

1532 respondents provided this information. 

Council social media (13%)Facebook (16%)Twitter (2%)Instagram (1%)YouTube (1.5%)LinkedIn (0.2%)Non-council social media accounts (1%)Poster/leaflet/busines...Council website (8%)Non-council website (0.5%)Newspaper/magazines (1%)Word of mouth (4%)Direct...Through another consultation (0.8%)I work for BCBC (4%)Local town, community or county borough councillor (2%)Other (7%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

The most popular responses were:

 Direct email or letter (37%);
 Facebook (16%);
 Council social media (34%)

101 (7%) of respondents stated other when responding to this question, these are themed 
below:

68 respondents stated ‘other’ to this question. 64 comments made have been themed in the 
table below. Some comments contained multiple themes: 

Theme No.
School/teacher/school parliament/Google classroom 48
BCBC email 23
Local radio/Bridge FM 5
Oggy Bloggy Ogwr 4
Citizens' Panel 4
govDelivery/emailed newsletter 4
Word of mouth 4
BAVO 1
Bridgend business forum 1
Previously done surveys 1
Wales Online 1
I work in NHS in Bridgend 1
The gazette 1
Google news 1
Through BCCEF 1
Unsure 1

Page 102

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


15

www.bridgend.gov.uk

The most common responses within ‘other’ were School/teacher/school parliament/Google 
classroom followed by BCBC email and then Bridge FM. 

Respondents were then asked for their age. 

1366 respondents provided their age group:    

102

10

112

193

247

318

249

98

37

Under 18 
(8%)

18 - 24 
(1%)

25 - 34 
(8%)

35 - 44 
(14%)

45 - 54 
(18%)

55 - 64 
(23%)

65 - 74 
(18%)

75+ (7%) Prefer 
not to 

say (3%)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

The most popular responses were:

 23% of respondents were aged 55-64;
 18% of respondents were aged 45-54;
 18% of respondents were aged 65-74.

Respondents were then asked for their employment status. 

1389 respondents provided their employment status;  

67

471

136
74 57

449

52
83

Stu
dent /

 tr
ain

ee (5
%)

Employe
d - F

ull t
im

e (3
4%)

Employe
d - P

art
 tim

e (1
0%)

Se
lf-e

mploye
d (5

%)

Unemploye
d / l

ookin
g f

or 

work 
(4%) Retir

ed (3
2%)

Care
r (4

%)

Prefer n
ot t

o sa
y (

6%)
0

50
100
150
200
250
300
350
400
450
500

Page 103

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


16

www.bridgend.gov.uk

The most popular responses were:

 34% of respondents informed us that they were in full time employment;
 32% of respondents informed us that they were retired;
 10% of respondents informed us that they were employed part time. 

7.2 Survey questions 

7.2.1 Responding to the Covid-19 pandemic  

7.2.1.1 How do you consider Bridgend County Borough Council has performed during 
the Covid-19 pandemic within the following areas?  

Respondents were asked to rate how well they thought the council had performed in a 
range of areas during the pandemic.  

Customer services (maintaining the telephone service remotely for residents and providing 
online services such as chatbot)

A total of 1386 people responded to this question. 

220

399

631

91
45

Very well (16%) Well (29%) Neutral (45%) Badly (7%) Very badly (3%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

45% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question. 45% stated that customer 
services has performed very well (16%) or well (29%) during the pandemic. 10% stated that 
they had performed badly (7%) or very badly (3%).   

Communications (for example, updating our website and social media channels)

A total of 1375 people responded to this question. 

Page 104

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


17

www.bridgend.gov.uk

339

539

396

74

27

Very well (25%) Well (39%) Neutral (29%) Badly (5%) Very badly (2%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

64% stated that communications had been performed very well (25%) or well (39%) during 
the pandemic. 29% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question. 7% stated 
that they had performed badly (5%) or very badly (2%).   

Radio and car tannoy announcements

A total of 1328 people responded to this question. 

71

191

809

148
109

Very well (5%) Well (15%) Neutral (61%) Badly (11%) Very badly (8%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

61% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question. 20% stated that Radio 
and tannoy announcements had been performed very well (5%) or well (15%) during the 
pandemic. 19% stated that they had been performed badly (11%) or very badly (8%).   

The reassurance leaflet delivered to all homes across Bridgend County Borough along with 
a copy of the recycling timetable for the rest of the year

Page 105

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


18

www.bridgend.gov.uk

A total of 1374 people responded to this question. 

241

485

400

146

102

Very well (18%) Well (35%) Neutral (29%) Badly (11%) Very badly (7%)
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

550

53% stated that the reassurance leaflet performed very well (18%) or well (35%) during the 
pandemic. 29% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question. 18% stated 
that they had performed badly (11%) or very badly (7%).   

Supporting vulnerable residents (for example, delivering food parcels)

A total of 1367 people responded to this question. 

263

384

604

73
43

Very well (19%) Well (28%) Neutral (44%) Badly (6%) Very badly (3%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

44% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question. 47% stated that support 
for vulnerable residents had been performed very well (19%) or well (28%) during the 
pandemic. 9% stated that this support had been performed badly (6%) or very badly (3%).   

Page 106

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


19

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Support for businesses (for example, processing grants, free training, issuing sneeze 
guards)

A total of 1353 people responded to this question. 

173

356

681

90
53

Very well (13%) Well (26%) Neutral (50%) Badly (7%) Very badly (4%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

50% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question. 39% stated that support 
for businesses had been performed very well (26%) or well (13%) during the pandemic. 
11% stated that this support had been performed badly (7%) or very badly (4%).   

Supporting town centres (for example, introducing barriers and street markings to help 
ensure people can maintain social distancing)

A total of 1371 people responded to this question. 

218

465
427

190

71

Very well (16%) Well (34%) Neutral (31%) Badly (14%) Very badly (5%)
0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

50% of respondents stated that support for town centres had been performed very well 
(16%) or well (34%) during the pandemic. 31% of respondents provided a neutral response 

Page 107

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


20

www.bridgend.gov.uk

to this question. 19% stated that this support had been performed badly (14%) or very badly 
(5%).   

Supporting communities (for example, continue to collect recycling and waste, street 
lighting and repairs to highways)

A total of 1388 people responded to this question. 

504
471

233

116

64

Very well (36%) Well (34%) Neutral (17%) Badly (8%) Very badly (5%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

70% of respondents stated that support for communities had been performed very well 
(36%) or well (34%) during the pandemic. 17% of respondents provided a neutral response 
to this question. 13% stated that this support had been performed badly (8%) or very badly 
(5%).   

7.2.1.2  A large number of services and buildings are closed, or have limited access, 
because of Covid-19. What services have you missed during lockdown? Please tick all 
that apply.

Respondents were able to select multiple responses, a total of 5651 responses were received 
within this question

Page 108

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


21

www.bridgend.gov.uk

61 184 58 105 207
885

589 490 244 219 650 142 364 72 309 236 280 151 337 68

Re
gi

st
er

 o
ffi

ce
 (1

%
)

Fa
ce

 to
 fa

ce
 c

us
to

m
er

 se
rv

ic
e 

at
 C

iv
ic

 o
ffi

ce
s (

3%
)

Sh
op

m
ob

ili
ty

 (1
%

)

Li
fe

gu
ar

d 
se

rv
ic

e 
(2

%
)

Ga
rd

en
 w

as
te

 se
rv

ic
e 

(4
%

)

Co
m

m
un

ity
 re

cy
cl

in
g 

ce
nt

re
s (

16
%

)

Pa
rk

s a
nd

 p
la

yi
ng

 fi
el

ds
 (1

0%
)

Li
br

ar
ie

s (
9%

)

Co
m

m
un

ity
 c

en
tr

es
 (4

%
)

Ce
m

et
er

ie
s (

4%
)

Gy
m

s a
nd

/o
r s

w
im

m
in

g 
po

ol
s (

12
%

)

Ri
gh

ts
 o

f w
ay

 (3
%

)

Sc
ho

ol
s (

6%
)

Da
y 

se
rv

ic
es

 b
ui

ld
in

gs
 (1

%
)

Ch
ild

re
n’

s p
la

y 
ar

ea
s (

5%
)

Vi
sit

in
g 

ca
re

 h
om

es
/c

hi
ld

re
n’

s h
om

es
 (4

%
)

Br
id

ge
nd

 b
us

 st
at

io
n 

(in
cl

ud
in

g 
th

e 
to

ile
ts

) (
5%

)

Fa
ci

lit
ie

s f
or

 a
du

lts
 w

ith
 d

isa
bi

lit
ie

s,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

le
ar

ni
ng

 d
isa

bi
lit

ie
s (

3%
)

Th
e 

Gr
an

d 
Pa

vi
lio

n 
(6

%
)

O
th

er
 (1

%
)

0
700

Respondents stated that the services that they had missed the most were community 
recycling centres, followed by gyms and or swimming pools and then parks and playing fields. 

68 respondents stated ‘other’ to this question. 64 comments made have been themed in the 
table below. Some comments contained multiple themes: 

Theme No.
Public toilets 20
Playing and attending sports, going to the gym and sports classes 9
Pubs, restaurants and coffee shops, we need to support businesses 7
Meeting friends and voluntary groups 6
Private sector places missed: garden centres, barbers and cinema 4
Travel: Car parks, community bus service, road safety training for children 
and being able to travel outside the borough/Wales 4
Support: from Early Help, mental health group, shielding information and 
seeing a doctor in the same room 4
Hedge cutting/ road repairs should have continued 2
Beaches 2
I do not use these services 2
Services should have remained/Civic should have adapted to open 2
Recycling and delivery of recycling bags 2
School and youth clubs 2
Access to church and church halls 1
Adult learning classes 1
Losing our green spaces for developments 1
Lack of police presence and traffic wardens 1
Prompt planning department and building control 1

Page 109

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


22

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Where ‘other’ was stated, the most common themes are public toilets, followed by playing 
and attending sports, going to gym and sports classes and then pubs, restaurants and coffee 
shops, we need to support businesses. 

7.2.1.3  Of the following services being maintained, which services do you think should 
be a priority in making Bridgend County Borough Fit for the Future? Please tick all that 
apply.

Respondents were able to select multiple responses, a total of 9820 responses were received 
within this question

1185

773 666 742

390 382 434

763
581

757 745
581 506 605

188

446

76

Ge
ne

ra
l w

as
te

 a
nd

 re
cy

cl
in

g 
co

lle
ct

io
n 

se
rv

ic
es

 (1
2%

)

St
re

et
 li

gh
tin

g,
 in

cl
ud

in
g 

re
sp

on
di

ng
 to

 st
re

et
 li

gh
tin

g 
fa

ul
ts

 (8
%

)

Em
pl

oy
ab

ili
ty

 B
rid

ge
nd

 (7
%

)

Ho
us

in
g 

ap
pl

ic
at

io
ns

 a
nd

 h
om

el
es

sn
es

s s
er

vi
ce

s (
7.

5%
)

Cu
st

om
er

 se
rv

ic
es

 (4
%

)

De
ve

lo
pm

en
t o

f o
nl

in
e 

se
rv

ic
es

 (4
%

)

CC
TV

 c
am

er
as

 (4
%

)

Do
m

es
tic

 a
bu

se
 su

pp
or

t (
8%

)

Yo
ut

h 
se

rv
ic

es
 (6

%
)

Ad
ul

t a
nd

 c
hi

ld
re

n’
s s

oc
ia

l s
er

vi
ce

s (
8%

)

Hi
gh

w
ay

s a
nd

 m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

 (7
.5

%
)

Gr
ee

n 
sp

ac
es

 a
nd

 ri
gh

ts
 o

f w
ay

 p
at

hs
 (6

%
)

Su
pp

or
t f

or
 le

ar
ne

rs
 w

ith
 a

dd
iti

on
al

 n
ee

ds
 (5

%
)

Fa
m

ily
 su

pp
or

t s
er

vi
ce

s (
6%

)

Vi
rt

ua
l a

nd
 w

eb
ca

st
 c

ou
nc

il 
m

ee
tin

gs
 (2

%
)

Li
br

ar
y 

se
rv

ic
es

 (4
.5

%
)

O
th

er
 (0

.5
%

)

0
200
400
600
800

1000
1200
1400

Of the services maintained throughout the pandemic respondents stated that the services 
that should be made a priority for the future are general waste and recycling collection 
services followed by street lighting including responding to street lighting faults and then 
domestic abuse support. 

76 respondents stated ‘other’ to this question. 65 comments made have been themed in the 
table below. Some comments contained multiple themes: 

Theme No.
Gyms and swimming pools, recreation and leisure facilities and sports fields 14
Public transport, cycle paths, active travel links, the bus station and road 
safety training 8
Community recycling centres, litter, fly tipping and road repairs 7
Support town centres/local businesses 5

Page 110

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


23

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Theme No.
Public toilets 4
Face to face services/continue to provide all services 4
Maintain green spaces/stop building houses on green areas 3
Health and mental health support 3
Support for the elderly and care homes 3
Opening disabled facilities and provide information in BSL 3
Safety issues i.e. neighbourhood security, domestic abuse and homelessness 2
Schools 2
Theatres, art and culture 2
Adult learning classes 1
Be able to contact council staff directly 1
Council Tax Freeze 1
Building control 1
The use of new technologies and online training 1
Look after our old Army, Navy and Air Force better 1

Where ‘other’ was stated, the most common themes are gyms and swimming pools, 
recreation and leisure facilities and sports fields, followed by public transport, cycle paths, 
active travel links, the bus station and road safety training and then community recycling 
centres, litter, fly tipping and road repairs

7.2.1.4 Do you think council staff working from home should be developed and 
adopted as an approach for the future?

A total of 1402 people responded to this question. 

819

274
309

Yes (58%) No (20%) Unsure (22%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

58% of respondents stated that council staff working from home should be adopted as an 
approach for the future. 22% were unsure and 20% did not agree with this proposal. 

Page 111

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


24

www.bridgend.gov.uk

7.2.1.5 Please give reasons for your response, including any benefits or 
disadvantages.

1055 comments made have been themed in the table below. Some comments contained 
multiple themes: 

Theme No.
Benefit: will save the council money i.e. less need for office space, utilities, 
staff expenses etc. 200
Benefit: working from home is more environmentally friendly, there is less 
traffic and lowers our carbon footprint 152
Benefit: provides flexibility, a better work life balance and improved staff 
wellbeing 120
Disadvantage: limited interaction with colleagues, staff may feel isolated 
and cause mental health issues 114
If staff are happy working from home and services and standards can be 
maintained then it should continue 76
Disadvantage: staff may be less productive through lack of motivation, IT 
failure or lack of office space at home, there is no accountability and 
difficult for managers to monitor 70
Disadvantage: some residents prefer face to face interactions or are 
unable to access online services 68
It depends on the role, some roles can be carried out at home and some 
can not 60
Service has been worse since staff have been working from home i.e. 
difficult to get through on the phone, no responses to emails and 
information between teams are disjointed 58
Benefit: staff are more productive working from home 56
Civic should be open and available to residents/need to get back to normal 56
Benefit: will keep staff safe from Covid-19 and limit the spread of infection 55
Both agile and office working should be available, this would be better for 
staff and residents 48
Need to ask staff for their preference, some prefer working from home and 
some prefer working in an office environment 40
Benefit: saves staff travel time 37
Unsure 34
Need to adapt to agile working/working from home is the future 26
Disadvantage: less footfall in town so less income for local businesses 20
Disadvantage: safeguarding concerns i.e. access to personal information 
and personal conversation/details available at home 7
Pay cut for all home workers 7

The most common themes are benefit: will save the council money i.e. less need for office 
space, utilities, staff expenses etc., followed by benefit: working from home is more 
environmentally friendly, there is less traffic and lowers our carbon footprint and then 
benefit: provides flexibility, a better work life balance and improved staff wellbeing. 

7.2.1.6 Are there any other services that you think should be prioritised when 
decisions are being made for and in the future?

Page 112

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


25

www.bridgend.gov.uk

501 comments made have been themed in the table below. Some comments contained 
multiple themes: 

Theme No.
Social services and support for vulnerable people i.e. the elderly, children 
and disabled people 94
Health and wellbeing, mental health support and support services i.e. 
housing and homelessness, early help, domestic abuse 68
Refuse and waste, drain clearing, street cleaning and improved recycling 
centres 55
Support the economy, tourism, businesses, town centres and employability 41
Environmental issues, climate change, outdoor and green spaces, rights of 
way and parks 39
Schools 36
Culture and sport: swimming pools, gyms, libraries and community sports 28
Better communication with residents, customer services and faster 
response to resident's queries 22
Make internal savings, provide value for money, work within all areas of the 
borough and have better scrutiny of decisions 22
Unsure 22
Police and community safety i.e. CCTV and more police and PSCOs on 
the streets 21
More services should available online but support given to people who 
can't access them 19
Services for young people 19
Highways, road and pavement repairs 15
Public transport and active travel including cycle routes 15
All services are important and we should get back to normal 10
Freeze/lower council tax 8
Early Help 7
Planning and building control 6
Welsh language services 4
Public toilets 3
Telephone service for grants, benefits and payment for pharmacies 2
Need more information in BSL 1
Work with third sector and voluntary organisations should be strengthened 1

The most common themes are social services and support for vulnerable people i.e. the 
elderly, children and disabled people followed by health and wellbeing, mental health 
support and support services i.e. housing and homelessness, early help, domestic abuse 
and then refuse and waste, drain clearing, street cleaning and improved recycling centres

7.2.2 Business and the economy  

7.2.2.1 Supporting local businesses and the economy will be a priority for the future. 
What do you think are the most important factors the council should focus on?

Respondents were given information about the support that had already been provided to 
businesses throughout the Covid-19 pandemic.  

Page 113

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


26

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Respondents were asked to rate the importance of a range of factors for the council to 
focus on when supporting businesses in the future from very important to not important at 
all on a five point scale.

Support for local businesses both in terms of financial support and preparation for when 
lockdown restrictions have been eased.

A total of 1384 people responded to this question. 

647

560

149

18 10

Very important 
(47%)

Important (40%) Neutral (11%) Not very 
important (1.3%)

Not important at 
all (0.7%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

87% of respondents stated that support for local businesses was very important (47%) or 
important (40%). 11% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question and 2% 
felt that this was not very important (1.3%) or not important at all (0.7%)

Promote town centres as a place to visit
A total of 1365 people responded to this question. 

522

473

266

73
31

Very important 
(38%)

Important (35%) Neutral (20%) Not very 
important (5%)

Not important at 
all (2%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Page 114

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


27

www.bridgend.gov.uk

73% of respondents stated that promotion of town centres as a place to visit was very 
important (38%) or important (35%). 20% of respondents provided a neutral response to 
this question and 7% felt that this was not very important (5%) or not important at all (2%).

Support the visitor economy activities and services in our tourist attraction areas, for 
example Porthcawl

A total of 1367 people responded to this question. 

454

537

277

70
29

Very important 
(33%)

Important (40%) Neutral (20%) Not very 
important (5%)

Not important at 
all (2%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

73% of respondents stated that supporting the visitor economy activities and services in our 
tourist attraction areas was very important (33%) or important (40). 20% of respondents 
provided a neutral response to this question and 7% felt that this was not very important 
(5%) or not important at all (2%).

Sustainability of culture and leisure venues – pubs and clubs and restaurants

A total of 1371 people responded to this question. 

Page 115

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


28

www.bridgend.gov.uk

393

542

315

88

33

Very important 
(29%)

Important (40%) Neutral (23%) Not very 
important (6%)

Not important at 
all (2%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

69% of respondents stated that sustainability of culture and leisure venues was very 
important (29%) or important (40%). 23% of respondents provided a neutral response to 
this question and 8% felt that this was not very important (6%) or not important at all (2%).

Labour market opportunities (and our role in stimulus) e.g. additional apprentices.

A total of 1362 people responded to this question. 

573

510

239

31 9

Very important 
(42%)

Important (37%) Neutral (18%) Not very 
important (2%)

Not important at 
all (1%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

79% of respondents stated that labour market opportunities were very important (42%) or 
important (37%). 18% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question and 3% 
felt that this was not very important (2%) or not important at all (1%).
Business start-up support

A total of 1356 people responded to this question. 

Page 116

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


29

www.bridgend.gov.uk

394

565

332

48
17

Very important 
(29%)

Important (42%) Neutral (24%) Not very 
important (4%)

Not important at 
all (1%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

71% of respondents stated that business start-up was very important (29%) or important 
(42%). 24% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question and 5% felt that 
this was not very important (4%) or not important at all (1%).

7.2.2.2 Do you have any other ideas on how the council could support local businesses 
and the economy?

406 comments made have been themed in the table below. Some comments contained 
multiple themes: 

Theme No.
Reduce business rates and rents 79
Need to invest/regenerate the town centres and empty properties, 
encourage more shops, ensure cleanliness and reduce anti-social 
behaviour 64
Better and free car parking 58
Support businesses financially, inform them of Covid-19 restrictions and 
ensure grants are paid out quickly 42
Advertise businesses, promote tourism and have more events, pop up 
shops and outdoor markets 36
Support businesses through training (such as trading online) and create a 
forum to offer mutual support and share best practice 35
Not sure this is a priority at the moment/just focus on current and essential 
businesses 21
Make internal savings i.e. reduce staff and number of councillors and 
wasting money 16
Support all business and not just a few i.e. start-ups, taxi services, market 
traders, social enterprise and producers that do not have premises 16
Listen to business owners needs 13
Use local/ British businesses 11
Work with schools and colleges to improve skills, create jobs and offer 
apprenticeships 10
Support businesses to invest in green technology 9
Invest in all areas in the borough 9
Improve public transport 8
De-pedestrianise the town centre 7

Page 117

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


30

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Theme No.
Reduce red tape/restrictions from council planning and allow residential 
living above shops 6
Pedestrianise the town centre 4
Need public toilets 2
Longer term planning and funding for the future 2
Support local volunteers to support work such as litter picking, delivering 
leaflets and social media 1
Not that I can think of, you have done a good job 1
Open the main offices to increase footfall in Bridgend and support local 
businesses 1

The most common themes were reduce business rates and rents followed by need to 
invest/regenerate the town centres and empty properties, encourage more shops, ensure 
cleanliness and reduce anti-social behaviour and then better and free car parking. 

7.2.3 Health and wellbeing  

7.2.3.1 Which services, if any, do you think are most important for us to focus on as 
we recover from the pandemic?  

Respondents were asked which services to help support our most vulnerable residents they 
thought were important for the council to focus on as we recover from the pandemic. 
Respondents were asked to rank services from very important to not important at all on a 
five point scale. 

Support for older people (continue contact with the most vulnerable in our communities to 
ensure their needs are met)

A total of 1396 people responded to this question. 

839

451

91
6 9

Very important 
(60%)

Important (32%) Neutral (7%) Not very 
important (0.4%)

Not important at 
all (0.6%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

92% of respondents stated that support for older people was very important (60%) or 
important (32%). 7% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question and 1% 
felt that this was not very important (0.4%) or not important at all (0.6%).

Page 118

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


31

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Homelessness (ensuring those who are homeless are kept safe as lockdown restrictions 
ease)

A total of 1387 people responded to this question

617

512

204

33 21

Very important 
(44%)

Important (37%) Neutral (15%) Not very 
important (2.5%)

Not important at 
all (1.5%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

81% of respondents stated that ensuring those who are homeless are kept safe as 
lockdown restrictions ease was very important (44%) or important (37%). 15% of 
respondents provided a neutral response to this question and 4% felt that this was not very 
important (2.5%) or not important at all (1.5%).

Food poverty – (for example should BCBC support and promote food banks and provide 
children eligible for free school meals with food parcels during school holidays)

A total of 1394 people responded to this question

684

401

216

62
31

Very important 
(49%)

Important (29%) Neutral (16%) Not very 
important (4%)

Not important at 
all (2%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

78% of respondents stated that food poverty – (for example should BCBC support and 
promote food banks and provide children eligible for free school meals with food parcels 
during school holidays) was very important (49%) or important (29%). 16% of respondents 
provided a neutral response to this question and 6% felt that this was not very important 
(4%) or not important at all (2%).

Page 119

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


32

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Council tax support for residents who had difficulty paying their council tax as a direct result 
of the pandemic i.e. council tax deferment or reduction scheme.

A total of 1384 people responded to this question

453

615

248

49
19

Very important 
(33%)

Important (44%) Neutral (18%) Not very 
important (4%)

Not important at 
all (1%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

77% of respondents stated that council tax support for residents who had difficulty paying 
their council tax as a direct result of the pandemic was very important (33%) or important 
(44%). 18% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question and 5% felt that 
this was not very important (4%) or not important at all (1%).

Online and blended learning by schools

A total of 1373 people responded to this question

478
442

348

65
40

Very important 
(35%)

Important (32%) Neutral (25%) Not very 
important (5%)

Not important at 
all (3%)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

67% of respondents stated that online and blended learning by schools was very important 
(35%) or important (32%). 25% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question 
and 8% felt that this was not very important (5%) or not important at all (3%).

Page 120

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


33

www.bridgend.gov.uk

7.2.3.2 More services have been delivered remotely or online (for example services 
such as period dignity, domestic abuse support, flying start, youth justice and youth 
services were adapted to online or remote delivery). 

Do you think this is an approach we should develop and adopt for the future?

733

284
366

Yes (53%) No (21%) Unsure (26%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

53% of respondents stated that the council should adopt more services being delivered 
remotely or online as an approach for the future. 26% of respondents were unsure and 21% 
did not support this proposal. 

7.2.3.3 Do you have any other examples of services you think could be delivered 
remotely?

285 comments made in response to this question have been themed in the table below. Some 
comments contained multiple themes: 

Theme No.
Face to face meetings are preferred/better for some people so both online 
and face to face services should be available 66
Some people are not able to access services online and some services 
would not work online e.g. domestic abuse services, social services and 
care and vulnerable should be supported face to face 51
All or as many services as possible, face to face contact could be delivered 
via webcam and zoom 43
Library services, online learning courses and online school services 
(although these need to be improved) 26
Unsure 15
Need to ensure online services are being delivered to a good standard 14
Customer services, admin, finance, Citizens Advice, legal advice and 
consumer rights 13
Online counselling and mental health support 10
Business support, employability and job centre 9
Other services: registrar, food parcel contacts, consultation surveys, 
shopmobility, probation, rights of way and street light faults 9
Health, online gym classes and GP services 8
Youth support services 7

Page 121

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


34

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Planning applications and building regulations 7
None 6
Social services, family support, early help and parenting groups 6
Council meetings 5
Housing and homelessness 5
Council tax bills and support and financial help 5
Recycling and waste i.e. book an appointment at the recycling centre, 
order recycling bags, donate clothes 4
Work with third sector to provide services 3
Blue badge applications and car park seasons online 3
Covid-19 rules and whistleblowing facility for non-compliance 3
Why not all councils in Wales use one call/online centre for all remote 
services 1
What about Welsh language services 1
More green initiatives e.g. installing solar panels on every home 1

The most common themes were face to face meetings are preferred/better for some people 
so both online and face to face services should be available followed by some people are 
not able to access services online and some services would not work online e.g. domestic 
abuse services, social services and care and vulnerable should be supported face to face 
and then all or as many services as possible, face to face contact could be delivered via 
webcam and zoom. 

7.2.3.4 During the Coronavirus (Covid-19) outbreak, how important do you think it was 
to have support from community organisations in Bridgend County Borough?

A total of 1401 people responded to this question

825

380

163

17 16

Very important 
(59%)

Important (27%) Neutral (12%) Not very 
important (1%)

Not important at 
all (1%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

86% of respondents stated that support from community organisations was very important 
(59%) or important (27%). 12% of respondents provided a neutral response to this question 
and 2% felt that this was not very important (1%) or not important at all (1%).

7.2.3.5 In setting priorities for the future, do you think the council should protect 
funding for third sector organisations?

A total of 1393 people responded to this question

Page 122

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


35

www.bridgend.gov.uk

947

131

315

Yes (68%) No (9%) Unsure (23%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

68% of respondents stated that the council should protect funding for the third sector. 23% 
of respondents were unsure and 9% did not agree with this proposal. 

7.2.3.6 Do you have any other comments on how Bridgend County Borough Council 
should work with third sector organisations in the future?

255 comments made in response to this question have been themed in the table below: 

Theme No.
Third sector organisations have done a good job during the pandemic and 
should be supported 42
Organisations that receive funding should be accountable and should be 
monitored on a regular basis 38
Improve partnership working with BCBC and between third sector 
organisations to ensure no duplication of work and all vulnerable people 
are supported 28
These should not be funded by the local authority 24
Provide extra funding to support third sector organisations 22
Need better communication to residents on what services are available 
from third sector organisations 17
Fund a wider variety and more local third sector organisations 17
Areas to support: older people, learning disabilities, food poverty, sports 
clubs, homelessness, young people, home repairs for council tenants and 
drug and alcohol services 15
Support the third sector through training, rate and rent relief and sharing 
premises 13
Unsure what value the third sector brings/do not know about the third 
sector/have never received these services 13
Promote volunteering and support volunteers 10
Counselling services and mental health 7
All community organisations must be free from political ideology 2
Do not panic people about Covid-19 2

Page 123

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


36

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Theme No.
The question is all well and good if BCBC were actually working during this 
Covid-19 crisis 1
Access for BSL? 1
Give town and community councils the status they deserve and pass down 
more responsibilities to them 1
Need information on how vulnerable family members in different counties 
can be interacted with during local lockdown 1
Where will the funding come from? 1

The most common themes are third sector organisations have done a good job during the 
pandemic and should be supported followed by organisations that receive funding should be 
accountable and should be monitored on a regular basis and then improve partnership 
working with BCBC and between third sector organisations to ensure no duplication of work 
and all vulnerable people are supported. 

7.2.4 Customer access to Civic Offices   

7.2.4.1 Have you missed being able to come in to Civic Offices?

1387 people responded to this question. 

261

1126

Yes (19%) No (81%)
0

200

400

600

800

1000

1200

81% of respondents stated that they had not missed coming into Civic Offices. 19% stated 
that they had missed coming into Civic Offices. 

7.2.4.2 How have you accessed services while Civic Offices were closed? Please select 
all that apply.

Respondents were able to select multiple responses, a total of 2068 responses were received 
within this question

Page 124

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


37

www.bridgend.gov.uk

576

507

268

613

50 54

Telephone (28%) Email (24%) Council social 
media: Facebook, 

twitter, 
Instagram etc 

(13%)

Website (30%) Chatbot (2%) Other (3%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

While unable to access Civic Offices the means most commonly used to access services has 
been the website, followed by telephone and then email. 

54 respondents stated ‘other’ to this question. 47 comments made have been themed in the 
table below: 

Theme No.
None/ I haven't 20
I did not bother trying to access services/ was unable to access services as 
unable to get through 7
Letter/post 3
Through work/I am employed by BCBC 3
Contacting MP/AM, Local Councillor 2
Government website 1
Fix My Street 1
Council website 1
Had no idea it was closed 1
My account 1
Newsletter 1
Not everyone wants to use social media 1
Talk to us 1
Refuse collections and refuse bag delivery dates. 1
Text 1
Television 1
You should not mistake a lack of visits to Civic Offices as indication of the 
lack of need for people to be able to visit Civic Offices. 1

The most common themes are none/I haven't, followed by I did not bother trying to access 
services/was unable to access services as unable to get through and then letter/post and 
through work/I am employed by BCBC. 

Page 125

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


38

www.bridgend.gov.uk

7.2.4.3 Have you contacted customer services since the council offices closed?

1373 people responded to this question. 

507

866

Yes (37%) No (63%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

63% of respondents stated that they have not accessed customer services since the council 
offices closed. 37% stated that they had. 

7.2.4.4 If ‘yes’, how did you contact customer services? Please select all that apply.

661 people responded to this question. 

390

4

228

17 11 3 1 7

Telephone 
(59%)

SMS Text 
(0.6%)

Email 
(34%)

Facebook 
(3%)

Twitter 
(1.6%)

Letter 
(0.6%)

Text 
Relay 
(0.2%)

Other 
(1%)

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400

450

Respondents who had accessed customer services had done this by telephone (59%) 
followed by email (34%) and then social media (4.6%). 

Page 126

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


39

www.bridgend.gov.uk

7 respondents stated ‘other’ to this question. 5 comments made have been themed in the 
table below: 

Theme No.
Internet/website 2
Blue badge renewal 1
Regarding refuse collection and new food bags 1
Fix my street 1

7.2.4.5 Have you, or someone you know, accessed any of the following services during 
the pandemic? Please select all that apply.

Respondents were able to select multiple responses, a total of 2068 responses were received 
within this question

268

159

738

99
72 89

125
147

116 108 119
86

152
116

46

104 122

203

65

Co
un

ci
l t

ax
 (9

%
)

Hi
gh

w
ay

s (
5%

)

Re
cy

cl
in

g 
an

d 
w

as
te

 (2
5%

)

Ad
ul

t s
oc

ia
l c

ar
e 

(3
%

)

Ch
ild

re
ns

 so
ci

al
 c

ar
e 

(2
%

)

Co
m

pl
ai

nt
s (

3%
)

En
vi

ro
nm

en
ta

l h
ea

lth
 (4

%
)

Ro
ad

s,
 tr

an
sp

or
t a

nd
 

pa
rk

in
g 

(5
%

)

Be
ne

fit
s a

nd
 su

pp
or

t (
4%

)

Ho
us

in
g 

(4
%

)

Bl
ue

 b
ad

ge
 (4

%
)

Ch
ild

ca
re

 fo
r k

ey
w

or
ke

rs
 

(3
%

)
Sc

ho
ol

 
op

en
in

g/
re

gi
st

ra
tio

n 
(5

%
)

Sc
ho

ol
 m

ea
ls/

pa
ck

ed
 lu

nc
h 

or
 d

el
iv

er
y 

of
 fo

od
 p

ar
ce

ls 
(4

%
)

Ho
m

el
es

sn
es

s s
up

po
rt

 (2
%

)

Bu
sin

es
s s

up
po

rt
/g

ra
nt

s 
(4

%
)

Ad
vi

ce
 b

ec
au

se
 y

ou
 o

r 
so

m
eo

ne
 y

ou
 k

no
w

 w
as

 
sh

ie
ld

in
g 

(4
%

)
Co

vi
d-

19
 re

la
te

d 
ad

vi
ce

 
(7

%
) O

th
er

 (2
%

)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

The services most commonly accessed by respondents were recycling as waste, followed by 
council tax and then Covid-19 related advice. 

65 respondents stated ‘other’ to this question. 55 comments made have been themed in the 
table below: 

Theme No.

Page 127

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


40

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Theme No.
Planning and building control 11
Register birth/death 5
I have not accessed these services 4
Healthcare/Covid-19 information 3
Library services 3
Schools information/ Supply Teacher registration 3
Protected trees department/Conservation team 3
Information about cemeteries 2
As a Councillor I access many of these/have regular contact 2
Electoral services 2
Freedom of information 2
Street lighting, fly tipping, request new food bin 4
Animal licenses/RSPCA 2
Community asset transfer/Parks and leisure 2
Care homes 1
Domestic abuse 1
Shared services for advice with online purchases 1
I have given up on BCBC services 1
Phoned to speak to someone customer service 1
Operations Officer 1
Rights of way 1

The most common themes within ‘other’ were planning and building control followed by 
register birth/death and then I have not accessed these services. 

7.2.4.6 Since closing our face-to-face channel for customers in Civic Offices, we have 
continued to provide services over the telephone, email and online.  Do you think it is 
a priority for the council to reopen Civic Offices to the public?

1373 people responded to this question. 

419

575

397

Yes (30%) No (41%) Unsure (29%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

Page 128

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


41

www.bridgend.gov.uk

41% of respondents stated that they did not think it was a priority to reopen Civic Offices to 
the public. 29% were unsure and 30% stated that it should be a propriety to reopen Civic 
Offices.  

7.2.4.7 If yes, which services do you feel you need to be able to access face to face?

274 comments made in response to this question have been themed in the table below. Some 
comments contained multiple themes: 

Theme No.
All/most services 99
Not everyone is able to access services online, some people prefer face to 
face contact and it is a better service face to face 78
Housing and homelessness 31
Council tax and benefits support 23
Child and adult social services 13
Civic offices should be open for the public, we need to get back to normal 13
Customer services/reception 12
Personal or sensitive issues and services for vulnerable people i.e. elderly 
people and disabled people 11
Street cleaning and lighting, drain cleaning, refuse and recycling 6
Blue badge application 4
Planning 4
Domestic abuse 3
Highways and road repairs 3
External services: Calan DVS, Citizens Advice and the job centre 3
Covid related problems and advice 2
BSL 1
Complaints 1
Just Ask drop in service for young people 1
Library 1
Shopmobility 1
Would save money on office space 1

The most common themes within ‘other’ were planning and building control followed by 
register birth/death and then I have not accessed these services. 

7.2.4.8 Given the progress made in digitalising customer services, do you think the 
council should switch to an appointment based system when Civic Offices reopen?

1373 people responded to this question. 

Page 129

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


42

www.bridgend.gov.uk

840

233
318

Yes (60%) No (17%) Unsure (23%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

60% of respondents stated that when Civic Offices does reopen the council should move to 
an appointment based system. 23% were unsure and 17% did not agree with this proposal. 

7.2.5 Digitalisation 

7.2.5.1 More people are now accessing services online as a result of the Covid-19 
pandemic. Have you, or has someone on your behalf, accessed council services 
online?

1380 people responded to this question. 

760

51

569

Yes I have accessed 
services online (55%)

Someone has accessed 
services online on my 

behalf (4%)

No, I have not accessed 
services online (41%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

55% of respondents stated that they had accessed services online and a further 4% stated 
that someone had accessed services online on their behalf.  41% stated that they had not 
accessed services online. 

7.2.5.2 When Civic Offices reopen will you continue to access services online?

1309 people responded to this question. 

Page 130

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


43

www.bridgend.gov.uk

773

271 265

Yes, I will continue to access 
services online (59%)

No, I will return to Civic 
Offices (21%)

I have always preferred to 
access online services (20%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

59% of respondents stated that when Civic Offices reopen they will continue to access 
services online. 20% stated that they had always preferred to access services online. 21% of 
respondents stated that they would return to accessing services in Civic Offices when it 
reopens. 

Respondents who stated ‘no I will return to Civic Office’ to this question were asked why?

185 responses were received. The responses are themed in the table below: 

Theme No.
Prefer to speak to someone face to face/rather human contact 91
Face to face provides a better service i.e. not waiting on the phone and 
issues are dealt with quicker 39
I am not online/ do not have a computer and/or internet 37
Both should be available i.e. online and face to face/some services would 
be better deliver face to face 6
BCBC website is difficult to use 5
As a County Councillor most of my contacts are through the referral system 1
I can't think of reason for making contact. 1
Our council staff and councillors must be available and accountable to local 
people in their community 1
BSL? Nothing online 1
Unsure if you could complete a bus pass application online 1
Was unable to complete a blue badge application online 1
It’s easier 1

The most common themes for those that said that they would not continue to access services 
online with Civic Offices reopen were prefer to speak to someone face to face/rather human 
contact followed by face to face provides a better service i.e. not waiting on the phone and 
issues are dealt with quicker and then I am not online/ do not have a computer and/or internet.

Page 131

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


44

www.bridgend.gov.uk

7.2.5.3 What support would help you, or someone you know, to access more services 
online? Please select all that apply.

Respondents were able to select multiple responses, a total of 1786 responses were received 
within this question

210 244 272
205

785

70

Community 
learning sessions 

(12%)

Videos on 
Bridgend 

Council’s website 
(14%)

Printable ‘how to’ 
guides (15%)

Appointments 
with a member of 

the customer 
service team to 
show you (11%)

I don't need any 
help accessing 
services online 

(44%)

Other (4%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

44% of respondents stated that they did not need any help to access services online. 15% 
stated that they would find printable ‘how to’ guides useful and 14% stated that they would 
like to have videos on the Bridgend council website. 12% of respondents stated that they 
would like access to community learning sessions and 11% stated that they would like 
appointments with a member of the customer services team to show them how to access 
services online. 

70 respondents stated ‘other’ to this question. 61 comments made have been themed in the 
table below: 

Theme No.
Some people are not able to access the internet or struggle to access 
online services 20
Better website, search engine and user friendly interface 13
I want less online/prefer face to face contact 8
BSL: you need to say BSL interpreter available if needed/subtitles on help 
videos/ SMS support for the deaf 3
It would help if emails were responded to 3
Promote what services are available online 3
Provide a helpline 2
Produce 'how to' guides to be distributed with other items such as waste 
collection calendars/Mailshot leaflet with ‘how to’ details 2
Brochure listing services and telephone numbers 1
Courses such as learn direct 1
Council tax freeze 1
Jobs 1

Page 132

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


45

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Show them when they drop in 1
Wales needs to come in line with the rest of the UK. 1
Safe spaces to access services online, i.e. library/internet cafe 1

The most common themes were some people are not able to access the internet or struggle 
to access online services followed by better website, search engine and user friendly 
interface and then want less online/prefer face to face contact. 

7.2.5.4 Have you signed up to govDelivery service: a free online service that enables 
residents to receive tailored council news and information and select updates on the 
subjects and news which interest you most?

1262 people responded to this question. 

305

957

Yes (24%) No (76%)
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

900

1000

76% of respondents stated that they had not signed up to govDelivery. 24% of respondents 
stated that they had. 

Respondents who stated ‘no’ to this question were asked why not?

619 responses were received. The responses are themed in the table below: 

Theme No.
Was not aware of this service 436
Not needed/required/interested 49
Can find information independently through the internet, newspapers, 
social media, contacting the council etc… 34
Do not own a computer, access to the internet and do not feel confident 
online/prefer to speak to someone 34
I think I have signed up/I intend to sign up 26
Already receive too much information 13
Not interested in BCBC news, waste of time and money 14
Don't know 5
Not sure about the service/Unsure I would use it or it would benefit my 
family 4
I receive all information via emails in work 2

Page 133

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


46

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Theme No.
Because of the councils attack on our green spaces I don’t want anything 
from the council 1
No information in BSL 1

The most common themes were was not aware of this service, followed by not 
needed/required/interested and then can find information independently through the internet, 
newspapers, social media, contacting the council etc.

Respondents who stated ‘yes’ to this question were asked what other information they 
thought could be included?

86 comments made in response to this question have been themed in the table below. Some 
comments contained multiple themes: 

Theme No.
There is enough information and I am satisfied with the amount of 
information included 20
Current issues (including Covid-19 figures and restrictions) , budget 
reviews, updates on council projects and future plans 16
Road works and planning applications 10
Unsure 10
Recycling and waste i.e. how to report litter and dog fouling, information on 
community recycling centres and pollution 'hot spots' 6
Local community and county borough council meetings and minutes, 
including who votes for what 5
Staff contact information 4
Library and sport centre timetable and information on the privatisation of 
sports clubs 4
Local business news 3
What's on and events 3
Public transport information and cycle paths 3
School building programme, schools terms dates and times 3
Health and well-being support groups, carers support and help numbers 3
Good new stories 2
Jobs/one email to click to job page 2
More news from across the borough, not just Bridgend 2
Help to claim benefits 1
More community based online consultations (like this) 1
Updates on crime figures 1
Opening times 1

The most common themes were that there is enough information and I am satisfied with the 
amount of information included followed by current issues (including Covid-19 figures and 
restrictions) , budget reviews, updates on council projects and future plans and then road 
works and planning applications.

Page 134

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


47

www.bridgend.gov.uk

7.2.6 Council tax levels  

7.2.6.1 Which of the statements below best represents your views on setting the 
council tax for 2021-22?

1262 people responded to this question. 

478 483

255

98

Keep council tax at the same 
level, which would result in a 

reduction in the level of 
services provided (because 

costs and demand are rising) 
(36%)

Increase council tax a bit to 
help protect the most 

important services where 
possible (a rise of 4.5 per cent 

would represent £1.33 per 
week on a band D property) 

(37%)

Increase council tax more 
significantly to protect more 
services (a rise of 6 per cent 
would represent £1.77 per 

week on a band D property) 
(19%)

Increase council tax by as 
much as is needed to 

maintain all council services 
at existing levels (a rise of 16 

percent would represent  
£4.73 per week on a band D 

property) (8%)

0
50

100
150
200
250
300
350
400
450
500
550

 37% of respondents were prepared to increase council tax a bit to help protect 
the most important services where possible (4.5% increase);

 36% of respondents stated to keep council tax levels the same level, which would 
result in a reduction in the level of services provided;

 19% of respondents were prepared to increase council tax more significantly to 
protect more services (6% increase);

 8% of respondents were prepared to pay as much as is needed to maintain all 
council services at existing levels (16% increase);

The responses to the question about council tax increases also have been analysed by 
demographic information (age and employment status). 

Council tax and age 

When comparing age with response to the amount of council tax a respondent was 
prepared to pay we found:

 Those aged under 18, 18-24, 25-34, 35-46 and 55-64 chose ‘keep council tax levels 
the same’, followed by ‘would increase council tax a bit to help protect the most 
important services’ (4.5%), followed by ‘increase council tax more significantly to 
protect more services’ (6%) and then ‘increase council tax as much as is needed to 
maintain all council services at existing levels’ (16%).

 Those aged 45-54 and 65-74 chose ‘increase council tax a bit to help protect the 
most important services’ (4.5%), followed by ‘keep council tax levels the same’, 

Page 135

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


48

www.bridgend.gov.uk

followed by ‘increase council tax more significantly to protect more services’ (6%) 
and then ‘increase council tax as much as is needed to maintain all council services 
at existing levels’ (16%).

 Those aged 75+ chose ‘increase council tax a bit to help protect the most important 
services’ (4.5%), followed by ‘increase council tax more significantly to protect more 
services’ (6%), followed by ‘keep council tax levels the same’ and then ‘increase 
council tax as much as is needed to maintain all council services at existing levels’ 
(16%).

 Other than for those aged 75+ there was not a significant difference in the responses 
to this question by age

Council tax and employment status 

When comparing employment status with response to the amount of council tax a 
respondent was prepared to pay we found:

 All respondents with the exception of those who identified themselves as retired or 
as carers chose ‘keep council tax levels the same’ as their most popular response;

 Respondents who identified themselves as retired or as a carer chose ‘increase 
council tax a bit to help protect the most important services where possible’ (4.5%) 
as their most popular response. 

 Respondents who identified themselves as a student, full time employed, part time 
employed or unemployed chose ‘keep levels the same’ followed by increase by 
4.5%, then increase by 6% and then increase by 16%

 Respondents who identified themselves as retired or as a carer chose increase by 
4.5% followed by ‘keep levels the same’, then increase by 6% and then increase by 
16%.

 There was not a significant difference in the responses to this question by 
employment status.

7.2.7 The future

7.2.7.1 Given the changing nature of how services are delivered, what do you think our 
long term priorities should be for the future? Please choose up to three services.

Respondents were able to select multiple responses, a total of 3736 responses were received 
within this question

Page 136

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


49

www.bridgend.gov.uk

758

573

466 462

326
282

39

220

610

Make 
efficiencies in-

house i.e. 
review 

processes, 
mileage 

allowances etc. 
(20%)

Encourage 
citizens to take 

more 
responsibility 

i.e. litter, 
graffiti etc. 

(15%)

Develop and 
promote more 
online services 

(13%)

Focus on 
economic 
growth i.e. 
supporting 
businesses 

(12%)

Support 
employment 

and 
community 

learning (9%)

Charge 
residents for 

more services 
instead of 

losing them 
completely 

(8%)

Reduce all 
levels of 

service (1%)

Only focus on 
services that 
support the 

most 
vulnerable in 
communities 

(6%)

Focus on 
services that 

benefit 
everyone in 
the borough 

(16%)

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

The most popular long term priorities were make efficiencies in-house, followed by focus on 
services that benefit everyone in the borough and then encourage citizens to take more 
responsibility. 

7.2.7.2 What service areas should the council prioritise while recovering from the 
pandemic? Please choose up to three services.

572

685
754

466

234
302

148 143

326 298

Recyc
lin

g a
nd w

ast
e (1

4%)

Sch
ools (

17%)

Care
 of o

lder p
eople (1

9%)

Se
rvi

ce
s f

or d
isa

bled people (1
2%)

Educa
tio

nal 
su

pport 
servi

ce
s (

6%)

Child
ren’s s

ocia
l se

rvi
ce

s (
8%)

Adult s
ocia

l se
rvi

ce
s (

4%)

Lib
rar

ies, a
rt 

ce
ntre

s a
nd th

eatr
es (

4%)

Sp
ort 

an
d re

cre
ati

onal 
servi

ce
s (

8%)

High
way

s a
nd in

fra
str

uctu
re im

prove
ments 

(8%)
0

100
200
300
400
500
600
700
800

The most popular services to prioritise were care for older people, followed by schools and 
then recycling and waste.  

7.2.7.3 Are there any other services you think the council should prioritise for the 
future?

410 comments made in response to this question have been themed in the table below. Some 
comments contained multiple themes: 

Page 137

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


50

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Theme No.
Services that support vulnerable people including older people, disabled 
people, carers, care homes, domestic abuse, drug and alcohol services 
and homelessness 57
Climate change, green and outdoor spaces 46
Mental health, wellbeing, early help and children and adults social care 43
Support the economy i.e. employability, tourism, businesses and town 
centres 41
Recycling, waste and street cleaning 36
Education, schools, children and youth services 36
Make internal savings/ensure value for money on services and have strong 
decision making 23
Listen and work more with residents and communities i.e. with TCCs, 
community groups, churches, community learning and support community 
centres 23
Highways/road repairs/street lighting/drainage 19
All services are important/no more cuts 17
Sports, gyms, leisure centres and swimming pools 15
Regenerate the area, reuse/develop empty properties and make people 
feel safe i.e. increase CCTV, policing and reduce anti-social behaviour 15
Have better/free car parking and improve transport: reinstate bus services, 
cycle and active travel links 14
Develop online services but support those who are unable to access them 11
Better infrastructure, planning of developments and stop overdevelopment 10
Libraries, arts and culture i.e. music in education, cinemas, the Grand 
Pavilion and Maesteg Town Hall 10
Reduce/maintain/get rid of council tax and offer more reductions for those 
who need it 9
Public toilets 5
It is a difficult job to prioritise service services/services are not run properly 
now 4
Only deliver statutory services and those which focus on all not the few 4
Managing difficult tenants and enforcing Covid-19 restrictions 3
Need more information in BSL and support for non-native English/Welsh 
speakers such as having access to standard documents 3
Promote the public to take responsibility for their actions 2
Better pest control service 1
Get council tax from Trecco Bay 1
Stop paying police and c rime commissioner 1
Replace purple recycling bags to improve people's dignity 1
Future generations act compliance 1

The most common themes were services that support vulnerable people including older 
people, disabled people, carers, care homes, domestic abuse, drug and alcohol services and 
homelessness followed by climate change, green and outdoor spaces and then mental 
health, wellbeing, early help and children and adults social care.

Page 138

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


51

www.bridgend.gov.uk

7.2.7.4 What lessons from the Covid-19 Coronavirus pandemic do you think we should 
consider when setting our medium and long term funding priorities?

517 comments made in response to this question have been themed in the table below. Some 
comments contained multiple themes: 

Theme No.
Have an emergency fund, not waste money and make internal savings i.e. 
streamline services, staff and councillors pay/expenses and review 
external contracts 89
Need a caring society, support social services and vulnerable people 
including children, older people, disabled people, care homes, carers and 
homelessness 65
BCBC need to plan and prepare for the future and be adaptable 63
There should be more online services and support people to access them 58
Staff working from home should continue, be promoted to businesses and 
savings made from unused council offices 47
Protect people from Covid-19, promote public health and provide mental 
health support 37
The importance of communities and third sector, need to work closer and 
support communities 37
Support businesses, town centres and employability 35
BCBC need to listen to residents and communities and ensure good 
communication 25
Green spaces are important and need more focus on climate change 25
Transport: ensure the bus station is open, more public transport, free car 
parking and more active travel links i.e. cycle lanes and walking routes 18
Enforcement of rules, including Covid restrictions, littering, dog fouling and 
fly tipping 15
Preventing/removing lockdowns, reopening Civic and getting back to 
normal, don't rely on Central Government for directions as to what you can 
and cannot do 12
Recycling and recycling centres need to be improved 11
Council tax should stay the same/be lowered and people struggling to pay 
should be supported 10
Schools and education 10
Protect and maintain essential services 9
Support the NHS/Covid specific hospitals 9
Have learned nothing additional/ we are still learning 6
Better programmes of redevelopment (including Salt Lake) and stop 
building more houses on green spaces 4
Provide services for everyone and not the few 4
Gyms and sport activities 3
Pay less benefits to people who abuse the system and people who always 
want financial support should give their time to the community by way of 
repayment 3
Maintain public toilets 2

Page 139

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


52

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Theme No.
Why am I paying for a crime commissioner that does nothing 1
You are doing a good job 1

The most common themes were have an emergency fund, not waste money and make 
internal savings i.e. streamline services, staff and councillors pay/expenses and review 
external contracts followed by need a caring society, support social services and vulnerable 
people including children, older people, disabled people, care homes, carers and 
homelessness and then BCBC need to plan and prepare for the future and be adaptable. 

7.2.8 Any other comments  

7.2.8.1 Do you have any other comments to ensure Bridgend County Borough 
becomes Fit for the Future?

Finally, respondents were asked if they had any further comments that they would like to 
make. 407 comments were made in response to this question and have been themed in the 
table below. Some comments contained multiple themes: 

Theme No.
Make internal saving i.e. number of staff and councillors, pay, expenses 
and review funded external partners 54
Evaluate spending, provide value for money and provide more clarity on 
where money is spent 49
Need to be more prepared, improve transparency and make bold plans 
and decisions for the future 44
Need to listen to residents and improve communications and 
correspondence 37
Support the economy, businesses and invest in town centres including 
more seating areas and toilets 34
Keep the county clean and tidy, focus on recycling and improve community 
recycling centres 32
Need to address climate change, environmental issues and protect our 
outdoor and green spaces 32
You are doing a good job, staff and services have been delivered in a 
difficult time, keep trying 26
Try and care for people, bring communities together and support 
vulnerable people 26
Do not raise council tax/council tax should be levied based on services 
accessed 19
Support gyms, leisure centres and promote health, wellbeing and mental 
health 18
Encourage residents to take responsibility, work more closely with 
communities and with churches, TCCs and the third sector 16
Better planning of developments and improve car parking 14
Invest in digitalisation e.g. better website, remote working and remote 
delivery 11
Invest in children and schools 10

Page 140

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


53

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Theme No.
Support all areas in the county borough 9
Improve transport, keep the bus station open, cycle lanes and taxi service 8
Limit the impact of Covid-19, communicate and enforce restrictions 8
Remember to support residents who are unable to access online services 5
Merge/work with neighbouring councils 2
Need to improve communication in BSL 2
Other services to keep open: libraries, cemeteries 2
Object to paying money to the Police and Crime Commissioner 2
Stop bilingual communication and save money 2

The most common themes were make internal saving i.e. number of staff and councillors, 
pay, expenses and review funded external partners followed by evaluate spending, provide 
value for money and provide more clarity on where money is spent and then need to be 
more prepared, improve transparency and make bold plans and decisions for the future. 

8. Social media, email letter and telephone responses

During the consultation period there were 201 interactions on our social media channels, 
122 of which were in response to the social media polls. 

79 social media comments, three emails, one letter and two telephone calls have been 
themed and are detailed in the table below, some comments contained multiple themes:

Theme No.
BCBC need to manage spending, stop funding Cardiff City Deal, be more 
transparent, make decisions and make internal savings 21
BCBC don't listen to residents/will do what they want 7
Stop building on green spaces (including Brackla fields)/ protect green 
spaces 6
Better planning, improve roads, pavements and the toilets at the bus 
station 5
Don't blame Covid-19 for cuts to services and increasing council tax 5
It will take more than a survey/survey should be more accessible 5
Not convinced Bridgend is fit for the future 5
Request for paper copies of the survey 5
Support businesses i.e. cut business rates and pay grants faster 4
Consultation query/share 4
Support vulnerable people i.e., the young, old, those in poverty and 
suffering mental health issues 4
More town centre support/development 3
The survey is an opportunity to have your say 3
Return the school bus service 2
Council is only interested in raising council tax 1
Help young people to get jobs from school/college 1
Use social media more to gain views 1
Pay cut for public sector workers 1

Page 141

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


54

www.bridgend.gov.uk

Theme No.
Some council services are excellent 1
Some services do not respond when you contact them 1
Lack of public services - toilets 1
Request to be removed from Citizens’ Panel 1
Get rid of the labour controlled council in Bridgend 1
Ruination of the regeneration of Porthcawl 1
Thank you for this significant initiative 1

The most common themes were BCBC need to manage spending, stop funding Cardiff City 
Deal, be more transparent, make decisions and make internal savings followed by BCBC 
don't listen to residents/will do what they want and then stop building on green spaces 
(including Brackla fields)/ protect green spaces. 

9. Town and Community Council meetings and Elected Member’s online 
workshops

The Consultation and Engagement Team attended nine Town and Community Council online 
meetings and engaged 39 BCBC members during two online workshops. Comments that 
were made during the meetings/workshops were noted and are detailed in the table below:

Theme No.
BCBC have maintained services well during the pandemic 14
Questions around the consultation process and timeline 10
Have to remember those who are unable to access services online 8
Need to support businesses and town centres 8
Third Sector have done a good job during the pandemic and should be 
supported 8
Difficult to engage residents in the current climate, we will promote the 
consultation 7
Questions around Welsh Government funding and financial losses during 
the pandemic 7
Need to improve response times when someone contacts the council 6
Need to enforcement Covid-19 restrictions 4
Need to open civic for residents and support footfall in the town centre 4
Develop closer working with TCCs 3
A council tax increase would be difficult 2
Everything will be different going forward, we need to learn from our 
mistakes 2
Questions regarding council tax 2
A lot of residents have got concerns for Keir services 1
Access to the public toilets 1
Need to ring fence funding for education 1

The most common themes were BCBC have maintained services well during the pandemic 
followed by questions around the consultation process and timeline and then have to 
remember those who are unable to access services online, need to support businesses and 

Page 142

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


55

www.bridgend.gov.uk

town centres and third Sector have done a good job during the pandemic and should be 
supported. 

10. Youth Council meeting  

The Consultation and Engagement Team attended the Youth Council online meeting. 
Comments that were made during the meeting were noted and are detailed in the table below:

Theme No.
BCBC information is not always relevant to me, needs to be aimed more at 
young people in smaller chunks or videos and use social media platforms 15
Need to promote town centre/businesses/more shops but most people are 
shopping online now 14
Older people and digital poverty may mean people are not able to access 
services online, they need support to access these services and some 
prefer face to face interaction 12
Need to ensure vulnerable people are supported and can access services 
and ensure support continues after the pandemic 8
Need to support environmental projects such as renewable energy, eco 
infrastructure and electric car charging points 5
Commit to invest in our communities 1
Mental health support 1
Money spent on track and trace could be better spent on other things. 1

The most common themes were BCBC information is not always relevant to me, needs to 
be aimed more at young people in smaller chunks or videos and use social media 
platforms, followed by need to promote town centre/businesses/more shops but most 
people are shopping online now and then older people and digital poverty may mean 
people are not able to access services online, they need support to access these services 
and some prefer face to face interaction. 

11. Conclusion

11.1 Responding to the pandemic 

 Overall respondents stated that the council had performed well during the Covid-19 
pandemic;

 When asked what services they had missed during lockdown respondents stated that 
the services that they had missed the most were community recycling centres, 
followed by gyms and or swimming pools and then parks and playing fields;

 When asked which maintained services should be a priority for the future respondents 
stated general waste and recycling collection services followed by street lighting 
including responding to street lighting faults and then domestic abuse support

 The majority of respondents stated that council staff working from home should be 
adopted as an approach for the future;

Page 143

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


56

www.bridgend.gov.uk

11.2  Business and the economy
 

 Overall respondents stated that support for local businesses, the promotion of the town 
centres and supporting the visitor economy and the sustainability of culture and leisure 
venues was important or very important;

 Respondents also stated that labour market opportunities and business start-up 
opportunities were important or very important;

 When asked if respondents had any other ideas about how the council should support 
local businesses respondents stated reduce business rates and rents followed by 
need to invest/regenerate the town centres and empty properties, encourage more 
shops, ensure cleanliness and reduce anti-social behaviour and then better and free 
car parking.

11.3 Health and wellbeing   

 When asked which support services to help our most vulnerable residents the council 
should focus on as we recover from the pandemic overall respondents stated that 
support for older people, ensuring those who are homeless are kept safe as lockdown 
restrictions ease, food poverty, council tax support for residents who had difficulty 
paying their council tax as a direct result of the pandemic and support from community 
organisations were important or very important; 

 The majority of respondents stated that the council should protect funding for the third 
sector.

11.4 Customer access to Civic Offices 

 The majority of respondents stated that they had not missed coming into Civic Offices 
while it has been closed and when asked how they have accessed services while Civic 
Offices has been closed respondents stated the website, followed by telephone and 
then email;

 The majority of respondents did not think it should be a priority to reopen Civic Offices 
however they went on to say that when Civic Offices do reopen the council should 
move to an appointment based system.

11.5 Digitalisation

 The majority of respondents stated that when Civic Offices reopen they will continue 
to access services online, a further 20% of respondents stated that they always 
preferred to access services online;

 When asked what would help you or someone you know access services online the 
majority stated that they did not need any help accessing services online, this was 
followed by they would find printable ‘how to’ guides useful and then they would like 
to have videos on the Bridgend council website;

Page 144

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


57

www.bridgend.gov.uk

 The majority of respondents stated that they had not signed up to govDelivery, when 
asked why not the most common responses were was not aware of this service, 
followed by not needed/required/interested and then can find information 
independently through the internet, newspapers, social media, contacting the council 
etc.

  
11.6 Council tax levels 

 When asked to select which statement best represents your views on setting the 
council tax for 2021-22 37% of respondents were prepared to increase council tax a 
bit to help protect the most important services where possible (4.5% increase), 
followed by 36% of respondents who stated to keep council tax levels the same level, 
which would result in a reduction in the level of services provided, followed by 19% of 
respondents who were prepared to increase council tax more significantly to protect 
more services (6% increase) and then 8% of respondents who were prepared to pay 
as much as is needed to maintain all council services at existing levels (16% increase).

11.7 The future   

 When asked what do you think our long term priorities for the future should be 
respondents selected making in house efficiencies, followed by focussing on services 
that benefit everyone in the borough and then encouraging citizens to take more 
responsibility;

 When asked which three services the council should prioritise when recovering from 
the pandemic respondents most commonly chose care for older people, followed by 
schools and then recycling and waste; 

 When asked what lessons from the Covid-19 pandemic should be considered when 
setting medium and long term funding priorities, respondents most commonly stated 
that the council should have an emergency fund, not waste money and make internal 
savings i.e. streamline services, review staff and councillors pay/expenses and review 
external contracts.  This was followed by the need to have a caring society, support 
social services and vulnerable people including children, older people, disabled 
people, care homes, carers and homelessness and then for the council to plan and 
prepare for the future and be adaptable;

 When asked if respondents had any further comments to make Bridgend County 
Borough fit for the future respondents most commonly stated that the council should 
make internal savings i.e. review number of staff and councillors, pay, expenses and 
review funded external partners followed by evaluate spending, provide value for 
money and provide more clarity on where money is spent and then need to be more 
prepared, improve transparency and make bold plans and decisions for the future.

11.8  Summary 

Due to the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic the response to the consultation demonstrated 
a significant decrease on previous years, with engagement being focussed online rather than 
face to face interactions and events within the community.  

Page 145

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


58

www.bridgend.gov.uk

A total of 1421 survey responses were received, this demonstrates a decrease of 58% on 
last year’s survey completions. 

The consultation received a total of 1,831 interactions from a combination of survey 
completions, engagement at various meetings, social media engagement and via the 
authority’s Citizens’ Panel. This represents a decrease of 75% on last year’s overall 
interactions. 

Using statistical analysis, based on a confidence level of 95% a sample of 1,421 survey 
completions is considered to be robust to a maximum standard error of +2.59%.  Therefore, 
we can be 95% confident that the responses are representative of those that would be 
given by the total adult population, to within ±2.59% of the percentages reported. 

This means that if the total adult population of Bridgend had taken part in the survey and a 
statistic of 50% was observed, we can be 95% confident that the actual figure lies between 
47.41% and 52.59%.

The consultation document was available in a variety of formats: standard; easy-read; large 
print and youth in Welsh and English. Respondents were able to select online or paper 
surveys in all formats. 

The consultation and engagement team attended 15 online meetings during the live period 
resulting in 203 face to face interactions with people in online events. 

This year respondents were taken to the govDelivery landing page on the BCBC website 
after completion of the survey. During the live period 216 people signed up to receive 
govDelivery notifications. 

An Equality Impact Assessment will be carried out in order to assess the impact of these 
proposals.

This report is to be shared with Cabinet in order to inform the MTFS for 2021-22 onwards. 

Page 146

http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


  

 

 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 REPORT TO CABINET  
 

19 JANUARY 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND CHANGE 
 

MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY 2021-22 to 2024-25 
 

1.0 Purpose of report 
 

1.1  The purpose of this report is to present Cabinet with the draft Medium Term Financial 
Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-25, which sets out the spending priorities of the Council, key 
investment objectives and budget areas targeted for necessary savings. The strategy 
includes a financial forecast for 2021-2025 and a detailed draft revenue budget for 2021-
22.   

 
2.0 Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities 
 

2.1  This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 

 
1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make the county 

borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study and visit, and to 
ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, qualifications and 
ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

 
2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking steps 

to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on the Council 
and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build resilience, and 
enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and independent lives. 

 
3. Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all resources (financial, physical, 

ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that can 
help deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

 
2.2  The Corporate Plan and Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) identify the Council’s 

service and resource priorities for the next four financial years, with particular focus on 
2021-22. 

 
3.0 Background 
 

 Corporate Plan - Policy Context 
  
3.1  The Council’s well-being objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) 

Act 2015 are currently: 
  

- Supporting a successful sustainable economy 
- Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient 
- Smarter use of resources 

 

Page 147

Agenda Item 8



  

 

 

3.2  This draft MTFS has been significantly guided by these priorities. Although previous year-
on-year changes in Aggregate External Finance (AEF) have necessitated significant 
budget reductions across different service areas, the Council still plays a very significant 
role in the local economy of Bridgend County Borough and is responsible for annual 
gross expenditure of around £420 million and is the largest employer in the county 
borough. The Corporate Plan will be presented to Council for approval alongside the 
MTFS 2021-25 in February 2021 and will be fully aligned with the MTFS including explicit 
links between resources and well-being objectives.  

 
  Impact of Covid-19 
 
3.3  The quarterly reports to Cabinet on the revenue position for 2020-21 have outlined in 

detail the impact on the budget of the additional cost pressures and loss of income faced 
by the Council throughout the year as a result of the pandemic. Welsh Government has 
played a significant role in mitigating the majority of these losses through their various 
funding streams, most notably the Covid-19 Hardship Fund.   

 
3.4  However, Cabinet and Council now need to consider the longer term impact of the 

pandemic and how it will shape the Council as part of its Recovery Programme, which 
comprises the following strands: 

 Restart  

 Recover 

 Renew   
 

3.5  Clearly budget planning for the financial year 2021-22 is even more uncertain than usual 
due to the impact of the global Covid-19 pandemic, which is on top of the uncertainties 
around the end of the Brexit transition period. While, on the whole, the UK and Welsh 
Governments have been supportive of the initial additional costs and burdens that have 
emerged  from  Covid, and covered most of the directly incurred costs, moving forward it 
remains unclear how much of the loss of income and additional cost pressures will be 
covered in the 2021-22 financial year.  In particular it is anticipated that some of the 
impact on levels of income in leisure, car parking and rental income, for example, may be 
a medium term problem. In addition it is likely that there will be an additional call on the 
council tax reduction scheme in view of the inevitable economic impact, and the level of 
council tax collection is estimated to fall. Furthermore, ongoing expenditure on matters 
relating to public health, such as the test, trace and protect scheme, use of personal 
protective equipment, arrangements for the public vaccination programme, additional 
Covid-19 enforcement as well as other expectations with regard to addressing 
homelessness more robustly, and supporting social care sustainability, are likely to be 
significant.  

 
3.6  In these circumstances setting a balanced budget for 2021-22 is even more challenging 

than usual, particularly on the back of 10 years of significant budget savings during the 
austerity years.   

 
 
4.0   Current situation / proposal 
 
4.1 Budget Narrative  
 
 The Council aspires to improve understanding of its financial strategy, link more closely 

to the agreed corporate well-being objectives and explain the Council’s goal of delivering 

Page 148



  

 

 

sustainable services in line with the overarching ambition of the Well-being of Future 
Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The following budget narrative aims to articulate the 
continued and significant investment in public services that the Council will make. It sets 
out how the Council aims to change particular areas of service delivery, particularly in 
light of the Covid-19 pandemic, and the financial consequences of this.  

 
4.1.1  Corporate Financial Overview 
 

Over the last 10 years, the Council has made £68 million of budget reductions, as shown 
below. This represents almost 25% of the Council’s current budget: 

 
 Bridgend County Borough Council Budget Reductions 2011 to 2021 
 

 
 
 

While the Council’s net revenue budget is planned at £298.956 million for 2021-22, its 
overall expenditure far exceeds this. Taking into account expenditure and services which 
are funded by specific grants or fees and charges, the Council’s gross budget will be 
around £420 million in 2021-22. The local authority’s annual revenue budget covers the 
day-to-day running costs of the local authority (including staff salaries, building 
maintenance, pensions, operational costs etc.). Around £180 million of the gross budget 
is spent on the Council’s own staff including teachers and school support staff. Much of 
the cost of the services provided by external organisations is also wage related – these 
include for example waste collection operatives, social care workers, leisure staff and 
foster carers.  

 
The Council gets the majority of its revenue funding from Welsh Government through the 
Revenue Support Grant and a share of Non Domestic Rates. It supplements this through 
council tax collection, other grants and fees and charges. Council tax is a charge that 
local authorities charge to help to pay for their services. The amount that council tax 
payers pay is made up of 3 elements: 

 
 

 Bridgend County Borough Council charge 

 Community Council charge 

 Police and Crime Commissioner for South Wales charge 

Page 149



  

 

 

 
In terms of council tax, the proportion of council tax required to balance the Council’s 
budget has steadily increased over recent years and it currently funds almost 30% of the 
budget.  

 
As well as having reduced income to fund services, there are other pressures that 
squeeze resources. Amongst these are: 

 
 Legislative changes e.g. the Environmental (Wales) Act 2016, the Welsh 

Government’s commitment to eradicate homelessness, the implications of the Local 
Government and Elections (Wales) Bill and the Additional Learning Needs and 
Education Tribunal (Wales) Act 2018.   

 
 Demographic changes - People are living longer which is obviously good news but 

that also can bring increased dependency through people living with more complex 
or multiple conditions which require social care and support.  

 
 An increase in the number of pupils at our schools, which places increased 

pressure on school budgets, along with an increase in free school meals 
entitlement which brings additional funding pressures.  

 
 More recently, a reduction in the amount of council tax being collected, due to the 

difficult economic circumstances that people find themselves in. This is coupled 
with an increase in council tax support as more people find themselves on low 
incomes or claiming benefits.  

 
 
The Council has adopted a Corporate Plan that sets out the approaches that it will take  
to manage these pressures whilst continuing to ensure that, as far as possible, services 
can be provided that meet the needs of  the citizens and communities in Bridgend. These 
approaches are: 

 

 Though a large and complex organisation, the Council will make every effort to work 
as one single organisation. That means avoiding duplication and double handling of 
data through sharing of systems and processes. This isn’t always as easy as it 
sounds because often different rules or opportunities apply to different services. 
Nevertheless acting as ‘One Council working together to improve lives’ is enshrined 
in the Council’s vision. 

 Wherever possible the Council will support communities and people to become more 
resilient by creating their own solutions and reducing dependency on the Council. 
This is because it is not sustainable for the Council to continue to aspire to meet all 
and every need that arises and because there is capacity, talent and ideas in other 
parts of the community that can be encouraged to play an active and effective role in 
sustaining and often enhancing local services. The Council has a role in 
encouraging, enabling and leading this approach and has adopted this as one of its 
underlying principles. 

 The Council has agreed a principle of focusing diminishing resources on communities 
and individuals with the greatest need. Parts of our community have long standing 
problems of poverty and disadvantage.  The solutions to this are not all in the direct 
control of the Council (for example the effects of changes to the welfare system) but 
where possible the Council has agreed that it wants to both alleviate problems in 
these areas and develop longer term sustainable solutions. The new socio-economic 

Page 150



  

 

 

duty on public bodies, which comes into force on 31 March 2021, will reflect these 
aims. 

 The Council has three well-being objectives that reflect these and other principles.  
One of these objectives is to make “Smarter Use of Resources”. This means we will 
ensure that all its resources (financial, physical, ecological, human and technological) 
are used as effectively and efficiently as possible and support the development of 
resources throughout the community that can help deliver the Council’s priorities. 

 

 In seeking to continue to meet the council’s identified priorities and protect its investment 
in Education and early intervention, Social Services and Wellbeing, and prioritise the 
most vulnerable in our society, we are proposing the following changes in the 2021-22 
budget. 

 

 Additional Income 

 

Where possible, and still recognising the ongoing economic challenges that local people 
and businesses will face next year, the council will seek to raise additional income. 
However, there will be limited opportunities to do so given the immense challenges that 
COVID-19 has brought to the population. We will continue to look for opportunities where 
that might be possible. 

 

 Alternative Delivery Models 

 

We will continue to seek alternative ways of delivering services if that can ensure greater 
sustainability and efficiency. Over recent months there has been a significant 
acceleration in the Community Asset Transfer (CAT) Programme and it is anticipated that 
a saving of £300,000 can be made next year by transferring responsibility for the 
management of assets, predominantly outdoor sports related playing fields and pavilions, 
to town and community councils or community clubs and groups.  In addition the Covid-
19 pandemic has shown how some Council services can be delivered differently, and it is 
important that where appropriate that is something that endures and that investment is 
made to ensure that services can be maintained and delivered safely. Specifically it is 
anticipated that an acceleration of the Council’s digital programme will allow efficiency 
savings reflected in some of the proposed staff savings, in service areas such as Finance 
and Human Resources. In all, proposed staff savings in the Chief Executive’s Directorate 
alone total over £89,000. Wherever possible, staff restructuring  will be done 
sympathetically allowing those that wish to leave to do so, but also making appropriate 
investments in home and agile working and digital technology to ensure the Council is fit 
for the future.  

 

 Efficiency Savings 

                                                                                                                                               

The best kind of budget savings of course remain ones where there is little or no direct 
impact on staff or residents. After a decade of substantial budget savings, opportunities 
for large scale savings of this sort are now more scarce, but where they emerge they 
remain an important component of the MTFS. For next year significant savings are 
proposed to the Council’s ICT telephony budget of £41,000, the insurance budget of 
£75,000 and the communications’ licensing budget of £8,000. Further savings of 
£120,000 are proposed in prudential borrowing costs in the building maintenance budget, 
and £60,000 for the fire suppression scheme in the Tondu Depot as the scheme is paid 
from capital rather than revenue. The ongoing investment in installing LED lighting in the 

Page 151



  

 

 

Council’s streetlights continues to offer further savings with a budget saving of £75,000 
proposed for next year. There is also a potential saving of £19,000 by utilising Welsh 
Government grant to purchase a new vehicle to service the collection of the Council’s 
Absorbent Hygiene Product waste and therefore negate the need for, and the current 
costs of, leasing a vehicle.  The Council will continue to seek to apply and secure grants 
where they can lead to revenue savings and greater sustainability of important services. 
Other potential savings are being considered in relation to the current contracts with Halo 
Leisure and Awen to run our leisure and cultural facilities, which may allow some ongoing 
revenue savings by varying the terms of the existing contracts with regard to issues such 
as energy and building maintenance.  

 

 Property Savings 

 

The Covid-19 pandemic reinforced the need for the council to consider very closely the 
need for all of its portfolio of building assets. Over recent years savings have already 
been made by rationalising the number of operational depots and releasing one of the 
Council’s major staff offices at Sunnyside. For 2021-22 further savings are proposed by 
housing the ICT staff and server in the Civic Offices and not renewing the lease on 
Sunnyside House, for which an annual budget saving of £309,000 will result. 
Furthermore, the Council’s investment in a new, modern, Community Recycling Centre in 
Pyle, due to open in 2021-22, will mean the lease for the site at Tythegston can be ended 
with a saving of £60,000 per year.   

 

 Changes to Service Provision 

 

Unfortunately, despite the likely settlement we will receive for 2021-22 being an increase 
overall, it is highly unlikely that we will be able to balance the budget without also making 
changes to the level of services that we can provide and prioritising those services that 
are deemed most important in terms of meeting the Council’s agreed priorities. In 
particular it is important that where the council runs a service that also benefits other 
organisations and partners that appropriate contributions are made, where possible, to 
complement  the Council’s investment.  

 

4.1.2 Education  
 

The Council is proposing to spend £127 million on services delivered by the Education 
and Family Support Directorate in 2021-22.  The majority of this money will be spent by 
Bridgend’s 59 schools and one pupil referral unit.   

 
In addition to the £103 million proposed budget to be delegated to schools in 2021-22, 
which mostly pays for the salaries of teaching and other school staff, and the running 
costs of the facilities (ongoing revenue expenditure), the Council has already spent £21.6 
million in building and refurbishing schools as part of our 21st Century School 
Modernisation Band A Programme and has provisionally committed to a further £19 
million as part of the Band B Programme. This comprises one-off capital expenditure 
across several years, with significant match funding from Welsh Government. Welsh 
Government has provided approval in principle in respect of the Strategic Outline 
Programme submitted by the Council around our aspirations for Band B funding. 
However, approval will also be required for individual project business cases. While it is 
too early to say how this will progress, the concepts proposed are based around forecast 
demand for primary school places, our support to promote the growth in Welsh-medium 
education and our desire to create additional capacity to meet the needs of children with 

Page 152



  

 

 

additional learning needs in our main special school, mainly in the primary sector. It is 
likely that this will represent the most significant area of capital expenditure for the 
Council in future years.   
 
The Council has a longer-term goal to make the overall schools system more efficient 
(e.g. through making sure we have the right number of school places available in the 
right parts of the county (including ensuring enough capacity for anticipated future 
increases in school age population)).  
 
For 2021-22 the level of budget reductions required is not as great as had been feared. 
As a result, it has been possible to protect schools from a proposed 1% annual efficiency 
target for one year. However, the forecast pressure on Council budgets for future years is 
such that it may be unavoidable for 2022-2023 onwards, and so it will be necessary for 
headteachers and governing bodies to plan ahead.  
 
The Council has identified ‘Helping people and communities to be more healthy and 
resilient’ as a ‘Well-being Objective’ and early intervention is an important part of this – 
taking steps wherever possible to prevent people becoming reliant on Council services. 
As well as being of great social value to individuals and communities, this approach is 
more cost effective. Successful intervention at an early age and at an early stage can 
prevent needs from escalating and requiring more costly and complex help later on.   
 
In seeking to protect our investment in education and early intervention, the Council is 
making minimal changes to the services delivered at this time. We are proposing the 
following changes in 2021-2022 that are reflected in the budget: 
 

 We intend reviewing our staffing structures within the Education and Family Support 

Directorate, which we anticipate will secure efficiency savings of around £110,000. 

 We would like to reduce our contribution to Central South Consortium over the 

coming years. This is, however, subject to agreement with our partners. For 2021-

2022, we anticipate a further cut of £5,000 (1%). We will continue discussions around 

savings that can be made in future years.  

We will continue to seek efficiencies in the application of the Council’s Home-to-School / 
College Transport Policy. We expect to achieve at least £75,000 of efficiency savings 
during 2021-22. We have also reviewed other aspects of our transport provision including 
post-16 transport, following a full public consultation exercise. 
 
 

4.1.3 Social Care and Well-being  
 

After Education, the largest area of Council spend is on social care. This includes social 
care for children and for adults with care and support needs. Within the Directorate there 
is a focus on well-being and independence, outcome focussed practice which supports 
people to live the lives that matter to them. This way of working results in less 
dependency on commissioned social care services for many individuals and more 
effective and cost effective use of statutory services. The Directorate continues to 
develop new approaches to service delivery and this includes better support and 
outcomes for prevention, early intervention and wellbeing. This approach supports the 
wellbeing objective of ‘helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient’ 
and is also part of the Directorate’s transformation plan with a clear link to the Medium 
Term Financial Strategy. 
 

Page 153



  

 

 

There are established working relationships between children’s social care and early help 
and intervention services with mechanisms in place to ensure close working and 
appropriate and proportionate responses to families and children in need.  
 
Our strategy for the next few years is to more effectively support independence and 
continue to remodel the way we work in order to lessen dependency and enable people 
to maximise their independence.   
 
 Social services is largely a needs led service and whilst the long term strategy is to 
enable people to be more self-reliant, the demographics show that people are living 
longer, often with more complex conditions than ever before. This means that there are 
more people living in the community who would previously have remained in hospital or 
entered a care home. Children’s social care is also needs led and the financial pressure 
to meet need can fluctuate very rapidly. Needs are met and personal outcomes achieved 
within available budgets. In total, the Council is proposing to spend £74 million on social 
care and wellbeing services in 2021-22.  
 
Though some pressures are allowed for in planning the 2021-22 budget, we are not 
 simply increasing the budget to meet needs based on current models of care and 
support. This would be unsustainable and if we increased budgets year on year to meet 
new demand, it would increasingly mean the Council would have to restrict other 
services. Therefore the Council’s strategy is to continue to transform how we work with 
people to support their independence and how services are delivered. Introducing new 
ways of working which will be sustainable in the long term, alongside a service which has 
to meet a range of statutory needs, requires a long term shift in culture and practice. The 
service has made good progress in achieving the required savings, however the increase 
in demand and complexity of care required continues to put pressure on our budgets. 
The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on people with care and support needs and the 
social care sector is significant in the short and medium term and plans will need to be 
adjusted to reflect this changed context. 

 
In order to be sustainable going forward, the Council is ensuring that any changes are 
introduced in a planned and timely way in order to take existing and future customers 
with us as well as the general workforce. This work has already commenced and the 
budget saving proposals for 2021-22 build on the implementation plans that are already 
underway. The re-modelling programmes focus on changing the culture and reviewing 
what has become ‘custom and practice’.  

 
The Council has already made changes. In adult social care we have changed the 
assessment framework in order to improve the outcomes for people who need care and 
support whilst also reducing the numbers of people who require long term support. The 
Council focuses on helping people to achieve the outcomes they want for themselves, 
targeting our interventions on what is missing, rather than going straight to what package 
of care we can give them. We are also actively reviewing the way we deliver domiciliary 
care, day services and residential care for children. There has also been an increased 
focus on developing the Council’s foster care and remodelling residential services. 

 
Importantly these transformations are designed to both better support people and cost 
less. The Council has identified a number of further transformations that continue this 
approach, some of which are reflected in changes to the budget.  These include a full 
review of the learning disability day opportunities and accommodation strategy and 
further remodelling of Children’s residential and fostering services. 

 

Page 154



  

 

 

Housing as a determinant of physical and mental health is widely recognised and this link 
is reinforced by the range of activities and services provided by the Housing Team. The 
Housing (Wales) Act 2014 introduced the need to move to a more preventative approach 
to homelessness and this is a core principle of the work undertaken.  The service has 
responded to the challenges of Covid-19 and new guidance introduced by Welsh 
Government in relation to homelessness presentations, and has recognised these as 
budget pressures for the Council, with the aim of providing temporary accommodation to 
people in need, in order to reduce the number of street homeless people.  The Council 
does not have any housing stock of its own but retains a number of statutory functions 
relating to addressing housing need and combatting homelessness.  

 
The service also administers the Housing Support Grant from Welsh Government (£5.8 
million).  The support activities are both broad and diverse.  This is done both through a 
range of corporate joint working and contract arrangements with third sector 
organisations, delivering specific projects for people who are vulnerable with complex 
needs.  These projects include services for people suffering domestic abuse, mental 
health and substance misuse issues, learning disabilities, accommodation for young 
people, people with mental health support needs and other housing related support for 
people who need help to access or maintain accommodation successfully.   

 
Housing will continue to adopt a strategic approach to homelessness prevention and 
provision by working with Welsh Government and partner organisations.  Work with 
Registered Social Landlords is on-going to support new housing developments and 
housing will continue to use the Social Housing Grant effectively to increase the supply of 
social housing. 

 
4.1.4 Public Realm  
 

Most of the Council’s net budget is spent on education and social care – these are very 
valued services, but are naturally aimed at certain groups within our community.  
However, the Council’s work on the public realm has a direct and visible impact on 
everybody. This includes our work to maintain highways, parks and open spaces, clean 
our streets, and collect and dispose of our waste.   

 
In 2021-22 the Council is likely to receive around £4 million of direct Welsh Government 
grant for public realm services. This includes waste services, public transport, rights of 
way and road safety.  

 
The overall net budget that the Council proposes to spend on public realm services is 
around £21.8 million. The fact that schools have had a high degree of financial protection 
in previous years has meant that the Council’s other services have been under 
considerable pressure to make savings and in many cases we have had to reduce levels 
of service. However the services in the Communities Directorate have also been subject 
to service changes that have resulted in alternative delivery models that have increased 
productivity, as well as collaborative approaches that have increased both efficiency and 
service resilience. Investment in this area is proposed to continue into 2021-22. 

 
The seven year contract with Kier is now moving into its fourth year and the costs 
associated with waste collection still remain competitive on an all Wales basis.  During 
the first few years of the contract there has been a significant increase in the amount of 
waste recycled, (Bridgend is consistently in the top 5 of best performing waste authorities 
in Wales), and therefore a significant reduction in the volume of our residual waste. This 
is expected to benefit the Council financially over time, subject to contractual conditions 

Page 155



  

 

 

with our disposal arrangements. An indicative net saving of £1.3 million was identified in 
2019-20 as a result of negotiating new operating arrangements at the Materials Recovery 
and Energy Centre (MREC). An agreement with Neath Port Talbot Council has now been 
made for waste disposal going forward until 2030 or until a regional facility comes on line.  
A £300,000 budget pressure is included in the MTFS for 2021-22 to mitigate the shortfall 
in savings until this time.  We expect to spend in the region of £9.1 million on the 
collection and disposal of waste in 2021-22. Work will also commence on looking at the 
provision of waste and recycling services post 2024, when the Kier contract ends, and 
this will be reported to Cabinet in 2021. 

 
A major challenge for the Council is how to continue to meet public expectations for 
many highly visible and tangible services when the available overall Council budget 
inevitably means the Council will be less able to deliver these services to the same level 
and frequency. These services are often the ones the public identify with their council tax 
payments.  

 
The Council’s strategy is to retain and maintain the most important public services in this 
area whilst driving ever greater efficiency, making some service reductions where we 
think it will have the least impact across Council services, recognising that this still may 
be significant in some areas. We will also develop alternative ways of delivering and 
sustaining services including greater and more effective collaboration and encouraging 
others to work with us or assume direct responsibility for services in some cases. The 
most significant proposed change in this respect is: 

 

 A move to shift the responsibility for the management and maintenance of sports 
fields and pavilions from the Council to user clubs and groups or local town and 
community councils. The Council will adopt a flexible approach to community asset 
transfer (CAT), utilising the new streamlined CAT process, and ensuring that 
appropriate advice and both capital investment (from the CAT fund in the capital 
programme) and revenue support (from the new sports club support fund) are made 
available. The Council aims to achieve savings of £300,000 in 2021-22 from 
transferring these assets. 

 
 Reductions in spend in this area will allow us to protect our investment in the Council’s 
priorities and in areas where we have far less ability to exercise control.   

 
4.1.5 Supporting the Economy 
 

 Whilst this is a Council priority, services such as regeneration and economic 
development as a discretionary service have nevertheless made significant reductions to 
their budgets over recent years. The Council has delivered this by employing fewer but 
more highly skilled staff, and focussing activity more narrowly on priority areas to 
maximise impact. Going forward, we will increasingly collaborate on a regional basis with 
the nine other Councils that make up the Cardiff Capital Region City Deal, particularly in 
areas such as transport, economic development and strategic planning. The City Deal is 
creating a £1.2 billion fund for investment in the region over the next 20 years. This long 
term investment will be targeted to focus on raising economic prosperity, increasing job 
prospects and improving digital and transport connectivity. In order to play an effective 
part in the City Deal, the Council will maintain as far as possible existing investment in its 
transport planning, spatial planning and regeneration teams to reflect this direction of 
travel.  The Council will be spending in the region of £2.1 million a year running these 
services, plus a further £700,000 as Bridgend’s contribution to the Deal itself. These 

Page 156



  

 

 

teams will ensure successful delivery of high profile regeneration projects, as well as 
working through its employability programme to mitigate job losses as a result of the 
pandemic and major employers, such as Ford, leaving the County Borough.  We are also 
in the process of developing a new Local Development Plan and an important part of our 
budget planning is making sure that it is resourced appropriately to ensure our plan is 
properly researched and evidenced and sets out the development planning proposals for 
the County Borough which will shape its future, including housing growth.  

 
 More specifically, the Council has made and continues to make good progress in pursuit 

of the development of our main towns. These include the regeneration of the waterfront 
at Porthcawl, including the Salt Lake site, the redevelopment of Maesteg Town Hall, and 
investment in initiatives to improve the town centre in Bridgend. This includes potentially 
relocating Bridgend College to a town centre location. Much of this investment is not the 
Council’s own money, but skilled teams are required to bid successfully in a competitive 
environment to ensure money is levered in. 

 
 The Council will continue to operate a number of grant funded programmes of work to 

support our most vulnerable groups and those furthest away from employment, including 
training and skills and work support programmes such as Bridges into Work.   

 
 

4.1.6 Regulatory and Corporate Services 

 
 The Council operates a number of other services which it recognises fulfil specific and 
important roles. In many cases these are statutory though the precise level of service to 
be provided is not defined in law. The most significant areas are as follows: 

 
 Regulatory Services 
  

 This is a combined service with the Vale of Glamorgan and Cardiff City Councils, for 
which Bridgend will contribute around £1.8 million towards a group of services that 
includes Trading Standards, Environmental Health, Animal Health and Licensing 
(Alcohol, Gambling, Safety at Sports Grounds, Taxis etc.). These services all ensure in 
different ways that the public is protected. 

 
 As well as allowing for financial savings, the collaboration delivers greater resilience in 
the service and stronger public protection across all three Council areas.  

 
 Registrars 

  
The Council operates a registrar’s service that deals primarily with the registration of 
Births, Marriages and Deaths. The service also undertakes Civil Partnership and 
Citizenship ceremonies. The main base for the registrars’ service was moved from Tyr 
Ardd to the Civic Offices during 2020-21, creating efficiencies in terms of operating costs 
by rationalising the Council’s estate and generating an additional capital receipt.  

 
  Council Tax and Benefits  
 

The taxation service collects over £80 million in Council tax from around 65,000 
households across the county borough. Our collection rates over the last two years were 
the highest ever in the Council’s history, but this has been seriously impacted by the 
Covid-19 pandemic. We are determined to regain this high level, but we are seizing the 
opportunity to reduce the cost of operating the service, by offering online services. We 

Page 157



  

 

 

now offer a range of secure Council tax functions online, allowing residents to self-serve 
at a time and location convenient to them. This will allow us to reduce the cost of running 
the service. 

 
Benefits are funded by the central UK government but the administration of Housing 
Benefit and the Council Tax Reduction Scheme falls to the Council.  

 
Universal Credit (UC) for working age people was fully introduced in Bridgend during 
June 2018. In conjunction with Citizens Advice, the Benefits Service will provide digital 
and personal budgeting support to assist people making new claims for UC. 

 
4.1.7 Corporate Services 
  

 There are a number of things that the Council does that support the delivery of services 
but which themselves are not visible to the public. We need to maintain these services 
with sufficient capacity to support our services whilst making them as efficient and 
effective as possible. In many cases we operate such services by sharing with other 
organisations. Opportunities for further collaboration or sharing in these service areas 
has been and will continue to be explored.  

 
  Property and building maintenance 

  
 The Council is undertaking a review of its commercial property portfolio, identifying asset 
management opportunities and the mechanisms required to deliver a sustainable 
increase in income. Alongside this, the Council is continuing to dispose of assets it no 
longer requires to deliver services, in order to provide further investment in our capital 
programme. 

 
 The Council has brought together its asset management and building maintenance 
functions, and has centralised all premises repairs, maintenance and energy budgets into 
a single ‘corporate landlord’ service within the Communities Directorate. This will better 
enable us to manage compliance, embed ‘whole life costing’ approaches into decision-
making, manage the quality of work undertaken by contractors, and thereby deliver 
efficiencies in the management of our estate. This focus on reducing our assets and 
energy efficiency will be essential if the Council is to meet Welsh Governments targets of 
all public sectors bodies being net carbon neutral by 2030.  A draft “Bridgend 2030 
Decarbonisation Strategy”, setting out these intentions will be subject to public 
consultation in 2021. 

 
The service will continue to review its processes in 2021-22 including seeking further 
operational efficiencies and streamlined business processes, from IT investment, 
improved procurement and contract management.  

 
  Legal services 
  

 The Council needs to maintain effective legal support for all of its services.  At a time 
when the Council is trying to transform services it is important to bring about these 
changes within the law. The service also directly supports front line services such as 
Education and Social Services, and is provided by a mix of permanent internal staff and 
expertise purchased from the private sector when necessary. Almost half of our in-house 
legal team is specifically focussed on child protection cases.   
 

Page 158



  

 

 

 The service is nevertheless very lean and so our focus will be on ensuring that we can 
build more resilience and responsiveness into the service through some changes in 
responsibilities and operating practice. 

 
  Finance 
  

 The Council has a central team that manages all of the financial management of the 
Council. This includes high level strategic advice, the Council’s accounts, monitoring of 
financial performance and supports the oversight and management of the Council’s 
finances. The service fulfils certain legal requirements that ensures transparency and 
accountability in the way that public money is used – for example in producing accounts 
which are then audited and in delivering value for money in service delivery.  
 
 The Finance Section will be looking to further improve and enhance business processes 
to improve efficiency and also meet legislative changes.  Significant progress has been 
made in automating payments and the Council will continue to develop and extend this to 
a wider range of suppliers.   

 
  Human Resources (HR) and Organisational Development (OD)  
  

 With over 6,000 employees including schools, the Council needs a dedicated human 
resources service. The primary role of the service is to provide professional advice, 
guidance and support to managers and staff on a wide range of HR and OD issues as 
well as provide HR services for the payment of salaries, pension, contracts and absence 
administration. Other services include training and development, recruitment and 
retention, developing employee skills and ‘growing our own’. We intend making greater 
investment in recruiting more apprentices next year. 
 
 Working closely with our recognised trade unions, it maintains positive and transparent 
employee relations arrangements.   
 

  ICT 
  

 We are continuing to invest in the automation and digitisation of services in line with our 
recently approved Digital Strategy, where it is appropriate to do so, and work is ongoing 
to identify priority areas through the Digital Transformation Programme which will help 
achieve savings in future years of the MTFS. 
 
 The ICT service is assisting the Digital Transformation programme, supporting the 
changes across a range of services that in turn allow savings or improvements through 
more flexible working or new ways to access services.  The Council spends around £5 
million on its ICT services provision to support main Council activities and schools. The 
ICT service has focused on developing staff through the apprenticeship programme in 
conjunction with HR, developing skills and enabling career progression in-house.   
 

 Procurement 
  

 The Council has a central team that provides procurement support across the range of 
services that we provide. Effective procurement is essential to ensuring good value for 
money across the Council, but we will still continue to seek corporate wide efficiencies in 
the operation of this service. The service is also focusing more efforts on developing the 
foundational economy based on local procurement as well as reviewing its overall 

Page 159



  

 

 

approach in an effort to secure better outcomes for the Council from its large annual 
spend in this area.  

 
  Democratic Services 
 

 The Council is a democratic organisation with 54 elected members (Councillors) who 
 make decisions, set policy direction and oversee the general performance of the Council. 
Like many Councils, Bridgend has a mayor whose job is to chair meetings of the Council 
and represent the Council in the community (this is completely different to the elected 
mayors in cities like London and Bristol). These democratic processes require support to 
ensure accountability and transparency in decision making. The number of elected 
members in each authority is set independently. Their remuneration is also determined 
by an independent Panel. 

 
  Internal Audit 
  

 Our Regional Internal Audit Shared Service is provided by a joint service that we share 
with the Vale of Glamorgan, Rhondda Cynon Taf and Merthyr Councils. The service 
carries out routine checks and investigations to ensure that the Council maintains good 
governance – especially as it relates to the proper accountability of money and other 
resources.  

 
 
4.2 The Financial Context  

 
4.2.1  The Council’s MTFS is set within the context of UK economic and public expenditure 

plans, Welsh Government’s priorities and legislative programme. The MTFS articulates 
how the Council plans to use its resources to support the achievement of its corporate 
priorities and statutory duties, including the management of financial pressures and risks 
over the next four years. It helps the Council to work more effectively with partners in 
other sectors and provides a strategy for the use of balances to meet changes in 
resources or demands from year to year without impacting unduly on services or Council 
tax payers.   

 
4.2.2 The MTFS includes: 
 

 The principles that will govern the strategy and a four year financial forecast, 
comprising detailed proposals for 2021-22 and outline proposals for 2022-23 to 
2024-25. 

 

 The capital programme for 2020-21 to 2030-31, linked to priority areas for capital 
investment and the Capital Strategy, which will be presented for approval by 
Council in February 2021, along with the Treasury Management Strategy 2021-22. 
 

 The Corporate Risk Assessment, which will be updated and included in the final 
MTFS in February 2021. 

 
4.2.3  In March 2020, following a one-year Spending Round in 2019, the Chancellor announced 

that the comprehensive spending review (CSR), setting out government expenditure 
plans for the next three years would be delayed because of the coronavirus outbreak. 
When the CSR was launched in July 2020, due to unprecedented uncertainty, the 
Chancellor did not fix a set spending envelope, but confirmed that departmental spending 

Page 160



  

 

 

(both capital and resource) would grow in real terms across the CSR period and that the 
government would deliver on the commitments made in the March Budget to level up and 
invest in the priorities of the British people. Given the impact COVID-19 has had on the 
economy, the Chancellor was clear there will need be tough choices in other areas of 
spending at the review. 

 
4.2.4  In October 2020 the Treasury confirmed that the Comprehensive Spending Review 

would only set departmental budgets for the following year, due to the economic 
disruption caused by Covid-19, and the ongoing uncertainties around Brexit, rather than 
the original plan of setting spending totals for three years and capital budgets for a further 
year. A statement from the Treasury said:  

 
 “In order to prioritise the response to Covid-19, and our focus on supporting jobs, the 
Chancellor and the Prime Minister have decided to conduct a one-year Spending 
Review, setting department’s resource and capital budgets for 2021-22, and devolved 
administration’s block grants for the same period.” 

 
 “While the government would have liked to outline plans for the rest of this parliament, 
the right thing today is to focus entirely on the response to Covid-19 and supporting jobs - 
that’s what the public would expect.” 

 
4.2.5  This is the second single year spending review in succession, and on 25 November 2020 

the Chancellor delivered the outcome of the review, along with the Office for Budget 
Responsibility (OBR) forecast. In terms of the latter, the OBR forecasts that the economy 
will contract this year by 11.3% - the largest fall in output for more than 300 years. The 
Chancellor did say, however, that as the restrictions are eased, they expect the economy 
to start recovering, but that even with growth returning, "our economic output is not 
expected to return to pre-crisis levels until the fourth quarter of 2022". He added that the 
economic damage would be lasting and that the economy would be 3% smaller than 
expected in the March budget. 

 
4.2.6  In relation to the Spending Review he reported that this would deliver a "once in a 

generation" boost to infrastructure, with extra spending on schools, for councils and for 
the NHS. He said there would be £280 billion in spending "to get our country through 
coronavirus". He also said that the Spending Review would deliver stronger public 
services with billions in additional funding, including £1.3 billion for Wales. He also 
announced targeted pay increases for NHS workers and those on low pay, with a pay 
freeze for most of the rest of the public sector, alongside an increase in the National 
Living Wage of 2.2%. 

 
4.2.7  In response to the Spending Round, the Minister for Finance and Trefnydd, announced 

that Welsh Government’s revenue expenditure limit for 2021-22 would increase by 4.6% 
in cash terms. This is in addition to additional funding for 2021-22 of £766 million in 
relation to Covid-19. She also expressed disappointment at the public sector pay freeze, 
the capital settlement, which was much lower than expected, and the low level of funding 
for the whole of the UK for the Shared Prosperity Fund, the replacement for EU funding, 
for 2021-22.  

 
4.2.8  As a result of the late announcement of the Comprehensive Spending Review, Welsh 

Government decided to defer the announcement of their draft budget, along with the 
provisional local government settlement, until 21 and 22 December 2020, respectively. 
This also meant a delay in the announcement of the Welsh Government’s final local 

Page 161



  

 

 

government settlement until 2 March 2021, so the Medium Term Financial Strategy and 
the budget for 2021-22 is proposed on the basis of the provisional settlement.  

 
4.2.9  The Minister for Finance and Trefnydd, announced the Welsh Government’s draft budget 

for 2021-22 on 21 December 2020, in support of their key priorities to protect, build and 
change. Due to the nature of the spending round in November, the budget set by Welsh 
Government includes one year only revenue and capital spending plans. She stated that 
the budget included plans to help public services to recover, to support businesses and 
reach those hardest hit as a result of the pandemic. She also said that the budget 
“prioritised NHS and social services budgets with the best possible settlement, in difficult 
financial circumstances, for the local government services we also rely on”. The budget 
also targeted new investment to combat climate change and support jobs and training.    

 
4.2.10  The budget includes an additional £420 million for health and social care (including £385 

million for core NHS services and an additional £10 million for the Social Care Workforce 
Grant) to support the NHS’s growth and recovery post-pandemic, a further £40 million for 
the Housing Support Grant, towards the long-term goal of ending homelessness in 
Wales, and an additional £23.3 million to extend free school meals in school holidays for 
the entirety of 2021-22. Other measures include funding to support catch up learning, 
additional funding for the predicted increase in demographic of 16-19 year olds in sixth 
forms and further education, funding for mental health services and an uplift of £176 
million for local government. Welsh Government are also maintaining capital support to 
local government, to enable them to deliver joint priorities including decarbonisation, 
housing and economic recovery following Covid-19. To help build a greener future, an 
extra £40 million will also be provided for modern education infrastructure, including £5 
million for a net-zero schools pilot. 

   
4.3 Welsh Government Provisional Local Government Settlement 2021-22 

 

4.3.1  Councils received their provisional settlements from Welsh Government on 22 December 
2020. The headline figure is an overall increase, after adjusting for transfers, of 3.8%, 
across Wales and, for Bridgend, an increase of 4.3% in Aggregate External Finance 
(AEF), or £9.064 million. This includes additional funding of £185,000 towards the full 
year effect of the teachers’ pay award in September 2020. The Minister for Housing and 
Local Government stated that the settlement provided local authorities with a stable 
platform for planning their budgets for the forthcoming financial year, and that they would 
continue to provide funding to support Local Government’s response to the pandemic, 
but that this would be considered separately, outside of the settlement. There are not 
intended to be any significant changes in the final settlement, which will be announced in 
March 2021. 

4.3.2  Whilst the provisional settlement is a significant improvement compared to the -1.5% 
“most likely” assumption that is contained within the Council’s original MTFS for 2021-22, 
it does not recognise a number of new pressures that the Council will have to meet, and 
the uncertainties still surrounding Covid-19 and Brexit, so should be viewed with a 
degree of caution. 

4.3.3  In February 2020 Council approved a capital programme for 2019-20 to 2029-30, which 
included the third tranche of the additional £100 million general capital funding allocated 
across Wales for 2018-19 to 2020-21 (£20 million for 2020-21) and an additional £15 
million across Wales to enable local authorities to respond to the urgent need to 
decarbonise. No assumptions were made about any future commitments of additional 
capital funding. Council has approved revised versions of the capital programme during 

Page 162



  

 

 

the financial year to incorporate budgets carried forward from 2019-20, slippage into 
2021-22, and any new schemes and grant approvals. The provisional local government 
capital settlement provides this Council with £7.916 million of capital funding for 2021-22, 
which is £67,000 less than 2020-21 but £1.5 million more than was originally anticipated. 
This is as a result of Welsh Government continuing to provide an additional £35 million of 
general capital grant (included in the 2019-20 and 2020-21 budgets) to enable local 
authorities to respond to the joint priority of decarbonisation, including for housing and 
economic recovery following Covid-19.  No indications have been given for 2022-23 or 
beyond but it is assumed that the funding will return to the pre 2018-19 levels.   

 
4.4 Settlement Implications for 2022 to 2025  
 
4.4.1  When the draft Welsh Government budget was announced on 21 December, the Minister 

for Finance and Trefnydd stated that, following the one-year budget for 2021-22, funding 
implications for the WG Budget for 2022-23 and beyond will be determined as part of the 
next UK Spending Review, which is planned for 2021. She also indicated that it is 
possible that the UK budget on 3 March 2021 may have a considerable bearing on the 
Welsh Government’s finances for 2021-22, through further spending or new taxation 
measures.  

 
4.5  Transfers into and out of the 2021-22 Revenue Settlement 
 
4.5.1  The provisional settlement includes information on a small number of transfers into the 

Revenue Support Grant (RSG), the only one affecting Bridgend being in respect of the 
Teachers’ Pay Grant 2020-21 (£3.981 million across Wales) for the period April 2021 
to August 2021.  

 
4.6  Specific Grants 
 
4.6.1  The picture on changes to specific grants is available at an all Wales level, but not yet 

at an individual authority level for most grants. While many of the grants remain 
unchanged from the 2020-21 figure, there are decreases on an all-Wales level in the 
Sustainable Waste Management grant of around 5.7%, the Childcare Offer grant 
(18.3%), and the Health and Social Services Transformation Fund has reduced by 
20%. However, there are also increases in other grant schemes, including the Social 
Care Workforce Grant which has increased by an additional £10 million, from £40 
million to £50 million, as outlined in the Welsh Government Budget, and support for 
Minority Ethnic and Gypsy, Roma, Traveller learners.  Welsh Government has advised 
that the specific information will be updated for the final settlement. 

 
4.6.2 In relation to additional funding for Covid-19, the Welsh Government received £766 

million in ‘consequentials’ from the November Spending Review. Some of this funding 
will go via specific grants to a small number of areas including the funding for free 
school meals in holidays, funding to support catch up learning in education and to top 
up the Homeless Prevention Grant.  

 
 
4.7 Current Year (2020-21) Financial Performance  
 
4.7.1 The in-year financial position as at 31 December 2020 is shown below. 
  

Page 163



  

 

 

 
Table 1- Comparison of budget against projected outturn at 31 December 2020 

 

Directorate/Budget Area 
Original 
Budget 

Revised 
Budget 

Projected 
Outturn Q3 

Projected 
Over / (Under) 

Spend  

Projected 
Over / (Under) 

Spend 
  2020-21 2020-21 2020-21 2020-21 Qtr 2 2020-21 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Directorate           
            
Education and Family Support 120,931 123,512 124,839 1,327 1,494 
Social Services and Wellbeing 70,894 73,240 74,052 812 420 
Communities  27,790 28,379 27,627 (752) 456 

Chief Executive's 18,228 18,773 18,573 (200) 1,118 

Total Directorate Budgets 237,843 243,904 245,091 1,187 3,488 

Council Wide Budgets           

            

Capital Financing  7,329 7,329 7,129 (200) (200) 

Levies 7,459 7,460 7,472 12 11 

Apprenticeship Levy 650 650 655 5 (14) 

Council Tax Reduction 
Scheme 

15,254 15,254 15,254 
0 

1 

Insurance Premiums 1,438 1,438 1,376 (62) (51) 

Repairs & Maintenance 870 753 753 0 0 

Pension Related Costs 430 430 435 5 0 

Other Council Wide Budgets 15,612 9,167 2,230 (6,937) (3,266) 

Total Council Wide Budgets 49,042 42,481 35,304 (7,177) (3,519) 

            
Appropriation to Earmarked 
Reserves 0 500 5,799 5,299 0 

            

Total 286,885 286,885 286,194 (691) (31) 

 
 

4.7.2  The overall projected position at 31st December 2020 is a net under spend of £691,000, 
comprising £1.187 million net over spend on directorates and a £7.177 million net under 
spend on corporate budgets, offset by net appropriation to earmarked reserves of 
£5.299 million, including £2.5 million to support capital investment. Due to the Covid-19 
pandemic, the position during this financial year has been very fluid and relies heavily 
on securing additional funding from Welsh Government to support cost pressures and 
loss of income. The directorate position has improved significantly since quarter 2 and 
it is hoped that it will continue to improve during the remainder of the financial year. The 
main reasons for the increase in under spend on ‘Other Council Wide Budgets’ are due 
to the movement on inflation rates since budget setting (CPI was 1.7% in February 2020 
and had reduced to 0.3% by November 2020) and therefore the reduced requirement 
to allocate budget to service areas in-year (£1.5 million), successful WG COVID-19 
claims of £3.4 million since quarter 2 that otherwise would have had to have been met 
from this budget and additional grant funding being made available from WG to 
contribute to the increased costs of teachers’ pay.  

 
4.8 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2021-22 to 2024-25 
 
4.8.1   This section of the report sets out the proposed MTFS for the Council for the next four 

financial years, based on the latest information available from Welsh Government. It does 

Page 164



  

 

 

not include fixed funding, expenditure or activity projections, but sets best, worst and 
most likely scenarios for the resources that will be available. The MTFS is reviewed 
regularly and amended as additional information becomes available, with the detail for 
future years being developed over the period of the strategy.   
 

4.8.2  The development of the MTFS 2021-22 to 2024-25 is led by Cabinet and Corporate 
Management Board (CMB) and takes into account auditors’ views, the recommendations 
of the Budget Research and Evaluation Panel (BREP), views of scrutiny and issues 
arising during 2020-21, underpinned by the ongoing aim to embed a culture of medium 
term financial planning closely aligned with corporate planning.  

 
4.8.3  Implementation of the MTFS will continue to be led by Cabinet and CMB, supported by 

financial and performance data.  Cabinet and CMB will seek to ensure that it is widely 
understood by internal stakeholders (Members, employees and Unions) and external 
stakeholders (citizens, businesses and partners).   

 
4.9 MTFS Principles 
 
4.9.1  As well as consideration of future income and expenditure scenarios, the MTFS provides 

a set of clear principles which drive the budget and spending decisions over 2021-2025 
and which Members and others can examine and judge the Council’s financial 
performance against. The thirteen MTFS principles are: 
 
1. There will be a “One-Council” approach to the Medium Term Financial Strategy with 

a view on long term, sustainable savings proposals that are focused on re-shaping 
the Council over the full period of the MTFS.  

 
2. All budget related decisions will align with the principles of the Well-being of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015. 
 
3. The Council will continue to meet its statutory obligations and demonstrate how it 

directs resources to meet the Council’s corporate priorities. Other resource 
strategies (including the Treasury Management Strategy and Capital Strategy) are 
kept under review to maintain alignment with the MTFS and the Corporate Plan. 

 
4. The financial control system is sufficiently robust to support the delivery of financial 

plans and mitigate corporate risks, with adequate provision being made to meet 
outstanding and reasonably foreseen liabilities. 

 
5.      All services will seek to provide value for money and contribute to public value, and 

will continuously review budgets to identify efficiency savings.  
 

  6.      Financial plans will provide an optimum balance between income and 
 expenditure for both capital and revenue, with opportunities for generating 

additional income taken in line with the Council’s Income Generation and Charging 
Policy. 

 
7. Savings proposals are fully developed and include realistic delivery timescales prior 

to inclusion in the annual budget. An MTFS Budget Reduction Contingency 
Reserve will be maintained to mitigate against unforeseen delays. 

 

Page 165



  

 

 

8.      Balances are not used to fund recurrent budget pressures or to keep down Council 
Tax rises unless an equivalent budget reduction or increase in Council Tax is made 
in the following year in recognition that balances are a one-off resource. 

 
9.      The Council Fund balance should be set at a prudent but not excessive level. This 

will normally be maintained at a level of 5% of the Council’s net budget, excluding 
schools.  

 
10.    Capital investment decisions are in alignment with the Council’s Capital Strategy, 

and mitigate any statutory risks taking account of return on investment and sound 
option appraisals.  

 
11.    Prudential borrowing is only used to support the capital programme where it is 

affordable and sustainable within the Council’s overall borrowing limits and the 
revenue budget over the long term.  

 
12.    Decisions on the treatment of surplus assets are based on an assessment of the 

potential contribution to the revenue budget and the capital programme. 
 

13.    Resources are allocated to deliver transformational projects based on clear 
strategic plans that are kept under review by Corporate Directors to maintain 
alignment with the MTFS. 

 
4.9.2  The MTFS Budget Reduction Contingency Reserve referenced in Principle 7 enables the 

Council to manage delays or unforeseen obstacles to the delivery of significant MTFS 
budget reduction proposals. No allocations have been made to date from this reserve, but 
further reviews will be undertaken during the remainder of the financial year, and draw 
down made accordingly, and the level of this reserve will be kept under review by the 
Section 151 officer in light of forecast difficulties in delivering specific future budget 
reduction proposals.    

 
4.10 Council Tax   

 

4.10.1  The 2021-22 draft Revenue Budget, shown in Table 6 below, assumes a Council tax 
increase of 3.9%. This is lower than the proposed increase of 4.5% included in the MTFS 
2020-21 to 2023-24 in February 2020 due to the better than anticipated provisional 
settlement and as a consequence of the responses received through the budget 
consultation. Going forward the scale of the financial challenge remains considerable 
once external pressures and risks have been taken into consideration so an assumed 
annual increase of 4.5% has been included for 2022-2025.  

 
4.11 MTFS Resource Envelope 
 
4.11.1  The published provisional 2021-22 Aggregate External Finance (AEF) figure is an 

increase of 4.3% for Bridgend.  In the MTFS 2020-21 to 2023-24, it was stated that the 
Council would continue to work towards a most likely scenario in its planning 
assumptions for 2021-22 of an annual reduction in AEF of -1.5% and an assumed 
increase in Council tax of 4.5% for 2021-22 to 2023-24, recognising the ongoing 
uncertainty around our funding in future years following Brexit. Whilst the settlement for 
next year is significantly better than anticipated, the proposed council tax increase is 
3.9% to reflect the number of pressures facing the Council. Going forward, and given the 
uncertainty and the potential longer term pressures resulting from the impact of the 

Page 166



  

 

 

pandemic, Brexit and demographic increases in 2021-22 onwards, the proposed Council 
Tax increase for 2021-22 onwards will remain at 4.5%.  

 
4.11.2  The MTFS is regularly reviewed against service performance and external economic and 

fiscal information to ensure that early action can be taken as necessary to keep it and the 
Corporate Plan on track. This is particularly important given the uncertainties around 
Brexit and the fallout from the Covid-19 pandemic, in the coming months and years.  In 
view of these uncertainties, the MTFS has been developed taking into account possible 
resource envelope scenarios based on revised percentage changes in AEF shown in 
Table 2. These were previously set at: 

 
 Best scenario:  -1.0% 
 Most likely scenario: -1.5% 
 Worst scenario:  -3.0% 
 

4.11.3  They have been revised for the MTFS 2021-25 to take into account the actual funding 
levels received over recent years, the worst of which was -0.1% in 2019-20, but will 
continue to be monitored and will be amended as further fiscal and economic information 
is made known.    

   
 Table 2 – MTFS Scenarios: % Change in AEF  
 

  2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 

  
% 

Change 
% 

Change 
% 

Change 
% 

Change 

Best Scenario +4.3% +1.0% +1.0% +1.0% 

Most Likely Scenario  +4.3% 0% 0% 0% 

Worst Scenario +4.3% -1.0% -1.0% -1.0% 

  
4.11.4  Table 3 shows the Council’s potential net budget reduction requirement based on the 

forecast resource envelope, inescapable spending assumptions and assumed Council 
Tax increases. 

 
 Table 3: MTFS Potential Net Budget Reductions Requirement 

 

  2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 Total 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Best Scenario 1,760 4,837 4,637 4,431 15,665 

Most Likely Scenario  1,760 6,959 6,780 6,596 22,095 

Worst Scenario 1,760 9,081 8,881 8,676 28,398 

 
4.12 Managing within the MTFS Resource Envelope 
 
4.12.1  The financial forecast for 2021-2025 is predicated on £22.095 million budget reductions 

being met from Directorate and Corporate budgets and these are referred to later in the 
report. It is also predicated on a number of spending assumptions, including: 

  
o Projections for demographic changes, including an ageing population and an 

increasing number of young people with complex disabilities living into 
adulthood and adding progressively to the demand for care. 

Page 167



  

 

 

 
o Inflationary uplifts to support specific contractual commitments including 

increases in energy costs. However, this is particularly uncertain at present, 
despite current inflation rates being low, and a risk to the Council, following the 
UK’s departure from the European Union. The potential impact on delays in 
imports to the UK, and on the supply chain, could lead to higher prices faced by 
the Council for its goods and services.   

 
o The future impact of national policies and new legislation which may not 

accompanied by commensurate funding, such as the Welsh Government’s 
commitment to eradicate homelessness and the implications of the Local 
Government and Elections (Wales) Bill. 

 
o Fees and Charges will increase by the statutory minimum or CPI (+0.3% at  
  November 2020) plus 1%. 
 
o Potential increases in staffing costs, including a confirmed 2.2% increase in the 

national living wage from April 2021 (from £8.72 to £8.91), along with the impact 
of staff pay increases in 2021-22. These include the full year effect of the 
teachers’ pay increase of September 2020 (minimum 2.75%, overall increase 
3.1%), the unknown teachers’ pay increase in September 2021 and potential 
increases for non-teachers in April 2021 following the increase of 2.75% in 
2020-21. During the Spending Review in November 2020 the Chancellor 
indicated that pay rises in most of the public sector, excluding the NHS, would 
be paused next year, but those who earn less than £24,000 will be guaranteed a 
pay rise of at least £250. However, this has been challenged by unions and 
could change. Therefore any increases higher than anticipated would 
significantly increase the overall pay bill, and the amount we pay in respect of 
external contracts.  

 
 

4.13 Net Budget Reduction Requirement 
 
4.13.1  Table 4 shows the current position in respect of addressing the most likely forecast 

budget reduction requirement of £22.095 million.  It shows that £5.584 million of budget 
reduction proposals have already been identified over the period of the MTFS, including 
the full £1.760 million required for 2021-22. The table shows that the Council still needs 
to develop proposals to the value of £16.5 million and a range of options are under 
consideration including: 

 

 Digital transformation of wider Council services  

 Income generation opportunities 

 Further reductions in employee numbers 

 Working with partners to asset transfer and protect community facilities 
  

Page 168



  

 

 

Table 4 - Risk Status of Budget Reduction Proposals 2021-22 to 2024-25 
 

Year 

GREEN: AMBER: RED:      

Total 
Required 

Proposal 
developed 

and 
deliverable 

Proposal in 
development 
but includes  
delivery risk 

Proposals 
not fully 

developed 
and include 

high 
delivery 

risk 

Budget 
reductions 

Identified so 
far 

Budget 
reductions 

not yet 
developed 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

2021-22 698 664 398 1,760 0 1,760 

2022-23 0 1,123 316 1,439 5,520 6,959 

2023-24 0 1,092 279 1,371 5,409 6,780 

2024-25 0 1014 0 1,014 5,582 6,596 

Total  698 3,893 993 5,584 16,511 22,095 

Percentage 
of total 
required 

3% 18% 4% 25% 75% 100% 

 
 
4.13.2  Table 4 illustrates the difficult position that the Council finds itself in financially over the 

life of the MTFS. For 2022-23 only £1.439 million (21%) of savings have been identified, 
the majority of which relates to school delegated budgets, which leaves the Council at 
risk of not balancing the budget. This will depend on the level of settlement that the 
Council receives and the total budget reductions required to balance the budget. If the 
Council receives a similar settlement to that proposed for 2021-22 then the position will 
not be as stark, but there are a number of uncertainties going forward which do not allow 
us to plan on this basis. Consequently we will continue to identify options to close the gap 
during the remainder of the financial year and into 2021-22, at the same time seeking 
additional funding from Welsh Government, particularly for new responsibilities. 

 
4.13.3  The budget reduction proposals identified can be categorised as: 

 
i. Smarter Use of Resources; 
ii. Managed Service Reductions; 
iii. Collaboration and Service Transformation; and 
iv. Policy Changes.  

 
4.13.4  The value of budget reduction proposals identified to date is shown in Table 5 by 

category. The categories are also shown by individual proposal in Appendix B.  
 
 Table 5 – Budget Reduction Proposals Identified 2021-22 to 2024-25  

 

  
2021-22 2022-23 2023-24 2024-25 Total 

%  
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Smarter Use of Resources   919 1,123 1,092 1,014 4,148 74% 

Managed Service Reductions 431 316 279 0 1,026 18% 

Collaboration & Service Transformation   300 0 0 0 300 5% 

Policy Changes  110 0 0 0 110 2% 

Total Identified  1,760 1,439 1,371 1,014 5,584 100% 

Page 169



  

 

 

 
 

4.13.5  The table shows that almost three quarters of the proposed budget reductions identified 
so far will come from Smarter Use of Resources, for example through: 

 

 Upfront capital investment, to generate revenue savings; 

 Smarter use of our assets and energy efficiencies; 

 Reviews of staffing structures; 

 Working with partners to protect sustainable community facilities. 
 

4.13.6  Budget reduction proposals relating to Collaboration and Service Transformation amount 
to 5% of the total budget reductions. Policy changes amount to 2% and include reducing 
services to the statutory minimum as well as cutting some discretionary services. The 
policy change proposals are subject to consultation.   

 
4.13.7  All of the proposals have implications for the Council workforce given that around two 

thirds of the Council’s net revenue budget relates to pay costs.  It follows that annual real 
terms’ reductions in Council budgets over the next four years will lead to a reduced 
workforce over the MTFS period.  The intention is to manage such a reduction through 
the continuation of strong vacancy management, redeployment, early retirements and 
voluntary redundancies, but some compulsory redundancies will continue to be 
considered and could be necessary.   

 
4.14 Scrutiny and Challenge 
 
4.14.1  A full consultation “Fit for the Future” was launched on 19 October 2020 and ran until 13 

December 2020. The consultation was different in format to previous years and asked 
citizens to share their views on how they think the Council should shape its services 
going forward, as part of its ‘Restart, Recover and Renew’ strategy, in response to the 
Covid-19 pandemic. The intention was to understand how the public felt that the Council 
could look like and how it could deliver sustainable and effective services for the next 5 to 
10 years.  The consultation included an online survey, a social media / web campaign 
and direct marketing to target audiences. The results will be collated and presented to 
Cabinet on 19 January 2021 in order to further inform decisions on the MTFS.  

 
 
4.15 2021-22 Draft Revenue Budget 

  
4.15.1  The following table shows the draft revenue budget for 2021-22.  
  

Page 170



  

 

 

 
  Table 6 – Draft Revenue Budget 2021-22 

    
       

 
 
4.16 Council Tax Implications 

 
4.16.1  Based on the proposed budget of £298.956 million, the Council Tax increase for 2021-22 

will be 3.9%. This is lower than the 4.5% proposed in the budget consultation and reflects 
the views of the majority of respondents who were in favour of only increasing council tax 
slightly or up to 4.5% in order to protect the most important services. It also takes into 
account the better than anticipated settlement, but is mindful of the ongoing pressures 
still facing the Council. 

 
4.17 Pay, Prices and Demographics 
  
4.17.1  The National Joint Council (NJC) negotiating body had formulated three options (ranging 

from 5%, or £10 per hour, to 10%) for the ‘headline’ pay claim for NJC workers (which 
covers the majority of non-teaching local government workers) for 2021-22. The intention 
was for the trade union side (Unison, GMB and Unite) to agree a claim for submission to 
the Local Government Association early in 2021. This was announced prior to the 
outcome of the Comprehensive Spending Review in November where the Chancellor 
indicated that pay rises for the majority of public sector workers would be paused next 
year, but those earning under £24,000 would be guaranteed a pay rise of at least £250. 
The Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) Leader has made representations to 

Revised    

Budget         

2020-21

Pay / Prices
Budget 

Pressures

Budget 

Reduction 

Proposals

 Revenue  

Budget         

2021-22

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Service Directorate Budgets:

Central Education & Family Support 21,754 79 1,860 -226 23,467

Schools 101,414 1,019 1,045 0 103,478

Education and Family Support 123,168 1,098 2,905 -226 126,945

Social Services & Wellbeing 73,239 0 1,119 -315 74,043

Communities 28,579 0 381 -823 28,137

Chief Executives 18,660 0 2,774 -201 21,233

Total Directorate Budgets 243,646 1,098 7,179 -1,565 250,358

Council Wide Budgets:

Capital Financing 7,329 7,329

Levies 7,460 323 7,783

Repairs and Maintenance 790 -120 670

Council Tax Reduction Scheme 15,254 400 15,654

Apprenticeship Levy 650 650

Pension Related Costs 430 430

Insurance Premiums 1,438 -75 1,363

Other Council Wide Budgets 9,888 4,831 14,719

Total Council Wide Budgets 43,239 5,231 323 -195 48,598

 Net Budget Requirement 286,885 6,329 7,502 -1,760 298,956

Page 171



  

 

 

the Chancellor, expressing his concerns about this, and the likely position is still unclear. 
Provision has been set aside for a potential pay award, but the value of this, and 
therefore the call on the budget, is very much unknown at this stage, and may not be 
known until during the 2021-22 financial year.  

 
4.17.2  In addition, whilst the teachers’ pay award has been agreed for the 2020-21 academic 

year, up until the end of August 2021, there will be additional pressure from any 
subsequent pay award to be implemented from September 2021.  

 
4.17.3  Funding for price inflation has been allocated to service budgets, where known, but the 

majority, including provision for increases in rents, allowances and contractual 
commitments are still largely unknown and will be held centrally. A further review of 
allocations will be undertaken before the final budget is agreed and any necessary 
amendments made. Welsh Government has already announced that there will be no 
increase in the business rates multiplier for next year.  

 
4.17.4  The remaining inflationary provision will be retained centrally and allocated during the 

year as any unknown or unforeseen contract price inflation is agreed, in particular where 
the index is set after the Council’s budget is approved. 

 
4.17.5  In addition to increases in pupil numbers in schools in recent years, which puts pressure 

on school delegated budgets, there is also evidence of an increase in the older persons’ 
population. Over the last 6 years the average population increase has been around 1.8%, 
resulting in increased pressure on a number of service areas, including residential care, 
home care and the assessment and care management teams.  

 
4.18 School Delegated Budgets  
 
4.18.1  In 2020-21 school budgets were again protected from the proposed 1% annual efficiency 

target. However, the forecast pressure and uncertainty around Council budgets for future 
years was deemed to be such that it was felt to be almost impossible not to include the 
1% efficiency target in proposals for 2021-22 onwards, given that school budgets account 
for around a third of net revenue expenditure. However, following receipt of the better 
than anticipated 2021-22 provisional settlement from Welsh Government, the reducing 
balances that schools are experiencing and the additional costs they have incurred 
during the pandemic, school budgets have again been protected from the 1% efficiency 
target in 2021-22.  

 
4.18.2  There are a significant number of pressures on school delegated budgets for 2021-22 

and beyond, not least the full year cost of the teachers’ pay award, increases in pupil 
numbers and pressures of funding additional learning needs. This includes the 
establishment of new provisions and support for pupils with complex medical needs, 
moderate learning difficulties and for those with autistic spectrum disorders, both through 
the medium of Welsh and English. The total impact of these pressures is around £2.06 
million, and these are included in the proposed budget. 

 
4.18.3  It should be noted that the efficiency target is maintained for 2022-23 and beyond, in 

recognition of the pressures stated above, uncertainty around future budget settlements 
and mounting external pressures across Council services.  

  

Page 172



  

 

 

4.19 Budget Pressures  
 
4.19.1  During 2020-21 a number of unavoidable service budget pressures have arisen for 2021-

22 and future years, and they are detailed in Appendix A. The total of the budget 
pressures identified for 2021-22 is £7.502 million, but there are already additional 
pressures identified for future years, of at least a further £7 million. A number of these are 
linked to the Covid-19 pandemic and will be recurrent pressures as we move into the 
“renew” phase. A number of the figures are provisional at this stage and will be refined as 
further information becomes available.  As such they may change between draft and final 
budget.  

 
4.19.2 Some of the more significant pressures include: 
 

 Provision of a range of support for pupils with additional learning needs in 
mainstream and special schools, through the medium of Welsh and English. 

 Demographic growth, both pupil numbers in schools and increases in the older 
persons’ population, which place additional pressures on school budgets and adult 
social services.  

 Increased costs of Direct Payments as more families choose to arrange and pay 
for their care services themselves, rather than through the Council. 

 Responding to and providing support for homeless individuals, and eradicating 
rough sleeping, on a longer term basis. 

 
4.19.3 In addition, a number of other pressures, particularly in the communities directorate, have 

been funded from earmarked reserves, where one-off expenditure, or via the annual £2 
million public realm fund. This includes funding for highways clearance, rights of way 
maintenance and additional crematorium costs as a result of the pandemic.  

 
4.20 Budget Reduction Proposals 
 
4.20.1  Budget reduction proposals of £1.760 million for 2021-22 have been identified from 

service and corporate budgets to achieve a balanced budget, detailed in Appendix B.   
 
4.21 Council Wide Budgets 
 
4.21.1  Council Wide budgets include funding for the Council Tax Reduction Scheme, costs of 

financing capital expenditure, levies, centrally held pay and prices provisions, insurance 
budgets, discretionary rate relief and provision for redundancy related costs. A number of 
these budgets are fixed and unavoidable, and therefore cannot be reduced without 
putting the Council at risk. The higher than anticipated pay awards in recent years and 
unprecedented amount of budget pressures has put also additional pressure on these 
budgets. 

 
4.22 Fees and Charges  
  
4.22.1  Generally, income from fees and charges will be increased by CPI (+0.3% at November  

 2020) plus 1%, subject to rounding, or in line with statutory or service requirements. 
Schedules of fees and charges will be reported separately, as usual, under Delegated 
Powers.  

  

Page 173



  

 

 

 
4.23 Council Reserves 
 
4.23.1  In line with the MTFS principle 8, the Council Fund will normally be maintained at a level 

of 5% of the Council’s net budget, excluding schools.  Details of the Council’s earmarked 
reserves position at 31 December 2020 are shown in Table 7. These are kept under 
review, and will be drawn down where required, and the position will be updated in the 
Final MTFS report to Council in February 2021. 

 
 Table 7 – Earmarked Reserves 
 

 

 4.24 Capital Programme and Capital Financing Strategy 

4.24.1  This section of the report deals with the proposed Capital Programme for 2020-21 to 
2030-31, which forms part of, but extends beyond the MTFS.  It has been developed in 
line with the MTFS principles and reflects the Welsh Government draft capital settlement 
for 2021-22, which provides General Capital Funding (GCF) for the Council for 2021-22 
of £7.916 million of which £3.953 million is un-hypothecated supported borrowing and the 
remainder £3.963 million is provided through general capital grant. Welsh Government 
has also informed local authorities that the £20 million public highways refurbishment 
grant, that was due to end in March 2021, will be extended for a further year.   

 

Opening 

Balance 

01-Apr-20 Reserve

Net 

Additions/Re 

classification

Draw-

down Unwound

Closing 

Balance

31-Dec-20

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Corporate Reserves:

(9,555)         Education & Family Support (661)             50           -          (10,166)       

(410)            Social Services & Wellbeing (42)               54           -          (398)            

(11,289)       Communities (689)             55          40            (11,883)       

(8,031)         Chief Executives (2,200)          350         -          (9,881)         

(14,004)       Non-Directorate (258)              -        -          (14,262)       

(43,289)        Total Corporate Reserves (3,850)           509        40            (46,590)        

Directorate Earmarked Reserves:

(289)            Education & Family Support  -               -       50            (239)            

(2,027)         Social Services & Wellbeing (291)             122        350          (1,846)         

(4,991)         Communities (1,291)           -       62            (6,220)         

(824)            Chief Executives (883)             167         -          (1,540)         

(8,131)          Total Directorate Reserves (2,465)           289        462          (9,845)          

Equalisation & Grant Earmarked Reserves:

(961)            Education & Family Support  -              143         -          (818)            

(65)              Social Services & Wellbeing  -              5             -          (60)              

(1,902)         Communities  -               -       14            (1,888)         

(767)            Chief Executives  -              27           -          (740)            

(3,695)          Total Equalisation Reserves  -              175        14            (3,506)          

(108)             School Balances  -               -         -          (108)             

(55,223)        Total Reserves (6,315)           973        516          (60,049)        

Page 174



  

 

 

4.24.2  The original budget approved by Council on 26 February 2020 has been further revised 
and approved by Council during the year to incorporate budgets brought forward from 
2019-20, slippage into 2021-22 and any new schemes and grant approvals. A review has 
also been undertaken of the capital resources available to the Council, along with the 
capital pressures that it faces. Due to the limited capital resource available, following a 
number of years of significant investment in the Council’s infrastructure, service 
managers have not been asked to submit capital bids for funding at this stage.   

 
4.24.3  Following the approval by Council of the Capital Strategy in February each year, and the 

subsequent quarterly monitoring reports to Cabinet and Council, any amendments to the 
capital programme are usually dealt with during the year rather than just as part of the 
MTFS.  

 
4.24.4  The capital programme contains a number of annual allocations that are met from the 

total general capital funding for the Council. The allocations for 2020-21 are shown in 
Table 8 below, along with the proposed allocations for 2021-22: 

 
  Table 8 – 2020-21 and 2021-22 Annual Allocations of Capital Funding 
 

  
Actual 

2020-21 
£’000 

Proposed 
2021-22 

£’000 

Highways Structural Works 200 340 

Carriageway Capital Works 250 250 

Disabled Facilities Grant 1,950 1,950 

Housing Renewal / Empty Property Schemes 100 100 

Special Regeneration Funding 540 0 

Minor Works 1,130 1,130 

Community Projects 50 50 

Corporate Capital Fund (Renewals / Match Funding) 200 200 

Street lighting / Bridge infrastructure replacement 400 400 

ICT equipment replacement 0 400 

Total 4,820 4,820 

 
 

4.24.5  In December 2014, Council agreed to extend the annual allocation for Special 
Regeneration Funding until 2020-21 to provide match funding for regeneration schemes 
under the Welsh Government’s Structural Funding Programme 2014-20. This provided 
flexibility in the Capital Programme to enable the Council to take advantage of and 
maximise external funding opportunities, mitigate funding shortfalls which can occur 
between grant bid and offers stages and provide some contingency for additional 
spending pressures on regeneration projects. This has been considered in the light of 
Brexit and future funding opportunities and there is also an earmarked reserve set aside 
for once the SRF has been exhausted to provide an element of match funding for future 
schemes. Consequently it is proposed to continue to remove this ring-fenced allocation 
for future years, with all bids for funding following the same process as outlined in the 
Capital Strategy. 

 

Page 175



  

 

 

4.24.6  Since the Covid-19 pandemic, a large proportion of the Council’s staff have been working 
from home, and the Council has had to invest in significant amounts of ICT equipment, 
including laptops, supporting infrastructure, and other hardware and software. Whilst 
50% of the funding has been met by Welsh Government, the Council has had to fund the 
balance, which has exhausted all existing capital ICT budgets. Funding is required on an 
annual basis to meet the costs of replacing warranty expired ICT equipment, and based 
on previous cohorts of laptops (pre Covid-19) it is known that the annual cost to replace 
will be in the region of £300,000 - £400,000. This will increase once the Covid-19 laptops 
become warranty expired. 

 
4.24.7  It is therefore recommended that £400,000 of the unwound SRF funding be re-allocated 

towards ICT equipment replacement to enable the Council to replace and renew ICT on a 
timely basis. The balance would be used to supplement the funding for highways capital 
repairs, which could alleviate pressure on the highways revenue budget.  An updated 
capital programme, incorporating these changes, will be included in the final MTFS in 
February 2021. 

 
4.25 Capital Receipts 

 
4.25.1 The Council originally estimated that around £21 million could be generated as part of the 

enhanced disposals programme which commenced in 2014. The final sale of this 
programme completed on 2 December 2020 bringing in a capital receipt of £2.56 million. 
This has brought the total receipts for the enhanced disposal programme to £21.36 
million. In addition to this, there is an additional £176,000 held in escrow, part of which 
may also be released to the Council. Of the total sum received, around £9 million relates 
to school buildings and land vacated through the 21st Century Schools Programme, to be 
used as match funding for the programme.  It excludes any receipts anticipated from the 
sale of Waterton or Porthcawl Regeneration sites which will be the focus of the disposal 
programme in the future. Receipts are subject to the exchange of contracts, so it is 
prudent not to commit them until we have a contractual agreement. 

 
4.26 Prudential (Unsupported) Borrowing 
 
4.26.1  Total Prudential Borrowing taken out as at 1 April 2020 was £44.563 million, of which 

£26.413 million was outstanding. It is estimated that the total borrowed will increase to 
£47.136 million by the end of this financial year.  

 

4.26.2  Future prudential borrowing could include an estimated £2.3 million towards the costs of 
the 21st Century Schools Band B Programme. 

 
5.0  Effect upon policy framework & procedure rules 
 
5.1  The budget setting process is outlined within the Council’s Constitution and Financial 

Procedure Rules.  
 

6.0 Equality Impact Assessment 
  
6.1  The proposals contained within this report cover a wide range of services and it is 

inevitable that the necessary budget reductions will impact on the local population in 
different ways.  In developing these proposals, consideration has been given to their 
potential impact on protected groups within the community and on how to avoid a 
disproportionate impact on people within these groups. 

 

Page 176



  

 

 

6.2  An Equality Impact Assessment will be carried out and included within the Final MTFS in 
February 2021.  

 
7.0 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1  The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides a framework for 

embedding sustainable development principles within the activities of Council and has 
major implications for the long-term planning of finances and service provision. The 7 
well-being goals identified in the Act have driven the Council’s three well-being 
objectives: 

 
1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy  

 
2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient  

 
3. Smarter use of resources  

 
The well-being objectives are designed to complement each other and be part of an 
integrated way of working to improve wellbeing for people in Bridgend County. In 
developing the MTFS, officers have considered the importance of balancing short-term 
needs in terms of meeting savings targets, with safeguarding the ability to meet longer-
term objectives.  

 
7.2  The proposals contained within this report cover a wide range of services and it is 

inevitable that the necessary budget reductions will impact on the wellbeing goals in 
different ways. A Wellbeing of Future Generations Assessment will be undertaken on 
proposed individual projects and activities where relevant and will feed into specific 
reports to Cabinet or Council.  

 
7.3  The Council’s approach to meeting its responsibilities under the Well-being of Future 

Generations (Wales) Act 2015, including acting in accordance with the sustainable 
development principle, is reflected in a number of areas within the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy, not least: 

 
 

5 Ways of Working Examples 

Long Term  Outlining the impact of a number of different funding 
scenarios (Best, Most Likely and Worst) to provide an 
element of flexibility to the Council. 

 Majority of savings generated from making smarter use 
of resources with service reductions kept to a minimum 
and only as a last resort. 

 The development of a Capital Strategy and 10 year 
capital programme which reflects the Council’s 
affordability in terms of capital receipts and borrowing. 

 Investment in capital schemes that support the 
Council’s corporate priorities and benefits the County 
Borough over a longer period. 

Prevention  Investment in preventative measures to reduce the 
burden on more costly statutory services.    

Collaboration  Savings generated from collaboration and integrated 
working. 

Page 177



  

 

 

Integration  Explicit links between the Corporate Plan, the Capital 
Strategy, the Treasury Management Strategy and the 
Medium Term Financial Strategy 

Involvement  A robust budget consultation exercise, including 
surveys, community engagement stands and social 
media debates, to inform proposals.  

 
 
7.4  The above features are aimed at ensuring the Council’s finances are as healthy as they 

can be for future generations. Although resources are limited, they have been targeted in 
a way that reflects the Council’s priorities, including the seven wellbeing goals included in 
Bridgend’s Well-being Plan, and this is reflected in the relevant appendices. Where 
possible, the Council has aimed to protect front line services and invest to save, with 
budget reductions targeted at making smarter use of resources, commercialisation, 
collaboration and transformation.  The Well-Being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015 Assessment is attached at Appendix C.   

 
8.0  Financial implications 
 
8.1  This report outlines the financial issues that Council is requested to consider as part of 

the 2021-22 to 2024-25 MTFS. The Council’s Section 151 Officer is required to report 
annually on the robustness of the level of reserves. The current and future anticipated 
level of Council reserves is sufficient to protect the Council in light of unknown demands 
or emergencies and current funding levels. It must be emphasised that the biggest 
financial risks the Council is exposed to at the present time relate to the uncertainty of 
Welsh Government funding, both generally for local government into the medium term 
with recent one-year settlements, and specifically any ongoing funding to support the 
additional cost pressures and loss of income into the next and future years as a result of 
Covid-19, the increasing difficulty in the delivery of planned budget reductions as well as 
the identification of further proposals. Therefore, it is imperative that the Council Fund 
balance is managed in accordance with the MTFS Principle 9, as set out in the MTFS, 
and it is essential that revenue service expenditure and capital expenditure is contained 
within the identified budgets. 
 

8.2  The Section 151 Officer is also required to report to Council if they do not believe that 
they have sufficient resource to discharge their role as required by s114 of the Local 
Government Act 1988. Members should note that there is currently sufficient resource to 
discharge this role. 
 

8.3  The proposed budget includes estimates which take into account circumstances and 
events which exist or are reasonably foreseeable at the time of preparation.  Subject to 
the risks identified the proposed MTFS provides a firm basis for managing the Council’s 
resources for the year 2021-22 and beyond. 

 
 
9.0  Recommendation 

 
9.1  It is recommended that Cabinet submits for consultation with Overview and Scrutiny 

Committees the 2021-22 annual budget and development of the MTFS 2021-22 to 2024-
25, as set out in this report, prior to presenting a final version for approval by Council in 
February 2021. 

 

Page 178



  

 

 

 
Gill Lewis 
Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change (Section 151 Officer) 
January 2021 
  
 
 
 

Contact Officer: Deborah Exton 
   Interim Deputy Head of Finance and Deputy S151 Officer 
 
Telephone:  01656 643604 
 
Email:   deborah.exton@bridgend.gov.uk 
 
Postal Address: Raven’s Court 
   Brewery Lane 
   Bridgend 
   CF31 4AP 
 

Background documents:  Individual Directorate Monitoring Reports 
     MTFS Report to Council – 26 February 2020 

Provisional Local Government Revenue and Capital Settlements 
2021-22 

 

Page 179



This page is intentionally left blank



2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

Recurring One-Off Recurring Recurring Recurring

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

EFS1 Education and Family 

Support

Helping People and Communities to be 

more Healthy and Resilient
Increased demand on Complex Medical 1:1 support provided at Primary and 

Secondary Schools. 150

EFS2
Education and Family 

Support

Helping People and Communities to be 

more Healthy and Resilient

Other Local Authority recoupment income shortfall due to increased demand 

from Bridgend pupils to attend Heronsbridge and Ysgol Bryn Castell.
500

EFS3
Education and Family 

Support

Supporting a Successful Sustainable 

Economy

Revenue implications for supporting the School Modernisation Programme 

(Mutual Investment Model).
500

EFS4
Education and Family 

Support

Helping People and Communities to be 

more Healthy and Resilient

Provision of an Moderate Learning Difficulties class to cater for Key Stage 2 

children accessing education through the medium of Welsh.
60

EFS5
Education and Family 

Support

Helping People and Communities to be 

more Healthy and Resilient

Additional Primary Autistic Spectrum Disorder (ASD) Learning Resource Centre / 

class to cater for Key Stage 2 children.
82

EFS6
Education and Family 

Support

Supporting a Successful Sustainable 

Economy

Projected increase in pupil numbers - demographic growth and Local 

Development Plan impact. 
903 1,203 1,101 296

EFS7
Education and Family 

Support
Core Services and Statutory Functions

Increased costs of home to school transport related to additional vehicles of all 

types, as well as the requirement in particular to provide more taxis and 

minibuses for those pupils with additional learning needs.  This includes the 

provision of specialist and independent transport for those with more complex 

additional needs. This will be a one-off pressure whilst a review is undertaken.

1,210

SSW1
Social Services & 

Wellbeing

Helping People and Communities to be 

more Healthy and Resilient

Appointment of Habilitation Officer to support habilitation and rehabilitation of 

children in Bridgend County Borough.  There are 90+ children in Bridgend 

identified as having vision loss including pre-school and complex needs children.  

The State of the Nation report recommends that there should be 1 x Habilitation 

or Rehabilitation worker per 100 children.

50

SSW2
Social Services & 

Wellbeing
Smarter Use of Resources

Increase in number of families accessing Direct Payments, along with increase in 

complexity of cases across all areas, including Children's Services.
479

SSW3
Social Services & 

Wellbeing

Helping People and Communities to be 

more Healthy and Resilient

Implications of National Living Wage uplifts on commissioned contracts within 

Social Services and Wellbeing based on confirmed 2.2% increase.
429 987 973 959

SSW4
Social Services & 

Wellbeing

Helping People and Communities to be 

more Healthy and Resilient

Increase in the Older Persons population and corresponding increase in 

pressure on services.  It is estimated that the older person population will 

increase by 1.63% in 2021, and for future years the average of the population 

increases over the last 6 years, being 1.77%, has been used.

161 355 361 367

COM1 Communities
Supporting a Successful Sustainable 

Economy

Funding to mitigate the Welsh Government reduction in Sustainable Waste 

Management Grant, to support recycling initiatives.
41

APPENDIX A

BUDGET PRESSURES 2021-22 TO 2024-25

2021-22

Ref Directorate Well-being Objective Pressure

P
age 181



2022-23 2023-24 2024-25

Recurring One-Off Recurring Recurring Recurring

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000

2021-22

Ref Directorate Well-being Objective Pressure

COM2 Communities
Supporting a Successful Sustainable 

Economy

Additional Highway Inspector - increased highway safety inspections and 

condition assessments of Highway network following All Wales Code of Practice 

review, including inspections of highway drainage assets to assist in flood 

management.  

40

COM3 Communities Core Services and Statutory Functions

MREC - agreement with Neath Port Talbot Council on price per tonne finalised in 

2019-20.  This pressure represents the shortfall against historic savings targets 

until 2030 or a regional facility comes on line.

300

CEX1 Chief Executives
Supporting a Successful Sustainable 

Economy

Increase to Corporate Apprenticeship budget due to level of demand from initial 

applications to recruit to hard to fill posts and build skill and capacity in key 

priority service areas.

100

CEX2 Chief Executives
Helping People and Communities to be 

more Healthy and Resilient

WG commitment to eradicate rough sleeping as part of the Covid-19 pandemic - 

the focus is to provide support for homeless individuals providing them with 

accommodation.

2,192

CEX3 Chief Executives Core Services and Statutory Functions

New Policy Officer post to lead on corporate policy development and respond to 

and take forward key actions that require research, analysis and development 

into meaningful policy proposals.

64

CEX4 Chief Executives Smarter Use of Resources

Increased costs in relation to ICT Digital Strategy Licences, in particular 

migration to Cloud based delivery model to support faster and more secure ICT 

services. 

418

CW1 Council Wide Core Services and Statutory Functions
Increase in levy in respect of Glamorgan Archives, as a result of a reduction in 

income and increase in non domestic rates and maintenance
15

CW2 Council Wide Core Services and Statutory Functions

Increase in Fire Service Precept to cover pay, price and demographic increases. 

The final budget is subject to approval by the Fire and Rescue Authority at its 

budget meeting in February 2021 so the final increase may change between 

draft and final budget. 

308

Total Budget Pressures 6,292 1,210 2,544 2,935 1,623

7,502

P
age 182



Budget Reduction Proposals 2021-22 to 2024-25
APPENDIX B

Ref. 

Links to 7 

Wellbeing 

Goals

Well-being 

Objective 
Categories Budget Reduction Proposal

Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Budget      

2020-21      

£'000 

Total Budget 

Reduction 

2021-2025 as 

% of 2020-21 

Budget 

2020-21 

Budget 

Reductions  

£'000

Proposed  

2021-22 

£'000

Indicative  

2022-23 

£'000

Indicative  

2023-24 

£'000

Indicative  

2024-25 

£'000

WELL-BEING OBJECTIVE CATEGORIES 

IP1 - Supporting a successful sustainable economy SUR- Smarter Use of Resources RAG STATUS KEY

IP2 - Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient MSR- Managed Service Reductions RED Proposals not fully developed and include high delivery risk

IP3 - Smarter use of resources CST - Collaboration and Transformation AMBER Proposal in development but includes delivery risk

NONPTY - Core services  & statutory functions PC - Policy Changes GREEN Proposal developed and deliverable

EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

CENTRAL EDUCATION & FAMILY SUPPORT

EFS1
A more equal 

Wales
IP2 PC

Phased implementation of Learner Transport 

Policy regarding statutory distances for free travel

• Savings should occur naturally as a result of the policy application 

year on year, however dispersed learners and contractual pressure 

from operators as routes become more untenable may mean it 

becomes increasingly difficult to find the identified savings.

• Risk of price increases from Contractors.

5,856 1% 75 75

EFS2
A more equal 

Wales
IP2 PC

Home to School Transport - removal of Escorts on 

primary school service with fewer than 8 pupils

Driver only supervision of pupils on school transport.  The most 

vulnerable pupils may not be supported with concerns around 

behaviour/pupil safety.  Parent groups, learners and contractor all 

likely to be opposed to change.  Negative media coverage likely.  

Reputational risk to local authority.  Health & Safety risk likely to 

increase and will need to be mitigated in other ways.

5,856 1% 35

EFS3
A more equal 

Wales
IP2 MSR Reduction in Cognition and Learning Team Reduction in support for a vulnerable group. 313 19% 110 61

EFS4
A more equal 

Wales
IP2 MSR

Reconfiguration of the team providing support to 

Gypsy and Traveller learners to create a more 

efficient service

Whilst the impact is more on the management and leadership of the 

team, this may result in some slight reduction in the service offered 

to this vulnerable group but there will still be a service offering 

support.

456 11% 50

EFS5
A prosperous 

Wales 
IP2 MSR

Reduction in Central South Consortium (CSC) 

Budget of 1%

Reduction is achievable within the overall CSC budget and will be 

mainly achieved through efficiency savings.
549 1% 17 5

EFS6
A more equal 

Wales
IP2 MSR

Reduction in the Learner Support Team (including 

statutory functions) governor/governing body 

support, child employment licensing, school 

admissions

Reduction in the Learner Support Team, primarily responsible for 

school admissions, governor/governing body support and child 

employment licensing. Significant risk in respect of school 

admissions as this is a statutory function which would need to be 

delegated to individual schools to manage, including the 

administration of school admission applications, the allocation of 

places in each school and the administration and holding of 

admission appeals.  Significant risk of statutory processes not being 

followed, overcrowding in schools, selective admission of learners 

etc.

94 20% 19

EFS7
A prosperous 

Wales 
IP2 MSR Reduction in the Education Psychology Service

Reduced central service to carry out the statutory function of 

providing advices for statements and Individual Developmental 

plans.  Risk of legal challenge. A consultation would be required.

373 19% 72

EFS8
A prosperous 

Wales 
IP3 SUR Staff restructure savings

Potential change in line management responsibilities and staff 

structures.
187 100% 109 78

Total Education and Family Support 226 200 78 0

P
age 183



Budget Reduction Proposals 2021-22 to 2024-25
APPENDIX B

Ref. 

Links to 7 

Wellbeing 

Goals

Well-being 

Objective 
Categories Budget Reduction Proposal

Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Budget      

2020-21      

£'000 

Total Budget 

Reduction 

2021-2025 as 

% of 2020-21 

Budget 

2020-21 

Budget 

Reductions  

£'000

Proposed  

2021-22 

£'000

Indicative  

2022-23 

£'000

Indicative  

2023-24 

£'000

Indicative  

2024-25 

£'000

SCHOOLS

SCH1
A prosperous 

Wales 
IP3 SUR

Efficiency savings against School Delegated 

Budgets 

The annual saving represents a 1% efficiency per annum against 

individual schools budgets. Risk of increased school deficit positions. 

Implementation will be a matter for individual schools - potential to 

result in some teacher and other staff redundancies.  If efficiency is 

made solely from staffing budgets, this could range from a minimum 

of 1 teacher in our larger Primary Schools to 5 teachers in our larger 

Comprehensive schools over the MTFS period.

£1.014m - ISB 

Budget
3% 0 1,014 1,014 1,014

Total Schools 0 1,014 1,014 1,014

226 1,214 1,092 1,014

SSW1
A healthier 

wales
IP2 MSR

Remodelling day service provision for older people 

and learning disability services

Full review of services which could mean alternative methods of 

service delivery
3,268 3% 90 90

SSW2
A healthier 

wales
IP2 MSR

Across Adults and Children’s services embed and 

consolidate outcome focussed practice and 

commissioning for all services areas.  

This will support people to live their lives and will require our systems 

to be adapted to support the changes in practice. There will be a shift 

to embed outcome focussed practice which will have a focus on 

targeted prevention initiatives and by developing collaborative, long 

term relationships with providers as well as maximising the 

opportunities of the use of technology.  This will be underpinned by 

planning accommodation, care and support together and listening to 

people who are experts in their own lives and acting upon what will 

make a difference.

Not specific N/A 150 225 200

315 200 0 0

COMMUNITIES

COM1
A Healthier 

Wales
IP2 CST

Transfer of pitches/pavilions through Community 

Asset Transfer.  Increase charges for end-users to 

achieve full cost recovery for pitches/pavilions that 

do not transfer. Reduction of grass cut areas and 

maintained parkland and number of children's play 

areas.

The savings identified will see the removal of the majority of the 

remaining seasonal operatives budget with corresponding cuts to 

plant, equipment and materials.  Where asset transfers occur the 

respective  club (Rugby, football, bowls and cricket  etc) will be 

expected to fully fund the ongoing maintenance of the asset.  The 

remaining parks budget will be used to maintain the Council's main 

parks, highway grass cutting which is safety related, and to secure 

the ongoing site management and safety of the sites that will remain 

in Council ownership but, as described, will no longer maintain to a 

level associated with club level matches and sports events. The level 

of funding will also dictate the standard of open space maintenance 

and may impact on the ability to maintain the current number of 

children's play areas.

2,256 13% 69 300

Total Education & Family Support Directorate

SOCIAL SERVICES & WELLBEING

Total Social Services & Wellbeing Directorate

P
age 184



Budget Reduction Proposals 2021-22 to 2024-25
APPENDIX B

Ref. 

Links to 7 

Wellbeing 

Goals

Well-being 

Objective 
Categories Budget Reduction Proposal

Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Budget      

2020-21      

£'000 

Total Budget 

Reduction 

2021-2025 as 

% of 2020-21 

Budget 

2020-21 

Budget 

Reductions  

£'000

Proposed  

2021-22 

£'000

Indicative  

2022-23 

£'000

Indicative  

2023-24 

£'000

Indicative  

2024-25 

£'000

COM2 None IP3 SUR

Re-location of Community Recycling Centre from 

Tythegston to Pyle resulting in cessation of lease 

payments at existing site.

Construction of the new site will mean that this saving will not be 

effective until 2021/22.
60 100% 60

COM3

A Wales of 

cohesive 

communities

IP2 MSR
Strategic Regeneration Fund - reduction to annual 

allocation 

The reduction to the Strategic Regeneration Fund will directly impact 

on the Council's ability to provide match-funding, through which to 

lever other external funding. There will be no funding for feasibility or 

development work, on which to prepare bids for funding. Also 

potential for a loss of private sector investment as a result of inability 

to engage productively with developers and present Bridgend County 

in a positive light.  

299 93% 279

COM4
A prosperous 

Wales
IP2 MSR

Cessation of Tourism contract with AMA 

Associates an external Public Relations Company 

who promote Bridgend with a range of publishers.

News coverage about Bridgend County will reduce and this 

potentially would have implications for visitor numbers and the local 

economy.

25 100% 25

COM5 None IP3 SUR
The lease for Sunnyside House expires on 

31/03/21 - savings will be made from this date.
No impact on service provision. 309 100% 309

COM6 None IP3 SUR

One off capital payment for fire suppression 

system required at Tondu.  Revenue cost of 

system is included in the annual contract price 

with Kier.

Minimal impact.  The fire system will be provided and if paid from the 

Capital Asset budget as opposed to the revenue budget the £60K 

per annum can be saved.

60 100% 60

COM7 None IP2 SUR

WG National AHP Waste Programme - capital 

contribution from WG towards 7.5 tonne vehicle to 

collect AHP recycling

This would require Contract Variation negotiations with Kier to 

confirm the saving levels proposed based on a reduction in costs in 

relation to the current AHP vehicle that is leased

44 43% 14 19

COM8 None IP3 SUR

Reduction to energy budget for Street Lighting - 

savings due to replacement with more efficient 

LED

Reduction will have limited impact. 1,172 6% 75

Total Communities Directorate 823 25 279 0

CHIEF EXECUTIVES

CEX1 None IP3 SUR Reduction of the ICT Telephony Budget No impact on the communications infrastructure and maintenance 275 15% 41

CEX2 None IP3 SUR Domestic pest control contract
Service would be withdrawn, and citizens would have to pay for a 

service (pending consultation and Cabinet decision)
184 34% 63

CEX3 None IP3 SUR

Reduction of Communications Licencing Budget - 

Copyright - Public admin licence & NLA Media 

Access - copyright licence 

No significant impact 11 71% 8

P
age 185



Budget Reduction Proposals 2021-22 to 2024-25
APPENDIX B

Ref. 

Links to 7 

Wellbeing 

Goals

Well-being 

Objective 
Categories Budget Reduction Proposal

Impact, including on 5 Ways of Working as set out in the 

Wellbeing of Future Generations Act  

Budget      

2020-21      

£'000 

Total Budget 

Reduction 

2021-2025 as 

% of 2020-21 

Budget 

2020-21 

Budget 

Reductions  

£'000

Proposed  

2021-22 

£'000

Indicative  

2022-23 

£'000

Indicative  

2023-24 

£'000

Indicative  

2024-25 

£'000

CEX4 None IP3 SUR Reduction of HR Staffing Budget Reduction of a post and increased workload 1,650 1% 24

CEX5 None IP3 SUR Reduction of Finance staffing budgets

Reduction in capacity across the service which will result in potential 

failure to meet statutory deadlines, such as Statement of Accounts 

and grant claim deadlines, and also risk increased errors in them. 

This will generate negative feedback from external auditors and 

potentially put funding at risk. Will also increase time taken to deal 

with council tax and housing benefit claims and queries, and could 

impact on council tax collection rates

1,481 4% 65

Total Chief Executive's Directorate 201 0 0 0

CORPORATE / COUNCIL WIDE

CWD1 None IP3 SUR
Reduction in insurance budget through on-going 

efficiencies in managing the insurance contract

No impact as favourable insurance contract renewals have been 

achieved, however no mitigation available for potential increases to 

premiums in future years

1,438 5% 75

CWD2 None IP3 SUR
Savings on building maintenance prudential 

borrowing budget

No impact - capital financing budget was utilised in 2019-20 to pay 

off prudential borrowing associated with Minor Works with a long 

term cost saving benefit for the Council

3,603 3% 120

Total Corporate / Council Wide 195 0 0 0

GRAND TOTAL REDUCTIONS 1,760 1,439 1,371 1,014

1,760 6,959 6,780 6,596

REDUCTION SHORTFALL 0 5,520 5,409 5,582

698 0 0 0

664 1,123 1,092 1,014

398 316 279 0

1,760 1,439 1,371 1,014

ESTIMATED BUDGET REDUCTION REQUIREMENT (MOST LIKELY)

P
age 186



APPENDIX C 
 

 

WELL-BEING OF FUTURE GENERATIONS (WALES) ACT 2015 ASSESSMENT 
 

Project Description (key aims): 
Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2021-22 to 2024-25 

 

Section 1  Complete the table below to assess how well you have applied the 5 ways of working. 

Long-term 
 

1. How does your project / activity balance short-term need with the long-term and planning for the 
future? 

The development of the MTFS aims to balance short-term needs in terms of meeting savings targets, while 
safeguarding the ability to meet longer-term objectives. It provides a financial basis for decision making and aims 
to ensure that the Council’s finances can be as healthy as they can be for future generations. It does this by: 

 Outlining the impact of a number of different funding scenarios (Best, Most Likely and Worst) to provide an 
element of flexibility to the Council. 

 Adhering to a clear set of MTFS principles that drive expenditure decisions. 

 Ensuring that the majority of savings are generated from making smarter use of resources with front line service 
reductions kept to a minimum and only as a last resort.   

 The development of a 10 year capital programme which reflects the Council’s affordability in terms of capital 
receipts and borrowing and investment in capital schemes that support the Council’s well-being objectives and 
benefits the County Borough over a longer period. 

 Protecting front line services as far as possible.  

Prevention 
2. How does your project / activity put resources into preventing problems occurring or getting worse? 

The MTFS attempts to balance investment in preventative measures against costs of reacting to unanticipated 
situations in statutory services. Each budget reduction proposal is weighed in terms of the impact on other areas of 
the Council, on the public and on the Well-being of Future Generations. Where a budget cut in one area of non-
statutory prevention would lead to increased costs in another, this is not considered to be good financial 
management.  A number of budget pressures target investment in preventative services, and budget reductions 
are achieved through remodelling of existing service provision to prevent more costly long term pressures. In 
addition, the Council’s capital programme targets significant investment in refurbishing or replacing highways, 
buildings and other infrastructure to prevent longer term maintenance costs. 
 

  

P
age 187



APPENDIX C 
 

 

Integration 
 

3. How does your project / activity deliver economic, social, environmental & cultural outcomes together? 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy is closely aligned to the Council’s Corporate Plan, with explicit links between 
resources and well-being objectives. The MTFS has been guided by the 3 Well-being Objectives outlined in the 
Corporate Plan. The development of the Corporate Plan and MTFS are both the responsibility of Cabinet and the 
Corporate Management Board. 
 
 

Collaboration 
4. How does your project / activity involve working together with partners (internal and external) to deliver 

well-being objectives? 

A number of budget reduction proposals are achievable through inter-agency working, with the Third Sector, Social 
Enterprises, other local authorities and partners. These include joint services across local authorities, and with the 
Health Service, and new models of working internally to provide more resilient services.  A number of services 
already collaborate with other partners and these continue to improve performance whilst operating with reducing 
resources.  

Involvement 
 

5. How does your project / activity involve stakeholders with an interest in achieving the well-being 
goals? How do those stakeholders reflect the diversity of the area? 

A full consultation “Fit for the Future” was launched on 19 October 2020 and ran until 13 December 2020. The 
consultation asked citizens to share their views on how they think the Council should shape its services going 
forward, as part of its ‘Restart, Recover and Renew’ strategy, in response to the Covid-19 pandemic. The intention 
was to understand how the public felt that the Council could look like and how it could deliver sustainable and 
effective services for the next 5 to 10 years.  A wide variety of methods of communication were used including 
surveys, social media, telephone survey sessions, a number of engagement sessions (members, citizens panel, 
equality groups), online FAQ sessions and videos, radio and media releases. Because of the limited ability for 
social interaction due to Covid-19 the Council wanted to make sure as many people as possible could get involved 
in the consultation and ensured that accessible versions of the survey were available – large print, easy read and 
youth, as well as standard. An advert was also placed in the Glamorgan Gazette notifying non-domestic rates 
payers of the consultation, and inviting them to participate, as required by Section 65 of the Local Government 
Finance Act 1992. 
 
The results will be collated and presented to Cabinet on 19 January 2021 in order to further inform decisions on 
the MTFS.  

 
 

P
age 188



APPENDIX C 
 

 

Section 2  Assess how well your project / activity will result in multiple benefits for our communities and contribute 
to the national well-being goals  

Description of the Well-being goals How will your project / activity deliver 
benefits to our communities under the 
national well-being goals? 

Is there any way to maximise the 
benefits or minimise any negative 
impacts to our communities (and the 
contribution to the national well-being 
goals)? 

A prosperous Wales 
An innovative, productive and low carbon 
society which recognises the limits of the 
global environment and therefore uses 
resources efficiently and proportionately 
(including acting on climate change); and 
which develops a skilled and well-
educated population in an economy 
which generates wealth and provides 
employment opportunities, allowing 
people to take advantage of the wealth 
generated through securing decent work.  
 

 

 Improved educational outcomes for 
children and young people leading 
to a well-educated and skilled 
population to meet future skills 
needs. 

 Improve future outcomes for young 
people including educational 
attainment, cohesive safe 
communities are more attractive 
and easier places to do business. 

 Increase productivity, employment 
and skills. Encourage a lower 
carbon economy. 

 
The majority of savings will be generated 
from making smarter use of resources 
with front line service reductions kept to a 
minimum and only as a last resort.  

 

The MTFS will be aligned with the 
Corporate Plan to achieve the Council’s 
current Well-being Objectives: 

 

Supporting a successful sustainable 
economy - taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do 
business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools 
are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people 
in the county borough. 
 
Helping people and communities to be 
more healthy and resilient - taking steps 
to reduce or prevent people from 
becoming vulnerable or dependent on the 
Council and its services.  Supporting 
individuals and communities to build 
resilience, and enable them to develop 

P
age 189



APPENDIX C 
 

 

solutions to have active, healthy and 
independent lives. 

 

Smarter use of resources –  
ensuring that all its resources (financial, 
physical, ecological, human and 
technological) are used as effectively and 
efficiently as possible and support the 
development of resources throughout the 
community that can help deliver the 
Council’s well-being objectives.  
 

 

Funding will be targeted in line with these 
priorities and in line with the 13 MTFS 
Principles. 

 

A resilient Wales 
A nation which maintains and enhances 
a biodiverse natural environment with 
healthy functioning ecosystems that 
support social, economic and ecological 
resilience and the capacity to adapt to 
change (for example climate change).  
 

 

 Break long term cycles to secure 
better outcomes for people and 
communities. 

 Stronger individuals and 
communities are more resilient to 
change. 

 Communities place a greater value 
on their environment and more 
people get involved in local issues 
and recognise the importance of 
green space in wellbeing and as a 
prevention factor. 

 Healthy active people in resilient 
communities, volunteering, keeping 
young people in the local area, 
reducing travel to work, increased 

 
The impact on local communities will be 
monitored through the wide range of 
services that will continue to be provided 
by the Council or its partners. 

P
age 190



APPENDIX C 
 

 

use and awareness of green 
spaces. 

A healthier Wales 
A society in which people’s physical and 
mental well-being is maximised and in 
which choices and behaviours that 
benefit future health are understood. 

 

 Improved future physical and mental 
well-being, by reducing health 
harming behaviours. 

 Promote more involvement in 
communities to benefit mental 
health, social and physical activity. 

 Focus on healthy lifestyles and 
workplaces, increased income 
linked to health. 

 
The impact on local communities will be 
monitored through the wide range of 
services that will continue to be provided 
by the Council or its partners. 

A more equal Wales 
A society that enables people to fulfil 
their potential no matter what their 
background or circumstances (including 
their socio economic background and 
circumstances).  
 

 

 Helping all children and young 
people to reach their full potential, 
by improving their early years 
experiences and ensure access to 
information to help make informed 
decisions. Improving outcomes for 
teenage parents and their children. 

 Recognising that communities are 
becoming more diverse. Addressing 
barriers that some groups have in 
feeling part of communities. 

 Address income inequality and 
health inequality, focus on disability, 
older people and other equality 
groups. Focus on increasing income 
and reducing the skills gap. 

 
The impact on local communities will be 
monitored through the wide range of 
services that will continue to be provided 
by the Council or its partners. 

  

P
age 191



APPENDIX C 
 

 

A Wales of cohesive communities  
Attractive, viable, safe and well-
connected communities.  
 

 

 Increased number of confident 
secure young people playing an 
active positive role in their 
communities. 

 Healthy active people in resilient 
communities, keeping young people 
and skills in the local area, tackling 
poverty as a barrier to engagement 
in community life a supportive 
network, developed through 
initiatives at work, can help to 
support staff through challenging 
times in their lives. 

 

 
The impact on local communities will be 
monitored through the wide range of 
services that will continue to be provided 
by the Council or its partners. 

A Wales of vibrant culture and thriving 
Welsh language 
A society that promotes and protects 
culture, heritage and the Welsh 
language, and which encourages people 
to participate in the arts, and sports and 
recreation.  
 

 
 

 Cultural settings provide support 
sensitive to our increasingly diverse 
communities and help us identify 
opportunities to increase the 
number of Welsh speakers. 

 Importance of culture and language 
as a focus for communities coming 
together. 

 Bringing more people from different 
cultures together. More people 
identifying with their community. 

 Encourage take up of sports, arts 
and recreation initiatives through 
the workplace.  

 Ensure Welsh culture and language 
are a part of this. Welsh language 

 
 
Compliance with the Welsh Language act 
and specific Welsh Language Standards 
will be monitored as part of the annual 
report. 

P
age 192



APPENDIX C 
 

 

skills are beneficial to businesses 
and in increasing demand. 

A globally responsible Wales 
A nation which, when doing anything to 
improve the economic, social, 
environmental and cultural well-being of 
Wales, takes account of whether doing 
such a thing may make a positive 
contribution to global well-being.  

 

 Diverse, confident communities are 
resilient to change. Promotes a 
better knowledge of different 
cultures and a better knowledge of 
the local environment. 

 Healthy lifestyles include cultural 
activities that promote 
understanding of diversity of 
communities, different cultures, 
races. Promote apprenticeships to 
people from different backgrounds. 

 
The impact on local communities will be 
monitored through the wide range of 
services that will continue to be provided 
by the Council or its partners. 

 
 

Section 3  Will your project / activity affect people or groups of people with protected characteristics? Explain what 
will be done to maximise any positive impacts or minimise any negative impacts 

Protected characteristics Will your project / activity have 
any positive impacts on those 

with a protected characteristic? 

Will your project / activity 
have any negative impacts 
on those with a protected 

characteristic? 

Is there any way to maximise any 
positive impacts or minimise any 

negative impacts? 

Age: Unknown - The impact, positive or negative, will depend on the 
nature of the service delivered, the specific budget reduction 
proposed or budget pressure funded and the service user. 
 

This will vary according to the 
service provided and will be 
considered through individual 
Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs).  

Gender reassignment: See above 
  

This will vary according to the 
service provided and will be 
considered through individual (EIAs).  

Marriage or civil partnership: See above 
  

This will vary according to the 
service provided and will be 
considered through individual (EIAs).  

P
age 193



APPENDIX C 
 

 

Pregnancy or maternity: See above 
  

This will vary according to the 
service provided and will be 
considered through individual (EIAs).  

Race: See above 
  

This will vary according to the 
service provided and will be 
considered through individual (EIAs).  

Religion or Belief: See above 
  

This will vary according to the 
service provided and will be 
considered through individual (EIAs).  

Race: See above 
  

This will vary according to the 
service provided and will be 
considered through individual (EIAs).  

Sex: See above 
  

This will vary according to the 
service provided and will be 
considered through individual (EIAs).  

Welsh Language: See above 
  

This will vary according to the 
service provided and will be 
considered through individual (EIAs).  

 
 

Section 4  Identify decision meeting for Project/activity e.g. Cabinet, Council or delegated decision taken by 
Executive members and/or Chief Officers 

Cabinet 

Compiling Officers Name: Deborah Exton 

Compiling Officers Job Title: Interim Deputy Head of Finance 

Date Completed: 17/12/20 

 

P
age 194



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

19 JANUARY 2021

REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER - FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND 
CHANGE 

DISABLED FACILITIES GRANTS (DFGs)

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Cabinet on the proposal to develop and 
implement a new model of service delivery for Disabled Facilities Grants (DFGs) and 
approve the: 

 Implementation of a new model of working that will see the Council internalise 
the functions of the DFG process for both children and adults

 Utilisation of the capital budget to support the internalisation of the DFG 
process 

 Seek delegated authority to enter into a Collaboration Agreement with Neath 
Port Talbot County Borough Council for a period of up to two years to provide 
support whilst Bridgend’s internal model is developed and established.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective / objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015:- 

1. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services. Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives. 

2. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 In 2018, the Wales Audit Office (WAO), now Audit Wales, undertook a review of DFGs 
in the Council which made a number of recommendations the report was presented 
to the Audit Committee.  In addition, an internal audit report (March 2020) highlighted 
key elements for improvement and action.

Page 195

Agenda Item 9



3.2 Following the Audit Wales report in 2018, significant work has been undertaken by 
officers in reviewing the delivery of the DFG service in Bridgend, taking on board the 
recommendations.  This has included exploratory work with other local authorities to 
gather information on other models in place and a ‘lean thinking’ review supported by 
an external consultant experienced in this field. The review looked at the current 
process to identify the shortcomings of the current model. 

3.3 Visits to neighbouring Councils were undertaken to learn from their reviews and the 
subsequent re-modelling of their DFG services.  One of the authorities had been 
highlighted by Welsh Government as good practice. All the authorities operate an 
internal DFG service to oversee the application from start to finish.  The financial 
models across Councils in Wales varies: 

 Some Councils top slice the budget to cover costs

 Other Authorities charge a set percentage of fees ranging from 10% to 15% of 
works’ costs.  

 Some authorities also charge an administration fee in addition to a set 
percentage of fees

3.4 Bridgend’s DFG capital budget currently funds Council administration fees of £395 
per application and, in addition, pays fees to external third party agents who are 
appointed on an individual basis by the applicant. 

3.5 An analysis of fees paid for the last 3 years shows a total of £417,128 has been paid 
for mandatory DFG fees, an average of around £139,000 per year.  

2017/18  £             151,581.53 
2018/19  £              129,967.37 
2019/20  £              135,579.14 

Total  £              417,128.04 

3.6 Applicants are currently able to choose their own agent from a list the Council 
provides. This list is for information purposes only and does not constitute a 
recommendation or preferred suppliers list.  There are around six individual private 
agents on that list, which currently operate in Bridgend. Applicants find this part of 
the process a challenge and often seek reassurance and recommendations from the 
Council as to which agent to use, which the Council is unable to provide. 

3.7 The DFG service has seen a reduction in the number of staff through staff movement 
and early retirement.  The current DFG team structure has four posts, undertaking 
both surveying and assessment roles, with one temporary support post funded from 
the budget as outlined in section 8 of this Report.  Currently only one Senior Surveyor 
post and the temporary support officer role is filled, the other two posts are vacant. 

3.8 In order to ensure services continued during this period of assessment the Council 
entered into a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) with Neath Port Talbot Council 
(NPT) during 2019/20 from October 2019 to March 20200.  The MOU provided 
surveying support for the service whilst a decision on the future model was explored. 

Page 196



This was crucial in allowing the service to be maintained during this period, which 
would not have been possible without this support.  

3.9 The arrangement with NPT was funded from salary underspends and was not an 
additional cost to the service. Expenditure for the 2019/20 period was £42,000. The 
MOU was further extended for a three month period during the Covid-19 situation 
until the 30th June to work on current applications so that they could be resumed once 
lockdown restrictions were lifted. This is now a critical issue, as the Council will need 
to progress significant numbers of grant applications however; the current 
arrangement with NPT has now expired.

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 National Strategic Indicators are used to measure the performance of local authorities 
at a national level. Local authorities in Wales are legally obliged to collect and publish 
data for each of the indicators, and a sample of the indicators are subject to audit by 
the Audit Wales (AW). Each indicator is aligned to one or more of the Welsh 
Government’s strategic priorities, they have been chosen for their focus on outcomes. 

4.2 The DFG service in Bridgend has consistently performed poorly in relation to the 
National indicators as can be seen from the table below.  The table outlines the 
performance of Bridgend from 2016 onwards.  The National indicators only monitor 
the average number of calendar days taken to deliver a DFG.  Bridgend is currently 
ranked 20th in Wales based on the PAM/015.  

 
2016-17 2017-18 2018-19 2019-20

PSR002 
(PAM/015)

The average number of calendar 
days taken to deliver a Disabled 
Facilities Grant.  

242.41 282.55 290.76 291.87

PSR009a

The average number of calendar 
days taken to deliver a Disabled 
Facilities Grant for Children and 
young people.  

421.18 485.83 572.25 477.86

PSR009b
The average number of calendar 
days taken to deliver a Disabled 
Facilities Grant for Adults.    

225.16 266.51 273.16 284.25

4.3 During the course of the application process applicants can receive paperwork from 
the Council, the Agent, and from the Contractors undertaking the work.  Applicants 
can be confused by receiving paperwork from different sources, which means they 
are often unclear about whom to contact to resolve any queries or problems.  

4.4 Service users often contact the Council with complaints and queries when in fact the 
conversation for the resolution lies with the Agent.  This is becoming increasingly 
apparent in recent complaints received by the Service made by applicants’ families 
who are questioning the process and responsibilities.  

Page 197

http://diamond/pmf/pi/pi.asp?id=2670&read=true
http://diamond/pmf/pi/pi.asp?id=2670&read=true
http://diamond/pmf/pi/pi.asp?id=2609&read=true
http://diamond/pmf/pi/pi.asp?id=2625&read=true


4.5 After consideration of factors raised by Audit Wales, Members, Scrutiny and Internal 
Audit, alongside the research carried out with other local authorities, officers have 
concluded that a fundamental change is required to the service and that the role of 
the agent has not provided value for the citizen or the Council.  

  
4.6 It is therefore proposed that the Council establishes a pilot project that will internalise 

the DFG service.  The internalisation will facilitate the diversion of the fees back into 
the DFG service to increase the capacity of the team to take on a more proactive 
facilitation and engagement function.  The delivery of the DFG service end to end will 
be under the remit of a “person centred approach”.  As the agent role is not a 
mandatory function it will not be part of the new service delivery model.  Applicants 
will still have the right to choose an external agent instead of using the Council 
however in doing so all risk will sit with the applicant and they will have to pay the 
administrative fees. 

4.7 The implementation of the new DFG service model will be a significant change and 
will require support. A full review of all processes and procedures will need to be 
undertaken along with training for the current team. In addition, new posts will be 
created and these will need to be recruited.  The new posts will also need to be trained 
in providing the DFG Service. It is therefore crucial that day-to-day service delivery 
for applicants is maintained whilst the new model of service is being developed.  

4.8 To provide the necessary capacity while the pilot for internalisation is being initiated 
and recruitment takes place, it is proposed that a Collaboration Agreement with Neath 
Port Talbot County Borough Council (NPT) is entered into. NPT already has an in-
house DFG service and can provide the capacity.  It is felt that through collaboration 
with NPT, both parties will benefit through shared learning, covering aspects such as 
reviewing policies, procedures and working practices, alongside the introduction of 
new ideas, which NPT may choose to utilise or implement in their own in-house 
service. The latter includes the creation of a Digital Platform and a Framework 
Agreement for contractors to carry out the works required under the DFG 
applications:  

4.8.1 Digital Platform - investigatory work will be carried out to develop a digital 
platform to facilitate a streamlined referral and engagement process 
supporting the applicant through the lifecycle of their DFG. 

4.8.2  Contractors Framework - the establishment of a framework agreement from 
which contractors can be appointed, to carry out the works required under 
the applications/referrals. Both Parties shall work together to scope out the 
framework agreement.

4.9 By entering into the collaboration agreement with NPT, NPT are providing a service 
to the Council  that would be subject to the requirements of our CPRs but the 
preferred approach being recommended to Cabinet is that this be dealt with through 
a collaboration with NPT and as such the requirements of the CPRs need to be 
suspended. Legislative provisions do exist to allow local authorities to collaborate to 
provide services however, they do not overrule the procurement obligations but they 
do reduce the overall potential for a challenge, as it is a commonly used tool for the 
provision of services. Cabinet should be aware, that in entering into this 
collaboration agreement the Council is not complying with its contract procedure 
rules. The contract procedure rules will need to be suspended in order to enter into 

Page 198



this collaboration agreement with NPT.  The Council is exposed to the risk of 
potential challenge from other providers of such services, as the Council is entering 
into a contract without any competition, which breaches the requirements of 
procurement legislation.

4.10 The aspiration for the internalisation of the DFG service is one of continuous 
improvement.  The success will be measured against the existing PAM/015 criteria 
for all “new DFG applications” that come into the DFG service.  The table below 
outlines one of outcome baselines that will be used to measure the success of the 
pilot during the course of the two year period:

Year 1 Pilot
2021-2022

Year 2 Pilot
2022-2023

PSR002 
(PAM/015)

The average number of 
calendar days taken to deliver 
new Disabled Facilities 
Grant.  

240 210

Other performance indicators (PIs) will be developed over time e.g. satisfaction and 
quality to measure the success of the pilot, in order to inform further change if 
appropriate.

4.11 The key drivers for the fundamental change:

4.11.1 Accountability.  The statutory duty lies with the Council to provide the 
service but its control on quality, safeguarding issues and responsiveness is 
hampered by a lack of control over the whole process end to end.  There are 
currently numerous points of failure existing in the current process.    

4.11.2 Responsiveness and person centred approach – the delivery times for 
DFGs, particularly for complex children’s cases, is not consistent with a person 
centered approach.  The Council is in the bottom quartile for Wales in terms 
of delivery times. 

4.12 The proposal to implement a pilot for the delivery of an in-house DFG service is 
designed to improve the current delivery model.  

4.12.1. The new model will require the cessation of the provision of the agent 
list by the Council as the Council will be delivering the DFG service in-house. 
It should be noted however that the citizen would still have the choice to go 
externally if they wish.  

4.12.2 The delivery of the in-house service will require the expansion of the 
current team through a recruitment process to ensure the correct skills such 
as surveying, technical knowledge etc. will be in place to take on the additional 
functionality and responsibility.  Staffing costs will be funded directly from the 
capital budget for those staff solely employed on DFGs. 

4.12.3 There will be a focus with regards improving of the Childrens DFGs 
National indicator (PSR009a) this is the measure of the average number of 
calendar days taken to deliver DFGs for children and young people.  The 
historic performance of the indicator is referenced in section 4.2.  

Page 199

http://diamond/pmf/pi/pi.asp?id=2670&read=true
http://diamond/pmf/pi/pi.asp?id=2670&read=true


4.13 A project management approach will be undertaken for the pilot.  This will have a 
clear timescale and an implementation plan.  Evaluation and monitoring will continue 
throughout the process.  It is therefore intended to establish a project team to be 
responsible for the development, implementation and monitoring of the pilot.

4.14 NPT shall be taking a report to their Cabinet in January to consider the Collaboration 
Agreement.  The Collaboration Agreement shall be for a period of up to two years to 
provide support whilst Bridgend’s model is developed and established.

4.15 There are potential risks with regards the internalisation and the move to a new 
operating model.  However these risks will be robustly managed through a 
performance management framework implemented as part of the project 
management approach referenced in 4.13.  The potential identified risks are:

4.15.1 The Council being unable to achieve the aspirational targets outlined in 
section 4.10 of this report in terms of reducing the existing average number of 
calendar days taken to deliver Disabled Facilities Grant.

4.15.2  the Council being unable to expand the current team through the 
recruitment process which will have an impact on the pilot project timeline and 
the intended transition of delivery from NPT.

4.15.3 Delay in the implementation of the Framework Agreement to appoint 
contractors to carry out the works required under the DFGs.

4.15.4 Potential challenge arising from the suspension of the CPRs to 
implement the Collaboration Agreement

4.15.5 Delay in entering into the Collaboration Agreement with NPT

4.15.6 Impact of the Covid-19 Pandemic with regards contractors having 
access to materials and resources which could affect the pilot project timeline 
and the Disabled Facilities Grants performance indicator outlined in section 
4.10.

4.16 The benefits of moving to the new operating model are outlined throughout this report. 
The new model will be more responsive, accountable and compliant. For example:

4.16.1 The Council will be able to engage directly with contractors through a 
newly established Framework Agreement enabling better safeguarding and 
quality control processes.  Until such a time as the Framework Agreement is 
initiated, their appointment will be in accordance with the Contract Procedure 
Rules via Constructionline.

4.16.2 The Council would have a direct relationship with the contractor for 
each DFG and would be able to programme works more effectively and 
respond to queries and complaints sooner.

4.16.3 The internalisation of the DFG service provides the Council end to end 
ownership of a DFG application from start to finish.  This will ensure that quality 
and delivery standards are a key cornerstones of the service. 

Page 200



4.16.4 There would be a clear simple process for the applicant.

4.16.5 The performance and the customer experience would be improved 
through the single point of contact arrangement alongside a robust escalation 
process putting the applicant at the centre of the DFG service.

4.16.6 Reduction in the average number of calendar days taken to deliver a 
Disabled Facilities Grant, which is measured by the national indicator 
PAM/015.  The improvement would benefit the applicant enabling them to 
continue to live safely in their own homes.

4.16.7 Ownership of the DFG service end to end provides the Council the 
opportunity to continually review progress and identify opportunities for 
improvement throughout the lifecycle of the pilot.  

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no effect on policy framework and procedure rules

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 DFGs are available to disabled people who are in need of changes to their home. 
Whilst the proposals in the report to Cabinet will affect the DFG process, there will be 
no impact in terms of the eligibility or availability of a DFG.   An initial Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there would be no negative impact on 
those with one or more of the protected characteristics and therefore a full EIA is not 
needed at this stage. As there will be continued provision to service users there will 
be no expected negative impact in this regard.  

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 provides the basis for driving 
a different kind of public service in Wales, with five ways of working to guide how the 
Council should work to deliver wellbeing outcomes for people. The following is a 
summary to show how the five ways of working to achieve the well-being goals have 
been considered in this report:

Long term Ensuring best use of available accommodation allowing 
Citizens to live safely in their own homes

Preventative Through a person centred approach preventing  an 
individual escalating into hospital services 

Involvement Providing individuals the choice to remain in their home 
ensuring they are part of the process from start to finish 
managed through a single point of engagement

Integration Ensure individuals can remain within their communities 
providing an array of benefits including stability through the 
maintaining of local support networks

Collaboration Developing a Framework Agreement for local businesses 
to support the DFG service.  Working in partnership with 
Social Services to deliver the required adaptations 

Page 201



necessary and appropriate to meet the needs of the 
disabled person. 

8. Financial implications

8.1 Financial break down of the current operation, funded from the service’s 
revenue budget, is as follows.

2020/21 
Budget

£
Staff Costs 137,676
Non Pay Costs 9,414
Gross Expenditure 147,090
Admin Fee Income -81,800
Net Expenditure 
Budget 65,290

8.2 Underspends for 2019/20 were utilised in part to employ a temporary grant 
support officer and fund the MOU with Neath Port Talbot Council for surveying 
support.  

8.3 The table below outlines the cost of replacing the external agent role with an 
in-house service:

2020/21 
Budget

£
Staff Costs 269,694
Non pay budget (extra travel costs 
anticipated) 12,414

Gross Expenditure 282,108
Admin Fee Income -81,800
Net Expenditure 200,308
Existing Net Expenditure Budget 65,290
Additional Cost of Proposed Structure 135,018
Offset by Existing Annual Agents Fees -139,000
Savings from New Service Model 3,982

8.4 The additional annual costs of the enhanced team that will support the 
internalisation is anticipated to be £135,018 (based on 2020/21 costs) which 
will need to be met from the DFG Capital budget annually.  This additional 
annual capital recharge of £135,018 would be met from the capital funding 
previously used to cover the agency fee and is below the historic costs 
(£139,000) levied by external agents as outlined in paragraph 3.6. 

 
8.5 The Collaboration Agreement with NPT will require a fee per case of 15%, 

which will be paid out of the DFG capital budget.  However, as internal capacity 
for the DFG service increases through the recruitment of staff, the support 

Page 202



provided by NPT will reduce alongside the fees on a pro rata basis.  The table 
below is an illustrative example of the potential costs and  demonstrates that 
if all DFGs were carried out by NPT for a financial year their fees based on the 
average cost of a DFG would not exceed £139k per annum.  

Average 
Number of 
DFG Per 
Annum 

Average 
cost of 

DFG 15%

Total  
Fees Per 
Annum

77 £12,000 £1,800 £138,600

9. Recommendation(s)

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:

 Approves the internalisation of the DFG service;
 Approves using  the capital budget to support the internalisation of the DFG 

process;
 Approves entering into the collaboration agreement with NPT and suspends 

the relevant parts of the Council’s contract procedure rules in respect of the 
requirements relating to the procurement of the DFG service which NPT shall 
fulfil; 

 Delegates authority to the Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and 
Change, to approve the final terms of the collaboration agreement with NPT 
on behalf of the Council and to arrange execution of the collaboration 
agreement on behalf of the Council, subject to such delegated authority being 
exercised in consultation with the Chief Officer - Legal, HR and Regulatory 
Services 

Gill Lewis
Interim Chief Officer - Finance, Performance and Change
19 January 2021

Contact officer: Martin Morgans
Head of Partnerships

Telephone: (01656) 642154

Email: Martin.Morgans@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel St, Bridgend CF31 4WB

Background documents:

None

Page 203



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

19 JANUARY 2021

REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND 
CHANGE

PEST CONTROL CONTRACT

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide Cabinet with the background, current position 
and options to determine the preferred way forward in terms of a pest control service.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-

1. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking 
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on 
the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build 
resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and 
independent lives.

2. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 In July 2017, an article appeared in a national newspaper with the headline “Bridgend 
is the most rat-infected place in Britain” (Appendix 1).  However this was purely based 
on the number of pest control call-outs that are logged.  At the time, Bridgend Council 
was one of the few local authorities who provided a free of charge service and 
therefore this meant that the number of reports were naturally higher compared to 
other authorities who charged for the service.

3.2 Currently, Bridgend Council offers residents a free of charge domestic pest control 
service for treatment of rats, mice, bedbugs and cockroaches and only charges for 
the treatment of fleas and wasps. The Council contracts with a private sector pest 
control operator to provide the pest control service. The current pest control contract 
commenced on 1st May 2017 for an initial term of 3 years with an option to extend for 
a further 12 months.  The initial term expired on 30th April 2020, and the contract was 
extended to 30th April 2021. The contract was awarded to Mitie Pest Control but 
during the term of the contract Mitie Pest Control was purchased by Rentokil who 
assumed the rights and obligations under the agreement.

Page 205

Agenda Item 10



3.3 The existing contract is managed by Bridgend Council (Customer Services) but also 
includes a provision to carry out a sewer baiting programme.  When Shared 
Regulatory Services (SRS) was established, the domestic pest control service and 
sewer baiting programme remained with Bridgend Council even though SRS also 
liaise directly with the pest control contractor to request sewer baitings in line with 
public health concerns.  The sewer baiting programme is commissioned annually and 
is fully funded by Welsh Water.

3.4 The Operational Manager for Customer Services undertook a review in November 
2020 across the other 21 Welsh local authorities to identify what domestic pest control 
service was offered to their residents.  The results showed that 7 local authorities do 
not provide a pest control service at all, 11 local authorities charge residents for the 
treatment of all pests and 3 charge for all pests except rats.  Three of the authorities 
who charge residents offered reduced charges to those residents who are in receipt 
of benefits.

3.5 The ‘Shaping Bridgend’s Future’ 2019 public consultation sought to obtain views on 
specific budget reduction proposals across Council directorates and included a 
question to obtain residents’ views on a pest control service.  58% of respondents 
stated that they were of the view that the Council is not best placed to provide a pest 
control service.  Respondents were asked a supplementary question on whether the 
council should consider charging for these services.  24% of respondents agreed to 
charging for bedbugs compared to 22% for cockroaches and 19% for rats/mice.  Only 
16% of respondents to this question stated that the service should continue to be free 
to residents.

Page 206



4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 The current cost for the domestic pest control contract with Rentokil is £63,400 per 
year which covers providing treatment for rats, mice, bedbugs and cockroaches.  
There is an additional charge for the treatment of fleas and wasps, however these 
costs are fully recovered from residents as Bridgend Council charge for these 
treatments.  The current cost excludes the cost of council officers’ time that is needed 
in addition to support the provision of the service for residents.

4.2 The current cost for the sewer baiting programme is £16,474 per year, based on 2,500 
baitings per year.  In addition to this proactive baiting programme, SRS officers also 
submit a monthly sewer baiting list to the pest control contractor for inclusion in their 
programme areas where complaints have been received, allowing for a more targeted 
approach.  This aspect of the service is fully funded by Welsh Water and is reviewed 
on an annual basis.

4.3 The current provider responds to all domestic pest control treatment requests within 
3 working days.  This is not ideal as it requires the resident to wait in for the visit as 
no day or time can be agreed in advance.  Due to this, there is a high level of abortive 
call outs made as a result of residents not being at the property when the pest control 
technician arrives.  Pre Covid-19, the level of abortive calls was 40%, however this 
has reduced to 20% during lockdown as more people remain at home.

4.4 The current domestic pest control contract costs are based on annual pest control 
activity between 2013 – 2016.  Recent analysis shows that requests have increased 
by 47% since 2016 especially since the Covid-19 lockdown on 23rd March 2020 as 
more people are at home and seeing more pest activity than they usually would.  The 
current pest control contract expires on 30th April 2021.  Were the service to be re-
tendered on the same basis, the future contract is likely to increase.  To continue with 
providing a pest control service, based on a 47% increase in activity, the future 
contract cost is likely to increase to approximately £95,000 per annum.

4.5 This report is seeking to determine the preferred approach to be taken for a future 
domestic pest control service in Bridgend.

4.6 There are 3 potential options outlined in the table below:

Option Cost/(saving) Comments
1 –
Discontinue 
providing a pest 
control service at 
the end of the 
current contract

(£63,400) Discontinue providing a pest 
control service when the contract 
comes to an end in 30th April 
2021.  Residents would engage 
directly with third party providers 
for this service going forward

2 –
Re-tender contract 
to continue 
providing domestic 
pest control service 
and introduce 
charge to residents

£57,000 to £95,000 
depending on drop in 
demand due to charges 
being introduced.  This is 
before any income is 
netted off which will be 
dependent on the number 
of concessionary charges.

Continue to provide pest control 
service but introduce a charge to 
residents to offset the increased 
annual revenue costs

Page 207



Option Cost/(saving) Comments
3 - 
Re-tender contract 
to continue 
providing domestic 
pest control service 
free of charge as 
per current contract

£95,000 (based on 
current pest control 
activity)

Continue to provide free 
domestic pest control service 
with a charge for the treatment of 
fleas and wasps

4.7 Option 1:  discontinue providing the discretionary pest control service when the 
current contract ends on 30th April 2021.  This will achieve a saving of £63,400 per 
annum.  Discussions will need to take place with Welsh Water and SRS to make 
alternative arrangements with regards to the sewer baiting programme.

4.8 Option 2: continue to provide a discretionary pest control service to residents but 
introduce a charge for all services and offering a 50% concession to those residents 
in receipt of benefits i.e. council tax reduction or housing benefits.

4.9 Based on current pest control activity, it is likely the cost for this service will 
significantly increase to approximately £95,000 per annum.  However, by introducing 
a charge to residents, income will be generated to offset the increased cost.  The 
level of income will be fully dependent on the number of concessionary and full cost 
recovery charges.  

Recovery charge Cost of 
Service

Potential 
Income

Net cost to 
BCBC

50/50 proportionate split £95,000 £71,250 £23,750
80/20 split in favour of concessionary 
charges

£95,000 £57,000 £38,000

4.10 Given the fact that nearly all pest control treatments provided by BCBC have always 
been free, it is envisaged that, by introducing a charge, demand for this service will 
reduce by between 20-40%.  If the tender is awarded on a variable cost basis, then 
there is no change to the assumptions above as the contract price will be 
proportionately lower along with the reduced levels of income.  However if the tender 
is a fixed cost contract, reduced demand will increase the gap needed to be funded 
from core Council budget.

4.11 Option 3:  continue to provide a free discretionary pest control service to residents 
based on the current contract with a charge for treatment of fleas and wasps only.  
Based on the current pest control activity, it is estimated the cost for the service will 
increase to £95,000 per annum so additional revenue will need to be funded from 
core Council budget.  Given the budgetary implications this option will have on other 
services, it is not recommended that Cabinet proceed with this option.

4.12 Both Option 1 and Option 2 entail a change in service provison and would be subject 
to the outcome of a public consultation exercise. Council officers would need to 
undertake a 12 week public consultation exercise to determine the views of residents 
to the proposed change and report the outcome of that consultation back to Cabinet 
to consider before a final decision is made. 

Page 208



4.13 Given the required timeframe for such a public consultation exercise and the time 
needed to reprocure the pest control service contract, contingency measures would 
now be necessary to continue the domestic pest control service until the outcome of 
the consultation exercise is known and a final decision can be made on how to 
proceed. To ensure service continuity in the meantime it is proposed that Cabinet 
suspend the relevant parts of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules requiring a 
competitive procurement exercise and agree to enter into a short term contract of 6 
months with the current pest control service provider Rentokil.  

4.14 Cabinet needs to be aware that awarding such a short-term contract to the current 
provider presents a risk of challenge from other providers of such services. The 
Council’s Contract Procedure Rules ensures that procurement exercises are lawful 
and carried out in compliance with the Public Contract Regulations 2015. The report 
proposes entering into a contract with the existing service providers without any 
competition. This proposal breaches the requirements of the Public Contract 
Regulations 2015 and requires Cabinet’s approval to set aside the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 Should Cabinet decide to proceed with proposed Option 1 or 2, this report requires 
the suspension of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 In developing these proposals, consideration has been given to the potential impact 
on people within the community with protected characteristics and on how to avoid a 
disproportionate impact on people within these groups.  An Equality Impact 
Assessment (EIA) screening form will be completed to determine the need for a full 
EIA.

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The table below details how this report aligns to one or more of the 5 ways of working 
and 7 Well-being of Future Generations Act goals:

Involvement Consultation results have underpinned the residents’ 
views on providing a pest control service

Long Term
Prevention

Creating a safer living and working environment, 
enabling residents to enjoy opportunities within their 
local communities

A prosperous Wales Helping local people 
A resilient Wales Supporting local people and communities
A healthier Wales Supporting local people and communities in dealing with 

pest control activities
A Wales of Cohesive 
communities

Supporting communities

8. Financial implications

Page 209



8.1 The financial implications for each option is set out in detail in 4.6 and summarised 
below:

Option 1 :  would achieve an annual saving of £63,400.

Option 2 : based on the current pest control activity, it is likely the cost for this service 
will significantly increase to approximately £95,000 per annum.  The level of income 
will be fully dependent on the number of concessionary and full cost recovery 
charges.  A proportionate split would achieve £71,250 in income, reducing the net 
cost of the service to the Council to £23,750. However, an 80/20 split in favour of 
concessionary charges, would reduce the income to £57,000 increasing the net cost 
of the service to £38,000.

If the tender is awarded on a variable cost basis, then there is no change to the 
assumptions above if demand decreases as a result of charges being introduced, as 
the contract price will be proportionately lower along with the reduced levels of 
income.  However if the tender is a fixed cost contract, reduced demand will increase 
the gap needed to be funded from core Council budget.  A further report will be 
presented to Cabinet on how any shortfall could be met, once the position is clear.

Option 3:  based on the current pest control activity, it is estimated the cost for the 
service will increase to £95,000 per annum.  Additional revenue will need to be funded 
from core Council budget.  Given the budgetary implications this option will have on 
other services, it is not recommended that Cabinet proceed with this option.

8.2 Option 1 would see a decrease in the amount of council officer support that is 
currently required to administer this service.  Depending on the structure of the 
tender, Options 2 and 3 would require additional council officer time to administer the 
scheme.

8.3 A proposal is included within the draft MTFS report that is being presented to Cabinet 
on 19th January 2021 in respect of savings arising from the proposal to withdraw the 
domestic pest control service and for service users to commission and pay for their 
own services.  This savings proposal will be subject to the outcome of the public 
consultation and Cabinet approval.

9. Recommendations

9.1 For Cabinet to:

 consider the options outlined in the report and determine the preferred way 
forward.

 Authorise Council officers to undertake a 12 week public consultation exercise 
on the preferred option and note that a further report will be presented to 
Cabinet setting out the outcome of that consultation exercise so that a final 
decision can be made.

 Approve the suspension of the relevant parts of the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules in respect of the requirement as to re-tendering and 
authorise the Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change to 

Page 210



enter into a short term contract of 6 months with the current pest control 
service provider Rentokil.

Gill Lewis
INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND CHANGE
19 January 2021

Contact officer: Martin Morgans
Head of Partnership Services

Telephone: (01656) 642154
Email: martin.morgans@bridgend.gov.uk
Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Contact officer: Philip O’Brien
Group Manager, Transformation and Customer Services

Telephone: (01656) 643333
Email: philip.obrien@bridgend.gov.uk
Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents:

None

Page 211



Appendix 1 – newspaper article:  The Sun, July 2017

Page 212



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

19 JANUARY 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR - COMMUNITIES

PORTHCAWL WATERFRONT REGENERATION SCHEME : SALE OF THE FOOD 
STORE SITE

1.0 Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Cabinet on the recent marketing of the food 
store site (on part of The Green and Salt Lake car park); and to  seek approval to 
appoint and dispose of the site to the preferred bidder, in accordance with the 
proposed heads of terms.

2.0 Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objectives 
under the  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:  

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy –. taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 In 2018 the Council advertised its intention to dispose of land at Salt Lake car park 
and The Green, Porthcawl; which is classed as open space within the definition of 
Section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972. Objections were received and 
reported to Cabinet on 18th June 2019. These were duly considered and Cabinet 
resolved to proceed with the disposal.

3.2 On 15th September 2020 Cabinet approved the marketing of the Council owned food 
store site at Porthcawl, as a catalyst for bringing forward land for development for the 
Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Scheme.

3.3 The Council owns circa 2.2 acres on the northern portion of The Green and Salt Lake 
car park site, Porthcawl, which has been designated for development as a food store 
site. Appendix 1 shows the outline of the site edged in red. 

Page 213

Agenda Item 11



3.4 “The Planning Development Brief : Food store site, Salt Lake North, Porthcawl” has 
been approved by Development Control Committee and sets out the acceptable 
planning parameters for the site. It is intended that a store of up to 2,322 square 
metres (Gross Internal Area) with all necessary parking spaces will be 
accommodated on the site. The development brief provides a series of design 
principles that identify aspects of design which are considered important to the 
Council whilst providing the future developer (and their design team) ample scope for 
interpretation and innovation. These principles reflect an overall requirement for a 
high quality and bespoke design response given the gateway location of the site.

3.5 The food store site forms a key element of the wider land use framework within the 
proposed new Local Development Plan, that has been worked up for the Porthcawl 
Waterfront Regeneration Scheme and is intended to act as a precursor to, and 
catalyst for, future phases of development across the wider site.

4. Current situation / proposal 

4.1 Bidding Requirements :

4.1.1 The site was advertised for sale on the open market by EJ Hales, the Council’s 
appointed agent, at the end of September 2020.

4.1.2 A key objective for the Council was to ensure that bids submitted were well informed 
and that, once selected, the successful bidder would be able to proceed at pace. To 
enable this, bidders were provided with detailed technical and planning information, 
including site investigations, topographical surveys, utilities and drainage information. 
This information enabled them to submit properly informed and costed bids.

4.1.3 As part of the marketing pack, bidders were also provided with detailed guidance on 
the bidding process. Whilst the Council was seeking to secure the highest bid for the 
land, in order to deliver best consideration in accordance with Section 123 of the 
Local Government Act 1972; it also set criteria which the bidders needed to comply 
with to demonstrate the deliverability of their bids. The criteria included :

 Board approval for their scheme.
 Funding approved by their Board.
 Compliance with the Planning Development Brief to demonstrate that a 

satisfactory planning consent would be forthcoming for their scheme.

4.1.4 The Council provided the heads of terms for the disposal agreement, as follows :

 The Council will sell the site by way of a 999 year lease.
 An agreement for lease to be entered into 8 weeks after Cabinet approval and 

which requires the bidder to submit a planning application within 6 months of 
entering into the agreement for lease. The planning application to accord with 
the indicative plans submitted as part of the bid.

 If planning consent is not secured within 18 months of entering into the 
agreement for lease, then the agreement is terminated.

Page 214



 Works to commence within 6 months of planning consent being granted.
 The 999 year lease to be entered into once planning consent has been 

granted.
 If the development has not completed within 3 years of the grant of the lease 

then the Council has the ability to terminate the lease, upon re- paying 90% of 
the purchase price.

4.1.5 The purpose of these terms are to ensure that the selected bidder delivers the agreed 
scheme to prescribed timescales. This has the advantage of ensuring control over 
scheme quality and delivery in a timely fashion, as well as preventing land banking.

4.2 Selection Process:

4.2.1 A closing date for bids of noon 2nd December 2020 was set.

4.2.2 Bids were processed in accordance with Council procedures.

4.2.3 An officer selection panel was set up to consider and assess the bids. The selection 
panel sought advice from others in considering the compliance of bids. This included 
seeking advice from planning and highway officers to consider whether or not bids 
were in accord with the Planning Development Brief and likely to secure planning 
consent.

4.2.4 Five bids were received and were assessed on the basis of whether they were           
compliant with the bidding requirements. The bidding requirements included:

 Provision of sufficient information to demonstrate a scheme, for which planning 
consent would be forthcoming, in accordance with the Planning Development 
Brief approved by Development Control Committee. To include appropriate 
access and active travel arrangements, and bespoke quality design and materials 
for development of this  gateway site.

 Confirmation of Board approval for the scheme and approval of funding.

Of those which were compliant, the preferred bidder was selected on the basis of the 
highest price to be paid for the land. 

4.2.5 The bid details are commercially sensitive and have been anonymised as follows and 
are ranked in order of highest to lowest value bids for the price to be paid for the land:

 Bid1 : Non Compliant : the bid did not accord with the Planning Development Brief
 Bid 2 : Compliant
 Bid 3 : Compliant
 Bid 4 : Non compliant : the bid did not accord with the Planning Development Brief
 Bid 5 : Non compliant : the bid did not accord with the Planning Development Brief

Of the two compliant bids, Bid 2 was the highest value for the price to be paid for the 
land. 

Bid 2 was submitted by Aldi Stores Ltd and is the selected preferred bidder.

Page 215



4.2.6 The Council has a statutory duty to ensure it secures best consideration under section 
123 of the Local Government Act 1972. It can demonstrate that it has done so in this 
case as it has openly marketed the site and the value of the selected bid exceeds 
officers expectations. In addition, EJ Hales Ltd have certified that in their opinion the 
selected bid is a highly attractive financial offer and in terms of value delivers best 
consideration. 

5 Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 The proposals will not have an impact on the Council’s policies or procedures.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there would 
be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected characteristics and 
an EIA status of low priority is considered appropriate at this stage. It is considered 
that there  are no equality issues arising from this report. 

7 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment based on the 5 
ways of working has been considered and there are no significant or unacceptable 
impacts upon the achievement of wellbeing goals/objectives. 

 Long term - The Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration is a strategic development 
scheme which has the potential to add vibrancy to the locality through the 
provision of new housing, leisure and tourism opportunities, as well as retail and 
commercial developments; set within appropriate open space, parking and public 
realm.

 Prevention – the current Waterfront sites are largely unoccupied and under-
utilised and detract from the attractiveness of the area.

 Integration – the Waterfront development will integrate with and access to the 
existing town centre, sea front and leisure developments. 

 Collaboration – the Council will collaborate with residents, visitors and end users 
of this regeneration project to ensure successful and sustainable development 
and outcomes.

 Involvement – ongoing engagement with the community will be an important facet 
of this regeneration project.

8 Financial implications

8.1 The sale of the food store on the Salt Lake car park site will generate a substantial 
capital receipt. In November 2018 Council resolved to use £2.553 million of this 
receipt to invest in approved infrastructure improvements within the Porthcawl 
Regeneration project, including the upgrading of the Hillsborough Car park, which 
serves the town centre. These infrastructure improvements are already included 
within the capital programme and were dependent upon the realisation of the capital 
receipt. Once the receipt is secured, these improvements can progress. 

Page 216



9. Recommendations

It is recommended that Cabinet: 

 Approves the disposal of the Porthcawl food store site to Aldi Stores Ltd and 
enters into the agreement for lease and lease on the terms outlined in this 
report and at the sale price bid for the land and subject to the bullet point below.

 Delegate authority to the Corporate Director – Communities, in consultation with 
both the Chief Officer – Legal, HR and Regulatory Services and the Section 151 
Officer, to approve the terms of the disposal agreement and enter into the 
agreement, with a view to legally completing the sale as soon as possible.

Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director - Communities

Contact officer: Fiona Blick
Casual Strategic Asset Manager

Telephone: (01656) 642702
Email: Fiona.blick@bridgend.gov.uk
Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 3WB

Background documents:

None

Page 217



This page is intentionally left blank



8

3

4
2

5

4
3

2
9

2
4

3
4

1

0

0

A
 
4
1
0
6

11.0m

9
8

TCBs

H

U

T
C

H

W

N

S
 
T

E
R

R

1
8

Shelter

Tennis

2
0

8

2
2

Amb Sta

2
3

1
0

Bowling Green

5

1
3

W

E
L
L
F

IE
L
D

 A
V

E
N

U
E

C

R

E

S

C

E

N

T

1

Court

1

Awel-Y-Mor

Station

Police

S
u
r
g
e
r
y

F

8.8m

TCB

Griffin

PH

Park

Sta

Tennis Courts

INDICATIVE ACCESS ROAD AND

OTHER HIGHWAYS

IMPROVEMENTS  TO ACCORD

WITH "PLANNING DEVELOPMENT

BRIEF"

EXISTING SALT LAKE CARPARK

ACCESS

SITE BOUNDARY

MINIMUM 2.25m LANDSCAPE BUFFER

INDICATING

INDICATIVE ACCESS ROAD AND

OTHER HIGHWAYS

IMPROVEMENTS  TO ACCORD

WITH "PLANNING DEVELOPMENT

BRIEF"

EXISTING SALT LAKE CARPARK

ACCESS

SITE BOUNDARY

MINIMUM 2.25m LANDSCAPE BUFFER

INDICATING

© 2020 Inspire

Design Ltd

ISO 9001
Certificate No. GB2002111

ISO 14001
Certificate No. EM2000215

Dwg NoJob No

Dwg TitleProject

Date Scale

Checked

By:-

Drawn

By:-

@
A

3
@

A
1

in
sp

re
d

e
s

i
g

n

1
0

 
T

y
 
N

a
n

t
 
C

o
u

r
t
,
 
M

o
r
g

a
n

s
t
o

w
n

,
 
C

a
r
d

i
f
f
 
C

F
1

5
 
8

L
W

.
 
T

:
-
 
0

2
9

 
2

0
2

2
 
7

9
2

6

X

T
H

E
 
P

O
R

T
W

A
Y

,
 
P

O
R

T
H

C
A

W
L

P
R

O
P

O
S

E
D

 
M

A
R

K
E

T
I
N

G
 
P

L
A

N

1
9

4
3

2
9

A
D

0
2

D

2
1
.
0
5
.
1
9

1
:
5
0
0

1
:
1
0
0
0

AC DB

SCALE 1:500 @ A1  / 1:1000 @ A3

5 5 10 15 20 25

LENGTH IN METRES

0

THE DISPOSAL SITE

P
age 219

AutoCAD SHX Text
8.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
G4

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
G5

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
7.84

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
8.34

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
G4

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
G5

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
7.84



T
his page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

19 JANUARY 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES  

VALLEYS REGIONAL PARK, BRYNGARW COUNTRY PARK DISCOVERY 
GATEWAY

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Cabinet on an opportunity to access 
further funding through the Valleys Regional Park Discovery Gateways Capital 
Grant, 2019-2021, and to seek Cabinet approval to accept a revised funding 
offer and enter into agreement with delivery partner Awen Cultural Trust to 
support the delivery of activities as part of the Valleys Regional Park at 
Bryngarw Country Park. 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities 

2.1. This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to 
make the county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, 
work, study and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on 
raising the skills, qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county 
borough. 

2. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, 
physical, ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively 
and efficiently as possible and support the creation of resources 
throughout the community that can help to deliver the Council’s well-
being objectives.

3. Background 

3.1. The Valleys Regional Park (VRP) has been developed through the Welsh 
Government Ministerial Taskforce for the Valleys in partnership with the 
Valleys’ local authorities (Merthyr Tydfil, Blaenau Gwent, Rhondda Cynon Taff, 
Caerphilly, Torfaen, Neath Port Talbot), Natural Resources Wales, Visit Wales 
and Welsh Government policy colleagues in Health and Environment Divisions. 
It reflects the views of stakeholders from Valleys’ communities, the Third 
Sector, Public Health Wales and feedback received through a series of 
engagement events held over 18 months. The VRP prospectus was published 
on 18th October 2018.

Page 221

Agenda Item 12



3.2 In 2018 Welsh Government announced a series of Valley Discovery Sites - 
Dare Valley Country Park (Rhonnda Cynon Taff), Caerphilly Castle 
(Caerphilly), Cwmcarn Forest (Caerphilly), Blaenavon World Heritage Visitor 
Centre (Torfaen), Cyfarthfa Park (Merthyr Tydfil), Ynysangharad War Memorial 
Park (Rhondda Cynon Taff) , Parc Bryn Bach (Blaenau Gwent CBC), Parc Slip 
Nature Reserve and Bryngarw Country Park (both Bridgend).  

3.3 In April 2019 Welsh Government invited proposals for funding for Discovery 
Sites.  All sites were invited to submit proposals direct to Welsh Government 
for capital funding, outlining options for delivery against the ambition of the VRP 
prospectus.  Officers from Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) worked 
with officers from Awen Cultural Trust to finalise and submit proposals for 
Bryngarw Country Park.

3.4 In September 2019, BCBC accepted a grant offer of £500,000 for the delivery 
of activity at Bryngarw Country Park through the Valleys Regional Park 
Discovery Sites Capital Grant, 2019-2021.

 
4. Current Situation / Proposal

4.1. After accepting the funding offer in relation to the proposal for Bryngarw Country 
Park, BCBC entered into a legal agreement with Awen Cultural Trust who have 
subsequently undertaken activities as outlined and agreed with Welsh 
Government.  

4.2 In December 2020 BCBC was approached by Awen Cultural Trust with a range 
of actions which would be in addition to existed agreed actions and potentially 
require further funding which Welsh Government had indicated may be 
available.

4.3 The proposed actions in addition to what has already been agreed are:

o Solar panels (Phase 2) – by extending the initial VRP-funded project to 
cover other buildings on the Bryngarw site the aim is to generate a very 
substantial proportion of the estate’s daytime electricity consumption. 
As well as making the Park more sustainable by reducing electricity 
bills, the full project would be a visible example of green energy in 
action and would reduce its carbon footprint.

o Boardwalk (Phase 2) – VRP funding in 2020-21 is enabling Awen 
Cultural Trust to upgrade part of the boardwalk in the ‘wet woodland’ 
area of the park, helping it to reopen and interpret this environmentally 
important habitat to our visitors. A further section of boardwalk 
improvements could be delivered with additional funds. 

o Toilets improvements – a major strand of the VRP funding in 2020-21 
is the project to make the visitor centre a genuine destination for 
visitors, where they can engage with the natural history of Bryngarw 
and the wider Garw Valley. Improvements to the adjoining toilet block 

Page 222



which would benefit from external and internal improvements, could be 
supported with additional funds.

o Car park improvements –further improvements could be made to the 
infrastructure in and around the car park to ensure that its safety is 
improved further and it becomes more welcoming for visitors. 

o Sculptural heritage trail –a potential scheme that would encourage 
visitors to explore the expanse of the country park, discover different 
habitats and connect with heritage and modern day stories. 

4.4 These proposed actions have subsequently been agreed by Welsh 
Government and an opportunity now exists for BCBC to access a further 
£147,000 in 2020-21 to support their delivery in partnership with Awen Cultural 
Trust. 

4.5 In order to access this additional funding, it is proposed that BCBC will continue 
to act as the grant recipient and enter into a revised grant agreement with Welsh 
Government.  Awen Cultural Trust as delivery partner will be invited to enter 
into appropriate revised agreements with BCBC.  

4.8 BCBC will require a revised funding agreement with Awen Cultural Trust. That 
funding agreement shall mirror the requirements of the revised Welsh 
Government grant agreement and will pass on the obligations contained therein 
and hold the grant recipient liable for any breach of the terms of the grant 
funding agreement caused by their default.  This will be developed by BCBC 
legal department in line with required policies and procedures and to ensure 
that the grant of funding to Awen Cultural Trust is made on a State aid compliant 
basis. 

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1. There is no direct impact on the Council’s policy framework and procedure 
rules.

6. Equality Impact Assessment 

6.1. It is considered that there will be no negative impacts from this report. 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment Template 
has been completed and a summary of the implications from the assessment 
relating to the five ways of working is below: 

 Long-term: The activities that form part of the scheme have been identified by 
the partner, Awen Cultural Trust, that will take part and are closely aligned with 
the long-term ambitions set out in the VRP prospectus.  A regional collaborative 
approach with other Discovery sites works towards long-term delivery. 

Page 223



 Prevention: On their own none of the partners or participating Discovery sites 
would be able to achieve the scale of impact that such a partnership approach 
offers.  Therefore delivering in this way offers the opportunity to build on 
success to date and prevent a deterioration of the value of this site.  

 Integration: The scheme will achieve this way of working by recognising the 
approaches that are proposed for support are those that have been identified 
by a partner organisation due to their synergy with local, regional and national 
priorities.  

 Collaboration: The proposals have been developed and will be delivered 
through a strong partnership between BCBC and Awen Cultural Trust.

 Involvement: The scheme will be delivered in close partnership with a range of 
local stakeholders.  

8. Financial Implications 

8.1. Welsh Government originally awarded £500,000 for delivery of the proposal at 
Bryngarw Country Park to be delivered over 2019-2020 and 2020-2021. 

8.2 The opportunity now exists to access a further £147,000 WG grant for additional 
action at Bryngarw Country Park to enhance the budget available to a total of 
£647,000 in 2020-21.  

8.3 There is no match funding requirements for BCBC as a result of this additional 
funding. 

8.4 Welsh Government have indicated that the additional funding is fixed and there 
is no scope to vire into future financial years. Awen Cultural Trust have 
confirmed that they will manage and spend the resources in line with this and 
will be liable for any costs resulting from over or under spend not in line with the 
profile and not agreed by Welsh Government and BCBC.

8.5 The Section 151 Officer will ensure that the grant funding provided is used 
solely for the purposes outlined in the grant offer letter. Expenditure of the grant 
will comply with all statutory requirements for accounting and internal audit 
(including supporting records and all systems of internal checks and control), 
and will be included with any internal or external audit of the Council’s funding. 

9. Recommendations

9.1. It is recommend that Cabinet:-

o Accept the additional funding and revised grant offer for the delivery of 
activity at Bryngarw Country Park of £647,000 through the Valleys 
Regional Park Discovery Sites Capital Grant, 2019-2021. 

o Authorise the Corporate Director, Communities, in consultation with the 
Section 151 Officer and Head of Legal and Regulatory Services, to enter 

Page 224



into a revised agreement for delivery of the above and any subsequent 
minor amendments with Welsh Government and Awen Cultural Trust.   

Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director, Communities 
19 January 2021

Contact Officer: Ieuan Sherwood
Group Manager: Economy, Natural Resources and 
Sustainability  

Telephone: (01656) 815334

E-mail: Ieuan.Sherwood@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council, Communities Directorate, 
Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents:

 Valleys Regional Park Prospectus 
 Cabinet report, Valleys Regional Park – Award of funding in relation to the 

Valleys Regional Park Discovery Gateways Capital Grant 2019 - 2021, 17th 
September 2019.

Page 225

mailto:Ieuan.Sherwood@bridgend.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

19 JANUARY 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES

BRIDGEND 2030 
DECARBONISATION STRATEGY, 
PATHWAY TO A CARBON NEUTRAL (NET-ZERO) COUNCIL

1.0 Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is detail the process of developing a “Bridgend 2030” 
Decarbonisation Strategy. This will further respond to the Councils Climate 
Emergency Response Programme and present a pathway to a Carbon Neutral (also 
known as Net-Zero) Bridgend by 2030, working with the Public Service Board, 
communities and business.

2.0 Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective/objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015:-  

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy –Taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study 
and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Helping people and communities to be more healthy and resilient - taking 
steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or dependent on 
the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and communities to build 
resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to have active, healthy and 
independent lives.

3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3.0 Background

3.1 Welsh Government (WG) declared a Climate Emergency in April 2019 and set out its 
priorities to address change for Wales to build resilience. Following this, the Welsh 
Government has now committed to achieving a carbon-neutral public sector by 2030. 
Bridgend supports this approach and has proposed its adoption into the updated 
2021-22 BCBC Corporate Plan. In addition, the Council is committed to coordinating 
action to help other areas of the economy to make a decisive shift away from fossil 

Page 227

Agenda Item 13



fuels, by engaging in public sector collaboration, academia, industry and the third 
sector and helping create sustainable jobs.

3.2 The areas of focus for decarbonisation are energy, transport, buildings and open 
spaces. The energy focus is to reduce the amount used and shift energy production 
to clean sources. Utilising buildings better, designing new ones to be energy efficient, 
using open spaces to provide carbon offset and provide direct renewable power 
opportunities, changing fleet and buying better overall.  These aspects are in the 
control of the Council to influence and change.

3.3 Carbon emissions are measurable on what the Council own and buy for communities, 
for example: how energy is purchased and used, buildings heated and powered, 
transport contracts or fleet purchased. Data collection needs improving to fully 
understand our Carbon Footprint and address priorities for becoming carbon neutral.

3.4 When tackling Bridgend County Borough’s community-based emissions that include 
community and business transport and energy and heat for homes, for example, here, 
the Council has a role in influencing, driving and facilitating change.  Therefore 
aligning low carbon strategies and sharing best practice with Local Partnership 
Boards, regional neighbours, communities, and business is essential to joining up 
benefits and tackling all Indirect Emissions (inside and outside of the Council’s 
control).

3.5 All public bodies need to address becoming Carbon Neutral by 2030, based on 
tackling the different scope emissions shown in Figure 1 below. Our public partners 
are setting their carbon footprints, monitoring and seeking to address the same 
concerns.  Businesses are also identifying their corporate and social responsibilities 
to address climate change action to reduce their impact and improve social well-
being. A collaborative approach across sectors is, therefore both desirable and 
practical.

Figure 1 Scope for Public Sector Emissions Reduction 
(Low Carbon Wales Prosperity for All Welsh Government, 2019)

Page 228



3.6 The shift to a low carbon system increases economic output and is part of our national 
recovery plans. Therefore, BCBC regionally can strengthen local economic prosperity 
by setting a clear encompassing strategy and delivery plan for carbon neutrality by 
2030 for direct and indirect controlled emissions controlled by the Council, as part of 
its overall response to climate change.  

4.0  Current situation/proposal

 Understanding our Carbon Footprint

4.1 To propose areas of priority and focus resources, BCBC requires a carbon audit to 
fully understand the carbon footprint relating to each in-scope emission category, as 
shown in figure 1 above. A  Carbon Audit will need to be completed of all areas; this 
will identify key areas of focus and targets for change. For example, other Local 
Authorities in South Wales have identified that procurement of services, goods and 
works have the highest Carbon footprint and therefore, the highest opportunity for 
reduction by 2030.  They have also identified that their highest opportunity for 
‘offsetting’, see Figure 2 below, is by continuing to increase waste diversion from 
landfill or incineration.  

 
Figure 2 – How to Achieve 

Carbon \neutral by offsetting

Carbon neutral or net-zero 
carbon footprint is the balancing of 

Page 229



carbon emissions against carbon removal, 
often with carbon offsetting, 

with the net result being neutral

4.2 It will also be imperative to improve digital data collection in order to understand 
carbon sources in detail. It is proposed that this is achieved by breaking the whole 
Council target down into smaller areas and then targeting and resourcing the 
changes necessary to reduce emissions (i.e. energy, transport, buildings) and 
increase offsets (i.e. solar panels, heating schemes, green infrastructure, tree 
planting, wetlands).  It is also essential to make the areas specific, to help engage 
staff, residents and business in what Bridgend want to achieve. 

 Where we are now

4.3 The Council developed its Smart Energy Plan in 2019 comprising of a series of 
projects to tackle decarbonising heat which Cabinet approved on 19th February 
2019.This includes District Heat Networks in Bridgend and Caerau, (their specific 
progress is subject to separate reports to Cabinet,) smart metering and gaining 
electrification of heat.  Whilst progressive, the Smart Energy Plan alone does not 
cover all energy opportunities within the focus areas of energy, transport, buildings 
and open spaces.

4.4 To meet the carbon-neutral/ net-zero carbon objective by 2030, the progress of and 
projects within the Smart Energy Plan need to be, expanded and accelerated and 
its governance strengthened. Table 1 below sets out the progress that has been 
achieved to date within the four WG prioritised areas of focus for 2030. Highlights 
to date include, significant investment in active travel routes within the Borough and 
the conversion of all street lighting in BCBC to LED’s resulting in reducing 
associated emissions by upto 70% overall.

Table 1: Examples of Progress within BCBC under the four areas of focus 

Project Emissions Users

Corporate Landlord Energy 
Efficiency Programme ReFIT

Direct Council 
Buildings

Buildings

Proposed Bridgend District Heat 
Network Schemes

Direct and 
Indirect

Council 
Buildings and 

Page 230



other public 
facilities

Net Zero Carbon Developments 
new Council assets and planning 
proposals and procurement

Indirect 
(Planning 
decisions)

Council and 
Community

Direct Council and 
Community 
Use

Energy Caerau Local Heat Scheme

Indirect Community 
Use

Transport Electrifying parts of Council Fleet Direct Council
Installing some Electric vehicles 
charging points across Borough

Indirect Community
Use

Open Spaces Using bio-diversity areas to offset Carbon 
sequestration

Community
Use

4.5 Across the four areas of focus, there remain opportunities to expand the scope 
further, this includes:- 

Energy:

 Identifying and delivering renewable power schemes on our estate of buildings 
and land to produce electricity that offset demands.

 Look at how we buy energy
 Smart metering across our entire estate

Transport:

 Full electrification/ or hydrogen fuelling of our fleet
 Rapid expansion of community electric charging
 Employee commuting and business travel
 Commissioned Transport Services specify electric for example; Home to 

School or social care

4.6 A significant proportion of carbon emissions are a result of goods and services we 
buy, circa 60%. Therefore procurement also needs to have a focus. Sustainable, 
resource-efficient contracts can be a source of revenue savings when reviewed, as 
the first call is to challenge whether or not we need these goods in our contract and 
can we reuse what we have. Stimulating the supply chain to respond positively to 
lower carbon activities can be cost-effective and support social needs.

4.7 To achieve a net-zero position, we need to be very ambitious and focus resources 
into delivering services differently. A Cabinet decision in June to appoint a Climate 
Emergency Manager to join the small energy team assists this ambition. However, 
this agenda requires resources and expert advice to focus time, pressure and 
expertise into delivering energy projects and drive forward the overall programme. 
Further expertise is also needed to establish the true Carbon Footprint for BCBC and 
help with procurement. It is proposed to utilise the funding approved by Cabinet in 
June 2020 (as outlined in paragraph 8.1 below) for the Climate Emergency Response 
Programme to further strengthen our capacity to meet the first challenge of setting 
our Roadmap to Net Zero Carbon by 2030 as early as possible in 2021.

Page 231



4.8 The Council cannot do this alone and broader engagement is required with sector 
partners for delivery. Agreeing a more comprehensive roadmap and action plan to 
set out clear and measurable reduction targets leading to a Carbon Neutral Bridgend 
County Borough by 2030.  To achieve this, it is proposed that this should be co-
produced with our partners, and most immediately, with Public Service Board (PSB) 
Partners on the energy programme and Carbon foot-printing. 

4.9 This proposal was discussed at a recent PSB meeting where it was agreed that the 
PSB could collaborate in a broader road map to net-zero for Bridgend County 
Borough by 2030. It was noted that there is potential to support resources through a 
subgroup, potentially share data platforms and most importantly agree on a 
methodology and priorities, joining up projects and outcomes. It is therefore 
recommended that this work is progressed with PSB partners.

4.10 The scale and complexity of both the existing energy programme and the 
requirements of transitioning to a net Zero Carbon Bridgend 2030 requires 
appropriate governance, to support Cabinet, the corporate team and wider 
stakeholders. There is currently an Energy Programme Board in existence but it is 
proposed to strengthen this by ensuring that it has a “2030” Decarbonisation focus 
and is chaired by the Cabinet Member for Communities and supported by the 
Corporate Director Communities to oversee the full programme.  A draft governance 
structure is set out below in Figure 3.

Figure 3 Draft Programme Governance Structure

4.11 The newly realigned 2030 Programme Board would be responsible for all projects 
(and agreeing additional projects), their scope, viability and overseeing the financial 
and risk profiles. The Programme Board will communicate the benefits of the 
programme to the wider community and also provide clarity of the Council’s role for 
each.  It will be instrumental in agreeing collaborations and will report via the Cabinet 
Member for Communities to the Corporate Management Team, Cabinet and Council. 
As the Programme grows, in volume and complexity, it may be necessary to appoint 
an Energy Programme Director to oversee the governance, finance and progress of 

Page 232



the multiply initiatives. This proposal will be reviewed as part of the resource 
requirements of the 2030 Strategy.

4.12 Key Outcomes

 Produce a draft roadmap to Carbon Neutral Bridgend Council 2030 that works 
with a Public Service Board broader Roadmap for Bridgend Borough 2030, 
utilising best practice and WLGA areas of influence.

 Hold a Public consultation on the draft Bridgend 2030 Decarbonisation Strategy 
as part of the Council’s commitment to an annual Sustainability Summit in summer 
2021, including forums for young people, etc.

 The consultation outcome and subsequent draft 2030 Strategy and Action Plan 
would be subject to approval in a further report to Cabinet.

 Resource the energy programme effectively, including possibly a temporary 
leadership role (Programme Director) to improve the delivery of projects and 
collaboration with PSB and others (NRW, e.g. for sequestrations data support and 
digital innovation.)

4.13 The timeline for activities is set out in Figure 4 below, which illustrates the journey 
from this Cabinet Report in January 2021 to an approved Bridgend 2030 Strategy.   
This includes undertaking BCBC’s detailed Carbon Audit, co-producing a 2030 
Strategy, Action plan & Roadmap, undertaking public consultation in the summer of 
2021 and the target of approval of a finalised strategy by the Autumn.

Figure 4 – Roadmap to the “Bridgend 2030” Decarbonisation Strategy

5.0 Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no direct impact on the Council’s policy framework and procedure rules.

6.0 Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there would 
be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected characteristics and 

Page 233



an EIA status of low priority is considered appropriate at this stage. It is considered 
that there will be no negative impacts from this report.

7.0 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 

7.1 Setting the Carbon Neutral Bridgend Council 2030 strategy and action plan pathway 
is a positive step in regard to the Council’s role in complying with the Well-being of 
Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  A clear pathway to decarbonisation 
demonstrates BCBC taking a positive, proactive leadership role within the 
decarbonisation agenda in Wales which will ensure that the significant environmental, 
social and economic opportunities created through the decarbonisation transition of 
the energy plan market and transport will be captured for Bridgend as well as the area 
being able to demonstrate its compliance with national carbon reduction targets.

7.2 In terms of meeting the 5 ways of working within the Act a “Bridgend 2030” 
Decarbonisation strategy will provide the following:- 

1. Long Term: A decarbonisation strategy and action plan will provide the 
pathway for Bridgend County to develop a decarbonised, digitally advanced 
transport, buildings power and heat systems and green space enhancements 
that meet the UK 2030 decarbonisation targets are supported by BCBC’s 
Local Area Energy Strategy and Smart Energy Plan and Green Infrastructure 
Plans.

2. Prevention: A decarbonisation strategy and action plan will provide an 
opportunity for all to benefit from the decarbonisation transition and ensure 
that solutions are designed and available for everyone within Bridgend County 
Borough.

3. Integration: A decarbonisation strategy and action plan offers an opportunity 
to develop a range of transport, buildings power and heat systems and green 
space enhancements options to communities, public and business partners 
offering carbon reductions, reduced fuel bills and create economic 
opportunities through a clearly identified value chain for the area.

4. Collaboration: BCBC is working in partnership with our communities, public 
sector partners and UK Government and private sector partners to deliver a 
route-map to decarbonisation 2030.

5. Involvement: Creating and delivering a decarbonisation strategy and action 
plan will involve working with a variety of stakeholders, notably local public 
service partners, to jointly deliver sustainable solutions.   

8. Financial implications

8.1 In June 2020, Cabinet approved the Bridgend County Climate Emergency Response 
Programme. This included an annual allocation of £215,000 from the £2m public 
realm and place shaping budget, which was approved in the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy for the Communities Directorate for 2020-21. The value of £215,000 will be 
for a full year programme, made up of £65,000 staff costs and £150,000 general 
revenue.

Page 234



8.2 As part of year 1 of the Programme, a one-off sum of £50,000 was allocated to 
support the development of the strategy and prioritised action plan, including 
costings, performance management and reporting procedures. The value required 
for 2020-21 will be a pro-rata figure due to the timing of the June 2020 report.  It is 
anticipated that this now will be £80,000.

8.3 The resources required for undertaking any specialist strategy work, working with the 
Public Services Board and a consultation event of a draft 2030 Strategy as part of 
the Annual Sustainability Summit, will be provided through these budgets.

8.4 It is recognised that an approved 2030 Strategy and Action Plan may require 
additional resources to implement initiatives in the future, which will be subject to 
Cabinet and / or Council approval once the quantum of resource is known.  However, 
it must be realised that there is an increasing financial risk to BCBC if no action is 
taken.  Welsh Government have mandated that the public sector in Wales must be 
net carbon zero by 2030. The harmful impacts of events arising from climate change 
affect people and property which in turn presents both direct and indirect challenges 
and costs for BCBC.

9. Recommendations

9.1    It is recommended that Cabinet :-

 Approves the development of a draft “Bridgend 2030” decarbonisation strategy 
and action plan for public consultation in the summer of 2021 and note that this 
draft strategy and action plan shall be reported to a future cabinet meeting prior 
to public consultation.

 Approves and delegates authority to the Corporate Director, Communities 
engaging with the Bridgend Public Services Board on the draft “Bridgend 2030” 
decarbonisation strategy and agree a shared narrative and methodology with the 
Public Services Board for the decarbonisation agenda for the Borough.

 Approves the development of a realigned Programme Governance structure and 
the appointment of the Cabinet Member for Communities as the Chair of the 2030 
Programme Board as set out in section 4.10 of this report.

Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director Communities 
19th January 2021

Contact Officer: Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director, Communities 

Telephone: (01656) 643179

E-mail:  Janine.Nightingale@Bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address Bridgend County Borough Council, Communities Directorate, Angel
Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Page 235



Background documents

 Cabinet 30th June 2020, Report of the Chief Executive, Bridgend County Climate 
Change Emergency Response Programme. 

 Cabinet 19th February 2019, Report of the Head of Operations, Community Services, 
Local Energy Strategy & Smart Energy Plan

Page 236



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

19 JANUARY 2021

JOINT REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES AND THE CHIEF 
OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND CHANGE

BRIDGEND TOWN HEAT NETWORK PROJECT 

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Cabinet on progress made with regards to 
the development of the Bridgend Town Heat Network Project and secure a number 
of key decisions regarding the progression of the project.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy –. Taking steps to make 
the county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, 
study and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the 
skills, qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3. Background

3.1 BCBC initially started looking at the opportunities for the development of heat 
networks in Bridgend in 2012 with drivers for the projects identified as:

 Decarbonisation: Heat networks offer a key mechanism to help public sector 
buildings in Wales meet the Welsh Government and our Council’s ambitious 2030 
decarbonisation of the public sector target. 

 Economic: UK Government have set ambitious targets for the development of 
heat networks across the UK and this will create a supply chain demand for new 
skills in the creation and operation of heat networks. This has also led to BCBC 
working in partnership with Bridgend College to create a Heat Academy that will 
support the development of a supply chain in Wales.

 Social: The ability to manage bills and utilise local resources via a heat network 
has the potential to create local benefits in terms of lower bills and better managed 
homes and buildings leading to health benefits and reductions in fuel poverty.

3.2 The Bridgend Town Heat Network Project is included as a project within the BCBC 
Smart Energy Plan (SEP) (approved by Cabinet February 2019).  The Smart Energy 

Page 237

Agenda Item 14



Plan details the projects that BCBC will participate in during the period 2019 – 2025. 
This proposes to test various technologies, consumer propositions and business 
models to provide a pathway to the decarbonisation of Bridgend County Borough.  It 
is also a key contributor to the Welsh Government’s decarbonisation strategy 
(published March 2019) “Prosperity for All: A Low Carbon Wales”.   

3.3 The Bridgend Town Heat Network Phase 1 Project proposes to deliver heat (via a 
gas combined heat and power engine located within the Bridgend Life Centre) to the 
Bridgend Life Centre, Civic Offices and the Bridgend Bowls Hall.  The project will also 
provide electricity to the Life Centre, Civic Offices and Bowls Hall.  

3.4 A report was submitted to Cabinet in April 2018 seeking approval, in principle, for the 
financial case of the Outline Business Case for the project and to submit an 
application to UK Government through its Heat Network Investment Programme 
(HNIP).  The report was approved by Cabinet on the 24th April 2018.

3.5 Following that report to Cabinet, a revenue grant application was made to UK 
Government through the Heat Networks Delivery Unit (HNDU) in July 2018 which  
was successful. A procurement process was carried out to appoint technical 
(AECOME) and financial consultants (AECOM sub-contracted this work to BDO) and 
legal advisors (Brodies LLP) to deliver a RIBA Stage 3 Design for the project in 
preparation for the HNIP Capital grant application for the project.  After appointment 
BDO indicated that they were to disband the infrastructure side of their business and 
the personnel within the infrastructure team formed a separate business (Asteros), 
who AECOM appointed under the same terms and conditions as for BDO. 

     
3.6 A capital grant application was made to UK Government via the Heat Network 

Investment Programme (HNIP) in April 2019 and this was approved in December 
2019 for £1,000,000 capital investment towards the construction of the heat network 
and £241,000 for pre-construction activities.

3.7 Throughout 2020 the project has been progressed through the creation of a new 
financial model, preparation of a planning application for the thermal store, 
development of an environmental permit for the energy centre and the creation of a 
tender pack for the procurement of a design build operate and maintain (DBOM) 
contractor to manage the construction and operation of the network.

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 The Bridgend Town DHN project has reached a critical stage with several crucial 
milestone decisions needed to ensure progression in line with the Conditions 
Precedent laid out in the Grant Funding Offer provided by the Dept. of Business, 
Energy and Industrial Strategy to BCBC as part of the HNIP grant conditions.  The 
commercialisation phase of the project involves the procurement of a design, build, 
operate and maintain (DBOM) contractor to deliver the physical infrastructure 
required for the project.  Significant progress needs to be demonstrated in the 
procurement of the DBOM contractor before the construction capital grant funding 
can be drawn down.  This must happen by 19 March 2021 and therefore, it is 
essential, that the procurement must be underway by March 2021. In order to achieve 
this, the procurement notice must be launched in February 2021.    

Page 238



4.2 It must be recognised that whilst progress is required to meet the HNIP grant 
conditions, the business case to date is based on financial modelling.  The full 
financial cost and implications of delivering this scheme will only be known once the 
procurement process is undertaken and a contractor selected.  It is then that a full 
business case will be prepared and will be subject to Cabinet approval before the 
appointment of any contractor would take place.  During the procurement process the 
Council will explore different options and innovation from the market to consider in 
the final business case. In the knowledge of this, the work that now needs to be 
progressed includes procuring a contractor, submitting the planning application for 
the thermal store, the environmental permit for the energy centre, as well as 
progressing with the creation of the Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV). The details of 
the SPV to be established will be subject to a further report to Cabinet for approval in 
February 2021.  Following this Cabinet Report, the tender documents for the 
appointment of the DBOM will be released, but no appointment will be made until 
Council approve the scheme and additional loan amount as part of the Capital 
Programme, to be reported to Council in February 2021. The detail of these individual 
tasks are set out below from section 4.4 onwards.

4.3 It must also be noted that the delivery schedule of the project needs to remain on 
track with the project plan,  as any further delays could increase costs within the 
project.  An example of this is the need to work within buildings, making them ready 
for connection, outside of the heating season i.e. in the summer months.  Failure to 
do this could result in increased scheme cost. Similarly with the construction timetable 
for the  highway network and the need to cross major road arteries outside of busy 
periods,   failure to meet these windows of opportunity could also increase costs. 
Environmental Permitting

4.4 BCBC is required to secure an environmental permit from Natural Resources Wales 
(NRW) under the Environmental Permitting (England & Wales) Regulations 2016 for 
the gas combined heat and power engine which forms the energy centre for the heat 
network.  The gas CHP engine falls under the Medium Combustion Plant Directive 
which requires BCBC to secure a bespoke permit for the energy centre.  The work 
on the permit will dictate the height of the flue and this will in turn influence the 
planning application made to the Bridgend Planning Authority.  The Environmental 
Permit will be submitted to NRW shortly and authority to do so shall be sought from 
under the Scheme of Delegation.    

Planning Permission

4.5 The thermal store is a tank of water that plays an important role in the operation of a 
heat network by bridging the gap between energy supply and energy demand through 
shifting peak load demand to off-peak hours through the use of stored energy.  The 
height of the thermal store requires planning permission for its location at the rear of 
the Bridgend Life Centre.  The Planning Permission will be submitted to the Planning 
Authority by the end of January 2021 and authority to do so shall be sought from 
under the Scheme of Delegation.

Utility Regulations

4.6 The construction of a heat network is covered within Regulation 9 of the Utilities  
Contracts Regulations 2016 BCBC is therefore required to procure the DBOM 
contractor for the heat network through the Utilities Contracts Regulations 2016.  For 

Page 239



the procurement of works, goods and services, BCBC normally utilises the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015. However, Regulation 7 of the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 provides that those regulations do not apply to public contracts 
when public contracts are being awarded or organised under the Utilities Contracts 
Regulations 2016  in exercise of one or more of the activities referred to in 
Regulations 9 to 15 and for the pursuit of those activities. Consequently, the Public 
Contracts Regulations 2015 do not apply to the procurement of the DBOM contractor 
for the heat network but instead BCBC must follow the Utilities Contracts Regulations 
2016. BCBC’s Contract Procedure Rules deal solely with the conduct of 
procurements under the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. Therefore, in order to 
conduct a procurement under the Utilities Contracts Regulations, the Contract 
Procedure Rules will need to be suspended and approval is sought from Cabinet to 
suspend the Contract Procedure Rules and carry out a procurement under the 
Utilities Contracts Regulations 2016.

4.7 It is recognised that BCBC is not experienced in the use of the Utilities Contracts 
Regulations 2016.  In order to manage the procurement of the Design Build Operate 
& Maintain contractor, it is proposed that Brodies shall run the procurement on the 
Council’s behalf, with AECOM’s assistance in the  development of the tender 
documentation pack and the procurement process to appoint the DBOM contractor .

Special Purpose Vehicle

4.9 The creation of a Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) as the delivery mechanism for the 
Bridgend Town Heat Network project is one of the Conditions Precedent within the 
HNIP grant offer from UK Government for the project. Advice is being sought on the 
creation and establishment of the SPV and a report will be presented to Cabinet in 
February 2021 for a decision.

Phase 2

4.10 In line with the BCBC Local Area Energy Plan, which indicates that heat networks are 
the most technical and economically advantageous option for the decarbonisation of 
heat within Bridgend Town, the Council is seeking to develop a Phase 2 of the heat 
network.  Phase 2 would be a more ambitious project than Phase 1 and would have 
the potential to connect two hospitals, four schools and a care home as well as 
potential new development within Bridgend Town centre.

4.11 The Council made an application for grant funding from UK Government (Business, 
Energy & Industrial Strategy) through its Heat Network Delivery Unit (HNDU) in June 
2020 for £132,150 to contribute towards the cost of preparing an Outline Business 
Case for Phase 2 of the project (£102,150) and Project Management resource 
support (£30,000).

4.12 BEIS approved the funding application in September 2020 and a tender pack is being 
developed to procure the technical, financial and legal consultants needed to prepare 
the outline business case for Phase 2.  The cost of developing the outline business 
case has been estimated as £150,000.  The remaining £47,850 needed to prepare 
the outline business case is being provided by the Council.  The £47,850 will be 
funded from the Heat (SEP) Programme budget within the Strategic Regeneration 
Fund.  

Page 240



5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 This report has no effect on the policy framework and procedural rules

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An initial equality impact assessment screening has been completed and has 
identified that there will be no negative issues related to this report.

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Bridgend Town Heat Network Project is a positive step in regard to the Council’s 
role in complying with the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015.  The 
project demonstrates BCBC taking a positive proactive role within the 
decarbonisation agenda in Wales which will ensure that the significant environmental, 
social and economic opportunities created through the decarbonisation transition of 
the energy market will be captured for Bridgend as well as the area being able to 
demonstrate its compliance with national carbon reduction targets.

7.2 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 has been completed. A 
summary of the implications from the assessment relating to the fives ways of working 
is as follows:

1. Long Term: The Bridgend Town Heat Network Project will provide the 
foundation for Bridgend Town to develop a decarbonised heat system that 
meets the UK 2030 decarbonisation targets in line with BCBC’s Local Area 
Energy Strategy and Smart Energy Plan.

2. Prevention: The Bridgend Town Heat Network Project will provide an 
opportunity for all to benefit from the decarbonisation transition and ensure 
that solutions are designed and available for everyone within Bridgend Town.

3. Integration: The Bridgend Town Heat Network Project offers an opportunity 
to develop a heat network that serves Bridgend Town and that offers carbon 
reductions, reduced whole life cost of heat (capital and revenue) and creates 
economic opportunities through a clearly identified value chain for the area 
supporting business and local employment.

4. Collaboration: BCBC is working in partnership with both UK Government and 
private and public sector partners to deliver the project.

5. Involvement: The Bridgend Town Heat Network Project involves working with 
a variety of stakeholders to deliver a sustainable solution for the 
decarbonisation of heat within Bridgend Town.   

8. Financial implications

8.1 The Cabinet Report in April 2018, had the Phase 1 Year 1 capital outlay as £1.959 
million, this increased to £4.229m in April 2019 when an amended financial model 
was created as part of the grant submission to UK Government through the Heat 
Network Investment Programme.  The increase was driven primarily by the inclusion 
of the new Sunnyside development.  The withdrawal of the development from the 
scheme has meant that the Year 1 capital outlay is currently £3.389 million.  The 
costs within the project are different to those presented in the original outline business 
case to Cabinet in April 2018 and those presented to Corporate Management Board 
in April 2019 due to a number of factors most notably withdrawal of the Sunnyside 

Page 241



development from the project, upgrades to the transformer required at the Bridgend 
Life Centre, inflationary impacts and future proofing of the further network 
connections.  A summary of the variations between the project funding and interest 
rates presented as part of the April 2019 position and the current report is shown in 
Table 1 below:

Table 1 Project Funding and Interest Rates

Funding Source April 2019 Model Current Model
BCBC Capital 
Programme

£500,000 £500,000

BCBC Prudential 
Borrowing 

£1,079,563 £1,821,367

HNIP Grant £1,934,000 £1,000,000
Linc Cymru/Halo 

Contribution
£716,000 -

Connection Charges £67,366
BCBC shares £1,000 £1,000

TOTAL £4,230,563 £3,389,733
PWLB Interest Rate 2.1% 2.6%

Interest Rate to BCBC 4.65% 2.6%
Repayment Loan Period 50 40

Financial Evaluation 
Period

50 50

8.2 The interest rate chargeable on the loan by the Council to the SPV was initially set at 
4.65% to avoid State Aid implications.  This rate was considered high, but was based 
on the assumption that the Council is the 100% owner of the SPV and any reduced 
returns made by the SPV through a higher interest cost would be offset by increased 
interest payments received by the Council.  The main impact of the higher interest 
rate is that financing payments need to be made by the SPV and this causes cash 
flow difficulties in the early years of the SPVs existence. So, the interest rate to the 
Council was reduced in the current financial model to avoid the SPV going into 
negative cash flows.  Apart from the timing of money flowing to the Council, the 
change doesn’t affect overall Council returns (dividend plus interest) and advice from 
the Council’s advisors (Brodies & Asteros) is that this rate would still be State Aid 
compliant under the old EU State Aid rules and that at present nothing has changed 
to make this project any less compliant with state aid rules. The rate would still be 
state aid compliant at present (noting that state aid rules are in a state of flux at the 
moment and any changes will need to be closely monitored). 

8.3 Due to the increased level of borrowing by the Council to the SPV proposed, from £1 
million to £1.82 million, it will be necessary to make an amendment to the Treasury 
Management Strategy (TMS) to enable this to happen.  At present the threshold for 
non-treasury investments, such as loans, investments in subsidiaries and 
investments in property is limited to £1 million.  This limit will need to be increased to 
enable the loan to the SPV to be undertaken.  The draft TMS 2021-22 will be 
presented to Governance and Audit Committee on 28 January 2021, and to Council 
in February 2021 for approval.

Page 242



8.4 A re-worked financial model was prepared and presented to the BCBC Finance 
Department (September 2020) following which a number of queries were raised.  It 
was decided that the model should receive an independent review by a third party.  
PeopleToo were appointed to carry out the financial review of the model and 
concluded their review in November 2020. The main findings of the review are 
presented in table 2.

Table 2 Current Base Case for Phase 1 of the Bridgend Town Heat Network

Key Financial Metric OBC 2018 (50/50) Current Base Model 
2020

Funding Sources £4.23m £3.32m
EBITDA £10.82m £10.23m

Dividends £1.1m plus £0.969m on 
interest gain

£4.076m

Capital Expenditure 
Over Life

£9.83m £6.79m (£5.87m if 
£0.91m residual value is 

not included)
Loan Capital 
Repayments

£1.08m £1.82m

Loan Interest 
Repayments

£1.802m £1.1m

Corporation Tax £0.69m £0.70m
Council Return inc. 

Residual Value
Not Modelled £2.48m

Council IRR Inc. 
Residual Value

Not Modelled 2.73%

Council Return excl. 
Residual Value

£2.07m £1.567m

Council IRR excl 
Residential Value

3.45% 2.22%

8.5 Under the model the dividends to the Council (£4.076 million across the life of the 
scheme) will not start to be paid until the 2024-25 financial year, and this will impact 
on the net profit of the SPV which will not return a net profit then until 2035-36 when 
dividends cease for a number of years.  Dividends are not payable every year in the 
model and include a significant payment of £1.092 million at the end of the 50 year 
project.  Dividends in the first 10 years of the scheme are estimated to be around 
£191,000.

8.6 The conclusions of both Asteros and the PeopleToo review was that the project is 
viable with a positive IRR.  The margins on the project are tight but Table 2 shows 
that dividends on the project have increased with the increase largely due to three 
main factors:

 First, approximately £900k of residual value in the assets was excluded from 
the original return calculation.  Including them does assume they could realise 
this value, which is unknown at present.

 Secondly, the reduction in interest rate from 4.65% to 2.6% increases the 
dividend return, however, further advice is required as to whether this will fall 
in line with State Aid rules.

Page 243



 Thirdly, there have been changes to the input assumptions to the model 
including reduced capital expenditure costs.  If additional capital expenditure 
is required (eg back up boilers) this will affect the profitability and returns on 
the scheme.

8.7 In line with the Bridgend Local Area Energy Plan it is the long term (10+ years) 
intention to extend and connect additional buildings to the Phase 1 network.  The 
Bridgend Town DHN is envisaged to play a key role within the decarbonisation of 
public buildings within Bridgend Town.  Currently funding obtained from the Public 
Works Loan Board is intended to form part of the project finance package.  Recent 
guidance (Public Works Loan Board Guidance) requires the S.151 officer to formally 
confirm that the Bridgend capital programme for the current and following 2 financial 
years as not involving any investment in assets “primarily for yield”.  Given that the 
primary drivers for this project are environmental (decarbonisation) and economic 
(development of a DHN supply chain in partnership with Bridgend College) the project 
is not an investment primarily for yield.  Therefore advice from Asteros has been that 
it is legitimate for the Council to use PWLB finance to decarbonise public buildings 
within the Council boundaries.

  
8.8 The Scheme delivers lower cost heat, when considering both capital and revenue 

costs jointly, to the Council and the Special Purpose Vehicle (SPV) is anticipated to 
generate returns to the Council by way of dividends.  There is a differential impact on 
Service budgets with increases in revenue budgets being more than offset by 
decreases in  the Council's capital budgets.  The combined gas and electric revenue 
costs for 2019-20 were £103k for the Civic Centre and any periodic major equipment 
replacement costs would currently need to be funded from Council capital budgets. 
The all-in cost of heat under the Scheme is estimated at £114k and this is inclusive 
of both the revenue and capital (at circa 14.5% of the total charge) expenditure 
associated with delivering heat and power presented as an annual charge, but would 
be paid on metered usage.  The Council is not able to meet any revenue costs from 
its capital expenditure therefore it is anticipated that the increase in the revenue 
budget assumed from the outline business case of £11k per year could be offset by 
returns to the Council from the SPV over time.  However, as noted above, the Council 
may not receive returns in some years.  There may also be increased revenue 
charges for the Bridgend Life Centre which may also be passed on to the Council, 
though these have yet to be quantified.  This will be reviewed at the Final Business 
Case stage.

9. Recommendation(s)

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:

 Approves the continued delivery of the Bridgend Town District Heat Network 
project. 

 Agrees that a report be taken to Council for its approval to amend the Capital 
Programme for the inclusion of the Bridgend Town District Heat Network project 
within the Capital Programme and agrees the loan to the SPV, subject to approval 
to changes to the Treasury Management Strategy.

 Notes that the Treasury Management Strategy will need to be revised to enable 
the Council to make a loan of £1.821 million to the SPV, and this will be reflected 

Page 244



in the draft Treasury Management Strategy 2021-22 that will be presented to Audit 
Committee on 28 January 2021, and to Council for approval in February 2021.

 Approves the procurement of and subsequent appointments of technical/financial 
consultant and a legal advisor to prepare an Outline Business Case for Phase 2 
of the Bridgend Town Heat Network Project.

 Delegate authority to the Corporate Director Communities to tender for the 
technical/financial consultant and Legal Advisor to prepare an Outline Business 
Case for Phase 2 of the Bridgend Town Heat Network Project and award the 
contracts to the successful tenderers, the contractual terms of the contracts to be 
approved by the Corporate Director Communities in consultation with the Chief 
Officer – Legal, HR and Regulatory Services.

 Suspend the relevant parts of the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules which 
require procurements to be conducted under the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 and approve the procurement of a Design Build Operate Mantain contractor 
for the Bridgend District Heat Network by utilising  the negotiated procedure with 
prior call for competition under the Utilities Contract Regulations 2016.

 Approves Brodies LLP running the procurement of the Design Build Operate 
Maintain Contractor under the the negotiated procedure with prior call for 
competition under the Utilities Contract Regulations 2016 on behalf of the Council. 

 Delegate authority to the Corporate Director Communities to tender the contract 
for the Design Build Operate Maintain contractor for the Bridgend District Heat 
Network, in consultation with the Chief Officer – Legal , HR and Regulatory 
Services using the negotiated prior call for competition under the Utilities Contract 
Reulations 2016 and note that a further report shall be presented to Cabinet 
following the conclusion of the procurement of the Design Build Operate Maintain 
contractor for a decision on whether to award the contract. 

 Note that a report shall be presented to Cabinet in February 2021 on the creation 
of the Special Purpose Vehicle which will provide the commercial delivery 
mechanism for the project.

Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director Communities 
19 January 2021

Gill Lewis
Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change
19 January 2021

Contact officer: Michael Jenkins
Team Leader Sustainable Development

Telephone: (01656) 643179

Email: Michael.jenkins@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend.

Page 245



Contact officer: Nigel Smith
Group Manager – Chief Accountant

Telephone: (01656) 643605

Email: Nigel.smith@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address: Raven’s Court, Brewery Lane, Bridgend.

Background Documents:

Cabinet Report April 2018

Bridgend Local Area Energy Plan

Page 246



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

19 JANUARY 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES  

CAERAU HEAT SCHEME

1. Purpose of Report

1.1. The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the delivery of the Caerau 
Heat Scheme project, to seek authority from Cabinet to undertake an options 
appraisal of alternative delivery methods and for Cabinet to agree to receive a 
further report with a proposal on the preferred option and a way forward.  

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities 

2.1. This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective/objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015:-  

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to 
make the county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, 
work, study and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on 
raising the skills, qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county 
borough. 

2. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, 
physical, ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively 
and efficiently as possible and support the creation of resources 
throughout the community that can help to deliver the Council’s well-
being objectives.

3. Background 

3.1. The Caerau Heat Scheme was established as a highly innovative project and 
proposed to extract heat from water contained within flooded former coal mine 
workings, to provide a resource for properties within Caerau.  The water would 
be transported via a network of pipes to the properties with the temperature 
being boosted to the residents required level by a ground source heat pump.

3.2 The project is overseen internally by a Project Internal Governance Board which 
is comprised of officers from relevant Council departments.  This reports to the 
Energy Programme Board.  Issues are escalated from the Energy Programme 
Board to Communities Directorate Management Team and Corporate 
Management Board as required.

Page 247

Agenda Item 15



3.3 An external Stakeholder Group exists which provides advice and support to the 
Project Team. This is fed through to the Project Internal Governance Board via 
the Project Manager. This Group is made up of representatives from: 

 Welsh Government
 BCBC
 Energy Systems Catapult
 Coal Authority
 British Geological Survey
 Natural Resources Wales
 Cardiff University
 Coalfields Regeneration Trust
 Valleys to Coast

3.4 The project has a series of decision gateways, which form critical points where 
research undertaken to that point is used to determine whether the proposed 
method of delivery can and should proceed. At each stage the technical 
feasibility and financial viability are considered. 

3.5 Table 1 below shows these decision gateways, with their originally estimated 
and revised dates.  It also shows project outputs and outcomes that will be 
available in the event of the project being closed down at any one of the 
decision gates. 

Table 1 – Decision Gateways

Decision Gateway Likely 
date

Revised dates Project outputs/outcomes

1 Mine water 
investigations do not 
show sufficient mine 
water available for 
the scheme to 
proceed.

Early 
2020

Early 2021
Cost uncertainty 
caused delay.

Developed techno-economic 
model for a district heating scheme 
using heat pumps and mine water.
Experience of consumer 
consultation for a domestic district 
heating scheme.
Learning about the use of mine 
water as a heat source.

2 Detailed Project 
Development and 
Outline Business 
Case do not 
demonstrate that 
the project is viable.

Early 
2020

Early 2021
Process 
lengthened due 
to testing 
scenarios 
against a base 
case in the 
techno-
economic 
modelling and 
subsequent 
scrutiny of the 

As above, and:
Detailed Project Development for a 
district heating scheme using heat 
pumps and mine water.

Page 248



model by a third 
party. 

3 It is not possible to 
award a contract to 
a DBOM contractor 
(e.g. due to the 
tenders not being 
credible, or no 
tenders being 
received or 
negotiations with 
contractors being 
unsuccessful).

Early 
2021

Mid/late 2021 As above, and:
Learnings from the tendering 
process

4 Insufficient 
households sign up 
to the heat contract 
for the scheme to be 
viable.

2022 2022 As above, and:
Learnings from the marketing of 
heat contracts to homes exercise. 

3.6 Nordic Heat were appointed in November 2019 to take forward the final aspects 
of the work required to inform the decision gateways 1 and 2.  This included 
mine water investigations to determine whether this is available and a viable 
source of heat or whether an alternative source is required and also undertaking 
techno-economic modelling to determine commercial viability based on the 
information available at the time.  

4. Current Situation / Proposal

4.1. In the past twelve months the following key pieces of work have been 
completed.

4.2. The Coal Authority Work Package 1 and 2 Report was completed in September 
2020. The report concluded that the water currently in the existing borehole is 
unlikely to be mine water and so further investigation would be needed.  The 
indicative costs for the abstraction and reinjection boreholes required for the 
investigations that the Coal Authority suggested are required are estimated to 
be £1.5m and £1m respectively. The cost is approximately more than three 
times previous estimates.  

4.3. Following receipt of this information, and in order to validate the Coal Authority 
estimate, The Coal Authority Report has been reviewed and a pre-market 
engagement exercise was undertaken by BCBC in November 2020. This was 
through a speculative notice being published on Sell2Wales.  This exercise 
confirmed the Coal Authority’s estimate to be representative of current market 
pricing and that drilling to 400m depth through 12 mine workings is high risk 
with an uncertain outcome.  This has led to the conclusion that given the budget 
available, it will not be possible to progress with further testing and without 
further testing the exploration of mine water as a potential source of heat for the 
scheme will need to cease.  

Page 249



4.4. The Caerau Minewater Scheme Techno-Economic Model was completed in 
November 2020.  This piece of work, completed by Nordic Heat, has shown 
that in order to meet the current agreed outputs, additional capital is required 
to construct the scheme as originally conceived. Also once operational, there 
will be insufficient revenue generated to cover the costs of operation, 
maintenance and future equipment replacement. This Techno-Economic Model 
was subsequently reviewed by heat network specialists ECO50. 

4.5. Alongside the above, officers have undertaken Caerau Heat Alternative 
Options Market Test.  The purpose of this work was to invite proposals for 
alternative technologies for the delivery of Caerau Heat Scheme.  An evaluation 
of the responses has indicated that there are other potential technologies and 
solutions other than the use of mine water for delivering a renewable heat 
scheme in Caerau. These include solutions such as air-source or ground-
source heat and individual property based packages.

4.6. As a result of the work outlined in paragraphs 4.2 – 4.5, and in line with the 
decision gateways for the project detailed in paragraph 3.6 it is now proposed 
that an options appraisal be undertaken to determine viability and suitability of 
alternative delivery methods.  

4.7. It is proposed that the options appraisal be based on the following set of criteria:

- Project cost - The degree to which options are considered affordable within 
the overall budget currently remaining available for the project.  

- Financial viability – The degree to which options deliver revenue sufficient 
enough to cover operating and replacement costs in the long-term

- Timescale – The degree to which options are considered to be deliverable 
within the current agreed end date of the project.  

- Compliance – The degree to which options are considered to comply with 
all current relevant regulations, policies and procedures

- Funder requirements – The degree to which options are considered to be 
within the scope of ‘community energy’ as required by WEFO and state aid 
compliance.

4.8. The options appraisal will review the following options:

(a) Continue with the original scope of the project, seeking funder agreement 
to incur higher than anticipated costs relating to borehole investigation 
work and work to identify further funding to increase the overall budget of 
the project.  

(b) Continue with investigations into the delivery of a smaller mine water led 
scheme that would serve only the primary school as a demonstrator and 
not serve homes

(c) Seek an alternative source of heat for a scheme to serve homes, ceasing 
investigations into the use of mine water

(d) Deliver a blended solution of a demonstrator mine water scheme, serving 
the school, and a heat network with an alternative heat source serving 
homes

Page 250



(e) Seek to provide home energy improvements on a home by home basis 
with no on-going supply arrangements

(f) End the scheme and cease all project development work. 

4.9. An agreed view on the options appraisal will be developed by members of the 
Energy Programme Board.  

4.10. Initial discussions with WEFO have indicated that an alternative approach to 
delivering a community energy scheme in Caerau could be accepted, subject 
to submission of a satisfactory revised business plan. WEFO have confirmed 
that they are content for BCBC to submit a re-profile of the project that includes 
a potential move away from mine water as the source of a district heat network 
and explores other opportunities in the area, should that be the suggested way 
forward following the options appraisal.

4.11. The next steps for this project are proposed to be:
 Undertake options appraisal 
 Present findings of options appraisal to WEFO for consideration
 Submit report to Cabinet on the outcome of the options appraisal for 

a decision on how to proceed and if required a subsequent report to 
Council.

It is currently considered that this process will take approximately up to 6 
months, based on the information available at this time.

5. Effect upon Policy Framework& Procedure Rules

5.1. There is no direct impact on the Council’s policy framework and procedure 
rules.

6. Equality Impact Assessment 

6.1. An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there 
would be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected 
characteristics and an EIA status of low priority is considered appropriate at 
this stage. It is considered that there will be no negative impacts from this 
report. 

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1. The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment Template 
has been completed and a summary of the implications from the assessment 
relating to the five ways of working is below: 

Long Term: The project will provide a key opportunity to deliver decarbonised 
heat system that support efforts through an innovation project to meet the UK 
decarbonisation targets.

Prevention: The project will provide an opportunity for those impacted in the 
community of Caerau to benefit from the decarbonisation transition and ensure 

Page 251



that solutions are designed and available for everyone and not just the ability 
to pay market.

Integration: The project will offer carbon reductions, reduced fuel bills and 
create economic opportunities through a clearly identified value chain.

Collaboration: BCBC is working with both UK Government and Welsh 
Government as well as private sector partners to deliver the decarbonisation 
agenda.

Involvement: The project involves working with a variety of stakeholders to 
deliver sustainable solutions around the delivery of decarbonised heat for 
residents. The involvement of residents in developing the scheme has and 
continues to be a crucial component to ensure its longer term success.

8. Financial Implications 

8.1. The total scheme cost, as approved by the Welsh European Funding Office 
(WEFO), is £9,732,922, split between capital and revenue as set out in the table 
below.  This also shows the funding sources for the scheme.

Caerau Heat 
Scheme

Total cost

£

ERDF grant 
approved

£

Other 
grants & 

service 
charges

£

BCBC 
contribution

£
Capital 7,827,791 6,293,463 366,218 1,168,110
Revenue 1,905,131 1,002,782 529,308 373,041
Total 9,732,922 7,296,245 895,526 1,541,151

8.2 Other external funding to the scheme includes Welsh Government grant of 
£301,265, DECC/Scottish Power grants of £141,605 and anticipated charges 
for the supply of heat - £452,656.  The £1,168,110 BCBC capital contribution 
relates to expenditure already incurred and funded and retrospectively agreed 
by WEFO as part of the scheme.  WEFO reimbursed these costs and, as a 
result, the Council was able to put aside this funding to contribute towards the 
future capital costs of the scheme.

8.3 The expenditure to date of the scheme is £2,196,370 as set out in the table 
below.

Scheme costs Total cost

£

Spend to 30 
November 2020

£
Capital costs:
Estates – preliminaries & 
construction

6,293,462 -

Professional services 1,534,329 1,534,329
TOTAL Capital costs 7,827,791 1,534,329
Revenue costs:

Page 252



Professional services 654,075 249,932
Accommodation 304,754 -
Staff – BCBC match 354,563 272,048
Staff – grant funded 361,352 86,295
Administration 123,000 15
Overheads (at flat rate) 107,387 53,752
TOTAL Revenue costs 1,905,131 662,041
TOTAL SCHEME COSTS 9,732,922 2,196,370

Funding to date is shown below:

Cost: ERDF 
Capital 

grant

£

ERDF 
Revenue 

grant

£

Other 
grants

£

BCBC 
revenue 

match 
(salaries)

£

TOTAL

£
Capital 1,233,584 300,745 1,534,329
Revenue 339,230 50,580 272,231 662,041
TOTAL 1,233,584 339,230 351,325 272,231 2,196,370

8.4 In addition to the costs incurred to date, the project currently has a number of 
live contracts, the remaining costs of those contracts being c. £648,089.  These 
are:

o Detailed Project Design (Nordic Heat) £325,964
o Legal Advisor (Pinsent Mason) £34,390
o Private Wire Study (Challoch Energy) £13,652
o Strategic Advisor (Adwill Assoc.) £44,240
o Comfort as a Service (Energy Systems Catapult) £229,843

8.5 Taking into account these contractual commitments, the remaining budget for 
the scheme is £6,888,465.

8.6 Depending on the outcome of the options appraisal, BCBC may need to review 
the existing Terms and Conditions of these contracts and consider whether any 
variation is required, but cannot do so until a decision is made on the delivery 
option for the Scheme.

8.7 Options for delivering the scheme will only be considered viable if they meet 
the key requirement of being deliverable within the current remaining project 
budget and with sufficient revenue generated to cover long term running costs. 

8.8 Discussions have taken place with WEFO and spend to date is considered to 
be within the scope of the approved project and therefore likelihood of funding 
clawback is limited.  This however will need to be confirmed with WEFO once 
the options appraisal has been completed and implications are known.  

9. Recommendations

9.1. It is recommend that Cabinet:-

Page 253



 Notes the action taken by officers in relation to the delivery of the project since 
the last report to Cabinet.

 Approves that an options appraisal of alternative delivery models as detailed in 
sections 4.7 and 4.8 be undertaken. 

 Delegates authority to the Corporate Director Communities to agree the final 
terms of the options appraisal in consultation with the Energy Programme 
Board.

 Notes that a further report shall be received once the options appraisal has 
been completed with a proposal on the preferred option and a way forward and, 
should it be required, recommend to Council an update to the Capital 
programme.

Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director, Communities 
19 January 2021

Contact Officer: Ieuan Sherwood
Group Manager: Economy, Natural Resources and 
Sustainability  

Telephone: (01656) 815334

E-mail: Ieuan.Sherwood@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council, Communities Directorate, 
Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents:

 Coal Authority WP1&2 Report
 Caerau District Heating Scheme – Report of Techno-Economic Evaluation
 Caerau Heat Alternative Options Market Test

Page 254

mailto:Ieuan.Sherwood@bridgend.gov.uk


BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

19 JANUARY 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES

SMART ENERGY PLAN – DOMESTIC ENERGY EFFICIENCY PROJECT

1.0 Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to present to, and confirm approval from Cabinet for 
Bridgend County Borough Council’s support for a Welsh Government project to 
improve the energy efficiency of domestic properties within Bridgend County 
Borough.   

2.0 Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective/objectives under the  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015:-  

1. *Supporting a successful sustainable economy –. taking steps to make 
the county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, 
study and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising the 
skills, qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

2. *Smarter use of resources – ensure that all  resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently 
as possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community 
that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being objectives.

3.0 Background

3.1 Welsh Government (WG) has operated 3 phases of its domestic energy efficiency 
programme since 2009.  The detail of these phases, including the level of investment 
and benefits of the schemes, was previously reported to Cabinet in April 2019.

3.2 The current phase of the programme, Phase 3, will run from 2018 – 2023 and seeks 
to invest £54m over this period into over 6,000 homes in areas where fuel poverty is 
prevalent.  The funding for the programme will come from ERDF, WG and energy 
supply company sources through the Energy Company Obligation (ECO).

3.3 The primary focus of the programme is to reduce fuel poverty.  A home is considered 
to be in fuel poverty if they spend more than 10% of their household income on energy 
and in severe fuel poverty if they spend more than 20% of their total household 
income on energy. Homes within Bridgend have been identified for inclusion in this 
phase.

Page 255

Agenda Item 16



4.0 Current situation/proposal

4.1 Welsh Government are now ready to launch the phase 3 Programme in Bridgend.  It 
will be delivered by Arbed am Byth, which is a joint venture company between 
Everwarm and the Energy Saving Trust.  Arbed am Byth will work with BCBC, building 
on the existing partnership approach to deliver the Smart Energy Plan, to identify 
areas of fuel poverty where the programme could have maximum impact.  Arbed am 
Byth, as the Scheme Manager, will manage the programme from the beginning to the 
end and will identify and develop the schemes through the development of local 
relationships with stakeholders and supply chains. 

4.2 The Scheme Manager will identify the areas to be targeted through the use of data 
sources such as:

 Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation (WIMD)
 Energy Performance Certificates (EPC)
 Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) data
 Housing Benefit Data
 Flying Start Areas
 Free School Meals Data
 Housing and Health Action Data

4.3 To date the Scheme Manager has carried out a high level mapping exercise of 
potential areas within Bridgend County Borough where the Welsh Government 
Programme could have maximum impact and two areas have been identified (these 
will require further discussion to agree actual boundaires and areas to be 
considered).  The two initial areas are:

 Ogmore Valley
 Porthcawl (East)

4.4 The process of accessing support once an area location has been decided will require 
the Scheme Manager to carry out an assessment of each property and design a 
package of works that could improve the energy efficiency of the home.  The 
measures that could receive funding through the programme include:

 Low Energy Light Bulbs
 Draught Proofing
 Loft Insulation
 Cavity Wall Insulation
 External Wall Insulation
 Thermostatic Radiator Valves
 Central Heating System
 Radiators
 Renewable Technologies (e.g. heat pumps, solar PV)

4.5 The criteria developed by WG for the properties to be included within the scheme 
require that the homes selected have a current Energy Performance Certificate rating 
of E, F and G and will be private sector owner-occupier homes.  In addition, private 

Page 256



rental properties will be considered but only two properties per landlord per scheme 
will be allowed and the landlord must be registered on SMART rent Wales.   

4.6 The assessment under paragraph 4.4  that the Scheme Manager will carry out for 
each property considered to join the scheme will require the EPC rating of the 
property to be identified and the measures selected are able to lift the rating at least 
one band within the funding caps established by WG for the scheme.  

4.7 The funding caps established for the programme by WG have been set at:

 Up to £5,000 for on-gas E rated properties
 Up to £8,000 for on-gas F & G rated properties
 Up to £8,000 for off-gas E rated properties
 Up to £12,000 for off-gas rated F & G properties

4.8 Once the properties for inclusion have been established and the measures agreed a 
contractor will be brought in to carry out the works.  The Scheme Manager will have 
responsibility for the appointment, management and payment to the contractor. 

4.9 Quality control for all the measures installed will be undertaken by the Scheme 
Manager and a post EPC rating will be established for the property which should 
demonstrate that the measures installed have improved the energy efficiency of the 
home.

4.10 Unlike the previous phases of this programme,  BCBC will not be required to prepare 
bids, manage grant payments, procure contractors etc. This will be undertaken by 
Welsh Government.  The role of BCBC will be substantially reduced and instead will 
be to:

 Agree the area where the programme will be offered.
 Send out initial letters (drafted by Arbed am Byth) with residents names on 

them inviting them to engage in the programme and attend information events.
 Provide support at community engagement events.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There are no effects upon BCBC’s Policy Framework or Procedure Rules.

6.0 Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An initial Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) screening has identified that there 
would be no negative impact on those with one or more of the protected 
characteristics and an EIA status of low priority is considered appropriate at this 
stage. It is considered that there will be no negative impacts from this report.    

7.0 Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment Template has 
been completed and a summary of the implications from the assessment relating to 
the five ways of working is set out below:

Page 257



 Long-term: The activities that form part of the scheme have been identified by the 
partners that will take part and are closely aligned to the delivery of the Bridgend 
County Smart Energy Plan.  This sets out a range of activities to reduce carbon 
in the County Borough in the long-term and targets long-term reductions in levels 
of fuel poverty. 

 Prevention: On their own none of the partners would be able to achieve the scale 
of impact that such a programme approach offers.  Supporting improvements in 
properties seeks to prevent many of the issues that arise from poor housing 
conditions.  In addition, seeking to reduce levels of fuel poverty will prevent a 
worsening of situations experienced by affected households. 

 Integration: The scheme will work through a close collaboration between BCBC, 
Welsh Government and Arbed am Byth. 

 Collaboration: The proposals have been developed and will be delivered through  
BCBC and those partners that will form part of the delivery.  

 Involvement: A comprehensive campaign of awareness raising will be undertaken 
in the proposed communities to ensure information about opportunities for 
involvement are shared with as wide a range of local residents as possible.  This 
will increase the involvement of residents in the scheme and in the  approach 
used with BCBC, Welsh Government and Arbed am Byth.  

8. Financial implications

8.1 Previous Welsh Government programmes involved BCBC making grant bids and 
claims and appointing contractors and managing a programme of works.  The Phase 
3 programme does not require BCBC to have any financial commitment to the works 
either in the form of handling grant monies or providing any form of match funding.

8.2 There is a time commitment from BCBC to support project engagement activities but 
this is considered minimal and will be met from existing resources.

9. Recommendation(s)

9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:

 Approve the participation of the Council in, and the development of, an energy 
project, funded by Welsh Government under Phase 3 of the Domestic Energy 
Efficiency Programme within Bridgend County Borough.

Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director - Communities
19th January 2021

Contact officer: Michael Jenkins
Team Leader Sustainable Development

Telephone: (01656) 643179

Page 258



Email: Michael.jenkins@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address: Civic Offices, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 3WB

Background documents:

 16th April 2019 Cabinet Report of the Corporate Director, Communities, Smart 
Energy Plan – Domstic Energy Efficiency Project

Page 259



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

19 JANUARY 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES

CAE GOF PLAYING FIELDS

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of the report is to enable the Cabinet to:

(1) Consider the business case prepared in accordance with the Council’s 
Community Asset Transfer (CAT) Policy document to support the 
leasing of the bowls pavilion, bowls green, two rugby pitches and tennis 
courts at Cae Gof Playing Fields to Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club (CCAC);

(2) Assess and, where appropriate, approve the funding package requested 
by CCAC under the Council’s £1 million CAT fund and Change 
Management Fund to support CATs, so that proposals to re-develop the 
bowls pavilion and drainage / pitch improvements and day to day 
management of the bowls green and two rugby pitches at Cae Gof 
Playing Fields can be undertaken following the completion of a long-term 
lease.  Prior to the lease being completed CCAC will be permitted to take 
over the day to day management of the property by way of a temporary 
tenancy at will (while a lease is being finalised).

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate 
priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

1. Supporting a successful sustainable economy – taking steps to make 
the county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, 
study and visit, and to ensure that our schools are focussed on raising 
the skills, qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county 
borough.

2. Helping people and communities to be more health and resilient - 
taking steps to reduce or prevent people from becoming vulnerable or 
dependent on the Council and its services.  Supporting individuals and 
communities to build resilience, and enable them to develop solutions to 
have active, healthy and independent lives.

Page 261

Agenda Item 17



3. Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, 
physical, ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively 
and efficiently as possible and support the creation of resources 
throughout the community that can help to deliver the Council’s well-
being objectives.

3. Background

Cae Gof Playing Fields – Facilities & Usage

3.1 The facilities at Cae Gof Playing Fields, Cefn Road Cefn Cribwr CF32 0BA (see 
Site Plan at Appendix A) are set in the village of Cefn Cribwr which is located 
5 miles (8 km) from the centre of Bridgend town and includes the following:

(1) Main Pavilion: Divided into two blocks (see Main Pavilion Plan at 
Appendix B):  The Ground Floor of Block 1 has already been re-
configured to meet the requirement of the South Wales Football 
Association and consists of 4 x changing rooms, 3 x shower areas, 1 x 
assembly room, 1 x kitchen and storage and toilet facilities.  The First 
Floor of Block 1 consists of 3 x changing rooms, 2 x shower areas, and 
toilet facilities.  Block 2, a smaller building used as a kiosk to serve 
refreshments.

(2) Bowls Pavilion: A square-shaped single-storey building of red facing-
brick elevations and a tiled roof (see Bowls Pavilion Plan at Appendix 
C).  The Pavilion consists of 2 x changing rooms, 1 x assembly room, 1 
x kitchen and storage and toilet facilities.

(3) Playing Fields: 2 x football pitches and 2 x rugby pitches (see Playing 
Field Plan at Appendix D).

(4) Bowls Green:  1 x Flat Bowling Green in front of the Bowls Pavilion.

(5) Two tennis courts/multi-use sports areas are in the south east of the 
fields which are in a very poor condition and not currently used.

(6) Play Area which is not currently subject to an expression of interest 
from any party to progress a CAT;

(7) The site is served by two car parks.  One in the north eastern corner 
used by users and visitors to the fields and the CCAC Clubhouse and 
also by the adjoining Bethlehem Church.  There is another car park near 
the Bowls and Main pavilions.

3.2 Users of the sports facilities at the site are currently sub-divided as follows:

Page 262



Part of Site Current User
Main Pavilion – Block 1 Ground Floor Cefn Cribwr Football Club (FC)
Main Pavilion – Block 1 First Floor CCAC (Rugby Section)
Bowls Pavilion CCAC (Bowls Section)
Bowls Green CCAC (Bowls Section)
Pitch A and Pitch D CCAC (Rugby Section)
Pitch  B and Pitch C Cefn Cribwr FC

3.3 Historically, CCAC and Cefn Cribwr FC (formerly Cefn Cribwr Boys Club) had 
discussed building a dedicated clubhouse facility or an extension to the Main 
Pavilion but following a lack of agreement, CCAC obtained planning consent in 
2007 for a 2 storey clubhouse on land immediately south of the main car park 
by the Life Centre, to replace the club’s existing premises in the centre of Cefn 
Cribwr.  On 19 March 2013 the Council granted an 80-year lease to Cefn Cribwr 
Rugby Club Ltd (Company no. 07608846 with the trading name of Cefn Cribwr 
Athletic Club - a company limited by guarantee, registered April 2011) for the 
land on which the clubhouse was built in 2014.

Cae Gof Playing Fields - Cost of Maintenance

3.4 The Main Pavilion has been subject to two independent condition surveys in 
recent years.  The latest undertaken by Faithful+Gould in March 2020 
concluded that the fabric of the building was in a satisfactory condition.  Backlog 
building works having a total value of £34,178.63 were highlighted under 
Category C (Poor with major defects) and Category D (Bad; life has expired or 
risk of imminent failure) and additional maintenance estimated to cost 
£9,749.51 over a 5 Year period was also highlighted in the survey (see Cost 
Summary at Appendix E).

3.5 The condition survey identified that the external single glazed softwood  
windows were generally in poor condition and past their serviceable life and 
these were replaced with aluminum framed windows by the Green Spaces 
Section of Green Spaces & Bereavement Services (more commonly referred 
to as the Parks Department) in July 2020 at a cost of £13,480.

3.6 The Bowls Pavilion was subject to a refurbishment early 2018 following storm 
damage. Water damage occurred throughout the building requiring 
replacement floors, ceilings, walls at a total cost of approximately £42,000.  The 
building is considered to be in a good condition and as such no independent 
condition survey has been undertaken since refurbishment.

3.7 Green Spaces & Bereavement Services have previously calculated the unit 
cost for the Council of ground maintenance per playing surface (excluding other 
green spaces, e.g. grass verges) and when applied to Cae Gof Playing Fields 
annual ground maintenance costs are estimated to be as follows:

Page 263



Playing Surface Unit Cost No. of Assets at 
Cae Gof

Annual 
Maintenance 

Cost
Football Pitch £3,667 2 £7,334
Rugby Pitch £5,488 2 £10,976
Bowling Green £13,735 1 £13,735

Total Annual Maintenance £32,045

3.8 CCAC has already taken over the day to day maintenance of the bowls green 
under a short-term tenancy at will which was completed on 13 October 2020 
while a long-term lease is negotiated.  The Council has allocated funding of 
£5,232.38 under the CAT Fund to assist with the cost of purchasing green 
maintenance equipment and also awarded a further £5,000 under the Council’s 
Transitional Bowls one-off grant to support self-management.

CAT Funding

3.9 The Council originally set aside capital funding of £1 million in February 2014 
in the capital programme for works to refurbish pavilions, to encourage CATs 
and assist in ensuring that assets become sustainable.  The scope for this 
funding was subsequently widened to also include building works undertaken 
on other Council facilities such as community centres and public toilets, to 
support the CAT process and ensure that as many buildings as possible could 
be kept open and provide long-term community benefits.

3.10 Under the revised CAT protocol approved by Cabinet on 25 July 2017, funding 
applications up to £50k from the £1 million CAT Fund can be approved by the 
CAT Steering Group with all sums in excess of this threshold being required to 
be referred to Cabinet for approval.

3.11 Cabinet agreed a range of measures designed to stimulate the CAT 
Programme on 25 February 2020 when approving the Playing Fields, Outdoor 
Sports Facilities and Parks Pavilions and Community Asset Transfer report 
which included:

(1) A commitment to replenishing the £1M CAT Fund as and when 
necessary, subject to the availability of finite capital resources, to 
encourage transfers and meet demand particularly where value for 
money can be clearly demonstrated post CAT;

(2) Extending the CAT Fund to include the maintenance of playing fields so 
that pitch and drainage surveys can be undertaken along with capital 
grants to enable pitch improvements and self-management and thereby 
increasing the chances of long-term sustainable CATs by:

 Developing a programme of sports pitch improvement and drainage 
capital grants valued at £5,000 to £25,000 to ensure that prioritised 
sites are fit for purpose based upon independent condition 
assessments.

Page 264



 Establishing pitch maintenance equipment grants to provide capital 
funding valued from £5,000 up to £10,000 for Town and Community 
Councils (T&CCs) and sports clubs who complete transfers to assist 
with the purchase of equipment to enable the self-management of 
associated green spaces.

(3) A one-off grant of £5,000 for each bowls facility on the condition that the 
bowls clubs also commit to taking over the bowls green maintenance on 
a day to day basis from 30 September 2020.

3.12 Earmarked Reserves were established in 2019-20 to fund two of these CAT 
related initiatives:

Transitional Support for Bowls Facilities - one-off £5,000 grant 
per site for clubs formally agreeing to self-management 
arrangements

£60K

Independent pitch condition surveys £50K

3.13 A Business Case for support under the Council’s Change Management Fund 
was approved by the Corporate Management Board (CMB) on 14 October 2020 
to provide additional resources to progress multiple CATs to achieve the 
financial savings of £300K attributed to the Parks Department in the Financial 
Year 2021-22 under the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS).  In addition 
to the creation of three new fixed-term contract posts (1.0 x CAT Surveyor, 1.0 
x Green Spaces Assistant and 0.5 x CAT Assistant), CMB also approved the 
extension of the CAT Officer post for an additional 6 months along with the 
following extra revenue funding:

Smaller pitch and drainage improvements that cannot be 
classed as capital and provided for under the CAT Fund

£50K

Sundry CAT related expenditure such as Section 123 Notices 
and Energy Performance Certificates

£50K

3.14 Cabinet and the CAT Steering Group has, to date, allocated funding totalling 
£364,740.59 via the CAT Fund which is summarised in the table below and 
detailed at Appendix F:

Purpose of Funding Amount Allocated
Building Refurbishment / Development £240,553.77
Maintenance Equipment £104,186.82
Miscellaneous *£20,000.00
Total Allocation £364,740.59

        * Match funding allocated to Maesteg Town Council to support sports clubs progress 
CAT related projects under via £50K CAT Fund

Page 265



3.15 The CAT incentives approved by Cabinet on 15 February 2020 have already 
resulted in 10 out of 12 sites which have bowls greens being subject to self-
management arrangements to date.

4. Current situation / proposal

The Project

4.1 CCAC represent the interests of the rugby and bowls sections at Cae Gof 
Playing Fields and first submitted an expression of interest for the Main Pavilion 
on 12 August 2016 which was approved by the Council’s Strong Communities 
Connecting Services Board on 5 October 2016.  The Club re-engaged with the 
CAT process on 10 January 2019 when more formal discussions also involving 
Cefn Cribwr FC have been progressed.  This resulted in a joint expression of 
interest being submitted by CCAC and Cefn Cribwr FC for the lease of Cae Gof 
Playing Fields including the Main Pavilion which was approved in principle by 
the CAT Steering Group on 19 December 2019.

4.2 However, having deemed that little progress was being made with Cefn Cribwr 
FC, the rugby and bowls sections of CCAC decided to progress a CAT on their 
own by proposing to take a lease over part of Cae Gof Playing Fields, namely 
the Bowls Pavilion and Green, 2 x rugby pitches and tennis courts.  The revised 
proposal was agreed in principle by the CAT Steering Group on 7 December 
2020.  Under the new arrangements Cefn Cribwr FC have confirmed that they 
would wish to complete the separate lease of the Main Pavilion and 2 x football 
pitches with discussions presently ongoing.

4.3 Draft plans showing a suggested split of the Cae Gof Playing Fields between 
CCAC and Cefn Cribwr FC have been prepared by Corporate Landlord and 
have been included at Appendix G. This includes the land that could be 
included in the lease to CCAC shown edged blue with land edged red being 
included in a separate lease to Cefn Cribwr FC. The existing children’s 
playground has been excluded from the proposed extent of both leases.  The 
site has two car parks shown coloured in green and yellow on the plan.  It is 
proposed that the car parks should be included within the respective leases but 
with rights reserved over both for the Council (including users of the retained 
playground) and other authorised users (including the other club) to park 
therein.  It is also suggested that provision is made for each tenant club to be 
able to recover a contribution towards the costs of repairs and maintenance 
from other authorised users of the car park on a proportional use basis.  As the 
leases will require the clubs to continue to permit the public to use the site for 
general recreation purposes, the Council would need to ensure that the car 
parks are available for their use as well.  In addition, a right of way will need to 
be reserved over the lane leading to the “yellow” car park as shown coloured 
brown on the draft plan, to the Council and other authorised users, with the 
tenant clubs’ again being able to recover a contribution towards the cost of any  
repairs and maintenance thereto.  Heads of Terms are due to be issued by the 
Council to CCAC and Cefn Cribwr FC shortly.

Page 266



4.4 The full proposal submitted by CCAC seeks to:

(1) Extend the existing bowls pavilion to cater for rugby, referee, disability 
and female sport needs with Conditional Consent for Planning 
Application P/20/624/FUL being approved on 4 November 2020 (see 
Proposed Plan at Appendix C); and

(2) Improve the condition of the rugby pitches which have been subject to 
an independent condition survey by Oolong Sports Pitch Consultancy in 
February 2020 under the CAT Business Support contract.  The main 
conclusion of the survey being that “The main problem associated with 
these pitches is the lack of adequate drainage” (see Copy of Pitch 
Surveys at Appendix H).

Business Case

4.5 CCAC have prepared detailed business and financial plans outlining their 
proposals to redevelop the Bowls Pavilion and improvements to both rugby 
pitches and to provide assurance on the viability and sustainability of the 
project.  The plans have been prepared with assistance from a Business 
Adviser from the Coalfields Regeneration Trust under the Council’s CAT 
Business Support contract and may also be used to engage with third parties, 
i.e. external funders (see Copy of the Business Plan at Appendix I and the 
Financial Plan at Appendix J).

4.6 Both the business and financial plans submitted by CCAC have been reviewed 
by the Finance Department and the CAT Steering Group and are considered to 
demonstrate the financial viability of the project being proposed in the short and 
medium term in accordance with the CAT Policy document.

4.7 The self-management of the facilities under a 35-year lease is seen by CCAC 
as safeguarding the longevity and financial sustainability of the Cae Gof site for 
future generations.  CCAC asserts that the CAT will also ensure that:

(1) The proposed new rugby changing facilities at the bowls pavilion meet 
Welsh Rugby Union (WRU) standards and are fit for purpose (due to 
size limitations at the current Main Pavilion there is no scope for 
expansion).

(2) The continuation of bowls in the village which is likely to require ongoing 
subsidy from the rugby section of CCAC.

Project Funding

4.8 CCAC have also submitted the undermentioned applications to the CAT Fund 
that have been reviewed alongside the business and financial plans by the 
Finance Department and the Parks Department in the first instance and by the 
CAT Steering Group.

Page 267



Purpose of Funding *Total Cost *CAT Fund
Request

*Other 
Funding

Bowls Pavilion Extension & 
Remedial Works

£154,441.55 £103,441.55 £51,000.00

Drainage & Pitch Improvements:
-  Pitch A (First Team)
-  Pitch D (Second Team)

£23,415.00
£37,622.25

£23,415.00
£23,838.25

Nil
£13,784.00

Pitch Maintenance Equipment £8,580.67 £8,580.67 Nil

Total £224,059.47 £159,275.47 £64,784.00

* All costs exclude VAT.  As CCAC is VAT registered any grant funding awarded will be net.

4.9 It should be noted that Cefn Cribwr FC are presently preparing financial 
projections for a 5-year period and associated funding applications under the 
CAT Fund to support the lease of the rest of Cae Gof Playing Fields and it is 
reasonable to expect further funding requests estimated to be as follows:

Purpose of 
Funding

Cost 
Estimate

Basis for Estimate

Main Pavilion 
Refurbishments

£30,448.14 Faithful+Gould Condition Survey 
£43,928.14 (see Appendix E) less 
recent window replacements valued 
at £13,480

Drainage & Pitch 
Improvements:

-  Pitch B 
-  Pitch C

*£25,000.00
*£25,000.00

Oolong Sports Pitch Consultancy 
surveys (see Appendix H) estimate 
that each pitch will cost £28,000 to 
repair

Pitch Maintenance 
Equipment

*£10,000.00 Funding applications submitted by 
other sports clubs

* Maximum Allowed under CAT Fund

Bowls Pavilion Extension & Remedial Works

4.10 The Council’s Quantity Surveyor (Major Projects) was requested to check the 
reasonableness of the funding application submitted by CCAC to support the 
building works to the Bowls Pavilion based upon the submission of tenders from 
two local contractors requested by CCAC and a site visit with members of the 
Club in attendance on 18 November 2020.  Due to a lack of quantities/rates 
and detailed specification the Quantity Surveyor (Major Projects) also prepared 
a comprehensive schedule highlighting all elements of work required against 
measured quantities to ensure fair and reasonable comparison which has 
determined the estimated total cost of building works to be £154,441.55 which 

Page 268



includes a contingency of £20,144.55 (or 15%) which has been accepted by 
CCAC (see Copy of Schedule of Works at Appendix K).

4.11 CCAC have secured in principle funding totalling £40,000 from two external 
sources Cefn Cribwr Community Council (£20,000) and Ford Community 
Legacy Fund (£20,000) which is in addition to £11,000 the Club has earmarked 
from its own funds towards the cost of the proposed building works.  When 
other funding is taken into account a maximum contribution from the Council of 
£103,441.55 would be required under the CAT Fund.

Drainage & Pitch Improvements

4.12 The independent pitch condition surveys (see Copy at Appendix H) 
commissioned under the Council’s Business Support contract has been used 
by CCAC to inform the funding applications for the improvements to two rugby 
pitches (Pitch A and Pitch D) with quotations requested by the Club from a 
contractor specifying the drainage and other work required (see Quotations at 
Appendix L and Appendix M for Pitch A and Pitch D respectively).

4.13 CCAC are initially seeking to undertake works on Pitch A valued at £23,415.00 
(see items 1.1 to 6.3 contained within the Quotation at Appendix L).  The Club 
also intends to undertake additional works (items 7.1 to 8.5) that total £17,506 
at a later stage of the overall project as and when funding allows.

4.14 CCAC are also requesting funding from the Council to undertake works on Pitch 
D totalling £23,838.25 (see items 1.1 to 4.15 contained within the Quotation at 
Appendix M).  CCAC intends to undertake additional works (items 5.1 to 5.4) 
that total £13,784.00 that will be funded via their own funds with further work 
(items 6.1 to 7.5) valued at £25,690.75 being planned to be progressed when 
funds permit.

4.15 The drainage and pitch improvements specified have been assessed by the 
Green Spaces and Bereavement Services Manager as regards technical 
content and are considered to be reasonable based upon a comparison of the 
corresponding condition surveys.

4.16 The Finance Department have also reviewed both funding applications and 
concluded that works specified totalling £20,688.45 (Pitch A £9,043.20 and 
Pitch D £11,645.25) for drainage and pitch improvements cannot be funded 
from the CAT Fund as they are revenue in nature and therefore do not qualify 
for capital funding.  Paragraph 3.13 has previously identified that CMB has 
allocated funding of £50,000 under the Change Management Fund to enable 
drainage and pitch improvements of a revenue nature to be progressed, and 
the Cabinet can approve funding from both sources if a decision to support the 
proposals is agreed.

Pitch Maintenance Equipment

4.17 CCAC have submitted a funding application to enable pitch maintenance 
equipment which totals £8,580.67 which is in addition to funding of £5,232.38 

Page 269



already provided under the CAT Fund to enable equipment to maintain the 
bowls green to be purchased.

4.18 The latest funding application has been assessed by both the Finance and 
Parks departments and considered to be reasonable although it should be 
noted that the Council’s preferred option would have been for the rugby and 
football clubs to have shared pitch maintenance equipment but it is appreciated 
that this may not be practical.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There will be no direct effect on the Policy Framework & Procedure Rules.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 There is no impact on specific equality groups as a consequence of this report.

7. Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Council is committed to promoting sustainable development and to 
discharge our duties under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 
2015.  The required Assessment Template has been completed and a summary 
of the implications from the assessment relating to the five ways of working is 
outlined below in respect of the proposed CAT of the Cae Gof Playing Fields:

Long-term Supports the priorities identified by CCAC in 
response to current and future needs of the rugby and 
bowls clubs and the wider local community.

Prevention Ensures the facilities to be leased can continue to be 
used by the rugby and bowls clubs and the wider 
community and promote healthier lifestyles and 
general well-being.

Integration Enables CCAC to work in partnership with the Cefn 
Cribwr Community Council, the governing bodies of 
sport, other sports clubs / users and the wider 
community to meet local needs in a more holistic way.

Collaboration The proposals have been developed and will be 
delivered through a strong partnership between the 
Council, the Community Council and the rugby and 
bowls sections of CCAC.

Involvement The proposals will be delivered in close partnership 
with CCAC and range of local stakeholders including 
the Community Council.  Discussions and 
development with the CCAC and the Community 
Council has taken place through the Council’s 
Community Asset Transfer Officer.

Page 270



8. Financial Implications

8.1 A budget of £635,259.41 is presently available under the CAT Fund based upon 
the original allocation of £1 million provided by the Council and total funding of 
£364,740.59 already earmarked or expended (see CAT Fund Allocations at 
Appendix F).  Although Cabinet has previously indicated that funding should 
be replenished to encourage CATs and meet demand particularly where value 
for money can be clearly demonstrated post CAT.

8.2 CMB approved funding of £50K towards smaller drainage and pitch 
improvements considered to be of a revenue nature.  The CAT Steering Group 
has agreed that the Council should undertake essential drainage works at two 
playing fields - Llangynwyd and Rest Bay – before these leases are completed 
with funding of £8,340 and £6,630 being allocated respectively based upon the 
recommendations of recent drainage surveys undertaken by Redwood 
Environmental Services Ltd.  These allocations would reduce available funding 
for future revenue drainage and pitch improvements to £35,030 via the Change 
Management Fund.  Cabinet approval of the drainage and pitch improvements 
at Cae Gof Playing Fields of a revenue nature outlined at paragraph 4.16 valued 
at £20,688.45 would reduce available funding to £14,341.55.

8.3 The proposed lease of the Bowls Pavilion, bowls green, two rugby pitches and 
tennis courts at the Cae Gof Playing Fields to CCAC will achieve estimated 
annual savings of £24,711 in respect of pitch and green maintenance (see 
paragraph 3.7) in support of the Council’s MTFS with further savings to the 
capital and revenue budgets also anticipated in future years as regards the 
costs associated with the Bowls Pavilion and tennis courts.

8.4 CCAC have already obtained tenders for the proposed Bowls Pavilion 
Extension & Remedial Works which are estimated to cost £154,441.55 based 
upon the Schedule of Work (see Appendix K) prepared by the Quantity 
Surveyor (Major Projects), however, the amount of funding requested of 
£103,441.55 will require the Club to adhere to the Council’s procurement 
regulations should the proposal be approved by the Cabinet.

9. Recommendation

Cabinet is recommended to approve:

9.1 The business case (business and financial plans) submitted by CCAC to 
support the leasing of the Bowls Pavilion, bowls green, two rugby pitches and 
tennis courts at the Cae Gof Playing Fields by clearly demonstrating financial 
viability and sustainability of the project.

9.2 The associated funding applications submitted by CCAC under the CAT and 
Change Management funds:

Page 271



Funding Purpose Total Amount 
of Funding

CAT Fund Change 
Management

Bowls Pavilion Extension & 
Remedial Works

£103,441.55 £103,441.55 Nil

Pitch Improvements: Pitch A £23,415.00 £14,371.80 £9,043.20
Pitch Improvements: Pitch D £23,838.25 £12,193.00 £11,645.25
Pitch Maintenance 
Equipment

£8,580.67 £8,580.67 Nil

Total £159,275.47 £138,587.02 £20,688.45

Janine Nightingale
CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES
January 2020

Contact Officer: Guy Smith, Community Asset Transfer Officer 
Telephone: (01656) 815323

E-mail: Guy.Smith@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council, 
Communities Directorate,
Civic Building, Angel Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background Papers:
Revised CAT Policy Document (July 2019)

Page 272

mailto:Guy.Smith@bridgend.gov.uk


Page 273



This page is intentionally left blank



M
A

IN
E

N
T

R
A

N
C

E

A
S

S
E

M
B

L
Y

 R
O

O
M

0
.0

5

4
5
.2

m
²

C
H

:2
7
0
0

0
.0

3

1
6
.4

m
²

K
IT

C
H

E
N

0
.0

6

9
.2

m
²

S
T

O
R

E
0

.0
7

3
.2

m
²

C
O

R
R

ID
O

R
0

.1
2

5
.8

m
²

E
N

T
R

A
N

C
E

0
.0

1
4
.9

m
²

S
H

O
W

E
R

0
.1

3

7
.6

m
²

W
C

0
.0

9

8
.9

m
²

0
.1

9

1
6
.4

m
²

S
H

O
W

E
R

0
.1

9
a

3
.1

m
²

C
H

A
N

G
IN

G
 R

O
O

M
0

.1
5

1
1
.2

m
²

0
.1

6

1
1
.8

m
²

0
.1

7

1
8
.5

m
²

R
O

O
M

0
.1

4

5
.6

m
²

1
.0

4

2
0
.4

m
²

R
O

O
M

1
.0

5

4
.4

m
²

1
.0

3

2
0
.0

m
²

F
E

M
A

L
E

R
O

O
M

1
.0

8
8
.5

m
²

C
O

R
R

ID
O

R

1
.0

7

1
1
.3

m
²

M
A

L
E

 W
C

1
.0

6

7
.2

m
²

C
H

:2
5
2
5

1
.0

2

8
.3

m
²

S
T

A
IR

 L
A

N
D

IN
G

1
.0

1

3
.6

m
²

sh
o
w

e
r

sh
o
w

e
r

S
T

O
R

E

R
A

M
P

L
O

B
B

Y
0

.0
2

2
.8

m
²

S
T

O
R

E
0

.0
8

1
.6

m
²

U
P

U
P

B
L

O
C

K
 1

G
R

O
U

N
D

 F
L

O
O

R
 P

L
A

N

B
L

O
C

K
 1

F
IR

S
T

 F
L

O
O

R
 P

L
A

N

UP

UP

UP

C
H

:2
5
2
5

C
H

:2
5
2
5

C
H

:2
5
2
5

C
H

:2
5
2
5

C
H

:2
5
2
5

C
H

:2
5
2
5

C
H

:2
7
0
0

C
H

:2
7
0
0

C
H

:2
7
0
0C
H

:2
7
0
0

C
H

:2
7
0
0

C
H

:2
7
0
0

C
H

:2
7
0
0

C
H

:2
7
0
0

C
H

:2
7
0
0

C
H

:2
7
0
0

C
H

:2
7
0
0

C
H

:2
7
0
0

C
H

:2
7
0
0

C
O

R
R

ID
O

R
0

.0
4

5
.6

m
²

C
H

:2
7
0
0

C
H

:2
7
0
0

S
T

A
IR

0
.1

0

1
1
.7

m
²

C
H

:2
7
0
0

0
.1

1

R
O

O
M

0
.0

1

1
4
.4

m
²

U
P

ro
o
f

ro
o
f

C
H

A
N

G
IN

G
 R

O
O

M

C
H

A
N

G
IN

G
 R

O
O

M

C
H

A
N

G
IN

G
 R

O
O

M
C

H
A

N
G

IN
G

 R
O

O
M

C
H

A
N

G
IN

G
 R

O
O

M

C
H

A
N

G
IN

G
 R

O
O

M

C
H

A
N

G
IN

G
 R

O
O

M

C
H

:2
5
2
5

U
P

C
H

:2
7
0
0

R
A

M
P

UP

B
L

O
C

K
 2

G
R

O
U

N
D

 F
L

O
O

R
 P

L
A

N

S
H

O
W

E
R

0
.1

8

3
.1

m
²

C
H

:2
7
0
0

U
P

R
N

 - 7
0
0
2
2

C
A

E
 G

O
F

 P
L
A

Y
IN

G
 F

IE
L
D

S
 P

A
V

IL
IO

N
C

E
F

N
 R

O
A

D
, C

E
F

N
 C

R
IB

W
R

, B
R

ID
G

E
N

D
B

L
O

C
K

 1
 &

 B
L
O

C
K

 2
G

R
O

U
N

D
 &

 F
IR

S
T

 F
L
O

O
R

 P
L
A

N
2

8
.0

2
.1

9

K
E

Y
R

o
o

m
 U

s
e
 / N

a
m

e
: E

N
T

R
A

N
C

E
R

o
o

m
 A

re
a
:

 4
.9

m
²

C
e
ilin

g
 H

e
ig

h
t:

 C
H

:2
7
0
0

R
o
o

m
 N

o
.

 0
.0

1
* R

o
o

m
 N

o
. sh

o
u

ld
 b

e
 p

re
fixe

d
 b

y U
P

R
N

 a
n

d
 B

lo
ck N

o
. to

 re
a

d

7
0

0
2

2
.1

.0
.0

1

W
e
 n

e
e
d

 y
o
u

r h
e

lp
 to

 m
a

in
ta

in
 th

e
 a

cc
u
ra

cy
 o

f th
is d

a
ta

.
P

le
a
s
e
 e

-m
a

il A
rc

h
ite

ctu
ra

l.S
e
rvice

s@
b
rid

g
e
n
d
.g

o
v.u

k
fo

r a
n
y
 a

lte
ra

tio
n
s
 to

 th
e
 p

la
n
s.

e

D

P

B

r
wg

O

atnob-y-n r

W
e
 n

e
e
d

 y
o
u

r h
e

lp
 to

 m
a

in
ta

in
 th

e
 a

cc
u
ra

cy
 o

f th
is d

a
ta

.
P

le
a
s
e
 e

-m
a

il A
rc

h
ite

ctu
ra

l.S
e
rvice

s@
b
rid

g
e
n
d
.g

o
v.u

k
fo

r a
n
y
 a

lte
ra

tio
n
s
 to

 th
e
 p

la
n
s.

e

D

P

B

r
wg

O

atnob-y-n r

W
e
 n

e
e
d

 y
o
u

r h
e

lp
 to

 m
a

in
ta

in
 th

e
 a

cc
u
ra

cy
 o

f th
is d

a
ta

.
P

le
a
s
e
 e

-m
a

il A
rc

h
ite

ctu
ra

l.S
e
rvice

s@
b
rid

g
e
n
d
.g

o
v.u

k
fo

r a
n
y
 a

lte
ra

tio
n
s
 to

 th
e
 p

la
n
s.

e

D

P

B

r
wg

O

atnob-y-n r

W
e
 n

e
e
d

 y
o
u

r h
e

lp
 to

 m
a

in
ta

in
 th

e
 a

cc
u
ra

cy
 o

f th
is d

a
ta

.
P

le
a
s
e
 e

-m
a

il A
rc

h
ite

ctu
ra

l.S
e
rvice

s@
b
rid

g
e
n
d
.g

o
v.u

k
fo

r a
n
y
 a

lte
ra

tio
n
s
 to

 th
e
 p

la
n
s.

e

D

P

B

r
wg

O

atnob-y-n r

B
R

ID
G

E
N

D
C

O
U

N
T

Y
 B

O
R

O
U

G
H

 C
O

U
N

C
IL

C
O

M
M

U
N

IT
IE

S

C
O

R
P

O
R

A
T

E
 L

A
N

D
L

O
R

D
R

a
v
e
n

s C
o

u
rt, B

rid
g
e
n
d
,

C
F

3
1
 4

A
P

Page 275



This page is intentionally left blank



FIRE EXIT

MAIN ENTRANCE

cupboa
rd

DISABLED/
LADIES 
W.C

FEMALE
REF

MALE
REF

bowls area
shower 6

shower 6

physio

shower 15

changing room

changing room

tank room

FIRE EXIT

FIRE EXIT

changing room

changing room

mens w.c

sh
el

ve
s

urinal

fo
r 

ki
t

W.C

FIRE EXIT

MAIN ENTRANCE

KITCHEN

BOWLS LADIES
C/R

BOWLS MENS 
C/R

W.C

C
U
P
B
O
A
R
D

DISABLED 
W.C

existing plan

proposed plan

drawn by: julia james (jasmine interiors)
scale: 1:100 @ A3

project: proposed extension to cefn cribwr athletic bowling club

cae gof, cefn road, cefn cribwr, bridgend, mid glamorgan, CF320BA

drawing number: ccabc-1001

ramp

ramp

Page 277



FIRE EXIT

MAIN ENTRANCE

cupboa
rd

FIRE EXIT

FIRE EXIT

proposed plan - alterations

key

block up existing windows

new partitioning

extension

existing internal walls to be removed

knock through walls

drawn by: julia james (jasmine interiors)
scale: 1:100 @ A3

project: proposed extension to cefn cribwr athletic bowling club

cae gof, cefn road, cefn cribwr, bridgend, mid glamorgan, CF320BA

drawing number: ccabc-1002

Page 278



existing front elevation

proposed front elevation

aa

aa

bb

bb

drawn by: julia james (jasmine interiors)
scale: 1:100 @ A3

project: proposed extension to cefn cribwr athletic bowling club

cae gof, cefn road, cefn cribwr, bridgend, mid glamorgan, CF320BA

drawing number: ccabc-1003

Page 279



drawn by: julia james (jasmine interiors)
scale: 1:100 @ A3

project: proposed extension to cefn cribwr athletic bowling club

cae gof, cefn road, cefn cribwr, bridgend, mid glamorgan, CF320BA

drawing number: ccabc-1004

existing side elevation aa proposed side elevation aa

Page 280



existing side elevation bb proposed side elevation bb (no change)

drawn by: julia james (jasmine interiors)
scale: 1:100 @ A3

project: proposed extension to cefn cribwr athletic bowling club

cae gof, cefn road, cefn cribwr, bridgend, mid glamorgan, CF320BA

drawing number: ccabc-1005

Page 281



drawn by: julia james (jasmine interiors)
scale: 1:100 @ A3

project: proposed extension to cefn cribwr athletic bowling club

cae gof, cefn road, cefn cribwr, bridgend, mid glamorgan, CF320BA

drawing number: ccabc-1006

existing rear elevation

aa

proposed rear elevation

bbaa

bb

Page 282



APPENDIX D 

 

CAE GOF PLAYING FIELDS – PLAYING FIELD PLAN 

 

 

 

Rugby – Pitch A and Pitch D 

Football – Pitch B and Pitch C 

Page 283



This page is intentionally left blank



 

APPENDIX E 
 

 
Faith+Gould Independent Condition Survey 

Cost Summary (July 2020) 
 
 

ELEMENT TYPE BACKLOG 
COSTS (TOTAL 
C AND D ITEMS) 

5 YEAR TOTAL 
COST (EXCL. 
BACKLOG) 

Roofs 
 

£0.00 £0.00 

Floors and stairs 
 

£0.00 £0.00 

Ceilings 
 

£0.00 £0.00 

External walls, windows and doors 
 

£14,794.50 £0.00 

Internal walls and doors 
 

£566.00 £0.00 

Sanitary Services 
 

£0.00 £0.00 

Mechanical Services 
 

£15,576.00 £1,817.20 

Electrical Services 
 

£2,596.00 £1,059.17 

Redecorations 
 

£1,212.13 £6,873.14 

Fixed furniture and fittings 
 

£0.00 £0.00 

TOTAL £34,178.63 £9,749.51 

 

 

 

 

Condition Grading of Element 

A - Good and operating efficiently 

B - Satisfactory but with minor deterioration 

C - Poor with major defects 

D - Bad; life has expired or risk of imminent failure 

Page 285



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX F 
 

COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFER (CAT) FUND APPROVED ALLOCATIONS 
 

Community Group Council Asset CAT Fund 

Total Allocation Building 
Refurbishment / 

Development 

Drainage / Pitch 
Improvements 

Maintenance 
Equipment 

Miscellaneous 

Bryncethin RFC Bryncethin Playing Fields £120,000.00 £110,000.00  £10,000.00  

Caerau FC Hermon Road/Metcalf Street Playing 
Fields 

£60,000.00 £50,000.00  £10,000.00  

Rest Bay Sports Rest Bay Playing Fields £55,220.00 £45,220.00  £10,000.00  

Pencoed Town Council Pencoed Pavilion *£95,000.00 *£95,000.00    

Carn Rovers Cwm Garw Playing Fields £20,333.77 £10,333.77  £10,000.00  

Cefn Cribwr Community 
Council 

Match funding for Refurbishment of Cae 
Gof Playing Fields Pavilions 

£20,000.00 £20,000.00    

Cornelly Community 
Council 

Match funding for North Cornelly 
Community Centre 

£5,000.00 £5,000.00    

Maesteg Town Council Match funding towards the establishment 
of a £50K CAT Fund for Sports Clubs 

£20,000.00    £20,000.00 

Wyndham Bowls Club Waunllwyd Bowls Pavilion & Green £9,746.90   £9,746.90  

Kenfig Hill & Pyle Bowls 
Club 

Pyle Bowls Pavilion & Green £4,526.76   £4,526.76  

Bridgend Municipal 
Bowls Club 

Bridgend Municipal Bowls Pavilion & 
Green 

£7,531.78   £7,531.78  

Pontycymer Bowls Club Waunbant Bowls Pavilion & Green £5,612.40   £5,612.40  

Caerau / Caerau Welfare 
Bowls Clubs 

Caerau Welfare Park Bowls Green £9,630.00   £9,630.00  

Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Cae Gof Bowls Pavilion & Green £5,232,38   £5,232,38  

Gilfach Goch / Gilfach 
Goch Ladies Bowling 
Clubs 

Evanstown Welfare Park Bowls Pavilion & 
Green 

£7,138.98   £7,138.98  

Ogmore Vale Bowls Club Caedu, Ogmore Park  Bowls Pavilion & 
Green 

£10,000.00   £10,000.00  

Maesteg Bowls Club Maesteg Welfare Park Bowls Green £10,000.00   £10,000.00  

Total £364,740.59 £240,553.77 £0.00 £104,186.82 £20,000.00 

 
* Maximum contribution towards building works £75K approved by Cabinet on 21/05/19 and a further £20K approved under Delegated Authority on 27/03/20 by the 
Cabinet Member, Communities with improvements still being progressed  

P
age 287



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
at

h
(u

m
)

JOHN STREET

B 4281

T
H

E
G

R
A

IG

BRYN GLAS

G
R

E
E

N
M

E
A

D
O

W

Track

T
ra

ck

P
a
th

(u
m

)

H
E

O
L

G
O

E
D

O
G

M
A

E
S

G
LA

S

Cae Gof Playing Fields
Plan Blue / Red
Plot generated by : WTP
Reference : LB13-B_111820

LB13-R_111820

Scale: 1: 2500 @ A4 

Date: 20/11/2020    

Corporate Director - Communities 
Directorate - Communities

Bridgend County Borough Council, 
Civic Offices, 
Angel Street, 
Bridgend, 
CF31 4WB 

©Crown Copyright and database right 2019. Ordnance Survey 100023405. 
©Hawlfraint a hawliau cronfa ddata'r Goron 2019 Rhif Trwydded yr Arolwg Ordnans 100023405. 

Aerial Imagery: Cities Revealed aerial photography copyright The GeoInformation Group 2011. 
Copyright Getmapping plc. 

Countryside Council for Wales, ©Crown Copyright and database right 2011. 
Ordnance Survey 100018813. 

Forestry Commission, ©Crown Copyright and database right 2011. Ordnance Survey 100025498.

P
age 289



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
 

Feasibility Report for 4 Winter Sports Pitches at Cefn 
Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club 
  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Prepared by 
 

 

Mr Peter Watkin Jones BSc MSc MIAgrE 
Oolong Sports Pitch Consultancy 

February 2020 
  
  
 

Page 291



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  2 

Disclaimer 
 
This report was commissioned by Bridgend County Borough Council, The Coalfields 
Regeneration Trust, Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club. The contents 
within are private and confidential to the client. This report is issued solely to the client and 
Oolong Sports Pitch Consultancy (OSPC) cannot accept responsibility to any third parties 
whatsoever, following the issue of this report. Any such parties rely on the contents at their 
own risk.  
  

Page 292



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  3 

 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

Contents Page 

  

1. Scope of the Report 4 

  

2. Site Visit details 5 

  

Summary 6 

  

3. Introduction 8 

  

4. Methodology 9 

  

5. Condition of the Ground 10 

  

6. Equipment and Maintenance 19 

  

7. Conclusions 20 

  

8. Recommendations 20 

  

9. Costings 21 

  

10. Contact Details 23 

  

Appendices  

  

Soil test results 25 

  

PQS table 26 

Page 293



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  4 

1. Scope of the Report 
 
Oolong Sports Pitch Consultancy was commissioned to undertake a feasibility study for Cefn 
Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club to assess the quality of the existing grass 
pitch and to propose improvement works. The assessment was based on the Institute of 
Groundsmanship (IOG) Performance Quality Standards table (PQS) which provides a 
minimum quality standard for the construction and maintenance of pitches, refer to 
Appendices.  
The study focused on the drainage situation, the ground surface levels (topography), the soil 
conditions and grass health. Soil assessment investigations were undertaken to determine 
soil depths and conditions. Soil samples were sent for laboratory analysis to determine soil 
fertility status and confirm soil textural class.   
Historical information about the site was gained via conversations with club staff on the day 
of the visit.  
 
Recommendations and outline costings for improvement works are included which take into 
account the potential future use of the playing surfaces and requirements of Cefn Cribwr 
Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club 
.  
The following table shows the systematic sequence of events required for a successful 
sports pitch improvement project. 
 
It is essential that a qualified and experienced Sports Pitch Consultant is engaged to 
undertake these duties as this is a specialised profession. It is not appropriate to use a 
Civil Engineer or Contractor. The Project Management and Supervisory duties are of 
particular importance in ensuring the implementation of a successful scheme.   
  
 

Item Description 

Feasibility Study and Report 
based on the PQS 

Desk study and field assessment of pitch quality 
including recommendations and outline costings for 
capital improvement works  

Design and Specification 
Document 

Details design drawings, materials and workmanship 
specifications and a Bill of Quantities. The ‘Specification’ 
is a stand-alone document used for the competitive 
tendering process and contract management purposes 

Project/Contract 
Management and Works 
Supervision 

To oversee the technical and logistical aspects of the 
project and manage the contract.  
To supervise the construction works and react to 
unplanned events 
 

Maintenance Inspection 
Visits 

Post-construction inspection visits 

 
 
Table 1 – The essential stages of a successful pitch improvement project 
 

Page 294



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  5 

2. Site Visit Details  
 
 
Client: Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club 
 The Coalfields Regeneration Trust  
 Bridgend County Borough Council  
 
Site Address:                Cae Gof 
 Cefn Road 
 Cefn Cribwr 
 Bridgend 
 CF32 0BA  
 
Site Contact:                      Mr Ryan Jones (Game On programme manager, the 

Coalfields  
  Regeneration Trust) 
 
Present at visit:                 Mr Ray shark (Cefn Cribwr RFC) 
 Mr Peter Jones (Oolong Sports)    
                                        
Date of visits:                     28 January 2020 

 
Consultant: Mr Peter Watkin Jones (Oolong Sports) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

  

Page 295



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  6 

Summary 
 
Typically the pitches are waterlogged with typically muddy conditions and areas of very 
poor grass coverage. The lack of active drainage within all 4 pitches means that the ground 
does not recover well after heavy rainfall events and is reliant on surface run-off and 
evaporation to remove standing water. As a result the pitch recovery can be slow and 
games postponed.  
All 4 pitches would be significantly improved by installing suitable drainage systems. This 
should include should include a primary piped system supplemented with a secondary 
system of slit drains or sand grooves. 
  
These operations would dramatically improve the pitch quality and increase the reliability of 
fixtures and, provided an adequate maintenance regime is followed, will give years of 
dependable performance. 
 
The PQS provides the basic minimum standard for the construction and maintenance of 
grass turf playing surfaces. Principally this recommends that a natural grass pitch must: 
 
1. Have adequate grass cover  
2. Have low levels of weed coverage 
3. be reasonably flat  
4. Have the ability to drain surface water   
 
It is divided into 3 categories: High, Standard (Mid), and Basic 
 
Currently the main rugby pitch (pitch A), the soccer pitch (B) and the dual-use pitch (Pitch C) 
generally achieve the basic category within the PQS system but the drainage and grass 
health aspects are poor and need improvements. Pitch D is historically the wettest ground 
and was also below the basic threshold for pitch gradients.  
The items highlighted within Tables 2 to 4 are of primary concern and require attention. 
 
Pitch A 
 

Item PQS Category on the day of the visit 

Ground cover and grass health Basic -  with areas below basic  

Undesirable weeds and grasses Mid  

Root depth Mid 

Thatch depth High 

Topsoil depth High 

Gradient lengthways Basic 

Gradient cross pitch Basic 

Drainage (Infiltration Rate) Below Basic 

 
Table 2 – Pitch A PQS 

 
 

Page 296



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  7 

Pitches B and C 
 

Item PQS Category on the day of the visit 

Ground cover and grass health Basic to Mid 

Undesirable weeds and grasses Mid  

Root depth Mid 

Thatch depth High 

Topsoil depth High 

Gradient lengthways Basic 

Gradient cross pitch Basic 

Drainage (Infiltration Rate) Below Basic 

 
Table 3 – Pitches B and C PQS   

 
Pitch D  
 

Item PQS Category on the day of the visit 

Ground cover and grass health Basic to Mid 

Undesirable weeds and grasses Mid  

Root depth Mid 

Thatch depth High 

Topsoil depth High 

Gradient lengthways Mid 

Gradient cross pitch Below Basic 

Drainage (Infiltration Rate) Below Basic 

 
Table 4 – Pitch D PQS  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 297



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  8 

3. Introduction 
 

The site consists of four grassed winter sports pitches and a bowling green, the bowling 
green will not be considered in this report. 
The northern most pitch (A) adjacent to the main road is situated on an upper bench area 
formed from a previous land regrading operation and is the home venue for Cefn Cribwr 
RFC and who currently play within the WRU Division Five South Central. They run a senior 
and youth team.  
The site is also home to Cefn Cribwr FC Boys Club who use the main football pitch (B) at the 
lower section and is located at the west of the site. There are two other pitches; the lower 
central pitch is marked for both rugby and football (C). The remaining pitch (D) to the east is 
marked for football but is rarely used due to extreme waterlogging conditions.  
All four pitches suffer from wet surface conditions and poor drainage. 
A boundary ditch runs to the SE corner which discharges to the south through agricultural 
land. 
 
 
 

   

 

Figure 1 - Outline of the pitches at Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 298



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  9 

4. Methodology 
 

The proposed area has been quantified and a site report compiled by using the following 
methods and has not been judged through observations taken while a game has been in 
progress: 
 

 Visual assessment of grass coverage to assess the proportions of grass species and 
weeds. 

 

 Field assessment of the soil profile down to approximately 400 mm with sampling of 
the topsoil. 

 

 Non-intrusive investigation into any existing drainage system and outfall facility. 
 

 Laboratory analysis of soil samples recovered from the pitch.  
 

 Use of National Soil Resources Institute Soil Maps 
 

 Information reviewed using Performance Quality Standards (PQS) which are set out 
by The Institute of Groundsmanship, WRU.  

 
A full copy of the standard can be seen on www.iog.com  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 299



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  10 

5. Ground Conditions 
 
Soil Profiles 
  
Representative soil profiles were assessed using hand augering techniques and topsoil 
samples sent off for laboratory analysis. All profiles were found to be similar in makeup with 
topsoil varying from dark brown Clay loam at the top pitch A to Sandy loam at the lower 
pitches (B to D) and to a minimum depth of 280mm with inclusions of 10 - 20mm stone 
fragments below 220mm above slightly firmer clay subsoil below, see Table 5.  Results from 
the laboratory tests include soil texture, organic matter content and nutrient status.  
 
The British Geological Society classifies the local bedrock geology as SOUTH WALES MIDDLE 
COAL MEASURES FORMATION - SANDSTONE and SOUTH WALES LOWER COAL MEASURES 
FORMATION - MUDSTONE, SILTSTONE AND SANDSTONE. 
 
 

 

  
 

 

Figure 2 - Typical soil profile for Pitch A 
 
Topsoil depths measured in the field were found to be approximately 250mm deep and 
consistent across the site. The upper 60mm soils were completely de-structured with poor 
shear strength capacity. Some small fragments of coal were present between 100mm and 
250mm. 
Subsoil depths were assessed to a maximum of 500mm below ground level using a 
combination of hand augering and open trial holes, the profiles showed a consistent layer of  
Clay subsoil throughout. Subsoil textures were classified as Clay loam. 
 
The entire topsoil profile is without structure and shows signs of being unable to react to 
rainfall events. The rooting depth is typically 80 - 120mm and within the Mid PQS category.   
The Clay subsoil below 250mm is compact and will impair drainage. 

Top 250mm 
of the profile 
is soft grey 
brown Sandy 
clay loam  
 
 
Below 
250mm is 
firmer light 
brown Clay 
loam with 
angular 
stone 
fragments 

Page 300



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  11 

 

 
 
 
Figure 3 – Typical topsoil structure 
                                                                               
Nutrient status 
 
The ideal pH value for sports turf grass mixes including Perennial Rye grass is around pH 6.5. 
This conditions for the optimum availability for (P) Phosphorus, (K) Potassium and (Mg) 
Magnesium and optimises the availability of micro-nutrients such iron, manganese and zinc. 
Nutrient status is denoted by the soil index value and the optimum soil index value for 
amenity grassland is 2. 
The presence of organic matter within the topsoil ranges from around 12% for pitches A and 
B and around 6% for pitches C and D.  
 
Thatch is a layer of intermingled dead and living shoots, stems and roots which develop 
between the zone of green vegetation and the soil surface and can impede drainage. The 
observed thatch content was less than 5 mm deep which conforms to the highest PQS 
category.  
 
Pitch A 
 
The reported soil index values for P, K and Mg is 2 to 3. This suggests that this pitch has 
received some fertiliser input within the recent past. 
The relatively high value of organic matter (OM) at 12% may be symptomatic of a 
management regime which encourages fine organic residues to accumulate from the 
breakdown of grass material but the overall effect of these organic matter and thatch levels 
will have little impact on the overall drainage capacity of the soils.  
 
Pitches B to D 
 
All 3 pitches show soil nutrient index levels between 0 and 2. The levels of thatch and 
organic matter are insignificant.  

Topsoil 
profile shows 
complete lack 
of soil 
structure and 
poor shear 
strength 
capacity 

Page 301



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  12 

 

Trial Pit/Lab Ref Depth (m) Sand 
(%) 

Silt (%) Clay (%) Classification/Comments 

Rugby pitch A 0 - 0.400 49 28 23 Medium Clay Loam with 
few 10 - 20mm angular 
stone fragments from 
220mm 

 0.400 – 0.500    Clay loam 

      

Unused pitch B  0 - 0.300 54 27 19 Sandy clay loam  

 0.300 – 0.400    Sandy clay loam with few 
10 - 20mm angular stone 
fragments  

 0.400 – 0.480    Clay loam 

Middle pitch C 0 - 0.380 67 19 14 Sandy Loam with few 10 
- 20mm angular stone 
fragments from 220mm 

 0.380 – 0.450    Clay loam 

      

Football pitch D 0 - 0.150 72 16 12 Sandy loam  

 0.150 – 0.280    Sandy loam with few 10 - 
20mm angular stone 
fragments from 220mm 

 0.280 - 450    Clay loam 

 
 
Table 5 – Soil profile textures 
 
Topography 
 

The site can be viewed as two distinct levels. The main pitch A is situated on an upper bench 
or plateau previously created by re-grading the existing slope, the pitch gradients are 
highlighted in Figure 4 below. Pitches B to D are located at the lower part of the site where 
the original ground levels shallow out, the gradients of pitch D being most significant. 
In general the pitch gradients assessed against the standards bench marked by the Institute 
of Groundsmanship (IOG) Performance Quality Standards (PQS) suggest that all pitches 
meet the basic standard. If a higher standard is required some minor relevelling work will be 
needed which might be addressed through cultivation operations rather than larger 
earthmoving operations. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 302



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  13 

 
 

 
 
 
Figure 4 – General ground slopes 

Page 303



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  14 

Grass Coverage  
 
Pitch A 
 
The area has vegetative coverage of ranging from 60 - 90% which falls within the basic PQS 
standard specification, the approximate coverage is made up of the following grasses: 
 
80%    PERENNIAL RYEGRASS           Lolium perenne 
5%      BROWNTOP BENT                                            Agrostis capillaris 
5%    RED FESCUE                                                            Feuscua rubra spp 
 
20%    Weed grasses made up of:  
     
           ANNUAL MEADOW GRASS     Poa Annua 
   

Undesirable grass species and broadleaved weeds cause competition between themselves 
and the essential grass cultivar species present and should be eliminated. Annual meadow 
grass (Poa annua) is considered a weed grass within the sports turf industry, although it 
remains present in a large percentage of sports surfaces all over the UK. 
 

There were few broadleaved weeds present: 
 
 DANDILION Taraxacum officinale 
 DAISY Bellis perenis 

PLANTAINS                       Plantago major 
 

 
 

 
 
Figure 5 – Pitch A showing areas of poor grass coverage, some broadleaved weeds and 
saturated conditions 

Page 304



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  15 

 
 

Figure 6 – Pitch A showing evidence of some maintenance operations 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
Figure 7 - Broadleaved weeds 
 

Page 305



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  16 

Pitches B to D 
 
These pitches display vegetative coverage of ranging from 75 - 90% which reaches the basic 
PQS specification, the approximate coverage is made up of the following grasses: 
 
75 - 85%    PERENNIAL RYEGRASS            Lolium perenne 
5 - 10%      BROWNTOP BENT                                            Agrostis capillaris 
5 - 10%      RED FESCUE                                                            Feuscua rubra spp 
 
20 - 30%    Weed grasses made up of:  
     
           ANNUAL MEADOW GRASS     Poa Annua 
 YORKSHIRE FOG Holcus lanata  
 

Sedge plants possibly Compact Rush was evident in areas of ground prone to waterlogging 
and particularly found on the fringes of pitch D. 
 

There were broadleaved weeds present including: 
 
 DANDILION Taraxacum officinale 
 DAISY Bellis perenis 
 CLOVER Trifolium   

PLANTAINS                       Plantago major 
 
 

 
 
Figure 8 – Pitch C showing reasonable grass coverage and some weeds 
 

Page 306



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  17 

 
 
Figure 9 - Area of sedge around pitch D 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Figure 10 - View of the main football pitch B 
 

Page 307



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  18 

Drainage 
 
Information provided at the site visit indicates the existence of an old underdrainage pipe 
system within the main rugby pitch (pitch A) with the outfall on the southern pitch 
boundary and is assumed to discharge to some form of soakaway. Due to the potential age 
and nature of the existing primary underdrainage system and the observed ground 
conditions it must be assumed that the drainage system may not function efficiently and 
some form of remediation works are likely required. 
 
There is no evidence of any active drainage infrastructure on any of the lower pitches 
(pitches B to D). The ground conditions display the characteristic features of a soil profile 
which is de-structured, has inherent low permeability and has no drainage capabilities and 
therefore is prone to saturated soil conditions and waterlogging. 
 
There is a drainage ditch situated around the boundary as shown in Figure 11 which 
discharges to the south east corner and away through agricultural land. This could be a 
useful outfall for any drainage system considered in the future.       
 
 

 
 

Figure 11 - Likely discharge point for pitch A, also shows the boundary ditch 
Other observations 
 

 Pitch (A) is approximately marked 60m by 100m with margins of approximately 3m 
to the surrounding railings. 

 Pitch (B) is approximately marked 55m by 100m. 
 Pitch (C) is approximately marked 60m by 100m. 
 Pitch (D) is approximately marked 60m by 80m. 
 There are 8 floodlights to pitch (A) and some lighting to pitches (B) and (C). 

Page 308



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  19 

6. Equipment & Maintenance 
 
Currently only basic and limited maintenance work is undertaken which include grass 
cutting, line marking and occasional light aeration operations (which are visible on pitch A in 
the form of tine aeration and shallow slit operations). Site staff currently arranges and 
manages pitch maintenance operations.  
 

Proper pitch management practices are vital in fulfilling the true potential of any capital 
works. Inadequate maintenance operations will lead to poor surface performance and in 
turn will not repay the capital invested in the construction. A full maintenance programme 
should be provided with any specifications for improvement works.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 309



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  20 

7. Conclusions 
 
Pitch A 
 
The main rugby pitch shows several characteristics of surface drainage problems. Visually 
the ground was very muddy underfoot with areas of surface ponding. The grass density was 
patchy and poor in many areas contributing to unstable surface conditions and lack of 
traction. Even if the existing primary pipe system is functioning (i.e. pipes remain 
undamaged and running freely) it is evident that there is a problem with removing surface 
water through the system (soil profile) to a suitable outfall. Installation of a secondary 
drainage system and management of the upper soil profile would address these problems. 
       
There is sufficient depth of topsoil over the pitch to satisfy the highest PQS standard. 
Surface gradients however fall into the basic PQS standard. There are also issues with grass 
health and sward density.   
 
Pitches B to D 
 
The presence of CLAY soils will reduce vertical infiltration resulting in retention of soil 
moisture within the upper profile (topsoil) and hence saturated conditions after heavy 
rainfall events. The ground currently drains naturally as interflow (horizontal movement 
through the upper soil layer) to a limited degree with a reliance on surface water run-off 
after particularly heavy storms. Although not consistently waterlogged the ground is subject 
to major disruption due to standing water and saturated ground conditions and sometimes 
matches are postponed.  
Addressing the pitch drainage would dramatically improve play and increase the reliability 
of fixtures. It is also fundamental in promoting a healthy grass sward and an improved 
playing surface. 
 
There is sufficient depth of topsoil over the pitch to satisfy the highest PQS standard. 
Surface gradients also fall into the category basic/standard PQS standard. There are also 
issues with grass health and sward density.   
 
 

8. Recommendations 
 
The main problem associated with these pitches is the lack of adequate drainage. Other 
issues such as the lack of soil structure and the grass health can only be satisfactorily 
addressed when the drainage situation improves.   
 
The surface gradients can be addressed if needed during improvement operations by re-
profiling the topsoil and reducing the pitch slopes.  
 
The soil chemistry status and grass plant health can be addressed during surface 
establishment and subsequent maintenance operations. 
 

Page 310



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  21 

Having considered the information from the investigations the following are recommended.  
 
Pitch A 
 
1. Further investigate the status of the existing primary drainage system and renew if 

required  
 
2.  Install a new secondary drainage scheme 
 
3. Surface establishment of a suitable grass sward and improve the soil chemistry  
 
4. Re-profile the surface  
 
Pitches B to D  
 
1. Install a new drainage system comprising primary underdrainage pipework with a 

secondary drainage element.  
 
2.  Surface establishment of a suitable grass sward and improve the soil chemistry. 
  
3. Re-profile the surface  
 
A re-profiled sand based grass surface with a new underdrainage system and sand 
ameliorated secondary drainage, sown with a hardwearing sports grass mix should allow 4-6 
hours per week play with a reasonable recovery rate and provide reliable performance.  
 
Improvement works will need a specialist sports pitch contractor to undertake the work. It 
is not a job for a civil engineering or groundworks contractor. 
 

9. Costings 
 
The estimated capital costs for the recommended pitch improvement works are set out 
below. The figures are approximate and do not include VAT or Consultant fees. 
A figure of 5% of the total cost should be added for any contingencies. 
 
Pitch A   
 

Item Description Estimated cost  
(£ ) 

1 Supply and install pipe underdrainage 
system at 5m centres complete 
(provisional on requirement) 

13 000 

2 Surface establishment with sand top 
dressing, aeration, seeding and fertiliser 

8 000 

3 Install secondary drainage sand grooves 7 000 

4 Annual maintenance  6 000 

 Total estimated cost 34 000 

Page 311



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  22 

Pitches B to D    
 

Item Description Estimated cost  
(£ ) 

1 Supply and install pipe underdrainage 
system at 5m centres complete 
(provisional on requirement) 

13 000 

2 Surface establishment with sand top 
dressing, aeration, seeding and fertiliser 

8 000 

3 Install secondary drainage sand grooves 7 000 

4 Annual maintenance  6 000 

 Total estimated cost 34 000 

 

Operations to reduce pitch slopes and re-grade the surface if required would be 
approximately £15k extra cost per pitch. 
 
 
Project timing 
 
Suitable ground conditions need to exist before any intrusive improvement works can be 
undertaken. This generally means commencement between early spring and late autumn 
when the ground is likely to be workable and grass establishment possible. Late summer or 
autumn sowing is preferable as there is likely to be better climate and soil moisture 
conditions for seed germination and grass establishment. There may be some constraints as 
to working on the fringes of the open season as this may disrupt the home fixture 
programme but this may be managed accordingly. Some operations would be weather 
dependent.  
 
Indicative works programme 
 

Activity Year 1  Year 2  

Mobilisation August   

Primary cultivations August   

Install primary drains August - September  

Final cultivations and sow grass September  

Maintenance programme October through to September 

Install sand grooves  April - May 

Sand topdressing   April - September 

Pitch ready for full play  August - September 

 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 312



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  23 

10. Contact Details 
 
Please use the contact below if you have further questions about the contents of this report 
or for any other general enquiries. 
 
Mr Peter Watkin Jones 
Oolong Sports Pitch Consultancy 
Carnforth 
The Green 
Denbigh 
LL16 5TN 
 
Tel:  07984 387 150 
Email:  peter@oolongsports.co.uk 
Web: oolongsports.co.uk 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 313



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  24 

Appendices 
 
 
 
  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 314



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  25 

Soil sample results 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 315



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club and Cefn Cribwr Boys Club  26 

Performance Quality Standard Table (PQS)

 

Page 316



 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club   
 

 
 
 

 
 

                                                         

5 Year Business Plan 
Community Asset Transfer  

 
Draft Prepared by Consultant Ryan Jones (September 2020) 

Final Version Updated by Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club (November 2020)  
 
 

Page 317



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

1 

 

 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
   
2. THE PROJECT  

2.1 The Organisation: Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club   
2.2 Cae Gof   
2.3 Renovation & Improvement Plan   

   
3. THE MARKET AND NEED  

3.1 Current Usage   
3.2 Target Market & Growth  
3.3 Competition   

   
4. MANAGING THE PROJECT  

4.1 The Board  
4.2 Staffing And The Role of Volunteers  
4.3 Policies & Procedures  

   
5. MARKETING AND PROMOTION   
   
6. FINANCIAL POSITION  

6.1 Financial Position  
6.2 Project Finances  
6.3 Potential Funding Routes  
6.4 Financial Projections  
6.5 Cash Flow Requirements  

   
7. SWOT & RISK ANALYSIS  
   
8. SENSITIVITY ANALYSIS  
   
 Annex 1 – Detailed Financial Projections  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 318



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

2 

 

 

 

1. Executive Summary 
 
The purpose of this plan is to examine Cefn Cribwr’s Athletic Club’s (C.C.A.C.) proposals for taking on 

part of Cae Gof Playing Fields (2 pitches, tennis courts, bowls green and bowls pavilion) under a 

Community Asset Transfer and to provide assurance as to the viability of the project.  The plan may 

also be used to engage the support of appropriate third parties i.e. external funders and supporters. 

 

Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club was established in 1890’s principally to provide facilities for rugby union 

and the other winter and summer sports.  Currently the club provides rugby and bowls activities. The 

Community Asset Transfer (CAT) vehicle is Cefn Criwbr Rugby Club Limited, a company limited by 

guarantee, registered April 2011.   

The Project  

 

Under a self-management 35 year lease from Bridgend County Borough Council C.C.A.C. aim to 

ensure the longevity and financial sustainability of the Cae Gof site for future generations.   The 

bowls element requires significant ongoing subsidy from the athletic club and without it bowls will 

be lost to the village.  

 

The full proposal seeks to a) extend the existing bowls pavilion to cater for rugby, referee, disability 

and female sport needs plus b) improve pitch conditions, particularly pitch D.  Planning permission 

has been sought for the pavilion extension.  

 

The impressive rugby club clubhouse situated at Cae Gof was built in 2014 is owned by C.C.A.C. and 

provides the main source of C.C.A.C.’s income.  

 

Financial Position 

 

This business plan has been prepared during the developing Covid -19 Pandemic.  As a club, C.C.A.C. 

is in solid position financially and have an experienced management team that are working hard to 

ensure that the club emerges from this uncertain period in an equally strong position.  The business 

plan therefore shows Pre and Post Covid financial forecasts.   

 

The total redevelopment capital cost is estimated at £240,508.  Bridgend County Borough Council is 

requested to assist C.C.A.C. by providing financial support towards the capital costs of immediate 

priority work, namely: 

 

a. Bowls Pavilion remedial work, circa £11,000 

b. Bowls pavilion extension and gas supply connection, circa £146,000 

c. Pitches and Bowling Green maintenance machinery, circa £13,812 

d. Bowls green renovation work, circa £8,659 

e. Pitch A & Pitch D improvement works, circa £61,037  

 

Page 319



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

3 

 

 

 

Separate CAT Fund applications will be made for each element.  Following asset transfer completion 

(estimated April 2021) capital work will be led by C.C.A.C. as leaseholders of the building, subject to 

terms and conditions of asset transfer being complied with. 

 

The core running costs are estimated to increase by approximately £26,500 per annum once the 

asset transfer is completed (offset in part by not paying anticipated % Full Cost Recovery increases to 

BCBC).  C.C.A.C. continues to generate sufficient revenue from new and existing users to offset 

increased running costs.   

 

Financial projections show that the project is financially viable: 

 

 
 

Conclusion  

 

The project provides a real opportunity improve the functionality of the Cae Gof site.  With 

investment an extended, modern multi-purpose, multi-sport changing pavilion will safeguard bowls 

in the village as well as offering better facilities for members and the local community.  Further 

detail supporting the conclusion is set out in the business plan.  

 

£ £ £ £ £ £

Pre CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT

Income: Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 

Rugby Income: 1,600         1,632         1,665         1,698         1,732         1,767         

Pitch & Pavilion Rental Income: -             840            882            926            972            1,021         

Clubhouse Income: 224,603     235,833     247,625     260,006     273,006     286,657     

Other Income: 78,478       84,028       80,608       82,035       83,676       85,161       

Total Income: 304,681    322,333    330,780    344,665    359,387    374,605    

£ £ £ £ £ £

Pre CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT

Expenditure: Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 

Cost of Sales, People and Finance Costs: 146,105     153,838     161,297     169,124     177,338     185,958     

Clubhouse Costs: 58,416       59,584       60,776       61,992       63,231       64,496       

Rugby Costs: 76,093       76,095       77,617       79,169       80,753       82,368       

Pavilion Costs (Bowls Pavilion): -             8,996         9,176         9,359         9,547         9,738         

Pitch Revenue Costs: -             17,500       18,300       19,140       20,022       20,948       

Total Expenditure: 280,614    316,013    327,166    338,784    350,891    363,508    

Surplus (Deficit) 24,067       6,320         3,614         5,881         8,496         11,097       

Balance* 63,667       69,987       73,601       79,482       87,977       99,074       

Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club

Income and Expediture Revenue Projections: Summary

Page 320



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

4 

 

 

 

2.  The Project 
 
2.1.  The Organisation: Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club  
 
Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club (C.C.A.C.) traces its roots back to the 1890s, principally to ‘provide facilities 

for rugby union and other winter and summer sports’.  C.C.A.C. operates from Cae Gof Playing Fields 

– established 1958 – and retains approximately 250 members (bowls & rugby).  Operations are 

supported by 30-40 volunteers.  1.5 staff members are employed to operate the impressive main 

clubhouse (not subject to CAT).     

A private company limited by guarantee, Cefn Criwbr R.F.C. (company no: 07608846) was 

established in 2011 to provide a vehicle for the construction of the clubhouse at Cae Gof (opened in 

2014 and owned by C.C.A.C.). The clubhouse freehold is held in trust via the Ltd Company with a 

WRU legal charge on property.  74% of income derives from clubhouse activities i.e. functions, 

hospitality.   

C.C.A.C. operates to a financial year, Community Amateur Sports Club (C.A.S.C.) registered and VAT 

registered.   Annual accounts illustrate the financial sustainability of the organisation.   

Year End  Income  Expenditure  Surplus / Deficit  

31/12/19 £303,681 £280,470 £23,211 

31/12/18 £252,759 £255,715 -£2,956 

 

An annual club development plan is submitted to WRU outlining participation and facility 

improvements.  C.C.A.C. benefits from a strong rugby / community focussed pathway i.e. 1st, 2nds, 5 

junior teams & junior rugby tots.   The senior team compete in WRU National League 3 West Central 

B.  The club’s current constitution clearly reflects its position as an athletic club, primarily a rugby 

club (objects). Payment to players strictly prohibited (clause 3.2).  ‘The income and property of the 

Club shall be applied solely towards the promotion of the objects … no profit to the members of the 

club.’  ‘Committee’ meetings every 2-3 weeks include finance / treasurer’s reports.  AGM held each 

July.    

The existing Cae Gof Pavilion is shared with Cefn Cribwr F.C.  The latest condition survey undertaken 

on the pavilion by Faith & Gould in March 2020 highlighted essential repairs totalling £34K to be 

required.  However, by contrast the last survey undertaken in 2018 by the same consultants 

highlighted repairs circa £150K – a vast difference with no addition building works being undertaken 

during the intervening period. 

The current rugby changing facilities at the pavilion do not meet WRU standards and due to size 

limitations there is no scope for expansion. 

CAT discussions between the rugby and football clubs have been ongoing for number of years, 

including tentative discussions for a joint venture.  

However, C.C.A.C. do not believe that partnership working is likely to be successful due to: 

Page 321



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

5 

 

 

 

 

• The limitations of the current changing facilities that is likely to hamper the future 

development potential and ambitions of C.C.A.C.; 

• The size and financial imbalance, historical grievances and ongoing trust issues between the 

rugby and football clubs; 

• The need to develop a solution that will enable the bowls club and bowling facilities to be 

incorporated.  

2.3 Cae Gof Playing Fields   

 

Cae Gof Playing Fields is currently owned by Bridgend County Borough Council as part of its leisure 

provision within the county. C.C.A.C. pays BCBC £1,700 rental per season (prior to COVID hire 

freeze).   

 

The proposal is to transfer to C.C.A.C. (via Cefn Cribwr RFC Limited), for self-management under a 

35-year lease under the Council’s Community Asset Transfer programme.   

 

This business plan focuses on the transfer of Pitch A (main rugby pitch); Pitch D (lower tier 
overlooked by clubhouse); Bowls Green and Bowls Pavilion.   
 
A separate CAT application is in preparation with Cefn Cribwr F.C. for pitches B & C plus existing 
changing rooms.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 322



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

6 

 

 

 

The Pitches  

 

Pitch A:  The northern most pitch adjacent to the main road is situated on the upper bench area 

formed from previous land reclamation operation and is the home pitch for Cefn Cribwr RFC.   

 

Pitch D:  Currently not marked or fenced – purely asymmetrical grass area used informally by the 

community.  Rarely used for sport due to extreme waterlogging conditions. C.C.A.C. would seek to 

enhance barriers / fencing around pitch D to deter dog walkers and safeguard facilities.   

 

All 4 pitches suffer from wet surface conditions and poor drainage.  A boundary ditch runs to the 

South East corner which discharges to the south through agricultural land.  

 
 

Independent pitch report (whole Cae Gof site) produced March 2020.  ‘The main problem associated with 

these pitches is the lack of adequate drainage. Other issues such as the lack of soil structure and the grass 

health can only be satisfactorily addressed when the drainage situation improves.  The surface gradients can be 

addressed if needed during improvement operations by re-profiling the topsoil and reducing the pitch slopes. 

The soil chemistry status and grass plant health can be addressed during surface establishment and subsequent 

maintenance operations.’ – Peter Jones Pitch Consultant 

 

Typically the pitches are waterlogged with typically muddy conditions and areas of very poor grass coverage. 

The lack of active drainage within all 4 pitches means that the ground does not recover well after heavy rainfall 

events and is reliant on surface run-off and evaporation to remove standing water. As a result the pitch 

recovery can be slow and games postponed.  

 

All 4 Cae Gof pitches would be significantly improved by installing suitable drainage systems. This should 

include should include a primary piped system supplemented with a secondary system of slit drains or sand 

grooves.  

 

These operations would dramatically improve the pitch quality and increase the reliability of fixtures and, 

provided an adequate maintenance regime is followed, will give years of dependable performance.  

 

Page 323



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

7 

 

 

 

The PQS provides the basic minimum standard for the construction and maintenance of grass turf playing 

surfaces. Principally this recommends that a natural grass pitch must:  

 

 

1. Have adequate grass cover  

2. Have low levels of weed coverage  

3. be reasonably flat  

4. Have the ability to drain surface water  

 

It is divided into 3 categories: High, Standard (Mid), and Basic  

 

Currently the main rugby pitch (pitch A), the soccer pitch (B) and the dual-use pitch (Pitch C) generally achieve 

the basic category within the PQS system but the drainage and grass health aspects are poor and need 

improvements. Pitch D is historically the wettest ground and was also below the basic threshold for pitch 

gradients.  

 

The items highlighted within Tables 2 to 4 are of primary concern and require attention.  

 

 
Source: Peter Jones Pitch Consultant Report (March 2020)  

Page 324



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

8 

 

 

 

 
The Existing Changing Pavilion  

 

 
 

The current pavilion is in a severe state of disrepair.  Two condition surveys have been completed but are miles 

apart in cost.  2018 pavilion / building (6 changing rooms and meeting room) condition report identified circa 

£150k+ repairs required.  2020 revised condition report indicated a backlog of repairs – Circa £36,000.  There is 

also signs of subsidence at the front of the building i.e. cracks up the walls, not included in the latest condition 

report. 

 

The existing changing pavilion does not meet need.  The changing rooms upstairs only just fits 15 players and 

the current game includes a squad of 25 plus coaches and physios.  There is only 1 official’s changing room 

whilst the sport is benefiting from more female officials in the WRU (this is shared with the football). There is 

no disabled access or toilets on the 1st floor and the rugby club junior section has a number of disabled 

members. The bowls pavilion has these facilities. 

 

The Bowls Pavilion  

 

The bowls pavilion was extensively repaired following fire damage in 2015.  It currently caters just for C.C.A.C. 

bowls members.  It does not have the necessary space or adequate layout to accommodate rugby changing 

facilities.   

 

 
 

Page 325



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

9 

 

 

 

 

The Tennis Courts  

 

Transformation of the disused tennis courts to an all-weather training surface / community facility (adjacent to 

Pitch D) is dependent on external funding and viewed as a medium to long-term objective.  

 

 
 

Note, access to free parking at the clubhouse (top right) and also the scale of the site itself.  The yellow 

markers indicate slopes and gradient discrepancies.  Pitch D slopes from left to right (as viewed) and would not 

be suitable for any A grade matches.  Mini & junior rugby could still be played within these limitations.  

 

2.3 Renovation & Improvement Plans  

 
Separate CAT Fund applications will be submitted to: 

A. Bowls Pavilion Remedial Work  

 

Quote: £11,000.  Renovation of the existing bowling pavilion to bring the asset up to an acceptable 

standard.  Works will include: all windows & doors upgraded to double glazing, all facia boards 

replaced; damp within the pavilion addressed; painting and decorating.  

 

B. Extension of the existing bowling pavilion to provide additional changing rooms and showers, 

doubling the space available and improving functionality. 

 

Two tenders received at similar costs, circa £146,000 with another tender much higher.  Costs 

include connection of the bowls pavilion to the mains gas supply to provide heating and hot water.  

 

Page 326



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

10 

 

 

 

C.C.A.C. currently has over 120 young children in the minis and junior section, ranging from 3 -13 

years old. These are boys and girls, some with disabilities and learning difficulties. C.C.A.C. has prided 

itself on bringing the game of rugby to anyone who wants to play; an ethos that must continue. 

 

C.C.A.C. run 2 senior sides and currently have 85 players registered. 2 homes games being played 

simultaneously, requires 4 changing rooms. The current pavilion only has 6 changing rooms, while 

the football has 3 sides. We only have 4 pitches so only 4 home games can be played at the same 

time for both sports. The recent reconfiguration to the changing rooms by the football reduced it 

from 8 – 6 changing rooms. Therefore, not all home games could be played at the same time. 

C.C.A.C. need 4 correctly sized changing rooms to carry on playing rugby at senior and junior level. 

 

C.C.A.C. rugby delivery plan includes the introduction of a ladies team and with a large number of 

the junior section players being female, this could be with us sooner than later. The club are actively 

looking for women players. 

 

As highlighted bowls is an important and historic section of the C.C.A.C and without C.C.A.C. input it 

will surely fold. This is a vital part of the community for the elderly, giving them physical and mental 

stimulation along with companionship. These are all things that increase their health and wellbeing.   

C.C.A.C., as a club, are unable to financially support two pavilions, if forced into the main pavilion 

with the football then bowls in Cefn Cribwr will cease. 

 

The firm belief is that with the running of a successful clubhouse, C.C.A.C. are more than equipped to 

run the Bowls pavilion, Bowls green, 2 pitches and, in time, refurbish the tennis courts. The stretch 

of taking on the main pavilion would be too much and put the whole operation at risk, something 

the committee on behalf of the members are not prepared to do.  

 

The current bowls pavilion is in a far better state than the main pavilion (the builders who have 

quoted for the work have all stated this). As a result, it makes perfect sense to move in with the 

bowls to ensure their, and C.C.A.C., existence. The initial capital outlay required is sizable, however 

the lifespan of the bowls pavilion makes it the obvious choice.   

 

 

 

Page 327



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

11 

 

 

 
Page 328



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

12 

 

 

 

 

Page 329



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

13 

 

 

 

C. Apply drainage to Pitches A&D and improvement of the playing surfaces (2020 pitch condition 

report) 

 

As per Inscapes quotations:   

Pitch A = £23,415.   

Pitch D = £23,838 plus primary drainage option £13,784 = £37,622.  

 

D. Improve bowling green playing surface.  

 

As per quotation £8,659.  

 

E. Purchase equipment required to maintain the bowling green and pitches. 

 

£13,812 as per equipment listing prepared by C.C.A.C. 

 

This business case outlines the project, its benefits and demonstrate its medium and long-term 

financial viability and sustainability.  This is a requirement under the Council’s CAT Policy document 

for complex CATs or new builds.  The business case and funding applications will need to be 

submitted to the CAT Steering Group for assessment and approval with the funding application for 

the Bowls Pavilion extension referred to the Cabinet for approval as it would exceed the £50K 

threshold. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 330



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

14 

 

 

 

 

 
Funding 
Summary 

As at 
16/11/20 

All costs 
exclude VAT    

 
Project Item Cost 

Community 
Council 
Funding with 
BCBC match 

Own 
Funding & 
Others 

CAT 
Funding 
Request 

Current 
Shortfall 

1 
Bowling 
Pavilion 
Renovation 

 £11,000 
 

 £-  £11,000  £- 

2 

Bowling 
Pavilion 
Extension 
(including Gas 
main 
connection) 

 £146,000  £20,000  £31,000  £95,000  £- 

3 
Bowling Green 
Renovation  

 £8,659 
 

 £-  £8,659  £- 

4 
Pitch A 
drainage & 
renovation 

 £23,415 
 

 £-  £23,415  £- 

5 
Pitch D 
renovation & 
drainage  

 £37,622 
 

 £13,784  £23,838  £- 

6 
Bowling Green 
Equipment 

 £5,232 
 

 £-  £5,232  £- 

7 
Rugby Pitch 
Equipment 

 £8,580 
 

 £-  £8,580  £- 

 
Totals  £240,508 £20,000  £44,784  £175,724  £- 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 

    

Page 331



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

15 

 

 

 

3.0 The Market & Need  

 

3.1 Current Usage  

 

The site currently hosts multiple sports, teams and sections and benefits from relatively spacious 

surroundings plus development potential.  Rugby growth areas include new women section and 

hosting rugby league onsite (aid income generation).   WRU facility improvement grant and Sport 

Wales grant likely to be pursued.    

 

 
 

The Bowls element current subsidy from Bridgend CBC will cease from 2021.  Financial austerity and 

the resulting reduction in Local Authority spending on facilities means if the C.C.A.C. does not 

complete the Community Asset Transfer then rental charge is likely to significantly increase and 

threaten the viability of bowls section.  Ultimately bowls in the village is under severe threat of 

closure.    

 

Community asset transfer of Cae Gof will reduce the financial burden on the Local Authority and 

with support from partner agencies enable other sources of funding to be accessed (relatively little 

external fundraising to date).  The end goal is to ensure a viable and sustainable future for this well 

used community asset. 

 

As with many other communities Cefn Cribwr has issues around health, skills and employment.  The 

C.C.A.C. has always used its power and influence to help address some of these inequalities i.e. 

volunteering opportunities, skills development and sport & health initiatives.  

 

Usage / Participation Weekly 

(hr) Av no users 

No. 

Weeks 

Total 

User 

Cefn Cribwr RFC Seniors (1st) 5 17 18 1,530        

Cefn Cribwr RFC Seniors (2nds) 4 12 16 768           

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U5 3 17 20 1,020        

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U6 3 17 20 1,020        

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U7 3 17 20 1,020        

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U8 3 17 20 1,020        

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U9 3 17 20 1,020        

Junior Rugby Tots 2 65 20 2,600        

Cefn Cribwr Bowls Club (Bowls Green) 15 20 24 7,200        

Other Users (Pitch A or D) 3 40 2 240           

Other Users - Changing Rooms Only 0 25 20 -            

Tennis Courts (open access) 0 10 40 -            

Totals 44 274 240 17,438   

Page 332



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

16 

 

 

 

 
 

 

3.2   Target Market & Growth  

 

Positive social media efforts and regular communication with members.   Over 125 years of rugby in 

the village. 

 

This proposal is linked to Bridgend CBC’s Corporate Priorities: 

 

 Supporting a Successful Economy - C.C.A.C. intend to use local suppliers to complete the works 

outsourced to third party providers.  This in turn will support local jobs.  The continued success 

of C.C.A.C. will also contribute to the community and local economy. 

 

 Making Smarter Use of Resources - By completing the CAT process with C.C.A.C., BCBC will be 

able to reduce its annual expenditure by transferring the costs of maintenance to C.C.A.C.  

C.C.A.C. intends to raise the standard of the playing surfaces and associated facilities for the 

benefit of the community. 

 

 Helping People to become more Self-Reliant - as a result of the asset transfer, C.C.A.C. (and in 

turn the community of Cefn Cribwr) will no longer be reliant on BCBC for the provision of the 

playing and changing facilities. 

 

The club benefits from a long established positive relationship with the WRU, local schools and 

regional partner Ospreys.  Cefn Cribwr Junior Riders is a real growth area.   C.C.A.C. has raised over 

£30k for the local autism school.  

 

Page 333



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

17 

 

 

 

3.3      Competition 

 

Cae Gof is a centrally located facility, in good condition, with an attractive clubhouse attached. 

Whilst there are other playing fields further afield these are more limited in their offering to support 

sport and community activities.   

 

4.0  Project Management 
 
4.1 The Board 
 
Cefn Cribwr R.F.C. Limited has 5 directors and governs the C.C.A.C. on strategic issues i.e. 

Community Asset Transfer, Risk, Fundraising whilst day to day operations continue to be the focus of 

the existing ‘Management Board’ drawn from the C.C.A.C. membership.   

 

Many of the people involved are self-employed or retired professionals with a broad range of skills 

to support the organisation’s long-term viability, on a voluntary basis, with the aim of keeping costs 

as low as possible.  

 

4.2 Staffing and the role of volunteers 
 
Current maintenance pitch regime (as part of BCBC hire agreement) is limited, pitches cut and 

marked bi-weekly per booking.  End of season renovation limited to harrowing.  

 

Future pitch maintenance estimates circa £6k p.a. per pitch. In order to undertake the ongoing 

maintenance of extended bowls pavilion, bowls green, pitch A & D plus surrounding areas 

equipment is required – circa £17,500 if fully outsourced – work will be undertaken to a degree on a 

voluntary basis by club volunteers trained to utilise professional green / pitch maintenance 

equipment.  Specialist contractors will be sourced for end of season and any capital development 

works.  

 

C.C.A.C. has an existing volunteer base, many of whom are retired and flexible in terms of timing and 

involvement.  Others bring specific skills and knowledge.  C.C.A.C. is therefore confident that it has 

sufficient voluntary capacity to manage the day to day operations. 

 

4.3 Policies & Procedures 

 

C.C.A.C. operates under the direction of its directors (via Cefn Cribwr RFC Limited) and has in place 

policies, procedures and systems required to support operational requirements and any increase in 

responsibilities.   

 

C.C.A.C. works with the Local Authority, WRU, Bowls Wales and other relevant organisations to 

develop documentation required to comply with all current legislation and to mitigate identified 

risks, including COVID response.  

 

Page 334



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

18 

 

 

 

C.C.A.C. has significant insurance policies to cover building, contents, employment and other 

liabilities.  Amendments to these policies will be required based on increased responsibility post 

CAT.  

 

5. Marketing & Promotion   
 
The project has attracted widespread support particularly local politicians and community council 

(element of capital funding already secured).  The project is strategically aligned to Bridgend County 

Borough Council’s Corporate Plan objectives; people in Bridgend County Borough are healthier; 

people in Bridgend County Borough are engaged and empowered to achieve their own potential.   

 

The primary market for the Cae Gof site is limited however the main income driver, the clubhouse, 

attracts numerous groups that require a convenient, central meeting space.   

 

C.C.A.C. gains competitive advantage from: 

 

 It’s well maintained, relatively spacious and modern clubhouse.  

 Cae Gof Playing Fields is a relatively large site.  

 Free parking on-site. 

 Competitively hire price. 

 Reinvestment of profits into the organisation. 

 

6. Financial Position  
 
6.1 Current Financial Position 
 

This business plan has been prepared during the developing Covid -19 Pandemic.  The impact on  

business is evident from the closure and then subsequent restricted operations of the club house 

which is the main revenue stream.  C.C.A.C. has taken advantage of government schemes and 

adjusted day to day operations to remove unnecessary expenditure during this time.  Given that the 

end of the period where restrictions are in place cannot be forecast, C.C.A.C. is unable to determine 

when the financial position will return to that enjoyed before the pandemic started.  However, as a 

club, C.C.A.C. is in solid position financially and have an experienced management team that are 

working hard to ensure that the club emerges from this uncertain period in an equally strong 

position.  The business plan therefore shows Pre and Post Covid financial forecasts.  C.C.A.C. will 

continue to monitor the situation and proactively assess our priorities.  

 

C.C.A.C. operates on a positive stable financial basis, activities are self-financing, with income 

covering ongoing running costs.  C.C.A.C. benefits from a relatively healthy reserve.   Annual 

accounts illustrate the financial sustainability of the organisation.   

 

Year End  Income  Expenditure  Surplus / Deficit  

31/12/19 £303,681 £280,470 £23,211 

31/12/18 £252,759 £255,715 -£2,956 

Page 335



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

19 

 

 

 

 
6.2  Project Finances 
 
There are both capital and revenue cost implications to the project: 
 
Capital Costs 
 
Estimates for the capital development costs: 

 

 
 

The capital build costs are subject to planning permission, funding and procurement exercise.  

C.C.A.C. is confident that the overall cost of the bowls pavilion extension can be reduced further by 

maximising the use of local supporters / registered builders where feasible.  

 

Revenue Costs 

 
The projected revenue costs for the first 5 years of operation on completion of the improvement 

work: 

 

 
 
A detailed breakdown is provided in 5 year Financial Plan.  Key points include: 

 

exc VAT

Bowls Pavilion / Changing Rooms £ Cost Funding Options Need Priority 

Bowls Pavilion Remedial Work 11,000                      Bridgend CAT Fund / WRU / Club / Community Council Club growth High

Bowling Pavilion Extension (including Gas main connection) 146,000                    Bridgend CAT Fund / WRU / Club / Community Council Club growth High

Total 157,000                    

Main Pitch (Pitch A) £ Cost Funding Options Need Priority 

As per Inscapes quote 23,415                      Sport Wales / WRU / Bridgend CAT 2020 Pitch Condition Report Medium

Total 23,415                      

Pitch D £ Cost Funding Options Need Priority

Pitch extension; earthworks; cultivation (as per Inscpares quote) 23,838                      Sport Wales / WRU / Bridgend CAT 2020 Pitch Condition Report Medium

Primary Drainage 13,784                      Club

Total 37,622                      

Pitch Maintanence 

Grass / Pitch Machinery 8,580                        Bridgend CAT Fund 2020 Pitch Condition Report High 

Total 8,580                        

Bowls Green £ Cost Funding Options Need Priority

Bowling Green Renovation 8,659                        Bridgend CAT Fund (bowls) Sustaining Community Asset High

Bowls Maintenance Equipment 5,232                        Bridgend CAT Fund Sustaining Community Asset High 

Total 13,891                      

Total Capital Development Requirement 240,508                    

£ £ £ £ £ £

Pre CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT

Expenditure: Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 

Cost of Sales, People and Finance Costs: 146,105     153,838     161,297     169,124     177,338     185,958     

Clubhouse Costs: 58,416       59,584       60,776       61,992       63,231       64,496       

Rugby Costs: 76,093       76,095       77,617       79,169       80,753       82,368       

Pavilion Costs (Bowls Pavilion): -             8,996         9,176         9,359         9,547         9,738         

Pitch Revenue Costs: -             17,500       18,300       19,140       20,022       20,948       

Total Expenditure: 280,614    316,013    327,166    338,784    350,891    363,508    

Page 336



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

20 

 

 

 

 For prudence cost estimates i.e. pitch maintenance are ‘top end’.   

 Leased from Bridgend CBC on a 35-year lease at peppercorn rent / discretionary rates. 

 Site relatively large and depending on scale of CAT then a part-time groundsman could be 

employed.     

 Draft bowls pavilion maintenance budget – circa £9k p.a.  

 Annual revenue grants and bowls subsides (BCBC, COVID) to cease.     

 Other main costs:  insurance, cleaning, stock and utilities subject to annual inflationary 

increases. 

 

6.3 Potential Funding Routes  
 
Capital  

 

The capital development will be led directly by C.C.A.C. as the long term leaseholder.  The C.C.A.C. 

seeks direct grant funding to support the capital development, principally via Bridgend CAT Fund and 

Cefn Criwbr Community Council.  As long term leaseholders, C.C.A.C. will have far greater scope to 

access funds to support the further capital development works identified: 

 

 
 

Revenue  

 

The C.C.A.C. will ultimately be responsible for ongoing additional revenue costs – circa £25k p.a – 

post transfer. C.C.A.C. will work to generate increased revenue from the external hire to cover the 

additional running costs incurred, but principally costs will be absorbed by C.C.A.C..  For prudence, 

income has been kept low in the first 12 months post asset transfer, allowing time for developing 

the market and ramping up usage/bookings.  The projected revenue income sources are as follows: 

 

 
 
 

Timeline Need / Theme Circa Funding Options BCBC CAT Funding Request Other Funding Source 

Year

1 Bowls Pavilion Remedial Works 11,000£         Bridgend CAT £11,000

1 Extension of Bowls Pavilion (£136,000 plus £10k gas suply) 146,000£       Bridgend CAT £95,000

Plus Community Council £10K & BCBC Match £10K £20,000

Plus Own Funds £11,000

Plus Ford Legacy Grant £20,000

1 Green Maintenance Equipment (Bowls) 5,232£            Bridgend CAT £5,232

1 Pitch Maintenance Equipment (Rugby) 8,580£            Bridgend CAT £8,580

1 Bowls Green Improvements 8,659£            Bridgend CAT £8,659

1 Pitch Improvements (Pitch A 1st Team Pitch) 23,415£         Bridgend CAT £23,415

1 Pitch Improvements (Pitch D) 37,622£         Bridgend CAT £23,838

Plus Own Funds £13,784

240,508£       £175,724 £64,784

£ £ £ £ £ £

Pre CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT

Income: Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 

Rugby Income: 1,600         1,632         1,665         1,698         1,732         1,767         

Pitch & Pavilion Rental Income: -             840            882            926            972            1,021         

Clubhouse Income: 224,603     235,833     247,625     260,006     273,006     286,657     

Other Income: 78,478       84,028       80,608       82,035       83,676       85,161       

Total Income: 304,681    322,333    330,780    344,665    359,387    374,605    

Page 337



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

21 

 

 

 

 
 
 
Rental income / hire prices: 

 
 

6.4  Financial Projections 
 
The table below identifies the projected turnover and profitability of C.C.A.C. for the first 5 years of 

operation – post COVID & Post CAT.  Detailed projections are set out in 5 Year Financial Plan.  

 

Hire £ Per Game / Per Session Changing Rooms Bowls 

Whle Half Floodlights Whle Half Floodlights 

Cefn Cribwr RFC Seniors (1st) 0 0 Inclusive 0 0 n/a Inclusive 

Cefn Cribwr RFC Seniors (2nds) 0 0 n/a 0 0 n/a Inclusive 

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U5 0 0 n/a 0 0 n/a Inclusive 

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U6 0 0 n/a 0 0 n/a Inclusive 

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U7 0 0 n/a 0 0 n/a Inclusive 

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U8 0 0 n/a 0 0 n/a Inclusive 

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U9 0 0 n/a 0 0 n/a Inclusive 

Junior Rugby Tots 0 0 n/a 0 0 n/a Inclusive 

Cefn Cribwr Bowls Club (Bowls Green) Inclusive £30

Other Users (Pitch A or D) n/a n/a n/a 75 40 n/a Inclusive 

Other Users - Changing Rooms Only £30

Tennis Courts 

Volume 

Cefn Cribwr RFC Seniors (1st) 18 occassions at £0 per game totalling £0 Pitch A Inc. friendlies & training

Cefn Cribwr RFC Seniors (2nds) 18 occassions at £0 per game totalling £0 Pitch A Inc. friendlies & training

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U5 18 occassions at £0 per game totalling £0 Pitch D Inc. festivals

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U6 18 occassions at £0 per game totalling £0 Pitch D Inc. festivals

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U7 18 occassions at £0 per game totalling £0 Pitch D Inc. festivals

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U8 18 occassions at £0 per game totalling £0 Pitch D Inc. festivals

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U9 18 occassions at £0 per game totalling £0 Pitch D Inc. festivals

Junior Rugby Tots 18 occassions at £0 per game totalling £0 Pitch D Inc. festivals

Cefn Cribwr Bowls Club (Bowls Green) 18 occassions at £30 per game totalling £540 Bowls Green All games

Other Users (Pitch A or D) 4 occassions at £75 per game totalling £300 Pitch A / D i.e. waterlogged elsewhere / cup 

Other Users - Changing Rooms Only 0 occassions at £30 per game totalling £0 n/a i.e. football 

Tennis Courts (open access) 

Totals 166 £840

Cae Gof Usuage:  Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club

Open Access - TBC

Main Pitch (Pitch A) Pitch D

Page 338



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

22 

 

 

 

 
The income generated totals £322,333 in the first year of full operation, post COVID, post CAT.  With 

total revenue costs estimated at £316,013.  The initial income generation target and risk is low.  

Revenue cost estimates ‘top end’ and will be continually monitored and managed within the income 

streams to ensure the continued viability. 

 

To help ensure that C.C.A.C. is trading successfully the following measurements, or Key Performance 

Indicators, will be monitored on a regular basis: 

 

 Usage & Percentage of repeat business 

 Profit per month – as measured against the business plan 

 Price benchmarking – measured against local and similar operators 

 User feedback; marketing enquiries 

 Volunteer Hours 

 

6.5  Cashflow Requirements 

 

The day to day operational cash flow requirements will be managed within C.C.A.C.’s ongoing 

working capital.  The cash flow requirements of the capital development will be managed by the 

C.C.A.C. directly in conjunction with the appointed builder(s) once the construction profile is 

determined and the grant drawdown profiles are identified.  

£ £ £ £ £ £

Pre CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT

Income: Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 

Rugby Income: 1,600         1,632         1,665         1,698         1,732         1,767         

Pitch & Pavilion Rental Income: -             840            882            926            972            1,021         

Clubhouse Income: 224,603     235,833     247,625     260,006     273,006     286,657     

Other Income: 78,478       84,028       80,608       82,035       83,676       85,161       

Total Income: 304,681    322,333    330,780    344,665    359,387    374,605    

£ £ £ £ £ £

Pre CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT

Expenditure: Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 

Cost of Sales, People and Finance Costs: 146,105     153,838     161,297     169,124     177,338     185,958     

Clubhouse Costs: 58,416       59,584       60,776       61,992       63,231       64,496       

Rugby Costs: 76,093       76,095       77,617       79,169       80,753       82,368       

Pavilion Costs (Bowls Pavilion): -             8,996         9,176         9,359         9,547         9,738         

Pitch Revenue Costs: -             17,500       18,300       19,140       20,022       20,948       

Total Expenditure: 280,614    316,013    327,166    338,784    350,891    363,508    

Surplus (Deficit) 24,067       6,320         3,614         5,881         8,496         11,097       

Balance* 63,667       69,987       73,601       79,482       87,977       99,074       

*cash in bank opening: £39,600

Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club

Income and Expediture Revenue Projections: Summary

Page 339



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

23 

 

 

 

 

7. SWOT & Risk Analysis  
 
7.1 SWOT Analysis 
 
Strengths 
 

 C.C.A.C. is well established, well known and financially 
sound 

 Commitment and support of existing users and 
security of income streams 

 Existing and stable membership /supporters. 

 Skills and knowledge of directors  – business skills, 
building experience, finance and project management 

 Political links to support organisations i.e. WRU and 
Community Council  

 Strong track record of raising funds for capital 
improvements e.g. clubhouse 
 

Weaknesses 
 

 Capital funding not yet secured 

 Funding applications may be held until the 
lease is signed and agreed 

 Relationship with Football Club.  

 Limited bowls membership.  

Opportunities 
 

 Flexible and adaptable space 

 Further partnership working 

 Community regeneration within Cefn Cribwr, Cae Gof 
and Bridgend   
 

Threats 
 

 Failure to secure CAT funding bids 

 Not obtaining planning permission.  

 Future of bowls in the village.  
 

 

7.2 Risk Mitigations Based on SWOT Analysis 

 

The following mitigations have been considered based on weakness and threats identified in the 

SWOT analysis.  In the event that capital funding are insufficient, then these phases will be stretched 

over a period of several years with individual development items taken in series based on priority.   

 

The risk of non-delivery is mitigated by the following factors: 

 

 Ongoing commitment from C.C.A.C. members and directors, including match and in-kind 

contributions.    

 Stable financial position and reserve, with potential to underwrite elements of the ongoing 

revenue costs. 

 Capital funding bids already in progress and track record of successfully undertaking general 

maintenance and improvements at Cae Gof. 

 

Risk Impact Mitigation Sensitivity 
analysis 

Page 340



Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club Business Plan – V9 

24 

 

 

 

Failure to secure 
any sufficient 
capital grant 
funding  
 

The pavilion 
extension is reliant 
on securing grant 
funding  
 

C.C.A.C. will make applications to several funding 
organisations once the lease agreement is finalized to 
maximise the level of funding available.  A social business 
loan from WCVA is an option.  
 
Where there is a shortfall, design changes will be 
considered.  There is also scope to phase the work. 

scenario 1 

Decline in 
participation   

A reduction in  
income  

Indications that all current rugby sections will embrace 
new developments.  Improved social media presence and 
Junior Riders’ set-up help increase participation.  

n/a  

Health and safety 
and property 
management 
issues 

Operational issues 
potentially leading 
to liability and 
reputational 
damage 

Reviewed Health and Safety policy and procedures to 
manage the property, particularly in light of the COVID 
challenges.  Some  maintenance tasks may need to be 
subcontracted to ensure appropriate H&S. 

n/a 

 
8. Sensitivity Analysis  
 
Scenario 1: No capital grants.   

 

The community as a whole benefits from C.C.A.C. ownership and management of the Cae Gof 

playing fields. If C.C.A.C. were not in a position to accept the asset transfer the facility would be lost 

and the community would suffer.  The ongoing development of the facility will ensure that the 

current and future generations of Cefn Cribwr are able to play Rugby, Bowls and multi-sport activity 

within the village. 

 

Maintaining access to regular exercise, team sports and development of the younger members of 

the community are key aspects; as well as the obvious physical benefits, there are well documented 

mental health benefits from regular activity as well as the support available to our membership.   

 
Annex 1: Detailed Financial Projections – See 5 Year Financial Plan 

 

This document has been prepared with support from the Bridgend CBC CAT project  

& The Coalfields Regenartion Trust. 

 

 

Page 341



This page is intentionally left blank



5 Year Financial Plan 
For consideration Bridgend CBC CAT committee

Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club

Version 8

Community Asset Transfer 

Note: Financials based on full 12 months trading post COVID-19

Cae Gof (2 pitches, tennis courts, bowls green & bowls pavilion)

Page 343



Preface - Cae Gof Site

Independent pitch report (whole site) produced March 2020.  ‘The main problem associated with 

these pitches is the lack of adequate drainage. Other issues such as the lack of soil structure and the 

grass health can only be satisfactorily addressed when the drainage situation improves.  The 

surface gradients can be addressed if needed during improvement operations by re-profiling the 

topsoil and reducing the pitch slopes. The soil chemistry status and grass plant health can be 

addressed during surface establishment and subsequent maintenance operations – Peter Jones 

Pitch Consultant’

This CAT plan focuses on the transfer of Pitch A (main rugby pitch); Pitch D (lower tier overlooked 

by clubhouse); tennis courts; Bowls Green and Bowls Pavilion.  

The existing changing room building is subject to a repair bill in excess of £35k.  The Bowls Pavilion 

is in a better state of repair and provides a viable alternative.

A separate CAT application is in preparation with Cefn Cribwr F.C. for pitches B & C plus existing 

changing rooms. 

Page 344



£ £ £ £ £ £

Pre CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT

Income: Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 Notes all costs inc VAT 

Rugby Income:

Subscriptions 1,600          1,632            1,665            1,698            1,732          1,767            2% increase p.a. 

1,600          

Pitch & Pavilion Rental Income: 

Pitch Hire & Changing Rooms (inc. bowls) -              840               882               926               972             1,021             5% increase p.a. 

-              

Clubhouse Income:

Sales 224,603     235,833       247,625       260,006       273,006     286,657       5% increase p.a. 

224,603     

Other Income:

Tickets 28,736       29,311          29,897          30,495          31,105       31,727          2% increase p.a. 

Donations 21,758       22,193          22,637          23,090          23,552       24,023          2% increase p.a. 

Misc 18,090       18,452          18,821          19,197          19,581       19,973          2% increase p.a. 

Revenue Grant: BCBC Sports Fund 1,000          -                -                -                -              -                One off 

Revenue Grant: Covid 19 -              -                -                -                -              -                TBC

Revenue Grant: Bowls Fund -              5,000            -                -                -              -                One off 

Revenue Grants: WRU 8,894          9,072            9,253            9,253            9,438          9,438            2% increase p.a. 

78,478        

Total Income 304,681     322,333       330,780       344,665       359,387     374,605       

Expenditure:

Cost of Sales, People and Finance Costs:

Cost of Sales (Clubhouse) inc staff 135,118     141,500       148,575       156,004       163,804     171,994       40% gross profit margin

Support Costs 4,363          4,581            4,810            5,051            5,303          5,568            5% increase p.a. accountant 

Finance Charges 6,624          6,756            6,892            7,029            7,170          7,313            2% increase p.a. 

Insurance Increases -              1,000            1,020            1,040            1,061          1,082            2% increase p.a. 

146,105     

Clubhouse Costs: 

Utilities; Maintenance; Cleaning etc. 58,416       59,584          60,776          61,992          63,231       64,496          2% increase p.a. 

58,416        

Rugby Costs:

Transport 38,879       39,657          40,450          41,259          42,084       42,926          2% increase p.a. 

Tickets 28,736       29,311          29,897          30,495          31,105       31,727          2% increase p.a. 

Other 6,988          7,128            7,270            7,416            7,564          7,715            2% increase p.a. 

BCBC Pitch Hire 1,490          -                -                -                -              -                Nil after CAT

76,093        

Pavilion Costs (Bowls Pavilion):

Electricty -              1,252            1,277            1,303            1,329          1,355            TBC - guesstimate on existing pavilion figures (17-18) 2% increase p.a. 

Gas -              1,107            1,129            1,152            1,175          1,198            TBC - guesstimate on existing pavilion figures (17-18) 2% increase p.a. 

Water -              450               459               468               478             487               TBC - guesstimate on existing pavilion figures (17-18) 2% increase p.a. 

Building Maintenance -              5,000            5,100            5,202            5,306          5,412            TBC 2% increase p.a. 

Stat. Testing & Compliance -              1,187            1,211            1,235            1,260          1,285            Based on BCBC costs 2% increase p.a. 

-              

Pitch Revenue Costs:

Regular Maintanance (main pitch A) -              6,000            6,300            6,615            6,946          7,293            at full quoted cost of external contractor 5% increase p.a. 

Regular Maintanance (main pitch D) -              6,000            6,300            6,615            6,946          7,293            at full quoted cost of external contractor 5% increase p.a. 

Regular Maintanance (surrounds) -              1,500            1,500            1,500            1,500          1,500            at full quoted cost of external contractor inc. tennis courts

Regular Maintanance (Bowls Green) -              4,000            4,200            4,410            4,631          4,862            From experience of other bowls venues 5% increase p.a. 

-              

Total Expenditure 280,614     316,013       327,166       338,784       350,891     363,508       

Surplus (Deficit) 24,067        6,320            3,614            5,881            8,496          11,097          

Balances* b/f 63,667        69,987          73,601          79,482          87,977       99,074          

*cash in bank opening: £39,600

CAT Financial Projections:  Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club

Page 345



Hire £ Per Game / Per Session Changing Rooms Bowls 

Whle Half Floodlights Whle Half Floodlights 

Cefn Cribwr RFC Seniors (1st) 0 0 Inclusive 0 0 n/a Inclusive 

Cefn Cribwr RFC Seniors (2nds) 0 0 n/a 0 0 n/a Inclusive 

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U5 0 0 n/a 0 0 n/a Inclusive 

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U6 0 0 n/a 0 0 n/a Inclusive 

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U7 0 0 n/a 0 0 n/a Inclusive 

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U8 0 0 n/a 0 0 n/a Inclusive 

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U9 0 0 n/a 0 0 n/a Inclusive 

Junior Rugby Tots 0 0 n/a 0 0 n/a Inclusive 

Cefn Cribwr Bowls Club (Bowls Green) Inclusive £30

Other Users (Pitch A or D) n/a n/a n/a 75 40 n/a Inclusive 

Other Users - Changing Rooms Only £30

Tennis Courts 

Volume 

Cefn Cribwr RFC Seniors (1st) 18 occassions at £0 per game totalling £0 Pitch A Inc. friendlies & training

Cefn Cribwr RFC Seniors (2nds) 18 occassions at £0 per game totalling £0 Pitch A Inc. friendlies & training

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U5 18 occassions at £0 per game totalling £0 Pitch D Inc. festivals

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U6 18 occassions at £0 per game totalling £0 Pitch D Inc. festivals

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U7 18 occassions at £0 per game totalling £0 Pitch D Inc. festivals

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U8 18 occassions at £0 per game totalling £0 Pitch D Inc. festivals

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U9 18 occassions at £0 per game totalling £0 Pitch D Inc. festivals

Junior Rugby Tots 18 occassions at £0 per game totalling £0 Pitch D Inc. festivals

Cefn Cribwr Bowls Club (Bowls Green) 18 occassions at £30 per game totalling £540 Bowls Green All games

Other Users (Pitch A or D) 4 occassions at £75 per game totalling £300 Pitch A / D i.e. waterlogged elsewhere / cup 

Other Users - Changing Rooms Only 0 occassions at £30 per game totalling £0 n/a i.e. football 

Tennis Courts (open access) 

Totals 166 £840

Usage / Participation Weekly 

(hr) Av no users 

No. 

Weeks 

Total 

User 

Hours 

Cefn Cribwr RFC Seniors (1st) 5 17 18 1,530       

Cefn Cribwr RFC Seniors (2nds) 4 12 16 768          

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U5 3 17 20 1,020       

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U6 3 17 20 1,020       

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U7 3 17 20 1,020       

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U8 3 17 20 1,020       

Cefn Cribwr Juniors - U9 3 17 20 1,020       

Junior Rugby Tots 2 65 20 2,600       

Cefn Cribwr Bowls Club (Bowls Green) 15 20 24 7,200       

Other Users (Pitch A or D) 3 40 2 240          

Other Users - Changing Rooms Only 0 25 20 -           

Tennis Courts (open access) 0 10 40 -           

Totals 44 274 240 17,438    

Cae Gof Usuage:  Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club

Open Access - TBC

Main Pitch (Pitch A) Pitch D

P
age 346



exc VAT

Bowls Pavilion / Changing Rooms £ Cost Funding Options Need Priority 

Bowls Pavilion Remedial Work 11,000                       Bridgend CAT Fund / WRU / Club / Community Council Club growth High

Bowling Pavilion Extension (including Gas main connection) 146,000                    Bridgend CAT Fund / WRU / Club / Community Council Club growth High

Total 157,000                    

Main Pitch (Pitch A) £ Cost Funding Options Need Priority 

As per Inscapes quote 23,415                       Sport Wales / WRU / Bridgend CAT 2020 Pitch Condition Report Medium

Total 23,415                       

Pitch D £ Cost Funding Options Need Priority

Pitch extension; earthworks; cultivation (as per Inscpares quote) 23,838                       Sport Wales / WRU / Bridgend CAT 2020 Pitch Condition Report Medium

Primary Drainage 13,784                       Club

Total 37,622                       

Pitch Maintanence 

Grass / Pitch Machinery 8,580                         Bridgend CAT Fund 2020 Pitch Condition Report High 

Total 8,580                         

Bowls Green £ Cost Funding Options Need Priority

Bowling Green Renovation 8,659                         Bridgend CAT Fund (bowls) Sustaining Community Asset High

Bowls Maintenance Equipment 5,232                         Bridgend CAT Fund Sustaining Community Asset High 

Total 13,891                       

Total Capital Development Requirement 240,508                    

Drawings (Pavilion Extension):

Capital Development Programme 

P
age 347



Timeline Need / Theme Circa Funding Options BCBC CAT Funding Request Other Funding Source 

Year

1 Bowls Pavilion Remedial Works 11,000£          Bridgend CAT £11,000 Subject to BCBC quantity surveyor review

1 Extension of Bowls Pavilion (£136,000 plus £10k gas suply) 146,000£       Bridgend CAT £95,000 Subject to BCBC quantity surveyor review

Plus Community Council £10K & BCBC Match £10K £20,000

Plus Own Funds £11,000

Plus Ford Legacy Grant £20,000

1 Green Maintenance Equipment (Bowls) 5,232£            Bridgend CAT £5,232 Approved

1 Pitch Maintenance Equipment (Rugby) 8,580£            Bridgend CAT £8,580 Subject to C.C.A.C. self management of pitches

1 Bowls Green Improvements 8,659£            Bridgend CAT £8,659 Subject to BCBC's own condition survey 

1 Pitch Improvements (Pitch A 1st Team Pitch) 23,415£          Bridgend CAT £23,415

1 Pitch Improvements (Pitch D) 37,622£          Bridgend CAT £23,838

Plus Own Funds £13,784

240,508£       £175,724 £64,784

Other Funding Options to be explored: 

1 Sport Wales - Be Active 'Progress' Fund Upto £50,000 Capital Improvement Work (tennis courts)

1 BCBC Sport Fund 1,000£            Revenue 

2 Rural RDP 20,000£          Capital Improvement Work 

2 Church Act 1,000£            Capital Improvement Work 

2 Local:  House Builders, Persimmon, Dwr Cymru; Windfarms (eligibility check)   2,500£            Revenue 

2 Millennium Stadium (Local Round) 2,500£            Capital Improvement Work 

2 Postcode Lottery 5,000£            Capital Improvement Work 

Notes

Fundraising Plan 

Page 348



£ £ £ £ £ £

Pre CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT

Income: Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 

Rugby Income: 1,600          1,632          1,665          1,698          1,732          1,767          

Pitch & Pavilion Rental Income: -              840             882             926             972             1,021          

Clubhouse Income: 224,603     235,833     247,625     260,006     273,006     286,657     

Other Income: 78,478        84,028        80,608        82,035        83,676        85,161        

Total Income: 304,681     322,333     330,780     344,665     359,387     374,605     

£ £ £ £ £ £

Pre CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT Post CAT

Expenditure: Year 1 Year 2 Year 3 Year 4 Year 5 Year 6 

Cost of Sales, People and Finance Costs: 146,105     153,838     161,297     169,124     177,338     185,958     

Clubhouse Costs: 58,416        59,584        60,776        61,992        63,231        64,496        

Rugby Costs: 76,093        76,095        77,617        79,169        80,753        82,368        

Pavilion Costs (Bowls Pavilion): -              8,996          9,176          9,359          9,547          9,738          

Pitch Revenue Costs: -              17,500        18,300        19,140        20,022        20,948        

Total Expenditure: 280,614     316,013     327,166     338,784     350,891     363,508     

Surplus (Deficit) 24,067       6,320          3,614          5,881          8,496          11,097       

Balance* 63,667       69,987       73,601       79,482       87,977       99,074       

*cash in bank opening: £39,600

Cefn Cribwr Athletic Club

Income and Expediture Revenue Projections: Summary

Page 349



Fixed Costs: Annual Estimate Based on BCBC figures. 

PAT Testing £12

Fixed Wire Testing (due every 3 year) £333

Annual chlorination £201

Heating maintenance £235

Fire alarm maintenance £80

Legionella testing  £126

Lighting £200

£1,187

Annual Revenue Costs Estimates 

Page 350



                       Schedule of Works M.I
Address :Cae Gof Bowls Pavilion,Cefn Cribwr

Code Quantity Unit Rate £

SITE CLEARANCE .

Remove existing Myrtus plants and shrubs at rear of

site to accommodate the new extension .

7.00 m 45.00 315.00

GROUND WORKS .

Excavate from ground level to reduced level;

earthwork support,  level and compact disposal.

27.00 M3 90.00 2430.00

1.00 DEMOLITIONS AND ALTERATIONS .

1.01 Demolitions .

Demolish internal walls, taking down with care,remove

door and lining and cart away.

.

1.01.02 Half brick wall 10 m2 45.00 450.00

1.02 Alterations .

Remove existing windows and cart away; block up 

opening internally; face work to match existing 

externally, bond to existing, make good finishes, 

.

1.02.05 Cavity work. 5 m2 205.00 1025.00

Cut single door opening to new extension through 

external wall; lintol over, make good quoins, wall and 

floor finishes.

.

1.02.09 cavity work, cavity gutter, close cavities, vertical dpc. 2 nr 580.00 1160.00

1.02.20 Form internal stud partition; 100 x 50mm vertical studs

400mm centres noggings 600mm, 12mm plasterboard,

2 coat thistleboard finish, 100mm insulation to core.

51 m2 75.00 3825.00

General .

1.02.28 Provide access hatch to roof space; trim opening,

door, lining to new extension.

1 nr 160.00 160.00

1.02.29 Remove existing kitchen units and cart away. 1 Item 350.00 350.00

1.02.30 Remove existing toilet cubicles and car away. 1 Item 150.00 150.00

Services .

1.02.31 Drain down system prior to works; fill and test on

completion.

1 nr 95.00 95.00

1.02.31a Take out sanitary ware and cart away; cap off supplies

pending new installation; make good finishes

disturbed.

.

1.02.32 Urinals 2 nr 45.00 90.00

Page 1 of 7Page 351



1.02.33 Wash Hand basin 3 nr 45.00 135.00

1.02.34 W.C. suite 3 nr 55.00 165.00

2.00 NEW EXTENSION .

Lump sum rates are for building structure only.

Services, fittings, drainage are measured

elsewhere; scaffolding included.1m foot path is

included around the perimeter of new extension.

.

2.02 New changing rooms/tank room ; internal floor area 45

sq.m

.

2.03 Pitched roof structure. 1 Item 58500.00 58500.00

General .

2.23 Extra for steel fire exit doors complete with frame , 2

point panic/crash bar ref:Doors 4 security or similar

approved.tel/no 01260 295996

2 nr 620.00 1240.00

2.23a Ditto for louvered door to tank room. 1 nr 620.00 620.00

2.24 Extra over price for breaking into main roof structure to

ensure continuity .

1 item 950.00 950.00

3.00 DRAINAGE ; PROVISIONAL .

3.07 Break into existing manhole new branch channels and

make good benching and walls.

1 Item 150.00 150.00

3.08 Supply and Fit Durgo air admittance valve to new

mens WC.

1 item 75.00 75.00

uPVC underground drainage pipe, excavate trench ,

granular bed and surround, testing, backfill

trench,remove surplus, reinstate surface finish.

.

3.12 Depth of trench not exceeding 750mm 30 m 65.00 1950.00

3.13 Trapped roddable shower drain “Harmer” or similar

equal approved complete with waste pipe and

builder’s work in connection.

3 nr 230.00 690.00

3.23 Gullies PVCu gully, hopper, sealing plate and frame. 2 nr 70.00 140.00

WEATHERBOARDS .

5.03.64 Remove eaves and verge boarding. 124 m 5.00 620.00

5.03.65 Cellular cored UPVC fascia board. .

5.03.68 200mm wide. 62 m 15.00 930.00

Soffits, ventilated UPVC board. .

Page 2 of 7Page 352



5.03.75 300mm wide 52 m 21.00 1092.00

5.03.76 400mm wide 10 m 23.00 230.00

RAINWATER GOODS - RENEW .

5.03.77
Remove gutters and fittings. 34 m 3.50 119.00

5.03.78 Remove downpipes and fittings. 10 m 3.50 35.00

5.03.79 UPVC gutters, 112mm square section including

brackets fixed to fascias and including all fittings.

34 m 20.00 680.00

5.03.80 Downpipe, 68mm square section UPVC, brackets into

back ground requiring plugging and including all

fittings.

10 m 18.00 180.00

5.05 DAMP PROOF COURSE (PROVISIONAL) .

Works in association with dpc injection to be

measured in plastering section

.

5.05.1 Inject chemical dpc in accordance with manufacturers

recommendations:

.

5.05.4 Cavity walls. 10 m 20.00 200.00

5.05.9 Cementitious tanking; 3 coat anti sulphate solution,

bonding agent, 2 coats cement based water proofing

barrier.

10 m2 45.00 450.00

UPVC WINDOWS & DOORS .

5.06.1 Carefully remove wood window and cart away; prepare 

opening for new upvc window (measured separately).

.

5.06.2 opening not exceeding 1m² 8 nr 16.00 128.00

5.06.4 Upvc double glazed casement window, opening light,

window board, cill, covermoulds into newly prepared

opening not exceeding 1m².

4.6 m2 370.00 1702.00

5.07.1 Carefully remove wood door frame /2 side lights and

cart away, prepare for new door and frame (measured

separately)

1 nr 55.00 55.00

5.07.3 UPVC front door and frame; with low level threshold

,double glazed panel; furniture;covermoulds; sealant

with:

.

5.07.5 Two side lights. 1 nr 1300.00 1300.00

6.02 PLASTERING .

6.02.1 Hack off internal wall finishes, rake out joints for key. 10 m2 8.50 85.00

6.02.2 Plastering; dub out 13mm cement/lime mortar

undercoat, thistle plaster skim.

45 m2 25.00 1125.00

6.03 FLOORS .

Page 3 of 7Page 353



6.03.01 Remove existing non slip floor covering to new shower

rooms and cart away.

35 m2 5.00 175.00

6.03.02 Take up floor screed to area of ‘floor to gulley’shower,

cart away, prepare sub floor and provide and lay

waterproof cement/sand floor screed to falls.

35 m2 90.00 3150.00

6.03.02 Slip resistant floor finish, seamless vinyl sheet,Marley

Safetred Aqua’, ‘Altro Marine 20’ or similar‘ equal

approved on prepared base to shower area and new

extension .

70 m2 45.00 3150.00

6.03.03 Vinyl Skirting, cove former and captile. 88 m 25.00 2200.00

6.04 CEILINGS .

6.04.01 Modular suspended ceiling system ,600x600mm white

tiles/grid ,all to client's requirement.

58.00 m2 35.00 2030.00

6.05 DOORS .

6.05.02 Internal door sets, flush sapele door, softwood lining,

softwood stop; 2 sets 75 x 25 mm moulded softwood

architrave; furniture.

.

6.05.04 door size 838 x 1981 6 nr 220.00 1320.00

6.08.01 PAINTING AND DECORATING .

Apply 2 coats paint,matt finish to walls and ceilings. 270.00 m2 5.80 1566.00

GENERAL SHOWER ROOMS .

7.03.01 Supply and install shower head complete with control

valves …(PROVISIONAL)

25 nr 250.00 6250.00

7.04.70 150 mm x 150 mm BS white wall tiles to walls within

shower area fixed with approved waterproof adhesive

and grout.

79 m2 45.00 3555.00

Wash hand basin in vitreous china, complete 'with two

pillar taps, bead, chain waste and plug, bottle trap etc..

.

7.04.110 560 mm x 430 mm (Standard) 2 nr 245.00 490.00

7.04.113 W.C. suite including seat and connections. 1 nr 255.00 255.00

7.04.114 Extending 12 mm diameter copper hot and cold water

service to bathroom fittings, cuttings, bending and all

fittings. Provisional Quantity

30 m 16.00 480.00

10.00.00 CENTRAL HEATING (PROVISIONAL) .

10.01.04 Gas fired boiler complete with storage tank, 17

radiator system.

1 Item 8500.00 8500.00

Page 4 of 7Page 354



10.01.09 New incoming gas and electricity supply (from 

boundary of property only), excavate trench av. 750 

mm deep , sand bed backfill or cart away 

surplus,reinstate original finishes.

40 m 54.00 2160.00

10.01.10 Quotation required from Western Power/Wales & 

West Utilities for incoming gas & electricity supply, 

including all associated builder’s work.(Provisional)

1 item 5000.00 5000.00

11.00.00 ELECTRICAL INSTALLATION (PROVISIONAL) .

11.01.02 Rewire in accordance with the latest I.E.E. regulations .

11.01.03 Single lighting point, 1 switch. 8 nr 65.00 520.00

11.01.05 Single lighting point, 2 switches. 2 nr 80.00 160.00

11.01.07 Double socket outlet. 10 nr 85.00 850.00

11.01.12 Central heating circuit. 1 Item 120.00 120.00

11.01.14 Smoke alarm 4 nr 75.00 300.00

11.01.15 Insulated consumer unit with RCD (9 way) MCB's &

tails for mains connection.

1 Item 300.00 300.00

11.01.17 Bonding: primary and secondary service pipework &

bath.

1 Item 250.00 250.00

11.01.18 600x600mm recessed modular flourescent tube fitting

complete with CAT2 louvre.

10 nr 120.00 1200.00

11.01.20 External LED flood lights . 4 nr 85.00 340.00

11.01.20 Extra over for 100mm humidistat controlled fans to

shower and WC rooms.

6 nr 230.00 1380.00

11.01.21 Electrical Work: Provide the appropriate

test/completion certificate from an NICEIC or ECA

approved Contractor, for any electrical work carried

out in the grant schedule. Defects highlighted in that

report which are outside the scope of grant may not be

eligible for any further grant aid but merely advice for

the applicant.

.

12.00 OTHER WORKS (PROVISIONAL) .

Supply and fix new shelving/benching/hooks . 1 item 5000.00 5000.00

GENERAL INFORMATION

Z1 The information above is a summary of eligible work.

It is not a specification.

Z2 Work marked as "Provisional" must be discussed

and agreed with the client before commencing work. 

Page 5 of 7Page 355



Z3 It is assumed that all pvc windows and doors are all in

white colour.A black or gray colour scheme will attract

an extra 35% on materials only.

Z4 Extension rate exclude internal doors /skirting boards

or floor finishes.These items are shown separately.

Z5 All preliminaries ,overhead and profit margins are

included within the unit rate.

Z6 Concrete tiles has been allowed for the new pitched

roof to match existing.

Z7 Concrete footpath 1m wide has been allowed for

around the ground floor extension.This is included

within the extension rate.

Z8 Painting & decoration is not included in the new

extension rate  .This item is shown separately.

Subtotal £134,297.00

Contingency 15% 20144.55

Subtotal 154441.55

VAT 20% 0.00

Total £154,441.55

Page 6 of 7Page 356



Page 7 of 7Page 357



This page is intentionally left blank



                    CEFN CRIBWR RFC
                    C/O JON POWELL

                    CEFN CRIBWR

                    CF32 0BA

REFURBISHMENT OF FIRST TEAM PITCH

QUOTATION Date: Job No. 20-028

Allow to refurbish existing first team rugby pitch to 
improve drainage, soil structure and levels.

NOTES
i Program

Start date - Summer 2020
Site Works - 2 weeks
Playable - Autumn 2020

ii Pitch Size
Rugby Pitch 114m x 68m inc run-offs 7,752    m2

Total Pitch Plateau 7,752    m2
iii Existing Pitch Drainage

The pitch has an existing piped drainage system installed 
across the pitch at approximately 7m centres (layout 
indicated on extract below)

1.0 Preliminaries & Attendances
1.1 Prepare H&S information, allow for transport of all plant, 

labour and equipment. Accommodations costs for labour. As 
builts and O&M manuals. Contract and Site Management.

1           item 2,000.00     2,000.00       

1.2 Allow to clean and rod existing main drain to ensure in 
working order.

1           item 550.00        550.00          

SubTotal 2,550.00£        
2.0 Preparation Works
2.1 Allow to clean out base of existing grass sward to remove 

build up of organic matter. Use INSCAPES scarifying 
collector. Arisings to be tipped onsite.

7,752    m2 0.15            1,162.80       

SubTotal 1,162.80£        
3.0 Secondary Drainage

Note To get surface water into the existing drianage system 
allow to install a secondary drainage system in the form 
of deep sandslits.

3.1 Supply and install sandslits at 2m centres across the existing 
piped laterals. Using INSCAPES whizzwheel allow to 
excavate 50mm wide x 300mm deep slit trenches at 2m 
centres along the length of the pitch. Excavated spoil to be 
deposited onsite in agreed location for future use. Backfill 
slits with 200mm depth of 2-6mm drainage aggregate. Top to 
the surface with an approved medium fine sand. Ensure slits 
are firmed/compacted to avoid settlement.

3,876    Lin.m 2.75            10,659.00     

SubTotal 10,659.00£      

VALUE SUMMARY

08.07.20

ITEM DESCRIPTION QTY UNIT RATE

Heol Ffaldau, Brackla Ind Est, Bridgend, CF31 2XE
Tel: 01656 650 460 | reception@inscapes.org.uk

Page 1 of 2 08/07/2020Page 359



                    CEFN CRIBWR RFC
                    C/O JON POWELL

                    CEFN CRIBWR

                    CF32 0BA

REFURBISHMENT OF FIRST TEAM PITCH

QUOTATION Date: Job No. 20-028

VALUE SUMMARY

08.07.20

ITEM DESCRIPTION QTY UNIT RATE

Heol Ffaldau, Brackla Ind Est, Bridgend, CF31 2XE
Tel: 01656 650 460 | reception@inscapes.org.uk

4.0 Topdressing & Vertidrain
Note To start to improve levels and create a healthy grass 

sward allow to aerate the pitch and apply a topdressing 
of medium fine sand.

4.1 Vertidrain the area using 20mm solid tines, achieving a 
depth of +/-200mm.

7,752    m2 0.08            620.16          

4.2 Supply and spread medium fine sand over the pitch and 
dragmat/brush into surface.

100       tonnes 39.40          3,940.00       

SubTotal 4,560.16£        
5.0 Overseeding & Fertilising
5.1 Supply and spread pre seed fertiliser @ 50g/per m 7,752    m2 0.08            620.16          

5.2 Overseed with approved grass seed @ 45g/per m 7,752    m2 0.19            1,472.88       

SubTotal 2,093.04£        
6.0 Growing In & Maintenance

Note Allow to maintain the pitch for 3months following the 
above works to ensure growing in of pitchprior to first 
use.

6.1  Carry out first cut and roll following seeding. 1           no. 450.00        450.00          
6.2 Allow to cut & maintain grass height as required. 6           no 190.00        1,140.00       
6.3 Fertiliser - Allow to fertilise the area with suitable autumn 

feed as required. Rate at 50-60grms/m2
1           no 800.00        800.00          

SubTotal 2,390.00£        

Quotation Total 23,415.00£      
Plus VAT

OPTIONAL ITEMS/FUTURE OPERATIONS
7.0 Additional Secondary Drainage

Note To further improve the drainage and improve playability 
allow to install additional secondary drainage system. 
These can be installed a part of the above or at a later 
date.

7.1  Allow to install sandbands across the newly installed 
sandslits. Bands to be 150mm deep at 225mm centres, filled 
with medium fine sand. 

7,752    m2 1.25            9,690.00       

SubTotal 9,690.00£        
8.0 Annual End of Season Renovation

Note To ensure the pitch drainage and surface maintain 
suitable condition to ensure the pitch drainage works 
efficiently and protect the investment in the pitch it is 
important to clean out the grass sward, aerate, sand 
topdress and overseed annually.

8.1 Allow to clean out base of existing grass sward to remove 
build up of organic matter. Use INSCAPES scarifying 
collector. Arisings to be tipped onsite.

7,752    m2 0.15            1,162.80       

8.2 Vertidrain the area using 20mm solid tines, achieving a 
depth of +/-200mm.

7,752    m2 0.08            620.16          

8.3 Supply and spread medium fine sand over the pitch and 
dragmat/brush into surface.

100       tonnes 39.40          3,940.00       

8.4 Supply and spread pre seed fertiliser @ 50g/per m 7,752    m2 0.08            620.16          

8.5 Overseed with approved grass seed @ 45g/per m 7,752    m2 0.19            1,472.88       

SubTotal 7,816.00£        

Page 2 of 2 08/07/2020Page 360



                    CEFN CRIBWR RFC
                    C/O JON POWELL

                    CEFN CRIBWR

                    CF32 0BA

CONSTRUCTION OF SECOND TEAM PITCH

QUOTATION Date: Job No. 20-028

Allow to extend the existing pitch to create a 105m x 
65m pitch inc run-offs.

NOTES
i Program

Start date - Summer 2020
Site Works - 4 weeks
Playable - Autumn 2021

ii Pitch Size
Rugby Pitch 95m x 65m inc run-offs 6,175    m2

Total Pitch Plateau 6,175    m2
iii Existing Pitch 

The existing second team pitch/training area is 
approximately 70m x 60m, indicated with black dashed line. 
Proposed area overlaid in green.

1.0 Preliminaries & Attendances
1.1 Prepare H&S information, allow for transport of all plant, 

labour and equipment. Accommodations costs for labour. As 
builts and O&M manuals. Contract and Site Management.

1           item 2,500.00     2,500.00       

SubTotal 2,500.00£        
2.0 Earthworks 
2.1  Spray off existing grass sward and leave for 7 days. 6,175    m2 0.04            247.00          

2.2 Allow to strip topsoil bank at clubhouse end and set aside for 
re-use. Excavate subsoil to achieve suitable level for 
marrying in to main area. Subsoil to be stockpiled and 
landscaped onsite. Replace topsoil over the area.

2,000    m2 2.50            5,000.00       

2.2 Allow to cultivate/disc existing grass sward into full depth of 
topsoil.

6,175    m2 0.10            617.50          

2.3 Harrow and grade cultivated topsoil to provide suitable tilth 
for levelling

6,175    m2 0.15            926.25          

2.4 Level the new increased area to achieve even gradients. 6,175    m2 0.25            1,543.75       

SubTotal 8,334.50£        
3.0 Cultivation & Seeding
3.1 Allow to prepare the final surface using suitable tractor 

mounted implements to achieve uniform and even levels.
6,175    m2 0.22            1,358.50       

3.2 Supply and spread pre seed fertiliser @ 50g/per m 6,175    m2 0.08            494.00          

3.3 Sow approved grass seed @ 45g/per m 6,175    m2 0.19            1,173.25       

SubTotal 3,025.75£        

VALUE SUMMARY

08.07.20

ITEM DESCRIPTION QTY UNIT RATE

Heol Ffaldau, Brackla Ind Est, Bridgend, CF31 2XE
Tel: 01656 650 460 | reception@inscapes.org.uk

Page 1 of 3 08/07/2020Page 361



                    CEFN CRIBWR RFC
                    C/O JON POWELL

                    CEFN CRIBWR

                    CF32 0BA

CONSTRUCTION OF SECOND TEAM PITCH

QUOTATION Date: Job No. 20-028

VALUE SUMMARY

08.07.20

ITEM DESCRIPTION QTY UNIT RATE

Heol Ffaldau, Brackla Ind Est, Bridgend, CF31 2XE
Tel: 01656 650 460 | reception@inscapes.org.uk

4.0 Growing In & Maintenance
Note Plateau to be maintained during 12month growing in 

period.
4.1  Carry out first cut and roll following seeding. 1           no. 450.00        450.00          
4.2 Allow to cut & maintain grass height as required. 26         no 190.00        4,940.00       
4.3 Fertiliser - Allow to fertilise the area with suitable autumn, 

spring and summer feeds as required. Rate at 50-
60grms/m2

3           no 800.00        2,400.00       

4.4 Allow to aerate the grass sward by verti-draining. 3           visits 400.00        1,200.00       
4.5 Overseed the area 35grms/m2. 6,175    m2 0.16            988.00          

SubTotal 9,978.00£        

Quotation Total 23,838.25£      
Plus VAT

OPTIONAL ITEMS/FUTURE OPERATIONS
5.0 Primary Drainage

Note Assumes suitable positive drainage outfall available 
adjacent plateau.

5.1 Supply and install 100-160mm perforated main drains, 
minimum 600mm below finished level. Backfill to within 
150mm of surface with 2-6mm clean aggregate, use 
approved medium fine sand to surface. Drains to be installed 
to suitable partition up the site.

125       m 13.70          1,712.50       

5.2 Supply and install at 5m centres,  80mm perforated laterals, 
min 450mm depth, backfill to within 150mm of surface with 2-
6mm aggregate and to surface with approved medium fine 
sand.

1,235    m 8.90            10,991.50     

5.3 Supply and install lateral pipe junctions. 20         no 25.00          500.00          

5.4 Supply and install 600mm dia silt chambers c/w cast-iron 
cover and frame.

1           no. 580.00        580.00          

SubTotal 13,784.00£      
6.0 Topdressing & Secondary Drainage

Note Allow to ameliorate existing topsoil with suitable 
medium fine sand, and install a secondary drainage 
system.

6.1 Supply and spread 25mm of medium fine sand over newly 
spread topsoil, allow to mix into top 100mm of existing 
topsoil.

6,175    m2 1.85            11,423.75     

6.2 Supply and install sandslits at 2m centres across the piped 
laterals.

3,088    Lin.m 2.60            8,027.50       

SubTotal 19,451.25£      
7.0 Annual End of Season Renovation

Note To ensure the pitch drainage and surface maintain 
suitable condition to ensure the pitch drainage works 
efficiently and protect the investment in the pitch it is 
important to clean out the grass sward, aerate, sand 
topdress and overseed annually.

7.1 Allow to clean out base of existing grass sward to remove 
build up of organic matter. Use INSCAPES scarifying 
collector. Arisings to be tipped onsite.

6,175    m2 0.15            926.25          

7.2 Vertidrain the area using 20mm solid tines, achieving a 
depth of +/-200mm.

6,175    m2 0.08            494.00          

7.3 Supply and spread medium fine sand over the pitch and 
dragmat/brush into surface.

80         tonnes 39.40          3,152.00       

Page 2 of 3 08/07/2020Page 362



                    CEFN CRIBWR RFC
                    C/O JON POWELL

                    CEFN CRIBWR

                    CF32 0BA

CONSTRUCTION OF SECOND TEAM PITCH

QUOTATION Date: Job No. 20-028

VALUE SUMMARY

08.07.20

ITEM DESCRIPTION QTY UNIT RATE

Heol Ffaldau, Brackla Ind Est, Bridgend, CF31 2XE
Tel: 01656 650 460 | reception@inscapes.org.uk

7.4 Supply and spread pre seed fertiliser @ 50g/per m 6,175    m2 0.08            494.00          

7.5 Overseed with approved grass seed @ 45g/per m 6,175    m2 0.19            1,173.25       

SubTotal 6,239.50£        

Page 3 of 3 08/07/2020Page 363



This page is intentionally left blank



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

19 JANUARY 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR COMMUNITIES

BUS EMERGENCY SCHEME PHASE 2 ARRANGEMENTS

1. Purpose of Report.

1.1 The purpose of this report is to set out the wider context, background and reasons 
for the Bus Emergency Scheme (BES) and seek agreement for Bridgend County 
Borough Council (BCBC) to agree to the principles of the BES2 agreement and to 
establish a relationship with the regional lead authority and signatory that ensures 
that the ongoing emergency funding meets BCBC’s priorities and is delivered on 
BCBC’s behalf.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities.

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:-  

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that can 
help to deliver the Council’s wellbeing-objectives. 

3. Background.

3.1 Bus travel has been severely affected by the Covid-19 pandemic. Passenger 
numbers have plummeted, whilst social distancing and additional cleansing 
requirements have placed added burdens and costs on operators. 

3.2 Welsh Government (WG) and local authorities (LAs) have stepped in to support 
the sector with substantial financial assistance. There has also been an excellent, 
ongoing dialogue between all parties to discuss and agree on support 
arrangements. 

3.3 Prior to the pandemic, WG had consulted on a range of proposed changes to the 
way bus services are delivered in Wales. A Bus Bill was due to have been brought 
forward during the current Senedd term.  Pressures associated with not only Covid 
but also the large volume of legal work generated by Brexit and the transition 
period forced WG to postpone the planned legislation.

3.4 Due to the large amount of public funding that goes into bus services from WG 
and LAs, WG would like to see the public sector having greater influence over 
areas such as the networks of services provided, ticketing and integration with rail 
services. It also sees a greater role for Transport for Wales (TfW), which is now 
responsible for rail services in Wales.

Page 365

Agenda Item 18



3.5 This raises two issues: (i) short term survival of operators and (ii) longer term 
reform of the sector. WG believes that these two can be linked. In the short term, 
the funding being provided to keep operators afloat is therefore being provided 
with a number of conditions attached. These are to incentivise operators to 
engage in planned changes that are in line with their longer-term ambitions for 
reform.

3.6 The Minister of Economy and Transport and North Wales, Ken Skates MS, has 
met with Leaders of all 22 LAs, along with his officials, to outline WG’s direction of 
travel. Further details have been included in the Wales Transport Strategy (WTS) 
which has been the subject of consultation. More recently, the Deputy Minister, 
Lee Waters MS, met with all Leaders to discuss the WTS but also to encourage 
LAs to sign up to the Bus Emergency Scheme 2 (BES2). This is the latest phase 
of financial support to help operators through the period of the pandemic.

3.7 Leaders have agreed to establish a Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA) 
Bus Member Group, with a focus on the longer-term proposals to reform the 
sector’s operations. That group includes the WLGA Leader (who is also the 
WLGA’s Transport Spokesperson), the deputy Transport Spokesperson, the 
chairs of the four regional transport bodies and the co-chairs of the WLGA Rural 
Forum. That Member Group is due to meet with Lee Waters on 18th January 2021.

3.8 The problems facing operators were recognised at an early stage of the pandemic. 
Looking ahead, to secure their services for the future, LAs agreed to continue 
making payments for contracted services even though many services were initially 
suspended.

3.9 Alongside this, WG stepped in to help operators deal with reduced income on 
commercially operated routes and the additional costs being incurred. Initially, WG 
made £29m available from a Hardship Fund, which operated from April 2020 for 
three months. This fund was assembled from monies that would otherwise have 
been paid via Bus Services Support Grant (BSSG), Mandatory Concessionary 
Fare reimbursement and the ‘My Travel Pass’ scheme.

3.10 The Bus Emergency Scheme was then introduced in July to provide ongoing 
support. This became known as ‘BES 1’ and it continued to maintain operators’ 
income at historic levels, based on what was being paid to them under previous 
grant schemes. In return for this financial support WG signalled that it expected 
operators to contribute to a reshaping of bus services in Wales – to include 
improved regional networks with greater integration with rail services, smart 
ticketing and timetabling.

3.11 ‘BES 1.5’ was introduced in August, administered by the regional lead authorities 
through whom BSSG had been paid since 2013. In the case for the South East 
Wales Region the current lead authority is Monmouthshire County Council. BES 
1.5 funding provided £10m of so-called ‘ramp up funding’ to support the reopening 
of schools and economic activity. This funding helped to cover the cost of 
reinstating services suspended when travel restrictions associated with the 
pandemic were introduced, and which were needed to meet increasing demand, 
given capacity constraints of social distancing. BES 1.5 was then extended to the 
end of March 2021 following the announcement of a further support package in 

Page 366



September 2020. Operators were once again asked to sign up to a range of terms 
and conditions to access the BES funding.

3.12 WG, working with TfW, are now proposing to enter into a longer-term BES 2 
agreement with operators and LAs to protect services. It will operate for an initial 
maximum term of up to 2 years from the date BES 1.5 commenced (i.e. up until 31 
July 2022), unless market conditions recover sufficiently for an operator to no 
longer require BES support for any of its services whether they be contracted or 
commercial.

4. Current situation / proposal.

4.1 BES 2 will continue to address the loss of fare box revenue and the additional 
costs associated with responding to the pandemic. Under BES 2 the WG funding 
will sit alongside local authority funding provided through the Concessionary 
Travel Scheme and via Revenue Support Grant and the Bus Services Support 
Grant to make up the shortfall.  

4.2 WG will be a co-signatory to the BES 2 agreement with bus operators, along with 
TfW. This is currently still under discussion and may be subject to changes before 
it is finalised. LAs retain legal responsibilities for bus services and therefore 
remain central to determining which local services receive this support. They need 
to sign up to the principle of the agreement and the relationship with their Lead 
Authority, in ensuring that the ongoing emergency funding meets their priorities 
and is delivered on their behalf. 

4.3 This will provide the legal basis for WG to make payments to the operators. In this 
way, WG can use its powers to support operators, whereas the additional funding 
would breach LAs de minimis limits for direct award contracts (further details in the 
briefing note in Appendix 1 and the full proposed Agreement in Appendix 2). LAs 
will remain responsible for those services which they currently contract directly 
with bus operators. LAs will need to consider planning for contingencies, such as if 
the BES2 agreement is not signed or the level of funding for BES2 is reduced 
during the period of the agreement

4.4 Key features of BES 2 will be as follows:

 Maximum term until 31st July 2022 or until operators enter into an 
embedded partnership agreement 

 development and delivery of a Reference Network, intended to provide a 
range of benefits to communities; multi-operator ticketing; and operator 
sign-up to an Economic Contract at the heart of WG’s Economic Action 
Plan (and its principles of fair work, health, decarbonisation, skills and 
learning etc) 

 long term co-operation and co-ordination across TfW, LAs and operators by 
entering into partnerships with a clear set of obligations and shared 
standards

 one agreement per operator in each of the regions that they work in, signed 
by WG, TfW, a lead authority and the operator

 operators will be allowed to make a (capped) profit on services that has not 
been possible under emergency funding to date.

Page 367



4.5 Discussions are starting to take place in relation to the planning of future networks 
and the respective roles of WG, TfW, LAs and operators. It is important to note 
that these are not the prime focus of BES2 agreement. It will be vitally important 
for further detailed discussions to take place with Members on these matters. 
However, this is not a reason to delay the signing of the BES 2 agreement. WG 
does believe that the BES2 offer will help to engage operators in the discussions 
about the future at a time when their income is more dependent that ever on public 
sector support. In signing up to BES 2, though, LAs are agreeing to financial 
support being provided to the sector. They are not committing themselves to any 
specific, future model of bus service management as that will be the subject of       
further debate.

5. Effect upon Policy Framework & Procedure Rules.

5.1 There is no effect upon Policy Framework or Procedure Rules

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 There are no equality implications arising from this report 

7.0 Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Implications

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment Template 
has been completed and a summary of the implications from the assessment 
relating to the five ways of working is outlined below in respect of the proposal:

 Long-term
The intention is to provide emergency funding to bus operators that may 
otherwise see decline in public bus services. 

 Prevention
WG propose to support the bus industry due to declining patronage which 
may see an adverse impact on communities 

 Integration
Support of the bus network is seen to support improving accessibility to 
jobs and services across our regions and communities; supporting 
economic recovery; and ensuring social inclusion,

 Collaboration
The agreement is with WG, TfW, bus operators and LAs across Wales

 Involvement
The agreement is with WG, TfW, bus operators and LAs across Wales

8. Financial Implications.

8.1 The costs of BES2 is funded through WG to Monmouthshire County Council as 
lead authority.

8.2 In signing up to BES2, LAs are agreeing to financial support being provided to the 
bus sector.

Page 368



9. Recommendations.

It is recommended that Cabinet:

 Agree to the principles of the BES 2 agreement (Appendix 2) to secure 
(conditional) financial support for the bus sector and delegate authority to 
the Corporate Director –Communities to establish a relationship with the 
regional lead authority and signatory, that ensures that the ongoing 
emergency funding meets BCBC’s priorities and is delivered on its behalf.

 Receive a further report on bus reform proposals relating to the future 
management of bus services in Wales in due course. 

Janine Nightingale
Corporate Director – Communities
January 20210

Contact Officer: Kevin Mulcahy 
Group Manager: Highways and Green Spaces

Telephone: (01656) 642535

E-mail: kevin.mulcahy@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council, Communities Directorate, Angel
Street, Bridgend, CF31 4WB

Background documents: None

Page 369



This page is intentionally left blank



$o1bonr5i.docx Page 1 of 7

BUS EMERGENCY SCHEME PHASE 2 (BES 2) - BRIEFING NOTE FOR LOCAL AUTHORITIES

This summary sets out details of the proposed BES 2 arrangements.  The proposals, 
described under the following headings, are subject to ongoing discussions between local 
authorities, operators, Transport for Wales and Welsh Government:

Journey to Date and Plans for BES 2 ..........................................................................................1

What does BES 2 Mean for Local Authorities? ..........................................................................1

Why move to BES 2? .................................................................................................................3

What results are we trying to achieve with BES 2?....................................................................4

What does BES 2 mean for operators?......................................................................................5

What risks exist with the proposed approach?..........................................................................5

What changes from BES 1.5 to BES 2 and Beyond? ...................................................................6

Journey to Date and Plans for BES 2 
Since the start of the COVID 19 pandemic Welsh Government, Local Authorities, TfW and 
operators have worked together to make bus services available to Welsh citizens in spite of 
the significant reduction in passenger numbers and associated fare income.   Money is still 
being provided to operators on an emergency basis under the terms and conditions in the 
BES 1.5 agreement which expires at the end of March 2021.

With the BES 2 agreement the public sector is planning to enter into longer term 
arrangements with operators, ideally by the end of January 2021, which will replace BES 1.5 
from the point of signature.   

What does BES 2 Mean for Local Authorities?

Actively managing recovery from the impact of COVID-19 on local bus services
The BES 2 agreement formalises Welsh Government’s commitment to supporting recovery 
of bus services following the impact of COVID-19.  BES 2 funding will be used to address the 
loss of farebox revenue and the additional costs associated with responding to the COVID 19 
pandemic.  Welsh Government will be a co-signatory to the proposed BES2 agreement with 
bus operators 

Under the terms of the BES2 agreement, operators will be required to provide bus services 
that meet local needs under the direction of the Lead Authority for each region, working 
with and on behalf of its constituent local authorities.   

The end date for the BES2 contract is 31 July 2022.  This should allow enough time for 
revenues to recover.  The contract may be terminated earlier if market conditions mean 
that additional Government funding is no longer required to address the impact of COVID-
19. 

Page 371



$o1bonr5i.docx Page 2 of 7

Funding responsiblities
The BES 2 agreement exists to provide a legal basis for funding the costs associated with the 
impact of COVID 19.  These include the loss of farebox, duplication of buses to take account 
of social distancing or providing alternative services where operators give them up and the 
services are still needed.  This applies to services that were commercial pre-COVID and to 
tendered services.  

The BES2 agreement does not change local authorities’ ability to determine where and how 
they spend the Revenue Services Grant (RSG).  The RSG funding is not hypothecated and 
most local authorities spend an element of this grant on local bus service provision to fill 
gaps in the commercial network. BSSG (roughly £8m across Wales) is also used to secure the 
delivery of services to a specified standard.  

The BES2 funding for COVID19 related costs sits alongside this local authority funding for 
local bus services and does not remove or amend local authority powers and responsibilities 
with regard to local bus services.  The two funding streams serve different purposes.  Local 
authorities will still need to prioritise and fund local bus services where they see fit.  

Specifically: 
 if a local authority chooses to cease to fund a supported contract, BES 2 funding 

cannot be applied to backfill that loss of funding
 local authorities remain responsible for their existing contracts and may need to vary 

these contracts to scale back services if BES 2 funding were to cease before fare box 
takings return to pre-COVID levels, unless additional sources of funding are available.  

Directing the provision of services
Working with the Lead Authority in each region, local authorities will need to jointly 
prioritise the routes that BES 2 funding should be applied to, taking into account the work 
already undertaken under BES 1.5 and using these priorities for spend:

 supporting learners’ journeys to school or college on registered local bus services; 
 increasing frequencies where demand exceeds capacity; 
 improving accessibility to jobs and services across our regions and communities; 
 supporting economic recovery; and 
 ensuring social inclusion,

Under the terms of the BES2 contract, subject to the Lead Authority acting reasonably 
within the bounds of available funding, the bus operators will be required to provide 
services that meet local priorities as directed by the Lead Authority.  

The BES 2 arrangements include the collaborative development of regional Reference 
Networks by local authorities, operators, Welsh Government and TfW.  The Reference 
Networks will reflect local, regional and national priorities and will help to guide investment 
in bus services for the future.  BES2 ensures local authorities have an influence over the 
development of a coherent Reference Network which will ultimately be delivered by a mix 
of tendered and commercial services. 

Page 372



$o1bonr5i.docx Page 3 of 7

Implications for local bus contracts
The BES 2 agreements do not supersede the existing supported contracts (e.g. section 63 
contracts) that are in place between each local authority and bus operators.  The BES 2 
agreements sit alongside existing contracts and provide a legal basis for  the additional 
funding that operators are receiving in respect of their supported contracts to cover the loss 
of farebox and additional costs incurred, for example, with respect to complying with social 
distancing and cleaning requirements.  The BES 2 agreements also set out the basis on 
which operators will exit the BES arrangements and return to the original terms of contract.  

The additional funding that is being paid to operators to address the impact of the COVID 19 
pandemic would breach local authorities’ de minimis limits for direct award contracts.  
Welsh Government is a signatory to the existing BES 1.5 agreement and to the proposed BES 
2 agreement in order to use its powers to support continued provision of the operators’ 
services without breaching the de minimis cap.  Welsh Government powers in this regard 
can be exercised for a two year term and date from the start of the BES 1.5 agreement on 1 
August 2020 to 31 July 2022.  

BES can impact on local contract procurement. Where a local authority wishes to tender for 
a new or time expired supported contract the risks associated with predicting farebox 
revenue, during and immediately after the pandemic, will affect tender prices.  In these 
circumstances, bidders will be required to offer a price that they will charge while BES 
funding is in place and alternative prices for when BES funding is no longer available, with 
their tenders covering both before and after the farebox has returned to pre-COVID levels.

Regional Working 
BES2 supports the move to improve regional co-ordination and oversight of delivery of local 
bus services.  Under BES 1.5, the funding was distributed to the Lead Authority in each 
region.  Each operator signed one agreement with the Lead Authority in each region where 
it operates, with Welsh Government and Transport for Wales as co-signatories.  The Lead 
Authority is then responsible for distributing the BES funding to the operators in its region.   
It is proposed that this model is retained for the BES 2 agreement.  The responsibilities of 
each party will be clearly set out in the grant letter to the Lead Authority and in the BES 2 
agreement, and measures are being taken to minimise the risk to the Lead Authority 
relating to funding and termination of the BES2 agreement.  

Why move to BES 2?
The benefit for operators is that they will be able to make a profit under the terms of BES 2. 
No profit has been allowed in the emergency arrangements up to now.  

The benefit for the public sector is that we can jointly better manage the recovery of bus 
services.  The alternative is that, as recovery begins, operators will shrink their networks to 
the routes and services that are commercially viable for them leaving government to 
support an even larger subsidised network.  The BES 2 arrangements are seeking to ensure 
that operators are incentivised to support the recovery of the whole network and not just a 
limited number of commercial routes.  

Page 373



$o1bonr5i.docx Page 4 of 7

The public sector is taking farebox risk under BES 2 and, as farebox levels rise, this revenue 
will augment the funding available to work with operators to support the recovery of 
services.  This will benefit us all in the long term by building passenger confidence in a 
reliable and comprehensive public transport network.  

Although recovery from the impact of the COVID 19 on patronage is likely to be slow, we do 
not expect operators to stay within the BES 2 arrangements forever.  As passenger 
confidence returns and farebox recovers, we expect operators to exit the BES 2 
arrangements and work with us under partnership agreements.  The partnership 
agreements will be based on agreed core set of principles and behaviours that will be 
developed with operators as part of the BES 2 arrangements. 

What results are we trying to achieve with BES 2?
BES 2 provides a mechanism for managing the recovery and reshaping of bus services to 
respond to the impact of the COVID 19 pandemic.  Specifically:

 Address areas of high demand where social distancing has reduced available capacity

 Ensure that communities are not cut off due to low fare box revenues.  

 Offer new options for meeting demand such as demand responsive transport which 
may be more cost effective as patterns of travel change. 

 Offer better value for money for passengers by working with operators to rationalise 
their fare structures and develop multi operator ticketing, to the extent permitted by 
competition law.  

 Build a better working relationship with operators to develop a robust and viable 
network of services for the future.

 Gain a better understanding of the costs of delivering bus services in Wales to inform 
future policy and funding decisions

 Reduce pollution by introducing measures to attract people out of their cars and 
onto public transport and by working with the industry to upgrade their fleet.

Page 374



$o1bonr5i.docx Page 5 of 7

What does BES 2 mean for operators?
Where an operator signs up to the BES arrangements (whether BES 1, 1.5 or BES 2), all the 
services that the operator runs – whether they are supported or formerly commercial – are 
included in the contract.  

Each operator is expected to continue to operate routes that are largely similar to those 
which they operated pre-COVID, amended as necessary to respond to the crisis.  This helps 
to maintain stability in the short term and provides a framework for decision making e.g. if 
an operator chooses not to run services that they used to run before COVID a decision can 
be made to let a tender for those services if they are still required.  

Funding for the regional BES contracts will be a mix of existing sources and additional 
funding from Welsh Government, with operators being funded to cover all their allowable 
costs across all their services less their earnings from the fare box, concessionary fares, 
BSSG and YPT. 

What risks exist with the proposed approach?

Operators choose not to sign the BES 2 agreements and instead shrink their networks to the 
minimum required and/or reduce the quality of their services to make a commercial return.  
Mitigation – working with operators to address their concerns and ensure that all parties see 
this as a beneficial arrangement.  

The BES 2 arrangements breach competition, state aid or procurement law and are 
rendered invalid. Mitigation – working with lawyers to ensure that the terms are compliant 
with the law.

Operators challenge the local authority’s ability to let new contracts on routes where the 
operator has registered a commercial service.  Mitigation – the standards that will be 
specified as part of BES2 provide an objective way to defend the local authority’s right to let 
a supported contract where the service offered by the operator does not meet the specified 
standard.  Legal advice and guidance will be provided to local authorities to support this 
statement.   

Additional funding from Welsh Government beyond the end of March 2021 is yet to be 
confirmed. Mitigation – WG have committed additional funding from September 2020 to 
support local bus services and officials are working to secure further funding to support 
these key services beyond the 2020/21 budget horizon.   

Funding operators in this way is not cost effective and/or operators are not incentivised to 
be efficient.  Mitigation – use the data from operators to assess the cost effectiveness of the 
spend and shape contract terms to incentivise efficiency.  

Page 375



$o1bonr5i.docx Page 6 of 7

What changes from BES 1.5 to BES 2 and Beyond?
Activity BES 1.5 BES 2 Beyond BES 2 - Partnership
Services
Routes and 
frequencies 
operated

Operators offer routes of their 
choice together with ramp up 
services agreed with the Lead 
Authority following discussion with 
local authorities.

All services (supported and formerly 
commercial) to be formally specified 
by the Lead Authority, working with 
and on behalf their constituent local 
authorities.  

Services to return to either being 
commercially run by operators or 
under supported contracts subject to 
the Reference Network commitments 
below.  

Reference 
Network 

Not defined.  Parties to develop a target Reference 
Network, including routes and service 
frequencies, that reflects long term 
local, regional and national ambitions. 

All parties to work together to deliver 
target Reference Network where 
financially viable
Government to use target Reference 
Network to prioritise capital 
investment.

Data provision Operators providing financial and 
operational data to support 
passengers, payment and delivery

No change No change to operational data 
requirements.  Reduced financial data 
requirements for commercial services.

Finance
Funding 
principles

Additional BES funding (over and 
above historic BSSG, MCF and YPT) 
was distributed to each Lead 
Authority as a WG grant.  

Any additional BES funding (over and 
above historic BSSG, MCF and YPT) to 
be distributed to each Lead Authority 
as a WG grant.  

No additional BES funding.  Funding 
will be required to support investment, 
e.g. in infrastructure, to meet 
partnership obligations.  

Payments and 
Reconciliation

BES funding supports the cost of all 
services – both formerly 
commercial and tendered – less 
farebox and other revenue.  
0% margin.  

One change from BES 1.5 - 2% margin 
offered.  Subject to ongoing review.  

Operators earn margin from 
commercial services and through 
tendered services.  

P
age 376



$o1bonr5i.docx Page 7 of 7

Activity BES 1.5 BES 2 Beyond BES 2 - Partnership
Contract
Signatories Contracts signed by the operator, 

the Lead Authority in each region, 
Welsh Government and TfW.  

Same as BES 1.5. Same as BES 1.5.

Term Terminate on signature of BES 2 
agreement or end March 2021

Contract to be terminated if additional BES 
funding is not available or upon exit to BES 3 
or, at the latest, by 31 July 2022. 

Term for partnerships to be 
agreed.

Existing 
supported 
contracts

Operators receive a fixed 
percentage of original contract 
price plus BES top up funding via 
cost reconciliation

Contracts varied as required to reflect actual 
delivery and receipt or BES payments or 
terminated if no longer required. 

All local contracts return to 
operating under original terms.   

Letting new 
supported 
contracts

No action taken Guidance provided to ensure all bidders are 
given consistent information about available 
BES funding and that tenders are structured to 
manage current farebox risk.  

BES no longer a factor in letting 
new supported contracts  

Former 
commercial 
services

Contracted as part of the BES 1.5 
arrangements using Welsh 
Government powers.

Same as BES 1.5 Either become commercial or 
supported services or are no 
longer required.  

Commercial 
services

Assumption that receipt of BES 
funding means that the operator’s 
services are not commercial.

Services can start to become commercial 
under BES 2 but farebox and other revenue 
continues to be included in overall 
reconciliation under BES 2.

Commercial services to earn 
BSSG and MCF in accordance 
with prevailing regime but no 
BES payments. 
Commercial services to meet 
target Service Standards subject 
to viability.

P
age 377



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

DATED 2021 

 

 

 

 

(1) WELSH MINISTERS 

 

- and - 

 

(2) TRANSPORT FOR WALES 

 

- and – 

 

(3) [LEAD REGIONAL TRANSPORT AUTHORITY] 

 

- and – 

 

(4) [OPERATOR] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

AGREEMENT 

relating to 

Bus Emergency Scheme 2 in respect of the 

areas of the following [insert all Local 

Authorities in the Region] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 379



 

 

CONTENTS 

 

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION .............................................................................. 2 

2. SCOPE OF AGREEMENT ..................................................................................................... 10 

3. TERM ...................................................................................................................................... 11 

4. WELSH GOVERNMENT REQUIREMENTS ....................................................................... 11 

5. PARTNERSHIP ....................................................................................................................... 11 

6. SERVICE SPECIFICATION .................................................................................................. 12 

7. DATA PROVISION ................................................................................................................ 13 

8. REFERENCE NETWORK ...................................................................................................... 15 

9. PAYMENTS AND RECONCILIATION PROCESSES ......................................................... 16 

10. EXIT FROM BES 2 ................................................................................................................. 17 

11. TERMINATION ...................................................................................................................... 17 

12. EXISTING SUPPORTED SERVICES: GROSS COST ......................................................... 20 

13. EXISTING SUPPORTED SERVICES: NET COST .............................................................. 21 

14. REVERTING TO ORIGINAL CONTRACT TERMS FOR EXISTING SUPPORTED 

SERVICES ............................................................................................................................... 22 

15. SUPPORT FOR FORMER COMMERCIAL SERVICES ...................................................... 22 

16. COMMERCIAL SERVICES ................................................................................................... 23 

17. SERVICES TENDERED AFTER THE DATE OF THIS AGREEMENT ............................. 24 

18. SURVIVAL ............................................................................................................................. 25 

19. FUNDING AND CONSTRAINTS ......................................................................................... 25 

20. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS ............................................................................... 26 

21. CONFIDENTIALITY.............................................................................................................. 26 

22. DATA PROTECTION............................................................................................................. 27 

23. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION ........................................................................................... 28 

24. COMPETITION AND PROCUREMENT LAW .................................................................... 29 

25. DISPUTE RESOLUTION ....................................................................................................... 30 

26. CHANGE PROCEDURE ........................................................................................................ 31 

27. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY ............................................................................................... 31 

28. ASSIGNMENT ........................................................................................................................ 31 

29. AMENDMENT ....................................................................................................................... 32 

30. WAIVER ................................................................................................................................. 32 

31. NOTICES ................................................................................................................................. 32 

32. SEVERABILITY ..................................................................................................................... 33 

33. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS ........................................................................................................ 33 

34. ENTIRE AGREEMENT .......................................................................................................... 34 

Page 380



 

 

35. COUNTERPARTS .................................................................................................................. 34 

36. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION .......................................................................... 34 

SCHEDULE 1: WELSH GOVERNMENT REQUIREMENTS .......................................................... 36 

SCHEDULE 2: PARTNERSHIP THEMES ......................................................................................... 39 

Section 1: FORM OF UMBRELLA PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT ...................... 40 

SCHEDULE 3: COMPENSATION, PAYMENT AND RECONCILIATION .................................... 41 

Part 1: General and information provision ............................................................................... 41 

Part 2: Payment ........................................................................................................................ 41 

Part 3: Reconciliation ............................................................................................................... 42 

Part 4: Compensation ............................................................................................................... 44 

Section 1: INFORMATION TO BE PROVIDED BY THE OPERATOR................. 46 

Section 2: INADMISSABLE COSTS ........................................................................ 48 

SCHEDULE 4: DATA REQUIREMENTS .......................................................................................... 51 

Part 1: Financial Data Requirements ....................................................................................... 51 

Part 2: Operational Data Requirements ................................................................................... 52 

Part 3: Permitted Use ............................................................................................................... 54 

Part 4: Public Sector Data Access and Confidentiality ............................................................ 55 

SCHEDULE 5: FUNDING REVIEW .................................................................................................. 56 

SCHEDULE 6: FORM OF SERVICE SPECIFICATION ................................................................... 58 

SCHEDULE 7: TEMPLATE REGISTER OF VARIATIONS ............................................................ 59 

 

 

Page 381



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 1 

THIS AGREEMENT is made on  2021 

BETWEEN:  

(1)  WELSH MINISTERS ("Welsh Government");  

(2)  TRANSPORT FOR WALES of 3 Llys Cadwyn, Pontypridd, Wales, CF37 4TH ("TfW"); 

(3) [LEAD REGIONAL TRANSPORT AUTHORITY] of [address] acting for and on behalf of 

[List names of Constituent Local Authorities] ("Lead Authority"); and 

(4)  [OPERATOR] of [address] registered in England and Wales with company number [number] 

("Operator"), 

 (together the "Parties"). 

BACKGROUND:  

A Welsh Government has been taking action to help bus operators in Wales, including the 

Operator, get through the inevitable uncertainty of the COVID-19 affected operating 

conditions, and that such action has enabled the Operator to continue provision of services 

which could not have been provided by the Operator without this financial support since March 

2020.  The Operator further acknowledges that the provision of this support has enabled the 

Operator to retain customers and a network of services which may otherwise have been lost or 

reduced significantly, and that this will support the Operator’s business in recovering following 

relaxation of rules on social distancing and other factors which affect bus travel at the date of 

this Agreement. 

B Funding has been provided by the Welsh Government to bus operators in Wales pursuant to the 

Bus Hardship Funding letter dated 2 April 2020, the Bus Emergency Scheme 1 letter ("BES 

1") and Bus Emergency Scheme 1.5 letter ("BES 1.5") which provided money to bus operators 

(including the Operator) through the Lead Authority on behalf of its Constituent Local 

Authorities.  Those letters set out conditions to the Operator receiving such funding (together 

the "Previous BES Funding Arrangements").  

C In continuing to provide Bus Emergency Scheme funding, Welsh Government wish to move to 

a lasting partnership between bus operators and the public sector.  Working together will enable 

a fundamental reshaping of Wales’ local bus services, through a new approach to managing 

services, sharing data and information and establishing standards for routes, services, fares and 

tickets to meet the needs of passengers in a world affected by COVID-19, climate change, new 

transport choices and changes to working patterns.   

D It is intended that funding provided under this new BES 2 agreement ("Agreement") will 

ensure that support provided to bus operators is more directly aligned with the provision of bus 

services that meet with the aim of supporting the management and interaction across transport 

modes including smart ticketing, unified routing, integrated timetabling and will do this both 

by Welsh Government funding pursuant to section 7 Transport (Wales) Act 2006 to support the 

provision of public service obligations by operators reflecting the services agreed by the public 

sector to continue to be provided by the operators (including both supported and formerly 

commercial services) and the parties also agreeing a framework for long term partnership which 

will continue to cover both supported and commercial bus services into the future.   

E Welsh Government and Transport for Wales have agreed to: (i) consult with bus operators 

before making policy changes which affect or are impacted by local bus services and give full 

Page 382



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 2 

consideration to the views expressed, consistent with their duties under the Well-being of  

Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015; (ii) ensure funding arrangements are clear, 

communicated and executed in a timely fashion; (iii) recognise and take account, wherever 

possible in designing policy for bus regulation of the real costs of operating services, bus 

provision and employee matters; and (iv) ensure requests for information to bus operators are 

targeted, minimise unnecessary burdens on operators and involve no more work than is required 

to achieve the relevant purposes.   

F This Agreement is intended to provide a step in ensuring that services and funding are aligned, 

whilst providing a framework for development of future partnership working between the 

public sector and bus operators, which can be built upon over the coming years, including to 

secure co-production in the design and delivery of bus transport services.  In particular: (i) 

Welsh Government and TfW shall engage fully and openly with bus operators in the 

development of the National Transport Delivery Plan, including policies for the delivery of zero 

carbon bus fleets and for the development of interventions to improve bus journey times 

through tackling congestion; and (ii) the Constituent Local Authorities shall take action to 

enhance highways infrastructure, bus facilities and service information, subject to the 

availability of funding.   

G The Parties acknowledge that the contribution of the Welsh Government, TfW and local 

government to delivering quicker, more reliable and predictable services through traffic and 

congestion reduction and the introduction and improvement of bus priority is crucial to the 

successful delivery of bus services. 

H As a result this Agreement includes specific requirements in respect of the continued funding 

and provision of services including specifying the terms of an umbrella partnership arrangement 

between the Parties, other bus operators and the Lead Authority (on behalf of Constituent Local 

Authorities in the Region and other Local Authorities affected by the partnership) to support 

Welsh Government’s wider objectives. 

I The Parties acknowledge that this Agreement includes a reconciliation process which shall take 

into account the costs and revenues from all Local Services provided by the Operator, including 

Supported Services, Formerly Commercial Services and Commercial Services. For the 

avoidance of doubt, the assessment of whether the Operator has been over or under 

compensated and the calculation of any margin due shall be based on the net position on costs 

and revenues across all the Operator’s Local Services.   

J It is acknowledged that this Agreement is not intended to amend the basis of payments of BSSG 

and Concessionary Travel Scheme which shall continue to be paid in accordance with their 

terms subject to any future reform of such payments with Welsh Government may undertake.  

IT IS AGREED:  

1. DEFINITIONS AND INTERPRETATION 

In this Agreement: 

1.1 Unless the context otherwise requires, the following expressions shall have the meanings set 

out below: 

"ADR Notice" has the meaning given to it in clause 25.4; 

"Agreement" has the meaning given to it in Recital D; 

Page 383



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 3 

"Alternate Lead 

Authority" 

means each of [Flintshire County Council], [Monmouthshire 

County Council], [Swansea Council], [Ceredigion County 

Council], and [Powys County Council] which may be 

appointed to assist with disputes in accordance with clause 6.7; 

[Note: delete Lead Authority from this list.] 

"BES 1" has the meaning given to it in Recital B; 

"BES 1.5" has the meaning given to it in Recital B; 

"BES 2 Funding" means funding provided by the Welsh Government to the 

operators in Wales pursuant to the terms of this Agreement; 

"BES Funding Period" means the period of the BES Previous Funding and the BES 2 

Funding; 

"BES Previous Funding" means funding provided by the Welsh Government to 

operators in Wales pursuant to the Previous BES Funding 

Arrangements;  

"BSSG" means Bus Services Support Grant awarded to a Lead 

Authority by Welsh Government to support and maintain the 

core strategic bus network, improve connectivity and quality, 

provide certain bus and other local transport services, and 

develop close and effective partnership working;  

"Change in Covid-19 

Impact Event" 

means any new event or circumstances (or change to event or 

circumstances) which occurs following the Effective Date 

which arise as a direct result of the COVID-19 Virus and 

which adversely impacts the Operator’s ability to perform its 

obligations under this Agreement including but not limited to 

the introduction of lockdown measures, travel restrictions or 

amended social distancing measures in the United Kingdom; 

"CMA" means the Competition and Markets Authority of Victoria 

House, Southampton Row, London WC1B 4AD; 

"Commercially Sensitive" means in relation to a Disclosing Party that the disclosure of 

such information is either a trade secret or if disclosed would 

prejudice the commercial interests of that Party, and shall 

include any Operator Information identified as Commercially 

Sensitive in Part 4 of Schedule 4; 

"Commercial Service" means a Local Service which a bus operator provides on a 

commercial basis and not pursuant to any Existing Supported 

Services Contract or New Supported Services Contract; 

"Confidential 

Information" 

means, in relation to a Disclosing Party: 

(a) information of whatever nature concerning the 

business, assets, liabilities, dealings, transactions, 

policies or affairs of the Disclosing Party including 

all trade secrets, financial, marketing and technical 

information, ideas, concepts, technology, processes, 

Page 384



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 4 

knowledge and know-how, together with all details 

of a Disclosing Party’s, customers, suppliers, prices, 

discounts, margins, information relating to research 

and development, current trading performance and 

future policy or business strategy and all other 

information of a like nature; and 

(b) any information which is expressly indicated to be 

confidential or commercially sensitive or which, due 

to the nature and circumstances of its disclosure or its 

content might reasonably be considered to be 

confidential (whether or not marked as such), 

in each case in whatever form or medium (including written, 

electronic, visual and oral) such information is recorded or 

kept and whether or not created for the purpose of entering into 

this Agreement or otherwise, and shall include, for the 

avoidance of doubt, any Operator Data identified as 

Confidential Information in Part 4 of Schedule 4; 

"Constituent Local 

Authorities" 

means a group of local authorities in Wales who are working 

together and are represented by the Lead Authority (and 

"Constituent Local Authority" shall be construed 

accordingly); 

"COVID-19"  means the virus identified and named "COVID-19 virus" by 

the World Health Organisation which was characterised as a 

pandemic by the Word Health Organisation on 11 March 

2020; 

"Data Protection Laws" means the EU General Data Protection Regulation 2016/679 

of the European Parliament and of the Council ("GDPR") and 

the Data Protection Act 2018, together with the Privacy and 

Electronic Communication Regulations 2003 and all codes of 

practice issued by the Information Commissioner; 

"Defaulting Party" means a Party who commits a material breach of its obligations 

under this Agreement; 

"de minimis contracts" means Local Services contracts entered into pursuant to 

section 63 of the Transport Act 1985 which have been 

procured on a direct award basis to secure the provision of such 

public transport services as are considered appropriate to meet 

any public transport requirements which would not otherwise 

be met,  pursuant to the exceptions allowed under section 91 

Transport Act 1985 by the Service Subsidy Agreements 

(Tendering) Regulations 1985 as amended; 

"Disclosing Party" means a Party that discloses Confidential Information to one 

or more Receiving Parties under this Agreement; 

Page 385



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 5 

"Dispute" means a dispute or difference arising out of or in connection 

with this Agreement or any such matter which a Party deems 

(acting reasonably) to constitute a dispute; 

"Economic Contract"  has the meaning given to it in the Welsh Government 

"Prosperity for All - Economic Action Plan"; 

"Effective Date" means the date of this Agreement; 

"EIR" means the Environmental Information Regulations 2004; 

"Existing Supported 

Services" 

means any Local Services operated pursuant to the terms of an 

Existing Supported Services Contract; 

"Existing Supported 

Services Contracts" 

means contracts for the provision of Local Services in Wales 

by the Operator that were entered into before the Effective 

Date pursuant to: 

a) terms let by or on behalf of the Welsh Government 

pursuant to section 7 of the Transport (Wales) Act 

2000;  

b) contract terms let by one or more local transport 

authority pursuant to section 63 of the Transport Act 

1985 (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any de 

minimis contracts); or 

c)  any other contract let by one or more local transport 

authorities in accordance with sections 89 – 92 of the 

Transport Act 1985; 

"FOIA" means the Freedom of Information Act 2000; 

"Force Majeure Event" means any event or occurrence (including fire, flood, violent 

storm, pestilence, explosion, malicious damage, act of 

terrorism, epidemic, pandemic, any industrial action by the 

workforce of an affected Party or by the workforce of a critical 

or key supplier, armed conflict, acts of terrorism, nuclear, 

biological or chemical warfare, or any other disaster, natural 

or man-made) which: 

a) without prejudice to the operation of clause 11.6, the 

affected Party could not reasonably have provided 

against before entering into this Agreement; 

 

b) materially adversely affects the ability of a Party to 

perform its obligations (in whole or in part) under this 

Agreement;  

c) which is outside the reasonable control of an affected 

Party;  

d) having arisen, could not reasonably be avoided or 

overcome by the affected Party; 

Page 386



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 6 

 

e) occurs in the United Kingdom; and  

 

f) is not attributable to any act or failure to take 

reasonable preventative action by an affected Party; 

"Former Commercial 

Services" 

has the meaning given to it in clause 15.1; 

"Funding Review(s)" means the review carried out in accordance with Schedule 5; 

"Good and Efficient 

Operator" 

has the meaning given to it in Section 1 to Schedule 3;  

"Gross Cost Contract" means a contract whereby the procuring authority retains the 

right to receipt of passenger revenue and therefore carries the 

financial risk in respect of the level of passenger revenue 

received in respect of services provided under such contract; 

"Historic" means up to 1 March 2019; 

"Insolvent Party" has the meaning given to it in clause 11.3; 

"Intellectual Property 

Rights" 

means patents, rights to inventions, copyright and related 

rights, trademarks and service marks, business names and 

domain names, rights in get-up and trade dress, goodwill and 

the right to sue for passing off or unfair competition, rights in 

designs, rights in computer software, database rights, rights to 

use, and protect the confidentiality of, confidential information 

(including know-how and trade secrets) and all other 

intellectual property rights, in each case whether registered or 

unregistered and including all applications and rights to apply 

for and be granted, renewals or extensions of, and rights to 

claim priority from, such rights and all similar or equivalent 

rights or forms of protection which subsist or will subsist now 

or in the future in any part of the world; 

"Lead Authority" means a local authority in Wales acting as the Lead Regional 

Transport Authority for one or more of its Constituent Local 

Authorities; 

"Lead Authority Dispute" means a Dispute which involves the Lead Authority and may 

therefore be resolved in accordance with clause 25.3; 

"Legislation" means any Act of Parliament or subordinate legislation within 

the meaning of Section 21(1) of the Interpretation Act 1978, 

any Welsh law within the meaning given to it in section 1(3) 

of the Legislation (Wales) Act 2019, any exercise of the Royal 

Prerogative, and any enforceable EU right within the meaning 

of Section 2 of the European Communities Act 1972 (as 

amended), in each case in the United Kingdom; 

Page 387



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 7 

"Local Service" has the meaning given to it in the section 2 of the Transport 

Act 1985 and for the avoidance of doubt, this shall not include: 

services which are not registrable pursuant to section 6 of the 

Transport Act 1985, including any services which are provided 

where a railway service is temporarily interrupted under 

section 40 Railways Act 2005; 

"Net Cost Contract" means a contract whereby the operator retains all passenger 

revenue and takes the risk in respect of the level of passenger 

revenue received in respect of services provided under such 

contract;  

"New Supported Services" means any Local Service operated pursuant to the terms of a 

New Supported Services Contract; 

"New Supported Services 

Contract" 

means contracts for the provision of Local Services in Wales 

by the Operator that were entered into after the Effective Date 

pursuant to: 

a) terms let by or on behalf of the Welsh Government 

pursuant to section 7 of the Transport (Wales) Act 

2000;  

b) contract terms let by one or more local transport 

authority pursuant to section 63 of the Transport Act 

1985 (including, for the avoidance of doubt, any de 

minimis contracts); or 

c)  any other contract let by one or more local transport 

authorities in accordance with sections 89 – 92 of the 

Transport Act 1985; 

"New Supported Services 

Contract Tendering 

Assumptions" 

has the meaning given to it in clause 17.3; 

"Operator Data" means Operator data required to be provided under this 

Agreement which are confidential or commercially sensitive 

to the Operator as identified in Part 4 of Schedule 4; 

"Operator Group 

Companies"  

means the Operator and any subsidiary, holding company or 

subsidiary of any holding company of the Operator or any 

other company or structure established by the owners of the 

Operator and "Operator Group Company" shall be 

construed accordingly;  

"Part 1 Competition Test" means the test for making and varying quality partnership 

schemes, making and varying ticketing schemes, and inviting 

and accepting tenders under section 89 or 91 of the Transport 

Act 1985 (subsidised services) as set out in Schedule 10, Part 1 

to the Transport Act 2000 as modified; 

Page 388



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 8 

"Part 2 Competition Test" means the test for certain agreements, decisions and practices 

as set out in Schedule 10, Part 2 to the Transport Act 2000 as 

modified; 

"Permitted Use" means the use of data for any purpose specified in Part 3 of 

Schedule 4; 

"Personal Data Disclosing 

Party" 

has the meaning given to it in clause 22.3; 

"Personal Data Receiving 

Party" 

has the meaning given to it in clause 22.3; 

"Previous BES Funding 

Arrangements" 

has the meaning given to is in Recital B; 

"Priorities" has the meaning given to it in clause 6.2; 

"Procurement 

Programme" 

has the meaning given to it in clause 17.2; 

"Public Sector Parties" means Welsh Government, TfW and each Lead Authority 

acting for its Constituent Local Authorities and "Public 

Sector Party" shall be construed accordingly;  

"Quality Partnership 

Schemes" or "QPS" 

means a quality partnership scheme as specified in section 

114(1) Transport Act 2000; 

"Receiving Party" means a Party which receives Confidential Information from a 

Disclosing Party; 

"Reconciliation Payment" has the meaning given to it in clause 9.5; 

"Reference Network" means: 

a) the initial reference network in accordance with 

clause 8.1; and 

b) the developed reference network, developed in 

accordance with the provisions of clauses 8.2 to 8.6 

as it may be varied from time to time; 

"Region" means the geographical area for which the Lead Authority and 

its Constituent Local Authorities are responsible; 

"Register of Variations" means a register for each Region, specific to the Operator, 

detailing each service contract, the agreed variation to the 

specific service, which has been reviewed and signed by the 

relevant Constituent Local Authority, the form appended at 

Schedule 7; 

"Regulation 1370/2007" means Regulation (EC) No 1370/2007 of the European 

Parliament and of the Council of 23 October 2007 on public 

passenger transport services by rail and by road as amended, 

Page 389



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 9 

including, but not limited to, by the Regulation (EC) No 

1370/2007 (Public Service Obligations in Transport) 

(Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2020; 

"Request for Information" shall have the meaning set out in the FOIA or any apparent 

request for information under the FOIA; 

"Service Failure Points" or 

"SFPs" 

has the meaning given to it in Part 4 of Schedule 3; 

"Services" has the meaning given to it in clause 2.1; 

"Service Payment" has the meaning given to it in clause 9.1; 

"Service Specification" means the specification to which the Operator agrees to 

provide Local Services as determined in accordance with 

clause 6, including but not limited to, compliance with the 

requirements of Schedule 1; 

"Service Standards" means the service standards which will apply to different 

classifications of routes across Wales, developed in 

accordance with clause 8.6; 

"State Aid and 

Procurement Constraints" 

has the meaning given to it in clause 19.2; 

"Subsidised Network" has the meaning given to it in clause 8.3; 

"Term" has the meaning given to it in clause 3.1; 

"Umbrella Partnership 

Agreement" 

means the framework voluntary partnership agreement agreed 

in accordance with clause 5;  

"VPA" means a voluntary partnership agreement as described in 

section 46 of the Local Transport Act 2008, amending section 

153(2) of the Transport Act 2000; 

"Wales Transport 

Strategy"  

means the draft strategy for the future of transport in Wales, 

setting out Welsh Government’s ambitions for the next twenty 

(20) years and their priorities for the next five (5) years in the 

form of the consultation document published here: 

https://gov.wales/llwybr-newydd and developed during the 

Term; 

"Welsh Bus Open Data 

Agreement" 

means the agreement to be entered into between (1) TfW and 

(2) the Operator in relation to the Operator providing certain 

data to TfW which will enable TfW to build a consistent data 

set for all services in Wales to improve services for passengers; 

and  

"Working Days"  means any day of the week other than a Saturday, Sunday or 

Bank Holiday.  

 

Page 390

https://gov.wales/llwybr-newydd


 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 10 

1.2 the Schedule(s) form part of this Agreement and will have the same force and effect as if set 

out in the body of this Agreement and any reference to this Agreement shall include the 

Schedule(s); 

1.3 references to clauses or paragraphs appearing in the main body of this Agreement are, except 

where expressly stated to the contrary, references to clauses and paragraphs of this Agreement; 

1.4 references to any part or paragraph appearing within a Schedule are, except where expressly 

stated to the contrary, references to such part or paragraph of that Schedule; 

1.5 references to this Agreement are references to this Agreement as varied, assigned and/or 

novated in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement from time to time; 

1.6 references to any other agreement or document are to such agreement or document as varied, 

assigned or novated from time to time; and  

1.7 any reference to any Legislation will include any subordinate legislation made under it and will 

be construed as a reference to such Legislation as modified, amended, extended, consolidated, 

re-enacted and/or replaced and in force from time to time. 

2. SCOPE OF AGREEMENT 

2.1 This Agreement shall apply in respect of all Local Services provided by the Operator in the 

Region, including: 

2.1.1 Existing Supported Services; and 

2.1.2 Former Commercial Services; 

2.1.3 Commercial Services; and 

2.1.4 New Supported Services, 

(together the "Services").  

2.2 Where and to the extent any Existing Supported Services are provided by the Operator pursuant 

to an Existing Supported Services Contract which is a Gross Cost Contract, clause 12 shall 

apply.  

2.3 Where and to the extent any Existing Supported Services are provided by the Operator pursuant 

to an Existing Supported Services Contract which is a Net Cost Contract, clause 13 shall apply. 

2.4 Where and to the extent any Local Service provided by the Operator is a Former Commercial 

Service the provisions of clause 15 shall apply in respect of Former Commercial Services. 

2.5 Where and to the extent any Local Service provided by the Operator is a Commercial Service, 

clause 16 shall apply to the Operator in respect of the provision of those services.  

2.6 Where and to the extent any Local Service provided by the Operator is provided pursuant to a  

New Supported Services Contract let by a Lead Authority or one of its Constituent Local 

Authorities after the date of this Agreement the provisions of clause 17 shall apply.  

2.7 Where any provision of this Agreement is specified as being carried out by one Public Sector 

Party pursuant to this Agreement, the Public Sector Parties may agree that a representative of 

Page 391



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 11 

another Public Sector shall be able to exercise such rights or may be required to carry out such 

function or obligation, provided that prior to such exercise, the Public Sector Parties shall 

jointly notify the Operator of such change of responsibility, and the party originally subject to 

such obligation shall notify the Operator of the basis upon which the new Public Sector Party 

is entitled to exercise the relevant powers. To the extent that this clause relates to the discharge 

of a statutory duty, the performance of such duty shall not be carried out by another Public 

Sector Party pursuant to this clause 2.7, save to the extent expressly agreed by such Public 

Sector Parties or in the event where TfW is performing such duties on behalf of the Welsh 

Government. 

2.8 It is acknowledged that the Operator and Operator Group Companies may choose to change the 

way that they provide Local Services.  Notwithstanding this, it is acknowledged by the Operator 

that this Agreement is entered into in respect of all Local Services provided by the Operator in 

the Region, and the Operator shall procure that, where there is any change in the operation of 

such services, that any alternative Operator Group Company providing such Local Services 

shall enter into an agreement on equivalent terms with the Public Sector Parties, and where and 

to the extent that they do not, or where any other action is taken by the Operator or any Operator 

Group Company to seek to provide services which are the same or similar to Local Services 

provided by the Operator in the Region outside the terms of this Agreement, the Operator shall 

indemnify the Public Sector Parties against all costs, losses, expenses and claims arising from 

the Local Services or services similar to the Local Services (including Commercial Services) 

being provided by the Operator or an Operator Group Company in a manner not subject to the 

provisions of this Agreement or an agreement on equivalent terms.    

3. TERM 

3.1 This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and shall continue until 31 July 2022 

(being the date falling two (2) years after the start date of BES 1.5), unless terminated earlier 

in accordance with the terms of this Agreement ("Term"). 

4. WELSH GOVERNMENT REQUIREMENTS 

4.1 As a condition of receipt of BES 2 Funding, the Operator shall comply with Welsh 

Government’s minimum funding requirements as specified in Schedule 1.  

4.2 Where the Operator is in material breach of any condition contained in Schedule 1 and the 

Operator fails to remedy such material breach (such remedy to include taking all reasonable 

steps to ensure that such breach is not repeated) within ten (10) Working Days of notification 

(or such other period of time as is reasonable given the nature of the breach and the steps 

required to remedy such breach), then the Operator shall pay compensation to the Lead 

Authority, pursuant to the process and calculated in accordance with Schedule 3.    

4.3 The Operator shall maintain adequate insurances to cover against the risks which may be 

expected to arise in connection with the delivery of their obligations under this Agreement, 

including, but not limited to, insuring all property required to perform such obligations.  The 

Operator shall provide the Lead Authority with proof of such insurances promptly upon request. 

5. PARTNERSHIP 

5.1 The Operator shall use reasonable endeavours to agree the terms of an Umbrella Partnership 

Agreement, within three (3) months from the Effective Date and in the form of the draft 

agreement included at Section 1 of Schedule 1 with: 

Page 392



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 12 

5.1.1 the Lead Authority (on behalf of Constituent Local Authorities in the Region and 

other Local Authorities affected by the partnership); 

5.1.2 TfW; 

5.1.3 Welsh Government; and 

5.1.4 other bus operators in the Region. 

5.2 The Lead Authority, Welsh Government and TfW shall use reasonable endeavours to agree the 

terms of the Umbrella Partnership Agreement with the Operator and other bus operators in the 

Region. 

5.3 The Parties acknowledge that that Umbrella Partnership Agreement shall provide a framework 

for development of detailed partnerships in the Region including, where appropriate, VPAs and 

QPS, and shall include as a minimum terms which:  

5.3.1 establish a partnership board which shall govern the partnership, set strategy and 

objectives of the partnership, monitor and report on the performance of the 

partnership and resolve disputes; 

5.3.2 define the parties’ obligations in respect of the continued delivery of the Wales 

Transport Strategy which may be in the form of transport plans which set out 

implementation dates, or processes to agree such plans, including, but not limited 

to those matters specified in Schedule 2; 

5.3.3 define obligations with respect to the Reference Network in accordance with 

clause 8; 

5.3.4 establish key performance indicators;  

5.3.5 invest in provision of Local Services; 

5.3.6 confirm review processes for the partnership using annual reviews and/or change 

procedures;  

5.3.7 rectify a breach of the terms of the Umbrella Partnership Agreement; and  

5.3.8 terminate the Umbrella Partnership Agreement.  

6. SERVICE SPECIFICATION 

6.1 From the Effective Date, the Operator shall operate its Local Services as it did under the terms 

of the BES 1.5, unless agreed otherwise with the Lead Authority prior to the Effective Date.  

6.2 The Operator shall consult and agree with the Lead Authority and each Constituent Local 

Authority in whose area a Local Service operates by the Effective Date or by no later than thirty 

(30) days of the Effective Date, the specification of the services (including routes, frequencies 

and hours of operation) that the Operator shall provide.  In determining the specification of the 

services the Parties shall have regard to: 

6.2.1 supporting learners’ journeys to school or college on registered local bus services;  

6.2.2 increasing frequencies where demand exceeds capacity;  

Page 393



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 13 

6.2.3 improving accessibility to jobs and services across our regions and communities;  

6.2.4 supporting economic recovery; and  

6.2.5 ensuring social inclusion, 

(together the "Priorities"), 

 

provided  that the services shall be affordable within the BES 2 Funding allocated to the 

Operator in accordance with the terms of this Agreement.  

 

6.3 The agreed Service Specification will be recorded in the form appended at Schedule 6 and shall 

be updated with any changes, agreed from time to time and subject to being deliverable within 

the BES 2 Funding provided to the Operator pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.   

6.4 The Operator shall act in good faith to discuss and agree with the Lead Authority and the 

relevant Constituent Local Authorities any changes in the Local Services required at regular 

intervals as agreed by the Parties, to ensure that the Local Services continue to meet local needs.   

6.5 The Operator shall take all reasonable steps to respond and comply promptly with reasonable 

requests from the Lead Authority to amend the Local Services operated including: 

6.5.1 the routes used by those services; 

6.5.2 the hours of operation; 

6.5.3 the vehicles used or levels of provision; and  

6.5.4 the timetables of such services. 

6.6 If, in exceptional circumstances, the Operator cannot reach agreement with the Lead Authority 

and any Constituent Local Authority on the Local Services to be operated in accordance with 

clause 6.4, then the Operator shall seek to agree the reasonable level of services to be provided 

with the Lead Authority who shall act reasonably to determine an appropriate service 

requirement in the context of the BES 2 Funding available and the requirements of the Lead 

Authority and the relevant Constituent Local Authority, and where such agreement is reached, 

these service requirements shall apply.   

6.7 Where following discussion with the Lead Authority in accordance with clause 6.6, agreement 

can still not be reached with the Operator then either party may refer the matter as a Dispute, 

save that where the Lead Authority has a reasonable belief that the Operator has not engaged 

in good faith with any Constituent Local Authority covered by their operations and this forms 

part of the Dispute then such Dispute shall be referred as a Lead Authority Dispute in 

accordance with clause 25.3.  

7. DATA PROVISION 

7.1 The Operator shall provide: 

7.1.1 the data specific in Section 1 of Part 4 of Schedule 3 in accordance with Part 3 of 

Schedule 3;  

7.1.2 the data specified in Part 1 of Schedule 4, in accordance with Part 3 of Schedule 3; 

and  

Page 394



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 14 

7.1.3 the data specified in Part 2 of Schedule 4, in accordance with Part 3 of Schedule 3.  

7.2 The data provided pursuant to this Agreement (including, but not limited to that provided 

pursuant to clause 7.1) may be used by the Welsh Government, TfW, the Lead Authority and 

Constituent Local Authorities in the Region solely for the Permitted Uses specified in Part 3 

(Permitted Uses) of Schedule 4.  Where such data is identified as Confidential or Commercially 

Sensitive as specified in Part 4 of Schedule 4, the relevant Public Sector Parties shall manage 

such data as Confidential Information in accordance with clause 21 and clause 23 and 

Commercially Sensitive in accordance with clause 23.   

7.3 Where any Public Sector Party wishes to use any data provided by the Operator pursuant to this 

Agreement for any use which is not a Permitted Use they shall only do so having obtained the 

consent of the Operator, such consent not to be unreasonably withheld. 

7.4 Where any data is identified as being Commercially Sensitive pursuant to Part 4 of Schedule 4 

then each Public Sector Party shall ensure that, even where such data is being utilised in 

accordance with the Permitted Use that such data is only disclosed in accordance with clauses 

21 to 23, and that where the output from the use of such data is disclosed in any manner which 

could be accessed by any other operator or prospective operator of Local Services, that such 

data or outputs are aggregated or presented in such a way that no Commercially Sensitive 

information is published (for example, where information in respect of crowding on buses is 

presented through using a traffic light system). 

7.5 The Parties acknowledge and agree that the data provided pursuant to this clause 7 shall not be 

used by any Party for: 

7.5.1 the purposes of monitoring and/or reporting to the Traffic Commissioner or the 

DVSA in respect of the Operator’s service performance in respect of reliability and 

timekeeping for any local services operated by that Operator; or  

7.5.2 any purpose relating to the potential introduction of a Quality Contract Scheme 

pursuant to the Transport Act 2000 by any Local Authority or the introduction by 

any Local Authority of any similar form of franchising arrangement under 

subsequent legislation, 

without the Operator’s prior written consent.  

7.6 Where any Public Sector Party analyses Operator Data for a Permitted Use with the intention 

to use that analysis for policy or decision making processes which may materially affect the 

Operator, such Public Sector Party shall use reasonable endeavours to engage with the Operator 

prior to use, to  allow the Operator to inform such analysis.  The Operator acknowledges that 

compliance with this obligation may not always be practicable, and in particular that a Public 

Sector Party shall not be obliged to comply with this obligation to the extent that it would breach 

clause 7.4. 

7.7 The Operator shall keep and maintain full and accurate records and accounts on everything to 

do with this Agreement throughout and for seven (7) years after the date of expiry or 

termination of this Agreement. 

7.8 Where a Public Sector Party is required to audit any information provided by the Operator 

pursuant to this Agreement, including where Welsh Government has reasonable grounds to 

believe that any information provided is materially incorrect, then they may appoint an auditor. 

The Operator shall allow such appointed auditor access to their premises, upon reasonable 

notice, to verify all accounts and records of everything to do with this Agreement (which is 

Page 395



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 15 

relevant to the issue identified) and provide copies for the audit upon request, subject to clause 

21. 

7.9 The Operator shall provide information to the auditor and reasonable co‑operation at their 

request.  

7.10 Where any auditor identifies that any information provided by the Operator to any Public Sector 

Party is materially false or incomplete the relevant Public Sector Party shall be entitled to assess 

the impact of such false or incomplete information and where this has led to an under-payment 

to any Public Sector Party or over-payment from any Public Sector Party of the Service 

Payment, such Party shall be entitled to recover the difference between the amount originally 

calculated and the amount calculated following correction of the information found to be false 

or incomplete, and such amount shall be immediately payable by the Operator to such Public 

Sector Party. 

7.11 The Operator agrees to use all reasonable endeavours to enter into the Welsh Bus Open Data 

Agreement within three (3) months of signing this Agreement, and shall, in any case, enter into 

such agreement within six (6) months of signing this Agreement. In the event of a conflict 

between the terms of the Welsh Bus Open Data Agreement and this Agreement, the Parties 

agree that this Agreement shall take priority during the Term of this Agreement and upon 

termination or expiry of this Agreement, the Welsh Bus Open Data Agreement shall take 

priority. 

7.12 The Parties acknowledge that TfW use third party suppliers to extract/receive and process data 

and that clauses 21 and 22 shall apply to the use and processing of such data by such third 

parties. 

8. REFERENCE NETWORK 

8.1 The Parties agree that the initial Reference Network reflects the routes, frequencies and hours 

of operation of local bus services in Wales prior to COVID-19, specifically as at 29 February 

2020 modified by: 

8.1.1 any key seasonal variations as demonstrated in the preceding year e.g. a summer 

tourist timetable; and 

8.1.2 any changes to services implemented by agreement with a Local Authority or the 

Lead Authority prior to the Effective Date.  

8.2 The Parties agree that for the purposes of continued improvement in the provision of local bus 

services in Wales, it will be necessary to develop a revised Reference Network which sets out 

the target requirements for routes and services to be provided across Wales.  The Reference 

Network shall be developed in accordance with this Agreement, including the provision of 

services in accordance with clauses 12 to 17 below, as well as any changes to services agreed 

pursuant to Schedule 1.  The Parties agree that the Reference Network shall be developed in 

respect of each Region in line with the local and regional rankings of the Priorities and in 

support of a coherent Wales wide Reference Network.     

8.3 The Parties, together with other operators in the Region, shall work together to develop a 

revised Reference Network by 30 June 2021.  This network will supersede the initial Reference 

Network and reflect Regional priorities.  As part of developing the revised Reference Network, 

historical and current passenger demand data will be used to objectively identify the elements 

of the Reference Network which will require long term Government support.  These elements 

of the Reference Network will be referred to as the "Subsidised Network". 

Page 396



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 16 

8.4 The development of the Reference Network shall include:  

8.4.1 use of data provided by all parties with an interest in the provision of bus services 

within the Region, including operators, Lead Authorities,  Local Authorities, TfW 

and Welsh Government; 

8.4.2 consideration of regional strategic Priorities for the provision of Local Services; 

8.4.3 examination of existing routes; 

8.4.4 exploration of options for new routes; 

8.4.5 the viability and affordability of the proposed routes; and  

8.4.6 consideration of investment or other measures that may be required to support any 

revised Reference Network.    

8.5 The Lead Authority shall manage compliance with the Reference Network in accordance with 

the requirements set out in Schedule 1. 

8.6 As part of the development of the Reference Network, the Operator shall use all reasonable 

endeavours to agree a set of Service Standards pursuant to Schedule 1 with the Lead Authority 

and TfW which will apply to different classifications of routes across Wales.  The Operator,  

the Lead Authority and TfW shall use all reasonable endeavours to complete this classification 

by 30 June 2021.  

9. PAYMENTS AND RECONCILIATION PROCESSES 

9.1 The Lead Authority shall pay the Operator a service payment calculated in accordance with 

Part 2 of Schedule 3 ("Service Payment"), in relation to the Services provided pursuant to and 

in accordance with this Agreement.  If the Operator disputes the amount of the Service Payment 

then such dispute shall be resolved in accordance with clause 25. 

9.2 For the avoidance of doubt, the Operator shall not be entitled to recover more than once in 

respect of the same amount, including that the Operator shall not be entitled to recover any 

amount payable pursuant to the Previous BES Funding Arrangements pursuant to this 

Agreement. 

9.3 In the event that the Operator is successful in obtaining any other governmental support or 

support from any Lead Authority or one of its Constituent Local Authorities or other such body 

that is offered in relation to the impact of and/or recovery from the impacts of COVID-19, this 

shall be taken into account in relation to the relevant Service Payment such that the Operator 

does not benefit from double recovery or double counting. 

9.4 The Operator shall comply with the reconciliation process detailed in Part 3 of Schedule 3. The 

Parties acknowledge that Schedule 3 assesses the basis on which the Operator is paid, and 

includes provisions to ensure that such payments, following reconciliation, do not lead to over-

compensation or illegal state aid.  Notwithstanding any other remedies that the Lead Authority, 

TfW or Welsh Government may have pursuant to this Agreement or otherwise for provision by 

the Operator of false or misleading information, it shall be a material breach of this Agreement 

for the Operator to fail to accurately provide the information specified in Schedule 3. For the 

avoidance of doubt, it will be necessary to provide information in respect of all Local Services 

provided by the Operator, including any Commercial Services, to ensure transparency of costs 

and revenues and to ensure that the calculation of the Assumed Margin pursuant to Schedule 3 

Page 397



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 17 

shall take into account the costs and revenues from all Local Services provided by an Operator 

(including Former Commercial Services and Commercial Services). 

9.5 Where following any reconciliation process carried out pursuant to Part 3 of Schedule 3, the 

Lead Authority identifies that an overpayment or an underpayment has been made, the Lead 

Authority shall be entitled to require either clawback of such amount or pay such amount 

("Reconciliation Payment"), calculated in accordance with Part 3 of Schedule 3. The Lead 

Authority shall provide the Operator with detailed calculations confirming the Reconciliation 

Payment to be returned to the Lead Authority or paid to the Operator.     

9.6 The Parties acknowledge and agree that TfW, working with the Lead Authority, may carry out 

Funding Reviews on behalf of Welsh Government in accordance with the provisions of 

Schedule 5 and the Parties shall agree, acting reasonably, such amendments to this Agreement, 

as may be reasonably required to reflect the outcomes of each Funding Review.  

10. EXIT FROM BES 2 

10.1 The Parties agree and acknowledge that by no later than 1 August 2022, it is all Parties’ 

intention that all of the Operator’s Local Services which operate in Wales shall either be: 

10.1.1 operated as a Commercial Service; or 

10.1.2 operated pursuant to a New Supported Services Contract or the original terms and 

conditions of an Existing Supported Services Contract (including in each case any 

such contract which is let as a de minimis contract).   

10.2 Where all Local Services operated by the Operator in Wales are operated in accordance with 

clause 10.1 then the Parties acknowledge that: 

10.2.1 no further payments shall be made pursuant to this Agreement; and 

10.2.2 provided that any Umbrella Partnership Agreement and any associated partnership 

arrangements shall not be terminated as a result of the termination of this 

Agreement, 

any Party shall otherwise be entitled to terminate this Agreement by agreement with the other 

Parties (all acting reasonably). 

11. TERMINATION  

11.1 This Agreement, or a Party's participation in this Agreement, may be terminated in accordance 

with the provisions of this clause 11. 

Defaulting Party Material Breach 

11.2 In the event of a material or persistent breach of this Agreement by a Defaulting Party, the non-

Defaulting Party may give four (4) weeks’ written notice of their intention to terminate this 

Agreement, setting out in sufficient detail the acts or omission of the relevant Defaulting Party 

giving rise to such breach or breaches. If the Defaulting Party does not, to the reasonable 

satisfaction of the non-Defaulting Party, remedy the breach or breaches and the consequences 

of such breach within such notice period, the non-Defaulting Party may terminate this 

Agreement.  Where, pursuant to Part 4 of Schedule 3 Service Failure Points have been allocated 

for the same trigger in three (3) consecutive months this shall be deemed to be a material breach 

which the Operator has been unable to remedy. 

Page 398



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 18 

Insolvency  

11.3 Any non-Defaulting Party may by written notice terminate its participation in this Agreement 

where another Party ("Insolvent Party"): 

11.3.1 passes a resolution for its winding up or summons a meeting to pass any such 

resolution (other than for the purpose of and followed by a solvent reconstruction 

or amalgamation);  

11.3.2 has a petition for a winding-up order presented against it (other than for the purpose 

of and followed by a solvent reconstruction or amalgamation);  

11.3.3 has an application made to court, or an order made, for the appointment of an 

administrator or any step is taken to appoint an administrator in respect of the 

Insolvent Party;  

11.3.4 has a receiver, administrative receiver, receiver and manager or similar officer 

appointed by any person of all or any part of the Insolvent Party's property, assets 

or undertaking;  

11.3.5 makes a proposal for a voluntary arrangement as defined in Section 1 of the 

Insolvency Act 1986;  

11.3.6 enters into any other arrangement with its creditors or any of them;  

11.3.7 takes or suffers any other action in consequence of debt including, without 

limitation, giving notice to its creditors or any of them that it has suspended or is 

about to suspend payment; or 

11.3.8 has a proposal or threat to do any of the above acts or things made; or an event 

analogous to the aforesaid occurs in whatever jurisdiction. 

Continuing Force Majeure  

11.4 No Party shall be liable to any other Party for any delay in, or failure to perform its obligations 

under this Agreement arising (in whole or in part) from any Force Majeure Event, provided that 

the affected Party shall: 

11.4.1 as soon as reasonably practicable, send to the other Parties a written notice setting 

out the circumstances of the event and its anticipated effect; and  

11.4.2 use all reasonable endeavours to minimise the effect of any such circumstances. 

11.5 If the affected Party’s ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement is materially 

adversely affected (in whole or in part) due to a Force Majeure Event continuing for a period 

of six (6) months or more, any Party may terminate the affected Party's participation in this 

Agreement with immediate effect by serving written notice to the other Parties, provided that 

no such notice shall be served until the Parties have met in good faith to discuss and seek to 

agree whether this Agreement should continue in modified form (agreement to such not to be 

unreasonably withheld).  

11.6 Notwithstanding any other provision under this Agreement, the Parties agree that they were 

aware of COVID-19 and that the existence of COVID-19 in itself shall not constitute a Force 

Majeure event save that a Change in COVID-19 Impact Event may be deemed to be a Force 

Page 399



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 19 

Majeure Event provided it satisfies the criteria set out in sub-paragraphs (b) to (f) (exclusive) 

of the definition of Force Majeure.  

Termination by agreement of the Parties 

11.7 This Agreement may be terminated in respect of all Parties or in respect of any one party at any 

time with immediate effect by written consent of all Parties that it be so terminated. 

11.8 This Agreement shall be terminated in respect of any Party that disposes of its business in 

accordance with clause 28.2. 

11.9 In the event that the Operator either: (i) changes the way that they provide Local Services and 

does not comply with clause 2.8; or (ii) disposes of its business and does not comply with clause  

28.2, the Operator acknowledges and agrees that such breach shall be dealt with in accordance 

with clause 11.2 and the non-Defaulting Party is entitled to terminate this Agreement. 

Exit from BES 2 

11.10 This Agreement may be terminated pursuant to clause 10.2.  

Funding Reviews 

11.11 This Agreement may be terminated on notice provided by Welsh Government to the Operator, 

in accordance with paragraph 1.3.3 of Schedule 5 following a Funding Review. 

Operator withdrawal 

11.12 This Agreement may be terminated on no less than fifty six (56) days’ notice (or such other 

period of notice as the Traffic Commissioner may require in respect of de-registration of Local 

Services at the date the notice is given) from the Operator to the other Parties, in the event that 

the Operator intends to withdraw from the Welsh bus market, such termination to occur on the 

date of withdrawal from the Welsh bus market.  

11.13 In the event where the Operator intends to withdraw from the Welsh bus market and terminates 

this Agreement in accordance with clause 11.12, the Operator shall provide Welsh Government 

with a reasonable opportunity to purchase any assets of the business which it intends to dispose 

of, on fair terms.  

Effect of Termination 

11.14 The termination of this Agreement for any reason: 

11.14.1 shall be without prejudice to any rights or obligations which shall have accrued or 

become due prior to the date of termination, including, for the avoidance of doubt, 

any payments to be made to the operator pursuant to Part 3 of Schedule 3; 

11.14.2 shall not prejudice the rights or remedies which any Party may have in respect of 

any breach of the terms of this Agreement prior to the date of termination; and 

11.14.3 shall not impact upon any clawback of BES 2 Funding which is to be made 

(including any clawback of BES 2 Funding still to be calculated) in accordance 

with Schedule 3. 

Page 400



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 20 

12. EXISTING SUPPORTED SERVICES: GROSS COST 

12.1 The Parties acknowledge that the Operator operates Existing Supported Services on the date of 

this Agreement which are contracted in whole, or in part, pursuant to Existing Supported 

Services Contracts. 

12.2 Where an Existing Supported Services Contract is let as a Gross Cost Contract: 

12.2.1 the Operator acknowledges that the relevant Constituent Local Authority (or Welsh 

Government where the Existing Supported Services Contract is let pursuant to 

section 7 Transport (Wales) Act 2006) remains at risk for passenger revenue, and 

that any payments made to the Operator in respect of such Local Services pursuant 

to this Agreement shall relate solely to additional costs incurred by the Operator in 

providing services in accordance with the terms of such Gross Cost Contract, as a 

result of the impact of COVID-19 (and related measures) on the operation of that 

Existing Supported Services; 

12.2.2 the Operator (and the Lead Authority on behalf of the relevant Constituent Local 

Authority) agree that each Existing Supported Services Contract shall be varied to: 

12.2.2.1 allow such additional payments to be made by the Lead Authority on 

behalf of the Constituent Local Authority to the Operator in 

accordance with the terms of this Agreement; and 

12.2.2.2 revise the services provided in agreement with the Constituent Local 

Authority and the Lead Authority and align payment with the revised 

services. 

It is acknowledged that the variation in such payments shall be limited to those 

which are required to deal with the impact of COVID-19, and that the modifications 

are not substantial within the meaning of Regulation 88 (1)(f) Utilities Contracts 

Regulations 2016 or Regulation 72(1)(f) Public Contract Regulations 2015, as the 

case may be; 

12.2.3 the Operator agrees that more than one amendment may be made pursuant to 

clause 12.2.2, during the term of this Agreement, provided that those changes shall 

be made solely for the purposes of reflecting required changes to local bus services 

to reflect the impact of COVID-19, and that such changes shall not change the 

economic balance of the contract in favour of the bus operator nor alter the overall 

nature of the Existing Supported Services Contract;  

12.2.4 the Operator and the Lead Authority acknowledge that the payments made pursuant 

to this Agreement in respect of such Gross Cost Contracts are made pursuant to a 

valid variation to the Existing Supported Services Contracts between the 

Constituent Local Authority and the Operator.  The Parties agree to execute such 

other documents, including to update the Register of Variations at Schedule 7, as 

may be required to effect such variation, and the Lead Authority undertakes to 

obtain any variation documents executed by the Constituent Local Authority as 

may be required to effect such variation; and 

12.2.5 on a continuing basis, the Lead Authority may carry out a further review of each 

Existing Supported Services Contract to assess whether any further variation is 

needed or determinate whether the service remains necessary to be supported in 

accordance with the review process under clause 6.4.  

Page 401



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 21 

13. EXISTING SUPPORTED SERVICES: NET COST 

13.1 The Parties acknowledge that the Operator operates Existing Supported Services on the date of 

this Agreement which are contracted in whole, or in part, pursuant to Existing Supported 

Services Contracts. 

13.2 Where such Existing Supported Services Contract is a Net Cost Contract: 

13.2.1 the Parties acknowledge that the Operator is at risk for passenger revenue under 

the terms of the Net Cost Contract with the relevant Lead Authority or one of its 

Constituent Local Authorities (or Welsh Government where the Existing 

Supported Services Contract is let pursuant to section 7 Transport (Wales) Act 

2006), and that any payments made to the Operator in respect of such Local 

Services pursuant to this Agreement shall relate solely to: 

13.2.1.1 additional costs incurred by the Operator in providing services in 

accordance with the terms of such Net Cost Contract, as a result of the 

impact of COVID-19 (and related measures) on the operation of that 

Existing Supported Services; and  

13.2.1.2 the impact on passenger revenue beyond that which was foreseeable 

by the Operator and/or the Lead Authority or one of its Constituent 

Local Authorities at the time that such Existing Supported Services 

Contract was let, 

13.2.2 the Operator (and the Lead Authority on behalf of the relevant Constituent Local 

Authority) agree that each Existing Supported Services Contract shall be varied to: 

13.2.2.1 allow such additional payments to be made by the Lead Authority on 

behalf of the Constituent Local Authority to the Operator in 

accordance with the terms of this Agreement; and 

13.2.2.2 revise the services provided in agreement with the Constituent Local 

Authority and the Lead Authority. 

It is acknowledged that the variation in such payments shall be limited to those 

which are required to deal with the impact of COVID-19, and that the modifications 

in respect of any changes to service provision are not substantial within the 

meaning of Regulation 88 (1)(f) Utilities Contracts Regulations 2016 or Regulation 

72(1)(f) Public Contract Regulations 2015, as the case may be, and that the 

payments in respect of loss of passenger revenue are made due to the immediate 

and continuing risk of disruption of passenger services as a result of the loss of that 

passenger revenue, 

13.2.3 the Operator agrees that more than one amendment may be made pursuant to 

clause 13.2.2.2, during the term of this Agreement, provided that those changes 

shall be made solely for the purposes of reflecting required changes to local bus 

services to reflect the impact of COVID-19, and that such changes shall not change 

the economic balance of the contract in favour of the operator nor alter the overall 

nature of the Existing Supported Services Contract; 

13.2.4 the Operator agrees that, where payments made relate to the impact of COVID-19 

on passenger numbers, the extent to which those payments relate to costs which 

would have been funded from passenger revenue, save for the effect of COVID-

Page 402



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 22 

19, that the Lead Authority shall be entitled to limit the payments made in respect 

of such costs for the period that the risk associated with passenger revenue loss is 

materially greater than that which was reasonably foreseeable at the date of the 

relevant agreement;   

13.2.5 payments made by the Lead Authority to the Operator pursuant to this Agreement 

in respect of Existing Supported Services pursuant to a Net Cost Contract shall be 

only made for the period, and to the extent that, the provision of services under the 

relevant Net Cost Contract are affected by COVID-19;  

13.2.6 the Operator and the Lead Authority acknowledge that the payments made pursuant 

to this Agreement in respect of such Net Cost Contracts are made pursuant to a 

valid variation to the Supported Services Existing Contract between the relevant 

Constituent Local Authority and the Operator.  The Parties agree to execute such 

other documents, including to update the Register of Variations at Schedule 7, as 

may be required to effect such variation, and the Lead Authority undertakes to 

obtain any variation documents executed by the Constituent Local Authority as 

may be required to effect such variation; and 

13.2.7 on a continuing basis, the Lead Authority may carry out a further review of each 

Existing Supported Services Contract to assess whether any further variation is 

needed or determinate whether the service remains necessary to be supported in 

accordance with the review process under clause 6.4.  

14. REVERTING TO ORIGINAL CONTRACT TERMS FOR EXISTING SUPPORTED 

SERVICES 

14.1 The Parties acknowledge that any Existing Supported Services Contract varied in accordance 

with clause 12 and 13, shall revert to the terms specified immediately prior to such variation 

(subject to any other variation to such contract agreed by the Parties to that contract) when all 

or some of the following criteria are achieved (in each case as agreed with the relevant Local 

Authority, acting reasonably): 

14.1.1 the revenue in respect of that service returning to pre-COVID levels; 

14.1.2 the service operating to a specification materially the same as that pre-COVID, 

subject to any other variation of such contract; and  

14.1.3 the Operator choosing to return to the terms of the original Existing Supported 

Services Contract.  

15. SUPPORT FOR FORMER COMMERCIAL SERVICES 

15.1 The Parties acknowledge that the Operator has historically operated Commercial Services, but 

due to the effects of COVID-19, those Commercial Services were no longer commercially 

viable and support for the continuation of the services was required from Welsh Government. 

Such support was received through BES Funding provided pursuant to the Previous BES 

Funding Arrangements. The Parties further acknowledge that the Previous BES Funding 

Arrangements were implemented on the basis of payments being made under the following 

powers:  

15.1.1 use of grant aid under section 154 Transport Act 2000; or 

15.1.2 payments made pursuant to section 7 of the Transport (Wales) Act 2006, 

Page 403



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 23 

("Former Commercial Services"). 

15.2 The Operator acknowledges that in the absence of Service Payments made pursuant to this 

Agreement the Operator would not be able to continue to operate the relevant Former 

Commercial Service or would not be able to operate the Former Commercial Services to the 

Service Standards. 

15.3 The Lead Authority acknowledges that it would not have funded such Former Commercial 

Services to the Service Standards unless provided with financial support by Welsh Government.  

15.4 The Lead Authority agrees to support the Former Commercial Services pursuant to the terms 

of this Agreement on the basis that the operation of the Former Commercial Service is required 

to meet public service obligations, with support being provided for provision of such public 

service obligations through the payment of Service Payments on behalf of Welsh Government 

in accordance with Schedule 3 (pursuant to section 7 Transport (Wales) Act 2006), provided 

that the Operator in operating the Former Commercial Services, shall at all times comply with 

the prevailing Service Specification. 

15.5 The Parties acknowledge that the reconciliation process at Part 3 of Schedule 3 shall take into 

account the costs and revenues from all Local Services provided by the Operator, including 

Supported Services, Formerly Commercial Services and Commercial Services.  For the 

avoidance of doubt, the assessment of whether the Operator has been over or under 

compensated and the calculation of any margin due shall be based on the net position on costs 

and revenues across all the Operator’s Local Services.   

16. COMMERCIAL SERVICES 

16.1 Where the Operator registers a Commercial Service which does not comply with the applicable 

Service Standards, then save where the specification of such Commercial Service has been 

agreed in accordance with clause 16.2.2, the Operator acknowledges and agrees that Welsh 

Government or any Local Authority in the area in which such service is operated may determine 

that notwithstanding the operation of the Commercial Service, that the service in question is 

not being provided to the applicable Service Standard required, in accordance with section 7(4) 

Transport (Wales) Act 2006 or section 63(5) Transport Act 1985 and that Welsh Government 

or the relevant Local Authority may determine that a service that meets the applicable Service 

Standard may be let in accordance with clause 17 (subject to the application, where relevant, of 

the Part 1 Competition Test). 

16.2 Where the Operator registers a Commercial Service which will operate: 

16.2.1 in accordance with the applicable Service Standards; or 

16.2.2 in accordance with a variation to the Service Standards as agreed by the Operator, 

Lead Authority and TfW on the grounds that, for example, the specified standard 

for the hours of operation or frequency of the service are not financially viable or 

required,  

then the Parties acknowledge that such service shall be operated as a Commercial Service for 

the purposes of this Agreement, but shall for the avoidance of doubt, remain subject to the terms 

of this Agreement, the Umbrella Partnership Agreement and any future partnership agreement 

developed pursuant to the terms of the Umbrella Partnership Agreement. 

16.3 The Parties acknowledge that the reconciliation process at Part 3 of Schedule 3 shall take into 

account the costs and revenues from all Local Services provided by the Operator, including 

Page 404



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 24 

Supported Services, Formerly Commercial Services and Commercial Services. For the 

avoidance of doubt, the assessment of whether the Operator has been over or under 

compensated and the calculation of any margin due shall be based on the net position on costs 

and revenues across all the Operator’s Local Services.   

17. SERVICES TENDERED AFTER THE DATE OF THIS AGREEMENT 

17.1 The Parties agree that the Lead Authority or one of its Constituent Local Authorities or Welsh 

Government may let New Supported Services Contracts including where: 

17.1.1 an Existing Supported Service Contract expires or terminates; 

17.1.2 the Operator chooses to cease operation of a Former Commercial Service; or 

17.1.3 a new route is identified as part of the Reference Network which is not operated as 

a Commercial Service or any Commercial Service does not comply with clause 

16.2, 

in each case where the relevant Local Authority or Welsh Government determine that the 

provision of such service is appropriate for meeting public transport requirements in the 

relevant area.  

17.2 The Operator acknowledges that, no later than 1 August 2021, the Lead Authority (working 

with its Constituent Local Authorities) shall set out a programme to tender key services that are 

otherwise at risk of not meeting the requirements of clause 10.1 prior to 1 August 2022 when 

this contract shall terminate ("Procurement Programme").  The Procurement Programme 

shall be developed in consultation with the Operator and other operators and plans to tender 

New Supported Service Contracts  within the Procurement Programme shall be prioritised to 

take account of:  

17.2.1 the prevailing bus market conditions including any continued impact of COVID-

19 on the performance of the bus market, such as passenger levels and revenues;  

17.2.2 the estimated time frame for meeting the requirements of clause 10.1; and  

17.2.3 the extent to which each service is required for the purposes of operating the 

Reference Network and delivering its intended benefits. 

The Procurement Programme shall be reviewed by the Lead Authority and its Constituent Local 

Authorities every month and revised as necessary in consultation with the Operator, other 

operators and stakeholders to take account of changes which affect the priorities detailed in 

clauses 17.2.1 to 17.2.3.   

17.3 Where a Lead Authority, one of its Constituent Local Authorities or Welsh Government tenders 

a New Supported Services Contract following the date of this Agreement, the tender for such 

New Supported Services Contract shall specify the assumptions that are to be made by all 

bidders regarding payments (if any), to be made pursuant to this Agreement to the operator of 

services under that New Supported Services Contract, and the relevant Public Sector Party shall 

ensure that the same assumptions are provided to all tenderers for such Contract ("New 

Supported Services Contract Tendering Assumptions"); or 

17.4 the Parties acknowledge, that where any Public Sector Party, specifies New Supported Services 

Contract Tendering Assumptions as part of a tender process for a New Supported Services 

Contract and the Operator enters into such New Supported Services Contract, the Lead 

Page 405



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 25 

Authority shall make payments under this Agreement in respect of such New Supported 

Services Contract in accordance with the New Supported Services Contract Tendering 

Assumptions.  

18. SURVIVAL 

18.1 This clause 18 and the following provisions (and any clauses/Schedules referred to in them/and 

or necessary in order to give effect to them) shall survive termination of this Agreement: 

18.1.1 clauses 1 (Definitions and Interpretation); 

18.1.2 clause 20 (Intellectual Property),  

18.1.3 clause 21 (Confidentiality),  

18.1.4 clause 22 (Data Protection),  

18.1.5 clause 23 (Freedom of Information),  

18.1.6 clause 25 (Dispute Resolution);  

18.1.7 clause 36 (Governing Law and Jurisdiction); and 

18.1.8 Schedule 3 (Compensation) to the extent required for the purposes of any 

reconciliation of payments following the date of termination, 

which shall continue in force after such termination. 

19. FUNDING AND CONSTRAINTS 

19.1 Each Party shall be responsible for funding their own obligations under this Agreement, save 

where the funding of any obligation is expressly specified in this Agreement, and otherwise in 

accordance with this clause 19. Where and to the extent any obligation of the Lead Authority 

pursuant to this Agreement to pay the Operator is dependent upon Welsh Government paying 

an equivalent amount to the Lead Authority, Welsh Government shall indemnify the Lead 

Authority against any claims from the Operator arising directly from any delay or failure by 

Welsh Government to make such payment to the Lead Authority.  

19.2 It is acknowledged that funding from (or provisions of works, services or supplies which have 

been funded by) the Welsh Government is subject to constraints on public spending, including 

the application of UK and EU rules in respect of state aid and procurement ("State Aid and 

Procurement Constraints").  It is acknowledged that Welsh Government, TfW and the Lead 

Authority shall not be required to fund or deliver anything pursuant to this Agreement which 

would be in breach of such requirements.  

19.3 Where any Party is unable to perform an obligation under this Agreement due to State Aid and 

Procurement Constraints the Parties agree to work together in good faith to determine those 

changes required to this Agreement whilst not breaching such requirements.  It is acknowledged 

that this may include the Parties working together to identify exemptions which may be 

applicable and where necessary engaging with third parties including the CMA in order to 

implement the terms of this Agreement. 

Page 406



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 26 

20. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS 

20.1 To the extent that any Intellectual Property Rights are generated pursuant to the terms of this 

Agreement, the Parties agree that:  

20.1.1 such Intellectual Property Rights shall remain the absolute property of the Party 

which generated such rights; and 

20.1.2 such Party shall hereby grant to the other Party a perpetual, irrevocable, non-

exclusive, fully paid up and royalty free licence (with the right to sub-licence) to 

use such Intellectual Property Rights for any purpose relating to this Agreement or 

any successor agreement. 

21. CONFIDENTIALITY  

General 

21.1 The Parties agree that the provisions of this Agreement shall not be treated as Confidential 

Information and may be disclosed without restriction.  

21.2 Each Receiving Party shall: 

21.2.1 keep the Disclosing Party's Confidential Information confidential; 

21.2.2 use the Confidential Information (or any part thereof) only in connection with 

performing its obligations under the Agreement; and 

21.2.3 subject to clause 21.4 and 23, not disclose the Confidential Information to anyone 

without the prior written consent of the Disclosing Party. 

21.3 Data provided by the Operator pursuant to clause 7 or otherwise pursuant to the terms of this 

Agreement shall be deemed to be Confidential Information where it is identified as such in the 

table at Part 4 of Schedule 4. 

Exceptions 

21.4 The consent referred to in clause 21.2.3 shall not be required for the disclosure by a Receiving 

Party of any Confidential Information which: 

21.4.1 is disclosed to: 

21.4.1.1 the CMA; or 

21.4.1.2 the Department for Transport, 

21.4.2 at any time comes into the public domain otherwise than as a result of breach of 

this Agreement by the Receiving Party; 

21.4.3 is disclosed to the Receiving Party's officers, contractors or agents, in each case to 

the extent required to enable the Receiving Party to carry out its obligations under 

this Agreement provided that the Receiving Party makes such person aware of the 

Receiving Party’s obligations under this Agreement and the Receiving Party 

requires such person to observe the same restrictions on the use of the relevant 

information as are contained in clause 21.2; 

Page 407



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 27 

21.4.4 is disclosed to the Receiving Party's professional advisers who are bound to such 

Receiving Party by a duty of confidence which applies to any information 

disclosed; 

21.4.5 is disclosed to the Receiving Party's auditors (pursuant to clause 7.8) who are 

bound to such Receiving Party by a duty of confidence which applies to any 

information disclosed, to the extent that the statutory provisions under which the 

auditor was appointed allow for such duty of confidence to be imposed upon the 

auditor; 

21.4.6 is received from a third party who is not in breach of any relevant duty of 

confidence whether express or implied; 

21.4.7 is independently developed without access to the Confidential Information; or 

21.4.8 is required to be disclosed by any applicable law or regulatory requirement to 

which the Receiving Party is subject or pursuant to any order of the court or other 

competent regulatory authority or tribunal.  

21.5 These restrictions and prohibition on use, exploitation, communication and disclosure set out 

in this clause 21 shall continue to apply after the expiration or termination of the Agreement in 

respect of any Confidential Information for such period of time as such information remains 

Confidential Information.. 

Required Disclosure 

21.6 If the Receiving Party becomes required, in circumstances contemplated by clause 21.4.8 to 

disclose any Confidential Information, the Receiving Party shall (save to the extent prohibited 

by law) give to the Disclosing Party such notice as is practical in the circumstances of such 

disclosure and shall co-operate with the Disclosing Party, having due regard to the Disclosing 

Parties' views, and take such steps as the Disclosing Party may reasonably require in order to 

enable it to mitigate the effects of, or avoid the requirements for, any such disclosure. 

Remedy 

21.7 The Public Sector Parties acknowledge and agree that money damages may not be an adequate 

remedy for any breach or threatened breach of this clause 21 and that a breach by any Public 

Sector Partner of this clause 21 may result in immediate and irreparable competitive injury.  

The Public Sector Parties therefore agree that in addition to any other remedies that may be 

available, by law or otherwise, the Operator shall be entitled to seek injunctive relief against 

any breach or threatened breach of this clause 21 by the Public Sector Parties. 

22. DATA PROTECTION  

22.1 In this clause 22, the expressions "Process/Processing", "Controller", "Processor" "Data 

Subject", "Personal Data Breach" and "Supervisory Authority" shall have the same 

meaning as in the Data Protection Laws. 

22.2 Each Party shall Process Personal Data under this Agreement as a separate Controller, and shall 

comply at all times with its respective obligations under Data Protection Laws. 

22.3 In respect of any disclosures of Personal Data by one Party ("Personal Data Disclosing 

Party") to another Party ("Personal Data Receiving Party"), the Personal Data Receiving 

Party shall: 

Page 408



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 28 

22.3.1 only Process the disclosed Personal Data where reasonably necessary for the 

purposes of performing its obligations, or exercising its rights, under this 

Agreement (including in respect of any onward disclosures to third parties); 

22.3.2 not transfer Personal Data outside the EEA without the prior written consent of the 

Personal Data Disclosing Party; and 

22.3.3 notify the Personal Data Disclosing Party without undue delay upon becoming 

aware of any Personal Data Breach involving the Personal Data. 

22.4 Each Party shall co-operate with the other, to the extent reasonably requested, in relation to:  

22.4.1 any requests from Data Subjects to exercise rights under the Data Protection Laws; 

22.4.2 any other communication from a Data Subject concerning the Processing of their 

Personal Data; and 

22.4.3 any communication from a Supervisory Authority concerning the Processing of 

Personal Data, or compliance with the Data Protection Laws. 

23. FREEDOM OF INFORMATION 

23.1 The Operator shall cooperate to facilitate the Public Sector Parties in complying with their 

respective obligations under the FOIA and the EIR, together with any guidance and/or codes of 

practice issued from time to time by the Information Commissioner or the Secretary of State, 

in the manner provided for in this clause 23, which shall apply whenever any Public Sector 

Party receives a Request for Information which in that Public Sector Party’s reasonable opinion 

is likely to involve the disclosure of Confidential Information. 

23.2 Where the relevant Public Sector Party receives a Request for Information in relation to 

Operator Confidential Information it shall notify the Operator in writing of the Request for 

Information as soon as practicable after receipt and in any event within five (5) Working Days 

of receiving a Request for Information and shall consult in good faith with the Operator to 

ascertain whether disclosure of the requested information would be likely to prejudice the 

commercial interests of the Operator for the purposes of section 43(2) of FOIA or regulation 

12(5)(e) of EIR. 

23.3 Where the relevant Public Sector Party receives a Request for Information relating Operator 

Confidential Information, the relevant Public Sector Party shall keep the Operator fully 

informed and the Operator shall provide all necessary assistance reasonably requested by the 

relevant Public Sector Party to enable the Welsh Government or TfW to respond to a Request 

for Information in accordance with Section 1 and Section 10 of the FOIA or regulation 5 of the 

EIR. 

23.4 The relevant Public Sector Party agrees that (and shall procure that the Constituent Local 

Authorities agree that) Operator Data shall, for the purposes of the FOIA, constitute: 

23.4.1 exempt information pursuant to Part 2 of the FOIA which is provided to the Welsh 

Government, the Lead Authority and/or TfW in confidence and that disclosure of 

the Operator Data would constitute a breach of confidence actionable by the 

Operator; and/or 

23.4.2 exempt information pursuant to Part 2 of the FOIA in that it constitutes either a 

trade secret of the Operator and/or information which if disclosed to the public 

Page 409



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 29 

would prejudice the commercial interests of the Operator and the Welsh 

Government, the Lead Authority and TfW will therefore treat all Operator Data as 

exempt for the purposes of the FOIA. 

23.5 In the event that notwithstanding the provisions of clause 23.4, any Public Sector Party is bound 

by the FOIA to disclose any Operator Data to the public, the relevant Public Sector Party shall 

nonetheless provide the Operator with a minimum of 48 hours written notice prior to the 

disclosure of any such data. 

24. COMPETITION AND PROCUREMENT LAW 

24.1 The Parties intend that this Agreement shall comply with competition law at the date of this 

Agreement. 

24.2 The Parties acknowledge that the development of partnership arrangements pursuant to clause 5 

of this Agreement will be subject to the application of competition law, and in particular the 

parties may need to apply the Part 2 Competition Test, and be satisfied (acting reasonably and 

by reference to the prevailing law at the time of such consideration) that any Umbrella 

Partnership Agreement meets the Part 2 Competition Test;  

24.3 The Parties intend that: 

24.3.1 this Agreement shall not breach the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, the 

Utilities Contracts Regulations 2016, the Concession Contracts Regulations 2016 

or Regulation 1370/2007; 

24.3.2 that payments in respect of, and the provision of, services by the Operator pursuant 

to the terms of this Agreement are consistent with the requirements of article 5 of 

Regulation 1370/2007.  

24.4 Notwithstanding clause 24.1 to 24.3, if: 

24.4.1 statements by, advice from, or decisions by competent authorities (including, but 

not limited to, the CMA) provides additional detail or guidance in relation to the 

applicability of competition law to this Agreement which may impact on the 

position of this Agreement or in respect of the negotiation of the Umbrella 

Partnership Agreement; 

24.4.2 statements by, advice from, or decisions by competent authorities impact on the 

position of this Agreement under procurement law, 

the Parties agree to: 

24.4.3 meet in good faith and review the impact of such change or other developments on 

this Agreement; and  

24.4.4 make any amendment necessary to ensure that this Agreement complies with 

applicable competition law or procurement law then in force in the light of such 

development, whilst taking account of the Parties' commercial intentions as 

expressed in this Agreement.   

24.5 In the event that the Parties are unable to agree as to the extent and nature of such amendments 

within one (1) month, any party shall be entitled to refer the decision to the Dispute process in 

accordance with clause 25.  

Page 410



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 30 

25. DISPUTE RESOLUTION  

25.1 Where any Dispute arises between the Parties in connection with this Agreement, the Parties 

shall attempt to resolve the Dispute in good faith.  During the period of the Dispute, the Parties 

shall continue to comply with their respective obligations under this Agreement.  

25.2 Where the Parties are unable to resolve the Dispute in good faith, the dispute may be escalated 

to the relevant Parties’ senior representatives (being a senior executive of the relevant Party 

with sufficient authority to bind the relevant Party in any agreement reached in respect of the 

Dispute) in order to try and resolve the Dispute. If the Parties’ senior representatives are unable 

to resolve the Dispute within fifteen (15) Working Days of referral, the Dispute shall be referred 

to mediation in accordance with clause 25.4, save for any Lead Authority Disputes which shall 

be referred to resolution pursuant to clause 25.3.  

25.3 Where a Dispute is a Lead Authority Dispute then the following shall apply: 

25.3.1 the Lead Authority shall notify an Alternate Lead Authority (whose identity is to 

be agreed between the Operator and the Lead Authority or where they cannot agree 

the identity of the Lead Authority as determined by TfW) in writing, asking for 

input. Such notice shall provide background information on the issue and reasons 

why the Lead Authority believes the Operator has not engaged in good faith; 

25.3.2 upon receipt of such notice, the Alternate Lead Authority shall consider the 

information provided in the notice and shall promptly request any additional 

information from the Operator that may be required to consider the dispute; 

25.3.3 upon receipt of such additional information from the Operator, the Alternate Lead 

Authority shall consider all responses within fifteen (15) Working Days. The 

Alternate Lead Authority shall notify both the Operator and the Lead Authority of 

its decision; and 

25.3.4 in the event that the Alternate Lead Authority agrees that the Operator has not 

engaged in good faith, then the Lead Authority may suspend or reduce BES 2 

Funding paid to the Operator in respect of  the disputed service or services or seek 

compensation in accordance with Schedule 3; or 

25.3.5 in the event that the Alternate Lead Authority agrees that the Operator has engaged 

in good faith, the BES 2 Funding paid to the Operator shall continue. 

25.4 If the Parties are unable to resolve a Dispute within two (2) months, the Parties shall attempt to 

settle the Dispute by mediation in accordance with the CEDR Model Mediation Procedure. 

Within ten (10) Working Days of service of referral to mediation, the mediator shall be 

nominated by CEDR. To initiate the mediation, one Party must serve notice in writing ("ADR 

Notice") to the other Party(s) requesting mediation. A copy of the ADR Notice should be sent 

to CEDR. Unless otherwise agreed between the Parties, the mediation shall start no later than 

ten (10) Working Days after the date of the ADR Notice. 

25.5 If the Dispute is not resolved within ten (10) Working Days after service of the ADR Notice, 

any Party fails to participate or ceases to participate in the mediation before the expiry of that 

ten (10) Working Day period, or the mediation terminates before the expiry of that ten (10) 

Working Day period, the Dispute shall be finally resolved by the courts of England and Wales.  

25.6 The Parties may by written agreement, agree to vary the time periods set out in this clause 25 

to resolve a Dispute.  

Page 411



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 31 

25.7 Any decision, judgement or settlement resulting from a Dispute determined in accordance with 

clause 25 shall be recorded in writing, signed by all the Parties involved, and shall be binding 

on the Parties. Where the Parties have submitted the Dispute to the Courts of England and 

Wales, the decision of the Courts of England and Wales shall be binding on the Parties.  

26. CHANGE PROCEDURE 

26.1 The Parties acknowledge and agree that from time to time during the Term, any Party may 

request a change to this Agreement. A Party may present its proposal for change to the other 

Parties who shall consider and discuss the proposal.  

26.2 Where the Parties agree to amend the Agreement to reflect the proposal, they shall as soon as 

reasonably practicable (and in any event within twenty (20) Working Days), evaluate the 

proposal to determine whether it remains in accordance with the Wales Transport Strategy and 

associated transport plans and propose and agree the amendments required to the Agreement.  

26.3 The Parties shall take all reasonable steps to implement those amendments to the Agreement as 

soon as reasonably practicable. The Parties acknowledge that any changes agreed pursuant to 

this clause, are not subject to the general amendment clause at clause 29.  

27. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY 

27.1 References to liability in this clause 27 include every kind of liability arising under or in 

connection with this Agreement including but not limited to liability in contract, tort (including 

negligence), misrepresentation, restitution or otherwise.  No Party may benefit from the 

limitations and exclusions set out in this clause in respect of any liability arising from its 

deliberate default. 

27.2 Nothing in this Agreement limits any liability which cannot legally be limited, including but 

not limited to liability for: 

27.2.1 death or personal injury caused by negligence; or 

27.2.2 fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation. 

27.3 Subject to clause 27.1 and 27.2: 

27.3.1 the Public Sector Parties’ total liability under and in connection to this Agreement 

shall in no event exceed an amount equal to the total amounts payable to the 

Operator up to the date that this Agreement is terminated; and 

27.3.2 the Operator’s total liability under and in connection to this Agreement shall in no 

event exceed an amount equal to the total amounts payable to the Operator under 

the terms of this Agreement.   

28. ASSIGNMENT 

28.1 This Agreement is personal to the Parties and may not be assigned (whether absolutely or by 

way of security and whether in whole or in part), sub-contracted, transferred, mortgaged, 

charged, declared in trust for a third party, or otherwise disposed of in any manner whatsoever 

to any third party without the prior written consent of the other Parties and any such purported 

dealing in contravention of this clause shall be ineffective. 

Page 412



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 32 

28.2 In the event that the Operator disposes of its business (or part of its business), the Operator shall 

act reasonably to: 

28.2.1 ensure that the party to which its business is transferred enters into an agreement 

on equivalent terms to this Agreement in respect of that business (or part of the 

business) (including, where agreed the rights and obligations in respect of the 

Umbrella Partnership Agreement or any other agreement entered into to further the 

intent of this Agreement); and  

28.2.2 terminate its participation under this Agreement in accordance with clause 11.8, to 

the extent that the whole of business is disposed of; and 

28.2.3 amend this Agreement to reflect the remaining business where part of the business 

is disposed of.   

29. AMENDMENT 

29.1 This Agreement may only be amended, modified, varied or supplemented in writing signed by 

or on behalf of all of the Parties to this Agreement.  

29.2 The Parties shall, as soon as reasonably practicable following the coming into force of any 

legislation, regulations or statutory instruments (or any amendments to existing legislation, 

regulations or statutory instruments) which impacts the terms of this Agreement, review and, if 

necessary, amend the terms of this Agreement to account for such changes. 

30. WAIVER 

The rights and remedies of the Parties shall not be affected by any failure to exercise or delay 

in exercising any right or remedy or by the giving of any indulgence by any other Party or by 

anything whatsoever except a specific waiver or release in writing and any such waiver or 

release shall not prejudice or affect any other rights or remedies of the Parties.  No single or 

partial exercise of any right or remedy shall prevent any further or other exercise thereof or the 

exercise of any other right or remedy. 

31. NOTICES 

31.1 Any notice (including any approval, consent or other communication) in connection with this 

Agreement shall be given in writing and shall either be personally left at the address of the 

addressee or sent by pre-paid first class post or be sent by electronic mail.  The address for 

service of a Party shall be its address as stated in clause 31.2 or any other address or electronic 

mail address notified to the other Parties in accordance with this clause 31.1.   

31.2 The addresses for service of notices are: 

The Operator 

a) Address: [ADDRESS] 

b) For the attention of: [POSITION OF CONTACT] 

c) Email address: [EMAIL ADDRESS] 

Welsh Ministers 

Page 413



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 33 

a) Address: [ADDRESS] 

b) For the attention of: [POSITION OF CONTACT] 

c) Email address: [EMAIL ADDRESS] 

Transport for Wales 

a) Address: [ADDRESS] 

b) For the attention of: [POSITION OF CONTACT] 

c) Email address: [EMAIL ADDRESS] 

Lead Authority 

a) Address: [ADDRESS] 

b) For the attention of: [POSITION OF CONTACT] 

c) Email address: [EMAIL ADDRESS] 

31.3 In the absence of evidence of earlier receipt, any notice shall take effect from the time that it is 

deemed to be received in accordance with clause 31.4. 

31.4 A notice is deemed to be received: 

31.4.1 in the case of a notice personally left at the address of the addressee during normal 

working hours, upon delivery at that address or if not during normal working hours 

the next Working Day; or 

31.4.2 in the case of a first class posted letter (within the United Kingdom), on the third 

Working Day after posting; or 

31.4.3 in the case of an email, in the absence of a delivery error message, at the time of 

sending to the relevant addressee,  

and for the purpose of deemed receipt under this clause 31.4, it shall be sufficient to prove that 

personal delivery was made or that the envelope containing the posted notice was properly 

addressed or the email contained the correct email address. 

32. SEVERABILITY 

If any term of this Agreement is found by any court or body or authority of competent 

jurisdiction to be illegal, unlawful, void or unenforceable, such term will be deemed to be 

severed from this Agreement and this will not affect the remainder of this Agreement which 

will continue in full force and effect.   

33. THIRD PARTY RIGHTS 

33.1 Save as otherwise expressly provided for in this Agreement, a person who is not a party to this 

Agreement shall have no rights under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999 to 

enforce any term of this Agreement.  This does not affect any right or remedy of a third party 

which exists, or is available, apart from that Act. 

Page 414



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 34 

33.2 Where a Lead Authority and/or Constituent Local Authority is stated as having a right pursuant 

to this Agreement the Lead Authority and/or Constituent Local Authority shall be entitled to 

exercise that right pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, notwithstanding that it is a third 

party. 

33.3 The rights of the Parties to terminate, rescind or agree any variation to this Agreement are not 

subject to the consent of any other person. 

34. ENTIRE AGREEMENT 

34.1 Subject to clause 34.2, with the Previous BES Funding Arrangements, this Agreement 

constitutes the entire agreement between the Parties and supersedes any prior agreement or 

arrangement in respect of its subject matter and: 

34.1.1 no Party has entered into this Agreement in reliance upon, and will have no remedy 

in respect of, any misrepresentation, representation or statement (whether made by 

any  other Party or any other person and whether made to the first Party or any 

other person) which is not expressly set out in this Agreement; and 

34.1.2 the only remedies available for any misrepresentation or breach of any 

representation or statement which was made prior to entry into this Agreement and 

which is expressly set out in this Agreement will be for breach of contract. 

34.2 Nothing in this clause 34 shall be taken to affect the terms of any Existing Supported Services 

Contract or New Supported Services Contract between any of the parties to this Agreement, 

including any amendments to such contracts effected by the terms of this Agreement. 

34.3 For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in this clause 34 will be interpreted or construed as limiting 

or excluding the liability of any person for fraud or fraudulent misrepresentation. 

35. COUNTERPARTS 

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, and by the Parties as separate 

counterparts but will not be effective until each Party has executed at least one counterpart. 

Each counterpart shall constitute an original of this Agreement, but all the counterparts shall 

together constitute one and the same Agreement. 

36. GOVERNING LAW AND JURISDICTION 

36.1 This Agreement and any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with it shall 

be governed by and construed in accordance with Welsh law. 

36.2 Subject to the Dispute Resolution Procedure, the courts of England and Wales have exclusive 

jurisdiction to determine any dispute arising out of or in connection with this Agreement 

including (without limitation) in relation to any non-contractual obligations. 

This Agreement has been entered into on the date stated at the beginning of this Agreement.  

  

Page 415



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 35 

Signed for and on behalf of WELSH 

MINISTERS by: 

)

) Signature 

 

    

  Name (block capitals)  

 Director/authorised 

signatory 

 

Signed for and on behalf of  TRANSPORT 

FOR WALES by: 

)

) Signature 

 

    

  Name (block capitals)  

 Director/authorised 

signatory 

 

 

Signed for and on behalf of  [LEAD 

AUTHORITY] by: 

)

) Signature 

 

    

  Name (block capitals)  

 Director/authorised 

signatory 

 

Signed for and on behalf of  [OPERATOR] 

by: 

)

) Signature 

 

    

  Name (block capitals)  

 Director/authorised 

signatory 

Page 416



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 36 

SCHEDULE 1:  WELSH GOVERNMENT REQUIREMENTS 

The Parties acknowledge and agree that in consideration of the Welsh Government providing the BES 

2 Funding and other payments pursuant to this Agreement, the Operator shall comply with the following 

obligations.  Failure to comply with these obligations will constitute a material breach under the terms 

of this Agreement:  

1. Safety of passengers and staff is paramount 

1.1 In providing Local Services the Operator shall comply with the Welsh Government’s 

"Restarting public transport: guidance for operators" (https://gov.wales/restarting-public-

transport-guidance-operators-html) and any updated guidance provided in response to 

emerging requirements to respond to the public health impact of the COVID 19 pandemic.  

2. Reforming Service Delivery  

2.1 The Operator shall support the introduction of new and emerging institutional arrangements 

between the Public Sector Parties that Welsh Government believe are reasonably required to 

more effectively support the management of bus services in Wales in the future. 

2.2 The Operator shall, in good faith, engage with TfW, Welsh Government and the Lead 

Authorities on behalf of their Constituent Local Authorities to reform funding and 

reimbursement mechanisms such as BSSG and the Concessionary Travel Scheme  to improve 

the quality and viability of the local services available to passengers in Wales.    

2.3 The Operator shall work with TfW and Welsh Government and other operators to develop a 

vehicle replacement strategy which will help to inform Welsh Government’s plans for a 

sustainable public transport fleet. Subject to the availability of funding and compliance with 

state aid rules, Welsh Government may fund measures to bring the national fleet up to the 

required minimum standard.   

2.4 Welsh Government is in the process of updating the requirements for the Economic Contract 

Plan with which all bus operators in receipt of Government funding will be required to sign up 

to.  Once the updated guidance has been published, the Operator shall produce an Economic 

Contract for approval by TfW, acting reasonably and on behalf of Welsh Government, within 

(6) six months of publication of the guidance. 

2.5 Following the issue of the updated requirements for the Economic Contract Plan, pursuant to 

paragraph 2.4, TfW shall set out a timetable and process for the development, review, approval 

and monitoring of the Operator’s Economic Contract. 

2.6 The Parties acknowledge that, at the time of signing this Agreement, the Operator will not have 

had sight of the requirements for the Economic Contract Plan.  TfW and Welsh Government 

shall work with the Operator and representatives of the bus industry to reach agreement on 

affordable and sustainable options for implementing such requirements.    

2.7 In advance of the development of the new requirements for the Economic Contract Plan, the 

Operator shall commit to complying with the principles of the current Economic Contract 

(found here), specifically with respect to: 

2.7.1 growth potential; 

2.7.2 fair work; 

Page 417

https://gov.wales/restarting-public-transport-guidance-operators-html
https://gov.wales/restarting-public-transport-guidance-operators-html
https://businesswales.gov.wales/economic-contract#:~:text=The%20Economic%20Contract%20is%20part%20of%20the%20Welsh,increasing%20the%20availability%20of%20fair%20work%20and%20decarbonisation


 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 37 

2.7.3 promotion of health, including a special emphasis on mental health, skills and 

learning in the workplace; and 

2.7.4 progress in reducing carbon footprint. 

2.8 The Operator acknowledges that Welsh Government intends that the Operator’s Economic 

Contract and delivery against the same may form a key part of: 

2.8.1 the evidence for the scoring of future competitions for grant funding or other 

contracts which make use of Welsh Government funding; and 

2.8.2 the conditions for other statutory and non-statutory schemes relating to the funding 

of the bus industry in Wales which Welsh Government may introduce in the future. 

3. Improving the Passenger Experience 

The Operator shall use reasonable endeavours to work with the Lead Authority, the Constituent 

Local Authorities and TfW to increase patronage and social inclusion on bus services and the 

wider public transport network in Wales. 

3.1 Routes 

3.1.1 To the extent that reinstatement of the pre-COVID 19 network meets the Priorities 

and can be provided within the funding available, the Operator shall, by agreement 

with the Lead Authority, progressively re-instate the network of services that the 

Operator provided prior to the impact of COVID 19.    

3.1.2 The Lead Authority shall work with the Operator and the Constituent Local 

Authorities to determine what changes may be required to the network of services 

provided by the Operator in response to changing passenger demand and patterns 

of travel and shall authorise such changes, including the use of alternative delivery 

modes, in line with the Reference Network.  Such changes may include adjustments 

to the Operator’s timetables and routes, where these are necessary to integrate the 

Operator’s services, other bus services and modes of transport to provide 

passengers with improved journey times and a better experience of public transport.   

3.1.3 During the term of this Agreement, and reflecting the material funding being 

provided by Welsh Government to support continued provision of Local Services 

by the Operator, the Operator shall seek permission from the Lead Authority prior 

to registering any new service.  Such permission shall not be unreasonably withheld 

where the Operator demonstrates compatibility of such service with the Reference 

Network or justifies the change to the Reference Network based on passenger need 

and positive impact on value for money for the Lead Authority. 

3.2 Fares and Ticketing  

3.2.1 The Operator shall demonstrate that it has sought to improve value for money for 

passengers by confirming that it has considered options for capping and 

rationalising fares.  No increase in fares will be allowed during the Term of this 

Agreement unless it is part of a proposal, approved by the Lead Authority, to 

improve overall value for money for passengers. 

Page 418



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 38 

3.2.2 The Parties shall work together to develop and implement ticketing schemes for 

the benefit of passengers and the Operator, whether proposed on a statutory or non-

statutory basis subject to compliance with competition law. 

4. Negative Conditions 

For the Term of this Agreement the Operator shall not: 

4.1 act in a way which is primarily intended or expected to make cost effective delivery 

of the Reference Network more difficult;  

4.2 carry out their business in a manner which can be shown to, overall, have the intent 

or expectation of reducing passenger benefits from the bus network in Wales; and 

4.3 register Local Services which have the primary effect of undermining the value for 

money of the Subsidised Network (provided that nothing in this paragraph 4 shall 

prohibit the Operator from replacing an Existing Supported Service or New 

Supported Service with a Commercial Service which provides the same or better 

service across all hours of operation of the Supported Service. 

5. Exit from BES 2 

Where clause 10.2 applies, the Operator acknowledges that it is a condition of the payments 

made under this Agreement that the Operator will work with the Lead Authority, TfW and other 

operators to develop a set of partnership obligations which will preserve and improve the 

benefits to passengers embodied in the Welsh Government requirements set out in this 

Schedule, recognising the fact that such obligations must be compliant with competition law.  

 

Page 419



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 39 

SCHEDULE 2:  PARTNERSHIP THEMES 

The Parties acknowledge the following matters shall be taken into consideration when agreeing the 

Umbrella Partnership Agreement and may either be included within the terms of that agreement or may 

be included as provisions to consider in the implementation of VPAs or other partnership arrangements 

at a local level.  

The Parties shall use the draft form of VPA appended to this Schedule at Section 1 as a template when 

producing the Umbrella Partnership Agreement.  

In developing the Umbrella Partnership Agreement, the Parties agree to build on the Welsh Government 

requirements as set out in Schedule 1 and to agree a shared, enforceable set of partnership obligations 

to govern the partnership.  Examples of such obligations include the Operators working with TfW and 

the Lead Authority to develop and, where agreed, implement proposals to: 

1. register routes and timetables that support the journey times and interchange opportunities 

identified in the Reference Network; 

2. consolidate core routes, including determining how passengers can benefit from services on 

core routes irrespective of bus operator, to the extent enabled by competition law;  

3. de-duplicate and harmonise route numbering; 

4. identify unserved markets and routes that could serve those markets; 

5. develop and implement a code of practice on employment terms and driver standards to 

offer a safe and high quality service to passengers; 

6. facilitate the introduction of demand responsive or other approaches to service delivery, e.g. 

by deregistering the existing Local Services, where it is identified that routes may be more 

effectively served by other means; 

7. align new routes within the Reference Network where appropriate whilst allowing the 

Operator innovation in respect of new routes and bus services; 

8. improve value and/or convenience for passengers. This shall, to the extent enabled by 

competition law, include working with TfW and the Constituent Local Authorities on the 

introduction of ticketing schemes (whether statutory or voluntary) which may:  

8.1 introduce pay as you go capping;  

8.2 rationalise fares; and/or 

8.3 introduce day and/or weekly tickets,   

9. establish multi-operator ticketing schemes;  

10. provide information to support passengers, including the prompt communication of changes 

to bus timetables through Traveline Cymru, Lead Authority, Constituent Local Authorities 

and TfW; and 

11.  invest in bus services alongside the Welsh Government’s and Constituent Local 

Authorities’ investment in infrastructure with the aim of improving customer experience.  

Page 420



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 40 

Section 1:  FORM OF UMBRELLA PARTNERSHIP AGREEMENT

Page 421



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 41 

SCHEDULE 3:  COMPENSATION, PAYMENT AND RECONCILIATION 

Part 1:  General and information provision  

The Operator shall provide such information to TfW and the Lead Authority as they may 

reasonably require in order to calculate support payments, reconciliation payments and 

compensation to be paid pursuant to this Schedule 3. 

Part 2:  Payment 

1. The Service Payment (SP) shall be calculated as follows: 

𝑆𝑃 = 𝑃𝐶 + 𝐴𝑀 − 𝑃𝑅 + 𝑅𝑃 − 𝐶𝑃 

Where: 

1.1 Service Payment (SP): shall be calculated monthly and in accordance with the following:  

1.1.1 the first Service Payment under this Agreement, shall be calculated for a part month 

to take account of the Effective Date. Service Payments shall be paid on the same 

basis as BES 1.5 until the Parties agree a revised process to incorporate the 

provisions of this Part 1 of Schedule 3.  The Parties shall use reasonable endeavours 

to agree the revised process by no later than sixty (60) days after the Effective Date.  

Once the revised process for payment has been agreed, the Parties agree that 

paragraphs 1.1.3 and 1.1.4 below shall be updated to reflect such agreement. Any 

adjustments to allow for actual costs, margin and revenue during this first period 

shall be taken into account as part of the reconciliation process set out in Part 3 of 

this Schedule;   

1.1.2 the Lead Authority shall on a monthly basis by no later than the [  ]th day of each 

month, notify the Operator of the proposed Service Payment providing reasonable 

detail as to how it has been calculated in accordance with this Schedule;  

1.1.3 the Service Payment shall be paid by the Lead Authority within [ ] days of the 

Operator issuing an invoice following receipt of the notice in paragraph 1.1.2 in 

respect of a month, in respect of provision of services for that month; and  

1.1.4 where this Agreement terminates or expires, other than at the end of a month, the 

Lead Authority shall, acting reasonably, determine the date and calculation of 

payment to ensure that the Operator is paid for provision of Services throughout 

the term of this Agreement. 

1.2 Period Costs (PC): shall be such value as the Lead Authority may calculate in accordance with 

paragraph 1 of Section 1, noting that Inadmissible Costs, as set out in Section 2 to this Schedule, 

shall not be included in the calculation of PC; 

1.3 Assumed Margin (AM): shall be the assumed margin payable to the Operator for provision of 

the Services and shall be a percentage applied to these elements of the Period Costs (PC) for 

the relevant period i.e. direct costs, variable costs and overhead costs.  The AM shall be initially 

set at 2% of the value of the Periodic Cost. The Parties agree that during the Term, this assumed 

margin set at 2% shall be subject to ongoing review by Transport for Wales and Welsh 

Government to ensure that it remains an appropriate percentage to pay Operators as a margin 

in addition to their costs in accordance with Schedule 5;  

Page 422



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 42 

1.4 Periodic Revenue (PR): shall be all revenue received by the Operator in respect of the relevant 

period as the Lead Authority may calculate in accordance with paragraph 1 of Section 1;  

1.5 RP: is any reconciliation payment in accordance with Part 3, and shall be a positive figure where 

the Reconciliation Payment is to be made to the Operator and a negative figure where a 

Reconciliation Payment is to be made to the Lead Authority; and 

1.6 CP: is any compensation payment payable pursuant to Part 4. 

2. Where: 

2.1 SP is a positive figure then this amount shall be paid by the Lead Authority to the Operator, 

provided that the value of SP shall always be capped at a maximum at the level calculated in 

accordance with Section 1 (which may vary each month in line with the calculation); and 

2.2 SP is a negative figure then this amount shall be paid to the Lead Authority by the Operator,   

in each case in accordance with clause 9 and this Schedule. 

3. The Operator shall participate in an open book reconciliation process with TfW and the Lead 

Authority in accordance with Part 3 to allow assessment of costs to ensure that the Operator 

has not been overcompensated and that payments reflect the reasonable cost of providing the 

Services with no more than a reasonable profit earned.  Where the reconciliation process 

determines that the Operator has been over-compensated in any month, the value of the Monthly 

Costs payable in following months shall be adjusted, at the discretion of the Lead Authority 

(acting reasonably), such that, the Monthly Service Payment made by the Lead Authority 

reflects the Lead Authority’s expectation of the Operator’s costs in future months. 

4. The Operator acknowledges and agrees that where it fail to provide information in accordance 

with Section 1 of Schedule 3, this may result in a reduction in the Service Payment to:  

4.1 50% in the following month; and  

4.2 no payment in the month following the 50% reduction,  

provided that where the operator provides such information the balance of such payment shall 

be made as part of the next Service Payment. 

Part 3:  Reconciliation 

1. The Operator shall participate in an open book reconciliation exercise with TfW and the Lead 

Authority to enable them to assess compliance by the Operator with the terms of this Agreement 

and ensure that the Operator has not been over-compensated or under-compensated for 

provision of services pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.  The Operator acknowledges that 

the support provided to the Operator pursuant to the terms of this Agreement cannot lead to: 

1.1 over-compensation of the Operator, and where it is determined that the Operator has been over-

compensated for provision of any Local Service that the Lead Authority shall be entitled, on 

behalf of Welsh Government, to recover the amount of any over-compensation, in accordance 

with this Part 3 of Schedule 3; or 

1.2 under-compensation of the Operator, and where it is determined that the Operator has been 

under-compensated for provision of any Local Service as a result of events which were outside 

the reasonable control of the Operator (including the impact of exceptional weather related 

Page 423



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 43 

events and material unforeseen variations in passenger revenues), and in such circumstances  

the Lead Authority shall be entitled, on behalf of Welsh Government, to add the amount of any 

under-compensation to the next Service Payment provided in aggregate provided that the total 

Service Payments made to the Operator, including any such payments, shall not exceed the 

maximum levels calculated in accordance with Section 1. 

2. The reconciliation process shall be carried out in accordance with paragraph 2 of Section 1 to 

this Schedule 3. 

3. TfW may determine materiality thresholds for the carrying out of the reconciliation process, 

and determine that it would be disproportionate to carry out a reconciliation process in respect 

of the Operator.  Such decision shall be solely at TfW’s discretion, and where TfW makes any 

such decision, the Operator acknowledges that this shall be without prejudice to any future 

requirement to examine payments made to the Operator, including where this is required for 

the purposes of state aid, procurement or competition assessment. It is acknowledged that TfW 

may determine materiality thresholds by reference to level of payments made to the Operator, 

or such other criteria as TfW may determine are appropriate. 

4. The Operator shall provide any information reasonably required by TfW or the Lead Authority 

on an open book basis, including, but not limited to, information specified in Part 1 to 

Schedule 4. 

5. Information provided for this purpose may be shared with contractors that are engaged by TfW 

to undertake any reconciliation exercise or other analysis of the BES 2 Funding. 

Page 424



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 44 

Part 4:  Compensation 

1. Where pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, the Lead Authority or Welsh Government are 

entitled to be paid compensation by the Operator for breach of the terms of this Agreement, the 

provisions of this Part 4 shall apply, including: 

1.1 where the Operator is in material breach of this Agreement; 

1.2 where the Operator fails to agree the terms of the Umbrella Partnership Agreement, in 

accordance with clause 5.1; 

1.3 where the Operator fails to comply with the Welsh Government’s "Restarting public transport: 

guidance for operators" in accordance with paragraph 1.1 of Schedule 1; 

1.4 where the Operator fails to comply with the Reference Network and associated Service 

Standards in accordance with clause 8; and 

1.5 where the Operators fails to provide data in accordance with clause 7,  

and the Lead Authority shall allocate service failure points ("SFP") in respect of each such 

breach on the following basis:  

Trigger Service Failure Points 

Operator fails to agree the terms of the 

Umbrella Partnership Agreement, in 

accordance with clause 5.1. 

1 SFP for each day following the date on 

which the Umbrella Partnership 

Agreement remains unagreed in 

accordance with clause 5.1.  

Operator fails to comply with the Welsh 

Government’s "Restarting public transport: 

guidance for operators" in accordance with 

paragraph 1.1 of Schedule 1. 

20 

Operator fails to comply with the Reference 

Network and associated Service Standards in 

accordance with clause 8. 

30 

Operators fails to provide data in accordance 

with clause 7  

20 

Total: 100 

Compensation Payments shall be calculated on the following basis: 

 𝐶𝑃 = 𝐴𝑀 ×
𝑆𝐹𝑃

𝑀𝑆𝐹𝑃
 

Where:  

1.5.1 AM means the Assumed Margin for the relevant period as calculated in Part 2 

above. 

1.5.2 SFP means the total number of Service Failure Points allocated in respect of the 

relevant period.  

Page 425



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 45 

1.5.3 MSFP means the maximum number of Service Failure Points which may be 

allocated in respect of the relevant period, which shall be 100. 

1.6 Where SFP’s have been allocated for the same trigger in three (3) consecutive months or more, 

the Lead Authority or Welsh Government shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement in 

accordance with clause 11.2.  

  

Page 426



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 46 

Section 1:  INFORMATION TO BE PROVIDED BY THE OPERATOR 

Definitions 

 

"Good and Efficient Operator" means in the context of all other relevant provisions of this Agreement 

a notional bus operator, having the same commercial, regulatory and operational arrangements as the 

Operator and being subject to the same operational circumstances (which, for the avoidance of doubt, 

shall recognise the extraordinary impact of COVID-19, the existence of this Agreement and the 

requirement for operators to act in the national interest in response to COVID-19) as other bus operators, 

which complies with its legal obligations, including pursuant to this Agreement and in a timely, efficient 

and economical manner and with the degree of skill, diligence, prudence and foresight which can be 

expected from a skilled and experienced bus operator so that in this context costs and revenues are 

optimised in combination to the greatest extent reasonably practicable; 

 

"Forecast Template" means the Excel spreadsheet issued by TfW, as updated from time to time, to 

capture forecast revenue and costs for the purpose of calculating the Service Payment; 

"Inadmissable Costs" means those costs which are listed in Section 2 to Schedule 3; 

"Management Accounts" means the periodic management accounts which cover the relevant Quarter; 

"Month" means a calendar month; 

"Operator Specific Reporting Period" means a four-weekly, five weekly, monthly or similar cycle 

on which the Operator posts its accounts; 

"Quarter" means a period of three (3) months (April to June, July to September, October to December 

and January to March), or such other three (3) month period as TfW may reasonably specify;  

"Reconciliation Period"  means the closest multiple of the Operator Specific Reporting Period to the 

Quarter, to be agreed with the Operator; and   

"Reconciliation Template" means the Excel spreadsheet issued by TfW, as updated from time to time, 

to capture the actual revenue and income generated and costs incurred by the Operator for the relevant 

Quarter. 

1. Information to be provided Monthly 

1.1 In order for PC and PR to be calculated in accordance with paragraph 1 of Schedule 3, for each 

Month, the Operator shall complete the Forecast Template which provides high level details on 

the forecast revenue and costs for that Month; 

1.2 TfW will provide the Forecast Template for the Operator to complete and return to TfW within 

fourteen (14) days of the Operator issuing an invoicing following receipt of the notice from the 

Lead Authority notifying the Operator in reasonable detail of the proposed Service Payment or 

on such other date as may be agreed with TfW. 

1.3 The Operator shall be required to populate the following items in the Forecast Template in 

respect of all Local Services that they provide, including Commercial Services, Existing 

Supported Services, Former Commercial Services and New Supported Services: 

1.3.1 Forecast farebox revenue: based on the current month’s predicted outturn plus 

adjustment for seasonal factors, including, but not limited to Christmas, Easter and 

school holidays; 

1.3.2 Forecast funding: This shall reflect all funding received by the Operator, including 

but not limited to BSSG, Mandatory Concessionary Fare reimbursement, Young 

Page 427



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 47 

Persons Travel payments, CJRS, Job Retention Bonus and Job Support Scheme (as 

amended or replaced from time to time); 

1.3.3 Other income: This shall reflect all other income received by the Operator arising 

from the provision of Local Services, including but not limited to income received 

from advertising, maintenance and sales; and  

1.3.4 Forecast Cost: These shall be broken down by headings, e.g. Staff Costs, 

Fuel/Maintenance Costs, Overhead Costs, Interest, Depreciation etc.   

1.4 The Forecast Template will use the information provided in line with paragraph 1.3 to calculate 

the value of Assumed Margin in accordance with the principles set out in paragraph 2 of 

Schedule 3. 

2. Information to be provided for each Reconciliation Period 

2.1 In order for RP to be calculated in accordance with paragraph 1 of Schedule 3, at the end of 

each Reconciliation Period the Operator shall complete the Reconciliation Template which 

provides details on the actual revenue and income generated and costs incurred in the relevant 

Reconciliation Period. 

2.2 TfW will provide the Reconciliation Template for the Operator to complete and return to TfW 

within fifteen (15) Working Days of the end of the relevant Reconciliation Period. 

2.3 The Operator shall be required to populate the Reconciliation Template, which TfW may 

reasonably update from time to time, in respect of all Local Services that they provide, including 

Commercial Services, Existing Supported Services, Former Commercial Services and New 

Supported Services.   Such information to be provided for each Month in the Reconciliation 

Period in question plus the figures for the same three (3) Months in the prior year (only required 

for submissions up to the date when the Operator has provided a full prior years’ data to TfW, 

being data up to [31 March 2021] for most operators). 

2.4 In the event where any of the Operator’s Local Services operate across the Welsh border, the 

Operator shall assist with any further examination and analysis of the information provided in 

paragraph 2.3 above to ensure that the BES 2 Funding it receives, does not relate to the section 

of such Local Service which is outside of Wales.   

2.5  Once the Operator has submitted the Reconciliation Template, this shall be evaluated by TfW 

to ascertain whether a Reconciliation Payment  adjustment will be made to the next Service 

Payment following the completion of the reconciliation process in this Schedule 3.  

2.6 In determining the level of Reconciliation Payment, TfW may request further information or 

evidence from the Operator as it reasonably requires, such as, but not limited to Management 

Accounts or receipts relating to certain transactions. 

2.7 TfW shall use the Reconciliation Template and additional information to check whether any 

costs included in the template are Inadmissable Costs and may amend the Reconciliation 

Template to adjust the Reconciliation Payment accordingly where any costs are Inadmissable 

Costs. 

2.8 Where Inadmissable Costs are identified and the Period Costs (as defined in Part 2 of this 

Schedule) are re-calculated, the reconciliation exercise shall include consequential adjustments 

and reconciliation of the Assumed Margin to reflect the change in Period Costs. 

Page 428



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 48 

Section 2:  INADMISSABLE COSTS 

The following costs shall be Inadmissible Costs for the purposes of this Agreement: 

1. The Operator agrees and acknowledges that: (i) only reasonable costs incurred and evidenced 

as ongoing and repeat transactions shall be taken into account; and (ii) it shall operate efficiently 

during the Term.  

2. The Operator shall seek approval from the Lead Authority prior to incurring any material costs 

which are not ongoing and repeat transactions and agree the basis upon which such transactions 

will be considered for the purposes of this Schedule 3. Material costs may include investment 

in vehicles, information technology, costs of depot purchase or refurbishment or major items of 

plant and equipment.  The Lead Authority shall take the following considerations into account 

when determining the eligibility for BES 2 Funding such costs: 

2.1 evidence from the Operator to confirm that such expenditure was in their business plans 

and/or is required in the current COVID affected circumstances and cannot be deferred 

until patronage and farebox return to pre-COVID levels; 

2.2 confirmation from the Operator that they have explored all other routes for grants and 

funding such expenditure;  

2.3 a forecast of the net impact of the additional expense on their claims under this 

Agreement; and 

2.4 confirmation from the Operator that they will be able to sustain any ongoing payments 

for this following the cessation of the BES 2 Funding.   

3. For the avoidance of doubt, the reconciliation process will not take into account any capital 

expenditure, exceptional (non-operating) payments or dividend payments in determining 

whether the Operator has generated a profit before tax, or a loss at the end of each Reconciliation 

Period.  The Lead Authority shall determine whether any capital expenditure will be reimbursed 

in accordance with paragraph 2 above and will be paid in addition to the Service Payment as 

calculated pursuant to paragraph 1.1, of Part 2 of Schedule 3.   

4. Any costs that were incurred otherwise than in accordance with those expected to be incurred 

by a Good and Efficient Operator including but not limited to: 

4.1 staff, director or officer costs in excess of that set out in the Forecast Template (except 

where evidenced by the Operator as appropriate to the satisfaction of the Lead 

Authority); 

4.2 costs that do not reflect the contracted position under Existing Supported Services 

Contracts unless such change has been agreed by the Lead Authority; 

4.3 new contracts entered in to by the Operator which have not been procured in 

compliance with the Operator’s usual procurement procedures; and 

4.4 variations to existing contracts which have not been made in accordance with the 

Operator’s usual procurement procedures or practice. 

5. Any bonuses, rewards or discretionary benefits paid to any staff, directors or officers under any 

schemes which have not previously been approved by the TfW (in their absolute discretion) in 

writing. 

Page 429



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 49 

6. Any expenses, disbursements or equivalent costs (to which the Operator’s expenses policy 

would apply) which are incurred other than in compliance with the Operator’s expenses policy. 

7. Any cost that the Operator may incur as a result of it failing to comply with any applicable laws, 

to the extent this gives rise to a criminal liability.  

8. Any payments, costs or other liabilities owed to affiliates save in respect of such payments costs 

or other liabilities which have been incurred by the Operator acting as a Good and Efficient 

Operator. 

9. Costs of developing and protecting any Intellectual Property Rights which are not owned by the 

Operator or are so owned, but where the costs are not ancillary to an activity included in the 

Forecast Template. 

10. Marketing or advertising costs incurred substantially to the benefit of wider group products or 

group brand recognition and which are not primarily for the benefit of bus services. 

11. Fines from government or regulatory bodies. 

12. Any costs (including any legal costs and expenses) incurred by the Operator in pursuing any 

claim against or defending any claim from TfW or Welsh Government in respect of or in 

connection with the grant offer letter or otherwise. 

13. Any costs incurred in relation to the period prior to the BES Funding Period which a Good and 

Efficient Operator would usually have discharged in the period prior to the BES Funding Period. 

14. Any costs incurred in relation to the period prior to the expiry of the term of the BES Funding 

Period which a Good and Efficient Operator would usually have discharged in the period 

following the expiry of the BES Funding Period. 

15. Interest paid or payable on any loan from any lender that was taken out after the Effective Date 

(and subject to not having been approved in accordance with paragraph 2 in this Section 2), 

noting that the cash from such loan will not be taken into account as income in the reconciliation 

process. 

16. Except with the prior agreement of the Lead Authority or TfW (not to be unreasonably 

withheld), any costs, charges, penalties, compensation or similar payments that the Operator 

may incur as a result of the termination of any contract or other arrangement. 

17. Except with the prior agreement of the Lead Authority or TfW, losses on disposals of fixed or 

non-current assets. 

18. Maintenance costs where the maintenance activity was previously scheduled to be undertaken 

prior to or after the term of the BES Funding Period or where (and to the extent that) it would 

have been reasonable and/or prudent for the maintenance to have been carried out prior to or 

after the BES Funding Period. 

19. Depreciation or Capital Expenditure to the extent that the capital cost of acquisition of the 

relevant assets was to be funded by third party. 

20. Costs of complying with any audit by TfW or its agents pursuant to any grant offer letter or this 

Agreement. 

Page 430



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 50 

21. Reasonable costs for external assistance to complete this proforma up to £1,500 are not 

Inadmissible Costs.  Any amount in excess of £1,500 plus legal, accountancy and other costs 

and expenses incurred in connection with the preparation and implementation of this Agreement 

are Inadmissible Costs. 

22. Legal, accountancy and other costs and expenses incurred in connection with any future 

arrangements between the Lead Authority or TfW and the Operator following the BES Funding 

Period. 

23. Travel costs (including flight travel) of the Operator primarily relating to the business of their 

group, noting that TfW would expect the group to cover the cost of any such travel. 

24. Any costs which relate to that part of a Local Service which operates outside of Wales which 

shall be calculated on a pro rata basis to the length of the Local Service or as otherwise more 

accurately evidenced by the Operator.  

 

 

Page 431



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 51 

SCHEDULE 4:  DATA REQUIREMENTS 

Part 1:  Financial Data Requirements 

The Operator shall provide the following data in accordance with templates provided by TfW 

and updated from time to time, in respect of Commercial Services, Former Commercial 

Services and Local Services provided pursuant to Existing Supported Services Contracts and  

New Supported Services Contracts:  

1. Operational costs and revenue from the period covered by BES (including this Agreement and 

BES 1.5), the Bus Hardship Fund and the 20 March Letter scheme as well as costs and revenues 

covering a similar period prior to the commencement of the BES, the Bus Hardship Fund and 

the 20 March Letter schemes. Where intra-group costs are shown, you must be able to show 

evidence that these are properly incurred costs of providing the services.  These figures shall 

be disaggregated to show major cost and revenue sources, and shall include any payments 

received from local authorities and central Government such as: 

1.1 payments made under the Coronavirus Jobs Retention Scheme, Job Retention Bonus, Job 

Support Scheme and any replacement schemes; 

1.2 payments (and any reconciliation payments) made under BES including Service Payments 

received; 

1.3 payments pursuant to the terms of any Existing Supported Services Contract or New Supported 

Services Contract; 

1.4 payments under existing bus support arrangements including BSSG, Mandatory Concessionary 

Fare reimbursement and Young Persons travel payments and shall include any costs associated 

with the operation of such Local Services, including: 

1.4.1 direct costs, such as the costs of drivers, parts and fuel (fuel costs shall include the 

amounts payable or receivable on fuel related financial derivatives in respect of the 

relevant period, but exclude any "mark to market" gains or losses on financial 

derivatives); 

1.4.2 semi-direct costs, including but not limited to: the costs of engineering, 

maintenance, traffic pay, vehicle related costs and marketing;  

1.4.3 costs of additional holidays accrued by employees in the relevant claim period; 

1.4.4 overhead costs, including but not limited to: the costs of administration, pensions, 

fixed operating costs, insurance and claims; 

1.4.5 pensions expenses, including budgeted pension deficit repair costs, on the basis of 

the ongoing contributions payable for the relevant period, without adjustment to 

comply with accounting standards;  

1.4.6 operating lease costs on the basis of the lease rentals payable during the Term; 

1.4.7 depreciation and amortisation of property, plant, equipment, software and other 

applicable assets on a basis consistent with the Term; and 

1.4.8 reasonable PPE and safe operating costs. 

Page 432



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 52 

2. Revenue sources to also include farebox revenue generated and all other income received by 

the Operator, including but not limited to income received from advertising and sales in relation 

to Local Services. 

3. Commercial service kilometres covered by the operator’s services per 4-week period during the 

period covered by BES (including this Agreement and BES 1.5), the Bus Hardship Fund and 

the 20 March Letter Scheme and that for a similar period prior to the commencement of the 

BES, the Bus Hardship Fund and the 20 March Letter Scheme. 

4. Commercial services run and patronage data per 4 week period for the period covered by BES 

(including this Agreement and BES 1.5), the Bus Hardship Fund and the 20 March Letter 

Scheme and that for a similar period prior to the commencement of the BES, the Bus Hardship 

Fund and the 20 March Letter Scheme. 

5. Evidence of the process that the Operator has undertaken with Constituent Local Authorities to 

agree services, including pursuant to the terms of this Agreement and that service changes have 

been properly communicated to the general public. 

6. Evidence of the Operator’s cost implications of removing staff from the furlough system early, 

reasonable costs to bring vehicles back into service, cost of screens around the driver’s cab on 

buses, on bus capacity signage. 

7. The same information as above for the equivalent period in the previous financial year. 

8. Additional information (e.g. management accounts) to corroborate any submissions. 

 

Part 2:  Operational Data Requirements 

 

Where the data is available to the Operator or from its Electronic Ticket Machines, the following data 

shall be provided by it to support the prioritisation, co-ordination and design of services and to support 

the provision of information to passengers.  The data may be provided direct from the Operator’s 

Electronic Ticket Machine supplier with its permission, not to be unreasonably withheld, or direct from 

the Operator. The data shall be provided to TfW (or its nominated agent which may be Traveline Cymru 

or a local authority): 

 

Page 433



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 53 

Data Format  Source Scope 

Timetable  TransXchange 2.4 to 

include all stop level 

detail and full geographic 

routing information 

Scheduling software or 

entry into an online 

portal for conversion to 

TransXchange 2.4 

Current timetable  

Patronage Data Report from ETMs Direct from 

ETM/Operator 

Historic and current to 

support prioritisation of 

routes 

Passenger 

Counting/Capacity 

SIRI VM feed as 

amended to include 

occupancy and bus 

capacity information or 

report from ETMs 

Direct from 

ETM/Operator 

Historic and current to 

support passenger 

information and 

prioritisation of routes 

Origin and Destination  

Data  

Report from ETMs Direct from 

ETM/Operator 

Historic and current to 

support prioritisation and 

design of routes 

Fares Spreadsheet Files for 

Adult and child fares, 

zone or rider tickets, m-

tickets and multi 

operator tickets. Move to 

NeTEx format from 

January 2021 

Direct from 

ETM/Operator 

Historic and current to 

support passenger 

information and 

development of quality 

partnership schemes and 

ticketing schemes  

Real Time Information SIRI SM (where 

currently available)  

Direct from 

ETM/Operator 

Every 5-30 seconds 

 SIRI VM Direct from 

ETM/Operator 

Every 5-30 seconds 

 TransXchange 2.4 (as a 

minimum standard) to 

include Service number, 

journey code and 

crew/duty number 

information for each 

track/leg for each service  

Note that this will move 

to TransXChange 2.4 

once the Department for 

Transport profile is 

finalised and adopted 

Scheduling software or 

entry into an online 

portal for conversion to 

TransXchange 2.4 

5 days advance notice 

where systems permit 

 

 

Page 434



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 54 

Part 3:  Permitted Use 

1. Permitted Uses of the Operator Data shall be the following purposes: 

1.1 calculation of payments to be made in accordance with Part 2 of Schedule 3; 

1.2 periodic reconciliation in accordance with Part 3 of Schedule 3; 

1.3 calculation of any additional payments to be made in respect of provision of any additional 

services to be provided pursuant to clauses 12 (Existing Supported Services: Gross Cost), 13 

(Existing Supported Services: Net Cost) or 15 (Supported Services Contracts for Former 

Commercial Services).  

1.4 to support the calculation and payment of BSSG, Mandatory Concessionary Fare 

Reimbursement or My Travel Pass reimbursement;  

1.5 identification of any anomalous Operator costs and for the purposes of any audit of operator 

data or otherwise pursuant to clauses 7.7 to 7.10 of this Agreement;  

1.6 the assessment the viability of routes to support return to commerciality and determine the 

scope of the Subsidised Network in accordance with clause 8; 

1.7 to allow review of the BES 2 Funding mechanism specified in this Agreement by Welsh 

Government and Transport for Wales, including, but not limited to, pursuant to Schedule 5; 

1.8 to inform the reform of funding and reimbursement mechanisms (including BSSG and 

Mandatory Concessionary Fares) by Welsh Government and Transport for Wales including 

assessing the impact (or potential impact) of such funding mechanisms (and changes to such 

funding mechanisms) on the operators of local services in the Welsh bus market; 

1.9 to support the management of contracts (including Existing Supported Service Contracts as 

varied in accordance with the terms of this Agreement) that are being managed under this 

Agreement including in respect of the delivery of local services in accordance with the Service 

Specification or to the Service Standards; 

1.10 development of the Umbrella Partnership Agreement, and any VPA, QPS or ticketing scheme 

made pursuant to the terms of such Umbrella Partnership Agreement; 

1.11 development of the Reference Network in accordance with clause 8; 

1.12 provide of public information about the Operator’s Local Services and other Local Services 

operated in Wales;  

1.13 provision of a support service to the Traffic Commissioner, including a registration service 

(subject always to clause 7.5.1);   

1.14 inform investment decisions by Welsh Government, TfW and Local Authorities (including the 

Lead Authority); and 

1.15 inform the broader Welsh Government response to the COVID-19 outbreak. 

 

Page 435



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 55 

Part 4:  Public Sector Data Access and Confidentiality 

Data provided Confidential for the 

purposes of Clause 21  

Commercially Sensitive for 

the purposes of Clause 23 

Schedule 3 Part 2 Payment Yes Yes 

Schedule 3 Part 3 Reconciliation Yes Yes 

Schedule 3 Part 4 Compensation Yes Yes 

Schedule 3 Part 4 Section 1 

Information to be Provided by the 

Operator 

Yes Yes 

Schedule 4 Part 1 Financial Data 

Requirements 

Yes Yes 

Timetable No No 

Patronage Data  Yes Yes 

Passenger counting/capacity Yes Yes 

Origin and destination data Yes Yes 

Fares No No 

SIRI SM No No 

SIRI VM No No 

TXC supplementary data Yes Yes 

Page 436



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 56 

SCHEDULE 5:  FUNDING REVIEW 

1. Funding Review 

1.1 Welsh Government shall review the implementation of BES  Funding on a periodic basis 

("Funding Review"), at frequencies to be determined by Welsh Ministers at their sole 

discretion. 

1.2 It is acknowledged that BES Funding has been provided on a discretionary basis by Welsh 

Government and that Welsh Government shall therefore be entitled to apply its own criteria to 

determine whether to continue the provision of BES 2 Funding, but such criteria may include: 

1.2.1 Performance of the Bus Emergency Scheme (including this Agreement) against the 

available Funding in meeting the Priorities; and 

1.2.2 The levels of Funding available. 

1.3 The outcome of any Funding Review may include, but not be limited to, the following: 

1.3.1 continuation of the BES 2 Funding on its existing terms; 

1.3.2 changes to the BES 2 Funding terms, in which case the Agreement shall be varied 

in accordance with clause 29 to reflect the requirements of such change. 

The Parties agree and acknowledge that the Operator may propose a reduced 

Service Standard to take account of any reduction in BES 2 Funding, save for 

where either: 

1.3.2.1 BES 2 Funding is removed or reduced due to the removal of social 

distancing measures that previously impacted on transport capacity; or 

1.3.2.2 Welsh Government provide an alternative grant or funding scheme in 

place of BES 2 Funding which is designed to provide continuity of 

service; or 

1.3.3 ending the BES 2 Funding, in which case the Welsh Government shall use 

reasonable endeavours to provide the Lead Authority and the Operator with 

sufficient notice of such change in order to minimise the disruption to the 

Operator’s delivery of Local Services.  The minimum notice prior to ending the 

BES 2 Funding shall be the current period of notice to be provided to the Traffic 

Commissioner in respect of deregistration of Local Services except for where such 

decision arises as a result of UK government determining to terminate the financial 

settlement relating to the impact of COVID-19 on bus services or as a result of the 

Welsh Government budget setting round in which case the notice shall be a 

minimum of one (1) month. 

1.4 Where BES 2 Funding is terminated pursuant to paragraph 1.3 above, no further payments shall 

be made pursuant to this Agreement, following such notice period, provided that nothing in this 

Schedule 5 shall be taken to remove the right of Welsh Government to recover monies paid to 

the Operator or the entitlement of the Operator to any additional payments calculated, in each 

case, pursuant to the reconciliation and compensation process specified in Schedule 3. 

1.5 The Parties agree and acknowledge that as part of a Funding Review, Welsh Government may 

review the level of AM (as set out in Schedule 3) and make such adjustments as are reasonable 

Page 437



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 57 

and necessary to ensure the continued viability of services.  The review of the level of AM shall 

consider available Welsh Government budget, the levels of BES funding being provided to the 

bus industry and prevailing market conditions. 

 

 

Page 438



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 58 

SCHEDULE 6:  FORM OF SERVICE SPECIFICATION   

Operator Service 

Registrati

on 

Number 

Service 

number 

Route 

description 

Peak Vehicle 

Requirement 

(PVR) 

Typical 

weekly 

days of 

operation 

Mon-Sat 

First 

outward 

departure 

Mon-Sat 

Last 

return 

departure 

Number of 

departures per 

day per direction 

(Mon-Fri / Sat / 

Sun) 

Weekday Peak 

daytime frequency 

in minutes 

          

          

          

          

 

P
age 439



 

SJL/SJL/408845/1/UKM/107047288.3 59 

SCHEDULE 7:  TEMPLATE REGISTER OF VARIATIONS 

[Region and Operator Name] 

No. Contracting 

Authority 

Contract 

Reference 

Variation Approver name Signature and 

date of signature  

1.       

2.       

3.       

4.       

5.       

6.       

7.       

 

 

Page 440



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

19 JANUARY 2021

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR – EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT 

SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME – BRIDGEND WEST – PERMISSION TO 
CONSULT ON STATUTORY PROPOSAL

1. Purpose of report

1.1 This report provides a summary of the evaluations undertaken in respect of 
proposed School Modernisation Programme schemes for the Bridgend West area 
and recommends that Cabinet:

 notes the evaluations that have been undertaken;

 notes the preferred means to achieve the necessary school organisation ie 
discontinue the two English-medium schools (Corneli Primary School and Afon 
y Felin Primary School) and establish a new two-form entry (FE) plus 60-place 
nursery English-medium school with a 15place Additional Learning Needs 
Resource Centre on land at Plas Morlais (with effect from September 2023) – 
and to make a regulated alteration to the Welsh-medium school (Ysgol Y Ferch 
O’r Sgêr) in the form of an enlargement to a two form-entry plus 60-place 
nursery Welsh-medium school on the existing Corneli Primary School/Ysgol Y 
Ferch O’r Sgêr site (with effect from September 2024); and

 give approval to formally consult on the proposal.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives/other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objectives under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:

 Supporting a successful sustainable economy - taking steps to make the 
county borough a great place to do business, for people to live, work, study and 
visit, and to ensure that our schools are focused on raising the skills, 
qualifications and ambitions for all people in the county borough. 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the creation of resources throughout the community that 
can help deliver the Council’s well-being objectives. 

3. Background

3.1 As Cabinet will be aware, the Band B Strategic Outline Programme (SOP) was 
submitted to Welsh Government (WG) in July 2017, for which Cabinet approval was 

Page 441

Agenda Item 19



subsequently sought in October. Cabinet was presented with a report detailing the 
outcome of the Band B review and the revised SOP submission and gave approval 
to discontinue the original Band B schemes identified in the November 2010 
Cabinet report, and approved the revised and B schemes:

 Bridgend North East (primary)
 Bridgend South East (primary) - subsequently substituted by Mynydd Cynffig 

Primary School
 Bridgend West – Welsh-medium (primary)
 Bridgend West – English-medium (primary)
 Bridgend Special School 

3.2 On 6 December 2017, WG gave ‘approval in principle’ for Bridgend’s second wave 
of investment, which at that stage had an estimated programme envelope cost of 
£68.2m.  Further costs, which were to be determined, may be required and these 
would be associated with additional infrastructure capacity.

3.3 In July 2018, the School Modernisation Strategic Programme Board and Cabinet 
and Corporate Management Board (CCMB) undertook a gateway review of a 
longlist of education and site options in relation to each of the proposed schemes. 
The longlist of options was presented to Cabinet which resulted in a site shortlist. 
Officers subsequently undertook a desktop evaluation of the Bridgend West site 
shortlist.

3.4 Welsh Government published the Mutual Investment Model (MIM) contract notice 
on 9 July 2019 via Sell2Wales (and Official Journal of the European Union). Cabinet 
resolved at a meeting on 21 July 2020 to enter into a Strategic Partnering 
Agreement (SPA) with Welsh Education Partnership Company (WEPCo) Limited to 
facilitate the delivery of education and community facilities. 

3.5 Cabinet in their meeting on 21 January 2020 gave approval for the Bridgend West 
schemes to be taken forward via the MIM funding arrangements. The preferred way 
forward for the Bridgend West scheme being:

 preferred education options of provision of a new-build, two-form entry 
English-medium school on 'a' site - suitable for Afon y Felin and Corneli 
Primary Schools combined) and;

 provision of a new-build, two-form entry Welsh-medium school on ‘a’ site  - 
suitable for an enlarged Ysgol Y Ferch o’r ’Sgêr

3.6 The preferred sites for progression of feasibility for the new schools were 
determined by Cabinet as Valleys to Coast (V2C) owned Marlas Estate site and the 
existing Ysgol Y Ferch o’r Sgȇr/Cornelly Integrated Children’s Centre/Corneli 
Primary School site.

4. Current situation/proposal

4.1 School Modernisation Team officers have had a series of meetings with V2C and 
WG in order to progress the Bridgend West ‘Band B’ MIM scheme and to outline an 
appropriate programme (see draft summary programme at Appendix 1).

Page 442



4.2 Both V2C and WG are keen for the scheme to progress. The MIM Programme 
Director 21st Century Schools and Colleges has confirmed that Bridgend West can 
be considered a de facto ‘MIM pathfinder scheme’ (and consequently the ‘site 
investigation’ works were scheme funded by WG). The Director of Development and 
Asset Investment for V2C has confirmed that V2C are comfortable with the 
proposed programme.

4.3 It should be noted that a MIM scheme differs from a capital scheme in that the WG 
has appointed a private company (Gleeds) to work in partnership with authorities to 
develop a site-specific brief. Gleeds are also responsible for the detailed feasibility 
works required for all MIM schemes. 

4.4 Gleeds has undertaken ‘site investigation’ surveys of the sites and a scheme test fit. 
Neither of these have raised any concerns which would prevent the schemes from 
progressing.

4.5 One site for the proposed replacement schools in the West has been identified as 
land at Plas Morlais, owned by V2C.  The principle of the proposed land transaction 
is based upon a ‘swap’ deal with V2C, whereby BCBC swap the Afon-Y Felin 
Primary School site for V2C’s Plas Morlais site.  Land issues were agreed by 
Cabinet and Council in December and built into the capital programme.

 
4.6 Heads of terms in respect of the land swap required for the scheme have been 

agreed with V2C.

4.7 WG have confirmed that the Welsh Education Partnership Co. (WEPCo) was 
established in September 2020. Consequently, we are now able to move forward 
with delivering individual projects through the New Project Request process as set 
out in the Strategic Partnering Agreement.

4.8 In November 2020 WG approved BCBC’s Strategic Outline Case submission in 
respect of the Bridgend West proposal.

4.9 In order to progress the proposed Bridgend West Band B schemes to WG MIM 
stage 2 and business case approval stage it is necessary to have first completed 
the necessary School Organisation Code statutory processes.

4.10 In order to bring about a change of the proposed nature, the Code requires that a 
consultation exercise with the school governing body, staff, parents, pupils and 
interested parties is undertaken.  This is the first step in the statutory process. If 
carried through to completion, it is currently anticipated that this proposal will come 
into effect on 1 September 2023 (in respect of the English-medium proposal) and 2 
September 2024 (in respect of the Welsh-medium proposal). The consultation 
paper will set out the implications of the proposal. 

4.11 Following this period of consultation, a further report on the outcome of the 
consultation would be submitted to Cabinet to consider the result of that process. 
Cabinet would then need to decide whether to authorise the publication of a 
statutory notice. If such a notice were issued, it would invite formal objections during 
the statutory 28-day period.

Page 443



4.12 A number of options are available under the Code in terms of achieving the school 
organisation necessary for the Bridgend West ‘Band B’ schemes proposed:

Welsh-medium

1. ‘Enlarge’ the existing Ysgol Y Ferch O’r Sgêr to a two-form entry plus 60- 
place nursery Welsh-medium school; and

2. ‘Discontinue’ Ysgol Y Ferch O’r Sgêr and establish a new two-form entry plus
60-place nursery Welsh-medium school.

English-medium

1. ‘Discontinue’ Afon y Felin Primary School, ‘discontinue’ Corneli Primary 
School and establish a new two-form entry plus 60-place nursery English-
medium school with 15-place Additional Learning Needs Resource Centre 
(existing Corneli Primary School provision);

2. ‘Enlarge’ Afon y Felin Primary School into a two-form entry plus 60-place 
nursery, and ‘discontinue’ Corneli Primary School;

3. ‘Enlarge’ Corneli Primary into two-form entry plus 60-place nursery, and 
‘discontinue’ Afon y Felin Primary School.

4.13 Traditionally, when bringing schools together, BCBC has most frequently closed the 
‘old’ schools and created a ‘new’ school wherever possible (this has the advantage 
of creating a ‘fresh start’ for predecessor schools).

4.14 In respect of the Welsh-medium proposal there is no need to close a school (the 
existing Ysgol Y Ferch O’r Sgêr could simply be formally enlarged). In respect of 
English-medium, however, two schools (with two headteachers) would be replaced 
by a single school. 

4.15 The Integrated Children’s Centre (ICC) building currently located on the Corneli site 
would remain in situ under the proposal ‘as is’ and consequently would be adjacent 
to one of the new school buildings upon completion. Both newly created school 
buildings would have integrated community facilities. It is therefore envisioned at 
this stage that the existing Flying Start provision at Afon y Felin Primary School 
would transfer to the ICC building if the proposal is progressed (it should be noted 
that for this to be possible, the community facilities in the new school buildings 
would need to be made available for bookings in respect of community activities 
currently accommodated within the ICC).

4.16 There is an existing hard court pitch on the land at Plas Morlais (owned by V2C) 
which would be part of the site required to be developed for provision of the new 
school building. Community accessible outdoor sports provision would be included 
as part of the proposed new build schemes, which should negate any perceived 
detriment involved in developing the site.

4.17 Corporate Management Board in their meeting of 1 December 2020 determined that 
their preferred means to achieve the necessary school organisation is to 
discontinue the two English-medium primary schools (Corneli Primary School and 

Page 444



Afon y Felin Primary School) and establish a new school – and to make a regulated 
alteration to the Welsh-medium school (Ysgol Y Ferch O’r Sgêr) in the form of an 
enlargement.

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 There is no effect upon the policy framework or procedure rules.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

6.1 An initial screening has been undertaken for Band B.  Once schemes have been 
sufficiently developed, they will be subject to a separate EIAs, as the detail will vary 
between projects.  Equality reports on all proposals will be referred to as part of the 
individual Cabinet reports on each individual scheme. 

7.   Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications

7.1 The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 Assessment provides a 
comprehensive summary of the outcomes expected from the implementation of the 
service.  

Long-term      Supports the statutory duty to provide sufficient pupil places and 
promote the Welsh language.

Prevention    Councils have a statutory duty to ensure there are a sufficient 
supply of school places, and these schemes will safeguards the 
Council’s position in terms of any potential legal challenge in this 
regard.

Integration Providing sufficient places ensures that the curriculum can be 
delivered and meets social, environmental and cultural objectives. 
 

Collaboration The local authority works effectively with schools, Estyn and with 
the Central South Consortium (CSC), health, community councils 
and many internal and external partners to ensure that the building 
meets the short-term and future needs of the users and the 
community which it will serve.

Involvement This area of work involves the engagement of all potential 
stakeholders including Cabinet, members, governors, staff, pupils, 
community, internal and external partners which will include third 
sector organisations.

8. Financial implications

8.1 The costs of the consultation will be met from existing resources. 

8.2 If the proposal does go ahead then the cost of the new school will be funded via an 
annual charge to the revenue budget, over a 25-year period, which will need to be 
built into the MTFS as a budget pressure. Early estimates are that this could be in 

Page 445



the region of £500k per annum, but this will be determined as the scheme 
progresses. The cost is based on a Welsh Government intervention rate for MIM 
schemes of 81%, with the authority funding 19% of the annual costs, plus 35% of 
any up-front capital investment for ICT and furniture and equipment. 

8.3 The running costs of the new school would be met from within the Delegated 
Schools’ Budget as is currently the case. It is too early to say whether there will be 
efficiency savings or additional costs from the proposed new school, and future 
reports to Cabinet will outline the financial implications, as they are known, in more 
detail.

9. Recommendations

9.1 Cabinet is requested to:

 note the evaluations that have been undertaken;

 note the preferred means to achieve the necessary school organisation ie 
discontinue the two English-medium schools (Corneli Primary School and Afon 
y Felin Primary School) and establish a new two-form entry plus 60-place 
nursery English-medium school with 15-place Additional Learning Needs 
Resource Centre school on land at Plas Morlais (with effect from September 
2023) – and to make a regulated alteration to the Welsh-medium school 
(Ysgol Y Ferch O’r Sgêr) in the form of an enlargement to two-form entry plus 
60-place nursery Welsh-medium school on the existing Corneli Primary 
School/Ysgol Y Ferch O’r Sgêr site (with effect from September 2024) and;

 give approval to formally consult on the Bridgend West proposal.

Lindsay Harvey
Corporate Director - Education and Family Support

Contact officer: Nicola Echanis
Head of Education and Early Help

Telephone: (01656) 642611

E-mail: nicola.echanis@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address: Education and Family Support Directorate
Bridgend County Borough Council
Civic Offices
Angel Street
Bridgend
CF31 4WB

Page 446



Background documents

Council Report (13 September 2006): “LEARNING COMMUNITIES – SCHOOLS OF THE 
FUTURE – STRATEGY, PRINCIPLES, POLICY AND PLANNING FRAMEWORK”

Cabinet Report (2 November 2010): “THE SCHOOL MODERNISATION 
PROGRAMMEOVERVIEW AND BRIDGEND’S 21ST CENTURY SCHOOLS’ STRATEGIC 
OUTLINE PROGRAMME SUBMISSION TO WELSH ASSEMBLY “

Cabinet Report (1 September 2015): “STRATEGIC REVIEW INTO THE DEVELOPMENT 
AND RATIONALISATION OF THE CURRICULUM AND ESTATE PROVISION OF 
PRIMARY, SECONDARY AND POST-16 EDUCATION”

Cabinet Report (3 October 2017): “SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME – BAND 
B (2019-2024)”

Cabinet Report (30 January 2018): “SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME – BAND 
B”

Council Report (31 January 2018): “SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME – BAND 
B”

Cabinet Report (20 November 2018): “SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME – 
BAND B”

Cabinet Report (19 December 2018): “SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME – 
BAND B”

Council Report (20 December 2018): “SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME – 
BAND B”

Cabinet Report (19 March 2019): “SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME – BAND 
B”

Council Report (20 March 2019): “SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME – BAND 
B”

Exempt Cabinet Report (21 January 2020): “SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME 
– BAND B”

Cabinet Report  (21 July 2020): “SCHOOL MODERNISATION PROGRAMME BAND B, 
MUTUAL INVESTMENT MODEL WELSH EDUCATION PARTNERSHIP - STRATEGIC 
PARTNERING AGREEMENT”

Exempt Joint Report to Cabinet (15 December 2020): “REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF 
OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND CHANGE, CORPORATE DIRECTOR – 
EDUCATION AND FAMILY SUPPORT AND THE CORPORATE DIRECTOR – 
COMMUNITIES - SCHOOL MODERNISATION - BAND B CAPITAL PROGRAMME - 
LAND COSTS”

Page 447



Page 448



Appendix 1

Anticipated Programme:

Complete Stage 0 MIM activities August 2020

Begin statutory consultation January 2021

Complete statutory consultation and 
make determination June 2021

Submit new project request to WEPCo June 2021

Stage 1 MIM activities (indicative) June 2021 to November 2021

OBC submitted to Welsh Government November 2021

Stage 2 MIM activities (indicative) November/December 2021 to May 2022

Full Business Case submitted to Welsh 
Government May 2022

Construction period (indicative)
School 1 – May/June 2022 to November 
2023
School 2 – November 2023 to September 
2024

Completion/Opening School 1 – September 2023
School 2 – September 2024

Which of the existing schools moves into the first completed new school will be determined 
at Outline Business Case stage, although at this stage it is envisioned that the phasing will 
progress as follows:

Phase 1

• Secure the currently vacant public space.
• Commence the site clearance, construction and delivery of the new school on the 

Marlas site, including some external amenity facilities.
• The existing Corneli Primary School, Afon y Felin Primary and Ysgol Y Ferch O’r 

Sgȇr continue to operate as normal.

Page 449



Phase 2

• Decant Corneli Primary School and Afon y Felin Primary School into the newly 
completed Marlas site school.

• Secure the existing Corneli Primary school and segregate it from Ysgol Y Ferch o’r 
Sgȇr and the Integrated Children’s Centre, which will continue to operate as normal.

• Ysgol Y Ferch O’r Sgȇr and the Integrated Children’s Centre to be accessed via 
Greenfield Terrace, as normal.

•      Site access for the secured site containing Corneli Primary School to be via Hall
Drive.                                                                                                             

• Demolition of the old school and construction of the new school to commence.
• External works at Marlas site school to be completed simultaneously.

Phase 3

• Upon completion of the new school on the former Corneli Primary School/Ysgol Y 
Ferch O’r Sgȇr/Integrated Children’s Centre site, decant Ysgol Y Ferch o’r Sgȇr into 
the new school.

• Commence operating out of the new school, with access via Hall Drive for both the 
new school and the Children’s Centre.

• Secure Ysgol Y Ferch O’r Sgȇr as a construction site for its demolition.
• Complete the demolition and external works within the vicinity.
• Remove site hoardings.
• Works completed.

Page 450



BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL

REPORT TO CABINET

 19 JANUARY 2021   

REPORT OF THE CHIEF OFFICER - LEGAL, HR AND REGULATORY SERVICES

INFORMATION REPORT FOR NOTING

1. Purpose of report

1.1 The purpose of this report is to inform Cabinet of the Information Report for noting 
which has been published since its last scheduled meeting.

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate priorities

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being objective 
under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015:- 

   
 Smarter use of resources – ensuring that all its resources (financial, physical, 

ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and efficiently as 
possible and support the development of resources throughout the community 
that can help deliver the Council’s priorities. 

3. Background

3.1 At a previous meeting of Cabinet, it was resolved to approve a revised procedure for the 
presentation to Cabinet of Information Reports for noting.

4. Current situation/proposal                                                                     

4.1 Information Report

The following information report has been published since the last meeting of Cabinet:-    

Title Date Published

Treasury Management – Quarter 3 Report 2020-21 13 January 2021
                                                                                                                                                                                                          
4.2 Availability of Documents

This document has been circulated to Elected Members electronically via 
email and placed on the BCBC website. It is also available from the date of publication. 

5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules

5.1 This procedure has been adopted within the procedure rules of the Constitution.

6. Equality Impact Assessment

Page 451

Agenda Item 20



6.1 There are no negative equality implications arising from this report.
  
7. Wellbeing of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 

7.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 
report.  It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon 
the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report.

8. Financial implications.

8.1 There are no financial implications regarding this report. 

9. Recommendation.

9.1 That Cabinet acknowledges the publication of the document listed in this report.

K Watson
Chief Officer Legal, HR and Regulatory Services & Monitoring Officer
January 2021 

Contact Officer: Mark Galvin  
Senior Democratic Services Officer - Committees 

Telephone: (01656) 643148
 Email: cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk

Postal address: Democratic Services
Legal and Regulatory Services
Civic Offices
Angel Street 
Bridgend 
CF31 4WB

Background documents:  None

Page 452

mailto:cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk


                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

 

BRIDGEND COUNTY BOROUGH COUNCIL 
    

INFORMATION REPORT TO CABINET 
 

19 JANUARY 2021 
 

REPORT OF THE INTERIM CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, PERFORMANCE AND 
CHANGE  

 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT – QUARTER 3 REPORT 2020-21 

 
1. Purpose of report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to:- 
 

 Comply with the requirement of the Chartered Institute of Public Finance 
and Accountancy’s ‘Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code 
of Practice’ to produce interim Treasury Management Reports. 
 

 Report on the projected Treasury Management Indicators for 2020-21.  
 

2. Connection to corporate well-being objectives / other corporate 
priorities 

2.1 This report assists in the achievement of the following corporate well-being 
objective under the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015: 

 Smarter use of resources – ensure that all resources (financial, physical, 
ecological, human and technological) are used as effectively and 
efficiently as possible and support the creation of resources throughout 
the community that can help to deliver the Council’s well-being 
objectives. 

 
2.2 The Treasury Management Report is integral to the delivery of all of the 

Council’s well-being objectives as the allocation of resources determines the 
extent to which the well-being objectives can be delivered. 

 
3. Background  
 
3.1 Treasury management is the management of the Council’s cash flows, 

borrowing and investments, and the associated risks. The Council is exposed 
to financial risks including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of 
changing interest rates.  The successful identification, monitoring and control 
of financial risk are therefore central to the Council’s prudent financial 
management.  

 
3.2 Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the framework of 

the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury 
Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice 2017 Edition (the CIPFA 
Code) which requires the Council to approve a Treasury Management Strategy 

Page 453



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

(TMS) before the start of each financial year. The CIPFA Code also requires 
the Council to set a number of Treasury Management Indicators, which are 
forward looking parameters and enable the Council to measure and manage its 
exposure to treasury management risks, and these are included throughout this 
report. In addition, the Welsh Government (WG) issued revised Guidance on 
Local Authority Investments in November 2019 that requires the Council to 
approve an Investment Strategy before the start of each financial year. This 
report fulfils the Council’s legal obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 
to have regard to both the CIPFA Code and the Welsh Government Guidance. 

 
3.3 In 2017 CIPFA also published a new version of the Prudential Code for Capital 

Finance in Local Authorities (the Prudential Code). The updated Prudential 
Code includes a requirement for Local Authorities to provide a Capital Strategy, 
which is a summary document approved by full Council covering capital 
expenditure and financing, treasury management and non-treasury 
investments. The definition of investments in the revised 2017 CIPFA Code now 
covers all the financial assets of the Council as well as other non-financial 
assets which the authority holds primarily for financial return. The Council’s 
Capital Strategy 2020-21, complying with CIPFA’s requirement, includes the 
Prudential Indicators along with details regarding the Council’s non-treasury 
investments. The Capital Strategy and TMS should be read in conjunction with 
each other as they are interlinked, as borrowing and investments are directly 
impacted upon by capital plans and were approved together by Council on 26 
February 2020. 

 
3.4 The Council’s treasury management advisors are Arlingclose. The current 

services provided to the Council include:- 

 advice and guidance on relevant policies, strategies and reports 
 advice on investment decisions 
 notification of credit ratings and changes 
 other information on credit quality 
 advice on debt management decisions 
 accounting advice 
 reports on treasury performance 
 forecasts of interest rates 
 training courses  

 
4. Current situation / proposal  
 
4.1    Economic Context  

 
4.1.1 On 25 November 2020 the Chancellor delivered the outcome of the 

Comprehensive Spending Review, along with the Office for Budget 
Responsibility (OBR) forecast. In terms of the latter, the OBR forecasts that the 
economy will contract this year by 11.3% - the largest fall in output for more 
than 300 years. The Chancellor indicated that he expected the economy to start 
recovering as restrictions were eased, and whilst the medium term global 
economic outlook has improved with the distribution of vaccines, the recent 
upsurge in coronavirus cases has worsened economic prospects over the short 

Page 454



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

term. Restrictive measures and further lockdowns are likely to continue in the 
UK until the majority of the population is vaccinated by the second half of 2021. 
The recovery period will be strong thereafter, but potentially longer than 
previously envisaged.  
 

4.1.2 The Brexit transition period, which has kept the UK temporarily attached to most 
EU rules, expired on the 31 December 2020. After months of negotiations, the 
UK and European Union finally agreed a last minute trade deal. 
 

4.1.3 The interest rate views incorporated in the Council’s TMS 2020-21 were based 
upon officers’ views supported by a forecast from Arlingclose. When the TMS 
2020-21 was prepared at the beginning of 2020, it was forecasted that the Bank 
Rate would remain at 0.75% until the end of 2022. However the combined effect 
of Brexit and the after-effects of the pandemic will dampen growth relative to 
peers, maintain spare capacity and limit domestically-generated inflation. It is 
expected therefore that the Bank of England (BoE) will maintain loose monetary 
conditions for the foreseeable future. Therefore Arlingclose are now forecasting 
that BoE Bank Rate will remain at 0.1% until at least the end of 2023.  
                                                        

4.1.4 Since the outbreak of the Covid-19 pandemic, the UK and Welsh Government 
have announced a wide range of financial support schemes to try and mitigate 
the impact on the economy, businesses and individuals. These include: 

 Job Retention Scheme (furlough) (UK) 
 Self Employed Income Support Scheme (UK) 
 Small Charities Business Rates Grants (WG) 
 Local Government Hardship Fund (WG),  
 Business Support Grants  (WG) 
 Economic Resilience Fund (WG)  

 

 The local authority has administered a number of the Welsh Government 
Schemes including payment of over 2,400 business and charity Business Rates 
Grants worth over £30 million; over 1,900 Lockdown Grants totalling just over 
£5.4 million; and 400 Business Restrictions Grants totalling £1.458 million, as 
well as bearing the upfront costs of additional support required throughout the 
pandemic in advance of receiving WG funding. This has clearly had an impact 
on the Council’s cash flow during the year and measures have had to be put in 
place to manage the significant sums of money flowing into and out of the 
Council’s bank account, including receiving earlier payments of Revenue 
Support Grant and interim business grant payments from Welsh Government, 
making short term deposits until funding is required and increasing our daily 
BACS limits to enable more payments to be processed quickly. As the year 
progresses more Welsh Government grants have been announced and paid, 
so close management of the Council’s cash flow is a priority. 

4.2    External Debt and Investment Position  
 

4.2.1 As at 31 December 2020, the Council held £96.87 million of external long-term 
borrowing and £60.1 million of investments. The external debt and investment 
position for 1 April to 31 December 2020 is shown below in Table 1.  More detail 

Page 455



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

is provided in section 4.3 - Borrowing Strategy and Outturn, and section 4.4 - 
Investment Strategy and Outturn.  

 
           Table 1: Council’s external debt and investment position 1 April to 31 December 

2020 
  
 

 
   
 * (PFI) arrangement for the provision of a Secondary School in Maesteg 14.5 years remaining term 

**the funds provide instant access  

 
4.2.2 Where a Council finances capital expenditure by debt, it must put aside revenue 

resources to repay that debt in later years and this amount charged to revenue 
is called the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). The Local Authority (Capital 
Finance and Accounting) (Amendment) (Wales) Regulations 2008  requires the 
Council to produce and approve an annual Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 
Statement before the start of the financial year that details the methodology for 
the MRP charge and this is detailed in the Council’s Capital Strategy. The 
underlying need to borrow for capital purposes is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR), while usable reserves and working capital are 
the underlying resources available for investment. The Council’s current 
strategy is to maintain borrowing and investments below their underlying levels, 
sometimes known as internal borrowing. This strategy is prudent as investment 
returns are low and counterparty risk is relatively high. The CFR is forecast to  
be £174.09 million at year end.  Going forward it is expected to increase due to 
the amount of prudential borrowing in the capital program in future years. 

 

Principal Average Principal Average
Rate  Rate 

01/04/2020 01/04/2020 31/12/2020 31/12/2020

£m % £m %

External Long Term Borrowing:

Public Works Loan Board 77.62 4.70 77.62 4.70

Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option 19.25 4.65 19.25 4.65

Total External Borrowing 96.87 4.69 96.87 4.69

Other Long Term Liabilities (LTL): 

Private Finance Initiative (PFI)* 16.30 15.75

Other LTL 1.10 0.99

Total Other Long Term Liabilities 17.40 16.74

Total Gross External Debt 114.27 113.61

Treasury Investments:

Debt Management Office 37.00 0.06 4.45 0.00

Local Authorities 18.00 0.97 31.50 0.22

Banks 5.00 0.34 6.15 0.02

Building Societies 2.00 0.78 0.00 0.00

Money Market Fund*** - - 18.00 0.03

Total Treasury Investments 62.00 0.37 60.10 0.13

Net Debt 52.27 53.51

Page 456



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

4.2.3 The liability benchmark measures the Council’s lowest risk level of borrowing 
plus a short term liquidity allowance in the form of minimum cash and 
investment balances.  The purpose of the benchmark is to set the level of risk 
which the Council regards as its balanced or normal position. The forecast 
liability benchmark, or level of debt as at 31 March 2021, is £93.93 million, which 
is below the estimate within the TMS.  The current level of long-term borrowing 
is £96.87 million.  The liability benchmark will tend to fluctuate during the year 
due to changes in the capital programme and financing, however long term 
borrowing is in line with the liability benchmark.  Table 2 below has been 
produced using estimates of capital spend and forecasts on usable reserves 
for the current financial year. The Loans CFR ignores cash balances and may 
be too high if the authority benefits from long term positive cash flows which 
this Council does benefit from. The benchmark assumes that cash and 
investment balances are kept to a minimum level of £10 million at each year-
end to maintain sufficient liquidity but minimise credit risk. 

Table 2: Liability benchmark  
 
 

 
4.3 Borrowing Strategy and Outturn  

 
4.3.1 At 31 December 2020, the Council held £96.87 million of long-term loans as 

part of its strategy for funding previous years’ capital programmes. The TMS 
2020-21 forecast that the Council would need to borrow £16 million in 2020-21.  
The quarter 3 Capital Programme suggests borrowing of £2.18 million, however 
this will be short term ‘internal borrowing’ due to the current level of available 
reserves. It is likely that this will reduce to zero should there be any further 
slippage of the Capital Programme in the remainder of the year.  More detail on 
forecast capital spend is provided in the Capital Strategy 2020-21 which was 
approved by Council on 26 February 2020 and the Quarter 3 Capital Monitoring 
report as reported to Cabinet and Council in January 2021.  
 

4.3.2 The Council’s chief objective when borrowing money is to strike an 
appropriately low risk balance between securing low interest costs and 
achieving certainty of those costs over the period for which funds are required.  
The flexibility to renegotiate loans, should the Council’s long-term plans 
change, is a secondary objective. Therefore the major objectives to be 
followed in 2020-21 are: 

 
 to minimise the revenue costs of debt 

 

2019-20 
Actual 

 
£m  

2020-21 
Estimate 

TMS 
£m  

2020-21 
Projection 

 
£m  

Loans Capital Financing 
Requirement  

157.0 157.4 157.0 

Less: Usable reserves (76.0) (48.1) (73.07) 

Working capital (7.0) - - 

Plus: Minimum investments 10.0 10.0 10.0 

Liability Benchmark 84.0 119.3 93.93 

Page 457



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

 to manage the Council’s debt maturity profile i.e. to leave no one future year 
with a high level of repayments that could cause problems in re-borrowing  

 to effect funding in any one year at the cheapest cost commensurate with 
future risk 

 to monitor and review the level of variable interest rate loans in order to take 
greater advantage of interest rate movement 

 to reschedule debt if appropriate, in order to take advantage of potential 
savings as interest rates change 

 to optimise the use of all capital resources including borrowing, both supported 
and unsupported, usable capital receipts, revenue contributions to capital and 
grants and contributions 

 
4.3.3 Given the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic on the economy and public finances 

in general, as well as on local government funding in particular, and the 
uncertainty going forward, the Council’s borrowing strategy continues to 
address the key issue of affordability without compromising the longer-term 
stability of the debt portfolio. The ever increasing uncertainty over future interest 
rates increases the risks associated with treasury activity.  As a result the 
Council will take a cautious approach to its treasury strategy. With short-term 
interest rates currently much lower than long term rates, it is likely to be more 
cost effective in the short term to either use internal resources or take out short 
term loans instead. 

4.3.4 The Council’s primary objective for the management of its debt is to ensure its 
long term affordability. The majority of its loans have therefore been taken out 
with the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) at long term fixed rates of interest 
but we will also investigate other sources of finance, such as Welsh 
Government and local authority loans and bank loans that may be available at 
more favourable rates. The PWLB lending rates were increased by 1% in 
October 2019, but this rate rise was reversed from 26 November 2020 as part 
of the Comprehensive Spending Review on 25 November 2020, and PWLB 
lending rates reverted back to the original rates. 

 
4.3.5 The last time the Council took out long-term borrowing was £5 million from the 

PWLB in March 2012 and, as detailed above, the current forecast is that there 
will be no requirement for new long-term borrowing in 2020-21. The Council 
may take out short term loans (normally for up to one month) to cover 
unexpected cash flow shortages. Market conditions have meant that there has 
been no rescheduling of the Council’s long term borrowing so far this year 
however, in conjunction with Arlingclose, the loan portfolio will continue to be 
reviewed for any potential savings as a result of any loan rescheduling. 

 
4.3.6 The £19.25 million in Table 1 above relates to Lender’s Option Borrower’s 

Option (LOBO) loans which have a maturity date of 2054, however these may 
be re-scheduled in advance of this maturity date.  The LOBO rate and term may 
vary in the future depending upon the prevailing market rates, the lender 
exercising their option to increase rates at one of the bi-annual trigger points 
(the trigger dates being July and January) and therefore, the Council being 
given the option to accept the increase or to repay the loan without incurring a 
penalty. The lender did not exercise their option on 22 July 2020 and the next 
trigger point is 22 January 2021. The lender is unlikely to exercise their option 

Page 458



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

in the current low interest rate environment, however, an element of refinancing 
risk remains.  The Council would take the option to repay these loans at no cost 
if it has the opportunity to do so in the future. The current average interest rate 
for these LOBO’s is 4.65% compared to the PWLB Loans average interest rate 
of 4.70%. The premiums payable to renegotiate the Council’s Lender’s Option 
Borrower’s Option (LOBO) continues to be cost prohibitive. 

 
 
4.3.7 HM Treasury issued revised lending terms for PWLB borrowing by Local 

Authorities in November 2020.  As a condition of accessing PWLB borrowing, 
local authorities will be asked to confirm that there is no intention to buy 
investment assets primarily for yield in the current or next two financial years.  
Local Authorities’ section 151 Officers, or equivalent, will be required to confirm 
that capital expenditure plans are current, and that the plans are within 
acceptable use of the PWLB.  Whilst this does not preclude Councils from 
investing in commercial activities, due to the extensive 21st Century Schools 
Band B programme and borrowing needed to support the wider capital 
programme, the Council would not be able to borrow to invest in land or property 
for commercial reasons as this would prevent it from borrowing for its other 
major schemes. 

 
4.3.8 The Treasury Management indicator shown in Table 3 below is for the Maturity 

Structure of Borrowing and is set for the forthcoming financial year to control 
the Council’s exposure to refinancing risk with respect to the maturity of the 
Council’s external borrowing, and has been set to allow for the possible 
restructuring of long term debt where this is expected to lead to an overall 
saving or reduction in risk. It is the amount of projected borrowing maturing in 
each period as a percentage of total projected borrowing. The upper and lower 
limits on the maturity structure of borrowing set out in the TMS 2020-21 and the 
projection for 2020-21 is: 

 
           Table 3: Treasury Management Indicator Maturity Structure of Borrowing 2020-21 
 

 
The 19.87% shown in Table 3 above relates to the £19.25 million LOBO loans 
which may be re-scheduled in advance of their maturity date of 2054, as 
detailed in paragraph 4.3.6. The CIPFA Code requires the maturity of LOBO 
loans to be shown as the earliest date on which the lender can require payment, 
i.e. the option/call dates in 2020-21, so the maturity date is actually uncertain 
but is shown in the “Under 12 months” category as per the Code. 
 
 
 

Refinancing rate risk indicator  
Maturity structure of  borrowing 
2020-21 

TMS 2020-21 
Upper limit 

% 

TMS 2020-21 
Lower limit 

% 

Projection  
31-3-21 

% 
 Under 12 months  50 - 19.87 
 12 months and within 24 months 25 - - 
 24 months and within 5 years 25 -   9.59 
 5 years and within 10 years 40 - 16.33 
 10 years and within 20 years 50 - 11.48 
  20 years and above 60 25 42.73 

Page 459



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

4.4 Investment Strategy and Outturn 
 
4.4.1 Both the CIPFA Code and the WG Guidance require the Council to invest its 

funds prudently and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its 
investments before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield.  The Council’s 
objective when investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between 
risk and return, balancing the risk of incurring losses from defaults against 
receiving unsuitably low investment income.  

The major objectives during 2020-21 are:-  

 To maintain capital security 
 To maintain  liquidity so funds are available when expenditure is needed  
 To achieve the yield on investments commensurate with the proper levels 

of security and liquidity 
 
4.4.2 The Annual Investment Strategy incorporated in the Council’s TMS 2020-21 

includes the credit ratings defined for each category of investments and the 
liquidity of investments. The Council’s investments have historically been placed 
in mainly short term bank and building society unsecured deposits and local and 
central government.  However, investments may be made with any public or 
private sector organisations that meet the minimum credit criteria and 
investment limits specified in the Investment Strategy. The majority of the 
Council’s surplus cash is currently invested in Money Market Funds and with 
other local authorities but the Council will continue to look at investment options 
in line with the limits detailed in the Investment Strategy. In the last 9 months 
Arlingclose has been constantly stress testing the financial institutions on its 
recommended counterparty list during the pandemic and, as a result, has 
removed a number from its recommended list for unsecured deposits and 
revised the credit rating, outlook and recommended deposit period for a number 
of others. This reflects the revised likely credit worthiness of the institutions from 
the economic and financial market implications of coronavirus. The Council 
takes into account updated advice from its advisors before making any 
investment decisions. 
 

4.4.3 The Council holds surplus funds representing income received in advance of 
expenditure plus balances and reserves and, as shown in Table 1 above, the 
balance on investments at 31 December 2020 was £60.1 million. Table 4 below 
details these investments by counterparty type. The average investment rate in 
the period 1 April to 31 December 2020 was 0.28% (Table 4) and was 0.13% at 
31 December 2020 (Table 1 – Total treasury investments).  The rates on 
Government Debt Management Office (DMO) deposits have improved since 
quarter 2. Overnight deposits have increased from a negative position to zero, 
with any longer maturity deposits now being above zero at 0.01%.  As a result 
of the pandemic and reduction in the Bank of England interest rate in March 
2020, future average returns are likely to remain low. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 460



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

Table 4: Investments Profile 1 April to 31 December 2020 

 

* An average duration is not shown as there is no original duration as instant access or notice period and money is 
added and withdrawn to/from these accounts as required by cash-flow   
** Received in the Council’s bank account not interest earned 
 

4.4.4 The Treasury Management indicator shown below in Table 5 is for Principal 
Sums Invested for periods longer than a year. Where the Council invests, 
or plans to invest, for periods longer than a year, an upper limit is set for each 
forward financial year period for the maturing of such investments. The purpose 
of this indicator is to control the Council’s exposure to the risk of incurring losses 
by seeking early repayment of long term investments. The limit on the long term 
principal sum invested to final maturities beyond the period end are set out in 
the TMS 2020-21. 

 
Table 5: Treasury Management Indicator Principal Sums Invested for 
periods longer than a year 

 
Price risk indicator TMS 2020-21 

£m 
Projection 31-3-21 

£m 
Limit  on principal invested beyond 
financial year end 

 
15 

 
Nil 

 
All investments longer than 365 days (non-specified) will be made with a 
cautious approach to cash flow requirements and advice from Arlingclose will 
be sought as necessary.  
 

4.4.5 Two investments with Local Authorities whose original duration was 4 years 
matured during November and December 2020.  Therefore all investments at 
31 December 2020 were short term deposits including Government Debt 
Management Office, Money Market Funds, Local Authorities, instant access and 
notice accounts. Table 6 below details these investments by counterparty type 
based on the remaining maturity period as at 31 December 2020: 

 
 
 
 
 

Investment 
Counterparty 

Category

Balance 
01 April 

2020
(A)

£m

Investments 
raised

(B)

£m

Investments 
Repaid

(C)

£m

Balance 31 
December 

2020
(A+B-C)

£m

Investment 
income 

received**
Apr-Dec 2020

£'000

Average 
original 

duration of 
the 

Investment
Days

Weighted 
average 

investment 
balance Apr-

Dec 2020
£m

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 
Apr-Dec 20

%

Government DMO 37.00      636.32         668.87          4.45              14.17                16                    24.10                0.03             
Local Authorities 18.00      60.00            46.50            31.50            180.17              253                  28.88                0.60             

Banks (Fixed Maturity) 2.00        2.00              2.00              2.00              13.89                77                    1.85                  0.37             
Banks Instant 
Access/Notice Period 
Account* 3.00        39.20            38.05            4.15              -                    -                   3.73                  0.03             
Building Societies 2.00        2.00              -                -                    182                  0.22                  0.78             
Money Market Fund 
(Instant Access)* -          37.27            19.27            18.00            13.26                -                   14.46                0.12             
Total/Average 62.00      774.79         776.69          60.10            221.49              132                  73.24                0.28             

Page 461



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

Table 6: Investments Outstanding Maturity Profile 31 December 2020 

 

4.4.6 Investment decisions are made by reference to the lowest published long-term 
credit rating from a selection of external rating agencies to ensure that this lies 
within the Council’s agreed minimum credit rating. Where available the credit 
rating relevant to the specific investment or class of investment is used, 
otherwise the counterparty credit rating is used. However, investment decisions 
are never made solely based on credit ratings, and all other relevant factors 
including external advice will be taken into account. Appendix A shows the 
equivalence table for credit ratings for three of the main rating agencies Fitch, 
Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s and explains the different investment grades. 
The Council defines high credit quality as organisations and securities having 
a credit rating of A- or higher that are domiciled in the UK or a foreign country 
with a sovereign rating of AA+ or higher.  

4.4.7 The pie chart below summarises Table 6 by credit ratings and shows the 
£60.10 million investments at 31 December 2020 by percentage outstanding. 
Most Local Authorities do not have credit ratings and the £2 million invested 
with an A- rated building society was an approved counterparty by Arlingclose, 
whilst the remainder of the investments all had a credit rating of A or above.   

Counterparty Instant Deposits Deposits Deposits Total

Category Access Maturing Maturing Maturing

Within Within Within

  1 Month   2-3 Months
4-12 

Months
£m £m £m £m £m

Government DMO 4.45 4.45

Local Authorities 5.00 10.00 16.50 31.50

Banks 6.15 6.15

Building Societies 0.00

Money Market 
Fund

18.00 18.00

Total 24.15 5.00 14.45 16.50 60.10

Page 462



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

 

4.5 Interest Rate Exposures – Borrowing and Investments 
 
4.5.1 The Council is exposed to interest rate movements on its borrowings and 

investments. Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Council 
depending on how variable and fixed interest rates move across differing 
financial instrument periods. Short term and variable rate loans expose the 
Council to the risk of short term interest rate rises and are therefore subject to 
the Treasury Management indicator in Table 7 below to manage Interest Rate 
Exposures. 

 

Table 7: Treasury Management Indicator Interest Rate Exposures 

Interest rate risk indicator Indicator 
£’000 

Actual 31-12-20 
£’000 

One year revenue impact of a 1% rise in interest 
rates 

(264) (293) 

One year revenue impact of a 1% fall in interest 
rates 

181  474 

 

4.5.2 This has been set as an indicator (not a limit) to measure the net impact over 
one year on the revenue account of both a 1% rise and a 1% fall in all interest 
rates for borrowing net of treasury investments. This is calculated at a point in 
time on the assumption that maturing loans and investments will be replaced at 
rates 1% higher or lower than they would otherwise have been on their maturity 
dates and that the treasury investment and borrowing portfolios remain 
unchanged over the coming year. As the Council had higher levels of 
investments as at 31 December 2020 than when the indicator was set, a fall of 
1% in interest rates would have a much greater impact.  However it is important 
to note that this is an indicator only and an interest rate reduction is not 
anticipated at the current time.  Interest rates can move by more than 1% over 
the course of a year, although such instances are rare. 

AA-, 30%

A+, 10%

DMO, 7%

LOCAL 
AUTHORITY, 

51%

Credit Ratings

AA- A+ DMO LOCAL AUTHORITY

Page 463



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

4.5.3 The figures for the 1% fall in interest rates indicator are not the same figures as 
the 1% rise in interest rates (but reversed) as the borrowing relates to variable 
LOBO loans where it is assumed that the lender would not exercise their option 
if there was a fall in interest rates. All other borrowing does not have a rate reset 
in the next year and is with the PWLB at fixed rates. 

 
5. Effect upon policy framework and procedure rules 
 
5.1 As required by Financial Procedure Rule 20.3 within the Council’s Constitution, 

all investments and borrowing transactions have been undertaken in 
accordance with the TMS 2020-21 as approved by Council with due regard to 
the requirements of the CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management in 
the Public Services. 

6. Equality Impact Assessment 
 
6.1 There are no equality implications arising from this report. 
 
7.  Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 implications 
 
7.1       The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of 

this report. As the report is for information only and is retrospective in nature it 
is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon the 
achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report. 

 
8. Financial implications 
 
8.1      The financial implications are reflected within the report. 
 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1 It is recommended that Cabinet:  
 

 Note the Council’s treasury management activities for the period 1 April 2020 
to 31 December 2020; 

 Note the projected Treasury Management Indicators for 2020-21 against the 
ones approved in the Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21. 
 
 

Gill Lewis 
Interim Chief Officer – Finance, Performance and Change 
January 2021 
 
Contact Officer: Nigel Smith 
   Group Manager – Chief Accountant  
Telephone:  01656 643605 
E-mail:  nigel.smith@bridgend.gov.uk 
Postal Address: Bridgend County Borough Council 
   Chief Executives - Finance 
   Raven’s Court 

Brewery Lane 
   Bridgend 

Page 464



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

   CF31 4AP 
 
Background documents:  
Treasury Management Strategy 2020-21 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 465



                                                                                                                                                                                             

   
   
  

   

APPENDIX A 
 

 
 
Standard & Poor’s (S&P), Moody’s and Fitch are the three most significant rating 
agencies in the world.  These agencies rate the creditworthiness of countries and 
private enterprises. 
 
“AAA” or “Aaa” is the highest rating across all three rating agencies and indicates the 
highest level of creditworthiness.  A “D” rating (“C” rating from Moody’s) indicates poor 
creditworthiness of a company or government.  A difference is made between short-
term and long-term ratings. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 466



Document is Restricted

Page 467

Agenda Item 23
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12, 14 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Approval of Minutes
	4 Corporate Joint Committees
	5 Budget Monitoring 2020-21 - Quarter 3 Revenue Forecast
	Appendix 1 - Budget Monitoring of Prior Year Budget Reductions Carried Forward into 2020-21
	Appendix 2 - Budget Monitoring 2020-21 MTFS Budget Reductions Risk Tracker December 2020
	Appendix 3 - Budget Monitoring end December 2020

	6 Capital Programme Update - Quarter 3 2020-21
	Appendix A Capital Programme
	Appendix B Capital Programme
	Appendix C Capital Programme

	7 Outcome of the Consultation 'Fit for the Future'
	Appendix one Fit for the Future report

	8 Medium Term Financial Strategy 2021-22 to 2024-25
	Appendix A MTFS Budget Pressures 2021-2025
	Appendix B MTFS Budget Reduction Proposals for 2021-22 to 2024-25
	Appendix C MTFS WBFGA Template 2021-22

	9 Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG's)
	10 Pest Control Contract
	11 Porthcawl Waterfront Regeneration Scheme: Sale of the Food Store Site
	Porthcawl Appendix A

	12 Valleys Regional Park, Bryngarw Country Park Discovery Gateway
	13 Bridgend 2030 Decarbonisation Strategy, Pathway to a Carbon Neutral (Net-Zero) Council
	14 Bridgend Town Heat Network Project
	15 Caerau Heat Scheme
	16 Smart Energy Plan - Domestic Energy Efficiency Project
	17 Cae Gof Playing Fields
	Appendix A - Cae Gof Playing Fields Site Plan
	Appendix B - Cae Gof
	Appendix C - Cae Gof
	Appendix D - Cae Gof
	Appendix E - Cae Gof
	Appendix F -Cae Gof
	Appendix G -  Cae Gof
	Appendix H - Cae Gof
	Appendix I - Cae Gof
	Appendix J - Cae Gof
	Appendix K - Cae Gof
	Appendix L - Cae Gof
	Appendix M - Cae Gof

	18 Bus Emergency Scheme Phase 2 Arrangements
	Bus Emergency Scheme Appendix 1
	Bus Emergency Scheme Appendix 2

	19 School Modernisation Programme - Bridgend West - Permission to consult on Statutory Proposal
	20 Information Report for Noting
	Treasury Management Info. Report Qtr3 Cabinet 2020-21

	23 Approval of Exempt Minutes

